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IT is now a good many years since Compton wrote 
his ' European Arlventl~rers ' and our excuse for prodlicing 
a new book on the subject must be that his work is both 
out of date and incomplete. Out of date, because a 
number of new facts have come to light with regard to 
some of the better known men, and incomplete because he 
was ignorant of the existence of some of the others 

The present work represents some six years of 
la,bour in the archives of the Punjab Government, aa 
well as the consultation of a very large number of con- 
temporary memoirs and other works, a full bibliography 
of which will be found in the appendix. 

Roughly speaking, the Adventurers fall into two 
groups.  here are the well known men like George 
Thomas and Avit~hile. of whom more or less exhanstive 
memoirs have appeared in the past. There are also the 
lesser known men of whom no accfiunt has hitherto appenr- 
ed, and whose careers we have had to trace from many 
sources. Again the Adventurers mnv he classified into 
combatants and non-combatants. The former include 
Generals like Ventnra 8nd comw,on des~rters like Potter. 
Tn the latter class vTe find medical men like Honiqber~er 
2nd  Harlan. the r~ntic~iiarian >fasso~.  and  Rianchi, the 
enyineer. There is hardly a nation t h ~ t  i s  not incluc'led 
in the list of names which runs to o17er seventy 

One name is deservin~ of ~pecinl mcnt in~~.  It is thnt 
of *4lexanaer Gardiner. Gardiner contribnted his o ~ m  
rcrniniscenceq to t,lie ,Joiirnnl of the Rnl-nl AqirItic Society 
of Renyal in 1852 and in 1898 his life was mrittcn hv 
Major Pcarce. Roth of these portr:~!. him 3s the hero 
of manv wild ailventures and as a verv perfect gentle 



knight. An exhaustive study of the records has con- 
vinced us that both these views are entirely incorrect, that 
the man was a prize liar who passed off other men's 
adventures as his own, and who was capable of undertak- 
inq lrnsavoury duties with which other men entirely re- 
fused to have any thing to do. 

The Journal of M. Court has not before been made 
public. It is a description of his travels in Central Asia 
and written by a trained and well educated soldier-for 
M. Court was bv far  the most refined of the Frenchme~~ who 
found their way into the service of Maharaja Ranjit 
Singh-it was practically a route book and as such was 
treated as a confidential document. For manv veers it 
has lain in its original French in the archives oaf the Gov- 
ernment of India. Through the courtesy of the latter we 
have been enabled to make a translation which will be 
found in the appendix. 

It may be objected that we have included in this 
volume them details of a number of unimportant individuals. 
To this we mould reply that our object has been to malie 
the record as complete 2s  possible by includina all 
European adventurers of whatever class or station. 

H. L. 0. GARRETT. 

'Lahore, January 1929. C. GREY 

Note.-The Punjab  Government takes no responsibility for 
the  correctnsas of any statement or expression of views made i n  
this book. 
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CHAPTER I 

Introductory 

THE EUROPEAN MILITARY ADVENTURERS OF INDIA 

To the average reader of Indian military history, few 
personalities are more interesting than those of the 
militarv adventurers, who, from time to time, flit across 
the pages of time-stained records, or the faded leaves of 
forgotten (or almost forgotten) books, or whose names are 
ioscribed on almost obliterated tomb-stones in the grave- 
yards of long-deserted stations. 

To quote Herbert Com~pton~ the historian of a few :* 
" Their names are but as indistinct items on a long 

forgotten scroll, almost obliterated by the dust of time, 
yet up to a comparatively late peridd some of these for- 
yotterl personalities created vast armies, conquered king- 
doms, overturned princes, and ruled provinces, winning 
such power and distinction as is now and for ever im- 
possible ! " 

Their day has passed. Those who attained fame and 
wealth the lesser soldiers of fortune who aided thein so to 
do, and the multitude of European and Eurasian 
adventurers, who trained, led. and even fought, i n  the 
ranks of the mercenary armies of the Princes of India, 
sharing the varying fortunes of internecine strife. or 
against, or allied with the British, have, ad1 but a few, 
been forgotten, and even those few owe their memory to 
fortuitous circumsta.nces- 

The kniqht's bones are dust, 
And his' good sword rust ; 
His bones are with the saints, 
We trust. 

- -- 

F:lirope;in Advent,l~rers, pace 7 .  
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A pious hope ! If  an improbable contingency which 
would almost certainly have been unacceptable to the ad- 
venturers themselves, far, though their virtues may have 
been soldierly, they were usually anything but saintly ! 
With such men, creeds or religiAus observances counted 
for nothing, for their swords, skill, and lives were at the 
command of those who could pay certainly, and well, irres- 
pective of the employer's creed, colour, or race. Such pay- 
ment covered all risks, physical, and spiritual, small 
though the latter must have been. 

The known Earopean Military Adventurers are sepa- 
rated into two divisions, or periods. The first dates 
from about 1608 to 1805 in which year the last of 
them disappeared with the Mahratta armies they had 
trained, then to be destroyed l ~ v  Lords Lake and Wellesley. 
The second had but a brief existence, as compared with 
the first, and a much more limited scope, for, whereas the 
first covered all Hindustan, and existed for 200 years, the 
second was confined to Northern India, and existed for 
about thirty-six years only. Their end came with the 
downfall of the Sikh kingdom and the destruction of the 
army they had created for Ranjit Singh. 

As early as 1609 we find FinchX mentioning that, 
preceded by the Red Cross, William Hawkins led 60 
Europeans to a church service at Agra, the occasion 
being the baptism af two Moghul princes, who, having been 
promised Portupese wives, had become Christians. These 
men u-ere mostly English, and so necessary did Jehangir 
find their services, that he permitted them to openly 
distil strong waters, remarking in extenuation of this 
breach of Mahornmedan law, that, " An Englishmen 
withouten stronge drinke is like a fysshe out of water." 
We shrewdly suspect that there was some personal element 
behind this permission, for Jehangir himself was 
a noble toper, and probably desired to share in the delect- 
able produw of these connoisseurs of " strong waters. 7 * 

. -. - 

Early Travel~ in India, page 148. 
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Continuing onwards, we have casual mentions in the 
East India factory records of nameless Europeans " in 
the service of the Moghuls," until in 1649 we find* Peter 
Miller and Daniel Chester, together with a nameless 
nutchman, serving the guns of " Ettamon Dowlet " at 
the siege of " Candahore, withoute whose aide it t  wolde 
hardlie have been tayken," and whom the ungrateful 
Persians treated " right scurvelie and dismissed withoute 
recompense, an evil1 much reigninge amongst those fair 
tongued folke, who when their business is effected, re- 
member not the ac,tor, nor courtesie." 

Sage reflections, which may well be applied to more 
accidental nations, and their soldiers in more recent 
times. 

Niccolo Manucci, who himself served 9Dara Shikoh as 
a gunner, tells us that Shah Jehan and Aurungzeb had 
over 100 European gunners in their service, and gives the 
names of their master gunners as Thomas Roach and 
Reuben Smith, a statement corroborated by the factory 
records. t Though bearing good English names, the pair 
were rascals both, who attempted, though unsuccessfully , 
to despoil the friendless Venetian lad of his late master's 
effects. 

Other names, cropping up from time to time are 
those of Jeremy Roote, William Smith, Clement Dowson, S 
James Taylor, Nathaniel Webb, James Lyons, and Ja,mes 
Plaintain, a pirate king in Madagascar, before beconling 
chief gunner to Angria Pequena, the arch pirate cf the 
Malabar coast. 

I n  1711 the report of a Dutch mission to Lahore 
shows John Wheeler, commander of the Feringhis, as 
receiving the emd1ument.s of 20,000 horse, which, though it 
does not mean that his command was so numerous, shows 
that i t  was of considerable importance. Again in 1722, 
Clement Dowson mentions that the personal guard of the 
%- -- 

English Factory Records, page 267. 
t Storin Di Mogor, Volume I, page 97. 
f History of the Indian Wars, pages 101-121. 

~2 
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Emperor of Delhi consisted of 70 Europeans, " well paid: 
and corlsidered. ' ' * 

To the most distant places did these men penetrate, 
in weary and toilsome journeys. How many Ml by 
the way we may onlv surmise, but enough were left tlo 
serve in the Armies of Hindustan those sf Mysore, 
Madras, Hyderabad, Bengal, the Deccan, the Carnatic, 
and even the remote Kmgra  valley, or the far off lands 
of Afghanistan and Khorasan. Mostly they lived and 
died as unobstrusively as they came, and are but little 
known, except when the soldiers they trained, or with 
whom they served, came into contact with the English. 
In some cases a kindly friend or employer, or occasiona!ly 

c c a nut brown hegurr,," has raised a memorid to the memorv 
of a friend, servant, or husband 

Most of the named tombs exist in Southern India, 
where such men were most numerous, but here and there in 
other parts, tradition points out the graves of unlrnown 
Europ-2ans. who died far from their native land, serving 
princes whose n2.mes 2re now long foryotten. 

Far away in the Kangra valley lies the tomb of 
William O'Rrien, or Matthew Hea.nev, who comvrnded 
the Katoch Rajah's troops from 1812 to 1827, and with 
him lie the two other Enro~eans ,  who rn?v he ,Tohn Mac- 
Donald and Thomas Fukinaul, a Frenchman. Most extra- 
ordinarv of all, Masson, the traveller, whose wanderings 
we shall briefly chronicle, records that in 1831 them still 
exi~ted at  ~ a h u l  a gravestone bearing the name of William 
(or .Tohn) Hi&, an artillery officer who died in the service 
of Anrungzeb, as far  back as 1666.t The stone was seen 
by subsequent travellers up to the evacuation of Kabill by 
the British in 1841, but had disappeared when it was 
again searched for in 1879. 

Of the ea.rlier adventurers it is curious to note the 
preponderance of seafa,ring men, though this is natural, 

- - - 

' History of the Indian Wars, page 172. 
t Masson : Travelfl in Balnchistan. Volume 11, page 276. 
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for, until the advent of Stringer Lawrence, the soldiers of 
the Company were but mere factory guards, practising 
none but the most elementary of drill, and commanded by 
officers or sergeants of a most inferior stamp. 

On the other hand, the seaman, by very reason of the 
exigencies of his profession, often calling for instant and 
self-reliant decision, was a superior man for adventurous 
work, and was, besides, usually a trained gunner, for the 
meshes of the naval press gang let but few escape. Even 
such as did were privateersmen, or pirates, usuall~: 
svnonymous terms, and as such were expert gunners. 

Of such was George Thomas, and his conqueror. the 
French seaman or marine, Pierre Cuillier, who having 
risen to the command of Scindia's army, was virtually 
dictator of Hindustan, until the armies he commanded 
were overwhelmed and dlispersed by Lake and Wellesley. 

The prominence naturally given to the military trans- 
actions of the English in India would lead the ordinary 
person to believe that these only were of importancs. This 
is wrong, for a t  all times, until the Pax Britannica pre- 
vailed, internecine strife was widespread, bloody, and 
ever existent amongst the various states, creeds and 
races, and it was on this account, and not that of pro- 
spective conflict with the British, that the Indian nllers 
and petty princes raised and maintained military forces 
of numlbers varying with their resources 

The successes of the sepoys of Stringer Lawrence, 
Clive, and the French leaders in Southern Tndia aqninst 
untrained troops of vast117 snpelrior numbers, convinced 
all of the merits of the ~ u r o ~ e a n  system, and presently 
every owner of troops, great or small, became eager to  
engage men who could impart the necessary training 
and supply the leadership. 

Then da~vned the palm- days of thr Enropean ..d- 
venturer, of any degree, who possessed the necessary skill 
a,nd experience. From mere cannoneers, or may be 
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Master Gunners, these men were called forth to train 
battalions, command brigades, or even Lac1 great armies, in 
fiercely faught battles of a magnitude quite comparable 
with European warfare. 

All India below the Punjab was in the melting pot, 
each chief or adventurer who could raise a few armed 
men being out to take what he could, and hold it by force 
of arms. To meet the needs of such employers, there 
first arose Free Companies of mixed Asiatics and 
Europeans, the leaders and gunners being Europeans, and 
the horse and foot, Asiatics, united by the common hunger 
for fighting, and pay, or plunder. As with their Euro- 
pean congeners of the Middle ages they fought, equally 
well, or may be badly, for an employer, or against him, 
when their term of agreenlent was completed. 

The first of whom we find record is NTalter Reinhardt, 
usually called Somru, or Sombre, an unspeakable scoundrel 
from Strasburg, who. commencing as a ship's carpenter 
in the French Navy, deserted from them to the English, 
and so backwards and forwards in the easy fashion of the 
times in India. when companies of ~ r e n c h  deserters were 
to be found fighting against their own nation, and 
English men in like mannerX Finally Somrn became a 
trooper in the service of the Nawab of Oudh, a,nd from 
thence formed a company of Free Companions wllcnl he 
hired out to all and sundry who had the needful funds. 

As an allv of Mir Kasim he took Patna from the 
English, and' later. at  the bidding of his employer, 
massacred over 200 English prisoners, killing some with 
his own hand. Yet this scoundrel evad'ed the pursuit of 
the avenying English and died peacefullv in his bed at  
4ora after becoming a feudatory of the ' g i n g  of Delhi. 
The troops he had raised were left to his " manly * 9 

R e ~ i m ,  who held them together for over forty , vears, . till 

Life of TAord Clive. Vohime I, page 181; Life of Bir Evre Ooote, page 89. 
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she also died in the d o u r  of sanctity, a firm friend of 
the English, who took over her territory and broke up 
her rabble army. 

Other Companies were those of Madec, a Provencal 
and ex-pirate, Thomas, Finglas, Boyd, and Bristol. The 
first was contemporary with Sombre, amassed a great 
fortune, with which he retired to Europe there to be 
killed in a dud. Of Thomas we shall write later, and of 
the others occasional mentions will be found in the mili- 
tary history of Indlia during the Eighkenth Centurv. 

The example of the comparative efficiency of these 
companies induced the princes and nobles, wl~o  oc- 
casi onally hired them, to employ European instructors for 
their o m  troops, and very soon such service became the 
haven of everv adventurous, or vagabond European, whose 
oillv canital was a stout heart, a strong personality. and 
some milit arv Itnowledge 

Of all sorts and conditions were thev, and of as va,ried 
nations. English. Irish, Scots, French, Germans. Greeks, 
American?. Eurasians, and even Jews, all found shelter 
and liberal paymasters under weird flags, and occasion- 
ally quaint employers. Of the many who bore British 
names, a goodlv proportion were E ~ r a s i ~ m s .  

Of such were Skinner, Hoplzins. the Smith Rrot.hers, 
Villiers. Stuart. Hearsev, Birch, and countless others, 
most of whom were good soldiers One indeed, Skinncr, 
attained high and deserved rank in the British tlrn!v. 
and has perpetnaked his name bv a fine regiment of Indian 
Rorse. which bears a record second to none. 

Of the lower ranks Skinner records that in the 
great battle of Malpura, between Scindia and Holk'ar, 80 
English and Eurasian gunners died at their guns. 

As varied as the men, were their fates. Many died 
in battle, more of drink and disease. A few al~i\ssed 
wealth by fair or foul means, and attained the longed-for 
goal of retirement to their own country in a.ffluence. 



8 EUROPEAN ADVENTURERS IN 

Yet, even of the fortunates, the end was varied., Some 
lived long and died honoured, whilst to others their wealth 
was a source of anxiety and the cause of enmity during 
life and bitter strife after death. But the great majority 
shared the ordinary fate of the soldier of fortune of all 
times in an alternation of comparative wealth and extreme 
~overty during health and vigour, ending with a violent 
death in strife or battle, or an old age of exile 'nd proverty . 

Such were those, who, long before Kipling wrote of 
" Sergeant What,'s 'is Name " who 

Drilled a black man white, 
And made a coward fight, 

performed the like seeming miracle on material as 
unpromising as that the Sergeant worked upon, and 
with less advantages, for the one had but his own 
personality, whilst behind the other were British 
battalions, and the prestige of a great and victorious 
nation. Usually the ruder the personalitv of the adven- 
turer the more successful he was, for those who had held 
officer's ranks in other armies were useless without the 
r,esources to enforce discipline they could have commanded 
in those services, unless like De Boigne, and Ranjit. 
Singh's French qenerals, they had passedl through the rude 
school of the ranks, or served with irregulars. 

Behind the adventurer always loomed the shadon- of 
a. violent death or disgraceful treatment at the hmds of 
his soldiers, who might, and occasionally did, visit upon 
him their rancour a t  ilefeat, privations, or arrears of 
pay. As much a potential danger was the emplover, who, 
should his commander promise to become powerful or 
dangerous, would endeavour to remove him by murder or 
assassination. 

Most of the important adventurers were Frenchmen. 
aa was to be expected from the subjects of a nation usually 
at war with the English, always hostile to them. an'dr, the re  
fare to he trusted. Such a preference was thrust upon the 
Tndian employer by the British practice of recallin? all 
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their nationals in such services when hostilities threatened 
or broke out. Therefore, the employer, as in the a s e  of 
the Mahrattas, lost the services of many of their European 
officers, just when these men would have been most useful. 

The careers of the men of the earlier group are fairly 
easy to trace, there being much material at hand in the 
memoirs of Thomas, Skinner, and Ferdinand Smith's 
book on the European officers who served Hol l i~r  and 
Scindia. There are also mentions in the Government 
Records and the histories of the Wars in Hindustan, 
Bengal, Madras, Mysore and the Deccan. 

But. for those of the second group, no such easy 
m,aterial is forthcoming, and though we have explored 
every conceivable source, our histories, or memoirs are not 
so complete as we would wish. These men lived and serv- 
ed in Northe,rn India, within countries whose frontiers 
were most jealously guarded both by their rulers and the 
British. Little news escaped from them, such a's did 
filter through being from spies, the diaries of casua.1 
travellers, or from the paid news writers a t  the various 
courts, whose lives being in the hands of those about whom 
they wrote, were naturallv cautious about letting dis- 
tasteful intelligence pass through. 

We have laid under contribution the whole of the 
British records from 1805 upwards, concerninq Nolrthern 
India. the originals of which lie in the old ~ o m b  of Annr- 
kali, once the residence of Ventura; t.he hitherto un- 
published vernacular diaries of Ranjit Singh's Court, the 
pay lists of the Khalsa armv from 1811 upwards, and the 
Imks of the many travellers who passed through the 
Punjab in the third and fourth decades of the 19th 
century. 

Yet even a Fter r2 ]nost careful search some will remain 
unknown, or shadowy personages, for w i n g  to British 
jealousy at  the e~nployme~lt of Europeans in Tndinn states 
many crept secretlv across the Sutlej or through Rahav-aJ- 
pur. Others a.gatin, and these the most important, came 
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overland, passing through many vicissitudes, of which 
examples may be found in Court's Diary, as given in the 
-4ppemdix. 

Another difficulty occurs through the practice of 
Ranjit Singh of putting the men on the pay-rolls of his 
feudatory rajahs, even though retaining them in his own 
service. Unlike the existing Khalsa pay-rolls, which 
are complete, those of the feudatory rajahs, have long 
since disappeared, and only by accident do we discover 
that such men existed. Yet we have collected enough to 
furnish some idea of the lives and adventures of a type of 
man long since vanished and impossible to exist aspain, 
iinless the British quit India, when assuredlv the Euro- 
pean military adventurer will again stand folrth. 

The histories of some are inextricablv bound up with the 
bloodiest events of the Punjab Anarchv, and as these are 
unfolded there will be revealed stories of atrocities. 
murders, assassinations, and kindred horrors, seemingly 
incredible to  those who only ltnow of the ordered British 
rule of to-day. 

Some of their known histories are interesting enough, 
but what of those which only flit across the page for a 
brief moment. such as Rattmy, a renegade who called 
himself Fida Mahomed Khan, or Mahomed Khan, cllias 
William Lee, said to have been an ex-officer of the 10th 
r)rae;oons. who, after shooting his captain dead. fled into 
Khorassan. where he became a Mahornedan and served 
'14ahrnud Shah for twenty vears. before turning up a t  
R:~ni i t  3inqh's court with a full blown scheme to conquer 
Sindh 1 'Ehat we know of Rattray and Lee is interesting 
~ n o i ~ q h .  but thnt which was cont,ained in the history of the 
former which h~ en trusted to Alexander Rl~rn,efi, with 
whom it was biirnt a t  Kab111, wolild be, a s  Rurnes said, 
" wildlv interesting." 

WP have Masson, a man of high education. and an 
ever restless traveller, who spent, nine vears wandering, a 
penniless mendicant , through Sindh, Persia, Khorassan 
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and Afghanistan, making historical and arch~nlogical 
discoveries which were the means of revealing the sxistence 
of hitherto unknown dynasties of the Graeco-Rl ctrian 
period. We have the renegade Gardiner, whose own 
history was weird enough, but not nearly so extravagant 
as that which he pieced together from other histories. and 
foisted on to Temple, Durand and Pearce, who fathered 
his Rougemontic narrative into a romantic book. 

There is another renegade, Lawrence, &as Mahomed 
Sadiq, who ~erved both Shah Shujah and Ranjit Singh; 
the cashiered officer McPherson, who for many years 
served the Nawab of Bahawalpur, and died gallantly a t  
Sadulapur, fiqhting under Herbert Edwnrdq; Argoud, the 
Frenchman, of whom Burnes and Wood have left amusing 
accounts; the defaulting pavnlaster Ford of the 16th Foot; 
John Brown. and the other deserters who fought against 
11s in the First Silch War;  the Irishxnan Kanara. and the 
sturdy old Eurasian, John Ho~lmes, both of whom met 
a terrible fate at  the hands of their troops during the 
anarchy. 

We will tell you of Matthew Heaney, or William 
O'Rrien, the last of the commanders in the service of the 
minor rajahs. who, after cutting down an officer of the 
24th Dragoons (later the 19th Hussars), fled into Kangrn, 
and there raised an independent army for Sansar Chand. 
the Katoch rajah. became adrnini~trat~or of his domains 
and died worth Rs. 60,000. a substantial fortune for a 
private soldier, who had drawn bllt eightpence a day. 

U'hat tales coilld be written aronnd such men by a 
Kipling-like genius ! I n  the hope that what we now 
place before you may find one, we have rescued, and set 
down. from eqnallv foryotten books and records, what we 
could find concerning this long vanished and romantic class 
of men. 
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CHAPTER 11. 

The position of the Europea,n officers employed by 
Ranjit  Singh in a military ciapacity was peculiar and 
precarious, and in  no way to be compared with that  cf 
their eyi~als in the Europeam armies. 

From the highest to the lowest, all were temporary 
employees, whose entertainment, tenure of office, pay, and 
promotion were entirely dependent upon the im!.)ression 
they made upon the ~ a h a r a j a h  a t  the time of t,heir ap- 
pointment, or may be the whim of the moment, or  the 
manner in which they performed their duties thereafter, 
or kept his favour. Sometimes most unlikely men were 
engaged. Others who appeared to be eminently suited for 
the employment they desired were dismissed with scant 
ceremony. Yet, on the whole, Ranjit 's judgment was 
seldom a t  fault, and those whom h.e engaged llsually just,i- 
fied i t .  

9oine of the more important were required to sign 
regular agreements. which. however. were verj- one- 
sided, for, the Maharajah disregarded them should a man 
offencl him or prove unsuitable. I n  both cases he tm)k 
care that the men should leave his dominions, and sent an 
armed escort to set the~n  across the river into British 
territory or the Afghan border. The agreement bound 
the men *" to domesticate themselves in the country by 
marriage, not to eat beef, nor smoke tobacco in public, to 
l~ermit their beards to L grow. to take care not to offend 
against the Sikh religion, and if required, to fight against 
their own country." 

The method of selection was searching. for after the 
candidate had been accepted, he was ,given a batch of 

-- . Punjah Recorda, Book 96, Letter No. 83. 
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perfectly raw recruits, and a specified time in which to 
train them. During this period, the candidates were 
given an allowance varying in amount with their social 
sta.tus. and the grade aspired to. The actual pay was 
fixed after the men had passed the test, and this again was 
a matter of considerable haggling, for Ranjit  Singh never 
paid more than he could possibly help. 

There was no certainty a,s to what might be given, for 
battalion comina,nds varied from Rs. 150 to even Rs. 1,000 
and inferior appointments from Rs. 60 to  Rs. 350. There 
were no fixed leave rules, and those who took leave were 
usuahly compelled to resign and take the chance o'f re- 
instatement on their return, the idea being to prevent men 
from obtaining a period of idleness on full pay. HOW- 
ever, in some cases the arrears of pay were given if the 
men had been satisfactory and returned in due time. 

But few ever asked for leave. Those who did were 
mostly the Fienchmen, for the others were mainly horne- 
less wanderers, or had1 substantial reasons for not re- 
enterinq British territory. Ventura and Allard took a 
couple of years' leave. but Avitabile and Court served 
thmughollt . 

The superior officers were, as with the Adventurers of 
the first period. mostly Continentals. The only British 
born 11-ho attained ha ttalion commands under Ranjit  Singh 
were Foulkes, Ford, andl the Eurasian John Holmes. -4 
number of the deserter class did command battalions and 
batteries. but only in the armies of the feudatory Rajahs. 
The military tities by which the men were distinguished 
~isuallv carried no significance. for thev were mostly self- 
conferred, there hein? no regular sazette or cpdat ion  or 
promot ion. 

The only ranks that were actllallv conferred by the 
Maharajah were those of General* on Court 2nd Ventma.  
.kllnrrl and .4vitabile m7ere co~irt~esy qenernls dnrin: his 
- - -- 

Army of Ranjit Singh (Sit)~ Rnm), page 214. 
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lifetime, though the latter was awarded the title by Sher 
Singh on the ktter 's accession to the gaddi. No Euro- 
peans werc ever allowed to become very powerful, nor 
were their brigades permitted to be present in Lahore at 
the one time, two being always on the Frontiers, and the 
other employed in minor expeditions or revenue collecting. 

Though the principal officers were required to attend 
dbrbar, they were not permitted a seat. nor were they ever 
consulted on affairs of State, other than those concerning 
the districts of which thev might have civil charge. The 
frontispiece of this work shows the f m r  French generals 
in durbar, and their position the estimation in which they 
were held. The first is Allard, who was always a favourite 
with the Maharajah; the second Court, the third Ventura, 
and the fourth Avitabile, who often wore an Afghan 
puggri. I t  may also be noted that, as with the other 
durbaris, all wore empty scabbards, a proof of Ranjit 
Singh's distrust of everybody. 

Artillery was not under the control of the brigade 
commanders until after Ranjit Singh's death, nor were the 
Generals ever allowed independ'ent command. In  all ex- 
peditions or wars on the frontier, the control, even though 
it  might be merely nominal, was vested in a Sikh prince or 
noble, and, at different times, to take an example, Ventura 
and Court served under Sher Singh, Hari Singh Nalwa, 
Dhian Singh, or Gulab Singh. Some writers have styled 
Ventura Commander-in-Chief of the Khalsa army, and 
also Chief Judge of Lahore; but there is nothing in the 
official records to show that he ever held those posts. 

Certainly Fakir Kumr-ud-Din* says that Sher Singh 
conferred the title of Commander-in-Chief on Ventura in 
gratitude for his services at and after the first siege of 
lahorc Fort, but if so, the title was merely honorary, for 
he never exercised the functions; nor wvas he Chief Jndge. 
The Kazi of Lahore was a Mussahan. and the only claim 

Letter to Sir Edward Mnclagan, dated 3rd Auguet 1900. 
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that Ventura had to this title was that he was depi~teti to 
restore order in the city after the fall of Lahore Fort. 

In  addition to their military commands, Vent~lra 2nd 
Avitabile held civil charges, thk former of the Multan 
district after its subjection, until he went on leave, and 
Avitabile that of Wazirabad, andl later Peshawar, until 
the end of his service. Harlan, the American, was 
Governor of Jesrota, and later of Gujrat, hut he never 
held1 any rnilit3t-y office in addition. John Holmes was 
Governor of Gujrat after Harlan, and others of the better 
class of European were occasionally emp1ovc:d in settli~lg 
revenue or boundarv disputes, their impartiality being 
taken as natural. 

One only attained great wealth. This was Avitabi!~, 
who held civil charge of a great district and in addition 
drew high military pay. Of how he made money we shall 
tell later. Ventura, though he also held charge of a civil 
district, does not appear to have accumulated much, 
although he retiredl with a comforta.ble competence, in addi- 
tion to the £,25,000 paid him by the British as compensa- 
tion for the jagirs awarded hi& by Ranjit Singh. Allard 
died poor, and Court, who was a saving man of retiring 
disposition, also departed with sufficient to keep him in 
comfort for the remainder of his life. 

The others could not have saved much, nor indeed 
were any of them ever placed in positions that would 
enable them to do so. Though manv were paid quite high 
salaries, they could not save much from them, for the 
Maharajah insisted upon their keeping up a style of living 
he considered commensurate with their position and his 
own dignity. The salaries of all were many months in 
arrears and it is doubtful whether most of them were ever 
paid up in full. 

The actual nnmber of Europeans who from time to 
time trained the Khalsa army can only be conjectured, for 
reasons we have already stated. There were certainlv over 
100, but of these the deserter class were the most 



16 EUROPEAN ADVENTURERS IN 

numerous; and naturally took care to efface themselves when 
European observers were about. Yet, during the later 
period, just before Ranj it  Singh's death, they were not SO 

careful, for when Sir Harry Fane, the Cornmander-in- 
Chief in India, inspected the Maharajah's artillery in 
1837, h.e commented upon the number of white faces to be 
seen amongst the battery officers. 

Let, us conclude this general sketch with Major 
McGregor's opinion of the work of the more obscure adven- 
turers, particularly those who had served in the British 
forces. 

* " T h e e  men were of infinite service to the Sikhs in 
training their gunners, and the conduct of the latter in t.he 
battles Gf the Sikh war showed! that their labours had not 
been in vain." 

" McGregorls History of the Sikhs, Volume 11, page 141 
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CHAPTER I11 
TBIC EVOLUTION OF THE ARMY OF RANJIT SlNGH 

I n  order to appreciate the value . ~ f  the work done by 
the European officers employed by Kanjit Singh, i t  is 
necessary to preface their memoirs with a briel sketch 01 
the army as it  was when Ranjit Singh succeeded to a petty 
chieftainship, and to show its gradual evolution into that 
fighting machine which ofiered the English the fiercest 
resistance they had yet encountered from Indian soldiers. 

i l t  the period mentioned, the Sikh fighting men werc, 
as they had been since the comrnencenlent, mere mobs of 
predatory horsemen forming a ~tligioils theocracy. 'l'hey 
were divided into twelve divisions, called misls, the 
numbers being estimated a t  from 60,000 to 75,000 men, 
the latter including a number of footmen, who were, 
ho~rever., perliaps jnstly . regarded as ncgl igible. The 
first estimate is that of George Thomas. an :idveiltnrcr 
~ ~ h o ,  being eternally at  feud with the Sikhs, and having 
invaded their country a number of times, may be judged 
to have had a fair knowledge of their numbers. 

The second is that of Prinsep,' a reliable and pains- 
taking historian, and as the difference between the two is 
not irrecondlaKe, we will accept Prinsep's tab~llatrd 
statement :- 

Bhangi Misl ... ... 10,000 men. 
Ramgarhia Misl ... ... 3,000 ,, 
Ghunnaya Misl ... ... 8,000 ,, 
Nukreea Misl ... ... 2,000 ,, 
Ahluwalia Misl ... ... 3,000 ,, 
Daleela Misl ... ... 7,6nG ,, 
Nishan-Wala Misl ... ... 12,000 ,, 
Fuzulpooren ... ... 2.500 ,, 
Krorn-Sinpha ... ... 12.OC10 ,, 
Sh:)hicl & Nahung ... ... 2,000 ,, 
Phulkea & Rhykea ... ... 5.000 ,, 
Sukar Chakia ... .. . 2.500 ,, - 

Grand Total ... 6'3,500 ,, 
- -  

' Prinsep's Rnnjit Singh, pnge 29. 
C 
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Neither Thomas nor Prinsep speak of artillery for the 
simple reason that none such existed, with the exception 
of zumburalts (or camel-guns) of about 14'' bore. Indeed, 
ordnance of any size would have been an  encumbrance t80 
such a force as the Sikhs brought to  the field. 

The offensive arms of the commonalty were match- 
lock, spear and sword, and their defensive armour merely 
a shield, supplemepted in winter by a thickly wadded 
coat, serving the double protection of defence and warmth. 
The leaders carried no matchlock, i ts  place being taken by 
pistols and a haw-the latter a symbol of mnk, 7,vhich was 
retained by  the Sikh nobles and rajahs until the end. 
They alorle were usually armoured in  chain-mail, with 
steel caps, back and breast plates, arm-guards, gauntlets 
and shields. 

Their tactics are thus described by Forster, and as 
Thomas supplements his description, me mag quote both. 
Forster writesX :-- 

" 4 party of solme forty to fifty men advance xt a quick 
paw up to the distance of' a carbine shot from the encmv, 
and halting discharge their pieces; when speedily rptiring 
a hundred paces or so they reload and repeat the same 
method of annoving the enemv The horses have been so 
trained to the perforinance of this operation, thilt or1 

receiving a stroke of the hand thev halt from a full career 9 9  

Thomas's description amplifies the abovet :- 
" After performing the requisite dbt,ies of their reli- 

gion hv ablution and p k y e r ,  the Sikhs comh their beards 
and hair with peculiar care. Mounting. their horses they 
ride forth towards the enenlv with whom thev engrqe i~ 
a continual skirmirh. advancins and retirino untd Inen 
and hor~es  are equally tired) They then draw off for a 
distance from the enemv, until meeting with rllltivated 
gmnnr! they permit their horses to qraze, whi!~t  t!!ey parch 
a little ?rain for themselves. 4f ter  satisfyina natnre in 
th15 frural  manner they renew the skirmishinq if the cnernv 
is n t m .  Shol~ldl he have retreated they follnm- up and 
renew t h ~ s e  tactics 

- -- - -- - - 

Forflter '~ Travels, page 332. 
t ltfcrnoirs of George Thomas, pages 71-8. 
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" Seldom indulging in the comforts of a tent whilst 
in the enemy's country, the repast of a Sikh cannoL be 
supposed to be e i~her  sumptuous, or elegant Seated on 
 he ground with a mat spread before thern, a Brahmin ap- 
pointed for the purpose serves out a portion of food 60 
each person, the cakes of flour which they eat tlnri:~g the 
meal serving them in the room of plaits and dishes. 
Accustomed from their earliest infancy to a life of h a r d  
ship and1 difficulty, the Sikh despises the comforts of a 
tent. I n  lieu of this, each horsema11 is furnished with two 
blankets, one for himself, and one for the horse. 

" These blankets, which are placed beneath the saddle, 
and a grain bag and heel rope, comprise in war the whok 
baggage of a Sikh. Their cooking utensils are carried on 
ponies. Considering this mode of life and the extra- 
ordinar? rapidity of their marches, it cannot be a wonrlx 
if they -perform m:~rches, which to those accustomed ortly 
to I3uropean warfare, must seem incredible. 7 7 

Such were the men and methods of the Sikh forces 
during the latter part of the 18th century, and so the 
bulk renlained until many pears later. Even when Ranjit 
Singh had attained1 his object of c,reating an army on the 
European model, the old style continued in the Ghorchars, 
who formed the mass of the mounted forces of the Khalsa 
army. 

Farlv in his career Ranjit Singh conceived the idea 
of melding the disorderly components of the Khalsa 
t,heocracy into one great kingdom under his own rule, 
and. that accomplish~d, of est.endinq his dorninior! a t  the 
expense of the states and countries border in^ on the 
t'llnjnh. The subjugation o f  the other clans and the  
scattered Mahornedan states of the Punjab, was not a hard 
tssli. for this born military genius. who in addition, mas 
destitute of any of the encumberinq principles of fair play, 
open dealing, or adherence to a pledged word, if he could 
evade, or refuse its observance, 

Having suhjnyated his own co~mtrymen. he realiacd 
that t h . ~  second task monlrl' require tmops diflerinq from 
the heterogeneous and part-time levies a t  his command, 

c2 
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for the Sikh horseman was primarily an agriculturist, 
thcugh a fine fighting man a t  will, or in time of need. 
That the troops he desired could be formed by the material 
a t  hand, he was well aware, for the echoes of the great 
battles fought for Indian Princes by their European 
trained troops had soon reachedl him, and he must have 
heard first hand tales of their exploits from the many 
Punjabis who had fought in their ranks and of the successes 
of the men trained, and led by George Thomas. And he 
had example close a t  hand in the manner in which this 
small trained band had1 swept aside, or routed the dis- 
orderly horsemen of the Cis-Sutlej States. 

He had also seen soldiers trained by European adven- 
turers, for when Hollrar, flying before Lord Lake had 
entered the Punjab, he brought his surviving trained 
battalions and advised Ranj it. Singh to form silnilar ones. 
He had also seen Lake's sepoys. halted on tht. left bank 
of the Beas, and a final impression was made b ~ -  the 
quick rally, and sucoessful defence of the sepcps of 
'I\iletcalfe's escort at  h r i t s a r  in 1S09, when suddenly 
attacked by Akalis. 

Though Ranjit Singh determined to emulate these 
examples, the project progressed slowly, both for want of 
equipment, and1 men who would consent. to serve on foot, 
a method of fighting which the true Sikh had an almost 
invincible objection to, and contempt for. Hence the first 
rude battalions he formed were almost entirely composed 
of Hindustanis, Gurkhas, Afghans, Pu-rbzahs, Dogras, 
Katorhes. and Punjabi >lusulmans. Even to the end such 
classes formed more than half of the Khalsa army, 
especially in the artillery and the nzljeebs. The only batta- 
lions exclusively composed of Sikhs were the Fnuj-i-Ain, 
or regular brigades, under the French generals. 

TJnder* Rxnjit Pingh the Khalsa army mas divided 
in to  two rlivisions, the main being that under his own 
personal pavment, ant1 t,he other und'er the feudatory 
forces belonging to Gnlah Singh, Sham Singh, Hari  
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Singh, Dhyan Singh, Suchet Singh, H i r a  Singh, and 
others. His  own army was divided into the Fauj-i- 
Ain, or true regular army, the Fauj-i Sawara, or 
Gl~orcharrahs, and the Fau j -i-Kilaf at ,  the latter corn- 
prising the garrisons of forts, treasure yard ' s ,  fort- 
guards, and peons or orderlies. The troops under the 
f eudatorv chiefs were called the Fau j -i-Jaghirdari, from 
the fact" that  they were maintained by fiefs granted for 
military service. 

Both divisions comprised drilled infantry and artil- 
- 

l e v ,  but only tho Fauj-i-Sin maintained cavalry on 
~ ~ r o ~ e a n  models. But even these were exotic, only main- 
tained\ to crovide employment for Allard and to  complete 

- 

the three arms customary in  a European army. Ranj i t  
Singh always held t h e m  in  small estimation, hence they 
fluctuated greahly, sometimes almost dving out and at 
others being resuscitated to  quite a number of regiments 
more or less efficient. Theg comprised a t  different perigds, 
lancers, cuirassiers, and dragoons. SkinnerX the famous 
ir.reg~ll~!r, spoke verv scornfully of them, as did J,ici;t. 
Pane, who remarked-that a t  a review he witnessed i t  was 
clificnlt to say ~vhj(~11 made the worst exhibition, Allsrd 
himself, or his cavalry. Osborne who saw them a year 
Inter, remarks :- 

t " T tool~ the opportunity of looking a t  Allard's 
clvalrp, two rwin~ents  of which were on pamde. Thev 
wcre the first of them I had met with, and T was rnnch 
d'isnppointed with them 2nd their a.ppeerance. T5 . r~  
did not look to advantage bv the side of the infnntrvmc-I;. 
They :yere men of all aces. ill-looking, end worse mountedt 
and dressedl. Neither in appearance, nor in renlitv are 
tlhev to be compared with the i n f ~ n t r y  soldier of the 
~ u ? i a h  The reason anpears to be that Rnniit  nersonnllv 
inspects every recruit for hiq infantrv. whilst the cavalry 
arc r m r l ~ i t ~ d  from the follo\vinys of 'the d'ifferent sirdars. 
a n d  moqtlv owe their appointment t,o fnvour or interest. 
rather than to their fitness or capability. From what I 

a-- - - _ _ ---- - - - - 

Tlife of Jnmeq Slrinner, Vollinie T T .  pare 214. 
t Oshorne : Colirt nnd Camp of Rnnjit S i n ~ h .  pnpc 165. 
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hear, General Allardl's intentions have been so 1im.ited that  
the same success has not attended his efforts as those of 
Ventura with the infantry." 

Yet; something seems to have occurrcd within ths 
next year, or the troops of the brigades on the frontier 
must have been much better loolted after, for Rarr, in 1839, 
writes : 

After inspecting the guns, we reached the Cavalrv 
on the left of which were the dragoons. These were we11 
mounted and a fine body of men. On the right stood two 
regiments of Allardl's cuirassiers, the most noble looking 
men on parade. The men and horses were all picked, and 
amongst the former were to be seen many stalm%rt fellows, 
who showed to advantage beneath their steel caps and 
cuirasses. Many of the officers wear brass cuirasses, and 
their commandant (Mouton) is perhaps the finest man on 
parade, and looks extremely well in front of his superb 
regiments. It usedl to be poor Allard's pride t? review 
these men. and their present martial appearanze is, no 
doubt, due to his constant care and superintendcncc. 

" The uniform consisted of a short blue cest and a 
pair of dark trousers with a narrow red stripe tiqhtlly 
strapped over Wellington boots and spurs. The cuirass 
was of highly polished steel, or brass, and hol-e a Gallic 
cock in the centre of the breast plate. The head-dress TWS 

a round steel cap from the apex of which sprung n red 
horse hair plume. From the cap d'epended a curtain of 
chain mail, which hung dawn over the neck and shoulders. 
The arms consisted of a flint-lock carbine, and a long steel 
sword dependinq from the waist-belt bv steel chains. A 
blacli leather waist-belt, and a, pouch belt completed the 
very effective outfit. 

" Resides the cnirassiers, there were two re~irnents of 
dragoons on parade. The dress of these consisted of tt 
jacket of dill1 red with broad facings of buff, crossed' in 
front by a pair of black belts, one of which supported a 
bayonet, and the other a poach, genuine Dragoon equip- 
ment, in which the Sikh cavalry fought, as the old1 gil~e 
had it, i n d i f f ~ r c n t ,  on horse or on foot. Ronnd the waict  
the dragoon wore a red cummerbund, partially concealed 
- 

Journal of s March, etc., pagea 213 and 246. 
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by a black sword belt, from which hung a sabre with a 
brass hilt, and leather scabbard. The carbine was so 
attached as to give i t  the appearance of being slung across 
the back of the dragoon, but in  fact i t  rested in  a bucket 
attached to bhe saddle. 

" The trousers were of dark blue with a re,d stripe, and 
the turbans of criinson silk, brought to a point in front, 
and ornameotcd in the centre by a s:nnll brass haif rnoou, 
from which sprung a glittering sprig about two inches in 
height. The officers were clad from top to toe in  crimson 
silk and armed with a sabre only.'' 

Before qui t t i~lg the ulo~nlted forces of the lchalsa, let 
- 

11s quote from a contemporar account the appearance of 
the crack corps of the Ghorcharrahs, who were the real - 

permanent cnvalrv of the Khalsa army. Baron Hugel, 
who visited Lahore in 1836, writes : -- 

" " I requested leave to inspect the Ghorchars, and 
never beheld a finer, nor more remarl;ably striking body 
of men. Each was d'res~ed differently, and yet so much 
in the same fashion that they all looked in perfect keeping. 
The handsome Raja ,  Suchet. Singh, commander of one of 
the greai; divisions, was in a similar costume. and reminded 
me of the t i g e  when the fate of empires hung on the point 
of a la.nce, and when the individual whose hold heart- beat 
fearlessly under his steel breastplate was the sole founder 
of his fortunes. 

" The strange troops before me was particularlv 
Indian. l'he un~form consisted of a velvet co%t, or 
vaherdine, over which most of them wore a shirt of mail. 
s ,  

Others 13nd this shirt made to form part of the t~uvic,. A 
i ~ l t  round the waist. richly ~mbroidered in ?old. supp~rted '  
the powder horn, also covered with cloth of gold. I n  this 
bclt welge :11so carried a Khatar,  2nd the pistol v:hich 
~ n n s t  carried in ndd'ition to the other nreapons. Son!? wore 
a steel hclmet inlaid with gold and' surmounted 1vit11 a hlnt f 
heron plume. Others wore :I cap of steel worked lilic R 
cllirass in rings 

" The left, a,rm I V ~ S  often covered: with a. steel cuff 
inlaid with ,sold, rca,chinz from the ha.nd to thc eltow. 
The round Silrh shield hung on the back, fastened with 

-- 

Hugel's Travels in Thahmir, etc., pnge 331. 
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straps across the chest. A quiver a t  the right side. and a 
how slung over the left. arm were also carried as pxrt of 
the equipment. -4 ha9 in the belt hold's the halls, and a 
tall bayonet held in the riqht hand, when oIi f ~ o t  and 
carricd over the shoulder when mou11 ted, completed the 
dress. " 

Yet even here opinions differ, for Henry Lawrence, 
w l ~ o  lived for many years in the Punjab, thus dcscrihea. 
the irregular horseman of the Khalsa army only a few years. 

*18-r3.-" Go to the bazaar. Take any dirty naked 
sroundrel. Twict up  his hair, qive him a loftv turban and 
a c!ean vest. Put. a rlumw STVOI'C~ by his side mci a long 
spear into his cowardlv hand. M O ~  him on a strong 
clumsy two year old, and vou have a passable Sikh soldier." 

The average Ghorcharrah probably stood midway 
between the two. 

We now turn to the artillery. From the earliest 
times, Ran j i t  Singh's ambition had been to accumulate 
such a force, and' with this object he had commellced to 
drag after h im every qnn he collld collect, no matter what 
size or  in what condition. The result was that a most 
misrellane~iis collection of ordnance of all sizes, ranging 
from the 9" Zam-zammah to the 1" or I+" zumhural;. 
Here i t  should be remembered that with the decay of the 
Mcqhul power, the manufacture of cannon, at one time 
well known in the Punjab, which had produced some 
remarkable specimens. had almost completelv died out, and 
the euidine; cannon were relics from that period. 

However, by 1811, Ranjit  Singh had collected thirtv- 
ninc guns, formed into batteries of heavy, medilim, and 
I i ~ h t  puns,  and fairlv uniform i n  quality. Artillery ww 
nl\vnvs a matter of great jealousv with the Maharajah: 
v ~ h n  lwpt i t  entirclv i inf l~r  his own control, nor was i t  till 
jnst b ~ f o r e  his death, that the European and Indian 
gctnernls were permitter1 to have complete control over the 
k,a ttcries attachcd to their h r i~ades .  The training: was 

- - - - - - - - - 

Adventnrors in the Puhjnh, page 6. 
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carried out by European and Indian deserters from the 
Company's army. The first European artilleryman who 
joined Ranjit Singh did so in 1809, and it was not until 
1836 or so that the Frenchmen were allowed to introduce 
their own system of gun-drill. 

The: ar t  of cannon founding was revived a t  Isahore, 
and, under the supervision of Court, who for a time helcl 
charge, reached an  excellelnce quite equal, if not superior, 
to that of the English guns which formed their main 
models. Cannon of all sizes, from the howitzer to the 
three poi~nder~ were manufactured in the f o ~ ~ n d r y  within 
the fort, and the training L of the individual artilleryman 
carried out a t  the same place, under the supervision of a 
man named Brown, or Potter aided by other deserters. 

Whatever the respective shares in t.he d!evelopment of 
Ranjit Singh's artillery by Court, Brown, or the other 
deserters, the work was well done, as the following extract 
from Osborne testifies : - 

* " June 1838.-I accompa,nied the Maharajah to his 
practice ground. Here 1 found twelve horse artillerv p n s  
of different calibres, all tolerably well horsed and equipued. 
These guns are the refuse of his artillerv, and only used 
to accompany him when he marched. His great dentit is 
a t  Lahore. and is said to be very superior, and decidedly 
his best arm, and the one he takes most interest in. R e  
was trying his own shells. At 5D0 yard's the practice W:IS 
indifferent hut a.t 800 and 1 .I200 i t  was excellent. Many 
of the shells exploded just over the cnrtain." 

" The Maharajah is verv proud af the efficiencv ant! 
admirable -onditiob of his artillerr, nndl j u ~ t . 1 ~  so, for no 
native power has yet possessed so well orqa,nised and l3rw 
a, force. At, suiirisc T n.:iited npon thc Maharaiah, acbcord- 
ing to appointment, to see the practice of his artillerv. 
There were 13 brass nine-poiinders upon the grn~~r?d pro- 
tected 111- two sqnnd'rons of r~g111rir C R V , ' I ~ ~ V .  ilnder Rlaiah 
Dhinn Singh. Aft.er manwnvriny for nl~ont nn honr hnd 
- - . - - - - - . . . - - - - - 

+ Oshorno: Court and Cnmp of Rnniit Singll, page 161. 
t Osborne : Court and Cnmp of Rnnjit S i n ~ 1 1 ,  pnge 160. 
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executing several of the simpler movements with consider- 
able steadiness and precision. they commenced practising 
with grape at a curtain a t  200 yards' distance. At the 
first round of grape, the curtain was cut clean away, and 
their shells a t  800 andl 1,200 yards were, thrown with a 
precision that is extraordinary, when the short period of 
time since which they have known even the existence of 
such a thing is taken into considerat.ion. " 

This last remark is incorrect, for shells had been pre- 
sented with the two guns given bv Lord William Bentinck 
a t  the conference a t  Rupar in 1831. Not only this, but 
Court had cast shells in pewter and brass, in the pear 
3 832, receiving a reward of Rs. 5,000 from Ranjit Singh 
for the first shell he presented. 

Ilieut. Barr, who passed through Peshawar in 1839, 
thus speaks of the r t i l lerv attached to Court's 
brigadex :- 

d <  
0 1 1  our a r r i v i n ~  at  the zuns General Court directed 

the native commandant, a fine looking soldier-like man, 
handsomely accoutred. to put them throuph their drill. 
The orders were given in French and-the system nf 
mnnery used by that n ~ t i o n  has been adopted. -4t the 
conclusion of the exercise we walked dlown the line and 
inspected1 the quns. The two on the right were those pre-. 
sented bv Ilord William Bentinck, and the rest were niw- 
pounders cast from that model. 

" All the shot were formed from beaten iron, ar!ci cost 
a mpee each, 2nd the inajoritv of the shells of r~e~vter,  
which he told us answered verv well. 

" The men d'recs somethinq like our horse artillerv, 
except t,liat instcad of helmet. thev wcar red t?~rha.ns. the 
officers' being of silk, which hang' down to  cover the back 
part of the neck, white trolisers with long hoots, black 
waist and cross helts, nnd black sca,bbards with brass 
mollntings. 7 Y 

We now take up tlle infamtrg. I n  the year 1311, 
Ranjit Singh's battalions of so-called disciplined infantrv 
had increased! to six. and these were, hv 1820, augmented 

+ Journal of a March, pages 269-60. 
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to a dozen, numbering in all 8,000 men. It was in  the 
latter year that  we find the first European instructor to 
the Khalsa infantry in the person of an  Eurasian adven- 
turer named Gordon, who was employed to train recruits, 
and afterwards given command of a battalion. Bnt before 
this Ranjit Singh had had experience of, and employed the 
services of European trained troops, as  will be seen from 
the memoirs of O'Brien and James, whose infantry and 
artillery he employed before 1820 a t  Mnltan and Bilaspur. 

Act~xally. the reform of the Khalsa infantry dates 
from the arrival of Ventura and Allard in 1822, and, 
corrcctlv spealcing. t,he brigndes under the French gcnt?rals 
and Oms and the battalions commanded by other Euro- 
pean adventurers were the Blite of the Khalsa army The 
battalions of Ventura's brigade, with the exception of 
one of Gurkhas, were exclusively Silrhs, and those of the 
oth.ers had two or more companies of pure Sikhs, the 
remainder heing Hindustanis or Punjabi Musulmans, etc. 

Tht. uniform of the Regular Infantrv was British in 
pattern and colour. With the exception of the so-called 
Gllrkha I~attnlions, the Khalsa ~oldierv st,eadf,zstly re- 
fused to wear the ungainly shako then used by the Enqlish 
soldiers, and perforce were permitted to retain their 
n:itionnl tnrbun. TJsu~llv the R e y l 2  r Brigades. in full 
dress wnre red coats a n d  whit'e t r o ~ ~ s ~ r s ,  their cross belts 
differing from the English in heing black instead of white, 
with the exception or' the Gurkhas who wore green iackets 
faced with red similar to t.he English Rifle R.eqiments of 
the period 

How the effort,s of the European officers snccecd(~d, 
the following will show :- 

Hnaetock, IS.?~.-*" At  the review. Ranj i t  Sinqh 
displavr(1 seven ha,ttnlions of infant,rv and  fnilr rcyirnents 
of ~nvalry.  with as manv trcops of horse arti!lery in the 
intervals of brigades and half brigades. His  foot were 

Havelock's W a r  in Afghanistan, Volume I, page 85. 
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formed three deep, and manaeuvred as instructed by their- 
I'~.rnch otiicers! carrving their arms with a bent elbow 
(sloped), and beating distinctly with the foot, the slower 
time of their shorter paced quick march, as might be seen 
a t  a review in the Champs de Mars. The drums and fifes 
assembled in the centre of the batallions, guided and gave 
animition to each change of position. 

" Pram the commencement of the review, the Rrigt~de 
D'elite which was distinguished by white trousers, was 
thrown into line, and supported every evolution of the 
first briqade, and if c.riticism could point out that the 
whole force, as compared with European standards, was 
indifferently equipped, the cavalry poorly mounted, and 
the artillery ill-harnessed; on the other h ind ,  it could not 
be denier1 'that here was a consider;tble force, which 
proved its ~ e n e r a l  acquaintance with the general principles 
of tactical combin ation, which moved and formed in 
various directions without confusion, and withotit hesita- 
tion, thqt the officers of the artillerp, cavalry, and infantry 
had alili? demonstrated their correct conception of the 
uses of their separate arms, which had moved co-relatively 
for the snpport of each other, and that here was not 
merelv tl-e infancy of military knowledge, but its vigorous 
manhood." 

Oshorne, Jvne, 28.5'7.-*" We saw about 2,000 in- 
fantrv on parnde. They were a fine lookin? body of men. 
dressed in white iaclzets ancl trousers (summer costume) 
with the  ellow ow Filch tiirhnn, and wearing black accoutre- 
ments Thev siihmit willinglv to the same discipline as 
our troops, hilt vill not v:enr shnlms. T11ev work in three 
r a n k ,  and do evervth in~ bv h a t  of dlrum, FIS in the 
F r ~ n c h  fnshion ; arc heaiitifnllv steadv on parade, and 
deliver hnth volle~7s and file firinq with greater precision 
t h n n  gnv tronns 1 ever saw Their movements on parade 
Rre verv s t ~ a d v ,  bilt very $low. Thev move onlv : ~ t  one 
~ " C P .  t,hc dmhle h t i q  unknown to them. Their licht 
inf lnf rv  11 crlr A S  we11 2s Anv Compnnv regiment could 
pmsihlv do." 

Wood 1 . - t "  There were on p~rncle  r~ t  Pcs11aav:l r 
thrc'c hriy:rdcs of infqntry. Conrt's. Avitnhile's, and Misr 

- - - -  - -  - 
Ouhornn. Conrt, nnrl Cnmp of R n n i i t  S i n g h ,  page 102. 

t Wood'u .Jonrney to t h e  OXIIR, pagb 155. 
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Sukh Raj's . Though I am no soldier, I could not help 
admiring the material. The men were tall, slim fellows, 
well set up, and with a fine soldierly bearing. They were 
neatly dressed in well cut uniforms, and all their accoutre- 
ments were clean and in the best order. They marched 
past, formed into line, and fired vollevs with great preci- 
sion. They next formed to receive cavalry : squares were 
formed with a gun a t  each corner, and file firing opened, 
which was very well sustained. " 

Yet, though all seemed fair  on the surface, the Khalsa 
troops were seething with discontent, the reason being the 
eternal arrears of pay, heavy fines, and peculations frorn 
the balance. Even though the troops both resppctc;;l, and 
feared the Maharajah, there were sporadic cutbrealrs 
during his lifetime, and after his death these burst, forth 
in most violent attacks upon those who had robhcd and 
oppressed the soldiers. Here follow extracts, the first 
from Osborne, to whom Ranjit  Singh was very u partial - 
and open. He writes:- 

*" The Khalsa troops are paid the same as the 
Company's troops, or rather promiced that  such will be 
the case. for they are frequentlv u p ~ ~ ~ a r d s  of a year in  
arrears, and seldom l e ~ s  than 12 'months. At. the oreserlt 
moment (June) two out of three regular battalions at 
I'cshawar are in a state of open mutinv for  their pay, one 
bein? eighteen months, and the other twenty-two mbnths, 
in arrears ! When they are half-starved, avd growing 
tlesperatc, and Ranjit Sinrh thinks thev will Fczr no 
more, he makes R compromise with them, and rrivinq them 
one-half, or one-third of what is due them, half frightclns 
or half cheats them into foregoing further claims.. . . . . . . . 

" IIe asked me several questions about our mode of 
paying, and mentioncd his h a v l n ~  to d i ~ h a n d  Fonle 
hnndreds of men for mutiny, I asked him when they had 
last been paidl. 

" ' E i ~ h t e e n  months ago,' he said; ' and yet thev are 
discontented !' 

" ' Very odd,' I said, sarcastically. 
-- 

Osborne: Court and Camp of Rnnjit Singh, page 103. 
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" He then asked : ' What would you do in such 
a case?' 

" I explained that i t  would hardly happen in our 
service, for the men were regularly paid. He replied : 

" ' So are mine, and more than that;  the rascals haye 
been living on plunder for the past six months ! ' 

" I tried hard to impress upon him, but in vain, that 
I could not very well see how else they could live." 

The next is frorn the Lahore Newslet.t,er, to the Resi- 
dent a t  Ludhiana: ancl dated 23rd August, 1834." 

' < .......... ..Mian Labh Singh, who had been sent to 
inspect the troops colnma~lded bv 1,alj i Ma1 and Birji Mal. 
who had recentlv come from ~ a s h m i r ,  and were encamped 
near one of themgates of the city, attended a t  the Dnrb'ar, 
and reported that a battalion of Kour Kharak Singh's had 
come to prefer a complaint, saving that of eight months' 
pay in arrears, the Kour was bnlv giving them two, and 
how was it  possible for them to 'subsist on such a sum ! 
'l'he Maharajah ordered Mian J,abh Singh and Chet Singh, 
followers of lihar*alr Singh, to go and persuade the soldiers 
too take what the Kour offered to give them, and that 
afterwards some further money would be remitted them. 
About half an hour afterwards they returned, and repre- 
sented that, notwithstanding their efforts, the soldiers 
still remained obdurate. 

" Ranjit Singh desired them to control the soldiers by 
some stratagem (strategy ?). La1 Sin,ph. accordingly 
ordered Lalji Ma1 and Birji Ma1 to continue them. The 
sepovs, not being provided with sword's, or ball cartridges, 
and "having nothing to depend upon but their bayonets, 
were immediately surrounded bv the Jemadars a t  the 
head of their t&ops. Finding themselves opposed, they 
stood at  the charge, on which the Jemadars directed their 
men to fire. Seven or them were killed, twentr-five 
wcli~nderl, and eiyht or ten drowned in attempting to 
esra pe across the river. 

" On henrinq the renort, the Mr7hara,ia.h eupresce'd 
meat rcgret r7t wha t hnd hnppened, and directed' the killed r l  

- - - - -- - - - -- -. - - - - ppp - -- / 
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and wounded to be taken to  the house of Kour Kharak 
Singh. A n  allowance of Rs. 20 was made to pay the 
cost of each man's funoral, and Rs. 50 to  each of the 
mrollnd'ed to dress his wounds, and Chet Singh was ordered 
into confinement under a guard of IIhoGnb-a1 Singhye 
bathalion. The Maharajah said he was the principal 
offender in not having exerted himself as he should have 
done, in diverting the sepogs from their mutinous dlis. 
position. 

" The Kour (Chet Sinah's patroll) replied that the 
outrage had originated in the Maharajah's order to confirie 
the men, and that Mian Labh Singh had only ordered it 
to be carried into execution. Ranjit  Sinqh gave no reply. 
Rhai Ram Singh and some other couriiers pleaded for 
the release of Chet Singh out olf consideration for Knur 
ICharak Singh The Mnharajah said he would release 
him only on payment of a fine of Rs. 50,000. On the 
third dav, Sardar Manqal Singh applied for the ralease 
of the oflender. The Msharfijah said he must first pay 
the money, when the Sirdar offered to pap Rs. 25,000, His  
~ i ~ h n e s ;  remained silent. Others preferred the same 
request, when the Maharajah, sending for the jemadars, 
reprimanded then1 severely. 

" He inquired by whose ord'ers thev had attacked and 
1;illed these men They replied agreeshlv to the orders of 
Mian Labh Sinlsh The Maharajah made no reply. 
Sardar Ras3mrzz Sinqh represented on the 4th instant,, tha t  
Koor Kharali Singh was so distressed a t  Chet Singh's 
confillenlent that he had not eaten, and threatened to  
destroy himself The Maharajah replied that in con- 
sideration of the ICour he would liberate the prisoner on 
payment of Rs. 50,000. Basawa Singh then interceded 
for the abatement of the sum. when the Mahnra jah, in 
compliance with his application, relinquished Rs. '10,000. 
The Sardar accordingly delivered Rs 40.000 to the 
Mnhara jah, and Raja Hira  Sinyh mas ordered to  see the 
prisoner released " 

The Maharajah must have done well out. of  the trans- 
action, for the person selected as the most guilty was the 
most ~vvealthy, and. as i t  is very doubt,ful that  ;he unfor- 
tunate men or their relatives ever got another pie of cnm- 
pensntion, he cleared nearly Rs. 40,000. 
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I n  conclusion, let us quote the following testimonies 
to the work of the European instructors. Cunningham, 
who was present a t  all the battles of the Punjab Wars, 
speaks thusX :- 

" The guns of the Silzhs were served with rapidity 
and precision, and the foot soldiers stood between and 
behind their batteries, fir~n in their order and active with 
their musket. The resistance met by the English on this 
occasion was wholly unexpected, and it was at  Ferozeshah 
for the first time that the Indian and the British soldiers 
of the English armies met an equal antagonist with their 
own weapons, even ranks and the fire ~f artillery." 

General Gough writes most appreciatively of the 
prowess of the Khalsa warriors, but we may take this with 
a little discount, for most generals are more inclined to 
over-rate than under-rate the enemy they have beatent :- 

" Never did a native army having so relatively slight 
an advantage in numbers fight a battle with the British, 
in which the issue was so doubtful as at  Ferozeshah; and 
if the victory was decisive, opinion remains divid'ed as to 
what the result might have been if  the Sikh troops had 
found commanders with sufficient capacity to give their 
qualities full opportunity. " 

Nor was this stubbornness confined to the battles of 
the first Sikh War, some of the second being equally doubt- 
ful. So far  as regards the manceuvres of the Sikhs, Major 
Dowell, $ writes :- 

" An officer who was taken prisoner in the late 
campaign told n e  that the march of the Sikh army from 
the neighbourhood of Chillianwallah was one of the best 
executed, and most magnificent manmuvres he had ever 
witnessed. Drawn up in order of battle, facing the British 
camp, Sher Singh first passed his baggage well to tlha 
rear of his reverse flank of the intended march. He then 
commenced his retreat, preserving his order of battle 
intact, each battalion keeping perfect place and alignment 

.. . . -. - -. -- - - -- -- - 

Ci~nningharn's History of the Sikhs (Garrett's Ed.) pages 295 and 298. 
t Bikhe and Sikh Wars, page 42. 
f Vo111me 14, Calcutta Gazette,  page 294. 



for a distance of twenty miles. So perfectly was the order 
of tattle preserved, that the British capti<e believed that  
our army must have been marching close and parallel to 
that of the Sikhs, instead of being quietly in  camp at 
Chi llianwallah." 



GEORGE THOMAS 

To whom will not a story of adventure and warfare, 
though but semi-savage, appeal ? Especially when this 
story is of one who himself raised a small a.rmv of alien 
soldiers, and with their aid .zchieved a king&m, even 
though his rnle mas not of long dilration. 

Romance lingers on, even to  old age, with many, or 
may be found abiding in the most unlikely of persons. 
~ o t  only do such tales appeal to  those who travelled :mdl 
ad17ent11'retl. hut ~ l s o  to many who, thouyh they may have 
l o n ~ e d  for the open spaces of the world, and1 its potential 
adventures, have been doomed to the well ordered tracks of 
civilisnt,ion. For instance, many ' years u ago, we fore- 
gathered with the Semitic manager of a great provision 
business of London. who in a moment of expansiveness, 
cont'essetl' that his cherished ambition was a life on the 
hl~ie seas and sun-kis~ed beaches of the Pacific and his 
f ;ivonr-ite authors, Louis Beck and Stephenson. 

This story is of the golden age of the military adven- 
turers in India, and of one who, denied the most elemen- 
tary of education, barn in the lowest ranks of society, and 
thrust into the world when a bog, vet, was the ?rotoGpe of 
' him who would be a king ' and, luckier than Kipling's 
fiction:~l hero, actuallv achieved his am bitjon MTe shall 
snow you the extraord'inary spectacle of two deserters from 
the military forces of hostile nations, contending for 
rrlastery. m e  commander of an army of 50,000, ruler of a 
vnst (1intrit.t for Scindia, and bictator of northern 
H~ndllntan ; the other master of a Free Company of 12,000 
men ,  and 18lller of a considerable district conquered hv. 
and adniinistered for himself. 
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Not of him who conquered, do we write, but of him 
who succumbed, leaving behind him the story of an asto- 
nishing career to afford a. theme for many word weavers, 
Let us show you how Thomas appeared to his c o n t e m p  
raries. The first being Tod, the annalist of Rajasthan, 
who thus wrote :- 

*" Sn Thomas was seen a union of wild enerej, qreat 
foresight, and daring intrepidity, which combined with a 
g i ~ a n t i r  form and qtrenqth. placed him the most c:onspi- 
cuous olf all who carved their way to fortune in a vast and 
wide field. Nor is there anv r'eason to doubt that, but 
for the anavoidlable close of his career in the uneq1:nl con- 
test with Scind~a's great forces under Perron, he wonld 
have made T ~ h o r e  his capital, for he despised the Sikhs as 
soldiers, and averred that he could nlwavs put 5 , 0 0 0  Sikh 
horsemen to flight with 500 Rohilla horse." 

Now follows James Skinner, ~ h o  knew Thomas even 
hett.er, for he not onlv fought against him. but. guarded 
him after his surrender to Perron :- 

t" Tntiinately acquainted with the natives of India, 
Thomas was eminently qualified to guidk and command 
them. His military 'talents may be estimated from the 
history of his actions, and his remarliable abilitv from 
his energy in providing resources in the time of need. 
His manners were grave and qentle. and he was courteous 
to all. He was frank, generous a,nd humane, thol?gh 
suhjert to sudden ebullitions of temper, in which he com- 
mitted acts of which he quiclcllv repenbd, and as soon 
atoned for. His conduct to the families of all whn fell or 
were disabled in his service, was a convincing proof of his 
aenerositv. and the devoted attachment of his personal ,? 

fol!owers is the best evidence of their appre~ia~tion of his 
character. " 

His faculty of easy forgiveness is shown by continild 
adherence to the fortunes of employers who attempted to 
take his life, by his rescue of B e p m  Snmnl in her dire 
need. though she had frequently invaded his district, and 
by that of the sister of the Raja of Patiala who had bravely 

' European Adventurers, page 227. 
t Life of James Skinner, Volrime I,  page 259. 
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defended the territorv from which her brother had fled. 
On his return this recreant had1 repudiated the terms wnd 
attempted to revenge himself on his sister. whereupon she, 
sending a messenger after Thomas, induced him to return 
and rescue her, even though he acknowledges that she mas 
a bitter enemy, yet " a better inan than her brother." 

His  disregard of the rights of propertv cannot be 
condoned, and there is no doubt that  he was often but a 
common robber. Yet, in extenuation, we should remember 
that, a t  this period Hindustan was in the melting pot, and 
seething with dissension. Might was right, a.nd posses- 
sion regulated by- 

" The qood old1 rule. the simple plan, 
That  they should take who had the power, 
,4nd they should keep who can." 

Ciec~rge Thomas was born in Tipperarv about tlla 
year 1758, prob2blv to  a father who, Keene a~se r t s ,  was 
descended from Cromwell's military settlers. This may be 
correct, as we find from Peacock's list of ships and soldiers 
s2nt to Ireland in 1642 (in which by the way Cromwell 
figures as a Lieut. of foot), that  a certain John Thomas 
commanded a small supply Icetch. Such an  ancestry may 
have been the reason that Thomas adopted that sea-r"a,ring 
life from which he was impreszed into the Roval Nary. 

He arrived off the coast of India in the year 37N, a,s a 
(nnner in the fleet commanded by ~ d r n i r a l  Hughes, and h 

with this served in several actions against the French lleet, 
aboard one of the vessels of which was his future enemy 
and conqueror, Pierre Cuillier (Perron), then a Sergeant 
of Marines. Also, another coincidence, the two men 
deserted in the same pea,r. Thomas left a t  the end of 
1781, and making his way inland found emplovment as a 
gunner with the various Po'iqars, or chiefs of the trihcs 
of mountain robbers who a t  the period infested Southern 
Tndi a .  varying their usi~al avocation bv occasionnlly 
actinq a s  partisan soldiers for the French, or Endish, a s  
inclination im pclled, or inducement offered. 
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Most of them possessed a number of small cannon 
manned by European deserters, or tl:e other vagabonds 
then so numerous in Southern India, and, indeed scatterecl 
all over India. So numerous were these, that a t  one time 
Yusuf Khan, a partisan of the British, and later, with 
reason, their bitter enemv, had no less than 120 of then: 
commauded bv a Frenchman named Marchand. When 
Yusuf Khan was taken and h a n ~ e d ,  the _I meat proportiox1 
of deserters amongst these men escaped his fate by an 
accidentill omission in the terms offered to the Frezichman 
to betray his employer, much to the annoyance of the 
English commander-in-chief. Eyre Coote also enlployrd 
a battery of four guns, manned by similar men under an  
adventurer named Rristol. 

Thomas endured this employment for about five years, 
when he entered the service of the Nizam of Hyderabad as 
a private gunner. I n  this capacity he served for only six 
months, when he quittcd i t  and took a six months' tramp 
to Delhi, ~71iere he secured emplovment with Regum Snmru. 
The Hegum's heterogeneous army was manned and coin- 
~nandcd by numerous Eurcpeans, most of whom were even 
choicer rascals than those of other armies. 

Thomas, a handsome man of good manners, soon 
found favour with the Begum, and was advanced bv her 
to the corn~nand of her pcrsonal guard. I t  is said teat he 
became her lover, which is quite possible, for the Eegum 
had a lieell eye for a fine man, and having commenced life 
as n slave girl, a situation in life not eaeily cornpntible 
with stern morals, was not likely to let him pass, though 
quite averse to any fixed connection. It is said that  
Thomas hoped to marry her, but even then, she had so 
many lovers that had she married one, the consequences 
might h i ~ ~ e  been as sericlls as they were later: when she 
did celect one for that " honour " 

Her tmops being feudatory to the King of Delhi, 
were called upon to o,ssist in reducing s rebel~!ious to\+-u, 
which they soon invested. The time was the 12nmznn. a 
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period when most Mahomedans abstain from food and 
drink during the day, though making ample amends after 
sundown. Not doubting that the enemy would follow 
their own example, the Imperial troops gave themselves 
up to a regular debauch after nightfall. However. they 
had miscalculated, for their co-religionists did not do so, 
hut instead, sallied forth and fell upon the camp at mid- 
night. 

They penetrated deeply into the camp, and w o ~ ~ l d  have 
taken the Emperor prisoner but for the fact that Thomas, 
who alone had kept his men in control, was ready when 
called for, and, aided by the Begum, drove off the enemy 
and1 saved the Emperor. The abstinence of the troops and 
t h e  vigilance of their commander mere rewarded with 
preserrts, and the Begum was allotted a jaghir on the 
frontiers. 

This fief was held condit.iona1 on keeping the front,ier 
free from Sikh raids, and this duty, together with th,e 
jaghir for the maintenance of himself and the troops, the 
Be,pm made over to Thomas. I n  addition to his militnry 
capacit,y, another reason may have heen that she must 
hm7e tired. of him. to judge by the -fact that she cave -. 

him a Christian wife named & h i e ,  from amongst her 
handmaidens. 

One would surnlise that of all men to manage a civil 
"overnment,, however petty, this uneducated sailor would h 

have been the least suitable. But, as so often happens, 
opportunitv malies the man. and Thnmas, likc oihers in 
similar cases, rose to the occasion. R e  displn.ved adminis- 
trative powers of a high order, and hy a jnkiciolis com- 
bination of force andl concili,zt.ion, brought his turbulent 
2nd almost, tlepopula.ted district, to repopnlation and pros- 
peritr. Not o n l y  did he repel the Sikhs, but knowing 
that n ,n :~ in~ t  ~ c h  raiders nttwk was the best deferrce, 
:,l~r::l red them into their omrn conntry, where he plundered 
i nd iqcriminntelv, a.s they had done, and' levied a heavy t'adl 
hforc  withdrawal. 



Eventually, peace and industry resulted in a flow of 
revenue to the state coffers, and the cultivation of long 
waste lands. Naturallly, this success and growing power 
aroused thk jealousy of the French officers, and they care- 
fully insinuated into the Begum's suspicious mind the idea 
that Thomas was only awaiting an opportunity to dethrone 
her. This suspicion was so carefully fomented that it 
overcame all other feelings, so she seizedl as hostages, the 
wife and child of Thomas, whilst he was absent in pursuit 
of the Sikhs. 

On hearing what had occurred, he returned swiftly, 
and rescuing his family from the Begum's guard by force, 
retired to Tappal, where he proclaimed himself inclepen- 
dent. His reign was verv brief for the Begum's whole 
army soon captured him, and dispersing his troops thrust 
him over the border into British territory, possessed cf 
only Rs. 500, discounted by a wife and child. Howeve1 , 
nothing daunted, Thomas expended this capital in tht 
purchase of arms, with which he equipped a number of 
needy and desperate rescals, and utilising these as a robber 
band, soon obtained enouglr funds to alvr and equip a 
total of 250 men. In addition, he cast four six-pounder 
guns. from brass utensils commandeered' frorn the villages. 

General Gilbert. of Sobraon fame, cited as a proof' 
of Thomas's ingenuity that he strenqthenec! these guvs 
with small steel bars increasing their life and lightening 
the weight. Havinq :;i~fficientlv trained his rascals, 
Thomas hired them ollt to  Appa ~ h a n d i  Rno, a feudatory 
of Scindia's, but then in rebellion against him. The force 
not being strong enough, Appa Khandi assigned Thomas 
a jaghir* for the m:~inteni~nce of a force to be increased 
to 500 men. There was rnethod in this, for he himself 
had  never been nbk to ?xtract single picle of revenue from 
the tlistrict. 

Never doubtir~g his own ability to rqlleeze n main- 
tenance from it, Thomas thee:-f111ly set out for his realm, 
-- 

* J n g h i r :  the pro(-acdq of thc  I,t.vt.nrie of :I clistricat. ris11:~lIy : ~ s ~ i i y ~ e d  on 
mi1it:ll.y teniire. 
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breaking the monotony of the march, and saving expendi- 
ture by plundering thk villages through which they passod. 
These belonged to the Begnm, and Thomas justified what 
he did, as merely reprisals. Arrived a t  his destination, 
the inha.bitants ia1.e him a taste of their quality by steal- 
ing his own horses the night he crossed the border. Such 
an  outrage was intolerable, so, justly indignant a t  these 
dogs robbing a wolf, he set out to show them that he 
could bite harder, and after hard fighting, brought them 
into subjection. Then, elated with this succc;js, he 
added the best of them to his own force, and having train- 
ed them, decided to invade the neighbouring territory and 
add it  to his own. 

However, he had miscalculated, and was forccd to 
retreat with the enemy hard upon his heels. Eventnnlly, 
after considerable mangling, he managed to shake them off, 
and reached home to find an S. 0.  S. from Appa awaiting 
him. That chief and his troops having fallen out owr 
the eternal question of arrears of pay, the latter had 
surrounded the fort in which he had taken shelter, and 
promised to roast their arrears out of him when they got 
him. BJ- forty mile marches Thomas arrived in time to 
make terms. inducing them to accept a bit on account, 
and return to their allegiance. 

This service was rewarded bv a jaghir of thrre :nore 
nn-remunerative districts, andl Rs. 3; 000 in cash. One 
of t h ~ s e ,  Jhaj  j har became his headquarters, and having 
e~tablished himself, he made it his base for the numerous 
eupeclitions he conducted, either for hire, or for his own 
hqnd. These beinq far too numerous to detail here we 
will mention only the more important, especially that 
~rh i rh  gained hi111 the title of tJo~vruj junq {Grorge the 
Virtorio[is), thoi~yh he was ns~lnllv r a l l ~ d  eithrr the . T ~ h n z i  
>;?hih, or S:rhih Rahadur. 

On this occasion he had accepted a commission from 
Srinrlia to assist in the subjection of the rebel town of 
Sohawal Garh, bring associated with two of Scindia.'~ own 
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Briyadees, one under Allan Gardner and the other corn- 
manded by Colonel Sutherland, both ex-British officers. 
Having invested, and surveyed the place, a council of war 
decided that i t  was too strong for immediate assault and 
required a regular siege. Thomas dissented, but being 
over-ruled left the council and resolved to go his own way. 
Having personally reconnoitred he dec idd  that the place 
could be taken by a sudden attack, and that his o m  force 
alone could do i t .  

A t  dawn next morning he attacked, and was in posses- 
sion of both town and citadel before his allies rea.li~ed 
what was ha.ppeninq. When they came u p  and denlanded 
a share of the plunder Thomas flatly refused, giving then1 
clearly to understand that what he alone had talren, he 
could alone h d d .  Naturally this broke up  the confe- 
deracy which troubled Thomas little for he had paid 
himself, and home he marched flushed victory, and 
plunder, just in. time to scare off the force the Regum had 
despatched to capture his dominion during his absence. 

Having recuperated, and reinforced, he accompanied 
Appa in a number of expeditions, either legitimate 
quarrels, or perhaps for plnnder and revenge only. for 
as we have remarked Hindustan was ~eeth ing  with fermcnt 
and quarrel, each chief being ever ready for x fight. 
Natnrally ally excuse served. 

One of these led to zl quarrel, for Thomas having 
taken a deedlv enemv of Appa's under promise of quarter 
offended his employer by refusing to give his captive up for 
execution. excusing the refusal by his pledged word; and 
vhen -4~rpn to whom snch a. plea appeared only an evasion 
scnt troops to take the man bv force, Thomas drove ttlrnl 
off. Mlich annoyed, or as he thought, humiliated bv the 
incident Appa deterlnined to Fet rid of his ilnconlplnint 
a]!!, and with this view, arri~nrred n i t h  somc 500 Ghosains 
(nomadic robbers), to amb~iscnde Thon.las. wllnm he 
a r m n ~ e d  to send out on a fictitio~ls expedition. 
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Luckily for Thomas, some of his friends gave him 
warning, so, affecting to accept Appa's orders without 
suspicion, he set out. As soon as  he was clear of the 
carilp, he doublell his ~narclies, and falling upon the 
Ghosains the night before they expected him, cut up  most 
of them. Two of the wounded he sent back t.o Appa, with 
the news of what he hacl done, and tha.t he was fully aware 
of his employer's treachery, and then marched off towards 
!lome. H e  had not got f a r  before he was overtaken by a 
despairing message from Appa, whom his enenties had 
surrounded, as soon as they had heard that he and Thomas 
had parted. 

As the messenger brought an emphatic denial of 
treachery, ;md what was hettcr, a substantial sum of 
money to clinch i t ;  Thomas returned to his relief, and 
drove off the enenlv. From this he returned to his own 
border. for the ~ i k h s ,  emboldened by his absence; had 
raided extensively. Not only did he 'drive then, off, but 
he followed them up into Patiala from which he extracted 
a, substantial indemnity before r e t u r n i ~ g  home. 

The next appeal for help came from the Begum, who, 
having forgotten her policy of lreeping her lovers a t  aruk's 
length, had married one. This man. being of a bet.tr3r 
class than the others. and not slow to let them see i t ,  was 
cordially detested, and, as soon as the marriage was 
known, thov. with their soldiers. mutinied and set lip a 
son of Reinhardt's by his first wife. The Begum and 
her husband, a Frenchman named Le Vacieu, fled towards 
British territory, but being overtaken. the man corrl:nitLed 
snicicle. The Requm also attempted i t ,  but failed, either 
throuah - lack of incl inat io~.  or strencrth. -, 

She was taken back to Sardhana. and there chained 
between two guns, occasiolla!ly being placed astride of onc 
at mid-day, when i t  was nearly red hot, n form of torture 
often practised by such troops. Fortnnatelv, one of her 
f i r e r s  sent an appeal to Thomas, who, forgetting in juries 
rnd mindfli l  nr~ly of benefits, hastened bv forced marches 
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to the rescue. He succeeded by a combination of bid and 
bribery in  causing the troops to re-instal her, giving them 
a lakh of rupees in payment of arrears, this latter being 
a potent cause of the mutiny. 

Yet even this service was forgotten by the ungrateful 
woman, for she not only attempted to raid Thomas' terri-  
tory several times, but joined Rourquin in the final attack 
upon Thomas, which caused his downfall. After this very 
creditable episode. Thonlas again joined A p p  Khandi i r ~  
various expeditions, one of which brought about a, dis- 
agreement and n renem-ecl attempt a t  assassination. 
During a raid on Jaipur ,  they hncl taken a number of 
bullock drawn guns, which a,s Thomas's own men had 
captured singly, he refused to share with his employer, 
and when Appa attempted to seize them by force, drove off 
the attackers. 

Much enraged at, this second defiance, Appa dec.ided 
upm n.nother attempt a t  assass!'nzticn, and with this in 
v l e ~ v ,  engaged. as a personal guard, some 200 Rohillas, 
men whose profession was war and slaughter, varied hv 
treachery. Having instructed then1 as to what was 
required, he invited Thonlas to a conference within the 
house he occupied as headquarters. Quite unsuspicious, 
Thomas left the guard who always accompanied hirli out- 
side the house. but as qoon a s  he entered the room, he saw 
that something was wrong, for the Rohillas. deeming their 
prey safe, made no attempt to  hide their feelinys. 

Accordingly, affecting to notice nothing. he kept very 
close to Appa, and when the Chief rose to  leave the room. 
P I I P ~ C ~  one pistol into his hack, and with the other, kept 
off the wonld-be assailants. Meanwhile, his men, alarmed 
nt his :on,a a l ~ ~ n c e  and .ceeinq other Rohillas r~llont, 
swarmed into the ptxssxpe and when Thomas compelled 
Appa to open the door, were ready and eager for an 
atta,cl< upon his 2ssnilantq. E~yen this t re~cherv  was for- 
:ism. a n d  Thonlns remained wit'h Appa until that  chief. 
who nrns suffering from an  inrnmblc disease. drowned 
hinlself in the sncrcd Nerhndd3 River. 
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Then came trouble for Vaman Rao, the heir, repu- 
diated all the jaghirs made over to Thomas, and when 
the latter refused to surrender them, brought in the 
Sikhs on the one side, and the Begum on the other, and 
disposses~ed Thomas of all but his town of Jhajjar.  
Deprived of most of his resources, Thomas now becanre 
frankly a robber chief, hiring out his men for any entcr- 
prisi~rg promising plunder, and justifying such proceed- 
ings by remarlring, perhaps truly, that if he did not rob 
others, they would him. I t  was merely wolf eating wolf, 
and the strongest must survive. 

After rehabilitating himself, he cast an acquisitive 
eye up011 the district of Hariana, once a fertile country, 
but now ruined and desolate through the continual harry- 
ing by robbers and neighbours. Into this derelict district 
Thomas marched with 3,000 men, and after much fight- 
ing cleared it of the intruders, adding as usual the best 
of them to his own forces, for in those days the vanquishetl 
usually joined the victor. 

Haring secured peace, he settled down in the almost 
deserted town of Hansi, fortified it;, and bv tactflll and 
oenerous treatment of the surviving inhabitants, jnduced 3 

those who had fled to return t o  the town and district and 
resume their ordinary avocations. He drew up a code for 
civil administration, and law, apportioning the revenue 
into moieties for civil and military, allotting the latter for 
salaries, aclminist m t ion exp:nses. and pap ancl pension 
for the troops, R e  built court-houses, est ahlished arse- 
nals and' munition factories, in which were manufactured 
arms. equipment, ammunition, pov~der. and even cannon, 
and actuallv struck rupees, a sample of which we -giver. 

(lertainlv, his rule was a milit.ary autocracv, hut 
even 90 i t  was benevolently administered, and shol~s  that 
the l~niqiie knowledge of Asia tic men, and mentality, 
which Ylrinner att,riblit~d to Thomas, was ju~ t i f i~ i l .  
Presentlv, the  whirliqig of necessity caused Vaman Rim 
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to seek aid from Thomas, which, in the easy manner of  
the times, and of free-lances when inducement offered, wa.5 
accorded. The case was that Vaman Rao had fallen out  
with the Raja  of Jaipur, and not being strong enough to 
tackle the campaign himself, be thought himself of 
Thomas, whom he knew to be a good soldier, and just now 
well equipped. 

He Fent a substantial sum in coin, together with a 
glowing account of the plunder obtainable from Jnipnr .  
Naturally these arguments prevailed, and Thomas joined 
him with 4,000 men, t o  which Vaman Ilao added his 
own 4,000. Together, they cheerfully set out to invade 
.Ta.ipur, which could put 3h.000 men into the field. JTovr- 
ever, the disparity was more apparent than real, for the 
invaders were well armed1 and disciplined. wherens the 
Jajpuris v7ere the usual disorderly mobs of horsemen which 
then constituted the forces of the unreformed Indian 
armies. 

The country througli which they advanced was open 
and sandy. 'Being continually harried by the Jaipur  
horsemen, Thomas, when in the presence of the enomy, 
moved forward in a hollow square, his cavalry numbering 
ahou t 200, contained in the centre. Whenever attaclted, 
the square halted, and after repdling the enemy by musl<et 
fire, the Itohillas issued forth and completed the rout. 
Every night when he halted the brigade was surrounded 
by a zeriba of the thorny bushes which were the only 
vegetation of the desert. I t  is strikiiig to  notice the re- 
semblance of these tactics to those of the British in the 
Sndan campaigns of nearly ninety years later. 

For a time matters marched most satisfactorily, the 
invaders taking toll of every town they passed. Rlit 
as they got farther from home, and lost more men, thinys 
became serious, for they were isdated fa.r in a hostile 
collntrv. l.'t v7as theyefore decided to make the hest of  
whnt t;hep had secured and get away before matters be- 
came more despera.te. 



Sufie.ring the greatest hardship from thirst and the. 
fatigue of ploughing through the deep sand, whilst eter- 
nally harassed by the enemy horsemen, the . decimated 
brigades fell hack until they reached the town of Fatehpur 
where tllev mere tc! find ~ ~ ~ e l l s .  Their hopes of speedy 
relief from the horrors of thirst were dashed, for on 
arrival, they found that the towrlsman had filled in t,he 
wells and withdrawn within their walls. 

Thomas turned at bay, and deputing half his force to 
clear out the wells, kept off the enemy. Then as his men 
were too wearied to go further a t  present, he made a zeriba 
of Rabul bushes within which he endured a siege until 
they were fullv restored. Then sallying forth. he cut 
his way through the investing forces, and though follo~17ed 
up  closely by them. safely regained his 0 ~ ~ 1 1  frontier. 
Here he awaited re-inforcements. and arnm~~nition. after 
receipt of which he once Inore advanced into Jaipur .  n u t  
the Raja had had enough of hirn, and deeming i t  cheaper 
to huv him off than to fight him, put up a ransom of 
Re. sb.ono with which Thomas was content. 

Loth to waste his newly conditioned troops, he raided 
Rikanir, from which the Raja  bought him off with 
Rs. 2Q,000, half in cash find the balance in promissory 
notes on Delhi which, however, were dishonoured-a piece 
of trickery for which Thomas ultimately exacted full 
payment, and interest. The nest excursions into J ind  
and Pati  ala were quite reniunerative expeditions. That  
to  Patinla brought out an  instance of the chivalry ir~h(:rent 
in Thomas for, after the Raja had Red the eneniy were 
resisted by his more manly sister. She after a stout re- 
sistance made terms with Thomas of which her brother 
disapproved on his return. and xctivelv shewed it by 
shutting her up in a fort of her own. 

An appeal to Thomas brought him back to  her re1ea.e 
af ter  which he made peace with the brother a,nd tolien 
r e t ~ ~ r n e d  on h is  homeward journey. There was no ques- 
tion of the softer feelings being concerned, for he remarked 



that  she was a very masculine and r~glv individual, but 
withal n I '  b ~ t t e r  man than her brother ". H e  next 
accepted a commission from Ambaji Ingria to assist 
Colonel Sutherland in an attack on Udaipar, the terms 
being Rs. 50,000 down and a share of the plunder. But 
for some unexplained reason, probably a remembrance of 
their former association, which he still resented, Suther- 
land quitted Thomas half way leaving him to carry out 
the expedition unaided. 

Notwithst;tnc!in~ this defection Thomas was so SUC- 

cessflll that the Udaipnris tried1 to buy him off-an offer 
he refuged, for he had the true Free Lance virtue of fidelity 
to his present employer, even though he would cheerfully 
Licht him later. Yet his fidelity to Amlnaji was rewarded 
bv treachery on the part of that peculiar person, who 
became so envious of his emplovee's success that he incited 
Scindia's G~nera l .  Perron, to invade J h a j  jhar in Thomas' 
absence. Though this fell through, -4mbaji was not dis- 
couraged for he arranged an ambuscade both to relieve 
himself of Thomas. and secure the whole of the plunder-a 
nice little scheme which allso failed, as Tl~onli~s,  warned 
of what was intended. diverged from his intended route 
into Riltanir . 

Here he took the opportunity of settling that little 
matter of the dishonoured bills, and this settled went off 
home for a rest. I t  was not n long one for he soon nccept- 
ed a proposall backed up by Rs. 40,000, from the Biltaniri 
rebels to take a fort which was threatening their advance 
on the capital. Having executed this commission, he 
joined them and on arrival a t  Bikanir, exerted his force 
to procure an amicable settlement, for which he was R- 
warded by both parties. 

The next contract. was from Scindia. to clear the 
Snh:trnnpur district of the Silths who had overnui it. 
This accompll~ished. he again returned home; on the way 
stoppiny to subdue two of his own towns. which Irnving 
waxed fat .  were now kicking. The rebellion was soon 
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qllelled, though contrary to the usual custom he did not 
Jecimatr the rebels except in purse, so now having plf.nty 
of funds and nothing else on hand', he set out to prepare 
for his long cheri~hed invasion of the Punjab. Six mon!*hs 
later he advanced and, having reduced the Cis-Sntlcj 
States to agreement, and ransom, though he only had 5,OUO 
Inen and n few cannon, advanced on Lahore. 

Rut for the news arriving that Berron was contem- 
plating an attack on ,Jhajjhar, he might have carried out 
his long cherished idea of hoisting the British flng on 
Lahore fort, for above all Thomas was an ardent I m -  
perialist, and had he not been deterred, the British flag 
would have shadowed Lahore nearly fiftv w vears b before it  
actually did so. 

Here let us mention that before invading the Punjab, 
Thomas had approached Lord Welleslev through a Captain 
White of the British Senrice for aid, or at  least tatit 
acquiescence in his project of conquering the r ? ~ n j ~ ~ b ,  
mcntioning* " that I have no other design in view than 
the glory of mv King and country, and do nc~t wish to see 
my conclnests fall to those at enmity with them (the 
French). " However, Lord Wellesley definitely ~vfnsed 
to do either. 

Thomas had now reached his zenith. :md' had his 
diplomacy and prudence been at  all comparable with his 
military genius, might now have commenced to make 
hictorv, instead of merely incidents III  it.  1,arking these 
indispensib'e qualities, and probabl intoxicated with 
continual success, he lost all sense of proportion: :incl' fell 
almost like the stick of a rocliet. It is now necessarv to 
explain the relative positions of himself and his great 
rival, Perron, the Frenchman, now General-in -Chic E of 
Scindia's armies, Governor of Hindustan, and its virtual 
dicta tnr. 

I'he important positions held by Frenchmen in  the 
armies of the Yative powers hxd not escapecl Nal~olenn, 

- - - - - - - - - - -- -- - 
*Life of James Skinner, Volume I, page 238. 
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and in order to secure their aid for his cherished schemc 
of invading and conquering India, he sent oot emissaries 
to  interview them. Perron, who was just as ardent a 
French imperialist as  Thornas was an  English one, was 
promised high rank and honours for his active support. 
This he enthusiasticily promised to give, and added that 
of his troops, even though they were Scindia's, for he was 
confident that he could lead them where he wished. 

:% To further the scheme, 1,500 Frenchmen, including 
officers of all arms and a number of gunners, were landed 
a t  Pondicherry, from whence they should quietly be filtered. 
into the armies where French officers had influence. Bow- 
ever, the scheme fell through, for though the men were 
duly landed, Pondicherry was so carefully guarded, that 

4 rance. none got through, and eventually all returned to r 
The main obstacle to Perron's designs I nortlhern 

Tndia was Thomas, who not only had a large force of his 
own: but was very popular with the R r i t i ~ h  horn officers 
serving under Perron. who resented the f avouritism shown 
to the Frenchmen, and the fact. that to them were given 
all the posts of honour, whilst the Englishmen got only the 
dangerous ones. 

Whilst TFomas was nb~ent  in the Pnnjab, relaron 
decided' that the time had come for one or the other to  be 
paramount. and with this view he summoned Thomas to a n  
interview to trv and arrange terms, betore resortling Lo 
combat. Thomas accepted the invitation, and the two met 
a t  Bahadurgarh, near Delhi, on 10th October, 1801. 'J'lrep 
met with a certain amount of personal enmitv, undis- 
guised on the part of Thomas, but dissembled on that 
of Perron, who really desired to enlist Tl~orn:~s into 
Scindiaals service, for then he colild he sent to the Dcccan 
instead of Perrcln himself. whom Rcindia had frequently 
summoned 

These summonses Perron had evaded, for ho did not 
wich to split up his armv, or be absent from Yortheril 

' Europonn Adventurers, page 95. 
E 



Hindustan in case Napoleon's schemes materialised. I-Ie 
offered Thomas !iberi:l ts~.ms,* these being that he should 
surrender all his jaghirs and territorial acquisitioaa, and  
join Scindia's army with the whole of his brigade, for 
which he woul'd receive th.e rank and pay of a col.onel, and 
a monthly subsidy 01 Rs. 80,000 for his brigades. IIad 
Thomas reflected or heen a wily laan, he might. have accopt- 
ed the terms, for the possibilities were immense. There 
might ha.ve been no Mahratta wars, for quite possibly 
the British elenlent amongst the officers might have 
superseded Perron in favour of himself, and this done he 
might have been permitted to carry out his scherr~e of 
adding the Punjah to the Rritish dominions. 

However, his fana.tical hatred of Frenchmen, and 
sense of his own importance blinded him to the actnsl 
facts, and he broke off ne~ot~iations. His excuse was 
" Mr. Perron and myself. being subjects of nations in a 
state of hostility, could not possiblv act together in 
concert, and I Tias convinced t!tnt h~ hein? a Frenchman, 
2nd 1 all Englishman, bIr. Pcrron nonld a.11vavs be pre- 
pared to misinterpret my actions." 

Jf ,  as lnav have been possible, Thomas cherished 
thoilghts of an independent kingdom in perpetuity, a lit.trle 
reflection might have shown him that such an institu- 
tion w o ~ ~ l d  never have been tolerated by either British, or 
Indian Governments, being offensive to the one, and 
dangerous to the other. 

Whatever the yea son: Thomas abruptlv broke up the 
conference, and to use his own expression " marched aLq.ray 
in disgust." There was thus no alternative but to either 
wipe him out, or tolerate an ever present danger in his 
rear, so, Perron, who was imperativelv summoned to the 
Deccan, w h ~ r e  scindia was in dlire  strait^, left a divisioil 
nndcr Major Roilrqnin, his second in command, t,o cleall 
with Thoni:ts. whilst, he marched southwa,rds, to resclie his 
employer and win a great battle for him. 

Life of James Skinner, Volume T, page 216. 
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Bourquin's division consisted of 12,000 men of all 
arms, the principal officers of which were himself, Oliver, 
and Rabells, Frenchmen ; the Smith brothers, Xuropeans ; 
and James Skinner, Robert Skinner, Maculloch, and 
Mackenzie. Eurasians. Considering even this prepon- 
d,erant strength, not sufficient to d e d  effective~ly with 
Thomas, he called in the Sikhs, and the Begum's Brigades, 
though the lattre did not join him till l&r. The total 
strength opposed to Thomas was thererore about 10,000 of 
all arms. 

His own forces consisted of about 10,000 men of 
whom 500 were horsemen, his European officers being him- 
self. Hopkins, and two Eurasians, Birch and Hearsey, 
together with four sergeants of unknown nationalitv, 
probably either Eurasians, or British deserters. As. at  the 
moment of rupture the enemy was actuallv nearer his main 
base a.t Hansi than himself. his first blisiness was to dram 
them off, and this he did by marching off north, ostensibly 
to deal with the Sikhs first, and then the others in detail. 
After him went Rourquin with the main body, though 
perhaps not' wholly deceived, for he left 3,000 men under 
Ferd'inand Smith to take Georgegarh, a strong and newly 
built fort, some sixty miles north of Hansi. 

Having dlrawn Bourquin well away, Thomas dollbled 
back by another route, and dropping on the unsuspecting 
Smith, drove him off from Georgegarh with a loss of 700 
men, and all h ~ s  ammunition and stores Thtl pursuit was 
stayed by the timely arrival of some of Rourquin's horse- 
men, who had detected the ruse, though rather late, 2nd 
the arrival of the whole of Bourquin's army next d n ~  
cansed Thomas to withdraw to his prepared position, a 
strategic one, flanked by Georgegarh on the right, some 
high hills of loose sand' on the left, and faced by a s t r i ~  of 
loose and deep sand. 

Infuriated at being both duped. and defeated. 
Ronrqllin, even though the dav was far advancedl when he 
arrived. and his nlen fatisped with a thirty mile march 
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attacked a t  once. His gun tea.ms and nmmunition im- 
mediately becoming deeply involved in the sand, Thomas, 
seizing the opportunity, opened such a vicorous - ; ~ n d  
effective fire from his own guns that in a short time i \ ~ ~ ~ l t l \ r -  

five tumbrils blew up, and all the gun cattle were killed. 
Yet Rourquin's infantrv pressed on. and vT,ere only repelled 
late in the evening, suffering, i t  is said, 4,000 casualties. 
Incidental'lv, these losges seem very henvv and, are pro- 
bzblv over-estim;xted, tho~lrh i t  should be remembered that 
the battles fought between solely Indian forces mere always 
very bloody. no quarter being given. 

Of his European officers, Bourquin lost Ferdinand 
Smith and Maculloch, killed, and Oliver and Rabcl's, 
wounded, whilst Thomas lost his second in command, 
Hoplrins, with 1,200 men, the former having both legs 
carried off by a cannon ball. F a r  more irreparahle than 
the loss of the ssldiers mas that of Hopkins, to which 
indeed Lewis Smith attributes the beginning of the end, 
for he writes :- 

*" Hopkins wzs worth more than a couple of batta- 
lions to  Thomas, and had he possessed such another, the 
indecisive battle of Georgegarh wollld have been turned 
into complete victory. Not only was he the best oficcr 
Thomas possessed, but his best friend and onlv confidant, 
and to this loss must be attributed the mental collapse 
which Thsmas now suffered." 

James Skinner thus corroborates this opinion, though 
giving a slightly different, or more probable, reason for  
the failure of Thomas to follow up his adva.ntaget :- 

" O~pressed by the loss of his only friend and con- 
fidant, and worn out bv the strain of so many vears' con- 
stant fightins, togat,her with the present anxiety, Thomas 
abandoned h~msel  f to one of those prolonged hehauches, 
to which he was, nnfortnnntelv, so m~ich atidict,cd;. Yet 
before rloinq so he had a letter of condolence with a su111 
of Rs. 2.000 cent to the sister of Hopkins in Calc~ittn, for 
her present needs, and a promise of more, for her brother 
had hern her onlv support." 

. . -- - -. 

Ellropean Adventurers in Tndin, page 192. 
t Life of .James Skinner, Volume I, page 224. 
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Then, entering his tent, he was lost to the outside 
world for many days. during which fatal absence the 
enemy recovered confidence, and received reinforcements. 
Of what might have been had he not given away to his 
propensity to drink, Lewis Smith writes" :- 

" Had Thomas taken advantage of Bourquin's igno- 
rance and follly, and1 sallied forth upon his beaten troops, 
he would have, in demolishing them, overturned Perron's 
power; had he acted with anything like his usual 
boldness and activity, the force under Rourquin must hare 
been utterlv aestroved. The friends of Thomas in  
Perron's arlny would'have thrown off the mask and openly 
taken his part,  and before another such efficient force 
could have been colllectecl. Thomas would have been master 
of nelhl and the King's person, and thus extinguished 
Perron's power and authority. Scindia wonld have 
quietly acquiesced in the transfer of power to  Thomas, for 
he was indifferent who governed Hindustan for him, and 
must have bowed to the will of an aspiring mind, govern- 
ing large bodies of trained infantry," 

However, when Thomas, his body now as shattered as 
his mind had previously been, came forth from his tevt, 
the game was practically lost. Both Birch and Hearecy 
were men of no account, and, inissing the master mind, 
had let things drift,  whilst the enemy was reorganising 
and recovering morale and strength. Smith remarlis that 
had either had amv capacity for leadership, the sliyhtest 
show of  an offensive would have caused a panic and the 
demoralised flight of Bourquin's a,rmy even though Thomas 
was inca.pacitated. 

The beleaguering force now numbered upwards of 
30,000 to oppoFe whom Thomas had but about 2,000 he 
could really depend upon, these being his Rohilla horse. 
and the remnants of the battalions of Hopliins. a71 old and 
faithful soldiers The others mare compara t ively late 
 recruit,^ from districts now held bv the enemv. and their 
families heing host,agcs, were esceedinqlv l u l i e ~ ~ i l m ~  in 
what they considered was a lost cause. S ~ i r h  nirn were 

- 

Ellropean Advc.nt~irer.s, page 191. 
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easy material for Bourquin's emissaries to work upon, 
and consequently dbsertions became frequent , whilst those 
who held on, only did so to embarrass their employer. 
Day after day mysterious fires broke out in forage stacks 
and provision dumps, so realising what was about to 
happen if he stayed there, Thomas decided to break 
through and make for his last hope at Hansi. 

Before &parting he called together all his men, and 
explaining that he could no longer help them, distributed 
his ready cash amongst them, and advised them to accept 
the terms Bourquin had offered to all wishing to join 
Scindia. I t  is said that many of his old soldiers wept il 

farewell, and a number renounced all worldly interests to 
devote themselves to a holy life. vowing that they who had 
served " Georqe - Rahadur " could never obep another com- 
mander . 

All being readv on the night of the 10th of November 
1801, Thomas with the Rohilla Horse, Birch. Hearsey, 
and the two surviving European sergeants cut their way 
out, and within twenty-four hours had ridden the sixty 
miles to Hansi. Hotly pursued the whole distance, the 
Rohillas were cut down, or fell out by the wav, so that only 
the Europeans reached Hansi.   he whole sixty miles 
were accomplished by Thomas on one horse, a Persian 
barb which, it is pleasant to note, lived for many years 
after, an honoured pensioner of the British Resident at 
Anupshahr to whom Thomas presented it after his depor- 
tation to British territory.* 

Wit,hin a week he was beleaguered and a day o~ so 
later a bombardment was set up. For some daps this was 
continued, but as the enemy had only solid shot of small 
calibre which embedded themselves in the dried mud walls, 
Rourq~lill decided to attempt a storm. Accordingly on the 
21st Novembe,r 1801 a t  dawn, three strong colum~ts c m -  
verged on the walls of Hansi. Though vigorously  reseed, 
the attacks failed, one European officer, a Major Rernicr, 

' Life in Mission, Camp and Zenana, page 96. 
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being killed, and many other casua1ti:m occurring, for 
Thomas, though now too late, had regained his wonted 
vigour and was ubiquitous. 

Almost daily assaults conti~med, the most vigorous 
being that of the 3rd of December, on which the assalllt- 
ing column effected a temporary lodgement. and were o11lg 
driven off bv Thornas himself. One col~~rnn was led by 
Robert Skinner with who111 Thomas had a hand to hand 
combat until the tv-o were parted by a rush of Skinner's 
own soldiers. He then retreated to the citadel and whi~ t  
occurred there is best tJolcl by James Slrinneir * :- 

" My column was opposed by Birch, who twice beat 
me back by showering burning straw, powder pots, and 
anything else he could get hold of upon us. Finally, 1 
reached the top of the wall, and as I did so, I saw him 
aiming a double barrelled gun a t  me. Thinking this a 
17ery scurvv reception from an old school mate, I aimed 
my half pike a t  him, which took off his hat and caused him 
to miss me. Birch then ran off after his men, who wcre 
already retreating, and we pursued them to the very gates 
of the citadel. Just  as we reached then1 the gates openea, 
and out, rushed a European with his sleeves tucked up 
over his tattoded arms, a shield on one, and a great sword in  
his other hand. He looked so ferocious that  I eyed him 
for a moment, and then turned and ran, and mv men af ter  
me. I can face most men, Gut that one looke'dl so feroci- 
ous that he frightened me." 

A man who can thus frankly avow his fright colild 
certain'ly be no coward. 

However. all this belnt,ed bravery was of no avail. 
for as  the days went on and provisicns 11~cnnle scarce. and 
hope of relief lost, the fninthearts li5t)ened to  the emis- 
saries of Bonrquin, who had managed to effect a commnni- 
cation. Finally the principal native officers arranged to  
surrender the chief for immunity, service with Scindia 
and a substantial reward. Elated with the near promise 
of his enemy being given into his hands. Rourqnin made no 

Life of James Skinner, Volume I, page 225. 
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secret of the humiliations he would subject him to when 
in his power. 

n u t  he reckoned without the British horn officers, 
who, by mcans of protests, and hardly veiled threats, 
managed to  secure honourable terms for their compatriot. 
These were that he was to  be accorded the honours of war, 
to  be permitted to retain his personal effects and fortune, 
and to  be deportled to  British territorv with an escort suit- 
able to his rank. The men were to be permitted to  depart 
except such as desired to  accept service under Scindia. a 
condition to  which most, including Birch and Hearsey,. 
agreed, though some, as at Georgegarh, refused to serve 
another after " Sahib Rahadur. " 

On the 1st of Januarv 1802 the d'ecimatecl force 
marched out with the honours of war, Thomas becoming 
the guest of his conqileror until arrangements could be 
made with the British for his reception I t  was not lonq 
before mnre trouble arose between Bonrquin and Tllomas 
the occasion being that  of a banquet given by the British 
horn officers to their compatrict. Matters proceeded . . 
amicablv enough until the toast giving. That of Thomas 
having been enthusiastically received, Rourquin arose, and 
as a counterblast gave, " General Perron and further 
success to  his arms." 

With  ane accord the British born officers turned their 
mlasses d'own a t  this insult to a fallen foe, except Thomas, 3 - 

whe flashing out his sword ran a t  Bourquin, and 
endeavoured to cut him down. Some of the officers seized 
Thnmas whilst others pushed Bourqnin from the tent. 
and also cleared i t  of the guard, who hearing the uproar 
h a d  rushed in. For some time Thomas raved in d'runkea 
defiance until present1 y he was pacified. Others induced 
Rourquin to forgive the attempted assault, so finall~r the 
night TV-c-nq ended with the two professing maudlin fricnll- 
ship for eternity. 

After some time, James Skinner persuaded Thon~as 
to  retire, promising to  see him safe home. I t  was as well' 
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that he did so, for when they arrived a t  the tent, the 
sentry vhose challenge was answered by Thomas with 
" sahib Bahadur," answering that he knew no " Sahib 
Bahadur " but Bourquin; was slashed a t  by Thomas, to 
avenge what he considered another insult, and had his 
right hand cut off. Only Skinner's personal efforts sared 
Thomas from the vengeance of the man's comrades, until 
after further d'ificulty he was induced to go to bed. 

The next morning, as usual a f b r  a heavy bout, he 
had fo,rgott,en all that had passed. On being told, he 
expressed the utmost regret a t  his condoct, sent an  apology 
to Bourquin, and a solatiurn of Rs. 500 to the disabled 
sentry. However, though Bourquin accepted the apolo;p, 
he decided to get rid of his troublesome guest as quickly 
as possible, and the next morning, under an escort of a 
whole battalion, cornlnanded bv Lewis Smith, he wa.s sent 
off to, Anupshahr. 

Here he remained as the guest of the British Resident 
until his affairs were settled, and his fortune realiszd. 
Of this, which amounted to  about three and a half lakhs, 
he settled if lalchs upon his wife who, as  usual with the 
country born gives of the adventurers, refused to leave 
India. All arrangements having been completed, he was 
sent down the river to Calcutta, the intention being to 
proceed from thence to Ireland, under charge of Captain 
Francklin, to whom. whilst on route he related the story 
of his life, for which we are mostly indehtedl for our 
sketch. though a good deal has been gleaned from other 
sources, both in addition and corroboration 

At  Rennres he met I..ord Wellesley. who was grenfJl-y 
interested in Thomas and his adventilres, especially his 
idea of bringin: the Punjah under British rnle. Tt, is 
recorded that whilst they were loolcing over n mnp of 
India, Thomas, who though a fair Persian scholar. mas 
quite illiterate in Eng!ish, inquired what the red shadin? 
meant. On being told he sorrowfrillv placed his hand 
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,over the whole of the Punjab, and said, " Had 1 been 
left alone, I would have made all this red with this 
hand* a ' ' 

He nest passed on to Bahrampur, where he was t,aken 
ill with fever, and, worn out as he was, by the constant war- 
fare and hardships of nearly twenty vears, he succumbed 
on the 22nd of August, 1S02, a t  the &e of 26. Perhaps 
it was much better that he died where he did: for had he 
lived to return to England, he could never have set,tled 
down peacefullv in a small Irish town,  and would have 
been a nuisance to his neighbours, and a burden and dis- 
grace to himself. 

No stone marks the spot where, in a g~aveyarcl almost 
a s  forgotten as himself, rests this wild and wandering 
genius, whose faults, though many, were amply condoned 
bv his military qualities, his chivalrv to friend and foe 
aiike, and a strict adherence to his plighted word, worthy 
of a more exall~ted station in life. 

" Life of George Thomas, page 212. 
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CHAPTER V 
MATTHEW HEANEY OR WILLIAM O' BRIEN-JAMES SAHIB, 

FERINGHI - MACDONALD - JONES - PRICE - GORDON 

OR CARRON - THOMAS FUKINAUL - JAN SAHIB - 
WILLIAM LEIGH, d i n s  MAHOMED KHAN - BELL AND 

BROWNE. 

Far awa.y in the remote Kangra Valley, pleasantly 
situated on the brow of a low cliff, overhangina the 
turbulent Beas river, lie some lowly and fast crumbling 
tombs, d t h i n  which rest European adventurers, who in 
the early 19th century served Sansar Chand, the once 
powerful ruler af the ~ a n ~ r a  Valley. 

A short space behind is a rude stone platform, bear- 
ing two grotesquely sculptured miniature stone horses! 
commemorative, it is said, of those once belonging to 
William O'Brien, the principal of those who ended their 
stormy lives in this alien, though peaceful and pleasant 
spot. It is said that he mas held in such estimation bv 
his employers that when he died, his horses were slain to 
follow him to such bourne as he might attain, following 
the old cust,om, of the H u n s  Whom the other graves con- 
tain, we have not, been able to ascertain with any 
certainty, and only a fair amount of conjecture, which, 
however, we believe to be correct. 

Our first acquaintance with O'Brien is from 3 letter 
from Colonel Ochterlonv, then Political Agent a t  Ludhiana, 
to the Government of  India, the date being that when 
the British were being forced into a war with Nepal, and 
naturallv anxio~is to avail themselves of anv troops used 
to mounta'in warfare. 

Ochterlony's notice runsx :- 
" 3rd June, 1814. Sansar Chand has a considerable 

body s f  troops commanded by a deserter who now calls 
himself O'Brien, but was enlisted under another name I 

Ludhisnn Residency R.ecorcls, 1814-1816, page 383. 



60 EUR,OPEAN ADVENTURERS IN 

cannot at this moment recall, but is well known in the  
8th or 24th Dragoons, and in his new capacity, professes 

7 3 to ble very anxious to serve his country. 
The traveller Moorcrof t ,  who passed through Iiangra 

in 1820, has left us the following account of how O'Urien 
came to leave the English service, and enter tha.t of 
Sansar Chand * :- 

" At Sujanpur I was met by Mr. O'Brien, an Irish- 
ma.n in the Raja's service. Mr. O'Brien is a strong, 
stout man, about 40 years of age, and was once a dragoon 
in the Sth, cr Royal Irish. I t  is slid that, having gone 
on ,guard without some of his accoutrements, he was 
reprimanded by the officer, and on his replying insolently. 
the officer struck, or touched him, with his cane. O'Rrien 
Irnoclced him down with the butt end of his carbine. 
and then put spurs to his horse and galloped off. Yot 
clarinq to return to his regment. he wandered about the 
~ount ry  for some time, and a t  last found service with 
f i n c a r  Cband. for whom he has established a Eactorv 
of small arms and raised and disciplined a force ~f 1 .a00 
men. 

" There is also an Englishman named James in 
Sans2r Chand's service. He has been a soldier, but 
d ~ n i e s  ever havinc enqxged in ~ i t h e r  the King's or Corn- 
panv's service in India. He is an illiterate, but ingenious 
man. with some practical skill in pnnnery. Both these 
men are of use to the Raja and m i ~ h t  be of more, but. 
thpir means are limited, and their habits not of the most 
temperate description.. . . . . . . .Raniit Singh exacts milltary 
service from Sansar Chand. and put him foremost in the 
attack on the Kah~llar Raja,  R-hose forts were talien by 
the troops and artillery of Sansar Chand, under O'Brien 
~ n r i  .Tameq. 9 ' 

Ochterlony was not certain as to whether O'Hrien 
h ~ l o n ~ e d  to the 8th or 24th Light Dragoons, but it is pos- 
sible that he belcmyed to both, ha.ving been transferred 
from the 24th to the 8th when the former left India. The 
2 l t h  Drayoon reoiment wns one of seven raised in 17% 
for cervice in the East and West Tndies, this tvpe of 
solrli~r. being then in special fa.vo11r. The 24th, 27th a.nd 
29t,F 2 1 ~ 0  s2w inilrbh ser:,ire in  Tndir'l 2nd the Peninsular 

. - - - 

Trnvc.1q of ; ~ T O ~ I . ~ I . I , ~  l :I ! 1 r 1  T ~ , e l s ~ t  1;. V o l ~ i i ~ ~ e  I, pages '125-26. 
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war before they were broken u p  or disbanded, between 1812 
and 1821. The 24th endnred longest, and as the others 
dropped out, received successive new numbers, finally end- 
ing as the 19th) under which number we shall meet Several 
of its members in these pages. The present 19th was 
raised in 1859, and has inherited the honours of the old 
regiment. 

We may imagine the sensation caused by this wander- 
ing Feringhi soldier, as, fully armed and mounted, he 
drifted in his once-gorgeous, but now tir11.e-st.a.ined, uni- 
form, through the quiet mud-walled villages of the plains. 
and the stone huts of the hills, in  the hope of finding 
en~plovment, or a t  least subsistence, a,nd especially nnx- 
ious to place as wide a distance as possible between him- 
self and that army, where an  inevitable dea.th awaited him. 
Such offences as his were unpardonable. Like so many 
Feringhi wanderers a t  that date, he was hospitalnlv treat- 
ed, if not welcomed, for those were the da,ys w h e n F ' ~ u r o y -  
eans of low degree could pass unharmed through even 
t.he wildest district of India or Asia. I t  was not until 
the first Afghan W a r  had destroyed trust in Rrirish 
honour and good faith that northern Irldia became unsafe 
for the solitary European. 

I n  what year O'Brien entered the service of Sansar 
Chand is uncertain, but judging by the fact that by 1814 
he had raised and trained a considerable body of troops, 
well armed, accoutred, and provided with' guns and 
nlilnitions, made under his own supervision, he must have 
been employed for some years before that date. Not onl-y 
mas he commander of the troops, but had the g ~ n e r n l  
control of the Raja's affairs, both public and private, 
and that he was a popular administrator is shown by the 
fact that 100 years after the death of its owner, his name 
is still reverenced in the Kangra Valley. Yet, as  he lefti 
Re. 60,000 he did not, though administering wisely, 
ncglect the main chance. 

His troops were stationed a t  Suja,npur, in  the Kangra 
Vallcp,, within an enclosure surrounded by a wall some five 



miles in circumference, and having but a single entrance 
where a guard was always stationed. Contempcrary 
rcmrdls name it the Telinga Lines (Telinga bcing the 
Hindustani name for regular soldiers). He assumed the 
title of Colonel, and though self-conferred, the fact of 
his commanding over 1,000 men we think xives him some 
claim to that title. 

Were it not for the Nepal War of 1814-1815, we 
should know no mare of O'Brien than the legends of the 
Kangra Valley, and the casual mention by Moorcroft. 
Biit the need for anxiliary troops used to mountaineering 
caused the British to endeavour to enlist such as were 
owned by the rajah, adjacent to Nepal, and henm 
O'Brien's troops, which were probably the best of the lot, 
mroulcl be especially useful. Jn the. correspondence con- 
cerning them, O'Brien appears, first as the mouthpiece of 
his employer, and later, when it became evident that this 
ruler was only t.emporising with the British. on his own 
account. Why Sansar Chand failed to co-operate with 
the British, is evident from the following paragraph .- 

*" When the Glurkha War  broke out in 1814, Ranjjt 
Singh was not asked to give assistance, but Sansar Chsnd 
was called upon by the British representative to wtkack 
the Gurkhas and their allies-a hasty requisition which 
produced a remon~tra~nce from Ranjit Singh, and an 
admission on the part or Sir David Ochterlonv that his su- 
premacy was not questioned, whilst the experienced H i ~ d u  
Chief had forborne to commit himself with either state 
hv promising mnch and doing little 9 9 

How Sansar Chand dealt with the British is shown 
by the following letter, from O'Rrien. who conducted all 
the correspondence : - 
Tc-Colonel Ochterlony . 

September 12th. 1814 .  

t" T received your letter and was happv to hear tha,t 
vou have arrived in the mountains. T reikived a letter 

Ciinningham's History of the Sikhs. page 149. 
t Papers on Nepal War, 1814-1815. 



that arrived to the Raja on the 4th instant of this month, 
and the Raja was well pleased with the letter and has 
ordered all his troops to be in readiness, and he ordered 
me to get one light piece of cannon and rounds of grape 
to be in readiness to march at the smallest noltice. The 
Raja says if you send for him a t  twelve to-night he will 
be very pleased to march at once to meet you, to he of 
what service he can to yourself and the Honourable 
Company. 

(Sd ) WILLIAM O'RRIEK.'' 
The need for obtaining the services of Sansar Chand's 

t,roops, whether froin himsdf or from O'Rrien. lay in the 
fact that Bilaspur, through which thc Gurkha commander 
drt:w his main supplies and some support (before its Raja 
come over to the British) lay some 60 miles only from Suj- 
arpur and was very open to attack from that side. The 
necessity increased so much that the Government were 
willing to make some concessions to obtain O'Brien's 
services, and this is shown by the letter from the Com- 
mander-in-Chief, which we now quote * :- 

" November 21st, I814.-The Commander-in-Chief 
is happy to perceive from O'Brien's letter, which is con- 
tained in your despatch of the 30th inst., and the orders 
you have transmitted him in replv that a very useful 
diversion is likely to be made in' your favour in the 
Bilaspur quarter. Adverting to the position in which 
O'Rrien stands to his own country as a deserter from 
the Army, and the penxltv to which he is liable, the 
Right ~bnourable  the commander-in-chief thinks it 
would be advisable and proper, now that he is about to 
co-operate in our cause, that a free pardon should be ex- 
tended to him in consideration of the zeal which he has 
shown and his readiness to obev gour orders. 

" The Commander-in-Ch ief accordilnglv authorises 
and empowers vou to convey to him an assura.nce that yo11 
will obtain both that and 'the further consideration and 
countenance of the Commander-in-Chief in proportion 
to the services he renders  pa^. 

HEADQUARTERS. (Sd). G. H. FAGAN.', 
Papers on Nepd m ~ r .  1814-1815. 
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Between the date of this and the following letter, 
the British had suffered some severe reverses, so that the 
need of reinforcements or military diversions had be- 
come insistent. Hence the remarks which accompanied 
a letter from O'Brien, that  we hare r,ot been able to 
trace. Fortunately, the report mentioned therein has been 
copied, and, as  this gives an interesting account of his 
troops, and the manner in which these chiefs maintained 
their forces, we give it in fullX :- 

" 18th January, 1815.-The object of this letter 
seems to  be for O'Brien to be taken into British scrvice 
with the troops under his com,mand. As in vicw of the 
fact Sansar Chand had evaded his voluntav pro~rliee to 
co-operate against the Gurkhas, there can be no objection 
to employing O'Brien's troops. They wou'd recrlve the 
same pay as our own, but no permanent promise of em- 
ployment can be made, except perhaps to O'Brien, and 
a few of his principal officers. 9 7 

The report runs :- 

" Munsa Ram, the sowar who brought the letter, says 
h e  left Shujanpur with O'Rrien's letter twenty-two days 
ago, accompanied by the two sowars who were' with him, 
and that the object of his journey was to deliver to  the 
Governor-General the letter which he presented and to 
return with a reply to  his master. R e  says that O'Rrien 
has under his command two battalions of one tho~~sancl 
men each, well armed and accoutred with eight gun? and 
two or three hundred horse, that the men amre paid by 
grants of land, and that O'Brien has two purgannahs of 
Jiadad, besides other advantages For the maintenance of 
his troops. 

" That the arms, ordnance, and accoutrements of all 
descriptions are manufactured by himself. The sowar 
had with him a matchlock, sword, and horse furniture, 
gunpowder and pouch, which he states to be the mann- 
facture of O'Brien. The sword, guns, and saddle all 
had his name stamped upon them. H e  snvs that O'Brien 
had the general control of the Raja's affairs, and was 
generally looked up to  by the people, but of late some 

" Punjab Records, Book No. 9, letter No. 7.  



misunderstanding had occurred between him and the 
Raja. He states that O7Brien's cant.onmmt is situ- 
ated on the left bank of the Beas, the residence of the 
Raja  being on the opposite bank. The sowar said that  
no particular secrecy was observed in despatching llim, 
though he received his orders apart .  " 

The next letter introduces another European, and 
is also worth quoting, as showing Ochterlony's clecjded 
opinioils and expressive manner* :- 

" Mr. Heaney,-- 
I received your letter. If  you bring 1,000 good hill- 

men into my camp one month, from this date, I will ensure 
you from Gro~vernment Rs. 250 per month for lifc. As 
for MacDonald, as he was never in any service, Icing's 
or Company's, I can make him no promise, but if he 
behaves well with the troops you bring he will not be un- 
rewarded. I shall certainly not give the men you bring 
the same pay as our sepahis, but will go as f a r  as Rs. 5 
or Rs. 6, according to their general character as soldiers. 
The Raja of Bilaspur's country, on this side of the 
Sutlej, is under protection of the British, and on your 
side that of Ranjit  Singh, and must not be touched. If 
vour Raja had not been a fool and a liar, i t  might have 
been his before he (Bilaspur) accepted British protection. 
Whatever Bilaspur may be. he cannot be worse than 
your own master." 

I n  reply, 07Brien wrotet :- 
" 22nd March, 18 15 .-Colonel Ochterlony,-I have 

rereived your letter, and have 1,000 good hill-men. 1 
have also told the Raja 1 aw le~ving. his service. All 
T am waiting for is to get some troops settled that I have 
under m\ coinmnnd I have eight or  nine horses thnt I 
mean to dispose of, for I cannot keep them on Rs. 250 
per month. as also I have some other property I mean 
to dispose of. I can join yo11 in 20 to 25 davs. ns these 
mountaineers are very false people and great liars. I 
will let you know the wages olf the whole of them when 
I meet you, which will be as quick as possible the accomlts 
are settled. 

(Pd .) %!!A'~'TRF\~' HE ~ N E Y . "  
---- 

" P~lnjnh Records, Roolc No. 18, letter No. 1K- 
t Panjnl) Records. Boolr No. 18, letter No. 11. 
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Heaney was the name under which 0' Brien enlisted, 
for at  that time the army being considered the very 
meanest occupation, quite a number of men dropped their 
identity when joining iti. His indignation concerning 
" the falsity of the monntaineers." is edifying, consider- 
ing his own very dubious tactics, for we strcnglg doubt 
if he had ever entertained any serious intention of qiiitting 
Sansar Chand's service. Therein he was a person of con- 

- 

sequence, whereas in British territory he would have been 
merely a pardoned deserter, who would degenerate into a 
drunken loafer, despised by e~rrryone, especially the 
Indians, with whom he would have had to consort. 
Possibly he may have had some muddled intentions of 
regaining status among his cowltrymen, but whatever they 
were, they ended in nothlnq. 3s did the negotiations with 
Ochtedony, the result of which is shown in the follo~ving 

" A harknrrc despatched on the 23rd ult , wit'h n 
letter from Colonel Ochterlonv for Mr. O'Brien, said 
thst he errived at  Shnjanpnr about 3 P .M.  on the 27th. 
and went to the residence of Mr. O'Brien, whom he 
fo~lnd in the utmost intoxication. He  was supported i n  
bed bv two servants to receive the letter from the hrlrlr'(/?'?O. 
and MacDonald was sent for to read it. O'Rrien desired 
the izn?aknr?c to rest himself, which, as he could not 
obtain an answer, he did. Far three dqys O ' R r i ~ n  re- 
mained in his zenana in an uninterrupted state of 
drunkenness, and on the 30th, fell into a fever, and 
desisted from drinkiny, when his senFes retl~mcd. His 
darognh then asked what orders he had for the harltn~11. 
2 n d  O'Brien desired that he should he talten to the Raja,  
which was done. 

" The Raja was much enraqed a t  O'Brien's cor- 
resnnn rl~-~cct with the English without his permission and 
anthoritv. and said that. if the English letters contained 
nothing amiss. the hnrknr?r shmld have bro~ileht others 
i n  P ~ r y i ~ n  for  h im to the l i l zp  pnrpo~t .  Hc fin:~llv ordcred 
t , h ~  hnrkoru to he tnmed out of the city, which was dono. 
though la te  in the clay. The hnrkorra heqyed the dnrognh 

* Pnnjah Records, Boolr No. 18, letter No. 16. 



to give him some sort of an answer, even a verbal one, 
but the latter replied that O'Brien was not in a fit state 
to give any, and one might be sent afterwards, if neces- 
sary. 

" O'Brien had no newly engaged troops, but only 
the Raja's battalions, which he was engaged to  drill. 
The Mirza, who visited this camp lately, had been enter- 
taining men and had procured nearly 100, when the Rsjn. 
irritated a t  some excesqes of O'Brien and MacDonald, and 
having discovered their correspondence with the English, 
a.nd lilrewise the activities of the Mirza, put an  immediate 
st,op to them, and disbanded those already collected. 

" One of the excesses committed by O'Brien : ~ n d  
MacDonald during the harkaru's stay a t  Shujanpur was 
an  outrage and insult to  a musahib of Ranjit  Singh, then 
residing with Sansar Chand. On this occasion the R a j a  
seemed to have considered MacDonald most culpable, for 
he i~nrnediatel~ ordered him to  quit the city, to which he 
prohibited him from returning. 

" The harkaru learnt that O'Rrien was frequently 
under the influence of excessive intoxication for nearly a 
fortnight, when the fit usually terminated as on the pre- 
sent occasion, by a severe ilfness, after which he wonld 
continue well and sober for a short time." 

Some historians have lamented the la,ck of intimilte 
details concerning the private lives of the lower classes 
of adventurers, who took service with Indian Princes. 
Here then are sonie, and the life led by O'Rrien may be 
considered typical of most of the others. 

There are still other mentions af O'Brien in the 
Punjab Records, of which the fpllowing is the most 
important. as it shows the declared policy of the Govern- 
nwrlt of India regarding deserters who ertered foreign 
service :- 

*" 28th No~:ember .  1816.-From Mr. Met~n~lfe ,  Resi- 
dent a t  Delhi, to the Government of India. I lately 
noticed that a European had been received and entcrtnin- 
ed a t  Sansar Chnnd's Court, whom I sllspect to he one 

-- _ -  - _ 
Punjnh Records, Book No. 17, letter No. 66. 
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of the deserters from Karnal. We cannot call upon 
Ranjit Singh to deliver up these deserters, who xnay 
have taken service with him, for he could not consistently 
comply with honour. To do so would be discreditable to 
the weakest state in India. I rather think the men 
are with that man in Sansar Chand's service, who calls him- 
self Colonel O'Brien, and who is a deserter from the 
24th Light Dragoons, for he has made several attempts 
to induce Europeans to desert, and is probably the 
cause of the late desertions." 

Concerning these deserters, there were quite a number 
reported as missing between the years 1809 to 1820, and 
as some seven or eight are reported as having failed to 
return, or be recovered, we may assume that, unless they 
died whilst wandering, same of them entered the services 
of Sansar Chand, or Ranjit Singh, or even travelled 
further afield. 

I n  February, 1819, the troops under O'Brien and 
Jarnes were employed by Ranjit Singh, against the Raja 
of Kahlur, who, though he owned lands on either side 
of the Sutlej, had his capital at Bilaspur, under British 
protection. Sansar Chand, acting in conjunction with 
a Sikh force under Desa Singh, captured the forts of 
Pichrota. Nakalgarh, and Biholi Devi, and occrlpied the 
territory on the right bank of the Sutlej. Having suc- 
ceeded so far ,  they had the audacity to march on Bilaspur, 
but this proving too much for British patience, a per- 
emptory demand was sent to Ranjit Singh for the with- 
drawal of his troops, with which he wisely complied. and 
he was also compelled to restore a11 his conquests. 

Other letters concerning O'Brien relate to the pur- 
chase of arms* and munitions from the British, these 
being those taken from the Gurkhas, and t t o  the British 
allowances made to the widows of Sansar Chand. These 
are in his own handwriting, and the last is dated the 
3rd of March, 1827. To judge by the next letter. which 

Pliniah Recorde, Rook No. 18, letter No. 89. 
t Pllnjnh Records. Roolc No. 27, letter No. 166. 
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is dated three months later, he must have died shortly 
after. 

*The letter dluded to is a claim against the sstate 
of O'Brien by a cloth merchant of Ludhiana, for a sum of 
Rs. 600 and contains the interesting information thatl 
O'Rrien had died worth Rs. 60,000, all of which estate 
had been sequestrated by the son of Sansar Chand. who 
declined to pay the debt. In  any case, the Raja only got 
most of his own back. 

Apparently O'Rrien left no descend:tnts, or if he did 
tlley became merged into the maternal nation. Tt is 
not known who raised the monument of the two sculptured 
horses, or gave his bones decent sepulture, but it may 
be assumed that Sansar Chand's son did so, possibly out 
of gratitude for the windfall which he had just received 

James Sahib, Feringhi. 
Though we find no mention of this individual in the 

correspondence concerning O'Brien, we may assume that 
he was with him at the time. Also, though he denies 
ever having served " King or Company," James must 
have been a deserter, and probably one of the men to whom 
Metcalfe's letters allude, for no person of his degree coulci 
have paid his own passage to India. That he was a run- 
a.may seaman seems equally doubtful, for the distances 
from the seaport of India to the Kangra Valley were too 
immense for a man ta tramp through unobserved. 

It should be remembered that since the davs when 
George Thomas tramped from Madras to Delhi, the 
British occupation had widely extended, and any tramp- 
ing European would have had small chance of escapinc 
observation, unless like Masson and Potter, he plunged 
into the desert routes immediately a.fter leaving a Rritiqh 
military station. 

The reports concerning the French officers had l~e\rei~l- 

ed the existence of other Enr~pea~ns  in Ranjit Singh's 
-- - - - .- -. - 

Punjnb Records. Rook KO. 19, letter No. 42. 
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service, and accordingly the Agent at Ludhiana asked 
for information concerning Jackson, " said to be a Gem- 
ral of Srtillery," and another person named Carron. 
Of him hereafter. The following reply was mturned* :- 

6 c B I s t  -4 ugust, 1823.-Jaclison is Japes: usually 
called James Sahib, Feringhi, his name having been cor- 
rupted by Hindustani pronunciation. H e  is a Yorkshire 
man and has charge of a brigade of guns. He was for 
a time at  Sansar Chand's Court but Matthew Heanev 
and he differed in opinion, and James quitted there a n d  
came to Ranjit Singh in 1820.'' Quite possiblv Ranjit 
Singh, for whom James had fought when se rv ik  Sansar 
Chand, may have induced him to exchange services. 

A report from the news-writer at  Lnhore published 
in the ~ a l c u t t a  Journal of 1822 mentioning Jackson as 
a General of artillery in Ranjit  Singh's service, the editor 
identifies him with a Lieut. Jackson, who resigned 
the Bengal Artillery in 1805. However, a correspondent 
corrects this stating that the Lieut'. Jackson referred to 
did not enter Ranjit Singh's service but that of the Czar 
of Russia. 

I t  is quite possible that the man's proper name may 
have been Jackson, for manv of these adventurers drop- 
ped their surname in favour of their Christian one, 
doubtless for sufficient reasons. The last we hear of him 
is the report of his death in 1825, when his brigade of 
guns was made over to William Leigh. 

This man was probably one of the deserters mention- 
ed a s  having been entertained a t  Sansar Chand's Court. 
Quite probablv, after his expulsion from Shu janpur for 
complicitv in the insult to the Lahore news-writer, 
Maclhnald also went on to Lahore, and there secured 
cmp'ovment. As he was  literate, nnd .James or tT;l~li~on 
was not, he miyht he idcntifiecl with the . J n m e ~  .Jlinior 
n/hr,rn R n  n j i t  Sinph cmr)loverl to write the lct,ter pnrport- 
- -- - 

Punj;th I leco~ tls, Boolc No. 71, letter No. 141. 
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ing to be froin Moorcroft to the French officers in the 
endeavour to entrap them, for his Christtan name may 
also have been James, and called Junior as Jackson was 
older and senior in  rank. 

Jones. 

But for Masson, the traveller, we should lrnow 
nothing of this man. However, I are inclined to 
identifv him with James or Jackson for we ltnow that 
~ a n j  it' Singh employed the forces of Sansar Chand, his 
feudatory, on several occasions. Here f ollo\~s Ill asson's 
mention :- 

*" Ranjit Singh made a feint of attacking Khanpur, 
a fort some 20 kos dista.nt from N!ul.tan, into which the 
deluded Nawab immediately threw a better part  of his 
forces. Ranjit Singh immedistely cuuntermarched and 
invested the capita,l. The defence was most obstinate 
and the attack threatened to end, like all former ones, 
in failure, when an adaenturer named Jones, in the Silth 
service, took cha'rge of the guns, advanced them up to the 
c.itadel and breached it,  thus ena.bling the Akglis to  
storm. 9 9 

This is the first European known to have been em- 
ployed by Ranjit  Singh in a military capacity. -411 we 
know of him is copied from the Punjab Records, and 
f ollaws. The letter is from Ochterlony, then commanding 
the force assemblled a t  Ludhiana, as a cor~nterpoise to 
Ranjit Singh's threats to the cis-Sutlej states under 
British protection. Though quite a number of Hindu- 
stani and G,url.urkha soldiers had deserted to Ranjit  Singh, 
this was the first recorded case of a European, and Ochter- 
lony, apprehensive of the effects of the example, sent A 

strong letter to  the Khalsa commaader, of which the 
let tcr follon~ing shows the resriltt :- 

(( 3rd May, 1809.-I have to  report that ;l,n artillery- 
maa named Price deserted from my camp a t  Ludhinna, 

* Mnswn's Travels in Afghni~ is tnn,  e t c . ,  Volume I, pnge 397. 
t P ~ l n j n h  Records, Boolc No.  10, letter No.  170. 
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and has been traced into that of Dewan Mokham Chand. 
I demanded our deserter from the Dewan, who in his 
reply acknowledged that a European did come to his camp 
for service, but that he rejected his application and direct- 
ed him to return to my camp. I was informed by u ~ y  
intelligence officer that this is incorrect, for the man was 
sent off to Nur Mohallah on the road to Amritsar, and 
is now a t  Lahore. I send a copy of the Dewan's reply 
and my letter to the envoy at Amritsar (Metcalfe), but 
as the Raja cloaks the protection of our deserters, I am 
afraid that the result of my application will be as unsue- 
cessful as my appeal to the Deman. , , 

Kothing- vlTas ever heard of Price 

Gordon or Cnrron 

-4ccording to the Khalsa Pay Rolls, Gordoln, often 
miscalled Carron, a mistake due to Hindustan1 pronnncia- 
tion, was *'engaged as an infantry instructor in the yea1 
1920, and a year later commanded No. 8 Battalion of the 
regulars. 

Though one report by the news-writer states that he 
was a deserter from the ' ~ e n ~ a l  Horse Artillery, this is 
incorrect, unless he was like John Holmes, a trumpeter, 
that being the only position open to men of mixed blood 
in the Company's forces during the Nineteenth Century, 
for Dr. Murray expressly states that he was of mixed 
blood. 

I n  July 1822 the battalion commanded by Gordon 
\q7a-s brought out for Allarrl and TTentura to trv their sltili 
upon, and apparantlv did so well that i t  was incorporated 
into the Fan j -i-Khas or French Legion. 

:4pparently to console him for the loss of his batta- 
lion Gordon was given orders to raise a new cavnlrv 
regiment of Silihs to he entitled the Akal, or Immortal 
re~iment ,  and being a versatile soldier gained the goo(3 
opinion of Dr  Murrav who thus speaks of the regiment :- 

- - -. - - -- - -. - - . - - - 

* Ichalsa Dllrhnr Records, Volume I ,  page 14. 



*" Whilst the Raja was a t  breakfast two regiments 
of cavalry (about 2,000 men in all) had arrived and taken 
up ground in  front. Thev were drawn up in line, and 
after perfolrming a few e<olutions which were done verv 
slowly, thev marched round in review by threes. The 
men were dressed in red jackets and pantaloons and had 
red puggries. They were good looking men and well 
moilnted. The horses were also in good order. The 
first regiment had sabres and carbines slung in the usua.1 
manner along the right side and thigh. The 2nd Regi- 
ment was dressed and accoutred in the same manner but 
with matchlmlrs instead of carbines. The two regiments 
were coinlnanded by Mr. Gordon, a half-caste in the  
Raja's service. After the review he came up and sa!nted 
the Raja and said something about the long arrears due 
the men. He was told that paj7 would be issued soon. 

I-'' I ~ ~ - e n t  on the morning of the 8th to the insl~ection 
of the horse nrtillerv and &me cavalrv. First inme a 
corps of cavalry commanded by a Mr. Gordon. an Indo- 
Rriton in the Maharajah's senrice. Mr Gordon's is il 
fine Iookiny regiment. the men are well mo~inted and uni- 
formlv equipped, and dressed in the Sikh style. Thev 
are all Sikhs. Fine looking voung men. the sons of the 
sirdars and gentry of the country. Each man rides his 
o~1~n horse nod receives one rupee day. : 9 

After this date the records are silent concerning 
Goridon until- 

+'' 1st November, 1829.-The Maharajah has dis- 
charged Mr. Gordon and sent him to the left bank of the 
Sutlei under escort, of cavalry The jmmsdiat,e cause of 
3 .  Gordon's discharge was that he used insolent 
sxaressions to the Maharajah in the'presence of a target 
(at target practice). The Maharajah mas displeased 
vith his fire and ordered him to fire again. which he re- 
f w d  and used violent expressions to his Hiqhness. I n  
cmsequence he was severely reprimanded and sent to 
ccnfinement for nine months. At the end of this time 
the Maharajah desired to take from him the cavalry 
reqirlent he had raised and give him an infantry battn- 

* J~irrny'a Lcttors. 1st J R I I I I ~ ~ J -  1827. NO. 23 1 15,1125. 
t Rbrrn-y's Letter. 20th April 1827. Ko. 7 /21  11?5. p:~rnc~.fipll 6s. 
1 Pbinb Recorcls. Roolc No. 97, letter S o  l;IG. 
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lion. Mr. Gordon rejected this, and was discharged. 
He  has gone towards Gwalior . " 

This is the only recorded instance of any of the 
European officers of the Maharaja having been imprison- 
ed. I n  all other cases they ware merely dismissed, or fined. 
However, Gordon apparently repented his refusal 
of the infantry battalion, and was reinstated in the 
Khalsa Army, for Sohan La1 recordsX :- 

" March, 1833.-Mr. Carron was called to the Durbar, 
and ordered to take his Najib Battalion and cdllect 
revenue from P i r  Mahomed Khan of Peahawar. When 
he arrived within ten miles of Peshawar, P i r  &lahomed 
sent him a present of some horses, an  English sword 
and some jewels and entreated him to stay his hand and 
intercede with Ranjit Singh for a remission of revenue, 
Carron Sahib referred the letter to Ranjit Singh who 
told him to get as much as he cou!d frorn Pir. Mahorned'." 

His action in this matter so pleased the Maharaja 
that Carron was restored to his cavalry regiment and sent 
to Peshatvar, where soon after he was ltilled at  the Battle 
of Jamrood. 

Thomas Fzckinazcl. 
This is probably one of the men buried b~side 

O'Brien, and what we know of him is as follows :-- 
t" 15th Ju ly ,  1822.-The jemadar in charge of the 

gates reported that a Feringhi had arrived and sought a n  
audience with the Raja, but without orders he could not, 
admit him. The Raja  desired him to be admitted, and 
questioned him as to whence he had come, and whither he 
was going. Feringhi replied that he was a Frenchnlan, 
who, with four other Europeans had left the service of 
Hvderaharl :>nil come to the Punjab to seek eml)lovrnezlt 
with Ranjit Singh. That the others had gone on to 1;ahore 
but I- e h ~ n r i n q  of the Raja's great goodness to Europeays 
had sought his court and protection. Seeing his t a t t e d  
condition, the Raja  directed him to be given Rs. 10 vlth 
which to procure clothing, and taken to William O'Rien 
in the Telinga Lines. The Frenchman bowed and 
retiredt " As he does from our paqes. 

- -  A - - - - - - - - - - - 

' Hoh:~n 1,:11'~ n ixry  of date. 
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Jan Sahib. 

" A Frenchman." ' 

Of this Frenchman, who had been employed ~n the 
service of the Rarakzai sirdnrs. v:e know no more than 
the followingX :- 

" April 29th, 1824.-A Frenchman from Kabul, of 
the name of J a n  Sahib (probably his Christian name was 
Jean) arrived at the residence of the Maharajah o t 
Amritsar, and was immediately received into the service 
and given an  allowance of Rs 10 per diem. Curiosity 
being exceeding, I asked one of his se1~7ants why his 
master had come here, and from whence he came. H e  
related that the Vakil of the Rajah had arrived a t  
Yeshawar, to  whom the Sahib came and represented the 
exigencies of his situation, and sent n memorial t h r o l l ~ h  
the Vakil to the Maharajah, as well as a friendly letter 
to the French officers, stating that he had received but 
Rs. 2 per diem from the Afghans, which was not sufficient 
for his support. 

" -4s soon as the Maharajah read the memorial, he 
gave his sanction and invited the Frenchman to come and 
enter his service, sending a t  the same time 'Its. l W  
for his expenses on the road, which he toolr a,nd came 
to the Presence. This is the cnuse of his arrival." 

~ ~ i l l i a m  Leigh. alias Illnkonzed J C h ~ l n  . 

Instances of persons of British nationality becoming 
converts to Mahornedanism are rnve ill ollr histary in 
Tndia, very few beinq recorded. Of these t11~ person 
following is nn instance, orl13 ncqnfiii~t.nnre with him com- 
nencing with tlie follow in^; reportt :- 

" .%Ith June,  1825.--Mahomed Khan, the n2me of a 
Fr~ncth~nan (s ic )  lately arrived from Hern t. presented 
five wpees and was admitted to the Presence The I\.lahn- 
raja') enquired if he had any scientific experience. H e  
replie1 that he had  some lmomldqe of the o r n ~ l t  scienc~n. 
besides other sl~ilfnl ~cqnirempn ts.  which he wc711ld 
exllihit. Whrrcnpon the hl:11111-lj.\I1 (y:~rc l l i v ,  114. 200 f o ~  
-- - - -_ _- _ -_ _ - _ _ 

' P ~ ~ n i n h  Recorcls, Roolr No.  21. letter No .  79. 
t Pnnjnl? Records, Boolc No. 23, l e~ ter  S o .  107.  
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his expenses and desired him to present himself daily a t  
the Durbar When he came again to court he shovred 
the Maharajah a geographical sketch of Kabul. Kandahar, 
Sindh, Peshawar, and other places, and said that he 
was well acquainted with all those countries and possessed 
the power of throwing balls, shells, etc., in a peculiar 
manner, and if he had the co~crnand of 10,000 men 
would conquer the whole of Sindh for the Maharajah. 
The Maharajah said : ' Make yourself comfortable for 
the present under the command 'of General TTenture, in 
the battalion of Ram Singh.' " 

As usual, Leigh was kept in expectation for :x con- 
siderable period, during which nothing transpired con- 
cerning him, except the following report, of the 15th 
August, 1825 :- 

*" Mahomed Khan, whose real name, country, con- 
dition of journev, and other things, d which particular 
information is required, is a native of Ireland. His real 
naime is William Leigh (or Lee), and he was forinerlv in 
the 19th Light Dragoons, in Bombay, under the command 
of Cnptain Ashton. About 22 vears ago, he shot his 
captain to death and fled to Khorassan, where he entered- 
the service of the ruler and became a Mussulman. For 
the sake of obtaining service he pretended to be a 
Frenchman, and dresses in the Persian manner. 

" His complexion is fair, with light eyes and heard 
like henna (red). He seems to be about forty years of age, 
and says that he excels the French dicers in military 
science and knowledge of artillery. He  has f o ~ ~ r  n r  fire 
 attendant,^ and a horse, 2nd carbe to Lahore through 
Sindh. He seems to be well versed in military science. 
and says that he also understands the science of astrolog~~ 
IMv. Jnm~.c, who formerlv instructed the horse artillen, 
commanded bv Mewa Singh, having died, the ~ a h a r a j i l l  
has appointed this man to his post." 

We have ahridyed the report considerablv, f n  it 
contains much more vaunting by Leigh, which i~ not 
worth recording, but to the report is atta.ched the iollour- 
in.z nnt,r hv Captain Wade, which, with the true fxplana- 
tion of Leigh's flight, are worth recording :- - 

---- 

' Pnnjnh Records, Book No. 25, letter No. 124. 



" Regarding the foreigner lately arrived at Lahore, 
from the tenor of information and the remark which one 
of the French officers is  said to  have made, it would ap- 
pear that he formerly belonged to His  Majesty's service. 
It is difficult, however, to trace the circumstances con- 
nected with his flight. The 19th Dragoons were on the 
Madras establishment, n d  in the annual register of 1799, 
there is a report of the death of Colonel Harvey Ashton, 
of the 12th Foot, a t  Ainee, in the Carnatic, in con- 
sequence of a wound received in a duel with an  officer 
whose name is not mentioned. From the mistakes which 
natives are liable to commit from their imperfect know- 
ledge of names and occurrences, i t  is  barely possible that 
the case of Colonel Ashton may be the one to  which the 
new spaper alludes : " 

The inference is incorrect, for the details of Colonel 
Harvey Ashton's denth are - 

" Colonel Henry Harvey Ashton, commanding the 
12th F m t ,  was killed in a duel a t  Ainee in the Madras 
Presidencv on the 23rd I>ecember, 1798. Colonel Ashton 
is said to' have been a noted duellist. and an unerring 
shot. Mortally wounded in this his last duel, he is said 
to have fired in the air, exclaiming : ' My last act shall 
not be one of revenge,' and i t  is to this circumstance that  
the words ' magnanimous in death ' on his tomb allude."* 

His opponent was Major Allen, paymaster of the 
same regiment, who died before Seringapatam of fever 
on 22nd April, 1799. 

As Leigh's age is estimated at 40, he would only have 
been about 14 to 16 years of age a t  the time of the duel, 
and i t  is, therefore, impossible, that  he should have been 
concerned in this affair. But we do find that a quarter- 
master named Ashton was wounded in a sl<irinish near 
Jlelhi in the year 1803. Quite possiblv this may hare been 
the person whom Leigh shot llnder circumstances i t  mav 
have been advisable to conceaJ, for n qllartermaster as such 
had no business in the fiqhting line. I n  those days, 
deaths or wounds incurred nnder shady circumstances 



7 Lu EVliOl'MAN ADVENTURERS IPU' 

were set down as due to mortal illness in time of peace, 
or in time of war as received in action. 

Between the date of Leigh's flight from the army, 
and his appearance a t  Ranjit Singh's Court, many 
adventures and curious experiences must have filled in 
the periodl. He speaks of a perfect familiarity with 
Sindh, Afghanistan, and Khorassan generally, and doubt- 
less this is correct, for such as he d'rifted, or travelled. 
f a r  and wide in those remote regions. He may possibly 
have been the person whom Court, mentions as command- 
ing the artillery of Pi r  Dil Khan a t  Kandahar, though 
that person is described as a half-caste. Such a mistake 
is excusable. for a European leading the life that Leigh 
must have done would have been tanned considerably. 
Rearing in mind his antecedents, nationalitv, and albpar- 
ent character, we map safely assume that' Leigh could 
have unfolded a t3le quite eq7lcll to  GT'ardiner.'.c narrative, 
and it  is quite possible that (fardiner may have appropri- 
ated some of Leigh's adventures as his own, either 
from personal contact or hearsay. 

Leigh's name does not appear in the Khalsa Rolls, 
unless under the name of Mahomed Khan, nor do we ever 
hear anything more of him. Possibly disappointed with 
the meagre command allotted to him, he soon passed on- 
wards, or again, may have sunk into an obscure death and 
mav lie in one of the nany tombs which a few vears ago 
were still in existence round Lahore, and were said to 
contain the bodies of Europeans who died in Ranjit 

ootten. Singh's service, but whose very names have been for, 
Bell and Rrowne. 

All we know of these two men is from a short note in 
the autobiography of John Shipp, an extraordinarv person 
who starting life as a ~~orkhouse  boy conscripted intn the 
armv, gained two separate commissions from the ranks, 
and distingn ished himsul f at the battle of Mucltwanpore, 
in the Gurkha, War of 1814-15, bv killing the Gurkha 
General in  a single handed combat wit1 swords. 



As early as 1806 the Gurkhas had formed regular 
battalions clothed and armed like the sepoy units of the 
Company. When the two men now mentioned had joined 
them, does not appear, nor have we been able to ascertain 
what became of them afterwards, unless Browne is ideo- 
tical with the Buran (Browne) Sahib, who commarlded the 
troops of the Nawab of Bahawalpur, and died there just 
beforme hlasson's arrival in 1826 

Peace having been concluded, the two armies frater- 
nised, and the British were permitted to see all they 
desired. Shipp writes :- 

" On our entering the gate of Muckwanpore Fort the 
guard saluted us, the d r ~ m m e r  beat the Grenadiers' march. 
and a small fifer played the tune. Both drum and fife 
were of English manufacture. We spent a, pleasant hour 
with the Governor who had the politeness to parade his 
regiment for our inspection. I never sawr a, finer hodv of 
men in my life. They were as well armed, drilled, 'and 
equil~ped as our own native troops. 

< < ..... ...... A iuost respectable young m:in dressed as 
an officer, complimented me on m y  swordsmanship.. . . . . . . . 
He asked for one of our muskets, and1 put himself through 
the manual and platoon exercises giving himself the words 
of command in English. I never saw motions more clean- 
lv, or compactly executed. 1 nslred him where he leitrnecl 
Enylish, and the English modes of drill. He replied 
' from Brolvne ' who was a deserter froin the Company's 
Enropean Regiment. He added that a man narned Bell, 
a deserter from the Companv's foot artillery had also 
taught him his  exercise, and Rrowne had1 instructed him 
in Fnqlish The former, he said, had been made Colonel 
nf nrtillrrv. ~ n d  the latter schoolmaster; but they had 
both been ' d i ~ c h a r ~ e d  a t  the colnrnencernent of the war." 



CHAPTER VI 

JEAN FRANCOTS ALLARD 

Jean Francois Allard, Chevalier of the Legion of 
Honour, of the Royal Order of Spain (instituted by Joseph 
Bonaparte) and of the Orders of the Punjrzb and Durrani 
Empire, was 11orn a t  St. Tropez on the IIediterra~lean 
littoral in the year 1785. I n  Decemher 1503, he enlisted 
in the 23rd Dragoons of the Line, with which he served 
in Italy until 1806, when he was promoted sergeant-major 
of Joseph Bonaparte's bodyguard, and two years later 
quartcr~naster of a regiment of Neapolitan iirngoc~ns, 
raised for service in Spain. 

He  served in Spain until 1814, being twice wounded 
in action, once severely, and in recognition of his services 
was given a combatant commission, the French and Spanish 
orders, and promoted lieutenant in the Imperial Dragoons 
of the Guard. A few nionths later he was promoted 
captain in the 7th Hussars of the Line, and appointed 
staff officer to Marechal Brune, with whom be served in 
various actions until the abdication of Napoleon, when 
he was placed on half pay. During the Hundred Days 
he joined Napoleon, with whom, as captain of Cuirnssiers, 
he took part in the battle of Waterloo. 

I n  consequence of his extreme Bonapartist sympathies, 
he was ergeluded from the general amnesty, and deorived 
of his half pay. What became of him during the next 
five or six years we have not been able to ascertain, other 
t han  from the following bv Baron Hugel* - :- 

" M. Allard served with much distinction in the 
Imperial Army of France, and was regarded as an officer 
of g e a t  personal bravery, high qualifications and m a ~ t  
conciliatory temper. Being excluded by his political views 

* Travels in Kmhmir, page 266. 
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from the royalist amnest he embarked for Egypt, n ~ l d  
thence proceeded to the 8 ourt of Teheran. From hence 
he was prevailed upon by Vcntnra to quit a country whrre 
a ten months' residence had satisfied him that the!(e wns 
no chance of immediate employment under Shah Abb~s.  
They t~rnavelled as merchitnts, and canlt tht.c,ngh Icandrthar 
to Lahore." 

From this it would appear that Allard must have 
served some years with the Egyptian army, as did so many 
of the French officers who $ought their fortunes ahrond 
after the debacle at  Waterloo Where he first met with 
Ventura is not known, but apparently the pair entercd 
Persia together. Another mention by Fontanier, a French 
traveller of t'he period, states that the two mere advised 
to go to Lahore by the Russian ambassador, who pro- 
bablv had ulterior reasons for doing so. If so. he was dis- 
appointled, for neither ever attempted to serve the Russian 
cause, or advance it in any way; possibly there was no 
opportunity. 

The travellers arrived at Lahore on the 23rd March, 
1822, and, after considkrable delay, were admitted into 
Ranj it Singh's service. As the details concerning their 
advent are fully set forth in our memoir on Verltura, we 
need do no more than add the news-writer's quaint de- 
scription of Allard as " a man of dark features. small. with 
intelligent countenance, and with great firmness to observe 
a kind and conciliatory disposition to all the natives of 
hich C- and low rank." " 

Allsrd was deputed t,o raise and train tnlo regiments, 
one of dragoons, and one of lancers, and how tt-gese new 
formations acquitted themselves, at the battle of NOW- 
shera, twelve months later, is best shown by the follolring 
quotation from Masson who probably had it from Allard 
himself l- : - 

" Ranjit Singh had not intended to cross the Indus at 
Attock. and probably the Yuwfza.~ imagined he ro~llrl 
- - - - - - - - - - - -- -- . Punjab Records, Rook No. 93, letter No. 54. 

t Masson's Travels In Baluchistan, etc., Vol~~rne I, page 140. 

C. 



82 EUHOPEAN ADVEKTURERS I S  

not, owing to the rapid! current, till, unable to control his 
anger, he stroked his beard and called upon the Sikhs to 
avenge the insults offered to their Guru. M. Allard, thrn 
present with his regiments of cavalry not long raised, 
strove to dissuade the Maharajah from the attempt, but 
ineffectually, and was ordered himself to cross the river. 

" The Sikhs (Ghorcharras, not under Allard) had 
gallaiitlv obeyed the call of their master, and precipitated 
themselies into the stream, but such was the violence of the 
current that not less than 1,200 were swept awav and 
drowned. M. Allard then mounted his elephant and n t  
the sound of his bugle, the disciplined troops passed over 
into the river in entire ranks, and the regularity and 
unitv of their movement enabled the regiment to pass sit11 
but three casualties. Ranjit Singh at  once descried the 
advantactes conferred by discipline, and in his delight, 
ordered :ew levies 9 P 

However, the intention stopped at  that, for the 
cavalry and'er Allard remained a t  the same strength until 
1829, when it was increased t,o four regiments, totalling 
2,425 men. Again, we must quote Masson,* who visited 
Lahore in 1829 :- 

" General Allard was then in command of some 3,000 
cavalry, comprising one regiment of cavalry, one of 
lancers, and two of dragoons. He had also 2,000 artillery- 
men in training, manning some 200 guns of which most 
were horse artillery 

" The establishments of the General are on the rrlost 
splendid 'scale, for the liberality of Ranjit Singh, who 
a.ppreria.ted his merits, enabled him to enjoy all ihe 
lllxuries of a refined taste, and1 to amass wealth besides." 

Masson's figures do not agree with the pay-roll, and 
ce were as regards the artillery, we should remxrk that the: 

not horse artillery, in the sense of the word as used by the 
British, but horse-drazun guns of various ca.libres. The 
main artillery depAt was always a t  Lahore, and o.t this 
period 411ard must have been in an administrative charge, 
just as Co~irt  was of the arsenals and foundries. 

Masson's Travels in Afghanistan, etc., Volume I, pages 405 and 432. 
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After the battle of Now~hera and the captulle of 
Peshawa.r (subsequently returned to the Afghans), the 
Francese Campo (the term employed to denote the 
French trained brigade) went to Kangra, returning to 
Lahore on completion of th.at duty. 

For the next few years we hear nothing of Al lad ,  
either through the news-writer's letters, or mentions by 
~ont~emporarv tr;irellers, until the visit of the French 
naturalist, Jacquemont, to Lahore. in 1 831. gives us sonic 
intimate glimpses of him and of Ranjit Singh's methods 
of dealing with the European officers and his s~b jec t  
states. Jacquemont* wrote :- 

" M. Allard is quite the Sulinlan Bey of Ranjit 
Singh. (Sulimnn Bey was a Frenchman commanding the 
Egyptian forces at that time.) He goes from time to 
time to visit the British officers at  Ludhiana; he is well 
paid at 100,000 francs a year, but is half a prisoner of 
Ranjit Singh, who takes care to make him spend the 
whole of his income every year in order to destrov an 
desire to leave him. H; pursues the same policy' wit K 
all European officers. Allard has literarv knowledge aud 
taste. The officers often excite Ranj i t  Singh's suspicio~~s, 
and are compelled to be very circumspect in order to keep 
his confidence. 

" It is possible that I mav meet M. Allard again. 
The children of the mountain Rani are fighting about 
their inheritance (Jacquemont was writing from Bashahr) 
and Ranjit Singh has sent Allardl to remove the nine lakhs. 
which are the cause of the trouble. If  I colild only get 
34. Allard's silver cross (TJezion of Honour) changed to a 
gold one, it would make me perfectly happy. His name is 
respected through the whole of British India, and what is 
bctter than respect? There is also but one voice with 
regard to his humanity and justice, as well as his wisdom. 
He is always talking of France, and can never have enough 
of French companv. He ha.s adopted T-a Favette's flag for 
his troops. " 

We next hear of Allard through the medinm of Sved 
Mahomed Latif's History of the Punjab. and, as his 
- 

Lettora from India, Volume 11, page 64. 
c2 
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narrative of the meeting of tlie Governor-General of India 
and the ruler of its last independent state, gives us, in 
addlition to showing his preference for Allard, interesting 
details of Oriental magnificence, we shall quote somewhat 
fully from him* :-- 

" It was arranged that the meeting between the two 
chiefs s h o d  take place on the morning of the 26th Octo- 
ber. Matters had progressed so far  when the Maharajah's 
mind underwent a sudden change. He suspected sorue 
treachery, or foul play, and his advisers told him he had 
acted unwisely in leaving his own territory for an inter- 
view with the representative of Rritish "interests, and 
government, on foreign groundl. He was advised to see 
the Governor-General a t  Amritsar, or postpone the inter- 
view altogether. The suspicious Maharajah sent for M. 
Allard late in the night to inform him that he would not 
attend the meeting the next day. 

" That officer did his best to allay his master's sus- 
picions, and staked his head that nothing unplea.sant 
would happen. He left the Maharajah unsettled in mind, 
and the astrologers were now summoned. After con- 
sulting their hofv books, they declared the British were 
sincere friends 0.f the ~ n h n r a j a h .  and that the meeting 
vvould be conducive to intimate friendship between the 
states; but they advised the Maharajah to hnld an ayl)le 
in each hand oh meeting the Governor. and to deliver him 
one of these a.s soon as he should .ee h im,  keeping one 
himself. 

'' I f  the apple were received bp His Excdlency, the 
result of the merting would be highlv favourable. and the 
proceedings contitwed without fear. Next rnoiming a 
deputation from the Governor-General waited upon the 
Maharajah. and preparations were made for the visit. 
The ~ a h s r a j n h .  early- i n  the morning, sent ROO of M. 
Allard's cavalry. andl they were followed by 3,000 of the 
hest Ghorcharrah cavalry. When he had 'seen all tll~sc. 
across, he and his principal attendants went over, dl 
being mo~inted on elephants, and dressed in basanti, or 
vellow colour. Having crossed the open, the Sikh chief 
and  his  esrort entered the Governor-General's Camp 
t h r n u ~ h  a pansage formed by n /line of British troops. 

History of the Punjnh, pages 452-455. 
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" Here he was met by the Governor-Gerlersl, and the 
first thing he did after an intrrchang of compliments 
was to present his Lordship with the apple, which was 
forthwith taken. Delighted with this good omen, the 
Maharajah passed over into the howdah of the Governor- 
General, and the chiefs proceeded together to the audlience 
tents followed by their suites 

'. Chairs were provided in the further tent for the 
officers of the Maharajah's suites and his sirdars. He took 
care to call out the name of each sirdar himself, and did 
not enter the tent until all had gone in and taken their 
seats. The Governor-General and the Maharajah then 
took their seats on chairs placed side by side. The whole 
presented a most picturesque appearance. Not only were 
the Sikhs dressed in yellow, the colour of spring, but 
their highly polished armour was worn with scarves also 
of that colour, acd this combined with the diamonds, 
rubies, emeralds, and other precious stones that decorated 
their heads, breasts and arms, rendered the scene a trnly 
grand one. 

" After a conversation, presents for the Maharajah 
his suite were brought in. These consisted of fifty-one 
trays, one for each year of his life, in which were arranged 
a variety of stuffs from Calcutta, Dacca, and Renares, 
jeweJs of price, pearl necl;laces, serpechesX set with 
diamonds, armlets, a jewelled sword and a handsome 
matchlock. To these were added a fine Burmese elephant 
and two horses from the Hissar stud, all for the Maha- 
rajah. Twenty-one trays with rich stuffs were laid out 
for the heir a?,parent, besides a horse equipped 6 t h  ?old 
and silver ornaments. Dresses of honour were also laid 
out for the sirdars. His Highness carefully examined 
each artJicle of his own presents. and presented the tray 
bearers and bandsmen in attendance with a purse of two 
thousand rupees. 

" His Excellency the Governor-General paid a return 
visit the next day. Great preparations were made in the 
Maharajah's camp for his reception. Tents of embroi- 
dered Cashmere work were pitched a t  the place fixed for 
the interview and from here to the river a double line of 
troops were formed of the regular brigades. His Lordship 

+ Serpeche : Ornament for the turban. 
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crossed the river escorted by lancers, arrd headkd by 
mounted bandsmen and was met a t  the Bridge of Boats 
by the Maharajah himself. When both the chiefs had 
seated themselves, a Royal salute was thundered forth. 

" I n  the Sikh camp the shamianas of beautiful 
Cashmere work occupied a great space That under 
which the Maharajah and Governor-General sat was 
embroidered with pearls and jewels. The floor cloth was 
of embroidered silk, richly worked in gold and silver. 
On one side was a bedstead with curtains of exquisitely 
fine gold cloth, and fringes worked with pearls and rubies 
of great value. The Governor-General was provided with 
a throne worked with ?)Id. The Mlharajsh sat on his 
right in a golden cham. When all we;-e seated. the 
Maharajah had all his officers and sirdars of state pre- 
sented in succession to the Governor-General, and e;cch 
of these presented a gold' mohur to his Lordship. which 
was touched and' remitted. 

" The Maha raj  n h's horses, magnificentlv equipped, 
were then brought in and passed in review.   is Highness, 
as usual, telling their names and merits :IS thev passed. 
Dancing girls were then bronght in, who by their holiday 
attire. added to the picturesqueness of the scene. When 
the time for departure arrived, the presents for the 
Governor-General and staff were brought forward. Those 
for his Lordship were arranaed in 101 traps (the Royal 
number) and consisted of rich stuffs frolr, Cashii~cre and 
parts of the Punjab, jewels and single diamonds, all in 
weat size. numbering seven. There were also te.n 
\- 

matchlocks, a sword, two boxes with arrows, and 
a shield', all set with precious stones, several gold and 
silver iltensils. and a bedstead with curtains of gold and 
silver cloth, completely fnrnished. To this were added 
two fine horses with superb trappings and an elephant 
with a silver howdah. 

" The following four days were passed in entertain- 
ments, and reviews, after which the parties separated and 
17i:l rched home." 

Amongst the officers in Lord William ~entinclc'g 
camp was Skinner,* the famous Eurasian commander of 
- -- - - --- - 

Life of Jarnee Blrinner, Volr~me TI, page 214. 
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irregular horse, who records his opinion that Allard's 
oa.valry were distinctly inferior to those of the British, an 
opinion corroborated by others. But that this was no 
f a d t  of -4llard's is also acknowledked, tshe reason given 
being the reluctance of Ranjit Singh to spend any more 
than coi~ld be extracted from him on the regular cavalry. 
That this sank still lower within the next few years is 
shown by the Lahore Akhbar, of 23rd August, 1834* :- 

" The irregularitv with which Ranjit Sinyh's troops 
are paid, and the arbitrary fines levied upon them a t  the 
partial distributions of pay, has raised a general dis- 
c~ntcnt  throughout the whdle army, which is liltely to 
effect its or~anisation to a considlerable degree if the 
nlitharniah does not refrain in time from the reckless dis- 
reg:rd he is beginning to show for their interests and 
claims. Out of the regiments of cavalry raised bv M. 
Allard but one remains, the others having been dispersed, 
and the French officers had ceased to enjov the considkra- 
tion thev once enjoyed." 

I n  anv case, loss of esteem did not mean anv diminu- 
tion of emoluments, for though, like Allard's cavalry, the 
E u r ~ p c ~ n  officers suffered cycles of high f u v o ~ ~ r ,  or corn- 
parative disre~ard,  their pav mas never touchedl. Rut ,  at 
this period, Allard had other matters to worrv him, one 
being the loss of his dhnghter, and the other that of all 
the money he had managed to accumulate, which dis- 
\,appeared in t,he failure of Palmer's Bank, a ?reat. financial 
a.nd commercial concern, whose crash involved many Euro- 
7eans in ruin, for this quasi-Government concern banked 
'or most of those in India. 

His hearlith having suffered from his long sojourn 
broad, and his wife being also desirous of taking the 
nmaining children home to France for education, caused 
h to apply for long leave, and af the neptiations con- 
ncted therewith we give the followingt :- 

" M. Allard sent in an a,pplication for leave to visit his 
otn country. The Maharajah direckd Jemadar Khushal 

Punjnb Eecords, Book No. 140, lettor No. GH. 
t Pnnjnb Records, Rook Xo. 130, lettor KO. 3. 
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Fingh to go to M. Allard and persuade him to take 
Rs. 30,000 worth of pushmina (Cashmere shawls) in com- 
pensation for his pay, ,znd tell him that he may go if  he 
wishes. He (the Jemadar) went, and coming back in an 
hour and a half, informed the Maharajah that M. Allard 
would not consent to receive his pay in pushmina, as it 
would be a loss to him The Maharajah said with an 
angry countenance, that when M. ~ l l a r d  and T%ntura 
came from their country, they looked poor and indigent 
(sic) bnt now having made lakhs of rupees thev importu~led 
him with their solicitations 

" The Maharajah then asked M ,411a1-d by what 
route he proposed to go to his country. He reGlied he 
would go by wag of Bahawalpur and Bombav. The 
Maharajah asked if he would see M. Ventura on the waj-, 
when he would make M. Ventura discharge his arrears 
of salary (saving himself the agony of parting with so 
much cash). Jernadar Khushal s i i g h  and Rhai Gurmukh 
Singli were directed to go to M. Allard and inforrn l ~ i i l ~  
that lakhs of rupees had been spent in disciplir~ing the 
regiments, which after Ejs departure would fall intv con- 
fusion and dlisorder. They were to desire him to put off 
his design of returning to'his own countrv a t  present. 
They went, and coming back in an hour and a half, in- 
formed the Maharajah that M. -4llard was ir~fleuible in 
his design. 

" Kour Kharak Singh informed the Maharajah that 
ht Allsrd had1 sent for bankers from the citv in order to 
s ~ l l  his silver articles. The Maharajah complai~led that 
though every effort had heen made to dissusde 31. Allard 
from ?oing,' yet he would not consent. 

" The Maharajah said to M. Allard that ar he  hi^( 
served him for twelve years, he had strong feelings d 
affection for him, in consequence of which the ~ a h a r a j d  
ieceived preparations for departure with regret. F$ 
should therefore postpone his departure for some tint 
when the Maharajah would reward him more than befoq. 
M. Allard was directed to receive Bs. 30,000 worth 
pushmina in rompensat ion for his salarv, and inform! 
thgt until his return from his co~lntry. he would receib 
half his pay according to the English system. 



NORTHERN INDIA, 1755-1849 89 

" Khushal Singh suggested to the Maharajah that M. 
Allard wished to borrow Bs. 40,000 from the Maharajah, 
but the Maharajah replied that as his home was so many 
thousands of miles away it might not be prudent to lend 
him so much money, but that if he desired hc might have 
the same amount in pushmina. 

" M. Allard was dbsired to remain one year more 
when he would be dismissed with every mark of honour. 
He replied that he would go now, but return after one 
year and a half to request leave once more. A khillat 
containing eleven pieces of cloth, a string of pearls, a 
serpeche, and a pair of bracelets were presented to him, 
and Misr Kali Ram was directed1 to pay him Rs. 30,000 
worth of pushmina. M. Allard was directed to attend 
the court till his departure (for Pesha war, where his 
regiments were stationed). " 

At the end of eighteen months later, Allard obtained 
the desired leave with a promise of re-employment on hi: 
return, and, taking his wife and children with him, set out 
for Europe vici Calcutta on the 15th June, 1834, having 
~eceived a passport through British dominions, and several 
letters he was desired personally to deliver to the Governor- 
Genwal at Calcutta, or his representative. Eighteen 
months later he returned alone again through - Ca-lcutt a,, 
which at that period seeins to have been the favourite port 
of arrival for passengers from Europe for up-countrv. 

He brought with hi111 n large consignment of arms,* 
cuirasses, pistols, carbines, and other munitions, the out- 
lag on which had so exhalusted his funds that he applied 
for, and received, a loan from the Governnlent of India to 
enahle him to send them lip-conntry. The total amount 
was Rs 40,000, and in connection with the repayment, 
we find that at  that period the official currency was 
composed of two entirely different classes of rupees. These 
rupees were called Nanalrshahi (Fa.rakhahnd\ and Picm 
rupees, the first being of the lower valiie, and when Alliird 
repald the money, he did so in Nnnalishnhi. t h o ~ l ~ h  he had 
recei vedl S icca. 

' Punjab Records, Book No. 118, letter No. 92. 
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There is voluminous correspondence concer~ling this, 
the difference being about Rs. 700, and the money was not 
repaid until after Allard's death, when his nephew, 
Benjamin Allzrd, who came out from Prance to administer 
the estate, did so out of the Rs. 25,000 which was the sum 
total of Allard's estate i n  Ind'ia. 

On his arrival at  Lahore, he was rec~ived by IZanjit 
Singh with much cordiality, and so welcome were the 
articles Ile brought with him that he mas not only paid 
in full for them, but given a sum of Rs. 30,000 as leave 

pay. It must have been this unexpected windfall which 
cslised the General to burst forth into the follotx~ing 
effusion which be recited in Persian, to the delight nf the 
Maharaja. or. i t  may have been the poem which caused 
the generosity :-- 

O (Ad, m a ~  mv King live long; 
Mnv the f ihament be as a slave in his service; 
~ a f  I reach his lloval Court and be honoured; 
And should 1 ever disobey his cotnmand; ' 
1 4 : ~ ~  dcat,h come over me: 
~ h k n  J die let my grave be in Tiahore; 
And mv remains be interred in Anarkulleex. 

Little as he may have really desired it ,  the wish was 
prophetic. for he was buried beside his daughter in the 
little mausoleum which still stands on an old brick kiln 
mouncl in the grounds of Kapurthala House. st Lahore, 
formerly Allard's own residence. 

Some unpleasantness ensued between A!lard and the 
British Government, for, relying on some complimenta~~y 
expressions, addressed to the Kin? of Fral~ce, A1l:lrd had 
believed that he (Ranjit Singh) really desired to havc! a 
reprewntative at ~.ahoie,  and  came provided with s letter 
from King Louis Philippe appointing himself to that 
post. A copy of this was sent to the Government of India, 
who so greatly resented the appointment of ang cont i n m  tall 
representative to a state on their borders that Allard' was - 

* H i u t o r ~  of the Piinjah, page 476. 
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forced to disavow the intention, and explain thzt the 
letter was merely a friendly one from King Louis 
Philippe to Maharaja Ranjit Singh. 

His cavalry now enjoyed a cycle of favour, for the 
new cuirasses so pleased the Maharaja that he gave 
orders for two regiments to be supplied with then!. The 
balance of those required were made at Wazirabad, and, 
judging by the specimens that still survive, were of quite 
creditable workmanship. There are also a number of 
French-made cuirasses in the old armoury at Lahore, and 
these may be distinguished by a Gallic cock, surrounded 
by a laurel wreath, on the brass faced breastplate To 
judge by the fact that they were made at Klingenthal. in 
Saxony, some five years before. they were probably second- 
hand. . 

It was of these regiments that Wood and others spoke 
so appreciatively, and the fact of their excellent training 
and condition may have been due to Mouton, the ex-captain 
of Cnirn~siers. whom AZlard brought out with him. 

.Illsrd died of heart failure at Pcs l~a~var  on 23rd 
January, 1839. ;?nd in accordance with his last request, 
his body mas brought down from Pesh:xwar. Salutes u-ere 
fired at every principal station through which the body 
passed on its route, and on arrival 2t Lahore. the three 
mile stretch from Shahdlara to Anarkali was lined with 
troops, and minute guns fired during the progress of the 
bocl'v to its last home. Barr. who had just arrived in 
~ n h o r e .  thns d'escrihes the closing scenes in Allard's 
career :- 

*" As we approached the city we heard a salute, and 
were informed that i t  was being fired in honour of General 
Allard, who had died in Peshanrar, and] whose body .was 
now being brought to the capital for interment. Regi- 
ments were paraded in honour of his memorv. for he was 
heloved bv both European and Indian alilre. He died 
23rd ~ a n ' u a ~ ,  1839, aged 52 vears (sic).  and left n wife 

Journal of n March, etc., page 72. 
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and family in France. He was much beloved by the 
Maharajah, and they were afraid to tell him of Allard's 
death, his own health being precarious 

*" With Dr. Benet, the Maharajah's doctor, we went to 
Allard's country house, where his bodv was lying in state. 
The residence is decoratedl inside and out with paintings 
of dragoons, foot soldiers, and lancers, half as large as 
life. The wide verandahs have the same display of 
paintings, and also fountains at intervals, which keep the 
apartment cool in summer. The upper rooms are a.U 
covered with looking glasses. and1 at the corners are domti- 
tories, very comfortable and airy. Doctor Benet showed 
us a shawl which was being made by Allard for the Queen 
of France at  a cost of Rs. 3,000.. . . . . . . . . . .Allard's portrait 
bespeaks him a man of firmness and decision of character, 
and a handsome and benevolent man. He wore a unifnrm 
somewhat resembling that of our Horse Srtillery, with two 
orders, one bein? the Legion of Honour. and the other 
Ranjit's new order. In  another picture were the pretty 
faces of his Kashmiri wife and his children, who were 
dressed in the costume of her country, and drew the 
adhiration of all. " 

Perhaps some day a fitting memorial mav be erected 
by his countrymen over the remains of this worthy old 
adventurer and soldier of the First Empire. 

' Journal of a March, etc., page 83. 
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CHAPTER V I I  

JEAN BAPTISTE VENTURA, COUNT DE MANDI 

The only details forthcoming concerning the an- 
cestry, birth. and early military caraer of this. the most 
able of all Ranj i t  Singh's European soldiers, are f ragnent- 
arv and incomplete. 

Disregarding Dr. TVolff's statement that he wm a 
Jew of Modena, whose real name was Reuben Bin Toora, 
as not proven, and conflicting with other evidence, we have 
come to the conclusion that Ventura, if this were his real 
name, and not a mere contraction of Adventura, or ad- 
venturer, was really a Modenese of Christian birth. Fcr 
this we have his own statement to Mrs. Mackenzie in 184Yx 
that his grand-nephew was a Dominican monk, then 
private secretary to Pius IX.  That the spelling of his 
Christian names is distinctively French maybe due to the 
fact that he practically renounced his Italian nationality 
on quitting Italy for the East, and never returned to it .  

He appears to have been born about 1792-93. and com- 
missioned into the Modenese contingent of the Italian 
Army, raised by Joseph Bonaparte for Napdeon. He 
served with this in various campaigns, including the Battle 
of Wagram, the Russian Campaign of 181 2 t ,  and finally at 
the Rattle of Waterloo. Where he gained his Cross is 
not stated, but probably the archives of the Legion of 
Honour might give the details and further enlighten us 
shout his services to Napoleon. 

Prinsep states that Ventura was a $Colonel of In- 
fantry under Napoleon, and possibly this is correct, for 
the very heavy casualties consequent on Napoleon's fie- 

Life in Mission, Camp and Zenana, page 170. 
t In this campaign the I t a l i ~ n  cont,iue;ent ma.s commnndad hy Eugene 

de Beauharnais, Napoleon's stepson-vide infra .  
f R ~ n j i t  Singh, page 193. 
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quent campaigns gave early and rapid promotion to :be 
sun~ivors, Colonels of 20 and Generals of 30 being not 
uncommon. 'After the downfall. of Na,poleon, his auxil- 
iaries reverted to their own country, and having served 
with the man who conquered them, were soon got ];id of. 

As regards the Modenese, Baron Huge1 writes- 

*" They were treated with especial sevarity, being 
exrlltded from the general amnesty granted to all other 
Italian soldiers, which included in the terms of capitala- 
tion of the Italian Army the placing of all its officers on 
an equal footing with the Austrians."-(Note.-In the 
general share out of Napoleon's Empire, Italy-, ruled for 
him by his brother Joseph, fell to the share of Austria, 
and so remained until the mid-19th century. Such of the 
officers as had not speciallv distinguished t.hemselves by 
serving Napoleon were inc~rpora~ted with their soldiers 
jnt>o the Austrian Army.) 

I n  what manner Ventura passed the intermediate 
years between 1816 and 1820 we cannot discover, but a 
chance remark by Senor Oms to Dr. Murray that he had 
met Ventura in Constantinople some pears before may 
indicate that he served with the Turkish or Egyptian 
Armies, as did so many Bonapartist officers in like case. 

How he and Ak1,ard fared in Persia, and why they 
quitted it is given in Allard's Memoir. The journey 
took them over six months, and we need not refer to it 
other than to question the statement made by Henry 
Lawrence that they were reduced to beg in the bazaars of 
Kabul and Peshawar, which is disproved by the news- 
writer's account of their arrival and the fact that they 
were able to display a quantity of gold coins to Ranjit 
Singh's courtiers, as proof of their indifference to his 
service. Lawrencet also states that they " acted as 
callers to prayers in the Peshawar Mosque "-a remark 
that needs no further comment tha.n that the muezzin's 

Travela in Kashmir, etc., page 366. 
t Lawrence : Adventl~rers in the Punjab. 
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profession is usually hereditary, and in ;I ny case requil-es 
special training. 

Having traced their passage up to the 10th March, 
1822, when they arrived at  the great Serai attached to 
Jahangir's tomb in Shahdara, some three milw from 
Lahore, we will continue the narrative with the news- 
wriler's reports, which are sufficient11 vivid and full :-- 

* " Lahore A khbar, 121k ~llurcil,  i822.-" Yesterday 
the Mzharajah sent me a purwannah, intimating that two 
Ferirlghees, one a gentleman, and the othel a Gorah (white 
soldier) with several servants had arrived from the 
westwards nici Kabul and Ramnagar at  Shah Derrzth 
opposite Lahore. I (the news-writer) answered that with 
the exception of Mr. Moorcroft, I have no intelligence of 
any of these gentlemen. 

" I sent Mohan La1 to Shah Derrah to procure some 
other particulars. The two gentlemen sped< Persian, and 
either French or English. They have arrived from Persia, 
ni& Kabul, for pleasure : ~ n d  information. and intend to 
remain in Lahore two or three months. They enquired 
after Mr. Moorcroft (an English traveller of the period) 
and asked! if he went with an armed force. Mohan La1 
answered in the negative, and said that Mr Moorcroft 
was on a trading excursion. They enquired how far 
Delhi might be, and were told 225 kos. 

" March 16dh, 1822t .- The Maharajah ordered 
pleased with Sahib Singh, the head harkarrah, for not 
giving information of these gentlemen when thev reached 
his boundary, and that their arrival might ha,veUheen prr- 
vented. The harknrrah replied that, he did not Icnow. 
These Feringhees have asked for a house at Lahore, or, i f  
not granted, they will remain where they are a t  Shah 
Derrah. " 

" Marr.1~ I G t h ,  18,221 .-The Maharajah ordered 
Munshi Sundha Ram to call Messrs. Ullur and Wuntoors 
(Allard and Ventura) the two French gentlemen. They 
came and presented a nuxzur of Rs. 100. The Maharajah 
told Ram Dass, the interpreter, that the gentlemen do not. 

Lahore A khbar. 
t Punjab Records, Book No. 93, letters Nos. 46 and 106. 
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speak Hindi. The Maharajah, sitting on a carpet, 
requested the gentlemen to be seated, enquired after their 
health, from whence they had come, and their future views 
They replied : ' We are Frenchmen, and have come ?)it$ 
Roum (Constantinople) , Baghdad, Persia, Candahar, 
Kabul, Peshawar, and *4ttock to Lahore.' The Maha- 
rajah asked if they were well versed in the art  of 
manoeuvring an army. They answered in the affirmative, 
that their business was war and that they were soldiers. 

" The Maharajah then said, 'if 1 entrust my artillery 
and battalions to you to invade Khorasan, could you Per- 
form such a service ? '  They rejoined, ' Yes ', but that the 
hot season ha.d set in, which was very detrimental to Euro- 
peans. The Maharajah then asked them to fire one of his 
guns. They answered, ' We are not qolanda~ix (gunners). 
blzt had gunners under us to fire y n s  under oixr direction.' 
The Maharajah then said that the Sikhs are very expert 
on horseback, firing their musketry twenty times in one 
sant (two hours) and asked if they, the ~Cenchmen, were 
as expert on horseback. They replied, ' We use the sword 
~ n d  pistol on horseback, and dismounted can fire 300 
rounds in one sant.' 

" The Maharajah again enqui,red if they (the French- 
men) were better versed in the art  of war than the English. 
They answered that the English in expertness and skill 
in war are equalled by none. The Maharajah then asked 
them if it \V;-IS their p1easul-e tc stay with him or to go. 
They answered that they were pot desirous of service ; 
they wished to pass the hbt season in Lahore, and wo11ld 
then proceed where their nnsib (fortune) would lead them 
in Hindustan. 

" I n  the afternoon the Maharajah directed them to 
instruct one of his battalions in the Eluropean manner. 
They replied : ' What your ba.ttalions have learnt, they 
havk learnt. We are not enabled to teach them, as a shawl 
once woven cannot be woven in another fashion. Tf the 
Maharajah will give 11s recruits, we can teach them our 
exercise, and i~nt i l  we complete a battalion and please the 
Maharajah with the sight of a real parade and exercise, 
we cannot, and will not, accept anythin?. When the 
Ma,hnmjnh shall have seen m d  npprovbd of our work then 
he can fix a salary for us.' The Maharajah remarked to 
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me tha,t they appeared, from their manners and conversa- 
tion, to be men of rank and consequence. " 

The Frenchmen's comments on the.difficulty of indi~c- 
ing men drilled or trained. under one particular system to 
hecome proficient in another are quite correct. The 
soldier who has been trained on one particullar system is 
verv conservative in adopting another. 

" They required high salaries, ten gold mohurs each 
per diem,*independent of the keep of their horses and 
servants. The Maharajah remained silent. I n  the af ter  - 
noon the M h a r a j a h  ordered Dhaunkal Singh's battalions, 
consisting half of Silchs, and half of Poorbiahs, to parade, 
and calling for the French, aslred them how the armies 
of the Persians and Durranis were in point of quality. 
Thev answered that the Durranis were better soldiers than. 
the ~ e r s i a n s ,  but that the former wanted unanimity, and 
whatever is performed in this world was by means of 
unanimity, and arrangement. The ~ a h a r a j a h  again 
aslted : ' n o  my ha ttalions manmuvre in the manner of 
the English ? ' 

" They said, ' for the country, the Eattalions of the 
Sikhs are good in comparison ! ' 

" The Maharajah then said : ' My armv is more war- 
lika and powerful 'tha,n the English. ' 

" 'I'he parade con~i~lned till close of dap." 

" Lnhol'e A khbnr, A pr'il: 2 8 t l ~ ,  182.2.-I (the news- 
writer) went to the ~ u r h a r  and prerented a. n7rizu1, on the 
Nn~lroz. The hfallaraj ah mentioned the French officcra 
and aslred me if I had learned who thev were from Captain 
M ~ ~ r r a y .  I replied in the negative. when the IIaharajjnh 
was pleased to relate to  me that they had represented 
themselves to be Frenchmen and companions (m,?tsnhib) of 
Bonapnrte, Kin? of the French. offirers of the second rank 
(colonel) and that they had received 50 gold mohurs each 
per diem. 

" When Ronapa~te was defeated, they cartie to  Ronm 
(C~nstant~inople), Persia., and T<r7\)111, andl from thence in 
the capacitv of merchants to T,ahore. The Maharaiah 
said. ' T offered them 10 rupees per diem, hu t  thev ngreed 
not. '  saying. ' we received 50 gold rnoh~trs pw diem i ~ n d e r  
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Ronaparte. I f  you give us ten gold mohurs per tlav it 
will suffice, and if vou will merely wish us to receive s h e  
for current expenses, that we need not ' and they showed 
many gold bootkees (small coins w0rt.h about Rs. 5) in 
their trunks to prove the truth of their not being in want 
of cash. 

Such interviews and examinations continued without 
any definite result for some time, until, probably instigated 
by the Maharajah's confidant, the two addressed the 
following letter in French to him. The reason was to 
obtain some document to send to the British Agent a t  
Ludhiana, to ascertain his opinion as to whether the inen 
were actually Frenchmen, or to show him that, if they 
were really British spies, they were a t  least suspect'ed :--- 

" 1st April,  1822.* 

TO HIS M.4JESTY THE KING OF LAHORE. 

SIRE,  

The favours showered on us by Your Majesty since 
our arrival at this capital are innumerable, and correspond 
to the high idea we have formed of Your Benevolence. 
Everything about Your Majestv is great, and worthv of a 
Sovereign who aspires to immortality. Sire, when we 
first had the honour of being presented to Your Majesty 
we disclosed to  You the motive of our journey. The reply 
vouchsafed to us sets us a t  ease, but leaves 11s u~~ccr ta in  
of our future. 

. . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  We have therefore a t  the advice of 
Fakir Nur-ud-T)in renewed our request in the French 
language, which we have been given to understand is 
familiar to one of j rmr court.. . . . . . . ,We again supplicate 
Your Majesty to be good enough to give definite orders. 
which we shall always follow with the utmost respect and 
obedience. 

We have the honour to be, with the deepest respec,t, 
the very hnmble, verv obedient, and verv d r ~ o t c d  
servant; of Your Majesty. 

* Prinsep : Rise of Silih Power, page 132. 
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This letter in  original was sent on to Delhi. The 
remark about the person attached to the Lahore i)urbar 
who understood French is obviously incorrect, for had there 
been one, he would have long before been produced. Whilst 

await ing a reply from Delhi the Maharajah put the two 
t o  still further tests, regarding their bond-fides and mili- 
tary knowledge. What now fallows is both amusing and 
interesting, the latter as  i t  afford's an illustration of the 
Maharajah's mmtalitv, which occasionally displayed an 
almost infantile cunning.* 

" I , u ? ~ o ~ ~ e  Akhbar, 5th & 6th May,  18,22.-The Mnha- 
rajah directed Mohan Lsl, T'oorbiah, and other trust- 
worthy persons by every means in their power to ascertain 
whether the twc gentlemen were French or English. 
Mohan La1 could only obtain from them that thcg were 
French officers, but the Maharajah, having doubts in his 
mind and conceivillg them to be Ene;l:ish, ordered the 
Enropean, James Sahib Junior, to  pen a letter as from 
Mr. Moorcroft to  the two Frenchmen. and having torn 
the seal from the cover of one of 1 .  Moorcroft's old 
letters to the Maharajah. he affixed it on the feipned 
letter and sent i t  by a harkarrah to the two Europeiln 
gentlemen. 

The contents of this letter were to the effect that  3lr .  
14oorcroft was very glad to hear that they had arrived 
safely a t  Lahore, that he was in Ladakh, and begged t~ 
know their future, and what business brought them there. 
Evervthing being explained to the harkurrnh, a Tcashmiri, 
he was sent to the Frenchmen. Looking a t  the letter and 
viewing the hnrknrrah, the gentlemen said : ' We are not 
children that you should play with us. '  The 7tmkn~rnh 
said that he h i d  brought the letter for them from Ln dnlih. 
and b e g ~ e d  that they would be pleased to peruse it. and 
give an 'answer that ' he might return. Thev answered : 
' We are not lcnown to Moorcroft ; we are not of his country, 
and have no correspondence with him. besides k i n q  not 
personally acquainted with him.' They returned the 
letlter a s  ; -p~p ived ,  with a messaqe that a mnn had broliqht 
it from I.ndalch, 2nd it v a s  perhaps for the blnhnrajnh, as 
thev ccnild not rend the snpcrscrintion." 

Pnnjnb Records, Book No. 94, letter No. 66. 

~3 
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Of all the cameos that these old letters present to 11s 
none are so clear cut as this! It represents the Mahara- 
jah's true menta.lity, as a blend of intense susl,icivll, and 
wily cunning, tempered by an almost infanttle simplicity 
in matters outside his own experiences. Picture this 
absolutely despotic rrlonarch, on whose finger tips hung the 
lives and limbs of his subjects, sittin? ... down with a dis- 
reputable European deserter, to concoct a scheme to entrap 
these sophisticated Europeans, who for years had been 
associated with treacherous A3ia.t io races, and perhaps 
had often preserved their ljves by their ability to detect 
deceit and stratagem. 

Within the Maharajah's great tent, sumptuously 
lined with Kashmir shawls, and floored with co,stly 
ca.rpets, sits the European, " James Sahib Junior," 
laboriously scribing an epistle, which he translates word 
by word to the Maharajah, who, as he understands, nods 
approval or suggests an alteration. Imagine Ranjit 
Singh's wickedly hnmorous face lighting up with mali- 
cious and self-applauding glee as he suggests what he 
considers the master stroke of attaching Moorcroft's 
old seal to the letter. Now picture the Frenchmeil 

- 

receiving the letter and imagine their barely veiled 
contempt a t  the transparent device, and the biting scorn 
with which they answer the h n r k a ~ n h ' s  plea folr a juruub 
(answer). " Are we children, that you thus play with 
us ? "  and the emphatic and categorical denial of ail know- 
ledge of Moorcmft, and his concerns. either with or for 
them. 

It is a richlv hrlmorous episode, completed by the 
chagrined faces &f the Maharajah and the " European. 

, 9 James Sahib J-unior, as they and their confederates 
watch from afar off the Kashmiri detected and scorned. 

The next letter shows a11 doubts removed by the 
receipt of the intinaa,tion from Delhi that the men were 
real1 y Frenchmen, and henceforth the adventurers bask in 
the sunshine of the Maharn jah's favour." - - -- -- - ---- . 

Punjah  record^, Book No. 93, letter No. 62. 
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" Lahore Akhbar, 17th & 18th May, 1822.-A long 
conversation upon commonplace topics took place between 
the French officers, Messrs. Uloor and Wuntoora. The 
Maharajah informed them that Mr. Ross had treated his 
aakil (carrying the letter) with great kindness. The 
Maharajah begged the French officers to be of good cheer, 
and he would soon find employment for them, and 500 
horsemen were ordered from the camp of Dewan Misllr 
Chand, to be placed with Messrs. Allar and Wuntoora for 
the purpose of teaching them the European exercises. 

7 7 

*" Lahore A khbar, ~ 1 s t  & 2.3rd .!May, 1822.-The 
Ilaha.rajnh informed the French officers that the batstalion 
of Shailth Rasowan cnmposed of Silchs and Poorhiahs, 
with muskets and flints, should be placed under their 
charge for instruction, and the Shaikh should be ordered 
to obey the European officers. The Maharajah sent Mr. 
Allar 'to inspect the horse artillery, and Mr. Ventora to 
inspect the battalion of Shailch Basownn. The battalion 
guns and two companies of Poorbiahs formed into a square 
and fired for two ghurrees (forty minutes) and the Maha- 
rajah viewed them on horseback, galloping from flank to  
flank. 

': The two French officers came up when the BIak~a- 
rajah asked them what they thought of the exercise, arid 
they said i t  mras well done. The Maharajah told them to 
exercise the golandaz~z (gunners) in their own way, and 
Shaikh Basawan was directed to attend the French officers' 
tent and learn the words of command. The Maharajah 
said : ' I want to send my battalions, cavalry and art,illcry, 
with you (-4llard and TTentura) first to settle Peshnv-ar 
and then to take Kabul and Kandahar.' Thev answered 
t l ~ n t  the Maharajah hnd manv Sirdars of merit and 
wiqclom, and it might be proper to eniplov them on such a 
service; thev, however. were willing to perform with all 
their heart nnd soul whatever may be ordered. 

" The J4aharajnh told them that in n short time 500 
horre wor~ld arrive, and 11-ith severnl bnttnlions and guns 
he entrlletrd to their guidance The Mahnl~njah's mind 
seems to lean completelv to these gentlemen, and the native 
comrnnndnnts are ronseqiicnttlv nruch 111irt. and often 
declare that he (the Mzhnmjah) hallin? seen the E~iror,r:~n 

- 
* Punjnb  record^, Boolr No. 93, letter No. 55. 
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manner of manceuvring, how can be approve of ozr,r zcags?' 
They endeavoured to persuade the Maharajah that Allnrd 
and Ventura were English, having seen them in Hindnstan 
with the English Army. 

" In the evening, Shaikh Basowan and his Mi11;shi 
waited upon the French officers, when the latter explsincd 
the words of command to the Munshi, who wrote them in 
Persian. This morning the battalions mere out at cxerciso 
with blank cartridges, the Maharajah, Messrs. -4llard and 
Ventura being present. The Maharajah directed the 
Munshi to read the French words of comm3.nd mrhich he 
had writken down. He failed. not being able to explain 
one single word. The 3Iahara jnh ~v:*s much cli::pleased, 
and turning to the Frenchmen, begged they would lenru 
Hindustani or Pnniabi in order that ' I m a y  conversc with 
you in private.' They replied that they would commence. 
They always attended the Durbnr. " 

"Lc!lzore il k l ~ b a r .  2 6 t h  & 28th ~ l f a ! ~ ,  18,qq.X--The 
1faha)raj'ah told the French officers he would call ~~nothcr  
1 5.000 to 20,000 horse, lately belonging to Hxlknr (IIoll<ar ) 
and form another camp of them. Thev replied : ' God's 
grace be upon the Maharajah, and whatever he said carre 
to pass, and the counsel was qood.' The Mnhs.rajah said 
he wished to take Kabul after the rainy season. They 
said the way from Kabul to Kandahar was open, and no 
Afghan army could stand against the army of the Maha- 
rajah. I n  fact, the country would fall without a battle. 
The Mahzrajah told them to be of eood cheer. he would 
put a camp under their charge. The Maharajah sent 
Rs. 600 to their tent and told them he had sent to Ludhiana 
for 100 bottles nf  liqllor for their use." (Champagne or 
beer '1) 

" Lahore Akhhnr.  28th May.  18.22.-The Maharajafi, 
calling the French officers said : ' My sipah,aes tell me the 
French exercises are just the same a s  thev have learnt. and 
if thev are nut under vou will even forget what they have 
learned' They renlied, ' We have said before and we 
repeat. " Give n s  raw soldiers. 9 9  9 The Maharaiah said, 
' T t  qhall he so ' and praised the native cornmandarlts and 
their exercises. The officers said that the Mahamia,h had 
never seen French or English exercises properly done, and 

' Piinjnh Records, Book No. 93, letter No. 64. 
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that  he would be pleased with their own. ' These native 
commandants, poor things, they play like children.' The 
Maharajah replied, ' They did well enough to strike terror 
into the Afghans.' " 

The next letter introduces two more of the lower 
class of Europeans employed by Ranjit  Singh, both of 
whom we have already met. 

" Lahore Akhbar, 16th-17th July,  1829*.-%. 700 
were sent to the French officers and two regiments of 
Hindostani horse were placed under their orders. The 
exceeding favour of the Maharajah is upon them. The 
Maharajah told them that another campo (brigade) would 
be placed under them. . . . The Maharajah told Mohan La1 
to call both French officers and their comp2nies. Messrs. 
Allard and Ventura accordinplv arrived with four con!- 
panies each, consisting of Sikhs, one hundred t,o each 
company. They were fnrnished with seven round:: of 
cartridces each: and went throuqh their enercises. The 
?Jaharijah. in company with his native cornm:~ndants, 
reviev-ctl the parade and was much pleased v i th  i t ,  declar 
ing that the eu'loqi~ims he had heard passed on the French 
manner of exercising troops were fullv , , justified. 

" The Maha rajah was pleased bevond measure and 
directed them to chsider  his house as their own, and that  
a separate campo, independent of the two regiments of 
horse and composed entirelv of recr~iits, w0111d be formed 
for them. Orders were &en to Nur-ild-Din to place 500 
men in plllace of every 100 employed in fortifications (new 
cantonments and quarters).   he Maharajah presented 
Mr. Carron (Gordon) who teaches the Enqlish exercises to 
the volunteer covipnnies (~ecriiits) with a horse, and to 
Mr ,Tames, who instrl~cts the zrt,illcru d e t ~ i l s ,  he qave a 
pnir o f  qold bracelets as a reward for their services. 

(' After tFr p ~ r s d e  a Ion? conference took plnce 
het~veeri the French officers and the Maharr7iah. and cn 
their tnlcino. lenve. the M a h a r ~ i 2 h  also sent them Rs. 600 
to he distrihntecl a~non,rrst the Sikhs to whom they were 
teachinq their exercises. who ~ ~ r o ~ i l d  then r o  throiiqh their 
parades wit,h more nrdonr. He h r~s  ordered five ha tt,alions 
to he raised immedi3telv 2nd exercised. The officers of 

Prliljnh Recordq, Rook No. 93, letter Y o .  10-1. 
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Ranjit 's Court pay great attention to them, and bring 
presents. " (Apparently they recognised which way the 
wind was blowing.) 

Having seen the two friends through their vicissi- 
tudes, and on the fair way to fortune, we shall for the 
future deal with the career of Ventura alone. The f aro1.u 
shown, after the clouds of suspicion had blown a~vay, 
continued, for, by 1824*, the Francese Campo or the Fauj- 
i-Khas (Royal Brigade) had increased to four bat.tslions 
of infantry under Ventura, added to which mere the two 
cavalry regiments under Allard and a. brigade (battery) 
of artillery under a Mussulman commander, consisting of 
24 guns of various calibre. 

Yet, though always enjoying the Roval favour arid 
confidence: Ventura seems never to have been admitted to 
the friendship, or even familiarity, extended to Allard 
and Avitabile; for to judge by several mentions, he was 
rather a reserved and gentlemanly person of refind 
ma.nners, whereas the othelrs were rough rankers, of 
manners and tastes probablv more suitable to the atmo- 
sphere of the Sikh Conrt 

His commenci~lg salarv of Rs. 500 per month had, 
by the year 1826, increased to Rs. 3,000, and as from 
time to time jaghirs bringing in a total income of about 
Rs. 800 per month were added to this, his income was 
quite considerable. Rut  whether he was ever fully paid 
up is problematical, for all of Ranjit's employCs, no mntter 
what their ra,nk, were alvmps in arrears, Jacquemont 
mentioning that in 1836 Ventura was due no less than 
Rs. 1 50,600, or over two years* pay 1 

I n  1825 Ventura was? married a t  Ludhianii to an 
Armenian lady of mixed descent, whose father was a 
Frenchmnn in the service o f  Hegi~rn S m  her sister 
he in^ later the wife of Walter nubuignon, Commander of 
the Rc,rrllrn3s persona,l guard. The marriage was caid to 

Khnl~a,  Diirhnr Records, page 16, Volnme 1. 
t Ui3tor.y of the Yunjnh, page 439. 
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have been celebrated by a Catholic priest from Lucknow, 
but unfortunately a reference to the Catholic authori- 
ties a t  that place only elicited the reply that the marrii~fie 
does not appear in their registers. ProbabRy the officiat- 
ing priest was a missionary, and did not trouble to send in  
a copy of the certificate. 

According to Mahorned I,atifx. the weddi~lg presents 
civen be the Maharajah and the Sirdars amounted to 
fully R:. 40,000, which is probably correct, for after lhe 
first enmity had worn off, Ventura was always popular 
with the courtiers. Though Madame Ventura lived with 
her husband for some ten years, and bore him a daughter, 
her married life does not seem to have been happy, for 
even after marriage, Ventura kept up  his zenana at  
Lahore, and there are certain anecdotes extant regarding 
his infidelities, which show that she had ample cause for 
leaving him. 

After their separation, Madame Ventura resided' pern- 
manently at Ludhiana, where she died in extreme poverty 
in 1870, the income left her by Ventura having ceased with 
his death, after which she existed on a small pension from 
the British Government. Of her personal appearance, 
Mrs. Mackenzie thus writes :- 

t" Madarne Ventura is a very handsome Armenian, 
very ilittle darker than a Spaniard. She is a Cat#holic, 
but apparently a convert, as she is ratllcr vnFne about the 
Catholic observances. " Veut,ur;r's daughter went lvith 
him to France to  he educated in 1837, and ne17er retllrned to 
Ind ia .  Ultimately she married a French nobleman and 
descendants still exist, as only a few years ago they 
addressed the Puniab Government on the subject of t$hn 
immense treasures ~ e n t n r a  was snpposed to 11.z~e left 
hehind him wllen I.? qnittcd the ~llnin-11. 

The first engawment of the newlv raised Fmnrese 
Camp0 was a.t the Rattle of Nowshera in 1823. and here 

* Hiqtorv of t l ~ c  Ptininh, pnqc 133. 
t Life in Miqsio~~.  Camp 311d Zennnn, pngr 87. 
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he had command of the flanking attack, which turned t h e  
scale in favour of the Maharajah, after the latter's. 
impetuous frontal attack had failed. After the battle 
Ventura's Brigade formed part of the force occupv;ng 
~ e s h a w a r ,  until the fine or indemnity was paid up b; the 
Afghans. From Peshawar the Campo went on toL tllc 
Icangra Valley and other places, collecting long overdue 
tribute, probably with interest, and returning through the 
Derajat on a similar errand, was stationed a t  Lahore for 
a short time. 

The next enterprise was the siege of Kotla. a great 
hill fort a t  the entrance to the Iiangra Valley, which, 
though it had before resisted all attacks, was now forced. 
to surrender bv the simple expedient, suggested by 
Ventura, of cutting off the river which ran by the foot 
of the hill. and supplied the garrison. This success, 
added to his ever-growing influence, so incensed the 
Sirdars, that on returning to  Lahore, they mutinied, and 
incited the troops to follow their example, Howeyer, the 
revolt was brief, for Ranjit Singh brolxqht down his own 
personal troops from the fort , and surrounding the 
mutineers a t  Anarkali, dismissed the principal malcon- 
tents, and fined nthers hwrrily. probnblv reioicinq at 
the opportunity, fines beinq a favourite method of raising 
funds. 

The next expedition was with Je~nadar Khnshal Sir@ 
to suppress a rrbpllion in the Gandqarh district, and from 
thence to take the hill fort of Srilcot, strongly held by 
Pnthnns in revolt. Having done this thep went on to 
I.'rshawilr, a i d  extracted a heavv fine from Yar ~ a l l n ~ i l e d  
Khan. whom Ranjit Singh, probablv with reason. suspect- 
erl of havinp instiqnted the rebellion. A year later 
Ventlira was again at  Pesha~var, this time being s ~ l t  to 
take from the Afghan Governor a verv famous horse named 
T,;lili. which Raniit ,  alnioqt a m,onomaninc on fine horses. 
desired hv any means. 

This time the attempt was unwccessful, Ventma 
being put off with the excuse that the horse was d e d .  



However, he managed to secure it later on. Of this anima,l, 
Ranjit  Singh remarked to  Captain Osborne, who saw it 
with him, that it had cost the lives of 12,000 men and. 
six lakhs of rupees, which we may believe ar not. It: 
seems very much exaggerated. 

A t  the request of Ranjit  Singh, who was desirous of 
being treated by a European docto'r for incipient paralysis, 
a Dr. Murray was deputed to  Lahore, and from the reports 
sent in by this gentleman, we are able to quote some in- 
teresting particulars regarding the European adventurers 
in  the service of the Maharajah a t  this date. Of Ventnles 

"72/1 Jnnuar?~ ,  1527 -One of the battaliclns under 
command of M. Ventura having arrived from camp, the 
Raja  sent for me in the afternoon. The battalion was 
drawn up in three ranks in  open order, and consisted of 
nhout 700 men. They were all Punjabis cf mediunl 
height, and loolied rer; se~,o~~-lilie They  mere dressed in 
red inrliet~ ivnile to fit: white troueers nnil yellow pu~qr ics ,  
with black leather pouches. The battalion went through 
several maneuvres, which the men ~ ~ e c ~ i t e d  adnlirnblv, 
especially the advance in 'line. On the afternoon of the 
5th the battalion was again drawn np for firing, which 
was done in a verv superior. style I n  fact, I nevelr saw 
i t  surpassed by ;in$ of our sepoi7 regiments. 

t " Yesterda,~ :i fternoon another of M. Ventura's 
Ixittalions was drawn up. The men are mostlv C;url:has, 
and it is called in consequence ihe Goorlchn Pnltan. They 
were dressed in ci;trl< green jackets with red fncinqq, and 
had shnlcos of ;I Enropean pattern I n  other respects they 
resembled the bnttnlion I had seen the previoiis-day, and 
did equnllv well." 

Incidentally i t  is interestinq to note that the uniform 
now \I-orn by the Cr~i r l<h~s  in the British service 117as first. 
: ~ d ~ p f - c d  hv Venturn to distinyuish his own Crnrlzhas. 

( (  76f h .Ton ?rnlSn. 1827. t-lf. V c n t n ~ x  is a fine Imliing 
young nlnn,  nhont 33 vc;lrs of age, very neat in his person 
---- - 

* Bfnrrny's I ~ t t ~ e r s .  NO. 68. To l~ ime  1 .  R n i ~ c c  115. 
t M ~ i r r a , ~ ' ~  letters, No. 68, TTolll~ne 16. Rnnge 1%. 
f blnrrny's lettcrq. No. 13, B o l ~ i i ~ l ~  18, R : ~ ~ l g e  125. 
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and dress, and wearing his beard long. He conversed a 
oood deal in French, and told me that it was at  his pressing b 
instance that the Maharaj ah consented to this interview, 
for a suspicion existed that I would trv to exert some 
uudue influence over him and his friende(hllard). . . . . . . . . . . . 
He was much affected when I mentioned Beauharnais' 
death*, and said that he had served under him in the 
,Russian Campaign. After some 15 minutes the M%ha,- 
rajah sent him away and then very earnestly asked me if 
I thought he was a Frenchman and a real gentleman. I 
replied that there was verv little doubt that he was ;t 

gentleman, and so far as I io~ild judge a Frenchman He 
was very pleased a t  this, and said that some people said 
that he and his friend were not real Sahibs, but Gorahs, 
and not real Frenchmen either." 

I n  1828, the brigades of Ventura gnd Senor Oms 
were sent to Icangra under Sher Singh to add thnt terri- 
tory, now vac8ant bj- the death of Sansar Chand, to  the 
Pun jab donlinions. There was a certain amount of fight- 
ing due to the forts of Terah, Riah and Pulhar being held 
for Sansar Chand's soil, and this having been overcome the 
brigades returned to Lahore. He next accompanied Sher 
Singh against Syed Ahmad Ghazi, a famous fanatic, who 
from a trooper in the Company's cavalr~r had now become 
a power on the frontier. and possessed a large following, 
with which he hara.ssed Peshawar, and the adjacent dis- 
tricts. He was actu;~llg in possession of Peshavvar, but 
evacuated it on the apprcach of Ranjit Singh's forces, and 
continued his depredations until 1832. when he was des- 
troyed with his entire forces by Venturn and Sher Singh, 
at the Battle of Balnkot in M ~ J T ,  1832. 

I n  the same year the French tl-aveller Jacqilenlont 
visited Lahore, and resided with Ventura for some months. 
He has left u s  some interesting notes concerning Ventura 
a,nrl the other adventurers in Ran j it Sinp;h's services, to 
which we .;hall orr:lsionally refer. Aholit this time 
V c n t ~ ~ r a  was  sent to the Derajat to cndc~,voilr to i.ecover 
:;rime 2!, lnlths of nlnecs, due from the Nawah of R:lh;l~;;tl- 
-- 

* Eugene de Beniihnl-nnis, d 1821. 



pnr, who had farmed the dist,rict from Ranjit  Singh. 
Failing t80 obtain any cash, Ventura renlised about six 
Ialihs from forced contributions, which so pleased the 
Mah:usjah that he made him Governor of the I k r a j a t ,  the 
conditioi~s being a revenue of 114 lnlihs per a111111111, and 
300 ca.v;i,!rv remonnts, the district being fa~m~ecl for horse- 
breeding. 

Though the amount was many times more than that 
demanded from Raha~val Kha,n, Ventllra managed to havc 
i t  paid without inflicting anv hardships upon the inhnhi- 
tants, and also improved the town of Multan, as testified 
to by Alexander Burnes, who wrote in 1836 :- 

*" The town of Multan has a prosl~ero~ls appearance, 
which is altogether attributable to M. Ventura, who was 
until lately in charge of i t .  Undier Haha~val Khan, the 
officers were guilty of the greatest extortion, but since 
1832, when the ~ l k h s  resumed it ,  the place has greatly 
recovered. 

?Mahomed Latif adds : " Ranjit Singh had an eye on 
General Ventura, whom he snspected of making :I great 
deal of money from his farm of the Derajat, but in con- 
sideration of' his good services and his excellent manage- 
ment of the districts on the frontier, the Maharajah was 
prevented from indulging his cupidity against an officer 
who was honoured alike bv the people, the officers and the 
Government. ' ' 

The contrast between this honoured est.imrttion and 
the drea,d inspired by Avitabile is great. Yet much of 
it. may have been due to the difference between the Pesha- 
wari, or Khyberee, and the inhabitant of the Derajat. Tt 
is doubtful whether Ventura could ever have managed the 
Peshawar district by such means as he did the Derajnt. 

Probably i t  was this success that induced Rnnjit 
Singh to offer Ventura the Government of Kashmir in 
place of Man Singh who, the Maharajah believed, was 
robbing him in the matter of revenue. There ;Ire several 

* Cnhool, page 183. 
t History of t l ~ c  Pulljab. pnge 465. 
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mentions of this incident in  the records, but so vague tha t  
we shall quote the following from the Calcutt,a Journal 
of 1835 which is copied from a news-letter we have been 
unable to find, and runs :- 

*" M. Ventura proposed a clear rent of I5  laklls of 
rupees for Kashmir if Mehan Singh were recalled. The 
Durbar remarked that such a. proceeding wollld be unjust 
as  Mehan Singh had greatly improved the country. , , 
This closed Ventura's excursions into Civil Government 
although we findt Baron Huge1 asserting that from 1835 
to 1837 Ventura was Iiazi, or Chief Judge of Lahore. 
There is absolutely nothing in the Punjab Records to 
support this statement, and we believe ii to be incorrect. 
for so important an appointment given to a. European 
would have certatinly been notified to the British Govern- 
ment by t,he news-writer. 

Nor do we find anv proof of Hugel's assertion that 
Ventura was Commander-in-Chief of the Khalsa Army, 
for there never ~ 1 ~ 2 ~ s  one rather than the ruler himself. 
The mistake may have arisen from the fact that  when, 
for the first time in 1836, Ranjit  created some Generals he 
offended Ventnra bv placing some as senior to him, and 
when he protested the Maharajah presented him with a 
pair of magnificent pearl and gold embroidered ctpaulettes 
andl assured him that he should rank senior to all$. For 
some time after their arrival, -4llard and Ventura dwelt 
in the old tomb of Anarlrali, from ~ ~ h i c h  Ranjit Sing11 
cleared out a Silrh Sirdar. This arrangement was only 
temporary, for as  both married, and Ventura set np a 
zenana in addition, the dual occupation was inconvenient!. 
On being approached, Ranj i t  Singh contributed liberally 
in cash and kind towards new residences, of which that 
built by Ventura still survives as the nucleus of the great 
offices of the Pun  jab Government. 

Calcllttn .Jonrnal, 78.75, page 407. 
t Travelu in TCnshmir, pnpe 317. 
f Mackinnon's &Jilitary Servlceq in Afghanistan, page 70. 



Ventura retained the old tomb for his zenana, and it 
is  said that during his absence for two years in France, 
the  inmates never quitted the building. It is curious to 
think that this ancient tomb, built to keep green thR 
memory and cover the bones of the cruelly murdered wife of 
Akbar, should successively become a powder magazine, tlre 
dwelling of a Sikh Sirdar, the home of two Eurouean 
adventurers, a zenana, a Christian church, and at  the 
moment, the storehouse of the archives of the Sikh Gover~?- 
ment a,nd its successor 

Of its appearance in Ventura's time we have. sevt:ral 
i~ccollnts;. Baron Huge4 writes (1839) :- 

*" General Ventura's house, built by himself, though 
of no great size, combines the splendou; of the East with 
the comforts of European residence. On the ~va.115 of the 
entrance hall, before the range of pillars on the first 
storey, was portraved the reception of the two French 
officers by Ranjit singh, consisting of manv thousands o f  
figures. The second room is adorned with & profusion c.f 
mirrors in gilt frames, which had an excellent effect. The 
third is a large hall extending the entire width of the 
apartments, and terminating in the sleeping apartments. 

" At a short distance behind the tomb stands a.n 
ancient tomb crowned with a loftv dome (that of Anarkali). 
'This is tenanted by the families of the European officers. 
Standing in the midst of the garden, which has been laid 
out with taste, i t  forms a striking contrast to the surroun~l- 
ing plain. " 

Barr, who visited the house ten years later. seems to 
have h , n  inore amused than impressed bv the mura,l 
,paintings :-- 

t" Adjoinin? the dining room is another one of some 
dimensions, lined from top to  bottom with looking glasses, 
which must have a pretty effect when illuminated We 
were suhse~llentlv shown into the painted chamber. which 
is illuminated with pict~lres of battles in which TTentura 
a'nd Allard have been engaged, executed on the chunnm 

TI-nvcls in  TZnshmir, e t c . ,  pnges 283-Sf. 
t 8.71.1. : Journal of a itlarch, e tc . ,  pages 78-79, 90. 
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(plaster) by native artists. The perspective of these s c ~ ~ l e s  
is most rihiculous. At the siege of Multan the glms are 
turned on end to allow the gunners to load them. The 
figures overtop the foundations. The cavalry a n  man- 
euvring in the air, and absurdities of a similar narll~~c 
are perpetrated tl~roughout them all, and no doubt afford 
 nu-h amusement to the gallant owners. whose policav has 
led them to assimilate their dwellings with those of the 
native population, for it can hardly be assumed that their 
taste is so vitiated as to regard them as ornamental." 

In  1837 Ventnra proceeded to Europe on two years' 
leave, and remained there until news olf Ranjit Singh's 
critical condition and approaching demise induced hiln to 
hasten back to the P~rnj:%b. He arrived n t  Ludhiana to 
find orders awaitin? him to proceed a t  once to Peshawar 
and sssume command of the troops at  that station, includ- 
ing the contingent provided by Ranjit Singh under the 
provisions of the tri-partite1 treatv-an agremient which 
bound the Rritish, Ranjit. Singh, and Shah Shujah to 
rnotnal assistance in thk matter of placing Shah Shnjah 
on the throne from which he had been evicted so manv veilrs 
before. 

This duty was much disliked by the Khalsa troops. who 
would far  more willinqlv have fouqht against the Rritish, 
than with them, and knowin? the critical conditinn of 
these troops, Captain Wade, who was in palitical charqe 
of the contingent, specially asked for Ventura as the 
" only man exercising any control over the Sikh soldiers, 
and more to be depended upon than any European officer 
of Sikh service. " 

Of the actual condition of the Durbar troops, mnch is 
written in the Punjab Records and contemporary books. 
and from these we need quote but one instance, as showing 
horn little they esteemed even Ventura, himself :- 

" A p r i l ,  1839.-General Ventura arrived from J..ahore 
hv express. His intimate knowledqe o f  the character and 
disposition of the different parties.made his presence 
va.lnable so long a.s he remained there. H e  is n.~tivcly 
engaged in assembling the force to accompanv us to Kabul'. 



He wished to accompany it  himself, but will not be per- 
mitted. We had not been established many days at 
Ko~llsar, when the Gurkh;.~, which formed part of Gienaral 
Ventura's force, 1untinie.d. He had been obliged to place 
their adjutant under arrest, and as he was a favourite 
with the men, they determined to  release him by force. 

" A large body proceeded to the quarter guard and 
demanded his release This wa:; refused by Ventura, T V ~ O  

ordered his guard and the Ghorcharrahs 'to load. ul)on 
which the Gurkhas desisted, returned to camp, .struck 
their tents, and with colours flying and band playing, 
marched out of camp, taking {heir two (battalion) glins 
with them. They proceeded to Peshawar, where they 
remained in a state of open mutiny, whilst a report of 
their conduct was sent to Lahore (which probablp troubled 
them little)." 

Barr adds personal details concerning Ventura. whom 
he describes as " a gentlemanly loolting man, who bears a 
high character. He is rather haughty in his mannerx." 

However, his stay a t  Peshawar was cut short by the 
death of Ranjit ~ i n g h ,  which caused his recall to T,ahvre 
for the same reasons for which he had been sent to 
Peshawar, namely, his influence with the troops. He 
rem;l.i~;~?d at Lahore, during the short reign of lihnrak 
Singh, and his successor, but immediately after the death 
of Wau Nihal Singh, i t  was considered desirable that  the 
troops a t  Lahore should be lessened in numbers. and 
accordingly Ventura was sent t.o undertake the subjection 
of the Kulu and Mandi districts. 

Operations aga inst these were undertaken i 11 June  
and continued until December, with the result that 200 
hill forte were taken, including the virgin strongLold of 
Kumlagarh, which was really a chain of fortified hills 
extending over twenty miles of countrv. For his services 
in this connection, Ventura was thanked by the Durhar, 
and granted a khillat of honour, in acknowledging which 
he describes the operat ions, mentioning that to discourage 
desertion amongst his troops he had cut of7 the noserr and 

- - . - -  - - - - - 

* Rnrr : Jourt~nl of n March, e t r . ,  pr\ccs 291-95. 
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blackened the faces of some half dozen who had been re- 
captured. 

Meanwhile, matters had moved a t  Lahore. The Rani 
Chand Kour, who had been proclaimed regent after N s u  
Nihai Singh's death, to the exclusion of Sher Ringh: 
Ventura's old comrade, was highly unpopular with the 
troops, Sher Singh being the reverse. The latter retired 
to Hatala, some 50 miles from Lahore, and thence com- 
lnenced to intrigue with the troops and the principal 
officers, whose support he secured, with tohe results given 
in our appendix on Anarchy in the Punjah. 

During these ghastly operations, Ventura, like other 
European officers, stood aside, but after the .fort had been 
taken, used his influence to secure the undisturbed retreat 
of Raja  Gulab Singh. As to his influence, the following, 
written by Henry Lawrence, will suffice * :- 

" After the siege, Ventura, who had now joined, 
commenced the distribution of money to those in thc rear, 
so as to divest their attention and attract their blood- 
thirsty, but greedy, companions from the Fort. By his 
coolness and tact, and by the influence he exerted over the 
soldiery, he seems a t  this time, and even more so dnring 
the next few days, to have saved many lives, especially 
those of General Court and General Teja Singh, now 
Go;ernor of Peshawitr. Ventura's own troops being in 
Mandi, his absence during the siege was less resented than 
that of Court, whose division sufiered more than the others. 
Ventura was Sher Singh's right hand man and deserved 
the greatest credit for his 'conduct at this time. He 
patrolled the city, cajoled or bullied the troops. and 
gradually introduced some order." 

But matters soon passed heyonil the control of any 
individual, for the spirit of insubordination pr-rlunlly 
increased to such an extent that he became convinced :hat 
the davs of discipline and order had passed and the 
Enropean officers become persons whose positio!) wars 
h i  qhlv precariolis. Resides this, Ventura had i ncor red 
the mmity  of C*nlnh Sinoh, an u n g m t ~ f i ~ l  retnrn for his 

Calcl~ttn Review. 1844, pages 486-8R. 
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intervention after the surrender of the Fort. and taking 
all things into consideration, he decided to tender his 
resignation and quit the Punjab. 

The resignation wits not accepted by Sher Sin$, who, 
however, permitted him to realise his personal effects in  
Lahore, after which Ventura took leave to proceed to 
Ludhiana and there sold all but his house (occupied by his 
wife), and jsgllirs to the British Government, realising 
Rs. 50,000 from the sale of elephants, boats, horses, etc. 
He then returned to Lahore. probably ic the hope of 
matters improving, but the assassination of Sher Singh on 
the 15th of September, 1843, extingvished such hopes as 
he might have had, and he finally quitted the Punjab. 

He remained a t  Simla until October 1884, settling his 
affairs concerning the jaghirs, which were in (:is-Sutlej 
territory, and ha.vin~ induced the British Government 
to undertake the management of them, sailed for France 
in November, 1844. Before going he settled Rs. 250 per 
month from the jaghirs on Madame Ventura, and in ac'di- 
tion Rs. 100 per month from an estate in Behar of which 
he was part owner. 

Having lost much of his money in bad specnlation~ ifi 
France, he decided to turn his Indian estates, or rather 
those of his daughter, and his house a t  Lahore, into ready 
cash, and with that view returned to the Punja,b in 184s. 
As he had been very unguarded concerning the Punjab 
Government, or rather the Resident's, activities. whilst on 
a visit to London, and also comm~~nicated to the Sirdsrs 
bv letter some incautims expressions regardinq - self- 
determination dropped in his presence bv hi,oh persons in 
London, his appearance was viewed 11-ith suspicion. Con- 
s ~ q ~ i ~ n t ! y  when he offered his serviccq for the sieye of 
Multan no answer was at  first retmned, and when after 
he hod pressed for one. n derid'ed negative, topther  ~ ~ i t h  
an intimation that his presence a t  the moment mas un- 
desirable, was sent, he was much offended 

However, in the end he mfinnged to settle his affairs, 
the Rritish parping him a lump snm of £20.000, and ?a 

12 
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annuity of £300 for his house and his daughter's jaghir.* 
He also obtained payment of Rs. 15,000 due as arrears 
by the Durbar, and with this returned to France where he 
died in Paris on the 3rd of ilpril 1858. He was given the 
title of Count de Mandi after the campaign in the hills 
of 1841 and in France was generally known by that title. 

In condusion let us finalp dispose of the le~ends 
current in France tha t  these adventurers left huge s~lrns 
behind them at  Lahore. As regards Ventura, onlv last 
yeart an application from his descendants was received in 
Lahore asking for an account of the large sums alleged 
t o  have been left by Madame Ventura. who actually died 
in poverty a pensioner of the British Government. 

* Punjab Records, Ventura file No. 22/4/53. 
t 1927. 
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CHAPTER VIII. 
PAOLO DI AVITABILE. 

Of the many interesting personalities which a study 
of Rsnj i t  Singh's European officers has revealed, none 
are more compyex than that of this Neapolitan adven- 
turer, who, commencing life as a private gunner of 
artillery, succeecled by ruthlessness, personality, and 
boundless energy, aidedl by undoubted merit, in ohtain- 
ing high rank in two widely separated Asiatic armies, 
and governing with success before unattained. and since 
unsurpassed, some of the most ruffianly, desperate, and 
treacherous peoples in Asia, and in so doing amassing a 
great fortune, though by methods of the most dubious. 

The inscription on his tomb a t  Agerola is an epit,ome 
of his career :- 

LIEUT. GENERAL PAOLO DI AVITAB II,E. 

Born October 1791. Died 28th March, 1850. 
Chevalier of the Legion of Honour. Of the order r,f 
Merit of San Ferdinand of Naples. Of the Durrani 
Order of Afghanistan. Grand Cordbn of the Lion 
and tlie Sun, and of the Two Lions and Crown of 
Persia. Of the Auspicious Order of the Pnnjab. 

Naples, First Lieutena.nt . Pe.rsia, Colonel. 
France a,nd the Pnnjab, General and Governor of Pesha- 
war. 

'4 njnn o,f .mntclrles,s honour nnd g701n!(* 

Trulv a.n imposing row of decorations? Certainly. 
five of the six were mere tinsel and glass. which did not 
sr~rvive their creators. t,honyll snch as thev were. they 
marked appreciation 3s well a s  the more ancient nnd 
stately orders of Ellropean chivalry. Even now. many 
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a prince or soldier, who bears a cuirass of parti-coloumd 
ribbons, may number amongst them some decorations 
almost as tawdry, though wearing them as proudly as 
perhaps Avitabile did his mushroom ones. 

A man of matchless honour and glory ! Well, of tho 
dead speak nothing but good is a charitable saying, but 
" the evil that men do lives after them," is another as 
weighty, and h i t  abile' s moral delinquencies and 
fiendish omelties are even now remembered in the dis- 
tricts he once governed, by legendb or grim stories. some 
of which we dare not publish. 

But, if his nature was cruel, and his morals worse, 
both were well suited to the men he dealt with, and ex- 
plained the success he met with in ruling them, for with 
such men, such qualities commanded obedience and 
admiration. We have spoken of the complexity of his 
nature, which, as shown by the many who knew him inti- 
mately, or dwelt with him a t  various times, is trnly be- 
wildering. Let us quote Henry Lawrence, who knew 
Avitabile very well* :- 

" I have eaten Avitabile's salt, and may not speak 
too harshly of him. . . . . . Y trangely inflnencing others, and 
influenced by them, ~v i tah i le ' s  histcry is a curious one, 
which, when his own generation has passed away, will 
scarcely be believed by others." 

Let us summarise the opinions of Hnvelock, Hnrnes, 
Mackinnon, Mackenzie, Edwardes, and Durand, all men 
who had either intimate acquaintance olr more than 
passing knowledge of the man. I n  his favour it  is said-- 

" The mildest of men, frank, gay, and good- 
humoured, scrupulously just to the peasant and small 
trader, a skilful and considerate officer, an active and 
impartial judge, a sober, strong, and resolute man, aud 
a perfect Solomon of judgment. " 

Now the reverse :- 
" A perfect monster of cruelty, who has adlded 

European refinements of torture and execution to the 
* Adventurers in the Punjab, page 474. 
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already long Asiatic list; passionate and revengeful; 
unscrupulous in gratifying his lusts; rapacious in extort- 
ing unlawful gains; hanging, torturing and mutilating 
without trial, a t  a mere whim; unm~rciful and unfor- 
giving; an immoderate drinker and a scoffer at  every- 
thing sacred and d5vino." 

It is a formidable and contradictory list, yet 
strangely enough there is justification for every item of 
praise or censure. For all the cruelties alleged against 
him, there is written authority, and we could quote 
many others, still legendary, but they are too gruesome 
or unsavoury for perpetua,tion, and quite enoogh is 
officially recorded to suit the taste of the most morbid of 
readers. 

In  judging Avitabile's character, the read1er must 
jud'ge for himseAf, bearing in mind Avitabile's nation- 
ality, always an impulsive and blood-reckless one ; his 
peculiar training in Persia, and the mentality and habits 
of the men, both Punjabi and Afghan with whom he 
served, ruled over, or dkalt with. I t  may be. that, as 
Honigberger remarked, Avitabile' s excesses had effected 
his brain, though of this the reader may form his own 
judgment. No strong ruler is without faults, for i f  ho 
were, he would be neither strong nor successful. 

Paolo di Avitabile was born a t  Agerola in October, 
1'791, the fifth child of a family of eight, and a t  the age 
of 16 was drawn for the Neapolitan militia, in which he 
served for three years, before joining the artillery of the 
regular army of Joachim Murat, then King of Naples. 
subject to Napoleon Bonaparte. He served in the 
artillery for five years, attaining the rank of sergeant- 
major, and it  is recorded that his career was creditable 
in so far that he was awarded a special 1neda.1 for 
efficiency. 

In  March, 1815, he was given a commission as seco~~d 
!lieutenant, on the outbreak of war between Murat aud 
Austria, but saw no fighting in that campaign, his battery 
being detained on garrison duty. After Murat had been 
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defeated, and had fled. Avitabile in the easy manner of 
most soldiers of the time, serving kingdoms whose 
destinies were in the melting pot, transferred his allegi- 
ance to the Bourbons. and was made first lieutenant. €Te 
then served a t  the Siege of Gaeta, a town in whicb. sorne 
of Murat's adherents still held out, and distinguished 
himself for bravery, for though severely wounded'. he 
refused to quit his battery until peremptorily ordered to 
do so. His soldierly qualities attracted special coin- 

mendation, and served him so well that when the army 
was reduced, Avitabile was retained on half-pay in the 
local militia. 

Here he spent some time in poverty, for the miser- 
able stipend was insufficient for even an Italian, and as 
Avitabile was essentially '' a red blooded man." he soon 
tired of such an ignoble existence, which held forth no 
prospects of betterment. Accordingly, he resigned the 
service of neither honour nor comfort in January, 181 7,  
abandoning, he thought, for ever, a military career of 
poverty for a civil one offering the chances of a decent 
existence. But this abandonment, though he knew it  
not then, was but temporary, for to quote his favonrit1e 
proverb, Alla Kerim,nst (God is benevolent) and .4vitahile's 
fate had been written by his hand as that of a soldier of 
fortune in strange lands. 

Meanwhile, he took up employment as the super- 
cargo of a small Spanish trader in which, after visiting 
many Mediterranean ports, he eventual'ly arrived in 
Algiers where a chance speculation promised to turn 0111; 

profitably. But unfortunately, an outbreak of plaqle 
compelled the vessel to leave before the project came to 
fruition, and ill fortune still further pursued them u 1 1 f  il 
the vessel was wrecked off the mouth of the Rhone. E v ~ n  
now his cup of misfortune was not full, for on it being 
foiind that the s~lrvivors had come from a plague-stric\<en 
coiintry, they were placed in quarantlne at  the Chateau 
n91~. 
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Eventually released without money or employment, 
Avitabile suffered considerable distress until he found a 
helping hand from some French officers, who had h e n  
dCsbanded from the Bonapartist army, and to ~ h o m  
Marseilles served as a port of exit or entry from the 
various parts of the world to which they had'scattered in 
search of military employment. One of these men had 
just returned from service in Persia, and his description 
of the prospects awaiting capable military men, with no 
scruples, in the East. convinced the young Neapolitan that 
there lay his destiny. 

Casting aside all thoughts of a sordid commercial 
carear, the more easily as i t  had failed him, he decided 
to attempt to  resume his earlv trade in an Eastern clime. 
and under a foreign flag. 1t should be remembered that 
some of the most successfi~l adventurers of the late 18th 
centnrv, such as Bonrquin, Perron, L'Estinean and De 
J3oigne wcre still living in France, and the glamour of 
their sllccess fired the imagination and induced a spirit of 
emulation amongst needy and adventurous ecc-Ronapnrtist 
officers. 

Avitabile secured a recommendation to the Persian 
envoy a t  Constantinople, and was bv him accepted 2nd 
despatched to Teheran. At  this period, the armed forces 
of the Persian lringdom were dividkd into two groups, one 
trained1 by Englishmen, and the other by Continental 
adventurers This peculiar position arose through the 
action of Fateh Ali Shah, who, in accord'ance with hie 
right of nomination, had chosen from amongst his numer- 
ous sons Abbas Mirza. All but Mahomed A'li Mirza, 
who I!-as the eldest, acquiesked in the choice, but he. 
announcing his intention of dispnting the succession by 
force of arms. withdrew to his governorship a t  Ker- 
manshah, and tllere raised and trained an army. 

Once again the age-old riva.lrv between the English 
and French in the annips of Asiatic princes arose, for 
-4hbaq Mirza secnred a nlimher of officers and N. C O.'s 
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from the army in India, whilst his rival brother engaged 
continental adventurers. Amongst these, Avitabile soon 
became prominent and was appointed to discipline and 
train a batch of Kurdish levies, the most savage and 
intractable of aU the Persian mountaineers. But, he 
was fully equal to the task. and did so well that when 
Mahomed Ali was killed in an abortive attack on Baghdad. 
Abbas Mirza took Avitabile and his command into his 
own service. Besides this, he gave him civil control of 
the Kurdish districts, from which he achieved the hereto- 
fore impossible task of extracting taxes. 

It was here that he first practised that system of 
ruling by fear, ruthless torture, and wholesale execution, 
which, later applied to the border ruffians of Peshawar 
and the Khyber, made his administration feared and 
obeyed. Such methods (when applied to olthers) gained 
the admiration of the Sikhs, who despised Ranjit Singh 
for that humanitv, which. though ruthlessly maiming, 
stopped at. death That Avitabile understood the men- 
talitv of savage Asiatics is shown by the fact that his 
personal guard at Peshawar was composed of men whose 
relatives he had tortured and hanged by the score, or 
hundlred, and that when his Sikh soldiers mutinied, the 
tribesmen, whose sons, brothers and fathers adorned the 
gallows of Peshawar, swarmed to his aid. 

His service in Persia was rewarded with the rank 
of Colonel and two Persian decorations But after six 
years. seeing no prospects, all the important posts being 
held by English officers, and being homesick, a curious 
complaint for a man so apparently callous and devoid of 
feeling, Avitabile resigned and' returned to Naples. 
Here he was very well received by the King and Q~~etlu, 
a9 rnuch on account of the costly presents he had brought, 
as of the reputation which had preceded him. 

Rut if he cherished ideas of suitable military evploy- 
rnent. he was soon disillusioned, for all that he received 
wae a trumpery decoration. Besides the deadly mono- 
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tony of a village home and its circumscribed orhit, soon 
disg~~sted one who had travelled far  and exercised power 
and command beyond what he had ever dreamed of. So 
Avitabile decided to return to the East. Baron IIugel 
remarks : - 

*" Avitabile was an Italian who had servcd some 
vears in Persia. A longing after his native home 
V. 
induced him to revisit it, b& he soon found it so dis- 
tasteful that he quitted it ,  and returning to the East 
again, entered the service of an independent Prince. 

9 > 

Having heard of Venturn's success. Avitabile wrote 
requesting his good offices, which were so exercised, thab 
Kan j it Singh promised employment condition4 on the 
candidate presenting himself at  Lahore and proving sstis- 
factory. He was advised to follow the same route a.nd 
travaIr in the same fashion as his predecessors had done; 
such a mode cnf progress being cheap and unobtrusive. 
Whether Ventura adivanced him the money does not 
appear, but he certainly sent funds and a guide to await 
Avitabile at Herat. Mr. Cotton, who has written a 
life of Avitabile, states that the diary of this journey still 
exists a t  Agerola, and that. the merchandise carried to 
have been cheap jeweliery, watches, musical boxes, and 
improper pictures. 

I t  does not appear whether Court accompanied him 
from Europe, but as the latter's itinerary commences s t  
Yezdl, we may presume that the two joined forces tl~ere. 
The improper pictures must have been the contribution of 
Avitabilr, for all accounts agree that whilst Court was a 
person of strict. morality, and refined manners. Avi tabile 
was emphatically destitute of both; the presunlption is 
that Court had nothing to do with them. In  Collrt's 
Diary will be found the full account of their journey to 
Kabul, and we shall take up our story a t  that place. 

On the 25th December, 18526, the newswriter a t  
Lahore reports thatt  "two French office,rs are at  Kabnl, and 

-- 
Hugel's Travels in Rnshmir. pnge 317. 

t Punjab Recorda, Book No. 73, lettor No. 270. 



on their way to Lahore. 'he officers are men of rank, 
one being a Colonel, and both are nlimerouslv attended." 

Presumably the funds for this show of prosperity 
had been advanced by Ventura, who knew that the 
prospects of the newcomers would be greatly helped by an 
appearance of rank and importance. As usual, Ranjit 
Singh kept them waiting several months, for it was not 
until April that the two were taken into service. 
Avitabile mas allotted a battalion of infantry on a pav of 
Rs. 700 per month, which a year later had attaineb to 
Rs. 1,200, and to cut matters short, we may add that 5is 
milit'ary salary culminated in Rs. 60,000 per annum 

Curiously enough, though an artilleryman, he had 
nothing whatever to do with the artillerv. He remaind 
in military employment until 1830, his cantonment being 
situated a t  Naulakha, about two miles north-east of 
Lahore, and adjoining that of Court Overlookiny his 
camp stood an immense Gibraltar-shaped mound, some 
400 yards long and about 300 feet high a t  the extreme 
end, called the Rudh-ka-Awa, and composed of the debris 
of countless years of brick burning. 

On the apex of this mound. which dominated the 
surrounding country and the roads leading into Lahore, 
Avitabile built himself a small but very strong fort-like 
dwelling. which Masaon records was very grot,esqlla!y 
painted. Later this house became the meeting place of 
the panches, and the centre in which the plots nf the 
Pnnjab -Anarchy were hatched and started. As with 
the other brigades, that of Avitabile was, in addi- 
tion to active service, often emploved in collecting reyence 
from defaulting districts, and ousting persons  who^ 
j aghirs the Xlahara j ah wished to resume or confiscate. 

We find Sohan La1 recordling that Avitabile \v;ls 
directed to confiscate the estate of the jaghirdars of ,Jesrota 
/tfhe Dozrahrr) during the absence of the owners, wlmm the 
wily Maharajah had ca,lled to court, out of the wag. This 
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unpleasant duty being iikely to  embroil him with power- 
full persons, Avitabile evaded i t ,  by sending a message 
that as the jaghirdars were at court, the Maharajah 
should personally acquaint them with the orders given 
by him. \Ve may remark that the estates were n o t  con- 
fiscated. 

In  December, 1829, Avitabile was appointed Governor 
of Wazirabad, and from henceforth always added a civil 
wovernorship to' the command of his military brigade. As 
r) 

to his qualifications for civil government, Herbert 
Edwardes records :- 

"'' Avitabile, though professionally a soddier , had 
all the genius for civil government of a Thomas Rlunro or 
Henry Lawrence, though entirely destitute of their 
philanthropy and Christian springs oif action. MTith t l ~ e  
intrigue and cunning of an Asiatic, the broader wisdom 
and self-reliance of a European, and the remorselessness 
of one who openly professed to have no God, Avitabjle, 
backed1 by a powerful Sikh force, was soon master of the 
Peshawar valley, and to this day (1872) is spoken of by 
the Afghans with the adnliration of a troop of iaclrals for 
a tiger. He stuck a t  nothing that would ' serve his 
ends.. . . . .More than once has the author (Edwardes) heard 
citizens of Peshawar tell how a follower, ~vho had insult- 
ed some inmate of the General's harem, was forth~vith 
ordered to be hurled from the top of a minaret. 

" The wretch was so hurled, but half n-2v over, 
caught hold of a projecting cornice, and thense $reanled 
aloud to r\vitnbile to have mercy for t i ~ c  love of God. 
Avitabile, unmoved, replied, ' &d may have lnercv on 
you if he likes, but I will have none. Throw him off the 
ledlge ! '  " 

tlawrence corroborates this version. adding that the 
man was induced to quit his hold by a forged pardon 
being shown to him. and on trusting'hilnrelf withir. reach 
of the guards, was cast down. But another version was 
told to 11s many vears ago, which placed the scene a t  

I .I 

Life of Henry L:~wrence. pages 292-!??1. 
t Adventurers in the P ~ r n j ~ b ,  pnge 69. 



Wazira.bad, and the offenders as two men who had inkr- 
fered with a villa,ge maiden who had c a p t u ~ d  A4vitabile's 
fancy. She acquainted Avitabile with the facts, where- 
upon one man was thrown from the tower and the other 
sown up in a raw bu1.l' hide and exposed to the sun. A 
terrible torture, for the hide slowly contracting as it dried, 
crushed him to death. 

We learn from Sohnn La1 that Avitabile ranked 
second amongst the civil governors, he of Kangra being 
the first. The instoructions given to him. together with a 
khillat of investment, consisting of eleven large pieces of 
silk, four Kashmir shawls, and a pair of gold bracelets, 
ran :- 

" You are to take especial care of all persons and 
property that are now committed to vour charge; to see 
that the poor and decrepit are well cared for and voll are 
also to furnish regularly a detailed report of all the land 
under your charge and the revenues and other sums 
collected bv , you*." L 

From the fact that master and man were ahvays very 
friendlv i t  is evident that thev were similar in m m y  
resnects. Both were utterly devoid of rnords, rapacious 
and unscrupulous, differing onlv in the manner of a t t a b  
ing their ends, for whereas -\vita,bile preferred direct 
force. torture, and multiple euecntions, Ranjit Sinqh 
practiced dissimlilation. cl~nninp, treachery and mutila- 
tion, resorting only to force when all else had failed. 

It is possible that Avitabile had narrated his experi- 
ences in methods of gover*ning to his new emplover, and 
that his experience with tKe Kurds impressed Ranjit 
Sinph with a conviction that in  Avitahile was a man 
capable of effectually ruling those turbulent districts and 
extractling a quota of revenue from them. 

-Qs to Avitahile's administrative methods and Their 
succem, much is to be found in both the Punjab Records 
and the hooks of contemporary writers, all of which go to 

+ Sohan Lal's Diary. 



NORtTHERN INDIA, 1785-1849 127 

show that though savagelv cruel to criminals, his rule was 
otherwise just and able. Revnell Taylor, one of the 
officers deputed by the ~ r i t i s h  Government to settle the 
Punjab, between the two wars, records that since 
Avitabile had left the place, Wazirabad had great.ly 
decayed. and the shopkeepers regret sincerely the days of 
Avitabile's " wise and vigorous management. " 

*" Avit.abi!e hanged for theft and it  was iinknown in 
his time, which the inhabitants speak of as one of grea,t 
securitv. Rerbert Edwardes, also commends the system 
introduced by Avitabib when Governor of Wazirahad-- 
intn~dncing books in everv village, " to prevent extortion 
on the part of the ~ a r d b  (GoGrnor) himself. or any of 
his officials, wherein the instalments paid were entered u p  
and signed by both parties a t  the time of pa,vment. These 
books were afterwards reviewed once or twice a year a t  
Lahore. " 

This latter remark disposes of the assertion that 
Svitabile made his monev , hv , either robbing Ranjit P i n ~ h  
or the rvot. How he became wealthy will appear later, 
but even then it  should be remembered that his legitimate 
salary was Rs. 60,000 a year, added to which were 
jaghirs and bonuses on revenue amounting to probably 
half as much more. 

A personal glimpse of Avitabile is qiven L by Wolff, 
who visited the Punjab in 1832 

t" TVolff took 11p his ahod'e with the f 3mons General 
Avitabile, a Neapolitan by birth, who spealis Italian, 
French, Persian and ~ in&ls t an i  with equal facility. He 
was governor of Wazirsbad. which he had rema,rltablv im- 
?roved. He had kept the streets of the city clean and had 
got u, beautiful carriage made for himse!f, and a fine 
palace. He was a cheerful, clever man. fllll ol' fun. ITe 
told Wolff at once that he would show him his ~ n a r d i a n  
ancels, and took him up  to his bedroom. the walls of 
which were covered with pictnres of dancing qirls. He 
and Wolff rbde o11t 6ne (iav on an  elephant. and he said : 

+ Political Diaries. Volume VI, pnges 2-3. 
t Wolff's Travels. Volume IT, page 61. 



' Now I mill show you marks of civilisation which I have 
introduced into this country.' They rode outside the 
town and there Wolff saw before him a number of gibbels 
on which were a great number of malefactors. 

" Though the man was full of fun: yet whenever the 
conversation was directed to important matters, he be- 
came most serious. Though he had amassed a fortune in 
India of E50,000, he was always panting after a return 
to his native country, and he said to Wolff : ' For God's 
sake help me to get away from this country.' " 

That Avitabile desired to get away is correct, :For this 
pear he had written to the Government olf India request.- 
ing their good offices in procuring his discharge, to which 
the reply was returned to the effect that as he had entered 
Sikh service without the knowledge or permission of the 
Rri tish Government, they declined to interest themselves 
in his behalf. 

The earliest mention of his peculiar methods of 
enforcing law and order appear in the Records on Decem- 
ber loth, 1830, which report thatX :- 

" Three men were found stealing in the city. They 
were executed by order of General Avitabile, and their 
bodies being quartered, were hung at  the city gates. An- 
other man was caught throwing oranges from a garden to 
a confederate in the street He was deprived of an ear 
and a hand, and' after h a v i n  heen paraded through the 
 street^, was turned out of the citv. 7 9 

I n  such matters he was a law unto hi~nse.1.f. fearing 
the wrath of Ranjit Singh no more t,han he did of that  
God. a.t whom, as S0ha.n La1 records, he was, to the disgust 
of the elderly Sikh sirdars, an open and frequent scoffer. 
One story showing how little he feared1 the Maharaja,h is 
narrated by Hugelt. 

" While Avitabile was at  Wazirabad not lon~ .  ago, 
six robbers were taken, professors of the Sikh religion, 
to whom Ranjit Singh thought himself bound to show for- 

' Punjah Records, Rook No. 1'10, letter No. 43. 
t Hugel's Travels in Tiashmir, pages 317-19. 
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bearance. It was an embarrassing circumstance, this 
being the second apprehension of the thieves. They were 
sent to Avitabile, with a command that they should not 
be allowed to escape again, and the same hour they were 
hangedl. The Maharajah sent for Avitabile in high 
wrath; all! his friends trembled for him, and when he 
appeared before Ranjit, he was asked how he had dared 
to hang six Sikhs. who had been given into his safe 
keeping. Avitabile answered that he thought it the 
surest means of preventing their escape, and obeying the 
Maharajah's command\. The king laughed a t  this answer; 
the event was not taken further notice of. 

" The Sikh who told me the story seemed to think it 
a good joke, and all the people regard him with much 
reverence. " 

He inflicited death for the most trivial offences. 
Honigberger relates that some Mussalman butchers, pre- 
suming on the presence of a Christian governor, broke the 
Sikh law against cow-killing , whereupon Avitabile hanged 
them, remarking that thoulrh - he himself saw no crimc in 
the matter, he was bound to carry out the Sikh lams even 
more rigorously than the Sikhs themselves. Honigberger 
also remarks that in his medical opinion, Avitabile had, 
through immodkrate indulgence in champagne and othcr 
excesses, become rnore than a little mad. " To this I 
attribute the pleasure he took in seeing people hanged. I 
knew him verv well, for I lived in his house for three 
vears, a.nd treated him medically.*" 

In  April, 1835, much against his will. Avitabile was 
appointed Governor of Peshawar -a task in which two 
previous Sikh governors had failed. The state of the 
town and dlistrict was as bad as i t  could be. Anarchv, 
murder. and assassination everywhere ran rampant, and 
a province which should have produced ten lalths of 
rupees as annual Fevenue, did not-realise a quarter of it,. 
No Sikh dared to move about except in armed g a n p .  
Robbery, murder, and outrage were not of dnilv, hut of 

Thirtpfive Yeclrs in the East, pnge 53. 
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almost hourly occurrence, and realising that matters were 
serious, Avitabile insisted upon, and was given, nn 
absolutely free hand. How he used it will be seen. 

Then, as now, Peshawar was the refuge, or resort, of 
the ruthless and savage tribesmen of the Khyber, who 
valued their own lives as little as those of others, and 
whose livelihood and pleasure was robbery and murder. 
Such men could only be ruled by one as savage and brutal 
as themselves, using power without stint or mercv. What 
the Khvberees were (and are) may be judied frc111 
the fact" that even after seventy-five years of British 
occupation, and with a large cantonment of British and 
Indian troops near by, no European dares to enter Pesha 
war city without an escort. 

I n  the civil station every European house must have 
a Pathan watchman, drawn from the tribesmen, as a kind 
of insurance, for none other dares take np such a post. 
These men are all poltential robbers and murderers, for 
though they will not rob the house they are engaged to 
guard, they will often permit their brethren to rob the 
next to i t ,  and have been known to exchange robberies. 

The military sentries move in barbed wire, and carry 
shot-guns in lieu of rifles, which latter are too milch of 
a temptation to the Pathan. The guardrooms are mioi- 
ature forts. I n  barracks the rifles are chained and locked, 
and armed patrols move throughout the night. Yet with 
all these precautions, bungalows are robbed, rifles are 
stolen, Hindu and occasionally. European women %re 
kidnapped across the border and held to ransom after 
their husbands or fathers have been murdered. 

It was not so after a few years of Avitabile regimb. 
What he grimly called his " silent sentries " reminded the 
prowling robber and potential murderer who paesed by 
the rotting bodies of his kinsmen, €hat he might 1~ 
within an hour or so, their equally silent companion, for 
Avitabile moved at  all hours, whilst in his train followed 
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the equivalents of " petit Andre and Trois Echdles, 
, Y 

and their assistants, who at  a gesture from their marter, 
would string up any wanderer whose scowling face or suu- 
picious action provoked a condemnatory gesture. A t  
times the mere fact of the man being a Khyberee, or re- 
puted " budmash," was enough to condemn him, eve11 
though others might get a trial, or the semblance of it. 

How Avitabile commenced his rule is thus narrat,ed, 
in his own words :-- 

*" When I marched into Peshawar I sent on in 
ad-vance a number of wooden posts, which my men erected 
around1 the walls of the city. The men scoffed at them, 
and laughed at  the madness of the Feringhi, and louder 
still when my men came in and laid coils of rope a t  the 
foot of the posts. Guns and swords, said they, were the 
arms to rule the city, and1 not sticks and ropes. However, 
when my preparations were completed, thev found one fine 
morning dangling from these posts, fifty of the worst 
characters in Peshawar, and I repeated the exhibition 
every day till I had made a scarcity of brigands and 
mnrd'erers 

" Then I had to deal with the liars and tale-bearers. 
Mv method with them was to cut out their tongues.. . . .And 
thin a surgeon appeared and professed to be able to ihestoro 
their speech. I sent for him, and cut out his tongue also. 
After that there was peace, and in six months there wns 
no crime in Peshawar." 

We are afraid that the following quotations rather 
contradict the General's last observation, for all who 
passed through Peshawar, bear witness that the ,oall~ws 
bore full fruit to the end of his term. Here follows testi- 
monyt :- 

18-50 -" The Government of Peshavrar is i n  the 
hands of Genera 1 Avita bile. This government, thol~gh 
severe. is all~qed t,o have kept the savnqe neiqhbours in 
more snhjectntion than ever was done hefore. Numerous 
examples of his met.hods were presented to onr view near 

-- -- ----- - 
Life of Av i tnh i l e ,  p n g e  533. 

t M~ckinnon'e Military Service, pngcs 245-IC. 
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the city walls. On the high palm trees on every side were 
well furnished gibbets, frail and wasted specimens of 
humanity being strung on beams nailed between the blight- 
ed palms. Those who had recently been promoted to this 
exalted position were favourites with the kites and 
vultures, who screamed long life and prosperity to General 
Avitabile, answered by the rattling of well picked skele- 
tons, which swung in the evening breeze. 

" The systematic method of suspension by the neck 
was not universally adopted, for the executioner varied it 
bv suspending them heads and heels alternatively. The 
ciassical punishment of skinning alive was also revived, 
this being commenced a t  the soles of the feet and con- 
tinued upwards, the victim lasting some two hours in in- 
tolerable agony. Cutting off limbs, steeping the stumps 
in oil and docking the ears and noses of the culprits were 
minor punishments ; and one tree was specially reservedl 
for the display of these human fragments.. . . . . . . .At dinner 
that night with Avitabile these gibbets so haunted me that 
I colild hardly persuade myself that the boiled ltid and 
trussed capons were not novel delicacies carved off a 
skinned ariminal. " 

*Another anecdote related to Colin Mackenzie by 
Avitabile related to a zemindar, who being suspected of 
revenue fraudis, had been sentenced by the General to a 
heavy fine. Proving contumacious kvitabile had him 
stripped and chained to a wall, whi'lst during the Decem- 
ber night, which is piercingly cold in Peshawar, a satellite 
poured water over the man. Yet Avitabile considered 
himself aggrieved by the result, for he remarked', " What 
do you think of that rascal; the scoundrel died out of 
sheer spite in order to rob me." 

" I n  cases of murder," (we quote a letter, dated 26th 
March, 1841, from the British Political Assistant at 

6 L Peshawar). a thirst for private vengeance is encouraged 
contrarv to the spirit o,f the law, by the relations of the 
deceased being permitted to kill the g~i i l tv  person. One 
revdting instance of i t  took place a short,'time bnclc. A 
man assassinated another. To obtain the price of blood, 

Life of Avitabile, page 640. 



NORTHERN INDIA, 1785-1849 133 

rlvitabile kept him in prison for some time, and then 
exposed him stark naked to the scorching heat of the sun 
and to the attacks of the insects, etc., with half of his 
ho&y painted red. As he continued obstinate, the mother 
of the slain was permitted to use her r i ~ h t  of slaughtering 
him with a knife, which she not only did,  but in heir deli- 
rious and savage joy, stooped down and drank two hand- 
fuls of his blood, as it welled from the dea.th wound. ' ' 

Some other Peshawaris who also proved obdurate to 
a fine were dealt with by being tied together and a wall 
built round them leaving no space within which to move. 
Each day they were asked to pay, and on still refusing, a 
few more courses were added to the erection. Yet, 
though without either water or food; they held out for six 
days, until the crowning arch had begun to close in upon 
them, before surrendering. Meanwhile, on the third day 
one of them had died, the others being compelled to 
keep the rotting body upright in their midst. Naturally, 
when thev were brought before Avitabile, the stench from 
the garments of the survivors was so dreadful that he 
ordered them; to be instant'ly removedl and buried to the 
neck in fresh soil, to " sweet,en them up." 

%till another anecdote is vouched for by the 
Catholic Rishop of Lucknow, who had i t  from the ~ e n e r a l  
himself. Some Barakzai sirdars had paid a visit to the 
General, and, the interview completed, had left for the 
Ichyber, whilst the General proceeded on his usual rounds. 
,4t some distance from Peshawar the sirdars dicovered 
that an article of value had been left behind and sent a 
messenger back to obtain i t .  Having done so he was 
leaving the Ghorkhatra just as Avitabile was returning. 
Seeing him to be a stranper. Avitabile gave orders for his 
inlmrdiate execution, and despite the man's attempt3 at  
explanation, this was done. 

Puzzled at  the failure of the messencer to ret~lrn,  
the Sirdars sent another one to  inquire as to what had 
happened, who, on being introdncd to tmhe General, waa 

Life of Avitahile, page 539. 



134 EUROPEAN ADVETTURERS IN 

informed that his predecessor had been hanged on suspi- 
cion, and informed that unless he absented himself at 
once he would suffer the same fate. When, angered at  
such treatment, the Sirdars themselves came back, Avit- 
abile expressed his regrets, and handsomely offered to 
hand! over the corpse of the man who had been hanged ! 

He looked upon the Kh-yberees as merely human 
vermin, whose most useful purpose was to exterminate 
each other, and one of the conditions under which 
Kalandar Khan, a local chief, held his jaghir from 
Avitabile, was a yearly tribute of fifty Afridi heads. His 
system of d'ealing with these people was to keep them 
eternally by the ears, and make use of the eternal blocd- 
feuds to extract revenue from meither side, whom he 
supplied with arms and ammunition, descending on bot;h 
when sufficiently exhausted and confiscating their cattle. 
,4 typical example of his methods occurs in the Records 
under date May, 1840X. 

" The Government of India protests most stronplp 
against the unwarrantable proceedings of General Avit- 
ahile in having preferred a demand against the Afridis of 
the Khyber for the revenue of the lands lying between 
~ a r n r u a  and the mouth of the Khvber. and in employing 
the Orakzais to enforce their demand; in having pro- 
hibi ted a11 jntercol~rse between .Jellalabad and Pesha~var. 
and detained merchants proceeding into Afghani~ta~n. and 
lastly in having seized some Afridi subjects of the 
British Government in revenge for cattle ph~ndered t l ~ r  some 
others of that tribe. If this condnct is not remedicd, the 
British Government will demand the withdrawl.tl of 
General Avitabile from Peshawar. " 

Just et the moment nothing would have pleased' Avit- 
abile better than the latter course, for he had1 accumulated 
sufficient wealth and desired only to get away with itl. 
Yet only a little later we find this same government re- 
quecrting that at any cost, Avitabile should be retained at  
Peshawar for by now the valne of his presence there had 
been realised. 

' Pur~iah Itecord~, Book No. 4n, letter No. 1.  
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His hospitality towards the officers passing up and 
down to Kabul was unbounded, &though we find a le tkr  
protesting aganst  the heavy expenses incurred, and ask- 
ing for a grant from the Durbar Government, who gave 
him an extra Rs. 1,000 a month. At  the same time, the 
Government of India, who had heard of the disgraceful 
orgies which attended some of the entertainments, direct- 
ed that none but the most senior officers were to be enter- 
tained by him, and gave the political officer an allowance 
of Rs. 500 a month, on account of the younger ones. Ban ,  
gives us a glimpse of Avitabile's appearance a t  thig 
period :-- - 

*" General Avitabile is a fine stout man, upwards of 
six feet high. He has a pleasing, yet determined coun- 
tenance, from which you can see at  once that when he 
issues an order, he means it  to be promptly obeyed, and 
woe to the man who neglects i t .  He wears a beard of 
grey collour reaching half way down his chest; and dresses 
very magnificently. His costume consists of a long green 
coat, not unlike a chupkan, ornamented with a pl-ofu- 
sion of gold lace, and with three rows of gold buttons; 
trousers of scarlet cloth with a broad gold1 lace band down 
the seams ; a green velvet cap with a gold lace band, and 
tassels of the same material, which he invariably retains 
on his head whether indoors or out, in accordance with 
the Indian custom of never uncovering the head. 

" Slu~ig to a heavily embroidered scabbard was ij very 
handsome sabre. the s&bbnrd of green velvet, but so 
covered with gold and stud'ded with jewels that only a 
small portion of the velvet was visible. The blade o r i ~ i -  
nallv belonged to Alcbar Kha,n, and cost him Rs. 5.000. 
As the setting cost another Rs. 1,000. it became r ~ t h e r  an 
expensive weapon. Behind him stood a couple of dimi- 
nutive Afghan boys very gorgeously dressed, who lnolied 
quite out of place with such a mascllline inrlividnnl as 
Avitabile. " 

tHavelocli supplies Inore details :-- 
" The ge-enernl. though in private life the mildest of 

men, rules the Penhawaris with a rod of iron, the only 

* Journal of :I M:irch, etc. ,  page 231. 
t Wnr in A f g h a n i s t ~ n  (Havelock), Volume 11, pngea 19697. 



136 EUROPEAN ADVENTURERS IN 

means of governing them. H e  has established his mili- 
tary, financial, and civil headquarters in the great sarai 
called the Ghorkhatra. 

" H e  particularly, and  very justly, prides himself on 
the excellence of his table, and keeps an  establishment of 
no less than eight cooks, a.11 well versed in  the mysteries of 
Persian, English and French cookery. H e  is a frank, 
gay, and good-humoured person, as well as an excellent 
ruler and a skilful officer. His  reputation as a slcilful 
governor had been well established in the Punjab, a ~ d l  
even reached India, when he was in charge of i h e  town 
and district of Wazirabad. and Ranjit Singh showed his 
usual sagacity when he entrusted the Government, of 
Peshawar to  him soon after its conquest. 

" H,e is a man of princely habits, and his dress, 
chargers and equipage all partake of the splendour which 
is calculated to uphold and give bclat to his authority 
amongst a people like the Afghans. He is very hospitable, 
and notwithstanding all his hospitality and magnif ic ien~,  
is said to have accun~ulated eight lakhs of rupees, all o'f 
\vhich is invested in British Government secu-rities." 

This statement as to eight lakhs mav have been, 
correct as a total, but the actua.1 closing account with the 
Government of India late in 1842, was four and three 
qilarter lakhs. How he managed to get his wealth a.way 
from the Punjab was simple, for, both the Government of 
Tr~dia and individual officers a t  Peshawa.r were badly in 
need of monev, which Avitabile lent. taking in exchange 
hills on India. As to his method's of administration, 
Captain hlar1;innon writes* :- 

" During: 4vitabile's first year of office in Pes5aurar. 
no less than 500 Silths were assassina,ted. I t  is not so 
nmv. The Neapolitan's vigorous method's are those hest 
snitecl to slich an unprincipled people as the Khvherees, 
who even in their remotest caravans tremble at  the verv 
name of Avitabile." 

Colin Mackenzie records that :-- 
t" Rrenlrfasting wit,h the General one morninp. I 

oharC;~d thnt a large box swnred by a padlnrk was let 
- 

Mnckinnon : Military Hervice i n  A f g h ~ r ~ i s t ~ n ,  page 200. 
t Life of Avitahile, pnge 639. 
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dbwn outside the window in a much frequented thorouch- 
fare. This was to receive dl petitions, none of whlch 
could la intercepted en route as the General kept the keys ! 
He hangs a dozen unhappy culprits; looks to t.he payment 
of his troops ; inspects his poultry yssds and dlomestic con- 
cerns: sets agoin5 a number of musical boxes and attends 
to many other things all before dinner at noon." 

As showing that Avitabile did not nlwavs hang out 
of hand Sir Henry Durand records :- 

* " I called1 upon Avitabile and found him employed in 
giving decisions with his judgts around him. TWO 
Kazis, two Hindus, and two Sikhs formed his conclave. 
He gave 11s a slcetch of his policy, which was amusing 
enough. -He never uses his troops to quell1 disturbances, 
but when two troops fight he offers them ammunition to 
fight i t  ant. Suspended outside the court were ghastly 
warnings to the disaffected population. Between the 
trees were double and triple rows of nnfortllnate culprits, 
hanging one above the other. " 

The letters concerning the first Afghan War existing 
in the original in the Punjab Records show that the pre- 
sence of ,4viltabile a t  Peshawar was indispensible to the 
Rritish Government, both before a,nd after the disaster of 
the Khvber retreat. The force furnished bv the nurbnr 
under the conditions of the tri-partite treaty, were more 
inclined to fight against, than for, the Rritish. 

The Sikhs greatly disliked the treatv. and loolied 
lipon their present allies as potential conquerors, mi t h 
whom conflict was sooner or lat,er inevit~ble. and, indeed, 
did their best to provoke reprisals. So hitter was their 
h ; t i ~ ~ d !  that even important officers, though with escorts, 
were derided, reviled, or publicly insulted by the Sikh 
troops. and me find a, nrlrnbrr of vehement lett.ers on this 
si~hiect, from such persons, includins Henry I.a\vrenre him- 
self. The Kha.lsa troops also attacked convovs of Rritish 
treasnre, on one occasion plundering three lakhs in  coin, 
nilit on another a concert,ed attacli was made upon the 

' Life of Sir Henry Dnrnnd, p ~ g o  83. 
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Commissariat godowns a t  Peshawar, which were looted 
and burnt.* 

It is only when studying these old papers that one 
realises how fatuously incompetent the great majority of 
the Rritish officers of those days, and of that expedition, 
were. Many of the juniors were no better, especially the 
politicals. most of whom had been selected for reasons 
other than competence to  deal eflectivdy with the vast 
problems entrusted to them. 

Amidst the welter of official incompetence, stupid1 
arrogance, querulous complaint and senile i nefficiencv , dis- 
played by most who took part in the foolish and fatal  
attempt to foist Shah Shujah on to an unwilling people. 
and the disasters which followed i t ,  three men at  Pesha- 
war stand forth as contrasts to the mediocre and often 
blind persons in ailthority. These were the Englishmen 
Lawrence and Mackeson, and the Italian officer of the 
Khalsa. 

Both the British officers knew how useful the pre- 
sence of Avitabile a t  Peshawar was to the British, and 
that the dread in which Sikh and Afghan alike held him 
was all that prevented the two frcm uniting against the 
British troops at  Peshawar, and cutting off all access to, 
or exit from the Khyber. 

Avitabile himself was anxiolxs to be av7ay> for he knew 
that with the death of Ranjit Singh the extinction of the 
ram-shackle Sikh ra j  was a matter of time. I n  a letter to 
the durbar, he bluntly informed them that i t  was impos- 
sihle for any person to serve a government which had long 
since ceased to enforce ;law and order and corninand respect, 
or even obedience. However, he added that he would' 
remain at Peshawar until relieved bv an efficient nrrson. 
for to quit the service a t  such a time was contrary to 
Ell ropean notions of honour and fidelitv. 

Captain Mackeson records, under date May; 1841 

Piinjab  record^, Rook No. 40, letter No. 98. 
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*"I have used every endeavour to persuade General 
Avitabile to remain a few months longer, as I am con- 
vinced that his withdirawal a t  the present moment will 
be disastrous," and the newswriter thus remarks :- - 

t" They are casting about everywhere for a Inan to  
relieve ~en6ra.l  Avitabile ; meanwhille keeping him pacified 
with promises of speedy relief. I t  will be difficult to find 
such a man, for he must, like General Avitabile, combine 
within himself the principles of stratagem, fearlessness, 
and resolution Such a man is impossible to find1, and for 
the present General Avitabile mlist remain. 

9 > 

For the narrative of following events we callnot im- 
prove upon the official reports, and with little emelidation 
or addition: give them below$. 

" May 1841 .-With the exception of three battalions 
of his own, raised and trained by him, and1 some artillery, 
the General's troops, like their Khalsa brethren, have 
long since disdained submission to authority as a wenl:r?css 
unworthy of a discipline of the Gnru. Maharajah Sller 
Singh dare not let Avitahile march against them " 

" General Avitabile's having possession of the means 
of paying the troops at Peshawar did not prevent a mutiny 
breaking out in the najib (Mussulman) battalions, caused 
by their having heard' that they were to pet only eiq1.t 
annas increase of pay instead of one rupee, as given tr, 
the troops a t  Lahore. The mutiny was only quelled by 
General Avitabile yielding to their demands. Reports 
prevailed that the najibs intended to malie n night attack 
on the Ghorkhatra, the General's restdence, with the 
object of making hinl prisoner. The gates of the city 
were closed from this date, and General Avitabile took 
measures for his self protection 1117 entertaining a body- 
guard of Afghans. These men were nct visible durinq the 
dhy, but they mounted guard on his residence a t  night. 

" The najib battalions, if they ever int.ended, did not 
carry into effect their threat and '  attack the Ghorl:t?trn 
on t h ~  2nd instant; their demands having hecn complied 
with. they returned to their dnty. I f  the reports had 

Pnnjnh Records, Roolc No. 40. letter No. 115. 
t Punjnb Records, Rook No. 40, letter No. 125. 
1 Pnninh Records. Book No. 40, letter No. 120. 125. 
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from the people of the town may be depended on, they 
inilulged in most abusive language against General Avit- 
abile, whom they threatened to treat as the t r o o p  had 
treated the Kashmir Governor. (He had refused to give 
the increase, whereupon they murdered him and h r n t  his 
body) - 

" Everything continued quiet here up  to the 8th inst., 
when the Sikh battalion, erronemsly called the Kashmira 
battalion, came for their pay. Colonel Steinbach, who 
was till lately in command of this battalion, thuugtl he 
never possessed much authority in i t ,  had left Peshawar 
on the 5th inst., in company with M. Court under the safe 
conduct of Sardar Fateh Singh Man, to return t o  1,ahore. 
An officer attached to this agency was present a t  the intrr- 
~ i e w ,  between him and a deputation which waited !xpon 
him on behalf of the battalion under his command. The 
hehavionr of this deputation to their officer was most 
insolent. Thev told him that the battalion iinderstood he 
.,.;as ghol~t, to leqve them to return to I,ahore, and that how- 
ever, insi-ificant and contemptible he was, he must not 
eunect to he let off so cheaply as this, and that he must' 
obt2in from Maharajah Sher Sinqki a favourable answer t'o 
a11 their demands. 

" On the 8th inst.. this battalion came to receive their 
p;l;y, as the naiibs had done before them. Avitabile met 
them outside the Ghorkhatra before takinq his early 
morninq ride. and after having read to  them the latest 
parwannali, that had reached him from the Maharainh, 
relative to their pav, and findinq no dissentine vpices, 
left his munshi to disburse the money authorised to he paid 
t,hern. Tn the General's absence the sipahis refused to 
rereive their nav, unless arrears clue t,o them from the +ime 
of Raniit Sinph had been pa id .  and commenced .~h!lsing 
General Avitahile in iinmeasuredl terms. 

" The General's mnnshi, seeing them intent on creat- 
ing n distlirbance, wrote to the General, begginq him not 

t f 1  think of  returning to the Ghorkhntra. On r~ceiving 
the miinshi's messaqe. the General a t  once returned with' 
t h ~  few horsemen and  attendant,^ be had about hirn. His 
nrescncf: over-awed the miitine~rs in the first instance, kixt 
t h ~ v  did not abate from their demands. Avitnbil~ arfrerd 
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to give them Rs. 2,000 per company on condition of their 
refunding i t  if not sanctioned by the Lahore Government. 
Two companies went away satisfied with this addition to 
their pay, but when the rest came to be paid, they, embol- 
dened by the success of their first demands, became more 
extravakant than ever. 

" Some required compensation for clothing they had 
not had, others wished to recover deductions made from 
their pay at former periods, as they considered, impro- 
perly. In short, they could not be satisfied. They were 
also supported by their officers. who in their zeal to support 
their men, refused to leave the General's presence till he 
had satisfied them. 

" The General, under much provocation, gave orders 
to  the guard in the Ghorkhatra to turn out the remaining 
two companies. The latter retired. though not without 
loading their muskets, and vowing that they would take 
the General's life. A f t e ~  th,\ir retirement to their camp, 
about three miles from Peshawar, the g ~ t p s  of the city 
were closed, and all men fdund in the nt,!~ h d o n s n g  to 
the Uashmira Regiment (of whom there were about thirty) 
were seized and put into irons in the Ghorkhatra, where 
thev still remain. Two jemadars of golandauz and twenty 
golandauz, who were detected in the act of having conspired 
'to carry off their guns to the Kashmira battalion were also 
seized and put into confinement 

" General Avitabile lost no time in collecting together 
a body of Afghans to the number of 3,000, giving the 
order to raise and command them, to Kalandar ICLan of 
Chamkanni and &'ale11 Din Ma  homnnd. 'I'llese parties 
have both been employed, more or less and countenanced by 
the officers of the British Government, and hence probably 
their selection for the duty entrusted to t>hern, which \\-as 
no less than to march dhring the night and having 
surrounded the Sikh battalion a t  Chamkanni, to massacre 
them to a man! It was held out to them as an induce- 
ment and a spur to their courage that every Sikh soldier 
had on his person at least Rs. 80 in hard' cash, which 
would become the property of the victors. 

" General 'Avitabile, on the evening of the Rth, sent 
two companies of nnjihs of his own accord for our pro- 
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taction, the mutineers having been heard to say that they 
would seize my person when all their demands mould he 
complied with. We should have been safer without his 
guard, in which we placed no confidence, and I shall cn- 
deavour, without exciting suspicion, to have thern wi:h- 
drawn. 

" This morning (June 8th) a rapid and sustained fire 
of musketry was heard in the direction of Chamkarmi. 16 
lasted from sunrise to half past '7 A.M. ,  md then became 
fainter and a t  8 o'clock ceased altogether. The reports 
that have hitherto reachedl us from the action state that 
the Sikhs have entrenched themselves during the night, 
having had timely intimation of the proposed attack 
upon them. The Afghans attacked without plan or 
order, and are said1 to have suffered much loss. Thev had 
driven the Sikhs from a fort they had occupied, hu i  they 
were still in possession of a strong position and the 
action has ceased to be vigorous on either side. 

" I learn from General Avitabile that his original 
intention was that the Oolasdari troops (tribal levies) were 
to have made a, night attack on the Sikh battalion a t  
Chamkanni, but this was prevented by the boisterous 
weather and complete darkness which prevailed through- 
out the night. A t  seven in the morning the battalion of 
Sikhs, whom 1 am now t d d  would have completely been 
taken by surprise, had i t  not been that a party of the 
Oolas left the main object of attack to plunder the'hundred 
head of cattle belonging to the battalion, which were 
grazing outside the camp. This put the Sikhs on their 
guard, and prepared them to receive the attack on the 
part of the Afghans. which commenced a t  daylight. 

" Thc Afghans gave themselves up to plunder im- 
mediately on entering the Sikh camp (naturally) and the 
latter, skeing thern thus engaged. poured in volley after 
vollev, and a yain adva,ncing, compelled them to retreat. 
I n  t(hi9 retreat. the Afghans lost some 41) killed and 
woilnd~d'. The Sikh loss is gtated a t  45 killed and 
woi~nrl~d.  which indudes four men. Much of their pro- 
pertv was plnndered. 

" The Sikhs wrote in the course of the morning to  
General Avitahile, expressing their regret for their past 
miscond11c.t and their unconditional surrenclcr and snF- 
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mission to his orders. They begged he would allow them 
to escape with their lives, and they would leave behind 
all the Government property in their possession, their 
arms and' tents, and also return all the money that had 
beell paid to them, or rather the payment of which they 
had expeoted the day before. As the day advanced and 
they saw their enemies increasing, for the Afghans, from 
their appetite far plunder, were collecting from every 
village, thev appeared to have becomu more and more 
alarmed and sent one of their officers to General Avitabile? 
offering to abide by his orders in every respect. 

" After the arrival of their deputy, and a t  the inter- 
cession of the officers of the two najib battalions, he agreed 
to pard'on their former mutinous conduct on condition of 
their returning to Peshawar, restoring the money they 
had exacted, and receiving their pay as the najibs had 
done. On their expressing willingness to submit to these 
terms, orders were sent to withdlraw the Oolasdari troops, 
who accordingly all returned to Peshawar, leaving the 
Sikh battalion to burn their dead. 

" 23rd J ~ r n e ,  184l.-The Sikhs have. refunded to 
General Avitabile all the money they had drawn in escess, 
and also the pay four companies had received. H e  has 
uil-en tliem the option of retmurning to the Yusufzai h 
collntrv or proceeding to Lahore on leave. They have 
derided to return to the Yusufzai country. In  recom- 
pense for the services rendered bv the Afghans, General 
Avitabile has pardoned all their past offences against the 
state, released a large nuinber of prisoners (otherwise 
destined for the rope) and allowed them to keep thcir 
plnnder. ' ' 

Lord Ellenborough, in answering the correspondence 
agreed with Captain Mackeson that t,hough such proceed- 
ings were hardlv likely to add to the General's pnpolaritv, 
there ~ s s  apparentlv no alterna.tive, for his position at 
Peshawar was nlreaiv so bad that nothing could make it 
worse. " Desperate diseases demanded desperate reme- 
d'ies and drastic applications. " 

In April 1843, Avitabile mas relieved and left for 
Lahore, where he remained for some months, engaged in 



settling his affairs, and closing his accounts, realising 
everything he possitdy could, and leaving not an anna 
behind him. During the whole of this period he resided 
in his house on the Budh-ka-Awa, and though the mound 
itself was still the meeting place of the conspirators, and 
principal actors in th,e Anarchy, none ever attempted to 
molest him, for his recent exploits, added to his past 
reputation, madb him feared. 

Wha.t happened to his numerous female entourage is 
not stated, but probably they were divided up amongst his 
friends or pensioned. We find no trace of any of his off- 
spring, with the exception of a daughter by a Pathani girl 
who held Avitab2le's wavering affections for a considerable 
time. Of this daughter, Lawrence relates the follonring 
pathetic little story* :- 

" So carefully was she watched that even her meals 
were conveyed to her bv means of a turnport, such as is used 
in convents. The v e e  shadow of man had never crossed 
the threshold of her retrea.t. It may be asked, ' For 
what high destiny was this fair d'amsel reserved?' 
Romance may conjure up a picture of a Prince or noble- 
man of high degree, but stern fact compels us to the 
prosaic fact that Avitabile married her to his cook, t o  
whom he gave a large dowry of gold and jewels, for he did 
not wish to be burdened with her in Europe. 

" Avitahile departed and: the cook and his little wife 
sank into private life. wishing for nothing more than to 
enjoy their wealth in peace. Rut they lived in times when 
the government was poor and it was 12se m n j e r t k  for a 
sl~hject to be rich, and such as were defenceless were easy 
prey. The traitor was one who owed Avitabile every- 
thing, for he had risen under his patronage from a 
humble clerk to a diwan, ultimately succeeding to the 
command of his battalions when the general retired to 
Europe. Knowing their wealth, he sought to gain favour 
by hetrayin? his master's daiighter, and having done so 
wag entrusted with the task of robbing the spoilt child of 
a11 her jewels and fortune, leaving both her and her 
hlrshnnd in abject povertv." 

Calcutta Review, Volume VT, pages 247-48. 
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This scoundrel was Pundit Jod'na Ram, for whom 
a fitting punishment was in store; this came s yeaT lat,er 
when he lost nose, ears, and fingers, a t  the hands of a 
sco~~ndrel as despicable as himself (Gardiner). 

I n  September 1843, immediatet~y after the death of 
Sher Singh, Avitabile left Lahore 'for Simla, where he 
called upon the Governor-General, who, in spite of his 
eminent pervices to  the Company, received him with 
extreme coolness, most probably on account of his m o ~ a l  
delinquencies and fiendish cruelties. So after a very 
short stay he passed on to Calcntta Here his recepticll 
was in mnrked contrast to that at Sirnla, for celebrity had 
eclipsed' notoriety, and the wildest tales regarding his 
wealth and exploits being current, he was an object of 
curiosity from European and Indian alike. 

The Calcutta papers of t.he period described him " as 
a d'ignified and courtlv old man, vary quiet in speech and 
demeanour, and apparentlp worn ont . ' ' His reticence 
was probably due to the fact that for nearly twenty years 
he had been out of touch with cultured society, if indeed 
he had ever endured much of i t .  From Calcutta hc 
travelled to  Naples, where he was received by the King and1 
honrured with the Cross of St .  ~ e r d i n a n d ' a n d  the title 
of honorary general in the Neapolitan army, probably in 
retnrn for many substantial presents, a n ~ o n ~ s t  whom were 
the two Afqhan L boys, mentioned by Rarr,  who l ind 
accompanied Avitabile from India. 

Leaving Naples he visited Paris, where he was 
received by Louis Philippe, and awarded tlre Cross of the 
Legion of Honour, and another title of General in the 
French army. From thence to London, where the East 
Tndia Companv entertained him to a* banquet a t  East 
Tndia House, a t  which he was presented with an address 
and a Sword of Honour, valued a t  300 guineas. in recog- 
r~it~ion of his scr\~icc to the Conipanlr during the Afyhnn 
War. He was also called upon to interview the Duke of 
Wellington, to whocl he confidetl milch. till then nnlmmvn, 



information regarding Afghan sffairs and tlie conduct 
of the mar. 

Whilst in London, he realised his securities, and then 
returning to Naples, made himself a home a t  Castelamare, 
where however, he lived for only a few years, as his 
pcculias habits 2nd intrigues wit11 the peasant ~ ~ o i n e n ,  
rendered liim obnoxious to the neighbourhood, who com- 
plained to the King, and the tatter, after inquiry, inti- 
mated to Avitabile that he had better seek a more secluded 
spot. 

Accepting the hint, the General abandoned his 
Castelamare mansion, and commenced another on the 
summit of a mountain over-hanging Agerola, which 
however. was never conlpletedl, for death met him when i t  
was about three parts through. The facts were for some 
time obscure, but Mr. J. J. Cotton, who visited -4geroln. 
for the purpose of inquiring into the circu~?~stances 
surrounding Avitabile's death, elicited' that the General's 
familv being determined to keep his money among then), 
got him married by Papal dispensation to his niece, a 
buxom young conta dina of nineteen. 

Trouble, such as was inevitable in such an ill-assorted 
union, was not long in coming, for before her marriage the 
qirl had carried on an intrigue  wit^ a village lawyer, 
which continued The facts were soon brought to Avit- 
abile's notice, and his threats of what would happen 
should he ever catch the two together must have precipi- 
tated the end, which came in March 1850. 

Being impatient to residb in his new home, Avitabile 
took up his quarters in one of the partly finished rooms, 
which, as the season was winter, was warmed by a char- 
coal bra zier. Whether by accident or intent, this brazier 
wag filled on that fatal night by crude charcoal. A t  
eleven o'clock Avitabile ate a heavy supper of roast lamb, 
which was also snspected to have been poisoned, and after 
this the servants, who lived1 in the village below, left him 
for the night. 
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At daybreak, the first who returned found his master 
groaning in agony, and muttering that he had becn 
poisoned. Whatever the cause, he was dead before the 
doct,or arrived, nor was any post-mortem ever made, which 
fact. added1 to the mysterious removals of property, and 
movements of his servants on the previous night. seemed to 
corroborate his dying assertion 

Whatever the manner of his death, none can say that 
he had not merited a violent one, for the number he had 
sent before him by such means is incredible, and un- 
doubtedly, all did not deserve it. 

Immediately after his death, a swarm of litigants 
settled down on the estate, and so protracted and venomous 
were the proceedlings that eventually the whole of the 
assets benefitted only the l a y e r s .  Even now, applications 
for information regarding the great sums of monev alleged 
to have been left a t  Lahore bv Avitabile reach the Oov- 
ernrnent, hut, as we have asserted, Avitabile left absolnte- 
lv nothing behind him, except a smirched reputation fo r  
morality, though a first class one as a governor. 
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CHAPTER I X  

CLAUDE ATJGUSTE COURT - SENOR OMS 

BARON DE RlEVIUS - COLONEL JOHN HOLMES 

Claudc Auguste Court, General in the Kharsa i l r ~ u y ,  
Honorary General of France, Chevalier of the Legion qf 

Honour, of the Auspicious order of the Pun jab, of the 
Durralli order of Empire, Fellow of the Ropal Geographi- 
cal Society of England', and member of many continental 
scientific and learned societies, was born a t  Grasse on the 
Mediterranean Coast of France in the yeas 1'793. 

Tn 1813 he passed out from the Military Pollvtechnique 
a t  Paris, and mas commissioned into the 68th Infantry of 
the line with which he sa,w service in Saxony prior to the 
battle of Leipzig a t  which he was severely wounded. 
After rejoining his regiment he took part in the operations 
in France against the invading armies of Russia and 
Germanv which resulted in the defeat of Napoleon and his 
exile toV'l3lba; after which Court was placed on half pay. 

-4fter the ' Hundred Days' he was, possibly owing to 
shortage of cfficers, restored1 to the establishment as a 
Lieutenant of Tnfantrv. In 1818 he resigned the service, 
his reason being that there were no prospects for officers 
appointed bv Napdeon, the Bourbon King having tn pro- 
vide for the returned Emigr6s, and the sons of the aristc- 
cracy; and he then left France to seek military service 
abroad. 

Preciselv when he entered the cervice of hfirza Moham- 
mad Ali of Persia we have not been able to ascertain, 
hilt it, milst h n v ~  been abolit the same time as Avitahile, 
with whom, though the men were entirely dissimilar 
in manners, morals and tastes, he made firm friends. 
R e  remained' in the Persian cervice after Avitabile had 



left i t .  But, as owing to the British influence having 
become paramount in Persia and the army having been 
placed under control of British officers from Jndia, 
prospects for the Continental Officers were very poor. 
-4vitabile must have had no difficulty in inducing Court to 
resign and accompany him to the Punjab. 

Fortunately Court, who was a shrewd, educated and 
observant man ,  reallrised that such infonnation as he might 
be able to collect and set down concerning the geological, 
geographical, archaeologica'l, and military details of these 
littk-known countries might be of general interest, and 
perhaps of particular profit, to himself. So he set down 
his observations in an Itinemrv, which, after i t  had lain 
untranslated for many years in the archives of the Govern- 
ment of India, we have been permitted to translate and 
publish. * 

As this document contained much of military value 
and must have been consulted during the Afghan and 
Frontier troubles of 1 8 3 8 4 2 ,  i t  must have been kept in 
the original French as a confidential document, and in that 
form safer from copping. Interesting as are these obser- 
vations, on their own account, they are still more so as 
showing how little some matters have altered for Court's 
accol~nt of the atrocities of the Baluchi robbers of the 
sand dunes of the great desert is exactly the same as 
that of Colonel Etherton written in 1927. 

Even to persons acquainted with Court the existence 
of this record was linknown and as showing how valuable it 
is, we map quote the opinion of the French traveller nametl 
Fontainier who, in 1843 wrote :- 

t" Some years ago an Ttalian namkd Ventura and a 
French Captain named Allard. a t  the sng~estion o f  the 
Russian Minister at) Teheran (ST. Mazarwit~h) followed 
this route and at a later date M Co~lrt ,  a Lieutenant of 
the Old Imperial Guard, who w2s far surwrior in  infnmla- 

* V i d e  Appendix TTI .  
t Calcutta Review, Volume IT, 1844. page 281. 
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tion and education to his predecessors, had followed the 
same route. I am not aware if M. Court took notes of 
his journey, but if he had they would have been of f a r  more 
value than those of Sir Alexander Burnes, for, indepen- 
dent of his being an excellent scholar and draftsman, 11. 
Court spoke Persian, not as most Europeans do with 
difficulty. and inaccuracy, but correctly. He was also 
well acquainted with Persian literature." 

Had Burnes been alive when these remarks were pub- 
lished, and read them " he would have been amused, for 
not only had he seen Court's Diary, but thus remarked 
upon it* " :- 

" M. Court had travelled overland through Persia and 
the Countries we were about to visit. He drew up a 
pr6cis of informations, and instr~zctions for nie, the result 
of his own observations. M. Court struck me as an acute 
and well informed person who is also an Antiquarian and 
Geographer. He was formerly in the service of one nf  
the P c r ~ i a n  Princes, ancl travelled to India as a native oS 
those countries 11-hich gained him the opportunity of 
acquiring the best information. He showed me the route 
bv Kerman Shah, Herat, Ghazni and Kandahar csnstruct- 
ed topographically with great care. This gentleman has 
emploved his resid~nce in the Punjab to complete its 
y e o ~ r a p h ~ .  To his honour, let it be said that he is al~vays 

7 , williny tn  rlisseminate his l<nomledge. 
J I The value of this " Itinerary so irnp~aessed Burnes 

that he advised Court to submit i t  to  the Government of 
Jndia by whom after i t  had been examined and reported 
upon hv Captain Wade, the Political Assistant at 
T,lidhian:r, it was p~irchased for Rs. 5.000 in 1833t :- 

Fiirther concerning Court as a, scholar. we have the 
testimony of Henry Lawrence who wrote $ , " M. Court was 
the most rrspertablthlr of a11 thi. French OWcprs i n  Raniit  
Singh's service. A person of high literary attainments 
and cautimls and retiring disposition." 

" Trnve l~  to Rokhara, Voll~me 1, page 135. 
t P~injah  Records, Book No. 116, letter No. 34 
1 Pun jab Records, Court's File No. 1836. 
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Court's Itinerary brings the travellers up to Kabul 
and  the protection of Nawab Jubbar Khan and from that  
point we continue the story until their arrival a t  Lahore 
They left Kabul in  December 1826, bnt only to encounter 
further trouble on their arriva9 at Peshawar for Yar 
LMohamrnad Khan, Governor of that city, was then in  one 
of his periodical revolts against the Sikh suzerainty and 
detained them in custody. Nor did they regain their 
liberty nntil early in February 1827, when Yar Moha.mmad 
Icbnn was driven to the hills by the Sikh army. He made 
peace later an6 was restored to  his Governorship. 

Their arrival at, Kabul was made ltno,wn to lCanj i t  
Singh by Ventura, and we note that this gentleinan was 
not above a :lmit.tle inexactitude in  his cndeavo,ur to  forward 
the interests of his friendk, fo'r he told Dr. Murray that 
one of the gentlemenX " was a cousin german of his and 
had come to India for the purpose of seeing him and had 
no intention of entering the Raja's service. He had been 
a Colonel of the Imperial Guard under Napoleon ...... . ..I 
rather think that he has heen iilvitecl to co~ne to Indix by 
his friends here. and that he mill have the orgnnisation of 
the Artillery confided to him on his arrival." 

The description exactly fits neither Conrt nor .%:i~- 
abile, though -4vitabilr3 was the artilleryman. Yet not to  
him, but to Conrt, the infantryman, was the " organisation 
of the Artillery confided ", whilst Avitabile was given an 
infantry battalion only, for the tinm being. Court was also 
given an infantry battalion, but, in addition, became the 
Ordnance Officer of the Khalsa Army, a position for which 
his scientific acquirements admirnblv suited him. 

As to lvllat he accomplished in this direction there 
- 

is abundant testimony, some of which we will1 qnate. 

Thorbzrrnt .-" The cannon taken during the Sikh W a r  
were beautifullly made a.nd exquisitely finished, and being 
of much heavier mctal considerably outranged the 1ip;hter 
guns used by the British." 

" filurrny's letters, No. 32, Volnnie 19, Range 125. 
t Punjnh in Pence and War, pnge 352. 
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Of one of the largest made under Court's supe~ivision 
- 

&Iuhammad La tif has preserved the inscription, engraved 
upon it in  Persian. I ran-* 

" By the grace of the immortal, in the Reign of the 
Great l\lonarch, Ranjit Singh Bahadur (mav his state and 
monarchy last for ever) this Gun named 1,alal was cabt 
in Sambat 1887 (A. D. 1830 the gear of the holy 
Rilrramajit) by the Noble and Sacred Order of His Majesty 
under the superintendence of the Sahib possessing 
wisdom like Aristotle, the Plato of the Age, Monsieur 
General Coi~rt ,  the Valiant, in the Man~zfactory of the 
Tdgah, under the Guidance of Fasl --lli. Comnlandant, the 
pupil of the said Sahib." 

The greater part of the guns that were cast under 
Court's supwvision and survivedl the Sikh \va.rs were 
sent to Calcutta after their coi~cl.usion. They remained 
in the Arsenal Stmore Yard for manv years until, when the 
great war caused a short,age of munition mn.teria1, they 
were melted clo~vn. Other testimonv as to Court's 
abilities as an Ordnance Officer will be found in 
Chapter 111, and besides we may quote Raron Hugel. and 
-Alexander Burnes. 

Huge1 writrest :--" Having observed the fearful havoc: 
caused by such mis~iles (shells) Ranjit Singh ordered his 
European Officers to provide the same for his Artillery, 
and the first shell which exploded was wortjh Rs. 30,000 
to Colonel Court." 

With the usual generosity of st,atement Gar diner 
maltes the sum Rs. 50,000, a sum often quoted hut, know- 
ing Ranj it Singh's habitual parsimony, the sum mention- 
ed by Rurnes seems to be the actual amonnt. 

" Lahore, 18.31.-They are unacquainted with the 
a r t  of fusing iron at Lahore, and all their shells are  
cast in brass. The day we arrived there, . Court. 
evhihited one to the Maharaja and was rewarded lor his 
success a purse sf Rs. 5.000, je~vels and other gifts."$ 

History of Lahore, page 387. 
t Travels in K a ~ h m i r ,  page 329. 
: Travels in Bokhara, Vohime TI, page 14. 
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On first entering the service Court was given a. salary 
of Rs. 500% per month which speedily increased until four 
years later i t  reached Rs. 2,500 at which sum his salary 
remained fixed, but, from time to time specially good 
vr~rl< was rewarded by Jaghirs which eventualmly gave an  
addition of Rs. 650 monthly. He was promoted l o  
General in 1836 in company with seven others of whoill 
Ventura was the only other European, Allard having 
only the courtesy title and Avitabile only attaining t,hat 
rank after the death of Ranjit Singh. 

I n  1833 the whole of the Khalsa Army was re- 
organised on the model of the " Francese Campo " into 
brigades composed of three or four infantry battalions, 
a regiment or so of cavalry and a batterv or two of 
artillery according to strength, though the artillery 
always remained semi-independent until after the dkath 
of the Maharaja, who, as we have already remark~c!, 
never entrusted the European Officers with the indepen- 
dent command of artillery uni.ts. 

These brigades were cantoned, or quartered in a circle 
around Lahore, those of Allard and Ventura being a t  
Anarkali, that of Avitabile a t  Naulalcha and that of Court 
a t  Begumpura, which is now knolvn by its resuscitated 
hloghal name of Moghalpnra. The brigades of the 
Indian Generals were stationed a t  Mian Mir or what. is 
known as Lahore Cantonment. 

The sites of the Cantonments of Avitabile and Court 
are now covered by the North-Western Railway Staticn 
Yard, Stores and Works. That of Naulakha is now the 
Goods Yard and the Station of Lahore, whilst tha.t of 
Hegumpura is now occupied bv the great Locomotive and 
Carriage and Wagon Worlis OF this Ra,ilway system. 

Within the latter still stands the 17th century tomb 
of Nasrat Ali Khan, once a great Amir or courtier of 
Shahjnhan and Aurangzelo. The ancient ~na~~so lenm then 

Rhnlsn Durbnr Recorcls. Pollime I ,  page 33. 
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lying solitary and deserted, a dwelling place a t  will for 
wandering Akalis, Faqirs or beggars, Ranjit Singh, in 
accordance with his usual custom of desecrating Mohama- 
dan tombs, made over to  Court as a residence. He fitted 
the interior with temporary structures and arcunc! it 
built an enclosure in one corner of which was built a 
small mosque in which his Kashmiri wife used to worship 
until her death in 1837 when she was buried beneath the 
floor. 

Though the interior has been cleared and all the 
additions long since swept away, the old mausoleum still 
stands grey and towering in  the centre of the works, its 
dome resounding by day to the clang of automatic 
rivetters, the shriek of the shunting whistles or the 
rnrnble of passing wagons. 

Occasionally when passing the Tomb by night in the 
course of a solita.ry walk, we have stood and pondered 
amid the unaccustomed silence on the manv denizens 
who have occupied i t  since he, in whose honour i t  was 
built, was 12id beneath its floor. Since the decay of the 
Mogul Empire, it has been the temporary abode of  many 
and for years the permanent home of an alien adventurer 
and his gentle Kashmiri wife. Since Court departed, i t  
has been occupied by a Sikh Sardar, then made a store 
house for British military material and finally the dump- 
ing ground for scrap iron and discarded machinery. 

A few years ayo the plare was cleared out and re- 
paired and now surrounded by an iron fence, put up  by 
the Railway Authorities, it stands awaiting its turn to 
follo~v the hundreds of similar structures which once 
covered the neighbourllood, of which but n few remain, 
most having fallen to mins, or, worse still, bcen destroyed ,' 
to make railwav b ~ l l i l ~ t  manv vears ago. "Ehen Fugaces. 

A s  with the other Ellropean Officers of the Rhalsa 
Arrriv we are unable to definitelv trace C'.ourt's war 
2rrvires FTomevcr, he \vas present a t  the ta1:ing of 
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Teshawar in 1834, and at the battle of Jamrud in May 
1837 the timely arrival of his brigades saved the Sikhs 
from utter annihilation by the Afghans. Of his personal 
appearance Barr writes* :- 

" General Court was very well dressed but, beding a 
short thick man well pitted with the small pox, he did not 
tt~jpeal* to the same advantage as Avitabile. The first 
glimpse I got of him impressed me with his resemblance 
to a rough and ready sailor, and the same impression was 
prevalent througl~out our party. H e  wore an  open IIorse 
Artillery full dress jacket, displaying beneath it a red1 
waistcoat, both garments prof~isel decorated w lth gold 
lace. His trousers were of scarlet cloth wit11 a bru:~d gold 
band of lace down the seams and a green vdvet cap wlth 
a gold1 lace band and tassel, but wlthout a peak. He 
carried a very hai:dsolnc. sabre in a green velvet scabbard 
with gold mountings." 

Court's forte being more that of a departlnental 
administrator than of an active soldier capable of 
contr~lling the disorderly soldiers of the Khalsa Army, 
he was quite unable to manage them in the exceptional 
times which followed' after the death of Ranjit  Singh in 
1839. Consequently his briga.de quickly became the 
most ruffianly and turbulent amongst a, force. itself rather 
distinguished in this direction. They were prominent in 
the attack on Lahore Fort in January 1841 and in the 
appalling outrages perpetrated on the inhabitants of 
Lahore both before and after, and following that,  in every 
adventure promising blood and plunder. 

They had not long returned from the usual tour of 
duty a t  Peshawar when it  was rumaured that Sher Singh 
was about to make a hid for the throne. Knowing the 
charncter of Court's division the Durhar decided to return 
it to Penhawar to be o i ~ t  of the wav of temptation. ? j u t  
givirla an order by the norbar  and having i t  abed, mere 
a t  this p.riod verv different thin\- and  Conrt's Fir is ion 

* Jotirnnl of a March, page 232. 



156 EUROPEAX ADVENTURERS Y.& 

flatly refused to leave Lahore and its possibilities. TTnder. 
date' 3rd of January 1841 we read thatX :-.- 

" Ceneral Court has been directed to proceed to 
Peshamar with his battalions, but had declined cjn 'he 
plea that his officers refuse to go again out of their turn. 
Thc state of affairs a t  the Lahore Court is such as to 
render i t  almost impossible for the pnincipal foreign 
officers there present to avoid suspicion of being pronil- 
]lent political characters. The most retiring and c:~utious 
of all, M. Court, is regarded as  inclining to the cause of 
Sher Singh, and in consequence i t  is co~teinplatrd to ~ n d  
him to an appointment in the Knlu or Mandi Hills. " 

However, the latter intention was not carried out for 
Court's men were as equally averse to Kulu as to Peshawas 
and a-gain scented the intention to get them out of the way. 
Consequently when on morning of the 13th of January 
1841 Sher Singh invoked the aid1 of the troops at Nanla!<ha 
and Regimpura, Court's division was the first t,o join him 
and the most prominent in the attack on Fort Lahore. As 

- 

the subsequent proceedings are fully deta.iled in our 
Appendix, the Anarchy in the Punjab, we need here only 
speak of the consequences to himself of C o ~ ~ r t ' s  abstention 
from active leadership. I t  is said, that t h n ~ ~ g h  his sym- 
pathies laid with Sher Singh, he had taken rrn oat,h of 
fidelity to the reiznin? a~lthorities. and being an honour- 
able man held aloof. 

The news letter from Lahore of the 26th of January 
1831 statest :-"M. Court is obliged to keep away from 
the capital, or to protect his life with Artillery. The 
mutineers of the regular army usuallv discriminate 
between those who have had no consideration for them, 
and those who have beer) abusive, fraudulent, or tyranni - 
I .  Europeans and Indians suffer atlike. M. Court 
seems especially to have incurred the rnnconr of the- 
troops ! " 

" T , r ~ h o r ~ ,  27th bnnunrl / ,  1841: .-The latest outrage 
has heen n f n r i o ~ ~ s  :qttncJc on the house of M. Court (at -- 

* P l ~ n i n h  Records, Rook No. 161, letter No .  2. 
t Pnniah Rerords. nook No.  151, letter No .  20. 
$ P11nia1) Recordq. Rook No. 151, letter N o .  22. 



Begumpura) caused by the armed resistance offered bv liis 
servants to a band of plunderers. M. Court made his 
escape to Ventura's house, who, when attacked, had 
recourse to Artillery to protect his friend. I t  appears 
that the Troops suspect Court of being instrumental in 
hasi l~g the Rs. 4 a month increase of pav promised by 
Sher Singh cut down to Rs. 2. " 

Court took refuge at  Ferozepnr in British Territory 
and there resided with Henry Lavrencc and other British 
Officers for nearlv twelvle months. He spent most of the 
time in endeavouring to secure his arrears of pay an~ount- 
ing to Rs. 60,000. In  so doing, he applied to the Gov- 
ernment of India for assistance hut thev, though consent- 
ing to forward his letters to Sher Singh, did so witholit 
any endorsement, remarking that the matter was purely a 
perso~ial one between Court and1 the Maharajah, and 
also t.hat as he had entered the Punjab in the first place 
without their permission.. thev could not be expec*teti t,o 
interfere on his behalf. 

Evenutally Court ~7as  paid Rs. 7,000 of his arrears 
but naturally not being satisfied with this ventured on ,z 

t r ip  to Lahore for a personal conference with Maharaja 
Sher Pingh. However, the enmity of his men was no less 
than formerly, for no sooner dlid they heax of his presence 
in Lahore with Ventura, than they again besieged 
Ventura's house and were 0111~ driven off when he turned 
his guns upon them. 

TTltimately Sher Singh who was very loath, in view 
of the treacherous follrs around him, to lose anv of the 
trust of the European Officers managed to pat'cl~ up a 
peace for on the 9th of Fcbrnarg 1842 we read that* :- 

" The Maharaja has induced General Court's men to 
receive him a t  Peshawar, and he has returned to his 
division. But nothing will renllv reconcile him to them. 
after the treatment he  has receivhd from them ; esprcinllu 
as this concesqion has been run: from them hy roncessions 
and supplications " 

Punjnb Records, Roolr No. 151. letter KO. '19. 



158 EUROPEAX ADVENTURERS IN 

Though Court was with his men, he was decidedly 
not of them for they treated him with indifference or 
contempt. Nor was he alone f w  Colin Mackenrie 
remarked a.t this period that :-" The sons of the Khalsa 
have long since regarded subordination or obedieuce to 
orders as a weakness unworthy of them." As for Court 
in particular, under date the 9th of Mav 1842 we read 
thatX :- 

c c  The trcops of the L)~?rbxr are verv insubordinate and 
insolent. The battalions of Generals "court  and P a , t a p  
Sinqh are the verv worst. Neither of these Officers though 
ncminallv in command hare any influence whatever o w r  
their me;." 

Henry 1.awrence in a l'etter written in response to i lTI  

appeal from Co~lr t  for testimony as to his character and 
service to the British a t  this pe.riod writes :- 

< c .June 1845.-General Court has called upon me for 
testimony as to his service in the Khyber. IIe certainly 
was present a t  the head of his division on the dav when 
entrance to the Khvber was forced, when the" Sikhs 
having the left. attack lost about 2,000 men killetl and 
\voiinded. He had a double danger to contend with in the 
hatred of his men, inasmuch a s  he had just returned to  
his command after twelve months exile in British territory. 
On that occasion he took refuge with me a t  Ferozepur 
and for rnany months refused to return to his mutirrous 
battalions, and not without cause, for they have savagely 
murdered one European Officer and ill-treated others. 

" At Peshawar they almost daily insulted myself and 
Ca.ptain Mackeson and took Court to task for receiving 
v i ~ i t s  from me. Under such circumstances General 
Colirt'g pcrsonal influence must have been verv small, but 
T have no reason to believe that it WR,S used ot,hew~ise than 
on our behalf. Perscnally I have always fonnd him a 
coil r*troiis and' ~entlemn~nlike person, and it was under 
protection of his division that I returned from Ali Masjid 
f f ~ ~  t l : 1 1 r  :! ftcr the Khyber was carried." 

Court's File, letter No. 198, e t  8 e q .  



I n  June 1343 C o u ~ t ' s  Brigade scenting trouble 
a t  Lahore returned from the Frontier without permission 
and again disting~~ished itself by pre-emincnce amongst 
the disorderly elements in  the army. The authority of the 
officers, whether Indian or European, was set a t  naught 
except, curiously enough. when a t  exercise or on active ser- 
vice, in which latter cases the " Panches " in whom all 
authority was vested, insisted upon obedience, realising its 
necessity. 

Such being the case the whole of the better class of the 
Eu~oopeen Officers either resigned or took leave, leaving 
only a few of the lower class Europeans or Eurasians who 
being either deserters, or " domiciled by marriage)" 
could not, or would not, quit the Punjab. 

I n  September 1843 the assassination of Rher Singh 
warned Court tllat his own situation was precarious so 
without either resigning or asking for leave he again t001i 
refuge at Ferozepur. This action was most unfortunate, 
for Pandit Julla, then in supreme authority, took adva.n- 
tage of i t  to declare Court s deserter who by such action 
h;ld forfeited his Jagirs, and supplemented this by 
flirther declaring that, as these Jagirs had been conferrecl 
on condition of military service, which bv reason of his 
desertion Court could not now render, they were for- 
feited'. 

This ruling was wrong, for these Jagirs had been 
given as rewards for services rendered. However, the 
British Government, to whom Court appealed as heirs l o  
the Khalsa, upheld the ruling and Court never rewired any 
compensation for the loss of his Jagirs. Nor was he any 
luckier roncerning the additions to the Tomb he had lived 
in so long for, after his departure, the troops looted his 
hoilsc and later the buildings fell into ruin-for want of 
occupation. Resides this the Government of India 
brought forward the evidence of a.n old Durbari to show 
that these addit.ions and a1t)erations had heen carried out 
by Ranjit Singh a t  his own expense. 
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Appareiltly he had managed to collect his arrears for 
in all the correspondence he does not allude to any due to 
him. And, as for a.bout sixteen years his pay averaged 
between Rs. 30,000 and Rs. 40.000 per annum, oP which 
beinq L of simple and abstemious habits he could scarcely 
have spent half, he must have left India a fairly wealthy 
man. On leaving India he took with him his second 
Kashmiri wife who had become a Christian and was 
married to  her by the Catholic Archbishop of Marceilles 
in June 1844 

He died a t  Grasse in 1861. 

The best educated of the four principal Frenchrrrt.11 
he was specially useful to1 Ranjit  Singh as an Ordnance 
Officer. The guns he had so well made were eqnal,ly well 
served by the Khalsa Artillerv in the Sili-11 Wars of 1846-- 
49 and proved most destructive to the British -4rmy. 

Senor Oms. 

But for the tragic conclusion of his  hrief career, this 
unlucky person wo~lld certainly have risen high in the 
military service of Hanjit Singh and rivalled, if not 
excelled, the best of the four French Officers in rank. The 
estinlat.ion of the Maharaja he already held. 

His name has been variously set down as Amise, 
Musa Sahib, Ums, Hornrnus and Oms. The latter was 
his real name, the variations being due to phonetic 
spelling, or Asiatic mispronunciations. His nationality 
was also in doubt for, though he described himself as  a 
Southern Frenchman, he was really a Spaniard, this 
assumption, for the moment, of French nationalitv bei rlg 
prnbnhly to ingratiate himself with the Maharaja who, he  
knew, had much regard for French Officers. 

Owing to his brief career. the Punjab records and 
contemporarv hooks have very little to say about him. 
Jnderd the former only mention his death, and we are 
mnstly indebted to Doctor Murray and Captain Wade for 
details of the career of Oms before he entered the service 
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of ltanjit Singh. We learn from Collrt's Itinerary* that 
Oins quitted the Persian service in 1824 in order to make 
his way to the Punjab with the object of obtaining mili- 
tars  service with Rlanjit Singh. A t  the outset of his 
journey misfortune befell him for he was taken prisoner 
by the Governor of Birdjan and only escaped just before 
the arrival of Conrt at  the castle of Fonrlc about July o r  
August 1826. 

Court does not mention how Oms managed to get 
away. but as he was able to display himself to Ca>ptain 
Wade and1 the Maharaja in a military uniform, he mnst 
have been released and permitted to take away his effects. 
He arrived a t  Lahore only a few days before Avitabile and 
Court, and from this point we cannot do better than quote 
from Dr.  Murray's letters which commence with the 
arrival of Oms a t  Lahore. 

t" The Raja tolld me that another Officer had arrived 
a t  his Court to-day and wished to enter his service, that 
he said he was a ~renchman,  bnt he had' some doubts on 
the subject. I asked if i t  was one ol' the gent'len~pn who 
had been stopped by Yar Mohammad Khxn He sttidl 
' No ' that this person professed to come from Iran and 
that owing to the disturbed state a t  Kabul and the neigh- 
lionrhood he had1 taken a Inore southelrly route and arrived 
by Raluchistan and Multan. 

" The officer now made his appearance, and the Raja  
desired me to converse with him in French and ascertain 
who and what he was. He appeared about t>hii-t~-seve11 or 
thirtv . vears L of age. was dlressed in a blue coat' with red 
facinq ancl ponclerous qold epaulettes, a white waistcoat 
andl Gerv loose red satin trousers. He wore his beard 
lonq and verv much ~unbnrnt~.  and had a small Macli cap 
on his head made of the slzin of r2 1am.b with the wool outer- 
inost. T spoke to h im in French and n~entioncd' the 
Mahara j a ' s  wish (to Imow more about him) FIe said his 
name was TJms, that  he was a. Frenchman born in the 
sonth of France, that he had entered the -4rtillerv at 

* Court's Itinerary, pnge 4. 
t Murray's letters, No. 5, Volume 21, Range 125. 
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an  early age and served in several o~f Napoleon's 
Campaigns. 

" I asked him what rank he had attained and what was 
hie last campaign. H e  said that he was first Licut. of 
the Artillery under King Joachirn in the Russian Carn- 
paign, but was made Captain before its terxinaticn. Tle 
said he had his brevet with him. I explained this ccn- 
versation to the Maharaja who was pleased to find that 
he had bee11 always in  the Artillery, and bade me ask 
him if he was acquainted with Artillerv tactics.. . . . .The 
Raja  asked me in a llow tone if I thought he was reallr a 
Frenchman. I neplied that I did, that he spoke the langu- 
age well, and that  what he had1 mentioned abollt the 
campaigns in which he had served and the General under 
whom he had been was consistent with the history of 
the times. 

" The Raja wished to kncw if he had been invited here 
bv the other French Oflicers H e  said no. He was 
acquainted a little with M. Ventura whom he had seen 
some years ago a t  Constantinople and of whom he had 
also heard in Persia. He said he had been in the service 
of the King of Persia for some years.. . . . .He was qoinq on 
to  relate why he left that service and the route b y  which 
he reached lndia when the Maharaja rose fr'om his 
chair.. . . . .I have no doubt blit he will take him into his 
service.. . . . .I understand from other quarters that 14. Urns 
has represented himsel~f to the Raja -3s well versed in the 
casting of cannon, and that the latter has offered him 
Rs. 25 a day with the promise of an increase if his senrices 
are approved of. This offer, however, has not been 
accepted. He insists on having Rs. 20,000 a gear, the 
allowance he had from the King of Persia. To this the 
Raja  objects and no arrangement has yet been rnad'e. 

3 9 

Captain TVacle continues the storv and incidentally 
shows the jealousy prevailing amongst these ndvwtlir- 

" T observed a European standing near the Rnia w11o 
appeared to he M. Oms, a Spaniard, who had lately erltered 
his  service. After some time the Raja. directin: my 
a,ttention to Mr. Oms said that he had latelv arrived there 

' Wade's lettero, No. 3, Volume 33, Range 125, pnrngraph 49. 
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and seemed WEN versed in military affairs. The 0t1;r.l~ 
French Oflicers will not associate with him. There is some 
difference b e t ~ e e n  them concerning each other's merits.. . . . . 

'. "The Raja spokeof the two French Officers who had 
lately arrived a t  his Court. He said they had come from 
Persia by Kandahar and Kabul, that their names were 
Messrs. Court and Avitabile, that M. Oms had known 
them in the service of the King of Persia, but since their 
arrival they had dlisclai!ned all knowledge of hint. The 
Hon'ble Captain Keppel in the account of his travels 
through Persia to Europe rrlentions having resided some 
days ivith M. Court a t  Kerman Shah when M. Oms was 
tlxre. He relates an occurrence affecting M. Oms which 
accounts in some measure for the disinclination of the 
French Officers to associate with him ......... 

" t o n  the morning of the 10th the two battalion3 com- 
nianded by hl Oms were paraded andl went through sevcral 
evolutions. The Raja said that M. Oms was indef';xtig- 
able in dealing with his corps to which I can bear witness 
having seem them a t  drill morning and evening till a very 
1nt)e hour.. . .When the battalions had marclled an-ay, the 
Raja said, M. Oms is well versed in the drill of a corps 
but knows nothing else. Messrs. Allard and Venturn, on 
the contrary, are intelligent and conversarlt with all 
subjects especially the ar t  of diplomacv." 

Not being abte to consult Keppel's book we cannot say 
what was the incident ref-erred to, as apparently discredit- 
able to Oms, but in any case, i t  did not affect' his ability 
as a soldier, nor did the deficiency of diplomacy, affect 
the Raja's valuation of Oms wllorn he engaged on a salary 
of Rs. 1,200 per month, an amount comparing very fnvour- 
ably with the Rs. 500 awarded to Court and Avitnhile as 
st,art,ing pay 

From the commencement his and ener9- enrned 
him the high opinion of his employer ~ v h o  qlli~lilv in- 
creased the two battalions first placed under Oms to five 
and a regim,ent of cavalrv. To these troops \\-ere allotted 

- -- 

* Wade's letters, No. 3. Vohime 33, Range 125, parngrnph 6.7. 
t Wade's letters, No. 3. Volr~me 33, Rnnge 135, pnrapl-npli 74. 



the quadrangles of Jahangir 's Tomb as quarters, and ttr. 
Oms himself the Badshahi Mosque as a residence. He 
does not appear to have lived in t,he mosque but to have 
taken up his quarters in the Tomb of Jahangir itself, for, 
i t  was in this, and i t  is said on the grave of Jahangir, that, 
he died. 

In 1828 the ' ' Campo " of Onls was sent to linngrn 
on act$ive service and returned from thence in August 
1828. V a n  soon after the end came, for Sohan La1 
records, that* :-- 

" Musa Sahib died of cholera in September 3 828. 
On his death Ranjit Singh gave orders that he shoulcl be 
briried with the greatest honours, and sent several of his 
High Court officialls to attend the funeral. which was 
criven with all Militarv honours in the English fashion. .a 
B e  mas buried within" the precincts of the mansolenm. 
which mas then bricked up. 9 9 

Masson, who arrived in Lahore about the t,in?e of 
death of Oms. gives the follo~~ring accountt :- 

" The Ma,haraja gave over the Shahdara enclosure to 
a French Officer, M. Arnise, who caused the chambers to 
be cleared of accumlllated filth, and put the surroun~ling 
mardens in order. Jnst  after this he sudd'enlp die?. The <7 

Mussalmans did not fail to attribute his death to his 
temerity and impietv in occupying so sacred a, place, and 
they said that the s h d e  of the Emperor actuallv apl~earad 
to him, and announced his death as the pnnikhnlent for  
the crime Whether the Maharaja credited this tale I 
know not but he much regretted M. .4mise's death, and 
ordered1 the bnildings to be closed up and the entrance 
\valled in. 9 3 

Sir Edward RlTaclayan informs us that manv vears 
270 he T M ~  shown the place where Oms was buried bv some 
aiirvivors of the period, but that thep refused to give the 
r 1 ~ t : r i l s  r,f Jiis dcnt,h 2nd the de5ecrstion of the tjomh afirt~i- 
in? that they were verv had indeed. What reallv 

Court,: Dinry of date. 
t Travels in Afghanistan, etc. ,  Voliime I ,  page 300. 



happened appears to  have been that the unfortunate man 
was taken ill with choleraic pains and the internal dis- 
turbances attendant upon this awful disease caused the 
defilements the Mullahs spoke of with such horror. 
Captain Wade thus pays a final tribute to  Oms*. 

" 18th of October 1828.-To-day information reached 
me of the death of Senor Oms, one of the principal officers 
in the Maharaja's service. H e  came to Lahore about two 
years ago. He was by birth a Spaniard, and previons to 
his arrival a t  Lahore, was in the Persian service. He was 
considered by the Maharaja a most laborious and zealous 
officer, and rose in a short time from the command of a 
single battalion to that of a brigade of five battalion.,. 
I n  organisation and discipline he was indefatigable." 

Colonel F .  E .  Mevins,  
or 

Baron de Mevius. 

This individual whose name is spelt Mevins in the 
Punjab Records was an adventurer in the most dubious 
meaning of the word. 

Our acquaintance with him coninlences on the 12th 
,Tnnuarjr 1827, when the Resident a t  Ludhiana n1ports to 
Delhit that " Mr. Frank Ernest Mevins has arrived a t  
Ludhiana from Ghazipore, with the intention of seeking 
niilitary selrvice in the Punjnln,  and that in accordance 
with the rule prohibiting such persons froin crossing the 
Sntlej, he has detained 1 .  hlevins for orders. Mr. 
h4evins was of German birth." 

I n  March 1827, permission was accorded for Mr.  
Ikvins t,o proceed to Lahore, he having oht~ined  a. 
promise of emIplloynient from R211jit Singh, and siqned 
t8he pledge that lie ~voiilrl " during his period of service, 
;I hstnin f ron~ eating hcef. smoking, OT sll:~~in;:. \\-o~lld 
(lomesticate llimself in the collntry hy marring?. 11-ould 
never quit the service wit8hont fol-nlal permission from the 

+ Plinjnh Rccol-ds, noolr No. 96. letter No. 153. 
t 1'1111inh Recortls. Hool; No. 95, letter No. 23. 
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Maharajah, and would engage to fight any nation ~ v i t h  
whom the Maharajah declared war, even should i t  be his 
ownX. ' ' 

M,evins, who either assumed, or resumed the title of 
Baron, is shown in the Kha!sa rolls as Baron de Mevius, 
and was apparently a man of considerable ablility in his 
profession far his commencing salary was fixed a t  Rs. 800 
per month, a sum greater than that paid to the French 
Officers as commencing salary. Though a German, he 
instructed his troops on the English system, probably 
having se,r-ved in one of the many foreign recruited1 units 
such as the Chasseurs Rrittaniques, the Regimrnt de 
Rolles, or de Ateuron, which, ilp to about 1818, had served 
t,he Rrit.ish ; for in all these Germans were fairlv nurneroas. 

If his system was English, his methods were Prussian, 
and i t  was these latter that caused his dismissal from the 
service under circ~lmstances relat,ed by Jacquemont t : - 

" Jzrly 1830.-Itanjit Sing11 only half relies on hls 
European Officers. M. Mevius, having lately excited a 
revolt in his corps by the Prussian process of applying the 
whip to t h ~  l i l ihs ,  was compelled to take refuge in the 
tent of the Maharajah himsdf to save his life from hls 
men. Ranjit Singh saved his life. but refused to retain 
him in his service. Upon this high words passedl between 
both sides, and a t  last, Kanjit Singh dismissing Rlevius 
with a very expressive Hindustani oath. exclaimed, 
' German, French or English, a11 these European rascals 
are alike.' ) ' 

+ -- The newswriter a t  Lildhiana reports; : 

" 2lst Mnrch 1830.-M Mevius arrived here to-day, 
attended by an escort with orders to put  him across the 
Sutlej. The cause of his dismissal was due to the exis- 
tence of disaffection in the corps of infantry he command- 
ed. I t  is his intention to proceed to Bahawalpore, and 
thence to Peshawar, and establish himself in service there, 
thus inducing the Maharajah to recall him. I do not 
think he will succeed in either scheme. 9 7 

*Pilniah  record^, Roolc No. 96, letter No .  82. 
t Letters from India, Yolome I, page 231. 
1 Prlnjah Records, Roolr No. 98, letter N o .  4.I .  



Neither did he. 

A sidklight on the man's character is given in the 
following letter written to Mevius by Captain Wade, in 
his capacity as Magistrate of Lndhianar :- 

" 23rd April 1830.-To M. Mevius. A complaint 
has been preferred before me that a female named Rekli 
has been detained by you and sold to a professional woman 
for R s  200. 1 dkem i t  my duty to inform you that the 
alleged proceeding is contr'ary to  the laws of the British 
Government. The female in question is stated to h a x  
been detained by you, and her personal liberty has been 
claimed by her brother. I request yon will release her, 
or assign yonr objection to a non-compliance with my ap-  
plication. 9 Y 

Having settled this matter by the release of the 
n.otna,n,  who,^?^ Rfevius alleged he had sold as compensa- 
tion for the theft of gold buttons worth Rs. 300 bv ?ler 
brother, Mkvius was directed to quit Ludhiana. and n ~ a k e  
for the neatrest seaport. Though leaving Ludhiana he 
only did so to recross the Sut.lej and' return to Lahore v i th  
the object of ma1;ing peace with Ranjit Singh, and re- 
instatement. 

I n  both he failed for Ranjit Singh had him agni.n 
forcibly deported, this time with the warning that 
should he again obtrude hiinself a t  T,aho~e, shorter and 
sterner steps might be taken to remove his unwelconle 
presence. Mevins explained to Captain Wade t.hat his 
intention in going to Lahore was merely to procure a 
certificate of service from Ranjit Singh and accepting the 
explanation Wade permitted Mevius to remain a t  
Ludhiannt until he himself coiilrl procure the desired 
certificate, which ran :- 

" Lrcho?~e, 11th  A pril 1830:--M. Mevins, a native 
of Germany, passed into the Punjab in March, 1827 , ~ n d  
entered the service of Ranjit Singh. Dnring the three 

* Prinjah Records, Rook No. 98, letter No. 51. 
t Prininh Recortls. Dooli No. 98, letter No. 61. 
1 Plinjnh Records, Rook No. 137, lettel. No. 26. 
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years that  he endured in that service, he raised and held 
c,on~.mand of a battalion of Infantrv which he had discip- 
lined according to the methods of'the Brit.ish. He was 
employed on active service on several occasions." 

Being again out of employment Mevins went on to 
Kabul vi8 Kandahar. Failing to obtain service a t  Kabul, he 
set out to return to Europe overland, apparently with the 
intention of seeking service in the Russian armv where a 
number of German Officers was already employed. Being 
a man of resource and few, if any. scruples hlevins be- 
thought himself of a new way to pav old debts and also 
travel in comfort, so, utilising the certificate obtained 
from Ranjit Singh arlcl forging other cred'entisls he 
obtained credit by passing himself of as an envoy from 
Ranjit Singh to the Czar of Russia. 

He had the impudence to report his arrival a t  Teheran 
to Ranjit  Singh and presentation to the Shah of Persia 
as his envoy. The letter was signed C. F. Smith, 011 

behalf of Mevins. Infuriated a t  the letter and the man's 
audacity Ranjit  Singh sent the letter to Captain TJTa,de 
with the request that  the Government of India slmuld 
write direct to St.  Petersbnrg, and expose Mevins as an 
imposter.* On this letter being examined a t  Calcutta, 
the signature was identified as that of a person who some 
years before had llrldcrgone a term of imprisonment in the 
Calcutta Ja i l  for coining false money, and it was assllnled 
thnt smith 2nd hlerins were identical persons. 

An extract from the Adventurers in the Punjab gives 
us another instance of the manner in vrhich Mevins 
succeeded in raising fundst :- 

" A Jew of Meshed was lately applied to by a Euro- 
pean, who said he was an Englishman travelling wit11 
despatches to St. Petersburg, and asked for a loan of 500 
d11c:lts (£250), which he gave. I t  turned oiit that. the 
rogue was a I'rl~s:iinn, who however, had the honesty to  

' Punjnh R.ecords, Rook No. 115, letter No. 04. 
t Adventilrer~ in the Pnnjah, page 69. 
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write to the Charge D'Affaires at Teheran, and ask him 
to honour the bill for the credit of his countxyman. Asked 
why he gave the money, the Jew said he had learnt to rely 
upon the word of an Englishman. " 

Whether the trustful Jew was ever paid does not 
transpire, but for his trust in the word of even a fictitious 
Englishman he deserved to be. As for the rascal who 
imposed upon him probablv he received1 the reward usually 
paid to such peculiar gifts as he possessed. 

Colonel John Holmes. 
A short distance from the left of the inner archway 

of the Taksali Gate Cemetery a t  Lahore lies a pitiful 
little brick tomb n couple of feet square and a single brick 
high, bearing, on n tinv rri'arble slab, this roughly cut 
inscription : - 

SACRED 
TO THE MEMORY 

OP 

HANNAH STEVENS, 

WHO DEPARTED THIS LIFE NOVEMBER ~ T H ,  

1848 
.4GED 87 YEARS. 

This hnmb'Je memorial, but recently revealed by the 
clearing of the old graves is, then, the only memoria.1 of 
that fine old Eurasjar?. solclicr of fort,unc., \v11orn John 
1,nn-renc~ charncterisecl* as " a lnost, respectable old oficer 
and worthv serva,r,t of the Khalsa Durbart ."  whose head- 
less body lies far away in Grave No. 1 of the Rannil 
Cemetery. 

,John Holmes, beinq of mised descent, sta.rted his 
milita,rv carerr a s  a trumpeter in  the Renwl Horse .$rt,il- 
lery, that capacity being the only nii1itar.y nppo in tm~n t  

* Punjnb Recorcls, N o .  24611669, 4/10/48. 
t Mon~~meiital  Inscriptions in tho Pnninh, pnge 3. 
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open to men or boys of mixed descent after 1780. The 
revolts of the West Indian negroes in  the French posses- 
sions, and the atrocities committed upon the French 
colonists by mulattoes and quadroons, alarmed the Gov. 
ernment of India as  to the possibility of a similar out- 
break, led by half-castes; so they prohibited the admission 
of any to a n~illitary career, till then open to them in the 
Company's forces. 

As with most of the English adventurers who served 
the Companv prior to entering other services. Holrnes 
omitted, what he probably considered the mere formality 
of asking deave, when in September 1829, he cast his 
trumpet aside and left Ludhiana and " Colonel Faithful's 
Brigade of ArtiUcrv " to steal across the Sutlej and ul- 
timately become a Colonel in Ranjit Singh's service, an 
cleva tion prohablv more dreamt of than thought possible 

The m,oment of his arrival was fortunate, coinciding 
as it did with a vacancj' in the battalion lately commanded 
by Mevius. to which Ranjit Singh appointed him on a 
salary of Rs. 150 per mensem, this being then the 
maximum for men who had not served as ofleers in other 
armies* 

He remained in military service until 1835, when 
Ranjit Singh appointed him kardar of Gujrat in succes- 
sion to Harlan just dismissed with ignominv. I t  is 
ind'eed curious to note that Holmes, on both occasions, 
succeeded men who had k e n  summa,rilv dismissed. Of 
how he performed his duties in that capacity there is 
nothing on record, nor whv he left i t ,  for two years later 
he was back again with his battalion, to which was now 
added what was unusual with Europeans or semi- 
Europeans, in Ranjit Singh's service. a batt,ery of  
9rt,illery. 

Of his war services. we have no exact record. hut hc 
was certainly present a t  the tnlzing of Peshawar in 1534. 
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a t  the Battle of Jumrood in 1837, with Ventura in the hill 
campaigns of 1840-41, and associated with the British in 
the forcing of the Khyber in 1842. Probably the spares 
were filled in with lesser services, for then, as now, tlie 
Frontier was always to be depended upon for fighting. 

H e  escaped' being interfered with by the mutinorls 
troops in Kulu, after the accession of Sher Singh, though 
Foull<cs was 111ut~d(~redl, ,In(\ ItIoliton threatened in the 
next camp I t  may have been that his mixed desccnt 
made him less disliked than the pure European, or that  
he was more patient with his troops. I n  May 1642, he 
wrote a \letter from Peshawar to Henry Lawrence, warning 
him that, the Sikh troops were ready a t  any nzoinent to 
turn against the British, and offering the services of his 
own brigade, consisting of two battalions, a hatterv, and 
five hundred ghorchars (should they be needed) against 
his comradesx. I n  this letter he remarks that his heart 
and soul are bound np  with his native country and i ts  
interests, and that having perfect control over his men 
they will follow him anywhere. 

It is more than probable that this letter was instru- 
mental in retaining Holmes in the Durbar cervice after 
most of the Europeans had been dismissed from i t  under 
the provisions of the Treaty. Onling to his permanent 
station being in the Hazara hills, Holnles escaped any 
entanglement in the anarchy, and also participation ill 

the First Sikh War. which was really fought by the troops 
south of the Rwvi, the Second being ,. hv . those north of i t .  

As under the provisions of the Treaty the financial 
and general conditions of the Punjab were to he inyesti- 
gated by the British, and the snperfltlous t,roops disbanded, 
a certain numbel, of Political Officers were slected and 
appointmed. This duty being verv dangerorls each had as 
an escort n brigade: or battalion of selected Ilurbar 
soldiers who, if possible, were to be under the coinrnand 
of a Ellropean ofFicelr or. have such associnted ~ ~ i t h  them, 

+ Punjah Rec>ol.tls, Roolc No. 41. letter No. 102. 
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and for this duty the troops of van Cortlandk and Holmes 
were deputed. 

These Politicat Officers were of a stamp widely 
differing from those who so angered and disgusted Mnsson 
and General Nott, and from those he served under Holmes 
earned favourable mention. Of such were Ed~vardes, 
Taylor, Abbott, George Lawrence, and Lumsden. That of 
Edwardes was especially valuable for he was a man whose 
standard was high. - and exacting. He writes* :- 

" I have ailways received the greatest assistance frorn 
Colonel John Holmes, and to his energy, and ablility, I 
am indebted for the f o r c i n ~  c7 of the Kohat i'hal." 

Abbottl and Taylor both corroborate this in various 
official letters as does Lawrence who especiallv commented 
on the admirable condition, and dliscipline of the troops 
under Holmes in the Bannu district. But i t  is to 
Edwardes that we are indmebted for a personal description 
of Holmes and1 his peculiarities. 

t John Holmes. or  John IIolmes, Sahib, as he was 
called hg the n:~tives, was a, half-caste who had served the 
Company as a musician, the onlv career i11 that open to 
such as he., but had early left i t  and carried his kno~rlcdge 
of drill across the Sutlej. where he rose to the i n  of 
colonel, and now commandedl two bn ttalions. He talked 
English, and did his dutv a d .  He also professed to be 
a Christian but there was some excuse for my not knowing 
that for he lived as a Mussalnlan, as probablv his father 
before him, for, in a petition for family pension after his 
dcath, there was set dolwn, if T remember rightly, the extra- 
ordinary item of three mothers and two ~vjves. 

This was quite consistent with the habits of the 
Jndian solld'icrs amongst whom he lived, and w a s  oh~~osious 
to neither so long as he wns not known to he a. Christian. 
T ohjertrcl to  i ncliidinqh him amonpal, the congrezation a t  

" Political TJinries, Volllme IV, page 4.16. 
t A Year on the Pnnjnh bll.ontier, pages 297-300. 



our services, but yielded to Taylor's representations when 
he said " What chance is there of his becoming better if 
we give him no opportunity." 

This description is typical of many of the adventurers 
in Indian services, high, and low. Religious observances. 
or religion itsdlf sat very lightly on men who had vohm- 
tarily cult themselves off from their country and kin. 
Indeed, had i t  been otherwise, they would have met a 
speedv end from a Sikh Akali, or Mnssalman Ghazi, both 
of whom would have considered i t  a most meritorious deed 
to thus dispose of a kafir, or unbpliever. The plurality 
of wives may be correct, but for mothers, we should read 
mothers-in-law for we have the testimony of Hannah 
Stevens' gravestone to show that she was really his 
mother. The difference in name is easily accounted for as 
in those days soldiers' wives soon re-married. I n  fact i t  
w2,s an old! gibe that new partners were usually arranged 
for before the old ones were underground, or immediately 
after. 

We find another appreciation of Holines in a letLer 
from Taylor, dated July 1848. It runs :- 

" I inay ~nention that in Colonel John Holmes I 
have found' a inost active, and intelligent assistant. who 
is heart and s o d  in our interests. I have received from 
him an account of his suppression of the mutiny amongst 
t h ~  Sikh troops, who intendrd to murder all their oficers 
(and mvsclf) and then march off to Multan wit!] their 
guns. 1 hare detached1 the most loyal battalion which 
Colonel Holmes wished to proceed with, but I detained 
him. T consoled him bv pointing out that i t  was his duty 
to remain with me; in' which view, he, like the good 
soldier he is, acquiesced." 

The truth was that matters were fast has t~ning  to- 
wards anothcr Sild.. MTar. The Rhalsa soldiery whose pay, 
pririlcgecs, and ~specia~lly numbers had been drastically 
cut bv the Riitish inflnence were in a state of smonlder. 
fanned by t,heir sirdars to whom the British inflrienre n-as 



,equally obnoxious. They were convinced that they had 
not been fairly beaten, and as is usual in  such cases quito 
anxious to have another trial of strength. 

As often happens in India those in high places were 
careless of, or could not realise that the cltmger TI-as 
imminent. Even the outbreak a t  Multan was treated as a 
sporadic case. This ind!ifference was very dangerous to 
men in isolated positions with th.e Durbar troops, and 
especially I-Iolmes, who, by his stern suppression of mu t i- 
nies, and disturbances, together with his known sympat,hp 
with the British had become obnoxious to his men. 

The fate of Kanara similar117 situated uTas a. stern 
warning but despite it, this sturdy old soldier kept his 
men in control, and obeyed the orders recgived from the 
Political Officer, George Lawrence. Holmes was warned 
that the local Panch had condemned him to death, but 
even so he would not take shelter within the newly built 
fort of Dhulipgarh, which was garrisoned by loyal Mussa.1- 
man levies under Fateh Khan, Tiwana, but remained, 
with his men, trusting to their loyadty to one who had led 
them for many years. 

I t  was a vain trust for these very men, though they 
would not kill him themselves, had no objection to others 
doing so and treachery making the task easy the end came 
on the 4th October 1848. 

The Resident a t  Lahore reports* :- 

" With great regret I have to announce that the 
Sikh troops at Bannu have mutinied and murdered their 
commander Colonel Jchn Holmes the last Europcsn 
attached to the Sikh Army. His tent was pitched in the 
mid'st of his camp. and guarded by double sentries, hut at 
midniqht a larye body of Silzhs entered the tent with t1.e 
connivanc~ of the sentries and having shot the Colonel 
cilt off his head ."  

+ P i l n i ~ h  Records, NO. 24611669, 4110148. 



He also adds :- 

" Coloilel John Holmes was a most respectable old 
=officer who had long served the Khalsa Army." 

The family ultimately were awarded1 a pcnsicn 
totalling about Rs. 250 per month, this ceasing with the 
death of the immediate recipients. Some of his descen- 
dants still1 live in Lahore. 



CHARLES MASSON, TRAVELLER, GEOGRAPHER, 

ARCHAEOLOGIST, NUMISMATIST 

" In the autumn of 1826, having traversed the Rnjyut  
states and the amrid wastes of Bikanir, I entered the desert 
frontiers of Rahawalpur. During the whole of mv 600 
mile journey, I had been most civilly and kindllv troa.ted by 
the natives'of the country through which I had passed.*" 

Thus abruptly, and without vouchsafing any prefatory 
information as to who or what he was, whence and whv 
he came, or whither and on what errand bound, does 
Mnsson commence his simply tojcl, though astonishing: 
narsra tive ~f twelve years almost solitarv wanderings, poor 
and' penniless, through Baluchistan, Pindh, Af ghnnistan, 
Persia and the Punjab. 

I n  this year of grace 1928, when racial feeling is so 
accentuated and embittered, and Englishmen viewed with 
suspicion, it is difficult to credit that u p  to less than 100 
years ago, even the poorest and most solitary of English- 
mien could wander, aln~ost unmolested, and inore often 
received as a vrrelconle guest, through the wildest and n~o:;t 
savage parts o'f Asia and India.  Yet such was the ca,se, 
not only with Masson, but with many other obscure adven- 
turers of the period. some of whoin traversed the immense 
clistance between Europe and1 Asia alone, poor and on foot, 
as did1 Tom Coryat, the " Odcombian Oddity." some 200 
Fears before, and George Thomas from Madras to nelhi 
in 1787. 

But these men had ;L definite goal, and, to attain it 
as speedily as possible, kept to the more beaten tracks, 
whereas ifasson wandered hither and thither, returning 
on his traclts a ~ a i n  and  again, hu t  nT?nmys qat.hering much 

M ~ ~ o n ' s  Travel9 in Baluchistan, etc., Volumo I, page 1. 
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curious lore, especially archredogical and numismatical, 
the latter proving the existence of long forgotten races 
and dynasties in northern Afghanistan, and illuminating 
or rescuing their history from the mists of oblivion. 

Of the latter, much will be found in the journals of 
the Royal Asiatic Socie,ty of Bengal, and especially in the 
A rinna A ni!iquu-a large volume compiled from Masson's 
researches by an erninent Orientalist of the period, Pro- 
fessor H. H. and published by the East India 
Company at their own expense. The ilh~strat~ions are all 
by Masson himself, and show him as, not only a draughts- 
man but, an artist of considerable merit;. 

He was besides this a French and Latin linguist, and 
conversant with ancient Greek. His knowledge of the 
latter is shown by the fact that his recognition of archaic 
Greek letters on certain ancient coins, found by him, en- 
abled Prinsep to decipher the Pehlavian inscriptions upon 
them, and thus reveal the history of the dynasties under 
whom they had been coinedx. 

Regarding the man himself we shall, before augment- 
ing his known history with hitherto unpublished details 
gleaned from the Government Records, quote from Sir 
Thomas Iloldich's book, entitled, " The Gates of 
India." In  this book Sir Thomas, writing 60 years after 
Masson's death, knowing nothing of him parsonally, and 
believing him to be an American, gives a most appreciative 
summary of the traveller's experiences, and records, and 
them value. 

He devotes several chapters to Masson, then (1910) 
forgotten by all but a few delvers into the musty and 
neglected shelves of old libraries, and his writings are so - 
a.dmirably descriptive that we, a t  any rate, cannot improve 
upon them, and this must be our excuse for drawing up011 
Sir Thom,as Boldich at  length. He writest :- 

Calcutta Review, Volume XV, page 443. 
t Gates of India, page 946, e t  seq.  

N 



" Before Indian administrators had seriously turned 
their attention to the Afghan buffer-land and set to work 
to fill up ' intelligence ' material at secondhand, there mas 
a t  least one active European agent in the field who was i11 

direct touch with the chief political actors in that strange 
land of everlasting unrest, and who has left behind him a 
record' which is unsurpassed on the Indian frontier for tlle 
width of its scope of inquirv into matters political, social, 
economic, and scientific, and the general accuracy of his 
conclusions. 

" This mas the American Masson. I t  inust he remeln- 
bered that the Punjab and Sindh were almost as terra 
incognita to us in 1830 as was Afghanistan. The 
approach to the latter country was throuqh foreign terri- 
tory The Sikh chiefs of thk Punjab and the Amirs of 
Pirdh were not then necessnril~l hostile to British interests. 
They watched, no doubt. the gradual extension of the red' 
line of our maps towards the north-west and west, and 
i ~ r e  fnllr alive to  the probqbi1itv that ,  so f ~ r  as regard- 
t l t l  their own countries, they wouhd all soon be painted red. 

" But there was no official dliscourtesv or intoleration 
shown towards European travellers, and in the Silth- 
wvernecl F~ ln jab .  a t  anv rate, much of the militarv control 2 

of the most militarv nationalitv was in the hands of Evro- 
pean leader?. NO; do we find mnch of the p i r i t  o f  
fnnutirnl hntred to the F ~ r i n n h i  ellen i n  -4 f qhn~ i . c tnn  at 
t h o t  f ; 7 ~ ~ .  TheFiirolwvn c n v e  2nd went. and itwasn.nlv 
d i ~ e  to the disturbed state of the country. and the local 
;rh~ence of law and order that he ran any risk of serious 
misa dventt-rre. 

" TP these ~ R V S  i t  w0111rj he irnnossible for anv Euro- 
pe;ln to travel a s  Mnssnn or Ferrier (a French traveller and 
ea-officer) travelled in Afqhanistan, h t  in those days 
t h e r ~  was comething to he elined hv friendship with 
En .~I ind  and the wealiness of olir snpport was hardly 
ailspected nntil it WRS ifis('lo~ed hv the resillts of the first 
4 f 4 . n  War .  Sn Macson and Ferrier assumed t,he r81e 
of Afclhan travellers, clothed in A f ~ h a n  garments, but: 
rnol1c\ or less j~noran t  of the A f ~ h a n  Janqnnpe, l i v i n ~  with 
the ~ e o p l r ,  partaltinc o f  their hospitalitv. studviny their 
P . . ~ R T ~ ~ .  ioining their pursuits, discussine: their politica, and 



placing themselves on terms of familiarity, if not of inti- 
macy, with their many hosts in a way which has never been 
imitated since. 

" No one now ever assumes the dress of the Afghan 
and lives with him. No one joins a caravan and sits o17er 
the nightly fire discussing bazaar prices or the character 
of a chief ......... ... .Consequently there is a peculiar value 
in the records of such a traveller as Masson. They are  in 
Ilxany ways as valunble non (1910) as they were eighty years 
ago for the character of the Afghan hus not changed 
w i t h  his history or his politics. To some extent thev are  
even more valuable, for i t  is inevitable that the story of a 
long travel through an unknown and unimagined world 
shdnld be received with a certain amount of reservation 
until later experience confirms the tale and verifies locali- 
ties. 

" Fifty years elapsed before the footsteps of Masson 
could be traced with certainty. Not till the conclusion of 
the last Afghan War,  and the final re-shaping of the 
surveys of Baluchistarr, could it be said exactly where he 
wandered during those strenuous years of unremitting 
travel. And now that we can take his story in detail, and 
follow him stage bv stage through the ~ n d / a n  borderlands 
we can only say that, considering the circurnstanrw under 
which his observations were taken and recorded, i t  is 
13 :~rvel~o~islv accurate in qeoqraphica! detail. 

" h!Iasson was in the field before Rurnes. In  llle 
month of September 1830, the Resident in the Persian 
Gulf writes to the Chief Secretary to the Government of 
India, that ' an American gentleman of the name of 
Masson arrived a t  Bushire from Bassadore on the 13th 
June last,' and that he described himself as belonging tao 
the state of Kentucky, having been absent for ten years 
from his country, ' which he must consequently have Icft 
when he was young, as he is now only about two-nntl-thirty 
sears of age.' The same letter says that previous to the 
breaking out of the war between Rllssia and Persia in  
1826, Masson ' appears to have visited IChornssnn from 
Tiflis, by way of Meshed and Herat, malting no effort to 
conceal his  European origin,' and that from Herat he went 
to Kandahar. Shilzarpnr, and Sind. 

~2 
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" In his book (Travels in Afghanistan, Baluchistan, 
the Punjab, and Kelat, 1841) hlasson opens his story with 
the autumn of 1826, when he was in Bahawalpur and Sind, 
which he had approached through Rajputana and not from 
Afghanistan. From Uahawalpur he passed on to Pesha- 
war and Kabul, from Kabul to Kandahar, and thence to 
Shikarpur, entering Afghanistan, Bnowing nothing of the 
Pashtu language. We will folkow the text of his own 
narrative, and1 surely no narrative of adventure that has 
ever appeared before or since in connection with Afghan 
exploration can rival i t  for interest. 

" I t  is a curious story for anyone who has travelled in 
the IChyber in these later davs to read. A European with 
a most limited knowledge ofVpashtu, tramping the roa,d in 
company with a Pathan (like himself, a mendicant) pick- 
ing up information every yard of the way, keenly interest- 
ed in his rough surroundings, taking count of the ragged 
groups of stone-built huts clinging to the hill-sides or 
massed around a central cita,del in the open plain, with 
here and there a disintegrating monument crowning the 
hill-top with a cupola or dome, the like of which he had 
never seen before. 

" Masson had hardly realised in these early davs that 
he was on one of the routes most sacred to pLLgrimagk of all 
those known to the disciples of Buddha, and it  was not 
till later years that he set about a systematic exploration of 
the extraordinary wealth of Buddhist relics which lie 
about Jalalabad and the valleys adljoining the Khyber route 
to Kabul. On his journep he made his way with the varied 
incidents of adventure common to the time, robbed at  one 
place. treated with hospitalitv at another, sitting under 
the mulberry trees discussing politics with all the e n e r n  of 
the true Afghan (who is never deficient in the power of 
expressing his political sentiments) and1 taking it  alto- 
gether, enloving a close, if not absolutely friendly, intimacy 
with the half-savage people of those whollv savace hills. 
An intimacy, such as no other educated European has ever 
sttained, and which tells a tale of a totallp different 
3 ttitude on the part of the Afghan towards the Europenn 
th2n to that which has existed since. 

" Nothing seems to have come amiw to his (Masson's) 
inrliliring minrl. Arrhxologv, numismatics, botany, 



geology, and lustory.. . . . . . . . . . . it  was all new, and an 
inexhaustible opportunity lay before him. He certainly 
made good use of i t ,  busying himself amongst other things 
with an enquiry into the origin of the Siahposh Kafirs ! 

" Masson's observations in this troubllous corner of 
Asiatic geography (Afghanistan and Khorassan) are 
shrewd and interesting. and as much to the purpose to-day 
as they were when they were written ......... Masson made 
his way steadily to Kabul, thence to Ghuznee, and then to  
Kandhhar ......... The route is described with surprising 
exactitude, and it has only lately been possible to verify 
step bv step the road he travelled. He could hardly have 
carried about volumes of notes with him, and i t  might well 
have happened that he dislocated his topography or ethno- 
D ~ l a  phy f rorn lapse of merno1-j-. b 

" Rut he does neither; and the most amazing feature 
of 14asson's tales of travel is that in all essential features 
we I<ne~v little more about the country of the Afghans 
after the last war than he could have told us before the 
first . . . . . . .Bp the desolate plain of Dasht-i-Badonlat and 
the l3olan ?ass ?4asson trod the well-l~nown route to 
Dadar and Shiltarpur. He lived a strange life In those 
days. Yo one since his time has rubbed shoulders with 
Afghan and B a l ~ c h ,  intima t e h  associating hhimsclf with 
all their si~llfle and savage wais, reckoning everv man he 
met on the road a robber till he had proved himself a 
friend. 

" Absolutely penniless, yet still meeting with rol~gh 
hospitalit\. and real kindness now and then. and ever 
absorbing' with a most marvellous power of digestion all 
that n7as useful in the way of information, whether it 
concerned the red-hot, sand-strewn plains. or the vermin- 
covered thieves and outcasts that disgraced them. I t  ~ v a s  
quite as 0ft~t.11 with t,he inwest of the gang as with the 
leaders that he found himself most intimately associated.. . 

< < The vicissitudes of this 11-mr\~ 1valk were many . .  . . . . 
From Rohri on the Tndhs he made his way almost exactly 
along the line of the present mil~vav, t h r o n ~ h  Rahnma?pnr 
to Uch, contiilnally losing his wail in the narrow tracks 
that intersected th'e int.ricate ilinyle with hut a rupee or 
two in his poclcet, and notlling hut the s a v i n ~  qmcc o f  the 
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village masjid as a refuge for the night. His  experiences 
with wayfarers like himself, the lies that he heard, the 
hospitality which he received both from men and wonlen, 
and the variety of incident generally which adorns this 
part  of Masson's tale is a refreshing contrast to the dreary 
monoto~ly of the modern traveller's tale of Indian travel. 

" A t  Fazilpur (in Rahawalpur) he found an old 
friend, one Rahmat Khan, and was once again in the lap 
of native luxury. Clean clothes, a bed to lie on, artd good 
food', kept him idle for a month before he started again 
northward for Lahore. Rah~na t  Khan was almost too 
generous. H e  spent his last rupee recklessly on a nautch, 
and had to borrow from the Hindus of his bazaar in order 
to find two rupees to present to his guest for the cost of his 
journey to Lahore. Of this large sum i t  is interesting to 
note that  Masson had still eight annas left in his pocket 
on his arrival a t  that city. 

" Alas for the good old days ! What a modern tramp 
might achieve in India if he were allowed free play i t  is 
difficult to guess, but never again will any European travel 
360 miles in India and feed himself on a, rupce and a! 

half ........ .. .. . . .Masson left Lahore after the rainy season 
and made his ~ \ ~ a y  south to Karachi, vid Multan. Hvdern- 
bad and Tat ta .  His  explorations conducted from FTnm rhl 
are sufficiently remarkable in themselves to place him quite 
at the head of frontier explorers. 

" He f i r ~ t  made a sea trip in Arab crafts up the 
Persian Gulf, visiting Muscat, and obtaining a passage in 
a Compsnv's cruiser to Rushire. From thence he went to 
Tahriz and up the Tigris to Baghdad and Basra, thence 
to Muscat, and finally returning to Karachi in an Arab 
vessel. 

" The story of Masson's next journey through Las 
Rela 2nd Eastern Raluchistan to Kalat and the neichhour- 
hood of Qlietta must have been an almost unintelligible 
record for half a century after it was written. It is almost 
nsel~sg to repeat the names of the places he visited. Five 
and  twent,~ veara after these names were absolutely un- 
familiar, an empty sound signifying; nothing to the dwellers 
on the British side of the Ralrlch frontier. 
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" Gradually they have emerged from the regions of 
the vague unknown into the ordered series of completed 
maps ; and nothing testifies more surely to  the general 
accuracy of Masson's narrative than the possibility which 
now exists of tracing his steps from point to  point, through 
these wild and desolate regions of rocky ridge and salt- 
edked jungle in Eastern Baluchistan. 

" Had Masson's information been properly digested, 
the most direct route to KaJat, Quetta, or Kandahar, vid 
the Purali River, would surely have been weighed in 
administrative councils. and the advantsqe of dlireot com- 
munication with the seaport by a cheaply constructed line 
would have received due consideration. Rut Masson's 
work -,vas still unyroven, and unc:~ecked and' i t  would have 
been more than anv Englishman's life was worth to have 
attempted in 1880 the task which he undertook with such 
light-hearted energy " 

Here, let us leave the 1va71l ordered prcqes of Sir  Thomas 
Holdich's narrative for the scattered folios of the Punjab 
Records, and the voluminous pages of Masson's volunles. 
He does not fiqure L in Government Records until 1832, for 
though the watch kept on Europeans in northern India 
was keen, RIasson's wanderinzs were so remote, and 
obscllre that. until his visit to Persia. no one was aware of 
his esistence. Hence, up to that. date we must fill in the 
gap with extracts from Mnsson's own book. 

From Rahnwalplir frontiers we will follow him and 
his companion, for though for reasons which 11-ill he 
ohviolls later, he does not mention this fact, ,  he had one. 
The two stopped' at Bahawalpur some time. hein!? 
hosn i t sh l~~  treated bv the N R W R ~ ,  ~ v h o  offered Ifasson the 
command of his ragamuffin arniv, just vacated bv the death 
of another Ellropean* named Biira sahib (Burrows or 
Brown). Declining the honour, Masson and Potter 
tramped awav, their journey heartened bv a dona tion of 
three handful's of nlpees, ordered by the Nawah. 

The Bathshi's hands must have been singnlarlp stirkv, 
or small for all that reached Masson was about sixtv. In 

Masson'a Tr~ve1.s in Afghanistan, etc.. Vol~lme 1, page 8. 
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the wake of the 13ahawalpur army, then setting out on one 
uf the f o r a ~ s  dignified by the title of tax-gathering, the 
tramps leisurely drifted to Dera Ghazi Khan, arriving 
there about December 1826. Here they parted, Potter 
for i,ahore, where he entered the se~hvice of Gulab Singh, 
and Masson to drift through the unknown hinterland, 
subsisting on the charity of the inhabitants. 

He had a wonderful knack of accomnlodating himself 
to all classes, creeds, and races, and usunllv maniiged to 
find a travelling companion, mostly of the fakir or Eegpqr 
class. who imparted their peculiar, and useful, linowledge 
to him. He never attempted to conceal his nationality, 
which indeed, as he knew but little Hindustani, and no 
Pashtu, mould have been useless Nor did its avowal do 
him any harm, as in this typical instanceX :- 

" During the Ramzan I strolled out from Dera Ghazi 
Khan to a grove of ber trees. Finding them in fruit, I 
endeavoured to bring some down bv casting sticks and 
stones, when a woman, observing mk, pulled a big stick 
from a hedge and without mercy employed it on me, revil- 
ing me the while as an infidel for breaking mv fast. Ex- 
postulation seemed but to increase her furv, and T was 
perplexed as to how to act. for it would be awkward to 
ret,iirn violence. Presentlv I said, ' Whv be angry; I am 
a Feringhi,' when she dropped her weapon, expressed 
ereat sorrow at  the mistake, and helped me to bring clown 
the fruit." 

?Jp\vs of his existence spread1 with that rapidity SO 

puzzling to Europeans, so, as Masson travelled very slowly, 
he usuallv found himself on arrival fairlv well known by 
repute. and an object of benevolent curiosity from people, 
whoqe hospitality was well repaid bv stories of the outside 
world. and personal contact with a member of a race so 
mvrh  hwrd of,  and so little known For months he 
wandered backwards and forwards. and, as illnstrating 
how Enmpeang were treated in those davs and plares, we 
11-ill qiiot~ more tvnical ~uamnlest r- 

- . Mq~qon'q Trnvcls i n  Afchrtniqtnn, Vol~in~c. T pnre  6.3 
t Ma~mn'u Trnvelu in A f g h ~ n i ~ t n n ,  V o l i i m ~  T.  prices RO-R1. 



" Placing my trust in divine providence, I entered 
Mewat. A sharp rain was falling and I took shelter under 
a bush until evening fell, when I left the tree, and entering 
a village, sat down amongst a company of men seated under 
a small shed. One of them conversed with me and question- 
ed me as to my countrv and religion. On nlv answer, ' A 
European and a ~ h r i s t i a n , '  he informed his comrades that 
Hasrat Isa (Jesus Christ) was an as1 (genuine) Pathan, 
and any disciple of His must be a worthy man. The beat 
entertainment in the village was now provided for me, and 
my questioner, who proved to be a Sayad, busied himself in 
providing me with food, a warm place to  sleep in, and 
plenty of coverings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

" Near Kundu T was met bv an armed m:?n, who drew 
his sword and was about to sacrifice me as an infidel Silih. 
Very hastily J informed him that I was a Feringhi, upon 
which he put away his s~vord and conducted me to a villape 
rle:,r 3t hgnd .  IT-here T lT:r..?s hospita1)ly entertained.. . .. .. .. 
Near Ghuznee a band of robl~ers suirounded me with the 
intention of robbery and violence, but on finding I was 
a Ferinyhi. led me to their villaqe and hospitably ent'er- 
tained me on bread1 and buttermilkx." 

Propressin y slowlv, for time was n.bsolutrely no object, 
and his legs the only means of motion, Masson arrived 
a t  Peshawar in company with an Afghan sirdar, who 
entertained him in his house, until the wanderlust again 
became too powerful. Presently, in company with an  
equallv penniless, and vagabond Pathan, Masson set out. 
for Kabul. The united possession of the two amounted 
to a harld'ful of ch.nppntis. a cotton wrap, a knife, and an 
earthen vessel, a,t the bottom of which there was concealed 
under some muddy water a trea,snre, amounting to some 
thirty or fortv pice (farthings). 

As ca re-free. as anenciimhered. the vagrants mlbsisted 
on the pountrv, and the 1eqenrla.r~ repntn tion of " Ferinqhi 
m~dicnl st i l l ,  " doctorin? sore eves, treating wounds. and 
dimases witrh equal iinconcern. and ormsional success. and 
especi allv nllevia tinq t,he slifferinqs of lovelorn swains by 

-- - 
* Masson's Travels in Afrrli~nistnn, etc., \rolnmo 1, pnge 82. 
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(for a consideration) giving love charms and philtres, 
wherewith to conquer the obdurate fair ,  

Usually they passed unmolested, their forlorn appear- 
ance being sufficient passport. But occasionally they were 
molested, as  when an armed Pathan stopped and searched1 
them thoroughly. Finding nothing, he demanded a drink 
from the water vessel which, though Masson protested 
was not fitting for a true believer after a Feringhi had 
drank tharefrom, he obtained. Luclcilv hc did not rlotice 
the picr a t  tho bottom of the muddy nrater. and, iriiicll to 
Wasson's relief he departed without attempting further 
harm. Masson remarks, " I know not how the fll~ill may 
have agreed with his stomach: or digestive powers, for the 
pice had been soaking for many days. , , 

Eventually they arrived a t  Jalalabad, where &lasson 
was entertained1 by the Governor, Sultan Mahornerl Khan, 
and from hence drifted to the frontiers of Kafirjstaa, from 
entering which Masson was dissuaded by his Mussalman 
friends. However, he stayed some time on the border, 
and collected much curious information concerning those 
till then almost quite unknown, people. They then travelled 
on towards Ghuznee, in the wake of Dost Mahorned's army, 
in which cholera was raging. Masson describes some 
ghastly episodes, but all were surpassed by the state of 
Ghuznee, where every open place, tornb, and deserted house 
was crammed with rotting corpses. 

A t  Ghuznee he fell in with Ha j i  Khan, Kakur, then, 
and for long after, a stormy petrel in A'fghan pditics, but, 
always a firm friend of Mnsson, for who111 he ofiered to 
obtain the command of Dost Mahorned's artillery, then 
vacant by the death from cholera of its European comman- 
dant. This Masson declined, as he did also an ofler from 
F ~ ~ r r l i l  Khan, Governor of Ghuznee, to enter his ~nilitttry 
service. Those were the days when every a d ~ e n t ~ l ~ r e r ,  if 
possessed of military knowledge or skill, was assured of 
employment, though, truth to tell. in Nor th~rn  Ind ia  it 
was usually restricted in scope and prospects. 
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Masson stayed at Ghuznee for some months, under the 
protection of sundry sirdars, and then set out, alone this 
time, for Herat. Owing, however, to molestation by robber 
bands, he made for Kandahar, and from thence passed 
into the Punjab by way of Shikarpur. On this journey, 
which commenced in January 1829, he met with the most 
s e r i o ~ ~ s  experience of all his wanderings, 'eing stripped 
naked by a band of wandering robbers, who even drove 
him away from their fire. But for the charity of a 
passing Mogul soldier, he wonld have died, for this man, 
who found him almost dead ne,xt morning, gave hirn some 
food, and a ragged poshteen. 

Arriving a t  Fazilpur as described by Holdich, he 
stayed for some months with Eahmat Khan, to recover his 
health, and1 then ;)assed on to Lahore, possessed of Rs. 2. 
Travelling hv TI-av of Multan, hr nrr-;\led in 1 , a h o r ~  about 
Julv  1W9. He thus tlescribes his journev, and experietices 
with Allardr :- 

" Though I had lived verv well on the road, and 
travelled 360 miles, I had stillWremaining half a rupee of 
the two I have received from Rahlnat Khan. I w a s  now. 
however, for a period' to live in a verv different fashion, 
in the house of General Ahlard, v r h h  I accide~~tnlly 
encountered on my approach to the city. Not~vithstanding 
my tattered dress, he surmised that I was a European 2nd 
I answered him in his own language, which absence and 
length of years had not disabled me f r ( m  s9e;:liing 
flnentlv . 9 '  

Declining the milita.rg service promised by Allnrd, nrld 
tto avoid Ranjit Singh. who might have forcibly detnined 
him, Masson left Lahore verv qaiptlv. and inad+ h is  v n y  
through Sindh. For certain information concernin? the 
E~iropean officers of Ranjit Sinqh, we are indebted t,o 

l' Masson's stay in Laho~e.   or ns usnal. he carefrllly set 
down all that impressed him .4mon:st the latter was the 
curious prophecv then current that. after the denth of' 
Raajit Singh the Pnn j i~b  m o ~ ~ l d  come under British rule 

Maeson'a Travels in Afghani~tan, etc. ,  Vollime I, page 405. 



for 140 years. This having been endured, the Khalsa 
would be released from bondage, wonld invade, and 
conquer Hindustan, and then crossing the seas to Ceylon, 
and Mecca, totally destroy the blaholnedan religion. 

Passing through Sindh, Masson embarked in a country 
boat at Kamchi, his intention being to proceed through 
Bushire. Baghdad, and Aleppo, to Europe. But tha 
hospitable reception by the European officials at  Basra, and 
Bassadore, their interest in his wandelrings, and accounts 
of the antiquarian and archseological possibilities of 
Afghanistan, and above all, a donation of funds from Sir 
John Campbell, the Resident in Persia, induced Masson to 
return to Afghanistan, and commence work on or*ganised 
principles. 

He arrived at  Karachi in April 1831, suffering rnuch 
from exposure in an open country boat. After recover- 
ing his health he joined a kafi,Ztr* proceeding to Kalat, a.nd 
with this, passed on obse~ving and recording every object 
of interest that he saw, as well as the mineral, and other 
resources of the country. It was he who first recorded 
the existence of those extraordinarv prehistoric remains 
which are only now'being investigated. From Kalat he 
returned to Sindh, and from thence went on to Kandahar 
and Kabul, arriving at the latter place in May 1832. 

Meanwhile the Government of India, enlightened as 
to his existence bv a lettrer from Persia. had instructed 
their secret agent in Kabul and the Punjab to ferret out 
Masson's antecedents. The following was the resultt :- 

" Kabul, 25th December 1832.-Early in November, 
whilst seated in a shop in the bazaar, a man passed by 
me, who had the appearance of a European, grey eyes, red 
beard, with the hair of his head close cut. He had no 
stockings nor shoes, a green cap was on his head, and a 
faqir or dervish drinking cup slnng over his shoulder. He 
did not, however, r~seinhle a dervish much, and appeared to 

Caravan. 
t Punjab Recorde, Book No. 139, let.ter No. 0. 



be staring a t  everything with the curiosity of a stranger. I 
observed to the owner of the shop, who had been in Russia, 
that the man was a Russian ; he rephied, ' Yes, and all who 
have seen him say so ' ; but he is an Afghan. 

" 'The nlaa was then lost in the crowd, but a few days 
later I saw him again and accosted him, but got no anm7er, 
and he walked away very fast. Early in December follow- 
ing, a man came to Kabul about his son, who was afflicted 
with the palsy. I n  the course of conversation, he 
mentioned that the dervish came to his house, and seejrig 
his son, said he had not his medicine with him, or he would 
cure him The man asked him to write down the medicine 
ancl lle ivoilld get it ; ~vhereupon the dervish said it  was not 
procurable in India. I-Ie then asked a spell of the dervish, 
who,  after mutterirlg to himself; produced a sma.11 pen and 
ink, wrote something on a paper from left to right (Euro- 
pean style), which he threw into The fire, and said : ' Your 
son will recover.' He had a con1,pass with him, and under- 
stood Persian, but not Pashtu.' There seems to have 
been somewhat of the Christian Scientist in Masson's 
methods. 

" A second report, of the same date, statesX :-" A 
European arrived here in the month of May, and1 resided 
some four months in the house of Suliman, the -4rmenian. 
He describes himself as an Englishman, by name Masson, 
and of the sect of priests. He had been absent from his 
countrv 12 years, during which time he had been a 
t ravelh .  He had lately come from Karachi Bunder 
through Sindh and Kandahar, and had with him two or 
three books in a foreign character, a compass, a map  and 
an a,strolahe. He V-:IS shnhhilv dresqed, and his ollt,~vard 
appearance denoted distress. He hadl neither servant, 
horse, nor mule to carry his baggage. Whilst a t  Kab111, he 
paid his respects to the Nawab Jubbar Khan, who pressed 
him earnestlv to enter his service. 

" The Nawab thought him to be a Frenchman, but 
Suliman savs he firmlv believes him to be an Englishman. 
Whilst living with  dima an, he had funds to pnv his ex- 
pense.. and mentions some part of his propertv ks' being in 
Findh. He dso borrowed Rs. 300 from A uakllri ,  2nd 

Pnnjab Records, Book No. 199, letter No. 8. 
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sent it by hundi to Sindh or Hindustan. At Kabul he 
had an interview with Ha j i  Khan, Kakori (Governor of 
Barneean) who, on going to  Rameean, sent for him. 
Having accepted the Iihan's invitation, and hired a pony 
for six rupees, he set out, on the 10th September, for that 
place. , J 

As was his wont, Masson explored the environs of 
Kabul, and made the following discovery, which, as shnw- 
ing how early Englishmen penetrated into Afghanistan, 
and there left their bones, is int,eresting. Masson 
writesX :- 

" But the most curious, and, to Englishmen, the mosb 
interestin: gravestone to  1:e found abont Kabul is one com- 
memorative of a countryman, which bears a simple epitaph 
and record, in large le$ble Rom-n chnracters. The monu- 
ment is .mall, and of marble, not of the very frequent 
description of unright headstone, but of another form, 
which is also common, and which imitates the form of 
the raised sod over the grave. It is to be seen close to the 
zinrnt or shrine of qh;lh Shahid, in the burial ground 
east s f  the gate of the same name, and within some two 
hund'red yards of i t .  

" It is rather confusedlv engraved around the sides 
of the stone, but runs as follows :- 

' HERE LYES THE BODY O F  JOSEPH HICKS, THE SON 
O F  THOMAS HICKS, AND ELDITH, WHO DEPARTED THIS 
LYFE THE ELEVENTH OF OCTOBER, 1666.' 

" The date carries us back t a  the commencement of the 
reign of Aurungzeb, when Kabul was held by one of his 
lieutenants. This monument was one of the first objects 
of cilriosity brought to 111y notice a t  Kabul, and residing 
immediately within the gate of the Bala Hissar near to 
i t ,  I had i1; in sight whenever I !eft my  house on a stroll. 
In those days there was a kabbar-kan (or grave-digger) 
well versed i n  the histories and traditions of the monu- 
ments and graves of the ground in which his practice pre- 
vailed. ITe was comm~inicative, and informed me that 
he understood from predecessors that the monument com- 

e Ma.won's Travels in Afghanistan, etc., Voh~me 11, pages 278-78. 
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memorated an officer of artillery, who stood so high in the 
estimation of the governor that  they were buried close to  
each other on a contiguous mound. 

" This, and the monument raised over the governor, 
were pointed out to me by the venerable depositary of 
funeral lore, and he assuredl me that the monument placed 
ove~r the Feringhi (European) or of Mr. Hicks, had been 
removed before his memorv from its correct locality, and 
placed over the grb8ve of a Mahomed'nn; such transfers 
however indecorous or indelicate, being somet.imes made. 
On R tn'pl~rl or 17-01lnd somc distance to the south is another 
monument, of the same form. but of larger dlimensions, 
which is also believed to rest on the qrave of a l'eringhi. 
The inference is here drawn from the direction of the 
stone, which is from east tto west. no epitaph being present 
to render the fact certain." 

This tombstone is also mentioned by Havelock*, 
Atkinson t , De Vignet . and Ma.ckinnon 8 ,  who visited 
Afghanistan between 1838 and 1841. Unfortunately, 
none of them aqrees, either with Masson or with each other, 
as to Christian names. Havelock and -4tliinson give the 
first as Thomas. Atlzinson and Mackinnon, as John, whilst 
De V i p e  avers that i t  is William. Another writer, 
Rarr.11, qives the names as respectivel\7, ,Tohn. ,John, and 
Edi th  vhilst T)n V i ~ n e  3yain mention.. the mother's name 
2s  Elizabet,h. 

We are inclined to a.gree with De Vigne, for a careful 
search through the records of the East India Company 
reseals the existence of William Hicks, a person of 
" despern te fortunes, " who served t,he rival (:ou~-tr?en Com- 
nanv at  G l ~ j r a t  in the vear 1652. Soon after this man 
disnppenred into Renqal, 2nd was reported dead. which 
ma.v have been m.er~1r  3, rilse t,o en3b!e him to escape his 
credit>ors. l\, '~h~hq.rt Rhqn Governor o f  Knhi~l in 1666, had 
-- - -  .- --- - - 

* H ~ v e l o c k ' s  Wnr in -4fghxnistnn ....,......., Volrimn T I .  p:irre 146. 
t .4t,liinson's R ~ p ~ d i t , i o n  t o  Afrrhnnistnii. price 297. 
+ n~ P i z n e .  Ghi~xnee nncl Kelnt, pnye 297. 
Ej nfnclrinnon's h,lilitn~-g Service in A f ~ h n n i s t n i ~ .  p:14e 199. 
I (  Bnrr's .To~lrnzl of x nfnrch, e tc . ,  pnge 375. 
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formerly been Governor of Gujrat, and possibly having 
there known Hicks, had given him shelter and employment. 
It should be remembered that many of the Company's ser- 
vants were skilled seamen and expert gunners, as well as 
traders. 

Immediately after his return to Kabul, Masson, aided 
by a grant of Rs. 1,500, and an annual donation of 
Rs. 1,000 from the Bombay Government, commenced his 
archaeological and antiquarian researches in earnest. It 
was stipulated that the whole of the proceeds shollld be 
sent to  Bombay, an agreement which Masson faithfully 
carried out. What they expected to get for this n~iserable 
sum is problematical, but that the money was well i~lvested 
is shown by Major Pottinger's acknowledgment of Octo- 
ber 1834* :- 

" The intrinsic value of Mr. Masson's finds is great 
......... I also desire to place on record my own opinion of 
hirn as a person of most superior education? artd fine feel- 
ing. " 

I n  the book, Ariana Antiqua, are many illustl-ations 
by Masson himself, of the numerous topes he opened ant, 
and from these he obtained1 a certain amount of infornla- 
tion. Rut this was nothing to  what was afforded by his 
numismatical finds upon the grea,t upland plain of Regram, 
a site he identified with that of the graveyard of the 
capital of the long-vanished Ariana (Bactria, or the 
present Rallih). For ages this place had yielded ~ount~less 
coins and relics, to the vi'llagers and noma.ds. all of which 
had disappeared into the bazaars of Kabul. 

Prom this plain alone during the pears 1833 to 1837 
Masson collected and1 sent to India about 70.000 coins, 
most of which were copper, though an appreciable number 
were of gold and silver. Resides these, he sent in  a great 
number of othm relics in the shape of rings, brooches, 
amulets, and jewellerg of various kinds, much of which is 

Punjnb Itecords, Book No. 106, letter No. 77. 
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illustrated in Arzana Antiqua, and the journals of the 
Royal Asiatic Society of BengalSx 

In  such occupations, interspersed with occasional es- 
cursions into the remoter parts, he passed the time until 
1834 when, the need arising for a reliable news-writer in 
Kabul, Captain Wade, the British Agent at Ludhiann, to 
whom Masson was, by now, fairly well known, thus 
wrotet :- 

" 9 t h  April 1834.-On the 5th February 1833, I 
addressed an article of intelligence to you from Kabni, 
relative to Mr. Masson, and observed that the E:uro- 
pearl iu question was well known to the French officers and 
had been residling some seven years in the Punjab. That 
I believed him to be a deserter from our artillery, either on 
the Bombay or Bengal establishment, that he was repre- 
sented to be a person of good education, and a' good 
draughtsman, and that I should endeavour to ascertain 
with what views he was in Afghanistan. 

" I accordingly wrote to our Agent in Kabul, who 
informed me that Mr. Masson was engaged in exploring 
the antiquities of that country, and had recently proceeded 
in company with Dr. Honigberger to excavate sorne extra- 
ordinary edifices in the vicinity of IZabu1 and Jalalabad, 
which had strongly excited their curiosity from their 
general similarity to the Manilqyala structure. 

" About the same time I received a letter from Dr. 
Honigberger., giving Ine a long account of his excal-ations, 
after which I heard no more of Mr. Masson till Dr. 
Gerard'. arrival at  Ludbiana, who confirmed my previous 
information co~lcerning the nature of his pursuits, but gave 
me an insight into their value and importance I had not 
before possessed. 

" Desertion is a crime viewedl by our government with 
a degree or rigour which scarcely admits of pardon, but if 
the severity of our laws is such as to preclndle the exten- 
sion of his' Lordship's clemency to  him. J still hope that I 
may be excused for the correspondence T have opened with 
him, and that adverting to his acknon~led~ed talent 2nd 

Ma~son's Trslvelq in Afphrrnistnn. etr . Trol~~ine I T T .  paye 219. 
t Punjab Records. Book No. 140, letter N o  26. 
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ability and the light which his interesting researches are 
likely' to throw on the ancient history, antiquities and 
present state of Afghanistan, I may be indemnified for 
any small sums I may advance Mr. Masson for the prose- 
cution of his scientific labours. 

" It is not merely from the nature of his scientif~!: 
researches that Mr. Masson's services wiU be likely to prove 
advantageous to the government, but from the observa- 
tions he has made, and the information he has collected 
UI )on the government and resonrces of a countrv which is or' 
d a i l ~ ~  increasing interest to  the Government of' 1ndia. His 
long residence in Afghanistan has not only enabled him to 
acquire a complete geographical and statistical knowledge 
of the countrv, but living like he has done, like a native of 
i t ,  on terms bf intimacy and familiarity with its inhabi- 
tant a .  he has enjoyed o+portunities of making observations 
which no European has yet possessed. 

" I n  the course of his journeys he has visited parts of 
Afghanistan thev have never seen. They have kept the 
henten tr;lck. an'd have heen the favoured guests of its 
chief< H e  has entered the innermost. recesqes of the 
c o ~ ~ n t r v  and associated day bv day with an indigent 
peasantrv which must qive a value to  his enquiries and 
encure an ilcciirac~ not to be expected from those whose 
ohcorva tic3ns a n d  opinions have been confined to beaten 

9 3 t TR C ~ S  

The milrder is o u t !  This '' pe~rson of most superior 
education, and extremelv fine feeling: " (Pottingeir), an 
estimation corroborated hv Ravelock. T)e Tripme -4 tkinson, 
Bnrnes. and Wood, all of whom came into personal contact 
with Masson a t  Kabnl. mras just what W ~ S .  and is. ~isnnll\- 
considered the antithesis olf a " gentlemanly, ref ned, and 
fine feeling person, just a common pnaate soldier !" Here 
let US quote another letter, dated 24th September 1835, 
~ 7 %  i rh (rives hlrgqson'.; ;,rrnv record* :- 

" M I ~ .  Masson was formerlv a private soldier in the 3rd 
troop 1st Rriqade of the R ~ I & I  artillerv, his real name 
hrin~! ,Tnmr.: T,evris Whilst in  the 2 r . n ~  he attracted the 

Punjah Recorde, Rook No. 102, letter No. 06. 
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attention of General Hardwick, and was engaged by him 
in classifying, sketching. and arranging his geological 
specimens. He served with his troop at the siege of 
Bharatpur, and shortly aftelr that, he and a man named 
Potter deserted and went to the Punjab. Brow11 entered 
the service of Gulah Singh of Jammu, andl Mr. \4asson 
shortlv afteIrward1s left the Punjab, and went or1 to 
~a h ~ l .  ' 

The motive underlving Wade's first letter war; his 
desire to have Masson, who bv now he knew fairly well (by 
renntr). and. to jiidqe by iatpr letters. had confidence 
in,  appointed newswriter a t  Kabnl, this latter being the 
tern) fo\r a !cind of recognised spy. The Indian l , f i~ss~l l -  
man, who had bend the post from its i n s t h t i o n  in 1F32, 
had mixed himself up in internal politics -a course n hich 
also t.hreatened to embroil his employers. It was there- 
fore necessary t,o replace him a t  once, and a, man lilte 
Masson, who, though he ha.d spent seven pears in severa.1 
independent stptes, had .till retained perfect independence 
of action a,nd . svmpathy, . and was besides an Enqlishman, 
was ~drnirablp suited for the post. 

The Government a.qreed with W ~ d e ,  who nTas a.ut,h~- 
rised to offer Masson the appointment on a s n l ~ r v  of 
Rs. ?50 per mont,h,* with the promise, should he nrove 
satisfactorv, of procuring a free pardon from the KinR 
Concerning this latter, the friends whom Masson had 
made in Persia, and in Rombav, were actively emplovedl at  
home, and when the Government of Tndia's recommen- 
dation came home, the pardon was granted. It is ~uriclns 
to note that thouyh the East India Company was an inde- 
~~end'ent  military service, deserters from i t  reqnired p ; ~ d o n  
fromthel<ingofEngland I t m a v F e t h a t  thereason !'or 
this lav in the fact that at this period militarv service was 
a life e n ~ a ~ e m e n t .  and a man dewrtine from the  East 
Tndia Companv was in exactlv the same position as a n  
escaped convict from the Australian penal settlement. 

Punjab Records, Rook No. 118, letter No. 1. 
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Meanwhile, Masson entered! upon his new post with 
such enthusiasln that he fairly deluged Simla with all 
lrinds of written reports on Afghan commerce, manners, 
history, politics, geography, etc.. to such an extent that he 
rather bored the esa.lted1 persons to whom his reports were 
addressed. However, they thanked him very nicely 2nd 
placed on record their appreciation of his linowledge and 
industry. * 

The inevitable result of Masson's accepting an ap- 
pointment under the Government of India was an 
estrangement from most of his old friends amongst the 
Moulvies and Sirdars. Hitherto his independent position 
had placed him above suspicion, but now, as the paid 
servant of a power they were beginning to both fear and 
distrust, matters were on a different footing. Another 
factor in changing his position as regards safety was that 
i t  began to be rumoured about that he had discovered vast 
treasures in thc course of his excavations, and that these 
were deposited in his house in Kabul. 

The general result was that for the first time in all 
his wanderings Masson was compelled to lock his doors, 
and later to keep up an armed guard, for most Afghans 
of the lower orders would, and mrilll, cheerfullv murder a 
man for quite a small sum. The p a p e n t  of these guards, 
and the men employe& in the excavations must have made 
a snd hnle in hfasson's meagre salarv. but this troubled him 
little for he coulrl live on almost nothing. However, had it 
not hem for his friendship with some -4fphan nobles, 
notably Akhhar Khan, later the man who murdered the 
Envot-, and had the nritish fomes massacred on the retreat 
from Kabul, he would have had to discontinlie his explora- 
tions for want of fiinds. 

These persons provided him with a certain amoiint of 
free lahnlir (~cnerolislv enoiigh permitkin? him to keep all he 
di.wov~red) prohahlv hecai~se it was of lit,tle use to them. 

P n n j ~ b  Record@, Book No. 118, letter No. 34. 
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In  the intervals df exploration he accompanied the Afghan 
armies on sever& expeditions of which full particulars 
were furnished to the Government of India, and in his 
official capacity as news-writer was present at the taking 
of Peshawar by Rnnjit Singh's troops, and a t  the battle 

:Meanwhile the Gove.rnment of India obsessed with the 
fear of a Russian advance on India through Afghanistan 
conceived the idea of getting into closer touch with Afghan- 
istan, first by means of a commercial treaty, latelr to be 
turned into a millitary alliance. From the commencement 
Masson was dead against the commercial treaty of which 
he recognised the futility, and this really was the cause of 
his had treatment by the Goverriment lat.er. His views 
are on officii~l record, but they are best expressed by the 
following qilotation frorn his bookx :--- 

" The Governments of England and India, as well as 
the public a t  large, were never amused and deceived by a 
greater t'allacy than that of opening the Tndus as regards 
commercial projects. The results 04 the policy conceded 
under this pretext llas been the introduction of t rmps into 
the countries on and beyond the river, and sortie half 
dozen steamers on the stream itself, employed for warlike 
objects, not for those of training ......... Rut a t  this time 
there was little notion entertained of convulsing Central 
Asia, of clethronins and setting up liings, of carrvinq b - on 
wars, of lavishing treasure, and of the conimission of a 
long train of crimes and follies 

" There is besides yreat ;ibsurdit~- in comn~ercial 
treaties with the states of Central Asia, simplv becmlse 
there is no need for them From ancient and irescribed 
usaze, moder2te nnd fiued' duties are levied, trade 
is perfectly free, and the nlore extensive the comrnerce 
carried on. the greater the benefit to the State. \V here 
then wxs the benefit to he derived ? "  

To open the neg~tiat~ions. Captain Rnrrres. a traveller 
of consi(lerab1e eminence. 2nd an officer in political employ, 
who had already visited Central Asia ~ v a r  deputed to 

- 
Maaqon's Travels in Afghanistan. etc., Volllme TIT, page 492. 
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Kabul. The attempt failed, for his instructions were 
eery vague, and his powers strictly limited. Naturally, 
the Afghans soon found that there was nothing to he ex- 
pected, or rather given, and treated Burnes with neglect, 
and even contempt. 

Masson had no hand in the negotiations, other than 
that of advising Burnes that the Afghans were very wily 
persons, who desired much more than a quid pro quo. IIe 
also told him that the Amir was only playing him off 
against the Russians. Presently, the Russian envoy, also 
a captain, arrived a t  Kabul, on the same liind of mission, 
and making extravagant promises (afterward's disowned) 
was taken into favour, and the Eng'llishmen - cold- 
shouldered. 

Such being the case, Burnes decided to depart, sncl 
nlasson accompanied him, for, though he asserts t'hat !;is 
personal friendships, and general inoffensiveness 'VOI 11 d 
have enabled him to carry on as before, he apparent.1~ 
realised that never again would his relations wit,h tLe 
Afghans be the same. 

-49 regards the mission, he was very outspoken, hoth 
in official letters and his books, attributing it as nlnch to 
lack of power on the part of the envoy, as to his undue 
humility and trustfulness. Burnes. t h o ~ q h  he had 
travelled much in Afghanistan, and Central Asia. ha.d 
hitherto only seen the sunny side of those countries. 

One of Masson's statements which especially angered 
Sir Henry Lawrence, whc being a moral man himself 
could not understand that any of his official cor~lpeers 
could be otherwise, was that Rurces, and his staff, were 
too lax in their relations with the Kabuli women. These, 
always addicted to immoral ir.trigues, which they colild 
indulge in with impunity under cover of the burqn, were 
very free with the Englishmen and their staff. 

Here let us mention that Sir Henry Lawrence, who 
wielded a ready, and on occasion, virulent pen, was 
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especially vindictive against Masson, and lost no oppor- 
tunity of deriding, ridiculing, or even abusing him in the 
pages of the Calcutta Review, to which Lawrence was a 
frequent contributor, on political subjects. 

However, what Masson said was perfectly true, and 
was later corroborated by Ferrier, who speaking of this 
mission, and the 1839-1841 occupation, thus remarlied :-- 

" The women soon gave themselves up to the English 
for money even with the knowledge of their husbands; 
fathers and brothers sold their daughters and sisters, and 
it  was a novel spectacle to see Christians become legitimate 
husband's of Mahomedan wives, for inany women u7cre 
legally married to English officersx. " 

'It seems certain that, in throwing in his lot with 
Burnes, hlasson cherished hopes of a political appoint - 
rnent under the Government of India,, to which his nnique 
I~nowledge of the peoples of Sindh, Raluchistnn. and 
Afghanistan real!v entitled him, and in these hopes he 
must have been encouraged by the many commendations 
of his work, which had' been expressed by that G overnmcnt. 
Rut, had he considered well, he  night have realised that 
his hopes were foredoomed to disappointment, for. all 
things considered, he had been but a privc7,te soldier, a 
person who in those davs was reqrdet-l as the scum of 
the ea,rth. 

Apparently, conversations with Burnes on the way 
down to Peshawar convinced him that his hopes for any  
but the most subordinate posts were futile, so on reaching 
Peshawar, in May 1838, he tendered his resignation. 
Burnes, who, on paper a t  anv rate, had a hi911 opinion of 
Masson, had already placed this on record in the followiri~ 
letter, which elicite'd the response immediately following 
i t t  :- 

" Knhlrl ,  gtl t ,  October lcQc?i'.-I feel i t  a duty incun - 
bent on me to report for  t he  information of the R t .  Ron. 

Ferrier's History of the Afghans, page 335. 
t Mnason'e Travels in B~lnchistan, Volnme 111, p a p  484. 



the Governor-General in Council the great aid and cordial 
assistance I have received from Mr. Masson, not only 
since I arrived here, but from his constant correspondence 
since I left Bombay. I feel I shall owe much to Mr. 
Masson, whose high literary attainments, long residence 
in  the country, and accurate knowledge of people and 
events afford me at everv step the means of coming to ' 
judgment nmre cor r~c t  tKan in an abrupt transit to Kabul 
I could possibly have for~ned. I discharge, therefore, a 
pleasing task in acknow$edging the assistance I received 
from Mr.  Masson, and whilst I do so, I consider i t  also 
mv dutv to statc, that I bv no means wish the R t  Iron. the 
Governor-~eneral in council to consider Mr. Masson as 
responsible for the opinions and views I may take arid 
report to the Gove~nment. " 

To this letter the Government replied :- 

" The Governor-General has derived much satisf ac- 
tion from the high testimony borne bv voursclf (Fir W. 
Macnaghten) and Captain Burnes t d  the praiseworthy 
manner in which Mr. Masson has colndlucted the duties 
entrusted to him, and Captain Rurnes will! be requeqtecl 
to furnish him copies of vour letters, and the Governor- 
General's recognition o i  his faithfnl and vxlna1,la 

- 9  qervices. 
A11 this, however, was valuelessj and possibly Masson 

realised this when he acc~~sed Burnes of bad faith. I n  
any case, i t  was not Burnes who a t  first opposed Masson's 
ad'vancement,, but Sir W i l l i ~ m  Macnaghten, who, after 
Rurnes had nerslladed YAnsson to withdraw his resigna- 
tion, and ~ o r d  Anckland hnd actually appointed him to a 
political post in connection with the projected expeaition 
to Afqhanistan, took upon himself to cancel it .  and 
directed Rlasson to remain a t  Peshawar. 

Disyusted 3 t such treatment, Ailasson now re-sublnitted 
h is  resignation in such unequivocal terms that there was 
no alternative hut to accept i t .  Concerning Masson's 
stric.t,iirrs on the offrial governing class, IIoldic).l, who - 
knew nothing of these letters, nor who Masson actuallv was, 
thus writes shrewdlv and sympatheticallv* :-- 

.- - -- -- .- - -. .- 

Holdich'e Qates of India, page 408. 
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" I t  is as a critic on the political methods of the Gov- 
ernment of India that Masson's records are chiefly instruc- 
tive. Hostile critics of Indian administrative methods 
usunllv belong to m e  or two classes. They are either 
uninfbrrned, notoriety seeking demagogues pllaying. lo a 
certain party gallery a t  home, or they are disappointed 
servants of the Government, by which thev consider that  
their merits have been overlooked. To this latter class i t  
must be conceded that Masson belonged, in spite of his 
expressed contempt for Government service. 

" The virulence of Masson's attac1;s on the ignorai~ce 
and f a t ~ ~ i t v  of the i>olitical officials with whom he came in 
contact inust be freely disca~lnted, because of the obvious 
animus which pervades thenl. Still. it is to be feared 
there is too much reason ta believe that private interest 
was the recommendation which carried most weight in thc 
appointment of unfledged officers, both civil and military, 
to political duty on the Indian frontier. These gentlemen 
took the field without experience, and without that which 
might to a certain extent take the place of experience, 
viz , an education in the main princinles, both soci2l ant! 
economical. which qovern the conditions of existence of 
t,hr people with whom thev had to deal " 

Having. as he expressed i t ,  freed himself from his  
thraldom. M~sson re tur~ed to Rameegn. through the 
Yusuf 7ai country, in order to co~nplete his ohservat ions 
and sketches and secure new material for his p~aojertedl 
hook. Having done this he returned through the F ~ i n  jab, 
and passed down from Ferozepnr to Tatta (in ~ i r r r l h j  in 
the train of the Governor-General. A t  Tatta,  he put 11p 

with Colonel Pot tingel-, Commissioner of Sindh. and :In 
old friend of his. and remained there for sonw months, 
complet.ing his volumes of travel for the press. and the 
material for A ~ i n n n  Antiqzca. 

Colonel Pottinger t.ool< both home with him. secured 
a publisher for Masson's own boolts, and handed the other 
over to the East India Cony,nnv. \vlio. after l a i n  it 
edited by Professor H. H. ~ i l s o i ,  published the results in 
a volume priced: a t  fire guineas. Of this. a few copies 
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were retained by the Company for itself, and the remainder 
were sold for the benefit of Masson's mother, then resid- 
ing in London." 

Being now a t  a loose end, Masson decided to return t;, 
Kabul through Baluchistan, apparently relying upon his 
personality and the many friends he ha,d made to be per- 
mitied to ca.rry on his travels and csploratjon unmo!ested,. 
But though he did not realise it, northern India was now 
a very different place to what i t  had been some thirteen 
years before. 

The interference of the British in Afghan affairs had 
created a feeling of intense hatred in Afgllnnistan itself. 
This had penetrated to the adjoining countries, and a: 
regards Baluchistan, had been accentuated by the cond~iot 
of the British army and their followers on its way through 
Kandahar. The tioops had! been kept fairly well in hand: 
but the horde of camp followers, who accompar~ied the 
armies of those days, numbering three times the fighting 
men, had devastated the country. Not only this, but the 
inevitable sniping and sporadic attaclis on the invading 
soldiery had been punished with merciless severitv by the 
soldiers in hot blood, and the political officers by so-called 
judicial methods. 

I n  addition, the Khan of Keiat had been suspected 
of intrigues to hamper the progress of the adbancing army, 
and to keep them short of provisions. Messon, and others 
allege that the Khan was maligned, t but, however this 
may have been, Kelat was stormed, the Khan with many 
others killed, and a puppet of the British set up as Khan 
of Kelat. Naturally, the whole country was very bitter 
against the English, and conseq~ientl~ a'nyona belonging 
to that nation, no matter how insignificant, was in extreme 
danger. 

Fort ~ ina te lv  for Mnsson. he found' a,t Sonmiang,, a port 
- 

on the Sindh coast, where the Ara,b dhows harbour. and 

Calcutta Review, Vol~lme 15, 1861, page 442. 
t Calri~tta Review, Volume XIV, page 313. 
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whence kafclas set forth, a caravan ready to set out nnder 
the charge of the same person he had accompanied on his 
former journey. But for this man and the friends he 
made in the icafrln, and those who remembered him in his 
former progress, he would have had short shrift. Tndead, 
he had ~ n a n r  narrow escapes. from which he was rescued 
onliv u bv b the influence of Khalig Dad, and another person 
who knew him well. 

Noting every object of interest, and taking copious 
notes of the geography and natural resources of the 
countrv, and the many prehistoric remains which he 
f o ~ i t ~ d ,  Masson drifted here and there, eventually arriv- 
ing a t  Kelat to findl the place fermentin? nnder the rule of 
the usurping Khan, and the political okcer left behind by 
the British to afford mon,etary and  moral support to the 
new ruler. TJnfortunately, no British troops h;ld been 
left behind, so that this officer's only inilitarp support was 
from 1oca.l levies, whose sympathies lay with the opposite 
side, and who were only held together by liberal payments. 

According to Masson, this young man ruled the 
Kelatis with scorpions, and exulted in the numbe)r 9f 

rebels he had blown from guns, or otherwise executed. A 
certain amount may have been brag, or exaggeration by 
Masson, but there can be no doubt that he was very severe 
and injndicious. Mssson relates amongst other instances. 
the facts that, just before his arrival a t  Kelxt, J-ieut. 
Loreday's bulldogs had pulled down and lrilled' a Relati. 
nnhindered by their master. This incident appears to be 
true, for though Lawrence, in one of his tirades against 
Masson mentions these bulldogs, he dbes not contradict 
the statement. 

On arrival, the traveller called on tlhe officer, who 
treated him very rudely, not even a,sliing him to take s 

c r chair, hut recomnlending llini t,o sit upon the ground. a 
position I was well accustomed to." However, he offered 
him some breakfast, a favour Masson sa,ys which was dio. 
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counted by the continual bragging about what he had dbne 
and was about to  do to  the Kelatis, some of whom were 
Maseon's friends. Quite possibly this was done with a 
view to intimidate Masson, whom he snspeoted of compli- 
citv with, or at least, sympathy for, the enemies of the 
new Khan. An invitation to dinner foqlowed, but when 
Masson arrived. he found that the officer had gone to bed.* 

Of course, after this, all intercourse ceased, Masson 
confining himself to his Indian friends-a course which 
accentuated 1,oveday's suspicions of his intentions, and 
cnl ised him to send incriminntin~ reports t,o Captain Rean, 
the superior political officer a t  Qlletta. 

Meanwhile, rebellion was brewing, and though Mason 
was intimate with the conspirators, he says that all know- 
ledge of i t  was kept from him, his friends being as suspi- 
cious of him on their side as Loveday was on his. This 
unfortunate young officer mas practically in the hands of a 
few of his Indian assistants, who kept him in ignorance of 
all that was impending, and lived in a fool's paradise of his 
ou-n omnipotence and omniscience. Consequently, when 
the storm broke, he 11-a!: hoth confouilded and frightened. 

I n  such an extremity, he sent for Masson,t who, for- 
getting all that  had passed, threw in his lot with his 
countryman, and as the latter was disliked by even his 
Kelati supporters, took charge, at  Loveday's request, of 
the defences of Kelat. w h a t  these were like may be seen 
from the following quotation$ :- 

" I was extremely sorry to find the guns i~seless. The 
l a r p s t  was n curiositv, havinq heen cast at Morlma, in 
Ttal \ - .  over three centuries before. There were three others 
of smaller calibre, which appeared but little more nsef ul. 
These nTeapons were fixed on to the uncouth carriages by 
lncqns of rolls of cord, rerlderinq it impossible t o  point. them 
with precision. The vents were apertures as larye as the 
palm of the hand. I managed to fire a few ronnds a t  

Journey t o  Kelat, pages 6&71. 
t Journey to  Kelat, page 133. 
t Journey to  Kelat, pages 137-148. 
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random, pointing the gun as near as possible towards the 
insurgents. We afterwards found that though these 
shots had only killed a horse, they ha,d so scared the chiel 
of the insurgents that he sought safer  quarters. " 

One would think that a greater cllriositv than emn 
this ancient Mohnese gun must have been its travels and 
adventures during its, perhaps, centuries of progress from 
its birthplace to this remote Asiatic city. What a story 
mich t  be written arollnd its many owners. fortunes 3nd 
misfortunes, a,nd battles and skirmishes. could they only 
be forthcoming ! 

Fn~vever, to ~'eturn tc, 1,Tasson andl Kelat. 'r31e 
defence rnight have been proof against the rabble surround- 
ing i t ,  and held out until relief arrived. but for treachery 
wit.hin. The expected aid not being forthcoming. the 
enemy set to work to suborn Loveday's counsellors, and 
succeeding in this, these men advised him to accept the 
terms offered. These were, an honourable surrender, good 
treatment, andl a safe conduct to Quetta. 

As might have been expected, the terms were never 
meant to be kept, and the first action of the Kelatis was 
to  imprison both men and induce Lovedav to sign a draft 
upon Quetta for Rs. 5,000. This having been cashed, other 
extortionate demands followed, and on Loveday's refus- 
ing to sign any more c-locuments. both he a d  Masson were 
treated with extreme rigour, being chained together, 
starved, abused by one and all, and1 carried on a camel i n  
the wake of the rabble now marchinq to Quetta. 

Near this place, Masson. a t  Loveday's request, was 
released, and sent in with the terms of ransom. The poli- 

A 

tical officer received him with suspicion and rndeness.* 
and eventually caused the messenger to be imprisoned! 
under an armed guard. Here again his treatment was 

.- 

rigorous, for he was permitted to remain in the f i l t h ~  and 
verminous rags he had worn for many days. a n d  given no 

Journey to Kelat, pnges 24849. 
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food nor bedding for the first few days. But for the 
compassion of the Hindu guard, who provided covering by 
stripping a ragged blanket from a passing Hindu, and 
reporting his plight to the military officer in command, 
Colonel Stacev, Masson might easily have died of cold and 
hunger. 

The food supplied him was but a couple of ch~rppatis 
a day, later supplemented on a remonstrance from Colonel 
Stacey, by " three farthings worth of sheep's intestines,* 
procured from the bazaar and served in an earthen dish 
such as dogs were fed from." " The foul mess " was 
convejred to Colonel Stace.y, who, after calling his officers 
to witness it, sent i t  on to Captain Bean, with such vigo- 
rous remarks that that gentleman sent his assistant, 
Lieut. Hammersley, to berate Masson for what he cdled 
" showing them up. " 

I n  the end Masson was advanced Rs. 100 (out o f  
Rs. 3,000 due to him by the Government) and permitted 
to reclothe and feed hin~self. During his imprisonment 
he several times demanded to know on what pretext, and 
by whose authority, he was imprisoned, but with no 
result. nntil the ever. useful C,olonel Stacey, a brother 
numismatist, who was well acquainted with Masson's 
csreer and pursuits, sent up a letter direct to the Govern- 
ment of India, which elicited the following reply :- 

" C. Masson, Esq.t 

" I have received your letter, dated the 29th ultimo, 
and in reply have the honour to acquaint you that I did 
authorise Captain Rean to d'etain you at  Quetta, until the 
pleasure of the Governor-General is known regarding your 
being permitted to prosecute your travels in countries 
sugject to the Crown of Kabul. 

(Sd.) WM. MACNAGHTEN." 
Eventuallv , Rean was superseded in political charge 

hv Colonel Sta,rey, whose first action was to obta,in an 
Joi~rney to Kelat, page 259. 

t Jollrnev t,o Tcelat, pnge 282. 
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enquirv into Masson's case, the result of which was that 
he was not only exonerated, but recommended for compen- 
sation for unmerited imprisonment. Mr. Ross Bell 
remarking* " that no groiinds had ever existed for im- 
prisonment, and that the evidence showed that, in all his 
dealings with Loveday, Masson had been actuated by a 
genuine desire to serve that officer." 

Bean's action in detaining Masson sealed Loveday's 
fate, for taliing alarm, the Kelat,is departed carrying 
Loveday with them from place to place, under conditions 
of extreme hardship and starvation, and in the end, when 
rlzarly overtaken by a British force, cut his throat. I t  is 
pleasant to note that  Fortescue, in his History of the 
British Army, in describing these incidents, scathing] y 
remarks on the politicds, especially Loveday, and 
mentions Masson as a simple and harmless soul; also that 
Colonel Stacey acting on Masson's advice, reversed the 
previoils pr?licy and thus espi.essed his thanks to  Masson in 
v,~rit~ing thus :- 

" I.et me thank you for vour kind advice when :joU 
were in vow prison. You must be gratified to know tlt,~ t ,  
actinq upon it .  I have ac'complished what the world said 
\\-as &npossible. " t 

Major Ontram, to whom Bean had attributed the 
information that Masson was a spy for the Rucsians, re- 
pudiated the allegation, and wrote through Colonel 
Staceyt :- 

" Major Ontram desires me to express his r e ~ r e t  of 
Captain Bean's interpretation of his remarks concerning 
yon, and that he was per.fect,lv unconscious of having cast 
the slightest aspersion upon gonr character." 

Thol i~h  Mr. Ross Re11 hn d reco~n~llended' l l n s c o l i  for 
silbqtnnti~l conlpensntion. nothin? Avns ever yiven. His 
appeals were. pitch forked haclcwards and f o r m  rds 

Journey t o  Relnt, page 268. 
t Journey to TCelat. page 275. 
f Jorlr~ley t o  T\'el:~t. page 278. 
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between England and India, until, thoroughly sick of the 
snuffling and evasions, Masson decided to qo home and 
present his appeal in person. The result of this and the 
end of his connection with the Government of India is 
told in the following letter furnished by the Keeper of 
the Records of the Government of IndiaX :- 

( 6  Mr. Masson wrote interesting papers for the Govern- 
ment of India on the trade of Kabul ancl resources of 
Afghanistan. He was arrested on suspicion during the 
insurrection in Kelat in 1840, but was released after an 
enquiry into his condilct. He was found innocent of the 
charge of intrigue, and was recommended bv the Commis- 
sioner of Sindh, Mr. Ross Bell, for conipensation for 
unmerited imprisonment. 

" His claim for compensation was referred to the 
Governmer~t of India. who declined to anrard any, stating 
that his case had been fully considered, but sanctioned his 
arrears of salary and allowance, amounting to Rs. 3,560. 
He also received from the Court of Directors a further 
reward of £500, for his collection of antiquities, which 
on representation was doubled. " 

A curious feature concerning Masson's dktention and 
connection with Loveday and the Ke!at insurrection is 
that, nowhere is it mentioned, neither in the official records, 
nor books concerning Raluchistan at  this period, with the 
exception of that by Dr. Mitford-a traveller who passed 
through Qnetta at  this time. Mitford remarkst :- 

" At Quetta I met Mr. Masson, who had been detained 
by the Political Agent under suspicious circumstances, a 
dktention fully justified in a country still in a state of 
war. He was a small man, not very sociable and might 
have been taken for a German. I did hear that he had 
been in the artillery. His detention did not last long 
however. ' ' 

Magson's last literary effort, of which we know, was a 
volri~ne of poems, written in 1849. To a review of this 
- - - -- - - -- - - 

* Government of India letter, dated 16th September 1928. 
t Land March to Ceylon, page 120. 
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Henry Lawrence devoted twelve pages of sar.loriic 
comment, in the Calcutta Review, for with him Masson 
was an obsession, whom he lost no opportunity of ridicul- 
ing, or condemning. IIe might have spared himsel l the 
trouble for the poems might have been reviewed in one 
word. They were atrocious. 

I n  conclusion and vindication of M a s s o r ~ ' ~  remarks 
concerning political officers, we may quote General Nott's 
opinion on the class with whom Masson came in contact. 
The Lieut. Hammersley mentioned had been Adjutant to 
Nott's sepoy regiment, and owed his appointment to  the 
General's recommendation. Yet this did not prevent him 
from soundly berating the General, in front of his statT, 
for refusing to permit him (Hammersley) to enter Kelat 
whilst the fightling was in progress. He only desisted 
from his tirade when the long suffering General threatened 
to place him under arrest for insolence to a superior 
military ofliccr. 

There was another one with General Nott's column 
who also fell foul of the General far  remonstrating against 
the brutal murder of a number of unarmed prisoners bv 
Shah Shujah's adherents with thle column. The General 
wrote a vigorous article in the Quarterly Review. con- 
cerning political officers, which so aroused Sir William 
Macnaghten's ire that he demanded Nott's supersession 
from the Commander-in-Chief in India, a request the 
Commander-in-Chief ve.ry wisely declined even to consider. 
Nott wrote* :- 

" When we arrived here, the natives had a beautiful 
idea that an Englisman's word ~ v a s  sacred. and never to 
be broken. That beautiful character has gone, and with 
i t  nverv pledge and guarantee stamped under foot. When 
T mas 'in Ghilzai, they found out who protected them. ;3nB 
who did not Mv tent was a,lwavs crowded with these 
people, begging to do solnething for me, and vet no one 
would go near the political agent. I like the& p~ople,  

Knye's War in Afghanistan, Volume IT, pages 360-51. 

P 
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and would trust myself alone with them in the wildest 
mountains. 

" The troops I sent out to-day will put the Govern- 
ment to enormous expense. The poor oficelrs and men 
will be exposed to 120° in the sun, all because a foolish 
political officer dest roved a small village containing some 
23 inhabitants. ~ n d '  whv? Because he thoi~ght, only 
thought. mind, that  they looked insultinglv a t  hirn as hc 
passed with his escort of 200 troopers.   ad I becil on the 
spot he ~vould have had but eight, and then he might have 
been civil, instead' of cruel, to the inhabitants. Fancx a 
ycung political officer with 200 troopers a t  his heels. Why, 
T ride ten mres into the country and1 entler villages and 
gardens with no escort but mv svce, and meet with civility 
everywhere. This officer wa$ captain Peter Nicolson." 

To conclude with a quotation from the ever useful 
IIoldichx : - 

" Here we must leave Ifasson. As an explorer in 
Afghanistan, he stands alone; his work has never been 
equalled; but owing to the verv unsatisfactory methods 
adopted by all explorers in thoseddays for the recording of 
geographical observations, i t  cannot be said that his con- 
tribution to exact geographical knowledge was commen- 
surate with his extraordinary capacitv as an observant 
traveller, or his remarkable industry." 

* Holdich's Gates of India, page 407. 
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CHAPTER XI 

RICHARD POTTER. WILLIAM CAMPBELL 

MARTIN HONIGBERC-ER 

Richard Potter 

Richard I'otter, or as he was usudlv called in the 
Sikh service, John Brown, deserted from the Bengi~l 
Art,it:lerv in 1826, sbortly aft.er the siege of Bhortpnr, in 
company with Charles Masson, both of whom were preserl t 
at th.e siege. 

There seems to have been something very wrong with 
the Bengal Artillery a,t this stage, for desertions from i t ,  
both during and after the siey~e of Bhurtpur, were fairlv 
numerous. Amongst the former was a Corporal namedi 
Herbert, who had served with the Royal Artillery n t  
Waterloo, and two punnors, both Irishmen of bad character 
  accord in^ to the Court Martial proceedings). Whatever 
induced Herbert to desert is not forthcoming, but what- 
ever his rewons, they made him so bitter that he a t  once 
took charge of the ~ h u r t ~ u r  guns, and improved their 
firing so much that i t  caused many casualties a m c q s t  his 
former comrades. I n  fact, one of 'his first shots nearly got 
the General, Lord Combermere, and badly scared the staff. 

All three were taken prisoner after the storming of 
Rhurtpur, and tried by a drum-head Court Martial, 
Herbert being the senior, and the most culpable, was 
sentenced to bc 11a.nged on the breach, in front of the 
assembled troops,-a sentence which was dnlv carried out. 
The others were acquitted of intentional desertion in the 
first place, but, for havinq joined the enemv, were 
sentenced to penal servitude for life. a leniency the 
Comnlnnder-in-Chid consiriered misplaced, and upon 
which he strongly commented. Other men joined different 
Indian armies, and one of them was killed at. Puunea~ . ,  

~2 
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in 1843: when the battery was stormed by the British.. 
Unfortunately, in falling, he touched off a cannon, and' 
killed half a dozen of the stormers, who were English. 
soldiers. 

Deserters in Indian services were very numerous in 
the 1at.w decades of the 18th century, and, in 1792, it 
mTas estimated that there were no less than 1,500 Euro- 
peans, with Indian State armies, of whom a large number- 
were deserters from the French or English armies. 

Yusuf Khan, a famous partisan chief. who had once 
served with the British, and actually gained a commission 
in the Cornpany's service (the first pure Indian to do so) 
and later rebelled against them, had, when he was captur- 
ed, no less than tvro hundred Europeans in his ser.vice, 
most of whom mere deserters from the British service. 
Unfortunately the terms of surrender guaranteed their 
lives, an omission over which the Command'er-in-C hief 
was exceedingly angry, for he had intended to execute the 
lot. However, he deported them instead. 

Now, as quite a number of those who instructed the 
Khslsa forces were d,eserters from the British service, both 
Royal and Company, we believe that a short sketch of the 
ordinary life of the private soldier in India, at  this period, 
will be interesting, as showing what reasons they had to 
cut themselves adrift from their country, and even occa- 
sionally fight against it.  

-4t this time enlistment in both Company's and Royal 
army was, for what was defined as an unlimited period, in 
realit! i t  was not so in the case of the Company's soldiers 
a t  least, for, after 15 years' good service, the individual 
cases were reviewed, and, if satisfactory, men were allowed 
to go at  the completion oT 21 years' service. A further 
advantage was that time in India counted one and s half 
times towa,rds pension, so that a man of twenty one years' 
service would really have thirty two to his credit, and h e  
rated accordingly for pension. 
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Men could elect to remain in India, but in such cases 
they were required to reside in specified places, any change 
requiring the sanction of a Commander-in-Chief whether 
in England or in India. Those who drew pensions were 
paid from what was called Lord Clive's fund, this being 
the revenues of jaghirs made over to him by Mir Jafar ,  
which Clive surrendered for this purpose. When this was 
not sufficient, men were paid from Company revenues. 

In  addition to an out-pension list in India, there were, 
what was called, invalid or veteran Companies; t l ~ e  former 
were composed of men fit for light duties, but not yet 
qualified for pension or totally incapacitated. In  these 
they served until they had done their time, after which, if 
desirous, they were sent to the veteran Companies, who 
corresponded to the Chelsea in-pensioners, with the excey - 
tion that thev drew full pay, etc., and were liable for 
military duty till the day of their death. There were such 
units in every Presidency. the veteran battalions, or 
companies being quartered in old forts, that of Bengal 
being at Chunar. 

After the Mutiny, they were allowed to clie out, b3t 
until 1895 regularly appeared in the Army lists. When 
we first noticed them, in 1892, the Chunar company con- 
sisted of one sergeant, a dr~unmer and three privates, cow 
manded by a major who came out to India in 1825, and 
lived at  ~ussoor ie .  Incidentally, the longevity of some 
of these veterans was renlarkable The oflicer just 
mentioned died in 1894, and the Chunar gravestones 
record1 quite a number of octogenarians, and two cases of 
men who had passed the century-. This Company was 
drawn upon during the Mutiny, for gunners for the 
Allahabaci Fort, and aboard the l?oats, 11-hich bt'ought 
troops up the river from Calcutta. 

We have before us the attestation papers of two re- 
cruits for the Bengal Artillery. In  the first, dated 1821, 
Daniel 0' Brien, stone-cut tcr of ('on nty ICerry , engages 
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to serve in the artillery of the Honourable Companv of 
Merchants of London, trading to the East Tndies, fbr a 
period of unlimited service, and a bounty of three guineas. 
I n  the second, John Parkinson, cotton spinner of Man- 
chester, engages to serve for the same period. There is a 
double curtailment, for Parkinson only received half a 
crown, and the sonorous title of the first paper has been 
curtailed to the simple " East India Company ." 

Besides direct enlistment in the Company's service, 
men were permitted to volunteer from the Royal Army on 
compl'etion of their regiments' term of service in India, each. 
man receiving a bounty of from Rs. 200 to Rs. 400, an 
enormous sum for the soldier of those days. Invnriablv, 
this money was spent in an orgy of drunkenness and other 
vices, the men being encouraged to get rid sf it as soon as 
possible, by immunity from punishment or duty as long as 
i t  lasted. 

The pay of the Company's soldier v7aq hiyher tban 
that of the Roval Army, and 2molunted to ~ ? b ~ i l i t  14 
annas a day, to which was added rations and a free issue 
of two drams of rum per day, there being about six drams 
to a reputed quart, or what is now an ordinary whisky 
bottle. I n  this issue lies the origin of the word " pex " 
as denoting a measure of spirit,uous liquor. Above the 
tub from which the men were supplied was hung a board, 
having their numbers painted upon it. This number was 
surmounted by two holes, in each of which as the dram 
was issued, a wooden peg was inserted. This saved the 
trouble of book-keeping, the amount issued, and to whom, 
being simply copied in bulk. When both holes were filled, 
the man was said to be " pegged up," and referred to the 
hoard as proof. 

The Company's soldiers were permitted a considerable 
amount of freedom off duty, and t o  make what female con- 
nexions they chose, without the ceremony of marriage. 
unless the partners were Europeans or Eurasians. There 
were no such things as married quartow, the married men 
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living in the barrack room, though perhaps a portion was 
screened off for their accommodation. Off duty discipline 
was lax, but on duty strict in the extreme, and the punish- 
ments fiendish. 

Flogging was an episode, and given for the slightest 
offences, sentences of five hundred to a thousand being 
often inflicted, 800 being a favourite number. How the 
men survived i t  we know not; many died under the lash. 
This punishment was rendered all the more degrading by 
being inflicted in the presence of the sepoys, who in the 
later years, after 1820, were tllrmselves exempted from it .  
I n  fact, the Company, possibly in order to show that being 
a Ellropean gave the soldier no special favour. went out of 
their way to humiliate the European soldier before the 
szpoy. How this policy paid them the Mutiny showed 

Here follow a few instances of other punishments :- 

" General Orders, Fort S t .  George, 1795. 

" This day, agreeable to the General Order of the 
14th inst., Lawrence Currie and George W a r b ~ ~ r t o n ,  
Matrosses of the Coast Artillery, cast lots on Marmelon 
Plain, when the former, on throwing the lower cast, was 
shot to death according to the General's sentence." 

U p  to about 1820, the private gunner was called a 
Matross, a term derived from the Dutch, who were the 
first to orgnnise a regular military artillery. 'In this 
particular case, there were seven men involved, their 
crime being a refusal of doty as a concerted protest against 
severe punishments. On the morning fixed for the execu- 
tion, the nlen were brought on parade a t  6 A 11.. and kept 
there whilst. the gallows was being erected\. None of thmn 
knew what their sentences were, but a11 expected t'hr 
worst. 

A t  8 o'cloclc, General Horn, addressed the prisoners 
in a twenty minutes' homily, pointing orit the terrible 
nature of the crime they had committed, and then, extollil~g 
his own merciful inclinations, he read nut the sentc~~c-es. 
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The two men sentenced to death were then paradedl around 
the square, to the strains of a dead march, and then after 
another long oration from the General, were informed that 
only one was to die, and that they were to cast lots for it.  
He also informed them that he had decid'ed to remit the 
disgraceful punishment of hanging, and that he was to he 
shot to death. 

This sentence was then carried out before the troops. 
What the feelings of the unfortunate men must have been 
may be imagined, when we state that the whole affair 
lasted for four hours. Another instance, a few yea,rs 
later, records :-- 

c c Calcutta Gnzette, 27.98.-A general court-martial, 
which sat in Madras on 12th April, 1798, sentenced the 
prisoners, Clarke, Stumbles, Banks, Forster, Lawrence, 
andt Connor to be sentenced to death for the crime of 
mutiny, the first three to be hung in chains, Forster to be 
blown away from a gun, and Lawrence and Connor to be 
shot to death with musketry." 

This offence was also a refusal of duty: and1 thc 
sentence of being blotvn from a gun is the only one on 
record, in which a European suffered. Another incident 
is recorded by Major Mackinnon, who writes :- 

" I n  the year 1842 I witnessed the execution of a 
private of the Horse Artillery at  Meerut. The nuinerous 
spectators present can bear witness to the prolongecl snfi'er- 
ings of the culprit. The rope being ad'justed, one native 
pushed him off a low cart under the gibbet, whilst two 
others tupged at the rope to hoist him up. The convrllsive 
writhillgs of the sufferer long haunted me. They lasted 
for nearly twenty minutes. " 

To conclude this series, let us narrate our experiences 
of what was probably the last military execution held in 
public in India. This took place at  Lucknow in the year 
1887, and the events leading up to the crime and the exec11 - 
tion itself, had been, we believe, made use of by Kipling in 
his story, Rlack Jack, and a barrack-room ballad Danny 
JIeever. But there was no w0ma.n in the case, the 
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sergeant who was shot having been murdered for what the 
men considered ovelrstrict disciplinary methods. 

Having decided to " put him out of mess " the men 
concerned wlio belonged to the convalescent dep6t a t  Rani- 
khet, and several different regiments, decided to  draw lots, 
as to who was to  carry out the sentence. A pack of cards 
was laid face downwards, and each drew in turn, after 
they had been carefully shuffled I:T- each man. The card 
selected was the Ace of Spades, or Black Jack, as i t  was 
called. He who drew it, a lance-corporal of a reginlent 
quartered in Lucknow, took his rifle, and a t  9 o'clock that 
night shot the sergeant who was sitting alone in his 
tent. 

The murder having been traced to him, he was tried 
by a General Court Martial, and sentenced to death. AS 
a t  that time military murders \;;ere veq-  frequent. owing 
probably to the men having twentv rounds of an~inmlnition in 
their personal possession, the Clomnlanrier-in-Chief rlccided 
that the execution should be public. Accordingly, this 
man was hanged a t  Lucknow before the assembled brigades 
of European soldiers, with the usual ghastly attendance 
of the band playing tlle Dead Ma~.ch, the clergyman 
reciting the prayers from the Burial Service, and the 
coffin borne before the prisoner, as  he \!-as paraded round 
the square. During this awful scene. an almost absolute 
silence prevailed, save for the voice of the cleryy~nan, or 
when he had ceascd, ~ l l e  h,:!-d p!nving the Dead Jlttrch, or 
when both were silent, the faint rattling of the harness 
of the horses off the Artillery and Cavalry on parade. 

Having arrived1 a t  the gallows, the coffin mas laid 
hefore i t ,  and the prisoner pinioned and capped. his head 
being enclo'sed in a pillo~v- case. The silence ~ v a s  absclutely 
deathly, except for the cccixsiou;~ 1 r n  ttle c,f iiccoutreme~it~ 
as some voung soldier overcome hv the strain. fell t,o t l:e 

ground in a faint, and was removed. Most awesonle of 
all \?.as the long shud'dering sigh that \vent as  t]la 

figure suddenly disappeared from view, and the rope, 
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adventurers. I n  June 1851, 68 men of the 51st Foot died 
in a week, whilst in Julv  1856, nearly 450 men, women, 
and children of the troops quartered a t  Lahore and hIian 
Mir succumbed within ten days. 

Bat, there were many ad'antages connected with the 
Company's senice, for any man of good character, and 
even average education, could obtain a staff appointment, 
more or less lucrative, but all infinitely better than regi- 
mental life. I n  Rengal alone, there were about '200 units 
of natives. infantry and cavalry, regular, irregular, local 
and provincid, to each of which was appoint,ed a Euro- 
pean sergeant-ma jor and quartermaster sergeant, the 
cavalry having a riding master in addition. Resides 
these, nearly everv civil appointment under the Govern- 
ment, from parish clerks to  cnna,l engineers, was filled 
from the local European army. 

-4s there were only 3,000 artilllery and 1,500 infsntry 
in Bengal, and the staff appointments over 1,200, i t  will 
he seen th3.t opportunities were many. I t  wars probably 
these opport,unities that attracted theproportion of well- 
educated men, of whom Henry Lawrence spolte when 
advocating commissions from the ranks for the Company's 
soldiers. He remarked in the Calcutta Review that in 
1S40, probalXy no army in ihe world had so large a pro- 
portion of well-adurated men as the Company's artillery, 
who wece the pick of the service. 

I t  was probably. as nluch these opportunities its the 
golden t,ongus of the Serqeant C- Kite of the period, $ilcling 
the already glamorous East that attra,cted these men, for 
the advantages .were well advertised. 

Therefore, those nrho deserted to native services were 
men who had acquired a bad character, one very ensv to 
obtain in  those days, men of no edncation, or the adven-. 
turous and ambitious, who dislilicd the rternnl prospect 
of n st,rirtly regulated existence, with nothing or perhaps 
a meayre pension a t  the end of it .  Of this latter class 
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was &Sasson and Potter, both of whom were educated men. 
W e  shall now quote a description of the life of a deserter- 
adventurer in  the Sikh service, from a little book published 
hy Henry Lawrence in  1842, called " an  Adventnrer in 
the Punjab." But  the sepia t int  of this description must 
be taken with a reserve, for Lawrence's idea was probably 
to  discourage soldiers deserting to such services, by paint- 
ing in a very murky landscape. 

Though he gives the name John Brown, and probably 
had Potter in  mind, this being the name by which he was 
usually known in the Punjab, the description is not true 
as concerning him. Lawrence's description runs* :-- 

" John Brown was the son o,f an honest labourer in 
England. He embarked for India with wet eves a.nd a 
lump in his throat, and thought of the day when he would 
return from ' I n j  y ' with money enough td buy a farm and' 
settle in his native place. On board ship, when the rations 
were served out, he was obliged, like the rest, to take his 
place a t  the tub and swallow his two drams. A t  first he 
took i t  like medicine, but in the monot.onons confinemctnt of 
a ship's life, he soon learned to  look forward to the stimu- 
lant, and i t  became needful to him; so that when he landed 
in Cdcutta,  he had no thought but the grog shop. 

" Personally illiterate, ancl surrounded with profli- 
gacy, and without a friend to warn or protect him, he soon 
fell into the common routine and did as little duty as  
possible; was clr~znk as  oftcn as possible, got an occ~sional 
reprimand, or extra drill, and 1)aitl off his ill-humour on 
the first black fellow he came acioss. In  this conditioll he 
came up coi1ntr-y. When a t  Karnnl, he was flo~ged for 
being drunk on duty, and whilst he was still s ~ n a r t ~ n g  from 
the effccts, he fell in with the emissar;~ of a clever 
sconnclrel, who had deserted to Dhian Singh's service. 

" Brown deserted1 from his regiment amd crossed the 
Sutlej. A t  first he was delighted with finding himseld a 
rich and independent gentleman, classed as  a commander, 
a n d  receiving five ri~pees a day. R11t he soon found him- 
self a very slave, that he was closely watched, 2nd must 

' Adventi~rers in the Pnnjah, page 186. 
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make 11p his mind to live and die in Dhian Singh's, 
service. - I n  the event of a siege, and anv suspicion falling 
lipon him, he mould be blown away from one of hie guns. 

" His tempter was now dead from the effects of dis- 
sipation a,nd such wretched fell~owship as Brown had with 
him was now ended. He was alone on earth. encouraged 
to spend his pay in profligacy, so that he might not save 
monev, and drown the remernb'rance of the co~intry and 
companions he had quitted for ever. He was a fair  
specimen of the deserters to be found in the Lahore 
service, who, leaving a certain competence for what they 
consider an El Dorado, find that they sacrifice more than 
gain in increase of pay and rank." 

With all due respect to Lawrence, who was a thorolxgh 
friend to the soldier, and his dependants, one could hardly 
consider fourteen annas a day a certain competence. We 
also note that he states that even in the Company's service. 
Rrown was surrounded by an atmosphere of profligacy, 
drink, and vice What then had he lost? If  he were 
held in chains in the Sikh service, these were gilded I\-ith a 
certain amount of freedom, and very much more money 
than he could have obtained 112d he rernaincd w-ith the 
artillery. 

Being of the deserter class. the existence of Brown 
was not so patent as that of the more legitimate officers in 
Ranjit Singh's service, hence there is no mention of him 
in contemporary books, and, i t  is not until nearlv fifteen 
pears after his entry into the Khalsa service that we obtain 
a glimpse of him. This occurs in the list of Europeans in 
the Khalsa service of 1841, in which Rrown is described as 
" Colcnel Rrown, an Amel-ican, who has charge of the 
artillery dep6t a t  Lahore, and its record office on a salary 
of Rs. 350 n month." We then lose sight of him until 
1844, when he re-appears as commandant of a battalion 
belonging to G d n b  Sing11 in Kashnlir. 

The first mention outside Government Records occurs 
in Major McGregor's '' History of the Sikhsx" :- 

+ McGregor's History of the Sikhs, page 140. 
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" Previous to the Battle of Aliwal, a European came 
into Ludhiana from the Camp of Ranjit  Singh. He said 
his name was Brown, but this was merely an assumed one, 
his real name being Potter. He had originallv been in the 
Bengai Horse Artillerv, but had deserted sdou after the 
siege of Bhurtpore inU1826. Even since that period, he 
had beer1 i n  the Sikh service as  an  artillerymau. He had 
nearly lost all appearance of an  Englishman, and retained 
but little of his national feelings, as he candidly confe~sed. 
The object of his visit was somewhat doubtful, though he 
professed himself willing to surrender and return to his 
allegiance as a British suhject. I t  was suggested to hi111 
that he hadl better return to the Sikh service, where he 
might be of service to the British. 

" He was afterwards taken prisoner on the 28th, and 
asserted that he had purposelv laid the Sikh guns so as not 
to  injure the British. That their guns were thus elevated, 
vlas probable, bu t  whether this was owing to Potter's 
arrangements was very doubtful. He was brought 
prisoner to Akbarwala, and with four of his gins, which 
were exquisitely finished and ornamented. " 

Another account by Major Mackin~lon runs* :- 
" A deserter from the Bengal Horse Artillery, John 

Potter by name, fell into the hands of the English during 
the enemv retreat, and was recognised by some of his 
former cbmrades. He had been some tim; in the Sikh 
service, and was instrumental in directing the enemy's 
light guns upon his conntrvmen; for which ernplovrnent he 
would speedily have heen 'consigned to  tender kercies of 
the vult~lres had the soldiers who captured him not bee11 
restrained by the Political Agent, who hoping to make some 
use of the renegade, saved his life. Mr. Potter had 
evidently imbibed. a strong predilection for his native 
countrv, and maintained that i t  would be impo-;sible for 
us to subdue the Sikhs with the forces now assemhled." 

Lawrence occasionally refers to Potter in his articles 
on the Sikh War,  published in the Calcutta Review of 
1844, but mainly to enable to gird a t  his bete  noire Masson. 
His reason for rescuing Potter (or Brown) was that he had 
been inst riimental in securing p o d  treatment. for some 

Msckinnon's Military Services, page 182. 
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prisoners talcen by the Sikhs before the Rattle of Aliwal. 
I n  consideration of this, he was not only pardoned but 
reinstated in the Khalsa service as an artilleryman. A 
little later he was transferred to one of van Colrt,landtYs 
battalions, and served with this b f o r e  Multan. 

At  this period we find a mention from Reynell Taylor, 
who mentions Potter by name, remarking that " Though 
a Sikh officer, he was a very sensible person, who warns us 
of coming trouble. He is an Englishman." After t'he 
annexation, Potter was employed in the police battalion, 
raised f rorn the Ichalsa soldiers, and1 in 1856, having qone 
blind, received a compassionate pension OF Rs. 60 per 
month from the British Government. 

Resides Potter, there are other mentions of men who 
served with the Silzhs against us, of ~j7holm we shall speak 
'later, and in connexion with these, one of them was pro- 
bably an escaped prisorler taken by the ,4fghans in 1841; a 
number of others never escaped, and of these we find casual 
mentions. For instance, Ferrier, a French traveller in 
Central *Asia, who published a book in 18.26, relates that 
in 1813, two battalions of infantry belonging to Yar 
M a  homed' Khan of Herat, were disciplined by an English- 
man named Kerville (Carrol) who had been taken prisoner 
in 1842.q. 

He relates that there were still some 20 captives, 
Europeans and Indians, with Yar Mnhomed Khan, and he 
had act'ually received a letter from one, described by the 
messenper as having red hair and green eves. Unfortu- 
nxtelv Ferrier could1 not read English, and the fact of the 
letter having passed to him beiny betrnved, it nTas talcen 
amray, the messenger himself ki'led, and Ferrier ill-treated. 
From a study of the records and contemporarv histo~nv, we 
are of opinion that this man was not a prisoner from the 
Retreat, but an officer of the Indian N ~ V V  nn.med Wvlmrd. 
who had been deputed on an exploring mission in Central 
Asia. 

Ferrier, Cnravsn Journeys, pnges 211 nnd 300. 
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Some years before he had been taken prisoner by Yar 
Mahomed Khan, a fanatical hater of all Europeans. 
There are many letters concerning Wyburd in the Records, 
and it was not until 1848, that Yar Mahomed Khan 
added his murder to those of Stoddtart and Connolly. 

I n  1847 it was reported to the Government of India that 
there were still a number of captives in Afghanistan.' A 
special emissary .was deputed to effect their rescue, and 
did so, ransoming some 150, all: of whom were Ind'ians, 
except. one. a European bov aged about 15, who knew 
nothing of his name, but was called Sh,er Mahorned. Ht!- 
was sent to the newly founded nsvlum a t  Sanawar. Yet 
another European, then about 22, escaped from Afghn- 
nistnn in 1861, and being adopted by some missiona~ies a t  
Ludhiana, ~vas  bv them given the name of John Campbell, 
andl sent to England to be educated. After two years or 
so he returned to India, but failing to secure any employ- 
ment, he returned to Afghanistan, averring that he was 
sadlv disappointed with his own countrvmen, and pre- 
ferred the society of the Afghans to th,eirs. 

William Campbell. 

Thoi~gh the person has been claimed as a Scotchman 
by the perfervid historian of the Campbells, who claims 
every one of that name in the Far East from 1615 upwards, 
this one was only so in name. 

As with so manv of Ranjit Singh's other officers, 
Campbell first appears at J,ahore, having made his way by 
some devious route to that place, in order to xvoid the 
inquisition, or possibly refusal of passage, at  Ludhiana. 
However, the watchdog at  1,ahore was tohis time on the 
alert, and thus amnounces Campbell's arrival :- 

t" 1st October, 1828.-,4 person named Campbell has 
heen admitted into Ranjit 8ineh9s services. ~e is an 
Tndn-Briton, formerly in Raptiste's brigade in Scindi a's 
service. He quitted this for the service of Dnrjun La1, of 

Piinjah Records, Book No. 175, letters Nos. 17 and 119. 
t Punjah Records, Book No. 97, letter No. 136. 
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Bhurtpore, and served him during the siege of that place. 
After Durjun Lal's dcfeat, he sought service a t  Agra, but 
failing there, came on to Lahore. The Maharajah accept- 
ed his services, and gave him command of a small body of 
troops. Y )  

Though Campbell had already fought against the 
British, that fact dsee not seem to have prejudiced him in 
any way, for though he was often associated with the 
'Rritish later, no steps were ever talcen to punish him. 

Tn commor, with so Inany others, Campbell's name 
does not appear in the Kliadsa pav-rolls, so we may wsurre 
tohat he was paid bv onc: of the feudatory rajahs. The 
only c~nt~emporarv notice is that of Masson, who arrived 
in Lahore in mid-1829, and mentions that Campbell, who 
had then been recentlv dismissed, had commanded a rezi- 
ment of 1,200 horse Thonqh < -  he had appar~nt lv  so irn- 
pre~sed the h4ahnraj,zh, as to obtain, a t  the outset, a fairly 
good command, his services were brief, and the fdlovring 
describes his exit from i t  :-- 

" 1st  September ,  1829.-The Maharajah has dis- 
charged Mr. Campbell and sent him with an escort to t'le 
left bank of the Sutlej. He  entered the Silth service some 
12 months ago, and raised and commandkd a corps of 
cavalry. in the execution of which dutv he Teems to llnve 
gained the favour and consideration of His Maiestv. 
Rut some cause of offence connected with women is said to 
have arisen bet\veen him and the M8haraj,zh, and in con- 
sequence Mr. Campbell applied for his discharce. T 2n t  

not aware of the rmte  by which he entered the Punjab. " 

I t  should not be assumed that bccause Ca.inpbel1 was 
dirnissed on account of some " offence connected with 
women ," that there was anyt ,h in~ shady or disyracef~il in 
the matter, for quite possibly the Maharajah had desired 
to foist upo~n him one of those discarded mistresses, whom 
i f  was his habit to plant in the households of his European 
officers, in order to act as spies upon them. 

For the next few venrs we hear nothing of Campbell, 
until April. 1833, when he re-appears as commandant of a 
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battalion of Hindustanis whom he had raised and trained 
for Shah Shnjah, then about to make his abortive attempt. 
to  regain the throne of Kabul, from which he had been 
driven twenty-three years before. After wandering fcr 
some years, Shah Shujah ultimately arrived a t  Lahore, 
where he took shelter with Ranjit  Singh, who after fleecing 
him of the Koh-i-Nur diamond, treated him so severciy 
that he fled from the Punjab, and took shelter at Ludhiana, 
with the British, who, sheltered him and gave him an 
allowance of Rs. 6,000 a month. 

Meanwhile, he had never lost hope of regaining h;s 
throne, so, when in 1833, favourable news from Harlan 
(whom we shall mention later) led him to believe that the 
time was propitious, he endeavoured to do so He received 
a certain amount of aid in money from the British, and, 
as Syed Mahomed Latif remarks :- 

" Having engaged the services of an East Indian 
name-d Campbell, and bought two guns from the Rajal of 
Thanesar, Shah Shujah left Ludniana to invade Kabul, 
and recover the throne from which he had been driven in 
1810. On the festival of Eed, the Nawab of Maler Kotla 
presented him with Rs. 5,000 and two horses. He then 
movcd on to Jagraon, where Fateh Slngh se i~t  him 
Rs. 2,000 and a number of swords. From thence he ptms- 
ceeded to Bahawalpur, receiving from the Nawab 
Rs. 5,000, and a number of camdls. H e  then went on to 
Shiltarpore, where Rusain Shah presented hini with 
Rs. 50,000, five or six horses, and some sword's and tents. 
H e  remained a t  Shikarpore for ten months, sending a 
present of a Persian horse and some tents to Ranjit Singh, 
who presentccl him with Rs. 1,35,000 and a gun, and somc 
matchloclis, on the understanding that he would relinquish 
for ever his claims to the territories of Attock, Knshmir, 
Pesbawar, and the Derajat. 

" Near Shikarpore, the Shah was attacked bp the 
Sindhian .Amit-s. whom 1:e siqnally defeated on the 9th 
.Jnnnarv, 1834, capturing fo& guns and exacting a sum 
of R S  6,00,001). ~ r ~ a t l v  elated bv his success ; he nmrched 

History of the Pnnjah, pages 461-62. 
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-towards ICandahar, collecting from the Khan of lcelat 
11s. l,OO,OUI), lour horses and twenty camels. Having 
reached Kandahnr, he !aid close siege to the town. 1)ost 
Mahomed, hearing 01 this a t  orice marched to the relief 
with 20,000 horse, 5,000 foot, and about 18 guns, being 
joined a t  Kandahar by his son Mahomed Akbar Khan, 
with 12,000 cavalry and four guns. 

" On the arrival of this re-inforcement, Ilost 
blahomed, unsheathing his sword, directed a forward 
movement, but returned after galloping some 500 yards. 
At about five in the morning the Shah directed Campbell 
t o  attaclr the enemv, and that officer, by a skilful move, 
sllccwded in carrying all before him, dispersing in  ercry 
direction in succession the battalions of Abdul Sami Khan, 
and the cavalry of the Kandahar chie~fs. Eafliv next 
morning the enemv drew up his forces in order ofdbaitlo, 
and the two gennials of the Shah's army moved forward 
to meet him, Mr. Campbell being sent fortward with two 
battalions. but without guns to support him, or any 
m.:ralr.~. The whole of the remaining force was ortlered to 
s ~ l ~ ~ o ; . t  him. Anything lilie order or discipline was 
quite unknom7n to the Shah's troops, the several divisions 
acting independently of each other. 

" The result was that the Shah's troops were hemmed in 
between the dry ban1;s of a steep watercourse, and' fell into 
confusion.  he Shah from his elephant, ordered Mr. 
Campbell to " Chapao " or rush forward to the attack, +he 
latter remonstrated saying this was no time for break- 
irig the ranks, but for a bold stand and steady fighting. 
The Shah, however, w-as headstrong, and repeated the 
order, but to the astonishment of all, in the same moment, 
turaed his elephant and fled. 

" Mr. Campbell engaged the enemy for two hours 
though badly wonnded, but was finally overnowered and 
talren prisoner. Three hundred of his Hindustanis who 
had been in the Company's service, also made a bold stnnd 
hilt were finallv overpowered bv numbers. - The enemv's 
triumph was followed bv terrible scenes. The whole of the 
nrbtillerv and stores fell into nost Mnhomed's hgnds. H y d '  
:111 been like R4r. Campbell matters wo~lld have ended verv 
d i f f ~ ~ e n t l y .  The A m i r  treated Mr. C2mplnell verlr ~vell, 
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having him treated by a surgeon, and when lvell put upolr 
aa elephant and sent to Kabul. Finally he put Mr. 
Campbell in charge of his artillery on Rs. 400 per month. " 

According to the news writer's report Campbell was 
wounded by two balls in the thigh, and some severe sword 
cuts. Apparently hc became practica:lv Com~na~nder-in- 
Chief of the Afghan army, if the following report is 
correctX :- 

" Mr. Campbell recentlv informed Dost Mahomed that 
seven regiments of infant>ry and four of cavalry were i ~ :  
fiile order, and ready for the field. Dost Mahomedl there- 
upon assembled all 6is troops numbering 30,000 Horse and 
12.000 Foot and reviewed them. He expressed himsolf 
well satisfied, and promised to leadl them against Peshawar 
in the cold season. ' ' 

Shsh Shu ja retilrned to Lndhiana, and remainctl thcrc 
until 1838, when he was brought forth bv the British to be 
set up as a pl-ippet king in the mom of nost Mahorned. for 
reawns which do not here concern us. At British expense 
hr was provided with an armv of about 5.000 men oficered 
by the Ccmpany's officeis, and N.  C. 0 ' s  , and, acccm- 
panied bv a ~ r i t i s h  force of 3 Brigades of Infantry and 
one of ckvalrp, advanced on Kabul 7% Kandahar, whilst 
a mixed army of Sikhs and British adtranced through the 
Khvber. 

,4s might have been foreseen, and was actually pro- 
phesied, bv many, this attempt to foist upon an unwilling 
nation, a Xing whom they had driven out many yealas 
before, and whose restoration was forced upon them by a 
foreign nation in its own interests, failed in the end, 
thoi~qh for two years the British maintained themselves a t  
Kn hrll, by bribery and pronlises, which however. were 
impossih?e to hllR1. So long as monev was forthcoming the 
Afqhirns toleratedl the presence of 'this small force of 
British in their capital town, but when the liberal subsidies 

to the Sirilnrs and t rihesmen, were discontinued by the 
Cnlclitta Journal, 1835, page 331. 
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Government of India, who too late reallised the enorn~ous 
expense of the enterprise they had undertaken, the revolt 
broke forth. 

On the 2nd of November, 1841, an  armed mob at  tacked 
the house in the city, wherein lived; Sir  Alexander Billmes, 
his brother, and William Broadfoot, and murdered then- 
and their escort, after a gallant defence. The treasury 
next door containing two lakhs of rupees, was also looted, 
and having done this, the houses were set afire, and all 
within them, lcilled or wounded, burnt alive. 

The military operations following the outbreak were 
futile and dilatory, for the General in command was 
feeble in body and senile in  mind. His  second in 
command, Colonel Shelton, of the 44th Foot, was a con- 
tentious, strong-willed, and generally impossible person, 
who not only despised his superior, but openly opposedl him. 
Nor were Shelton himself, or his immediate inferiors, 
much good as soldiers, a defect which lost them the con- 
fidcnce of the soldiers they commanded, and led to several 
nlilitary disasters. Shelton made no attempt to penetrate 
into the city, and disperse the rioters, cont,entirlg himself 
with simply parading his troops. The account, written 
by Xlajor Hough, in the Calcutta Review of 1850, 
st:?tes :--- 

*" Imniediatelj~ the n e w  of the attack came to Shah 
Shuj ah, he ordered Campbell's regiment out to the rescue, 
and at  the same time a, British force was ordered to move 
into the city in support. When the Shah ordercd 
Campbell's corps to march into the city, he left the mow- 
rnent to the discretion of the conimand'ant, who thonght- 
lesslv plunged his men and guns into the main thorough- 
filre' fl~om the Aala Hissar. Had he moved without the 
embarrassment of gui~s  nlorig the hill base (of the Rnla 
R~SSRT.) he could have reached without danger or dificnlt:; 
the end of the short street, in which Rurnes and tkc 
Treasury were, and could easilv have forced his wav to 
them. bbt by endeavouring to make good his 

' Cnlcnt,tn Review, 1960. 
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through the heart of the city, and struggling in vain to. 
drag his guns through its  winding obstructed streets, 
courted defeat. Accordingly, he was resolutely attacked 
and repulsed with a heavy loss of men, without being able 
to reach the scene of plunder and butchery. 

" Shelton, on reaching the Bala, Hissar, kept his 
detachment ur~der. arms, but made no attempt against the 
insurgents. After losing an  hour in inactivity he srmt 
out an officer, who reported that Campbell's corps were 
ll~taten and retiring. H e  then ordered out a company of 
sepovs to cover the retreat. They managed to get back 
thc $ms, but left them lying in the ditch of the fort. 
Although Campbell failed, h e  deserves the credit of having 
displaved more resolution and energy than others who did 
nothi&. ' ' 

The military operations following this episode, are as  
little creditable as itself, and deserve oblivion. Let us 
content ourselves by stating that eventually the British 
were permitted to  retreat from Kabul through the Khyber. 
and its preceding passes, undler promise of safe conduct,. 
How that promise was kept is well known, and a vivid 
account of the disastrous retreat will be found in our 
appendix. So fa r  as  regards Campbell, there are a few 
mentions by British officers engaged in this expedition.- 
Havelock relates* :- 

" We found in Kabul on our arrival, two adventurers 
of American and British origin : one was Mr. Campbell, 
and the other Mr. Harlan. Mr.  Campbell had formerly 
been employed with the forces of Shah Shujah in 1 ~ 3 - i .  
and h~haved with p a t  bravery in the action tinder the 
walls of Knndahar, but was wounded and talten pl-isoner 
...... a ci~.cumstance which led io the panic fliqht of his 
Royal Master. He nest followeci the fortlines of the 
Rarnkznis. and was in favoiir some tinie with the Alnir of 
K a h i ~ l ,  and resicled in the Rurj-i-Wazir. a fortified h o n ~ e  
in the ~ i~h l i rhs  of the citv Reforc the nritish renched 
Knhill. Camphe11 was sent over the Hindi1 TCli~h nnrler the 
s~irvcillance of the Aniir." 

Havelock's Carnpitign~ in Afghanistnn. Volume IT, page 245. 
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Doctor Atkinsonx, explains the reasons- 

" Before quitting the capital, Dost Mah~med called 
for Campbell, and ordered' him to advance with the Qa.zil- 
bash troops, saying that he had eaten the Shah's salt, and. 
could not be so ungrateful as to fight against him." 

After Shah Shujah's re-instatement, Campbell re- 
entered his service, and was placed in command of his 
persolla1 guard, a battalion corisisting of 500 Hindustall is, 
and continued in this after the British had retreated from 
Kabul. Some time after the massactre, more trouble arose 
for the Shah, who never a wise or politic man, had treated 
his opponents most unmercifully. Even on the advance 
into Afghanistan, he had disgusted the British officers, 
other than the politicals, with his force, by his brutal 
treatment of the prisoners talren in the advance. Sir  
William Nott spealis with the utmost indipa t ion  of the 
leisurely slaughter of 200 men before the shah's tent, by 
his nt6anlv followers, and there are several other instances 
of his cruelty. 

ITtterly disgusted with their ruler, the Sirdars plotted 
to murder him, and one evening when out riding. the 
Shah was shot down, his body stripped, and thrown into 
a wayside ditch. Extraordinarilv enough, the British 
restored Dost hiaho~ned to the throne, and almost as 
e~traordina~rilv,  he received Campbell back into his service, 
in which he died in the year 1866. 

Doctor Martin Honiqberaer. 

Wot the least interesting of our Europeans is this 
simple minded and worthy old Transylvanian. 

The Punjab Records do not afford us much informn- 
tion regirdin? his career in Ranjit Sin yh's service, which 
was hrorzen lip into two parts. sepa.rated hv srkeri~l years. 
but he  has left us the record of his life, adventureq, and 
experiences, in a pondel-011s vollilno of some 500 pnges.t 

Atkinson Expedition into A f g l ~ : ~ n i s t ~ n .  pngn 260. 
t " Thirty-five years in the Enst." 
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profusely illustrated, which besides his personal history, 
contains much interesting medical, botanical, and archae- 
ological lore. Of the value of most of this we are no 
judges, but the ancient dmtor discourses learnedly on the 
virtue of nearly every remedy or medicine beneath the 
sun, from tiger's whiskers to  pounded locusts, a ~ ~ d  from 
jack fruit  to mustard seed. 

No disease or injury seems to have come amiss to 
him, and he treated them either with or without instru- 
ments or drugs, and strangely enough often succeeded in 
his most drastic experiments. He relates wonderful cures 
of plague, glanders, hydrophobia, small-pox, cobra bite, 
stone, etc., and marvellous surgical operations which, 
withal, are given with such simplicity and detail that 
they carry a conviction that the doctor is telling the 
perfect truth.  Certainly, he does acknowledge in a 
number of cases that the pa,tient dlied, but as is often the 
case with medica.1 men, qualifies the failure by asserting 
that the patients were brought to him too late ! 

Still, he was a fine old soul, and a traveller of no mean 
calibre, who for oker 30 years travelled and practised in 
the principad parts of Europe, Asia, Egypt, and India, 
experiencing many weird adventurers, of which we can 
give hut brief extracts, of necessity omitting much. 

.John Martin Honigberger, known in the Ichalsa 
service as " Martin Sahib," was born a t  Kronstadt about 
1 795. Having completed his medical training. he set forth 
in search of a livelihood in the spring of 1815. and after 
a year's wandering through Europe and Russia, arrived 
a t  Varna on the 131,zck Sea, from whence, after a stormy 
passage, described r a ~ h e r  pictliresquely, he arrived a t  
(:onstantincple. Fle sta.verl there a few months. whcn, 
having ohtnined an n?,pointmmt as physician to  the 
C , r , v~ rn r , r  nf 7'0s(.at he tra,velled tro that pl~r?~(: in 3 mrnvan .  
1-TP soon tired of this employment, and hearing that 
another rnravnrl was ahout t,o depart for Aleppo, joined 
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it and passed on to that place, subsisting by the practice of 
his profession on his fellow travellers and the inhabitants. 
Soon tiring of Aleppa, he sailed down the Syrian coast, 
visiting each of the principal ports, and then to Jeru- 
salem. 

He left this for Cairo, where he obtained an employ- 
ment in the Turkish military medical service. which he 
held for some years. I n  1822, plague having brolce11 out 
in Syria, Honigberger resigned his post, to proceed there 
tc, treat and study the n~aladv, in which he became it 

specialist He .let up in p r ~ c t i c ~  in Damascns, as a 
specialist in plague, small-pox, and stone, olf the latter of 
which he relates some marvellous cures both with and 
\rit,hollt anzsthetics or instruments. 

For many pages of his book, the doctor maunders cn, 
relating strange medicaa cases, and cures (or otherwi~e) 
with a simplicity always entertaining and nccasionnlly 
amusing. presently this inveterate wandkrer set out on 
an antiquarian trip to the Pyramids, but arriving at, 
Alexandria, found the citv in the throes of a plague 
epidemic, of which he relates some very ghastly details. 
Remaining there until the plague had abated, he returned 
to Damascus, where he stayed some twellve months longer, 
until hearing that the Governor of Baghdad required a 
European physician, he set out with a caravan. 

On this journey which was not without many adven- 
tnres, the doctor, as was the custom in Mahornedan 
connt,ries. travelled as a dcvolit Mussulman. and to this, 
and his acquaintance with the Arabic lanqiage and several 
other dialects, attributes his immunity from injury or 
robberv. He claims ncqrlaint ance witlh eleven separate 
languagec, four of ~vliich nrer.t. Asint.ic, a n d  many  dialects. 
On arrival n t, Raqhdnd, Honiq\wrqt.r was iovfnll,~ received 
by the Fnshn who was nraentlv in need of his service, for 
:I ,  d'isease the doctor omits to ment.ion but in which he 
remarks that he was a specialist. The desired cure hnvinc 
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been effected, Honigberger was confirmed in his appoint-- 
ment, with the additional charge of the local hospital, of '  
which he speaks very scathingly, for it was but a collec- 
tion of sheds, devoid of medical appliances or necessaries. 

However, he did very well, and gives us instances of 
some marvellous cures, varying from extracting nests of 
living insects from within the skull of a living person, to 
czsarean operations. After some months he was directed 
to accompany the Turkish troops sent out to suppress an 
Arab battalion, and of the atrocities perpetrated on the 
unfortunate prisoners, and the mounds of heads collect,ed, 
the cfoctor speaks most feelingly. Finally convinceil 
" that the Turkish service was not one for peacefu% or 
humane men," Honigberger quitted it,, and returned to 
Baghdad, where he met a merch.ant who had just come- 
from Lahore, and to  whose glowing tales of the p~~ospects 
for Europeans in Ranjit  Singh's service, he listened a!)- 
preciatively, 

Addressing a letter to Avitabile, asking his services 
Honigberger departed for Bushire, en ~ o z l t e  t,o Lahore, 
accompanied by a Frenchman of the curious name of De 
Turk, who was also desirous of service with the Sikhs. 
On arrival a t  Bnshire they found that owing to the mon- 
soon, no vessels were sailing for India, and therefore, de- 
cided to  return to Ispahan and make the journey over- 
land. But,  on arrival, Honigberger was impressed fov 
medical service with the Turkish army, setting out to f i ~ h t  
thz Russians, and the curiously named Frenchman became 
his assistant. They manage$ so well as to incur !he 
deadly enmitv of the halcims. who planned to assassinate 
them 

Fortunatelv, they were a p p r i ~ r d  of the plot, and! fled 
to Ba ghdnd, where an answer from Avitabile, assuring 
Honigberger of employment was awaiting him; so, leaving 
his friend, who had had quite enough of adventure. bp- 
h i n 0 ,  FIonigherger eventnally arrived at Ka~lachi. Fmm 
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whence he travelled to  Lahore, wid Mdtan ,  both he and 
his Armenian servant passing as Mussulmans. 

Having hitherto only travelled in Shiah country, they 
were unacquainted with Sunni methods, so to  prevent 
being detected when joining in the prayers, the doctor 
adroitlv overcame the difficultv by affirming that both he 
and the servant were suffering from a loathsome complaint, 
which rendered them unfit to associate with pure and 
orthodox Mussalmans. Whilst a t  Multan, Honigberger 
was taken ill of a " putrid " fever, which he cured by a n  
extraordinary method administered in as extraordinary a 
manner. 

Eventually arriving st Lahore, he intwviewed Ran j it 
Singh, who as usual, kept him waiting for some months, 
an interval the doctor employed by a journey to Kashmir, 
where he cured Raja Suchet Singh of a long standing 
complaint of a similar nature to th.at of the Pasha. 
Presently he was sent #for, and appointed physician in 
ordinary to the Court, together with charge of the gull- 
powder and shot factories.. . . . . a  curious combination. 
He now settled down a t  Lahore for four years, during 
which time he effected some e~t~raordinnrg cures of 
glanders in human beings, and of hydrophobia, both of 
which are corroborated by Captain Wade and Doctor 
Murray, who were in Lahore a t  the time Probably the 
diseases were not far  advanced. 

Amorlgst, the cilrious duties entrusted to him was the 
superintendence of the distillation of :I very potent spirit, 
which he invcntecl for Ranjit Singh's especial delecta- 
tion, for the Maharajah had lost his taste for ordinarv 
spirit, which he alleged, had no bite. This spirit was so 
potent that a couple o1f wineglassfnls linocli~d over the 
most seasoned topers amongst the Rritisll officers, who 
were oc.casionnllv reqnled with i t ,  t h o i i ~ ~ h  €01. n t i n ~ e  the 
Mnhnrnjah ind~~lqcd frcelv in it Hon~evcr. in the end. 
i t  proved too much. even for him 
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I n  1833 an  overwhelming nostalgia overcame the 
doctor, so that  he determined to  return to Transylvania. 
Loath to par t  with Honigberger, for whom he had a 
sincere liking, Ranjit  Singh increased his pay, and offered 
him charge of a district, " such as Avitabile and Harlan 
enjoyed. But such was my longing to  depart, that not 
even the Rajah's Koh-i-Noor, valued at Rs.  5,00,C)OC,, 
would have tempted me to remain." From Lahore, he 
made his way wid Kandahar to  Kabul, where he encounter- 
ed Masson, in  company with whom he explored a number 
of the ancient and curious monuments called topes, fonnd 

Though Honigberger mentions Masson only cas~~al ly.  
i t  appears that the latter accompa~~ied him as fa r  as 
Orenburg. His  activities aroused the suspicion of Dost 
Mahomed, wha suspecting him of having obtained some 
treasure from his excavations, had h i ~ n  matched. so talrillg 
alarm a t  this indication of suspicion, Honigberger fled to 
the frontier of Afghanistan, where he was arrested and 
imprisoned. However, throiigh the medium of Nawab 
Jubbar Khan, always a, friend to Europeans, he was 
released, and travelled on to Bokhara, practising his pro- 
fession with or without reward, and effecting cures, though 
honestly enough, he admits that a number of case.; weye 
unsuccessful. 

I n  addition to free medical attendance on poor people, 
he ransomed a number of Russian prisoners a t  his own 
expense. From Bokhzra he passed through Central Asia 
to Orenburg, and thence to Nijni Navgorod, still passing 
as a Mussulman. At Niini he made a speculation in 
sable skins, and being ba'dly swindled, sought the aid of 
the Governor, hut too late, for the merchant had heen 
before him, so that when Hnnigberger pr rs~nted  him~elf ,  
he was arrested as a spy passing as n true believer. 

Fortl~na~telv, sornc influential Ger~nnn merchants, got 
h im rclen scrl on ha il , which however: Honigherger 
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thought it prudeni to forfeit, and fled from Nijni by 
night. Eventually he arrived a t  S t .  Petersburg, where he 
was well received by the Royal family, and finally reached 
his home in 1834, having been then absent for twenty 
years Though he writes pages about the gratificat'ion 
the sight of his relations afforded him, curiously enollgh 
he only stayed with thern six months, before passing on 
to visit Hlmgarp, Ita11-y. France, and England, and finally 
Constantinople, where he again set up in practice. 

I n  1836, he received a message from ventura, that 
Ranjit Singh desired him to return to Lahore, so, aban- 
doning his practice, he met Ventura a t  Alexandria, and 
in company with hinl and Mouton returned to Lahore vi6 
Rornbay. On tlle journey up the party halted a t  a place 
called Pali,  where plague was endemic. and here the 
doctor himself contlracted the dlisease, which concealirlg 
from his friends, he cured by drastic doses of str!-chnine, 
and other measures we need not mention. 

On arrival a t  Lahore he found Rnnjit Singh almost 
a t  the end, quite dumb and almost paralpsed. Thongh 
three European doctors had been lent by the British Gov- 
ernment, and Ranjit Ringh had two others named Harvey 
and Rennet in attendance, he would talie none of their 
medicines, passing them all on to his servants, but having 
profo~lnd trust in Honi_~.berger, the Maharajah consented 
to take any medicine the doctor would make up for him 
in the presence of h i s  personal attendants, and according- 
ly ;t mixtur-e of aconite and strychnine mixed with the 
famous spirit nras compounded and adhinistered. 

After it few minute doses of this delectable misture, 
the patient WRS able to sit u p  and speak and in g~nt i t~nde  
b s t o ~ w d  upon the doctcm a pair of %old bangles and some 
shawls, altogether in value about Rs. 1,000. His success 
aroused the jrn.lousy of the halrims. who had Honigherger's 
medicine discontinued, and one of their own substituted, 
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which, being composed mostly of powdered diamonds and 
similar nostrums, soon put an  end to the monarch, as was 
only natural. 

After Ran j i t  Singh's death, Honigberger remained 
quietly at Lahore, interfering with, and being interfered 
with by, nobody, though the anarchy was at its height. 
H e  witnessed many of the most stirring scenes, including 
the several stormings of the Fort, and the death of the 
one-day Maharajah, Nau Nihal Singh, who was killed by 
the falling-in of an  archway, and whom he attended after 
that  accident. 

H e  was present in the garden of the Shah Uula~vitl, 
when Maharajah Sher Singh was shot dead, and his so11 
brutally murdered, and of this, amusingly writes :- 

" I was bv accident not further than ten steps from 
the place wherk that murder took place. A t  the momrnt 
I heard the firing of the guns, and perceived people in 
motion taking their weapons, I was perszladed that  z.he 
locality was not an asylum /or a traaquil ~ ~ L ~ T L ,  SO I 1ool;ed 
about for a passage to make my escape from that scene 
of horror and betake myself to the spot where I had left 
mv horse and servants. These were still waiting at a 
piace close by. I hastened towards them, jumped G e r  the 
lorn wall and narrow ditch, and arrived safely. I t  was 
hv a fortunate chance that I took this direction, for my 
pkople afterwards told me that a t  the great entrance to 
the garden the bullets hissed and fled about, and they were 
in anxiety for mv life. Thus I was saved in x critical 
moment h i  taking a firm resol~ltion withcut anp hepita- 
tion." 

As with the other Europeans Honigberger was dis- 
missed hy Pundit Jnlla, bnt remaining in Lahore, was re- 
ennaged on a salary of Rs. 900 per month, after that 
person's death, and served the Durbar to the end. When 
i n  1849, some British ~ ~ f i c e r s  and soldiers were talren 
pricon~rs a t  Tlndowal, they were placed ander charge of 
Roni~berger  andl Rrown, and for the doctor's kindness to 
thrm he was a,ftnrwards tha,nked by the Government of 
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India. His services may have been instrumental in his 
being retained after the fall of the Sikh Raj ,  and con- 
tinued in charge of the jail and lunatic asylum, which 
later he founded. 

But, having been long usedl to independent control, he 
soon fell out with Dr. McGregor, his British superior, and 
resigning the service, departed for Kashmir, with the in- 
tention of seltting up a beet sugar farm, on some land 
Gulab Singh had offered him. The project did not 
materialise, so he returned to Lahore and applied to  the 
British Government for a pension. I n  this matter he 
was generously treated, for they gave him one of Rs. 500 
per month, payable in Europe, and this he enjoyed1 until 
his death in 1865. 

He was married to  a Icashmiri woman, in Lahore, 
by whom he had two children, who, during his ser;ricc., in 
],ahore, were edlicated a t  3Jussoo,rie, and finadly returned 
to Hungan  with him. 

Round up with the memoirs is a comprehensive 
medical vocabula~by and phnrmacopea, profusely illustrat- 
ed by drawings of medical plants. There does not see- 
to he anything of this n a t u ~ e  that he missed, and he dis- 
courses lengthily and gravely on the merits of some cnrio~is 
a,nd little !mown remedies, of whose efficacy we must con- 
fflss we would he very doubtful. 

He was a worthy and simp?e minded old soul, whose 
insntiahle manderl~~st only eqi~alled his zeal for that 
profession which he loved so well nndlprztticed so worthily. 
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CHAPTER X I 1  

JOSIAH HARLAN 

Though several of the Europeans who served Hanjit 
Singh claimed American nationality, the only one really 
entitled to i t  was this versatile and nnscrnpnlous person. 

The others were n~erelp British deserters, who 
claimed such a nationality that the Maharajah might. 
with an appearance of truth, denv that such men were in 
his service, for although the British never insisted upoa 
their surrender, they decidedly objected to their entertain- 
ment. Nobody was deceived, but an acceptance of the 
statement saved inconvenient enquiries. 

We  are enabled to set forth a fairly con.lpletc narrative 
of Harlan's career in the several services of the Enqlish, 
of Ranjit  Singh, of Shah Shujah. and of Dost ~ a h o m e d ,  
the first by reason of his having been in their military 
service, and the latter because, coming as  he did. qoon 
after the arrival of ,z second batch of important French 
officers. the Government of India kept a much closer watch 
than heretofore on the lnovements of Europeans in the 
service of rulers of Northern India. The hiatuses in the 
official records are supplied by a memoir written bv Harlan, 
a~lrl  p~lblished in the united' States in the year 1842. 

I n  this extraord'inary concoction of bombastic 
romance, deliberate perversions, false statements, and 
virulent abuse of the English, Harlan was most probably 
actuated by their persistent rejections of his overtures to 
act as a spy for them, but just as possibly by the Anglo- 
phobia displaved by many Smericans during the mid 
decades of the 19th century, and not totally extinct even 
now. 

Those who have read Martin Chuxzlewit , published 
hilt a few venrs after Harlan's book, will recopiise, on com- 
paring the two, the absolute truth of what was then, and 
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is even now, called by the Americans, " a malicious satire ' ' ; 
and find in our extracts from Harlan's book under review, 
and the notice of tha,t about to be published, views and 
writ1 ngs worthy of those inimitable persona-ges, Colonel 
Diver, Jeflerson Brick, Rannibal Chollop. and The Water- 
toast syrnpathisers. 

To those who have not read Martin Chuxxlezc!i~, we 
recommend its immediate perusal, which will enable them 

6 6 to get a truer view of the American spread eagleism 3 9 

of that dlate, of which Harlan and his advertiser are as 
genuine types as those whom Dickens is alleged to have 
satirised. 

Harlan's narrative, though often turgid and 
bombastic, has much that repays perusal, for in addition 
to certain items of real literary merit. it contains others of 
considerable interest, regardling the manners, customs, 
and political expedients of the Afghans of that period. 
Had the Doctor numbered amongst his virtues the pre- 
dominant one of ordinary truthfulness, he might have 
m.nked as an historian, but, though not so fantastic and 
monumental a romancer as Gardiner (whose history 
follows) Harlan cannot be relied upon. 

We shall quote liberally from his booli, which is 
entitled- 

With observations upon the present critical 
state and future prospects of those Conntries. 
With an appendix on the fulfil~nent of a test 
of Daniel in reference to the present pro- 
phetic conditions of Mahornedan nations 
throughout the world, and the speedy dis- 
solution of the Ottoman Empire : 

BY 
JOSIAH HARLAN, 

Late Counsellor of State; Aide-de-Camp, and 
General of the Staff of T)mt Mahomed Khan, 
Ameer of Kahnl.' 
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'The Doctor's predictions are as unreliable as his other 
statements, for nearly 90 years after his prophecies, the 
Mnssulman nations and races seem to be as virile as ever, 
and, to hazard a prophecy onrselves, will become in- 
creasingly so 

At the end of the book is a Tengthy notice, copied fro~n 
the United States Gazette,  of August 1842, concerning 
another book, shortly to be published by Harlan. This, 
however, never appeared, for the many inaccuracies, to 
say nothing of the deliherate lies which appeared in the 
published book, were duly exposed in the English Press, 
and createdl such a distrust of the Doctolr, that i t  killed 
the chances of his future book, which perished still-born. 

The notice is so bombastic. and amusing that we make 
no excuse in presenting to our readers copious extracts 
from the 18 pages of very small close print in which i t  
was conveved, for i t  will give our readers a traer idea 
of the ~ o c t o r ' s  mentality. character. and impzrdvnce than 
any we could give. The notice commences- 

" W-e are happy to announce that General Harlan is 
preparing for the press a narrative of his reside~lce and 
travels in  Asia. A sojourn of eighteen years anlongat the 
pagan and Mahornedan communities of the East has 
afforded the General unequalled opportunities of becoming 
intimatelv acquainted with the reliyious laws and manners 
of the Oriental, and we are enabled to state with the utmost 
confidence in our compatriot's versatile tnlents, his abilities 
for observation and his investigating tact that the pro- 
jected volume will be interesting and instructing, no less 
to the philosophical enquirer than to  the general rmder. 

" The General will confine himself chiefly to  a history 
of h i s  personal adventures, thouqh in reference to his 
trnv~lc, in  remote countries. he will give us the qography 
and qt,a tistirs of t,hose countries ; also nrofonndlv treating 
of political qilestinns of the deepest interest in reqard to 
the policv of Enqland and Russia in Cent!ral Asia. 
Amon~s t  the moqt extraordin~rv events of Genera!' 
Rarlnn'q career w a p  his passaqe nf  the Tndian Caucasus in 
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the year 1838-1839, in command of a division of the Kabul 
army. We view this expedition as an incident altogether 
unique since the period of Alexandter's conquests 

" With this prominent exception, no Christian chief 
of European descent has ever penetrated so far  into tho 
interior of Central Asia under such circumstances as 
characterise General Harlan's enterprise, and we re1 in - 
quish the palm to the Macedonian hero alone. Retracing 
the steps of Alexander, General Harlan has perforlned a 
feat which ranks with the passage of the Simplon. For 
the enterprise, the energy and military genins displayed 
bv our. distinguished conlpatriot , we claim an a ssocintion 
&ith the names of other heroes who have attained celebrity 
by scaling mountains. The expedition mav be viewed a s  
a pioneering feat to prove the existence of a practicnhlc 
rnilitar~r passage bletween Kabul and Ralkh , the ancient 
TZactria . " 

Vow, this passage was not only known to, but 
traversed' by, Alexander, witjh his troops and warlilte 
artillery of those days, such as catapults and trabilchets, 
which were every bit as unwieldy, if not more so, than 
the tiny guns carried over the pass by Harlan. Kaye, 
traversing Harlan's remarks, saysX :- 

" The Doctor-General, Harlan. boasted that he had' 
cl-ossed the Hindu Kush with artillerv The q lns  sent 
along that route were three pounders, whilst o~l rs  were six 
pounders. The troops came across the track of the Amir's 
guns, and reported that the breadth between the wheels 
was less than half that of ours. 

" The unequi~oca~l success attendinq this discovery 
amounces to the world in characters of p'rosperous experi- 
ment, written high upon the eternal, snom-mpped peaks 
of the Pi~ropnmismus. which pie~ce their altitudes 18.000 
feet above t l i e  level of the sea, the accessibilitv of Tndia to 
ltussia . Shoiild the result lend to, or facilitn te thp views 
of, national q l o q ~  which the historv of Rlissi;~ shows us 
as the never-tiring nnd ever-aqgmndizinq dinlomnnv of 
the north, the consequences attending this qreat e'nter- 
prise mav, and probaMv  rill, prove a n  enteriny wedqe for 

P - - - -- - - - - 
Rare's War in Afphnnistnn, \Tolrlme I,  pnge 465. 

~2 
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the destruction of the Indo-British Empire, the disintegra- 
tion of that arrogant and1 audacious power which wields at  
this moment an  universal sway; of Great Britain, whose 
pre-eminence is the jealousy of the Christian w ~ r l d ;  af 
England, King of Kings, supremely paramount in all 
views and positions, political and moral, over a reluctant 
though enthralled community of crowned heads. 

" Several titles of honour have been conferred on 
General Harlan by the Princes of Asia with whom he 
has seen military service, but our worthy compatriot 
retains the milit&ry title in social life, in consideration of 
his republican relations, and as  we have heard him 
observe : ' Not to impeach my natural right of critizen- 
ship, which I value above all sovereigntv.' A t  the com- 
mencement of his career, our enterpriaini compatriot c as 
a surgeon in the East India Company's iervice, which he 
entered at the period of the Burmese War  He served a 
campaign in the Burmese Empire under General Archibald 
Campbell, in medical charge of a detachment of Hengal 
Artillery, under Colonel, now General, Pollock. S t  the 
coilclusion of the war, having. acquitted himself with high 
reput'ntion, he resigned his 'appointment. 

" The love of travel and ambition of military glory, 
seduced him from the beaten track of monotonous arid 
supine routine, and he visited Kabul, with a view, amongst 
other motives, to personal adventure, to improve the 
opportunities of diplomatic distinction, which the occa- 
sion offered, he received from Shah Shujah, the legitimate, 
though exiled, king of Kabul, then residing a t  Ludhi;l.na, 
a5 a stipendiary, on the bounty of the ICngli;1l Government, 
the powers of a secret agent, ih which he h a s  commissioned 
and stimulatedl to raise Afghanistan in favour of the true 
King 

" Boldness is the grand secret of success in diplomacy. 
General Harlan failed in an attempt to seize a strong fort 
on the Tndns, where he says : ' I should instantly, and no 
doubt .qucce~~fulIv. ha,ve proclaimed the King. Failing in 
th is  T p row~drd  to  Kabul in the disguise of a dervish. and 
before commencing the train of operations which were to 
resiilt in the change of n dvnnstv, to dethrone the occupant, 
and r~ntorc an  antiquated pretender, T became a guest in 
the hoiise of the reigning prince's brother, Jubhar K h ~ ~ n ,  
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under whose patronage, and by whose assista,uce, I 
determinkd to effect my purpose. ' 

" Let no Christian be deceived by the fraternal appel- 
lation. Amongst the customs of the Orientals we meet 
with strange perversions of our commonest principles, 
and the term brother, which in a colnmunitp sprung from 
a system of polygamy, Means a natural enemy, a domestic 
adversary, expectant heir of a capricious parent contend- 
ing for mastery in the disturbed areas of fanlily feuds, 
and any other signification of conflicting import 'with tho 
king, affections and fraternal love, the union of design and 
submissive regardl prevalent for the most part amongst 
Christians. 

" I n  the course of seven yearn' intrigue, which resulted 
in  the restoration of Shzh Shujah (but in  which Harlan 
had  neither. influence nor agency) he resided a t  Lahore in 
the service of Ranjit Singh, and he acquitted himself so 
successfullv in the honorary service of Shah Shujah that  
the exiled' monarch, to attest his profound appreciation 
of his agent's abilities, distinguished him with the title of 
' TJnees-ud-Doalah Rn ha dur , ' which we learn from the 
General's explanation implies, ' The King's nearest 
friend,' and is a, title of nobilitv bevond which there iq no 
more exalted a t  an Oriental court: I n  all the firmauns 
suhsec(uent1v addressed to him by Shah Shujah, he is desig- 
nated, ' Mukarrib-ul-Khakan. ~nees -ud :~owlnh  Raha- 
diur.' literallv Companion of the Imperial Stirrup, and 
nearest friend of the Empire, the Brave. 

" Dnrinq his residence a t  Ranjit Sinyh's court with 
the Prinre of the Pnnjah.  he was  overn nor of the pro- 
vinces of Jesrota, nnd Noorpur, two districts then newly 
s~lbjugat~ed to Lahore, and located on the s l~ i r t~s  of the 
Hi?nnlnvan molintains. Subsequentlv he was invested bv 
Rrlniit Singh with a sanad, a n  elephant and a maqnificent 
dliless of honour in  the presence of the Vizier. Ra i a  Snchet 
Si l~ph.  and General Allnrd (the former investinq h im)  and 
despntcheit to the Government of Gni rat in command ot' a 
hriqnde of infpntry. and with artillerv. 

( (  After seven vears' residence in the enjo~ment of 
wealth, and the ln?rnrv of the most snmntnons cmirt in 
Asia ,  he left the Pimiah. and entcred the service of T)ost 
Mahorned, the rei:yning prince of Kabul. He w ~ s  received 
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by Dost Mahomed with milch the same feeling of enilta- 
tion that  the King of Persia is known to have indulged in 
when his court was visited by Themistooles, for General 
Harlan was dissatisfied with Ranjit  Singh (the feeling was 
more than mutual) and says, ' Monarch as Ile was, absolute 
and luxurious, and voluptuous in the possession of 
treasured wealth and military power, I resolved to avenge 
myself and cause him to tremble in the midst of his niagni- 
ficknce.' Dost Mahomed received Harlan as a brother, 
ever addressed him by that title, seated him in the Dt.~v:~n 
or Durbar a t  his side, gave him the coninland of his 
regular troops with the tltle of Sir-i-Lashliar, or General- 
in-Chief, and Mussahib, or Aide-de-camp. A t  his 
instigation war was declared against Ranjit Singh : a 
campaign was projected, and a great battle fou5ht a t  
Jamrud. 

" The Silrhs were defeated, Ranjit  Singh's com- 
mander-in-chief (Hari  Singh) with 2,000 of his men 
killed, and only 1,000 Afghans. The proud king of 
Lahore quaiied upon his threatened1 throne, as he exclaim- 
ed with terror : ' This is all Harlan's work : he has 
avenged himself. ' Indeed, the old prince's infirmities 
were so much aggravated bv the disgrace of defeat that, 
from the date of his m i s f o r h e ,  he declined more rapidly, 
and never rose again to  the former ambitious and energetic 
spirit. The year after this victory, Harlan was despatch- 
ed by the Prince of Kabul to make war upon the Prince of 
Kunduz in Tartarv, with whom Dost Mahomed had' long 
been a t  variance. I t  was in the execution of this enter- 
prise that he performed the feat now described'. 

" ' I surmounted the Indian Caucasus, and thereupon 
the mountain height's unfurled mv countrv's banner t o  the 
l~reeze, under a salute of twentv-six guns On the highest 
peak of the frosty Caucasus, that of Kharazar, 12.500 
fret  hove the .en, the Star-Spangled Banner eracefn~lly 
waved amidst the icy peaks and soilless, rugyed rocks of 
a sterile region, seeminR?v sacred to the solitude of an 
nnrl ist,nrhed serenity . We ascended passes tllmugh 
regions where glaciers and silent dells, and frowning 
rocks. hlacl<ened ages of weatherbeaten fame, prewved 
the q ~ ~ i e t  domain of remotest time shronderl in perennial 
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" ' We struggled on amidst the heights of those Alpine 
regions, until now supposed inaccessible to the labour of 
man infantry and cavalry, artillery, camp-f dowers ,  
beasts of burdbn, surmounting difficulties by obdurate 
endurance, defying the pitiless pelting of snow and rain, 
as  these phenomena alternately andl capriciously coquetted 
with our very changing climate, we pressed onward, 
scaling those stony girdles of the earth, dim shades as 
children of the mists, fa r  above the nether world, toiling 
amidst the c lo~ds ,  like restless spirits of another sphere, 
thus accomplishing the passage over a mountain district 
300 mi!es in extent from Kabul to Ballth.' 

" The journal of this route minutely records 
geography, topographv, and1 ~ni l i tnrr  cap~hilities of tile 
Paropamismus, and forms a valuable work upon that 
highly interesting portion of Central Asia. We have been 
prmi t ted  to extract from this journal the following in- 
teresting notice of an interview with the independent 
princes of the Paropamismus, or Hazara Jant ,  lcnown to 
history bv the name of Ghoree (Ghorband?). 

" It will be seen that our distingnislled fellov- citjzpn 
is in effect the Prince of Ghoree, although me are aware 
that 11-p reneral looks upon kingdoms and principalities 
as of frivolous importance when set in opposition to the 
more hoiiourable nnd estimable title of .4 mericcrn Citizen. 

9 I 

Trulv magnificent ! Even in his most supreme 
moments Jefferson Brick never approached this splendid1 
effort. To resume- 

" ' When a t  Kaumerd: on mv expedition to  nalkh, m y  
camp was visited by the princes of the Hazara .Taut of 
Ghhoree : Mxhomed ' ~ u f f e e  Reg. Yenghoreah of Soolc-jui, 
Dve Zungee, whose possessions are the capital of Ghoree. 
~ c c o r n ~ a n v i n ~  him was his brother. Yalcuh Rzg of Lall, 
and Meer ' ~ o h i b  of 'T'alihannxh, near Yaliaolnng. These 
princes were accompanied by several of their most faitllful 
retainers to the amount of about 300 cavalrv. 'Thev \rere 
men of noble bearing and athletic fornis; thev \verb rleco- 
raked in verv good taste with Kashlnere sha\~~l ' t , l~rhsns i~nd' 
gi~dlos. sra.Clpt chops ,  embroidered with gold. arid their 
persons were garnished with Persian s~wrds ,  daggers :~nd 
pistols st>uclc aroilnd their waists in their belts. like tjhe 
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bristling small arms arranged round the mizzen mast of 
a sloop of war. 

" ' Every man was a human frigate, freighted with 
belligerent portentous impulses, and this imposing tout 
en,ccemble was intended to make a corresponding impression 
on the weak minds of the Afghans; but they had to 
astonish men in no way inferior to  themselves, and in their 
turn were overwhalmed with amazement to witness the 
display of power, the unanimity of tactical science, the 
complete facility and precision so indicative of military 
force in the manceuvres of regular troops, the grasp of 
authority in the invincible command1 so strangely differing 
from feudal irregularity with which thev were' familiar; 
the order of discipline 'and the general soul subduing 
grandeur of a military review upon the minds of semi- 
barbarians, acquainted with a circumscribed experience 
acquired amoncst their own crngs and dells 

" ' These princes invited me collectivelv a,nd indivi- 
dually to visit them in their native fastnesse's, where their 
mountains are known to contain certain useless wealth in 
 inw wrought ores of valuable metal. Mahomed Ruffee Eeg, 
the Chief of Ghoree, now Yenghoreah, secretly arranged 
a treaty with me, by which he proposed a conquest of the 
~ a z a r $  tribes. H e  transferred his principality to me in 
feuda:l service, bi~iding himself and his tribe to pay tribute 
for ever, stipulating that he should be made Vizier. The 
absolute and complete possession of his government was 
legally conveyed according to legal form bv a treaty n-hich 
I have still preserved. 

" ' There was an article in the treatv bv which T was 
hoi~nd to raiqe, organise, and discipline a resular force nf  
infantrv and artillerv for the pay and maintenance of 
which the revenues of the country were an adequate ap- 
propriation, and he, the Ghoree chief, pledpd the fidelity 
of himself, his heirs and tribes, in feudal tenure to serve, 
ohev, and pav tribute for ever. 

" ' The ~ o v e r e i p t y  was  secured to me and my heirs. 
and the Vizara,t for himself and his heirs. 1 then review- 
erl my division in their pre.sence, and the (lisplav of 
militarv pomp a n d  concentrnted power of discipline now 
pmrtirallv exhibited to them, and the repiitation o f  having 
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taken the Rock of Aornos (the Fortress of Sykaun) hereto- 
fore acknowledged the impregnable defence of the Uzhelc 
frontier, made the strongest impression on Ruffee Reg, 
and set before him a splendid perspective of conquest, 
dominion, and glory. 7 f ,  

Having struggled forth from the turgid flood of 
the Doctor's bombastic eloquence, let us point out 
a few devastating inaccuracies in his lofty screed. 
Firstly, the Afghans were never disciplined in the 
European, or any other fashion, the most they would 
submit to being casual training as gunners, and even in 
this were far  inferior to the Sikh or hIussulman. For a 
true description of what the Afghan armed forces actually 
were, we refer you to Court's memoir. Secondly, why 
did &Ishomed Ruffee Beg give away not only his own 
supposed territory, but that of his neighbours, to an alien 
stranger, who merelv commanded (for Dost RIahomed) a 
ragged mob of Afghan tribesmen, accompanied bv a few 
t iny guns? Third'lv, the revenues of Hazara were yearly 
collested bv Haj i  Khan. on behalf of Dost Mahorned. as a 
reference to Masson will show. Fourt!~lp. the imposing 
and stately review, which so impressed thh Hazara chiefs, 
is totally untruthful, as shown bv s second statement, and, 
lastly. the Rock of Aornos, which Harlan so definitels 
places, has not vet been definitely identified, thouqh Sir 
A.urel Stein seems to have come fairly near to i t ,  and the 
Fort of Sighan was desc~ihad as a ruin by Masson seven 
years before Harlan's supposed conquest of i t .  To con- 
tinue :-- 

" The political convulsions that siiddenlv ensiled in  
the invasion of Afgh'hanistnn bv the English : the deposi- 
tion of Dost Mahorned. who fled into Tartarv. and vainly 
eridenvoured to exrite a, religioils war  nmonqst the TTzh~p 
against the F,n$!ish; the restoration of the old reainie in 
t'hc person of Shah Shi~iah.  who had1 been thirtv rears in 
 vile, mere events which left General H ~ r l n n  at ' librrtv to 
rpviait his o m  roilntrv. Previolls to the fliyht of lhs t  
ifahomed. thn t prince 'had ronqtit~lt~erl Harlan Gcnemlis- 
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silno of his forces, and himself assumed a subordinate posi- 
tion in the contemplated arrangements for meeting and 
opposing Shah Shnjah and the British. The fall of 
Obuirnee produced a moral impression whirh could not* be 
withstood by the resources and military array of Dost 
Mahorned, and he precipitately retreated:" 

Once again the Doctor's soaring fancy has led him far 
beyond the domains of the sober truth, which was that 
such military command as he did hofld was very unimpor- 
tant.  The Afghan commanders who opposed the British 
were Akbar Khan a t  the Khyber, Hyder Khan a t  Ghuznee, 
and A f ~ u l  Khan with another body between Kabul and 
Ghuznee. The retreat from Arghandeb is graphically 
described by Harlan in a narrative concerning which Kaye 
commentsX- 

" General Harlan has written an account of the deser- 
tion of Dost Mahomed by his followers a t  Arghandeb, 
whicE~ only wants a conviction of its entire truth to be 
extremdy 'interesting. It is really a piece of fine writing, 
though perhaps rather flamboyant." 

Harlan writes- 

" I t  was about the time of afternoon prayer. The 
Prince started from his couch, where unslumbering and 
fearful f orehodings f ruitlesslv solicited a hopeless rest. 
A trusty selvant of Khan shireen Khan. the hereditary 
Lord who commanded the Royal y a r d  of Kizzilbash, or 
Persian mercenary cavalry, appeared.. . . . . ' Sahib,' said the 
messenger, abruptly enteriny the Presence, ' the Khan 
sends me here with this advice : 

" ' Still you axe here 2 Arise, for mv followers have 
betrayed a mutinous spirit ; another moment's delay may 
he fnta.1 to your chance of escape. T can no longer be 
responsible for your personal safety.' 

" The Prince, more wounded bv the threatening 
btnguaoe of his feudatory than scathed bv the prospect of 
entire m i n ,  rnildlv, though with a cnollntenance of fire, 
c;rlled for his  att,e;lrltlnt,, whoqe d u t ~  a t  the stated period 

Kaye'e War in Afghanietan, Volume I, page 401. 
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of prayer shoilld hare brought him into his Presence. But 
a fallen prince has not even a faithful slave. A stranger 
handed the vessel for His Highness's ablution, and he 
mournfully performed, for the last time within his tent, 
the ceremonials of his religion. His prayers finished, he 
commenced putting up his turban, his horse ready capa- 
risoned a t  the door of his tent He called for the keeper of 
the powder magazine, who presented himself with an 
inventory of his charge : 

'i ' Go! Go l ' said he, ' to Mahomed Af'aal (his son), 
he has mv orders ' 

" A crowd of noisv disorganised troops insolently 
pressed up the royal pavilion.. . . . .the wards  had dis- 

b, appeared; the groow holtlinq the Prince s horse was un- 
ceremoniouslv pusher1 to andl fro;  a servant audac~ously 
pulled awav'tbe pillow which sustained the Prince's arm; 
another commenced cutting a piece of the splendid Persian 
carpet, the beautiful praying ruz of the Prince was seized 
bp a third. 

" ' Hold !' cried His Highness, ' UTill ve not give me 
t i ~ n e  to put on my head-dlress? ' 

" A dark scowil, of despair met his eye from those who 
were wont to fawn on his kindness, and flatter The once 
potent chief. Trulv, as the dark gathering of ~nurky 
rlouds forebode the storm that follows, the frowning 
visages of a.11dacious dlisrespect no lonqer dimly obsctlred 
the motives of cupiditv. As the Prince snlliedl from his 
tent, he said to G ~ I I I &  Mahomed : 

" ' Take all you find inside, together with the tent,. ' 

" I n  a moment the unruly crowd descended upon the 
pavilion; swords gleamed in the air ,  and descended upon 
the tent; the canvas, ropes, carpets, pillows, screens, etc., 
were seized and dispensed a,mongst the plunderers. 

" The Prince placed his foot in the stirrnp, as his 
loaded mules passed in a, line bearing the furnitnre of his 
cuisine Quickly, dances were interchanged b c t ~ ~ e c n  the 
fol'lomers of Khan Shireen Khan and h4ahon1crl Khan, 
fo~merlv the nearest friends to a prosperons prince, but 
now the rifest enemies of n fallen friend. These rnonitorv 
signals escaped not the penetrating clanne of Tlost 
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Mahorned. Suddenly he sprang into the saddle. As the 
turbulent host pressed upon the fugitive prince, and whilst 
they were engaged in hostile strife with each other for a, 
division of the spoil of his k i t c h ~ n  furniture, the first 
report of an cxplosion concentrated the interrupted atten- 
tion of the tlisorganised armv, which was seen divided 
into immense swarms and hordes, each suspiciously regard- 
ing the other with inquiring looks. 

" Another and another explosion followed: the 
magazine had been fired. Not a brea.th of air  disturbed 
the clear atmosphere; a dense cloud of white smoke asceud- 
ed bv jets f a r  into the upper space, in a circurnscrihed 
pillar, as each concussion of ignited powder drove np a 
herald to announce, in other &rlds, the crash of empiree 
on earth beneath. 

" An immense clolidl rose into the still, clear air ,  like 
a yenii conjured up bv the magic of war. The Prince 
turned his horse towards that dense  loud. which seemed 
like a shadow enshrining his glory; plunged into the screen- 
ing veil that obscured his fallen fortunes, and protected 
him from pursuit, as he lost himself from the view of 
those who wistfullv contemplated1 an act of treacherv in the 
seizure of His ~ i ~ h n e s s '  person. " 

Raviny qiven Harlan the freest scope to state his own 
case let us set down the actual facts from the time he came 
to India. 

When the Burmese War  of 1824 broke out the British 
Government being short of silrgeons engaged a number of 
t~mnorarv hands to fill the vacancies. Harlan dulv passed 
the test, n n d  was appointed to t,hp Renqal establishment in 
,Tiilv 1RZ4 Tn Januarv 1825 he was sent to Rangoon 
with a detachment of Rengal Artillerv and remained a t  
that station until Angust 1825, when he was invalid'ed 
hack to India. He served with Native Infantrv a t  various 
stations, his last being Karnal, and was on leave at  
T.udhinna, when the order was issued for the clisrr~issal of  
all the temporary surgeons. Concerninq his career with 
the Rritigh Kave writes*-- 

- - -. - . . - - -- 
Kaye'e War in Afghanietan, Volume I, page 230. 
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" Harlan does not appear to have obtained a very 
good name during his connection with the Company's 
army which he soon quitted." He continues: " He 
then obtained service with Ranjit Singh and afterwards 
with nost Mahomed whom he foully betrayed." There 
seems no proof of the latter assertion, unless Kaye was 
thinking of the Khvber negotiations mentioned later when 
Harlan was in the' Afghan camp as n messenger from 
Illanji t Singh. 

Harlan quite frequently appears in the Punjab 
Records though seldom creditably. The first mention 

" October 15th, 1827.-Dr. Harlan, latelv an ofici;~ting 
surgeon on the establishment, who came t d  Lludhinna a 
short time ago with permission to cross the Sutlej, has 
now left Ludhiana, with a view of proceeding to Pesha- 
war, vid Bahawalpur. Dr. Harlan's principal object in 
wishing to visit the Punjab was in the first place to enter 
Ranjit Singh's service, and ultimately to pursue some 
investigation regarding the natural historv of that country, 
but failing in his attempt to procure a frorn the 
~ a h a r a j a h  he has taken the route vir i  Bahawalpur, and 
will endeavour to cross the river a t  that place. 

" Previous to his departure, Dr. Harlan1 proposed to 
com~nunicate his progress to me as opportunities might 
offer, and should his c~rninunicat~ions contain anything of 
interest to the Government, I shall consider i t  my duty 
to report." 

The inference is obviolls I n  plain English, Harlan 
was offering to nct. as a spj' at* Kabul for the English. 

Now contrast this sober account of his departure from 
Ludhiana with the following, as related to Dr.  Wolfft :- 

" On arriving a t  Gi~ j ra t ,  Wolff was taken to the 
palace of the Governor. Whilst waiting in the entrance 
hall, he heard someone singing Yankee Iloodle with the 
true American snuffle. Presently in came the Governor 
himself, who was a fine tall man, dressed in European 

* P u n j ~ b  Records, Book No. 95, letter No. 127. 
t dolff ' s  Trsvels, v o l u m ~  11, page 201. 
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clothing and smoking a hookah. Wdff asked him how he 
came to know Yankee Doodle, when he answered in nasal 
tones : ' I am a free citize-n of t.he United States, from the 
Citv of Philadeelphia. I am the so11 of a Quaker. My 
nalie is Josiah Harlan.' 

" Tn his early life, Harlan had studied surgery, but 
he went out in a ship to Canton. He then returned to 
America, where he had intended to marrv a lady to whom 
he was engaged; but she played him 'false. He then 
went to India, and landing i i  Calcutta, secured a post 
with the British Army, and tried to make himself King 
of Afghanistan, but though he actually took a fort, he 
was defeated a t  last bv a force sent against him by Ranjit 
Singh, who took him Ranjit Singh, seeing his 
talents, said to him- 

" ' 1 will make you Governor of Gujrat. If you 
behave well, I will increase yo~ir salasy. If not, I will cut 
off vour nose.' 

" The fact of his nose being entire, proved that he had 
done \\-ell . ' ' 

Harlan's talents as a romancer are evident. The 
truth was that he left Ludhiana as a spy for Shah 
Shujah, who must have paid his expenses, for unless pro- 
vided with funds from some such source he could not have 
reached Kabul, or stayed there without employment. We 
are also of opinion that he continued as such during his 
whole career, and evened up matters by impartial betray- 
ing each to the other in the cases of Ranjit Singh, Dost 
Mahomed, and the British. 

From Kabul he sent in many letters to Captain Wade-, 
who, however, as the following shows, soon saw through 
his game* :- 

" 3rd February, 1829.-In forwarding a letter from 
Dr. Harlan a t  Kahill , I suggest thn t r~o further communi- 
cation be held with him, ;ls In rnv opinion he is merely 
endeavouring to impose on the At'qhans as a British Agent, 
and letters from 11s xi11 help him to imposc on these simple 
people. " 

------ 
a Punjab Record~,  Book No. 115, letter No. 49. 
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Failing t,o obtain any emplovlnent a t  Kabul he came 
from thence to 1,ahore where he arrived in March 1529. 
The news-writer in reporting his arrival remarks* that  
Harlan seemed to be we111 provided with funds, and did 
not seem a t  all anxious for employment. This pose was 
about the best thing to adopt with Ranjit Singh, for the 
more eager a man was for employment the longer he kept 
him hanging about in suspense. He soon became very 
poplllar with the Sirdars whom he treated medlically, pro- 
bably making quite a good thing out of i t .  For some 
months he remained a t  Lahore, displaying a like indiffer- 
ence until Ranjit Singh, piqued at i t ,  offered him employ- 
ment. Concerning this Captain Wade writest- 

" Mr. Harlan is still a t  Lahore. 1 hear the Maha- 
rajah offered to employ him on. Rs. 1,000 per month, but 
there were other condftions attaching to the offer which 
prevented Mr. 13a1.lan f roln accepting it.  The Mnhara jah 
wished to make a soldier of him, and gave hirn the Brigade 
vacant bv the death of Senor Oms, the Spaniard. Mr. 
Harlan replied that he was a doctor, and not desirous of 
per~nanent elnployment, but that his main object was to 
proceed to Calcutta and einbark for his own collntry, the 
U. S. A. 

" If. however, he wished to detain him, he had no 
ohjectlon to remaining for a few months, and then b? 
allowed to depart. Should Mr Harlan be really desirous 
of establishing himself a t  Lahore, he probably considers 
that apparent indifference presents the best chance of 
success. The people about the court appear to consult 
him frequently, and t,o have considerable confidence in his 
medic*al abilities; but i t  occurs to me that Ranjit Sinrh is 
not inclined to offer Mr. Harlan snffici~nt temptation to 
stnv permmentl~r with him. Active, int~?liyent.  military 
offirers gre the lnen to whom he 100lis €01- the gratification 
of t he  rnrwr of mrRr  and conquest which is the enqrossing 
rlhicct of his  mind." 

Flnr lan ' s  indifference. or patience, was rewarded in 
D~ccrnhero. 1829. when he  w n s  appointed Govenlor of 

Pilninh Records, Roolc No. 97, l,qtt,er h'n. 69. 
t P n n i d ~  R.ernrds. Bool< Nn. 97, letter No. 120. 
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Nurpur and Jesrota on a salary of Rs. 1,000 a month. 
H e  remained there until May, 1832, in ~ ~ ' h i c h  month, 
Sohan La1 records that-- 

*" IWay. 1832 -Harla,n Sahib is appointed Governor 
of Gujrat. The Ma.harajah called him to the Durbar, 
and after appointing him, fixed his sa1a.r.v at, Rs. 1.,200 
per month, andl took a contract. from him, which was 
signed, sealed, and deposited in  the archives. He swore 
upon his Bible that  so long as he lived he would continue 
to serve the Maharajah, would do nothing foreign to his 
interests, discharge all his duties faithfully, even to fight- 
ing against his own country, and such orders as were 
received from Raja  Dhian Singh would be implicitly 
obeyed as  if they had b,een given direct by the Maharajah 
himself. " 

Harlan's career as a civil governor was not free from 
reproach, for both the vernacular record?, the Punj  ab 
Records, and the books of contenlporary writers, find him 
gnilty of extortion and oppression. Only two months 
after his appointment, Scjhan La1 records that Harlan was 
called to court, and received a stern injunction to mend 
his ways, after several reports from zamindars had been 
read to him. This statement is corroborated by Lavqrence 
who remarks that- 

t" Mr. Harlan was once trusted by Ranjit Singh. 
He was chiefly employed in the Gujrat d~istrict, but says 
his unflinching firmness lost him his service. H e  is a man 
of considerable ability, great courage and enterprise, and 
though, judging by appearances, well cut out for partisan 
work, he was dismissed in no flattering terms. He hild 
also but little success with the Afghans." 

Dr.  Honigberger attributes another accomp1i:;hment 
to Harlan, which may, or may not, be true, but as the 
doctor owns that he cordially disliked Harlan, we must 
take the statement with a reservation- 

$" Ranjit  Singh told mc that Harlan used to employ 
his time in  the transmutation of metals, a t  which I lanShed 

8ohan Lnl's Diary of contemporary date. 
t Adventurers in the Pnnjab, page 28. 
1 Th~rty-five Y ~ R ~ R  in the Hast, page 55. 
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and derided his faith. Subsequent1 my assertions were 

rn oney . 9 9 

i verified, for he discovared that Har an  was making false 

That throughout his career with the various rulers of 
Northern Asia Harlan kept up correspondence with Shah 
Shujah, and as proof we read that in 1833, Shah Shajah, 
then about to embark upon his abortive attempt to  re- 
capture his throne, had, in addition to the battalions under 
Dick and Campbell, expected to raise another under 
Harlan, who was to join him with 500 men and a lakh of 
rnpees. Neither materialised. 

We now come to an episode, which though to tlie 
ordinary man it  11~ou1d apyear anything but one to be 
proud of, emphasises Harlan's peculiar mentality- 

'' On the occasion s f  Dost Mahorned's visit to Yesha- 
war, which occurred during the period of my service with 
Ranjit Singh, I was despatched by this prince as ambas- 
sador to the Amir. I divided his brothers against him, 
exciting their jealousy of his growing prosperity and ex- 
asperating the family feuds, with which, from my previous 
acquaintance with the family, 1 was perfectly familiar, 
and stirred up the feudal lords of the durbar with the 
prospect of pecuniary advantages. I induced his brother, 
Sultan i\fahorned Khan, the lately deposed chief of Pesha- 
war, to withdraw suddenly from'his camp about nightiall 
with 10,000 retainers. The chief acco~ilpanied me to- 
wards the Sikh cainp, whilst his fol201vers fled to their 
mountain fastnesses. 

" So la,rge a body retiring from the An~i r ' s  control iu 
opposition to his will. and without previous intimation, 
threw the general camp in to inextricable con€ usion, which 
terminated in the clandestine rout of his forces, without 
beat of drum or sound of bugle, or the trumpet blnst in 
the q~iiet  stillness of midnight. At daj-breali no vestige 
of Afghan camp was to be seen, where, six hours before, 
50,000 h i l lmn and 10,000 horses, with all the busy tumult 
of attendants, were rife with the tumnlt of wild confu- 
sion." 

s 
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Masson, who, despite Sir Henry Lawrence, nothing 
extenuates nor sets down ought in malice, writes thus of 
this episode* :.-- 

" Mr. Harlan did not find the Amir as facile as his 
brother, and was upbraided for his interference in matters 
which did not c~ncern  him, and far promoting dissen- 
sion. Mr. Harlan found it  necessary to send the Amir a 
Koran, and to make many- promises in allusion to which 
34ir7a Sami Khan remarked that Feringhees were like 
trees, full 01 leaves. bnt bearing no fruit ,  which he con- 
sidered a very happy , ,  allusion. Mr. Harlan. after wit- 
nes~iny R review, u-as doubtless glad to receive permission 
to pass over into the Sikh rnmn from whence he came." 

To continue IIarlan's account. of t,his -transaction-- 

'' Dost Mahorned's ;xr~nv ccnsisted of 50.000 
musketeers, comprising a large 'portion of the undiscip- 
lined, hut able-bodied, populace of his principality. R e  
boastpd to me that he was followed by 100.000 armed inen 
a t  the moment I entered his camp, and I remarked that, 
' I f  the Prince of the Punjab chose to  assemble his militia, 
he c ~ ~ i l d  bring ten times the number into the field, but you 
will have regular troops to fight., and vonr sans culotte 
militia will vanish like mist before the $un. ' ' 9  

Harlan's Inelnorp served him badly, for but a pear 
later he describes this same sans c d o t t e  militia as a well 
armed and highlv efficient armv, whose co-ordlinated move- 
ments highlv impressed the Hazara chiefs, and in which he 
WPS ~ e n e r a l  of Staff ! The Afghan army was never more 
than a misce;lllaneous collection of semi- independent 
rr~ffin ns, quite untrained, and heterogeneouslv armed. 
Some carried jezails, some match-locks, and others flint- 
lock muskets, in addlition to the cleadlv Afqhan knife and 
ronnd shield, which formed the principal arm of all the 
men. 

The svstem of attack was desnltorv snininc, from a 
lone distance. followed hv a ronfilq~d andl swift rnsh, 
~vhirh failinn, ended the hnt,tle The txihes owed R 1 0 0 ~  

- .- .- -_- . -_ _ --__-- 

M n w o n ' ~  Trnvelq in Bnl~irhistrr~~,  etr. 
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allegiance to the Amir and but little msre to their own 
chiefs, and, in battle, each tribe or clan acted almost inde- 
pendently. I n  all1 the records of Afghan battles or fights, 
there is no evidknce of any definite plan or co-~~rdination, 
either of attack or defence, and to speak of officer or staR in 
connection with such a rabble, is utterly ridic~ilous. How- 
ever, to continue- 

" I spoke in an exalted strain of the efficiency of the 
Silih army, and displayed the wealth and efficiencv of 
Ranj it 's rn ilitary force' in a light which made the ~ n l i r ' s  
spirit recoil. He 'lost his temper. which he easily did, and 
then his eyes glared upon me as he replied with a charac- 
teristic shake of the head and elevated eyebrows, all of 
which was to indicate a recliless wilfulnes's of design-- 

" ' Your appearance in the midst of my camp a t  this 
moment of general excitement may be attended with 
personal danger. When Secunder (~ lexander )  visited this 
country, he sent a confid'ential agent to the Prince here- 
about. and the mountaineers mnrdered his ambassador. ' 

" Feeling myself strong in the friendship of his 
brothers, and intimacy of his most influential chiefs, I 
answered roughly- 

" ' 1 a m  not accredited to you, but to your brother. 
who is now a guest among you, as I am myself.' 

" This expression, which intimated mv l ino~~ledge of 
the discord' prevailing in his domestic affairs, exn spera t :.d 
the Amir to sap- 

" ' My brother. . . . . . .who is the brother independent 
of my will ? Is not the policy of my court controlled bv 
mvself that the enemy sends 'an ambassador to another in 
the midst of my camp? Know that I A M  *LC IN ALL ! '  

" And upon this arrogant pretension I p l a n ~ e d  and 
a,ccomplished his defeat. " 

After this exped'ition, Ha,rlan returned to his 
Governorship, whcrc, with the exception of n few reports 
concerning Ranjit. Singh's health during the nest 1,ea.r or 
so, we hear nothing of hlm. Apparentlv he kept the 'Hrit,ish 
authorities f l~ l lv  convrrannt with the slate of ~ffa i r r .  a.t the 
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court of Lahore, whether paid for i t  or not. It was in 
his medical capacity that the episode occurred which 
caused his downfall, of u~hic,h there are several accounts. 
Sohan Lal, under date April, 1836. writes*-- 

" Harlan Sahib announced himself as an alchemist, 
and the Maharajah having an  attack of paralysis of the 
tongue, Harlan said he would cure him. The Maharajah 
sent a trustv courtier to Harlan a t  Wazirabnd, who, assert- 
ing his abiiitp to cure, stipnlated for Rs. 1,00,000, telling 
the messenger to  bring the money in advance with him, as 
he did not tr.11st the Maharajah. This message being con- 
veyed to Ranjit Singh, he was beside himself with mge, 
a i d  gave orders that Harlan should be stripped and1 put, 
across the Sutlej ; which was done." 

Major McGregor, who must have derived his informa - 
tion from hearsay, as  he wrote ten years later, mentions 
that  Harlan demanded €5,000 " an attempt a t  extortion 
which naturally disgusted his Roval client, who lost no 
time in directing Harlan to leave his dominions threatening 
to wreak dire vengeance on him if he did not do sot ." 

Dr.  Honigberger remarks that Harlan had to leave 
the Punjab hurriedly because Ranjit Singh detected him 
in making false money. I n  any case the reports agree 
that the real cause was that stater1 by Major McGregor, 
The Political Assistant a t  Ludhiana in reporting Tlar?an's 
arrival makes clome caustic co1n17lent~s- 

" 17th October 18S6$ .-.&Ir. Harlan who was for many 
years in the Sikh service quitted i t  a short time ago and 
c ~ ~ l n e  to 1,lidhinna. After remaining some time he set out 
for Bahawalpore with the intention of joining Dost 
Mahorned at Kabul, a place he has visited before as Gov- 
ernment is aware. His  declared intention is to bring dowrl 
an army to avenge himself on his former master for the 
injnried he hns rereired (he saps) a t  his hands He is an 
ec&ntrir, and ~lndoubtedly an enterprisiny man;  hut that 
he hag the talent to gain such an ascendancv over the rnler 

Rohnn Lal's Dinry of conten1pf)rar.v date. 
t History of the Bikhg, Volume I, page 274. 
1 Punjah Rerorde. Book No.  142, letter No. 78 
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at Kabul as will enable him to carry out his threat, is, in 
mv opinion. more than doubtful. " 

I t  is indeed cqrious to note tlia.t,, though Harlan had 
befooled Dost Mahomed in the Khyber negotiations, that 
ruler was quite willing to  receive him into his service. 
Probably hc thought that Harlan's knowledze of Ichalsa 
politics, sirdars, and army might be useful to him- 
self. Brit to jltdge bv the following extract from a Kabul 
news-letter published in Calcutta Journal of 1838, his 
position in the Afghan army. if i t  could be called such, 
was never verv importantX :- 

" Na wab Ahdris Samad, Commander-in-Chief of the 
I < a h ~ ~ l  foot troops, hams been dismissed wit.h e ~ i ~ t  dis- 
grace having been stripped of everv fraction by the Amir 
for faults committ,ed a t  ~alnlabadl: The command of the 
foot troops has fallen on Mr. Rattray, who has the first 
regiment, and I l r .  Harlan, who has the second regiment 
as a, temporary measure." What Rattray's regiment was 
like is described in his memoir; H ~ r l n n ' s  may have been 
similar ! 

Harlan's claiill tn have been a councillor to Dost 
Mahomed mav be correct, for these durba,rs were open 
affairs to n-hich ever1 & .  1,erson of a.nr importance was ad- 
mitted, and free to give an opinion. But whether he was 
admitted to the inner councils which regulated the state 
policv and' gllicled the Amir's affairs, does not seem clear. 
He aiso claims to have been corn~nissioned by Dost Mahonied 
to treat with Sir ITilliam Rfacni~xl~ten and Burnes. He 
mny have been. for a man in the position of Dost Mahomed 
would natlirally depute a European who, bv virtue of his 
race. rniqht be sripnosed t,o hare FI better chance of being 
heard than one of his own - 4 f ~ h a n  Sirdars. 

If so. the hope n.95 soon dashed. for Rurnss flatly 
dcclin~d' to have nnvthing to do with Harlan, and, as 
Harlan admits. sent his letters h a ~ l i  unopened. I t  is 
possihle that he may have encolirngred nost Mahorned to 

- -- - - - - -- -. - -- 
Calcrittn Jo11rnn1, 1838. page 77. 
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believe him a person of weight with the British, and that 
when the Amir found out his redl position he treated 
Harlan as Havelock mentions*- 

" There were two adventurers of European origin, 
Rritish 2nd American, attached to Dost Mahomed previous 
to  o i~r  occupation of his capital ........... ...... Harlan, the 
American, belonged to the medical profession. and was 
treated by the Amir with unmerited severity previous tc\ his 
flight from Urghundeb.. . . . . . ..We found him in Kabul when 
we took possession of it .  " 

Dr.  Kennedy of the British forces who was with them 
in Ka.bul speaks thus of Harlant  :- 

" There was a t  this time in Kabul! a certain ' free a r d  
enlightened citizen of the greatest and most glorious 
country in the world ' in the person of a Dr.  Harlan, who 
throuih various vicissitudes of fortune had left n ship 
which had carried a cargo of ' notions ' to what is called 
in Indian phraseology the ' Eastward.' that is, the 
Malacca Straits a,nd China Seas, and had joined in some 
subordinate capacity the Rritish Army in the Burmme 
P?a,r. 

" I cannot trace him through the na,tive sources to 
Lucknow (.sic), and the Punjab and Icabnl, where he ?..-as 
a. . Hrigad'ier . in nost  Mahorned's Armp which he quitted to 
join us 

" I met him one morning a t  Sir  Alexander Rurnes', 
and was surprised to find a wonderful fund of local know- 
ledge and great shrewdness in a tall manly figure with a 
large head and gaunt face, dressed in a light shining pea 
jacket of green silk, maroon coloured small clothes, buff 
boots, a silver lace girdle fastened with a great silver bnckle 
larger than a soldier's breast plate, and on his head a white 
catskin foraging cap with a glittering gold band, precisely 
the figure that in my vouth wo111d have been the pride and 
joy of a Tvrolean Pandean pipe band. . . 

" Though he drecsed like a mountebank this gentlemarl 
was no fool, 2nd i t  will v q t  he creditable to our Government) 
if he  i q  not provirled For. a s  there is no law making i t  penal 
- -- - -- -- 

Kaye'u War in Afghanintan, Volume 11, page 145. 
t Army of the Indue, pages 118-120. 
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to have served against us, and the President and Collgress 
would have required an answer a t  our hands had n e  ~nade 
i t  so. Dr. Harlan left the ex-ruler to join our advance 
when his presence in Ghuznee, or at the Rolan Pass, might 
have produced quite a different issue; so he has a claim to 
our justice, for it was through his courage and conduct 
alone that the Afghans defeated the Sikhs in the lihyher 
Pass in 1837, and he was colnsidered quite a fortmlate 
lender of Afghan soldiery. " 

To judge by the references to Ll~cknow and other 
native states ~ a r l a n  must have given Dr .  Kennedy an- 
other version of his imaginary Odyssey. His implldence 
in claiming the sole credit for the defeat of the Sikhs a t  
Jumrood is edifying, for though, like all the Europeans in 
Dost Mahomed's service, he was present with the Afghans, 
the man responsible for the Sikh defeat was Rattray. 

Harlan was sent back to India with the troops 
not required for the permanent yarrison to be left a t  Kabul 
until Shah Shujah was firmly established. After a short 
detention at  1,iidhiana he was deported to C'alciltta, and 
from thence p~-ovided with a free passaye to _4merica a t  
the expense of the countrv he never lost a.n opportl-u~~if,p of 
vili f ping. We conclide our sketch with n.nother extract 
frcm his hook. a Tern that excites our admira'tion What 
we speclinll~ : ~ d ~ ~ ; i r e  is the  imlxidence of the miln in nt t r i -  
butiny false f2ith and dissim~llation to Sir Willia~n 
Mamaqhten. who? whatever he map have been guilt'y of 
in t h ~  matter of  misquided politics. was in false faith 2nd 
dissimnlntion 3 mere novice to Rarlan. \vhc\ not onb- con- 
fes~es to snch tactic's hilt qlories in them- 

" TTI the be~inninq those who now qovern Tndia were 
2n associatiorl of traders. a 1T)odv of commerci31 adventnr- 
ers. a hand of h~~cksters.  natives of a small contemptihlc 
island (as were his own ancestors) in thc Western Ocean. 
H n v i n ~  tasted t.hn l nunr i~s  of .\sin. eniov~d the profits of 
2 vnT7i?e to Tndin, and heheld the 1nllnific.ent rivers of 
wealth which flowed from evha~istles sonrces, these futllrc 
connlicrors l n ~ n l r  nn(l s~ihmissivr!~ slith rinprrtending 
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hli~nilitv solicited permission to trade with their domi- 
nions (df the Moguls ?) 

" The feeble Indians simply cherished with hospitahle 
designs the starving snake which was to bask hereafter in 
their vit.als, to batten on the blood of their people, and to 
fertiIise futurity with the plunder of their t.reasure. The 
Indians say that they craved only enough land as might be 
enclosed by a cowhide. The favour was granted, but the 
claimants artfully shredlded their hide into strings, thus 
artfully enclosing s consiclerable space, upon which a 
factor? or fort was created, and they became for 150 years 
the uholested possessors of a malignant plagl~e spot on the 
disc of a thr~atened Empire." 

The Doctor General is v a q ~ e  L in his history, mixed in 
his metaphors and tangled in his similes. The first English 
factorv was at Surat, a place which did not become British 
territory until the fall of the Moyuls. If  he was thinking 
of Vadras this certainly was lensed to the English hy the 
Xnik of Madraspatam in August 1639. but kcame their 
propertv by purchase a few years later. The legend of the 
shredded cowhide is a classical one, and absolutely ~ ~ n t r u e  
as applied to the English in India. 

After the publication of the book we hare quoted fmm 
so extensively Josiah Harlan faded into the &scurity he 
1l1er.i ted. 
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CHAPTER XI11 
ALEXANDER GARDINER 

I n  the pear 1864, Mr. Cooper, an Indian Civil Servant, 
celebrated for his ruthless annihilation of a rebel sepov 
regiment with the aid of a few policemen, was deputed to 
Kashmir for the summer. 

At  Srinagar, he learnt of the existence of an old 
European, then a pensioner of the Kashmir Government, 
and formerly an officer in the forces of Dhian Singh, 
Ranjit singh, and Gulab Singh. Having made his ac- 
quaintance. Cooper became so interested in the ancient's 
tales of bloodb and long past history that he set down 
some acconrtt of Gardiner and his career himself, and also 
interested others. The results were that an article 
entitled. " -4 Soldier of the Olden Tilne." mas published 
in 1893 bv Sir Henrv Durandx. and following this, in the 
year J R W .  Major Bnyh  Pelrse published a complete 
memoir entitled. " Alexandkr Gardiner. Traveller and 
Soldier. " 

The material was said to hare been collected from 
information si~pp!ied by Gardiner himself. and not,es taken 
by Coo~er .  Thc author bewails the absence of a -  diary, 
which Gardiner was said to have written dnrinz many 
years of travelling, and carried' about with him disguised 
as a Koran. IJnfortnnatelv. Gardiner had lent the ma.jor 
portion of this diarv to ~ l e x a n d e r  Rurnes, with whom it 
was h ~ ~ r n t  when that officer IT-as murdered a t  Kabnl in 
1841 

I n  support of Gardiner's statements, the testin~on-y of 
Sill Hichard Temple and Sir Henrv Durancl is acldi~ced, as 
well as that of some eminent 19th' centnr? geographers, or 
travellers, some of whom were said to have come illto 
contact with Gardiner. Sir Henry nurand wrotet- 

Life of Sir Henry Durantl, Volume 11. pages 230-437. 
t Life of Sir Henry Durnnd. Volume 11. pnges 236--37. 
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" Even in outline, Oardiner's story is full of interest. 
A life drama indeed[, as full of incident and adventure as a 
drama can well be. The story of Dugald Dalgetty is 
nothing to this. To take the two ends of the long tangled 
line is something wonderful. The one bright and sunny, 
on the banks of Lalte Superior in the 1:'ar West; the other 
approaching where the chapter will close, on the banks of 
the Indus. Schooling and teuching in Lahore ; the parting 
from home for ever for a life from end tot cud as full of 
such perils as few men have ever imagined. much less 
known. There may be difficulty in comprehending all the 
career, but much may be understood. 

" But there is no mistake about the high heart, the un- 
daunted courage, the unflagging will. Colonel Gardliuer 's 
magnetic influence must have been great. That such a 
man should have been so little mentioned in the history of 
the times is a marvel. But we must remember that hr was 
a man without country, thouyh England or anp other 
country might have been glad to claim him. 

" Faithful to his standa,rd, whatever that might have 
been, observing without question military orders, he pre- 
sented. and perhaps still presents, one of the finest speei- 
nzenc ever known of the soldier of fortune. 9 , 

Sir Richard Temple is as enthusiastic as Durand. He 

" Gardiner's life history, though not so complete as 
i t  might have heen nnder the'auspices of the narrator him- 
self, well deserves the atkention of our rising manhood in 
the British Isles. Though not relating to the British 
dominions, or the British service itself, i t  shows what men 
nf T3ritish race can do nnder stress of trial and suffering. 
Tt illuqtrates the self-contained spirit o f  adventure in 
ivrIivid1121s vvhich has dbne milch toward?, the foilnding of' 
the  Rrit,ish Empire. and mnv vet help in extending the 
empire to all quarters of the globe. I ?  

Another writer. Andrew Wilson, whose testimonv is 
cited, swms to have had a cha,de of doubt, thouqh, like 
Major Peqrse. he h m s h ~ s  it aside. Jn " The Abode of 
Snow, " Wilson vrritest-- 

- - -- . - 
T,ifc nf Alexnnder Gardiner. 

t Anrlrew Wil~on's  The Abode of Snow, page 399. 
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'' If  Colond Gardiner, as I have no reason to believe, 
confuses hearsoy zuith his erperiences, it can scarcely be 
wondered at ,  considering his wars ,  but there is no rlonht 
as to the general facts of his career 

9 ,  

Now, to  impugn the veracity of any person is nn un- 
pleasant task, and especially so when that person was 
believed by men of unquestioned probity and high position 
t,o have been a worthy soldier and a truthful traveller. Tt 
is a still more disagreeable, if not dangerous, task to attri- 
bute gullibility and credulousness to such persons, and in 
both cases only to be undertaken when one is certain of the 
real1 facts, has nnin~peachable evidence to offer, no personal 
feeling, and a conviction that by exposin(:. a11 imposture 
he 1s rendering a service t,o posteritv. 

The gentlemen whose testi~non JT is addi~ced a p l ~  rently 
accepted Gardiner's story, though it seems to us that 
occasionally a doubt appears to ruffle the fair  surface of 
the tale, to be, however. smoothed away by an accusation 
of careless olr ~mski:~ful inditing or editing on the part, 
of those to whom Gardiner entrusted the earlier versions of 
his adventures and experiences. There seems to he a dis- 
inclination to probe too deep. and also an inclination to 
suppresscertain testirnonv wl~ich wo111d disprove the story. 
Had Ma,jor Pearse probed a little deeper the inherent pro- 
babilit,ies of the story would have been revealed', and pre- 
vented him from writing what is an interesting romance 
disguised as an historical memoir. 

Those ~ 7 h o  vouch for Gardiner may be divided into two 
classes. Firstly, the high-niindnd and nnsllspi c>ioas 
gentleman who, having experienced strnnge t bin+ h inlself . 
can credit that others mnv hare undergone even stla:inger, 
a,nd, secondly. that not-uncommon class who, )laving 
wielded grea't power and ahsol11 te anthority. and en joyed . . 
the slavish d'eference which arcompanies such in India. 
becomes so convincd of their own nnrfulness that thev 
cannot suspect that anv person of low degree wonld l ie to. 
or deceive, them. 



In  justice one may add that a potent reason for believ- 
ing Gardiner's version of his birth, upbringing and adven- 
tures was the apparent great age of the narrator, for few 
would believe that a man so near the grave would shame- 
lessly lie. 

Before analysing Gardiner's life, Fet us qive a p16cia 
of that given by Pearse. According to this*- 

Alexander Houghton Gardiner was the son of a Scotch 
doctor who, having graduated, emigrated to America with 
his own father just before the Revolntionarv War. Both 
threw in their lot with the Americans, aid the doctor 
became a personal friend of Washington and La Fapette, 
both of whom corresponded with him. Some of their 
letters descended to Gardiner who carried them about with 
him for vears, but 1lnfort7snateZy the same fate that attend- 
edl his diaries befell these most interesting documents. 

After the war, Gardiner's father migrated to Mexico, 
where he set up in a town vaguely descrihd as " on the 
~ ~ a n l t s  of the Colorado," and there met with, and married, 
a lady, who was the daughter of an Englishman named 
Houghton, by a wife of Mexican-Spanish and Aztec-Indian 
extraction. Houghton had left his family to become an 
.4 f rican traveller, and there being killed whilst exploring. 
Unfortunately, no record or mention of his travels exists 
in contemporary t~orlts. 

Some time after his marriage, Dr. Gardiner quitted the 
mysterious town G n  the banks of the Colorado, and settled 
in another on " the shores of Lake Superior. just, where 
the Mississippi runs out of it," andl there assiduously 
raised a symmt,ricd family of three sons and three 
daughters. No wonder the family were rovers, for they 
were of singularly mixed extraction. I n  their veins r a n  the 
stormy mixture of English, Scottish, Spanish and Aztec 
blood, to which may be added suspicions of Ttclian, French, 
and Irish, for we find that the mother had French relations, 

- - - - -- 

Life of Alexander Gardiner, page 16. 
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that she spoke Italian fluently, and that there were also 
relations in Ireland', for Gardiner resided there some years 
a,f ter her death. 

The religions of this well-balanced family were as 
symmetrical as their sexes, the sons being Unitarians and 
the daughters Catholics. I n  the year 1785, Alexander 
was born on the shores of the Mississippi, and five years 
later the father returned to the niysterious town on the 
banks of the Colorado, where he had entered the hymeneal 
state, which we now find was now called St. Xavier. This 
town has fadled off the map, for though we have looked up 
Arrowsmith's atlases of the early 19th century, we find no 
trace of i t ;  which is curious, for apparently it contained a 
Jesuit seminary of considerable importance. 

Therein, though a Unitarian, Gardiner sat a t  the feet 
of the saintly fathers, and acquired a liberal education, 
learning, in addition, Italian and Spanish from his 
mother, and Latin and Greek froni his father. This 
liberal edhication and linguistic acqnirements must bave 
been driven from his memory by the distressing experi- 
ences of after life, for we find little trace of them in Eis 
writings. He remained in college until he was 22, when 
his mother having died the child was withdra,wn from the 
seminary. 

Pearse reccrds that Ga rdiner of ten sadly lame11 ted. 
with tears in his eves*, " the death of that dear old mother. 
to whose rare sweetness and strength of character 1 owe 
whatever is good in my own." The debt was not great ! 
After her death, Gardiner says he was sent to Treland, 

( C  where he remained1 for five years, studying for a mari- 
time career," and it was to this residence in the Eme~xld 
Isle that he attributed the brogue which ornamented his 
t;peech. 

n r  Gardiner. who meanwhile had ~et t~led in Philn- 
delphia and there acquired considerable property, died in 

Life of Alexander Onrdiner. pnge 16. 
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1812, and the rest of the family, except the elder brother 
(then in Russia), having died out or disappeared, Gardnler 
returned to  America to settle his father's affairs, as 
agent of the elder brother. 

The middle seems to have dropped out of the 
symlnetrical family, for henceforward we hear of none 
except the elder and younger brother, the elder being an 
engineer in the Russian service ajt Astrakhan. On his 
behalf Alexander realised the American estate, and then 

< c passing on to Madridi, sold up some ch.atenux en 
Espagne, " inherited from the polyglot mother 

Having remitted all but a small a.mount, retained for 
travelling expenses, Alexander departed for Astrakhan, 
??in  ̂Cairo, Jerusalem, Jericho, etc., in coinpany with a 
Jesuit named Avlmer. lt7hilst a t  Cairo they fell in with 
son~e French and Germans, one of who, named Rossaix, 
soon after entered the service of Ranjit Singh a s  an 
enyinecr, and this example sowed the seed which was t,o 
frncti fv seventeen years later. 'T'he partp passed through 
Erzerum .and Trebizond, meeting on the journey with some 
extraordinary adventures. during which ~ a r d i n e r ' s  corn- 
panions aj~parently disappeared, for he reached Astralthan 
a lone. 

Here he spent the next five vears, learninp mineralogy 
and enqineering from his brother. This peaceful 
existence came to an end in 1817, when the brother heing 
killed hv a fall frmn his horse, the orphan (his own term) 
GnrrJine~~ was thrown into the cold world a t  the tender age 
nf! 3? or 33. The next vear was spent in recovering from 
t b  cruel Russian Government, who had annexed the 
brother's estate, some $6.000*, and havinq appropriated 
+hie Gr,ardiper left, nnpr3tefiil Riissia to retmrn to the 
" land of the free." 

Riit. hv one of t,hose coincidences pecnliar to Gardiner, 
t1x.n nf t h ~  comnanions who had melted a,wav in the ioi~rney 

_ -_ - 

Life of Alexander Cordino~., pncs 23. 
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from Jerusakm to Jericho, opportunely tnrned up, and 
persnaded him to accompany them through Persia, en route 
to T ~ h o r e .  He did so, and eventually arrived a t  Herat, 
curiously enough again losing his compa.nions on the way. 
From Herat he drifted through the Hazara country, 
accompanied by a faithful slave, of whose dog-lilce devottion 
he speaks feelingly. Contrarv to the usual esperierices 
he met with " boundless hospitality " froin the Hazaras, 
with whom he stayed for a year. when apparently for- 
getking his intention of going on to Lahore. h e  returned to 
4qtr:lI<hi1n, freeing the faithful slave before doing so. 

By another curious coincidence his return coincided 
with t,he arrival of a French uncle named De La Roche, 
with whose co-operation Ga,rdiner succeeded in extracting 
another £12,000 from the Russian Government. The 
brother seems to have been well off for a working engineer 
who had died in debt to the Russian Government. The 
orphan remained a t  Astrakhan for another three pears, 
when once more tired of Russia he dlispised himself as 
an Uzbeg and set forth on that final journey which was to 
end " an the hanks of the Indos." ~ncidentally, Srinagar 
is on the River Jhelum. 

Crossing the Caspian and Aral Seas, and suffering 
shipwreck by the way, Gardiner eventlially reached 
Khoicnd. acconlpanied by the faithful slave, who apparent- 
ly drawn bv that personal magnetism, 90 potent a factor in 
Gnrdiner's personality, had heen telepathicallv glided to 
hi. old master. ~ e e t i n ~  with a mvsterious Polish rene- 
gade, who passed under the name of Aqa Reg. Gardiner 
followed suit, aswminq the name of Arb Shah. Rp some 
means thev nrcnmiilated a band of kindred spirits. ;rnd 
set iin in hlisiness a s  robber chiefs, in which they did qnitr 
veil f o ~  a time 

Moving onwards, as the game became too danyerons, 
or t,he quarry too wary, the band ultimatelv reached the 
confines of Afyhanintan, mithin which, as the pr inc ip~ l  
wcnpation of  the inhabitants was robbery and ~ ~ i ~ i d e r .  
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business was not a n  encouraging prospect. They there- 
fore decided to seek service with Dost Mahomed, and rob 
under the s g i s  of a regular ruler. Rut before reaching 
Kabul, they met with Habibullah Khan, the €31-Amir then 
in arms to recover his throne*. This person was so struck 
with Gardiner's stern defiance of his superior force that 
he offered him a command, which was accepted. 

Of this person, Qardiner speaks as chivalrous and 
high-minded a ruler, deprived of his kingdom by a wicked 
uncle, who not content even with that, had outraged the 
persons of Habibullah's mother and sisters, who, unable 
to bear the disgrace, had entreated the son and brcther to 
kill them, a request co!nylied with, probably with neatness 
and despatch. For two years Gardiner served this lovable 
person, and as usual adventures crowded upon him, raids, 
batkles, caravan captures, etc., in plent.17. One of the 
latter yielded the favourite wife of ilost Mahorned, one of 
whose " beauteous maidens " Habibullah bestowed upon 
Gard'iner, together with a castello a t  Purwandarrah, as a 
wedding present. 

Then followed two years' idyllic biiss, during which 
the lady presented Gardiner with a bonny boy. The 
wanderer's happiness was then broken by the storming of 
his fort,  and death of his family whilst he was absent on a 
forav in the enemv's country. Returning victorious he 
found his castello burnt to the ground, the garrison. with 
the exception of the conventional sole survivor. a11 slain, 
and before the gate lay the body of the wife and son f o r  the 
lady preferring " dea.th to dishonour," had slain both her- 
self a.nd her son. 

The biographer records that even in extreme old age 
Ga rrliner was always moved to tears bv the recollection and' 
recital of this incidentt. As he was similarly affected in 
~ipeaking of his mother, it seems forturla.te that his niatri- 
monial and maternal connections were not on the scale of 

Life of Alexander Gardiner, page 67. 
t Life of Alexander Gardiner, page 72. 
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those of John Holmes, who possessed two wives and three 
mothers, otherwise his lachrymal glands would have heeu 
uuahle to meet the strain. 

Once more homeless, the orphan rejoined Habi!)ullah, 
whom he found in extremity, for all being lost the high- 
minded prince had resolved to devote himself t,o a religious 
life. Before doing so, he, fearing the cruelty of a cold 
world, despatched his extensive harem and nume,rous 
family to. i t  is hoped, a better one. 

Bidding each other a tearful farewell, they parted, 
Cardiner and the faithful slave (the Pole had un- 
accountably faded away), together with a f ctv followers 
setting out to repair their fortunes. They needed i t ,  for 
their capital was only forty pice, a sum which bears as 
suspicious a resemblance to Masson's wealth when on the 
jcurnev from Pesha~var to Kabul as the faithful slave 
does to l,lasson's I'athan companion. Far  andl wide they 
trnvelletl, incident and adventure as usual crowding thick 
upon them. 

I n  Kafiristan, which up till then no one had penetrat- 
ed, Gardliner was oflered a kingdom, which he carelessly 
declined, and then pursued1 his travels to  the Ouns, the 
Hindu Kush, the Pamirs, Khorasan. .Yarkand, T,eh, 
Radakshan, Kunduz, Hunza, Gilgit, Srinagar, etc., all 
of which names fall as trippingly off his pen as melted 
butter from a spoon. As varied as the countries were the 
a drentures and incidents. n7e  have bl ue-eyedt, golden- 
haired Kaffir ladies, Turkoman man stealers, dervishes, 
f alcirs, mysterions demon haunted caves, stolen gods, 
amulets, Hindu and Mussulman travellers, wounds, star- 
vation, at tempted slavery, murder and fighting galore ! 

Presentlv, Gardiner, his band angmentecl by a nllmber 
of Khybcruee on t l~~ws .  a r r i v ~ d  a t  Icandahar, where he was 
taken prisoner by Jubhar Khan, who held him to ransom 
for n lalch of rupees. Eowever, Gardiner and the " forty 
thieves " managed to escape from Knnclahar and reached 
Ghnzn~e,  there to be again captnredl. The leader was 
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thrown into a dungeon, dark and drear, where for nine 
mouths he languished, what time the faithful T herbah and 
the altruistic Ichyberees maintained him with food, etc., 
and importuned everyone in authority for his release. It 
i s  a pity that the tribe to which these extraordinary 
Bhyberees belonged is not on record', for such devotion is 
so contrary to their usual characteristics as to  deserve the 
fullest advertisement. 

Ultimately Gardiner was released on condition of his 
proceeding to  Herat,  and thence to Europe, one which he 
immediately violated by taking the direction of Kabul, and 
incidentally robbing a caravan on the road. But, instead 
of taking shelter in the hills with their booty, this extraor- 
dinarv band of roblmrs went on to Kabul, and laid the 
spoils, together with their swords, a~t  the Feet of Dost. 
Mahorned. 

The Amir gracefully accepted the boatv, but declined 
the swords of " the men in buckram," who, doubtlessly 
repenting of their misplaced confidence, drifted into the 
Bajour country, and accepted service wit11 Mir Alam Khan, 
who hired the band, swollen in some unexplained manner 
to 250 men, to Svad Ahmad Ghazi, then making his l2st 
stand against the Sikhs. Gardinelr reached the Syad just 
in time to see him routed bv Ventura, whereupon the adven- 
turer retired, and sharing out the hootv, dismissed his 
band. Where this booty came from is also unexplained. 

Then. dismissing the dog-like Therba h,  over whose 
departure he wept copiouslv, Gardiner travelled on to 
Pcshawar, where he obtained1 service as an artillerist with 
Sultan Mahomed Khan, to whom in six months he taiight 
the a r t  and craft of artillerv practice. Unfnrt~inatclg he 
omits to mention where he himself acquired these accom- 
plishments. His fame having reached Lahore, Ranjit 
Singh domanded this marvellous gunner, from whom Snl tan 
hlahorned Khan pa rted sorrowf illv, previously presenting 
bim with a fine horse and a silitn\de retinlle of servants. 
A. iisual, the journev to 1,ahore yield'ed its quota of adven- 
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tnre, capped on arrival by a display of marvrllo~is hnrsc- 
manship, to the discomfiture of an insolent Sikh sirdar.* 

Fortunately for both him and Ranjit Singh, his 
arrivaa coincided with that of two guns and a number 3f 

time-fuse shells, presented by the British, and which 
neither the French generals nor the European deserters 
from the Cc~nipanv's artillerv had been ablc to manage 
successfully. Into the breach stepped Gardiner, who, 
finding in the tumbrils some pibinted instructions over- 
1ool;cd by these incompetent and singilarlv blind persons, 
utilised them so effectively that Ranjit Singh, enchanted 
with his magnificent skill, ma,de him Colonel on the spot, 
principal instructor of the artillery, and gave him the 
right of demanding a fee of Rs. 500 to .Rs. 5,000 from every 
officer or sirdar whom he instructed. 

Here ws may leave him. for a space, whilst we com- 
pare Durand's and I'earse's memoi.rs with Gardiner's own 
version of his adventures, as appeared in the 22nd volume 
of the Journal of the Royal -4siatic Society of Uengal 
(18.52). I n  forwarding tile articles, of which there are 
three, Mr. Edgeworth, of the Civil Service, to whom 
Cardiner had sent them from Kashmir, expressly states 
that he has neither edlited nor altered the letters. In  
these, Gardiner's father becomies merely a medical man in 
the Mexican service, and there is no mention of the mysteri- 
ous towns on the banks of the Colorado, or the shores ~f 
Lake Superior. 

The symmetrical family of singularlv mixed descent is 
also absent from these pa,gts, as are Gardiner's own edu- 
ca,tiona.l accomplishme~-lts. The Jesuit College is trans- 
migrated to the town of Clongoose in Ireland, the 
" chateaux en Espagne," do not materialise. Both fwther 
and brother die eleven vears later, and Gardinel. is a t  
Philadelphia, to recover the -4merican estate of the 
deceased brother in 1823, the very . k vear in which, accord- 

* Life of Alexander Gnrdiner, page 181. 

~2 
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ing to Pearse's memoir, he was at  Herat. The rcmantic 
Polish robber chief does not appear, and the dog-like 
Therbah becomes just an ordinary servant. 

The journeys into Kafiristan are still there, but we 
miss the beautiful golden-haired and blue-eyed Kaffir 
ladies. Still, perhaps as compensation, we hare vast 
caverns, in which are concealed immense treasures, weird 
statues, jewels, amulets, mountain lakes in which sound- 
ings are unobtainable at  3,600 feet, and most wonderful 01 
all, a detailed census of some 25 Kaffir tribes, comprising 
740,000 people. 

Yet another version was given by nurand,* accordling 
to whose " Story of a Soldier of the Olden Times " 
Alexander Houghton Campbell Gardiner, who was born 
of Scotch and Irish parents on the banks of Lake Superior, 
served five years in early life in the American Navy In  
this version the mother loses her romantic descent, and 
becomes merely an Irishwoman of Country Mayo, and 
daughter of ifajor Houghton, a travelled who died in 
Africa. After his death, Gardiner was apparently with- 
drawn from t.he American Navy, and sent to 1rela.nd to 
complete his eclucat'ion at bfapnwth (a Jesuit seminary j. 

When about 25 years of age (1813) he went to Cairo, 
and from thence to ~rebizond and Astrakhan, at which 
latter place he found employment with s relative in charge 
of a party of English and Scotch engineers working f o r  
the Russian Government. The relative (d'egree not stated) 
was killed by a fall from his horse, whereupon Gardiner 
lef t  for Astrahad in company with a German named 
Dotter~veiss, from whom he parted company soon a,fter. 
From thence, in 1818, he went to Herat, i t id from there 
sent a messenger to Teheran to inqnire as t,o the prospects 
o f  wrvice with Raniit Sinsh, and to obtain news of Allard. 
Vent,lirn, Court and Avitnbile, all of whom. he stakes, 
were then in service. 

Life of Bir Henry Durand, page 230. 



NORTHERN INDIA, 1785-1849 277 

Whilst awaiting the return of the messenger, he 
travelled into Hazara on the borders of which he met 
Dotterweiss, who, having been forcibly converted to Islam, 
with the usual painful operation, had had quite enough of 
Asia and travelling. Avoiding Herat, Gardiner return- 
ed with Dotterweiss to Astrakhan, and remainded there 
until 181 9, when he set out for  the Punjab. All we need 
remark a t  this juncture is that, as the first two of the 
Frenchmen did not arrive a t  Lahore until 1822, Gardiner 
must have badly mixed1 his dates. 

The evidence we have adduced is quite sufficient to 
prove the unreliability of Gardiner's narratives, and to 
~onc~lude, let us quote Sir Henry Yule's criticism of his 
travels, as set down in the preface to the second edition ci' 
Wood's Journey to the Oxus. We also supply the ornis- 
sions made by Major Pearse. who IV so doing has converted 
condemnation or disbelief in support. 

Major Pear's Qr~'~tat ion.  Yule's Notes in full.* 

Omitted. See ollposit~. 

Colonel Garllincr is not only a rcal 
person, but one who had aclunin- 
tance with the regims we arc now 
treating of, Batlakshan ant1 the 
P a m i r ~ ,  to a degree far surpnsslng 
tha t  of any Elir )pccln or native 
traveller whose narrative has yet 
Iwcn published, bnt IIC nlso all- 
pears to have a c  iuirctl the g110,l 
estcem of Sir Hcnry Dornnd, 
whose opinion is of un~ls i~n l  worth. 

Omitted. Sec oppoqitc. 

I am ~ o r r y  to have to include under apocryphal 
geography the cxtracts from the Diary of Colonel 
Oardiner, which n ppearel in  the 22nd volume of 
the 11. A. S. Jorunal fur 1862. 

Colonel Gartliner is not only R real person, but 
one who had acluclintancc with the regions we 
arc now t,reating of, Bacln kshan and thc Pnmin,  
to a tlegrce fa r  surpassing t h a t  of a n y  Eurorean 
or native trnvcller wI1~1se narrative ha8 yet been 
publ'shetl, but he also appears to llave noluired 
the ostcem of Sir Henry Darand, whose good 
opinion is of 11nusaal worth. 

. B I I ~  I know not how to class the p p r ,  for I 
have rend it mnny times a t  intervals, but every 
trial has cntletl in mystitinntion a n d  d i sappin t -  
ment.. 

-- - - . - 

Contintcation, of I'tlle's Note. - " 71,-1,~:i ~c~ rc~icl the 
notices of incidental narratives of other travellers, how- 

* Wood's Oxus, 211d Edi t ion ,  1872, pnges lvi i  a n d  lviii .  
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ever far  removed from us in date, we can generally trace 
their direction by known landmarks, and connect their new 
localities with old names : Marco Polo and John Wmdl, 
Hiuen Tsang and the Mirza, throw a flood of light upon 
each other, though separated by intervals of 600 and 1,200 
years. Rut in trving to follow Colonel Gardiner, it  is 
very different. Well known names now and then occur in 
t he  diary, such as Kunduz, Badakshan, Darah Darwaz, 
Gilgit and Parkand, but amid the phantasmagoria of 
' antres wild and deserts vas't,' of weird scenery and 
uncouth names which flash past us in the diary, till our 
heads go round, we light upon these familiar names as if 
from the clouds, thev 11nk us to nothing before nor behind, 
and the traveller's' tracks remind us of that uncanny 
creatnre which is said to haunt the eternal snows of the 
Sikkim Himalayas, and whose footsteps are found only 
a t  intervals of forty or fiftv . rards. b 

7 7 

As regard's the " high-minded Habibullah Khan," 
Ferrier's history shows that person to have been a sord'id, 
bloodv-minded, cowardly and drunken ruler, who having 
been abandoned by his followers was a t  last deposed by 
Purdil Khan, and the " vanquished chief, by way of con- 
solation, plunged into every kind of debauch, and con- 
tinued to reside at  Kabul, ;here he still (1843) lives in a 
miserable plight, given up to excesses of the most filthp 
Itinds.* ' ' 

It is very doubtful whether Gardiner even got as far 
as Kabul, and the pathetic story of the melancholy deaths 
of his wife and son mpy be dismisscd as purely a figment of 
the imagination as are the characters he gives to Hahib- 
ullah. ~ i r ~ e n r y  Durand and the others, with the excnp- 
tion of Major Pearse, were inisled by Gardiner, but as the 
latter wrote to the Punjab Government in 1894t asking 
for inform;rtion concerning Gardiner, and had the reply 
letlimed that nothing whatever was traceable concerning 
that person. there is less excuse for his accepting 
Gsrdincr's wild tales. 

Terrier's History of the Afghans, page 187. 
t P~injah  Records, File No .  150, Home and General, 1894. 
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The truth is that Gardiner took his incidents, advcn- 
turcs, and travels from the oral narratives of contem- 
porary adventurers in Ranjit Singh's army, and from 
hooks of the period with which, as he survived for over 
thirty years after the publication of most, he must have 
been perfectlv familiar, and has supplemented these by 
drawing on his imagination. All the claimed adventures 
will be found in books in our bibliography, and' such as are 
not therein in the accounts concerning Lee, Rattray, J an  
Sahib, Vieskenawitch, and other adventurers who at 
various times served Ran j it  Singh. 

We are of opinion that he was an Irishman, horn in 
the town of Clongoose, and an ordinary deserter from the 
British service, Armv or Navy. 

I t  may be thought that we have devoted considerable 
space to exposing Gardiner's pretensions, but our reply is, 
that as from time t,o time he crops up as a person of con- 
siderable importance in Ranjit Singh's service, it is our 
duty to destroy this myth. Onlv a year ago we saw a 
portrait of Gardiner, and another rolna~ltic account of his 
experiences in the " Sphere, " and it mav be that others, 
ilnseen by us, have also appeared, or rimy again appear. 
Let us then, now, relate Gardiner's authentic career, coni- 
mncing with the day on which he presented himself at 
Lahore. The news-writer rpcordsX- 

" 15th December,, 1831.-&Iessrs. Khora (s ic )  and 
Gardiner, two Europeans about 35 years of age, l'ight hair 
and complexion, presented themselves with a nuzzur of 
five rupees each, and were a t  once admitt'ed to an audience. 
The R4abal.a jah asked from what quarter they came, and 
with what object. They answered tliat they were formerly 
serving in a ship of war, but not being satisfied with their 
position, quittedl it.  and proceeded from Bombay to Pesha- 
war, where Sultan Mahomed Khan had entertained thcrn 
on Rs. 3 per dav. They were with him six months, but 
having heanl of'the libernlitv of His Highness, thev had 
applied for their discharge and come to Lahore. 

- - 

* Punjnb Records, Book No. 137, letter No. 44. 
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" The Maharajah inquired what baggage they had 
with them. They said, a riding horse each: and five or 
six servants. His Highness asked them if they wore 
acquainted with the exercises of artillery. They answered 
that they were. An allowance of Rs. '2 per dav (tempo- 
rary) has been fixed upon each of them, and they have 
hee; directed to join the division of artillery commanded 
bv Sultan Mahomed (at Lahore). They say that they are 
Americans, and that there were originally ' three of them ; 
but. I hear that one died a t  Peshawar." 

Gardiner's companion may be identified with ICanara, 
whose name appears in some of the rolls of Europeans as 
Kerry or Kennedy, both names easily corrupted into 
Kanara. We think the st>ory of the third man's death 
is incorrect, and are inclined to identifv him with Ramsap, 
another Irishman to be mentioned later. 

Here then are solid and unimpeachable facts ! Refore 
this prosaic and faded old entry of 97 vears ago, which 
has probably lain almost unnoticed since the day it was 
written, vanishes like the Genii's palace. that beautiful 
edifice built upon Gardiner's romantic story, peopled by 
the creati~ws of his imagination, and bnttressed bv the 
testimony of so manv credulous and simple-minded yentle- 
men. Vanish the highly accomplished parents of such 
singularly mixed breed and curious antecedents, and the 
long and tangled !me of an adventurous l i fe ,  " one ontl 
commencing on the shores of Lake S~lpe~rior and the other 
ending on the h ~ n k s  of the Indus." 

Gone are the many years of schooling in the Jesuit 
college, the Ion? years of stirring travel, the hilh-minded 
HP hihlilla h I(ha 11. those beautiful hhe-eved . golden-haired, 
Kafir ladies. and the maiden captive, who became 
Gnrdiner's wife, and whose sad fate " alwavs b~.ought 
tears to his evcs." TJilte his hearers. we also could \veep 
over the fate of that healitifnl fiqment of his imagination, 
esnrtci~llv when we remerill?er t h a t  her  ~wotot ,rp~ was iust a 
d i s v r d r d  mist,resg o f  Gnlnh Sinqh's. With them dis- 
npr,ea r " the faithful Therhah, " the mysterious robber 
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chief, the devoted Khyberees, the companionship with 
princes, the commands of armies, and that adventurous 
travel and stirring adventure in lands " where no Euro- 
pean had ever set foot. " 

Worst of all*, " the man of magnetic influence, who 
by virtue of his personality " could bind savages to him, 
" the man whom England might be proud to claim, the 
splendid example to the young men of the present day, one 
of the finest specimens ever knovrrn of the soldier of fortune, 
etc.," turns out to be an ordinary deserter from the English 
navy, or Company's army, previously serving in a. very 
minor capacity with a Rarakzai sirdar, one who never saw 
a fract.ion of the adventures and places Ile romances about, 
whose career with both Gulab Singh and the Khalsa was 
obscilre and sordid, mrho has many discreditable deeds 
a,ga.itlst him, and who was eventna!lp d~por ted  by Henry 
L:twrence for an outrage the Iolvest of Indians had de- 
clined to perpetrate. 

The agreement of dates is exact. According to  
Gardiner's own statement, he arrived at Lahore in 1831 
from Peshawar, and the only difference is that he docs not 
mention his companion.   he division or rlcrnh of Snltan 
Mahomed Khan appears in the pay-rolls of 1831-32 as 
No. 2 of the Topkhana, Jinsi (heavv artillery), its perma- 
nent station beiny Lahore. As with so many others, 
Gardiner's name did not appear in the Khalsa pav-rolls, as 
he was paid by Dhian Singh, to whose separate troops he 
was transferred sllortly after arrival. He successively 
served G ~ l a h  Singh and Hii-a. Singh, and after the death 
of the latter, the guns he commanded were transferred to 
the permanent establishment, and for the first 2nd only 
time Gardiner's name appears in the pay-rolls of Novem- 
ber 1825 as commanding KO. 22 h o r s ~  hatterv. 

The records give not11 ing con,~elming 11 i 111 n f't o r  the 
first mention, until many . . years lat'er, but we fi~ld certain 

Life of Sir Henry Durnnd, Bollime 11, pnge 237. 
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mentions in  contemporary books, Baron Huge1 writes 
under date June  1836- 

* " The Jamadar's son wishes to  learn English, and 
bas applied with that view to a man calling himself an 
Aruerican, really an Irishman, and not of that  class called 
gentlemen, to judge by appearances. He is an  officer in 
the Maharajah's artillery.. . . . . . . .The American-Irishman 
came late in the evening and brought me a plan of 
Kandahar. I thanked him for the attention, but observed 
that I could not make use of any plans, but what I in~self 
had taken." 

Herbert Edwardes adds more details, and another of 
Gardiner's versions of his earlier careart- 

" February, 1842.-In the camp of Gulab Singh was 
an  adventurer who described himself as an American, who 
had been a lieutenant in the navy, yet had somehow or 
other been educated in a Jesuit College, although he had 
left school at. the age of 12 ! As Lawrence remarked, h i s  
education had been finished off by Gulab Singh, under 
whom he had the cumrnand of six guns. He had married 
a native wife from Gulab Singh's own household, and had 
wild1 moods of talking, letting the corner of dark things 
peep out, and then stopping with a. loolc behind him as if 
life a t  Jammu were both strange and fearful " T t  was. 

Writing in 1842, Lawrence mentions that he hacl boen 
anpplied with information by a Mr. Gardiner:, " an ad- 
venturer serving in command of six guns wit>h Cvlab 
Singh's artillery a t  Peshawar, the letter containing which 
had, a t  the writer's request, been destroyed." The- 
reasons are obvious, for what Ga,rdiner's fate would have 
been had Gulab Singh obtained evidence of correspondence 
with the Enqlish, is best left nnimaginecl. 

He admits, and withont compunction, being concerned 
in some of the discreditable outrages and assaasil~ations 
connected with the ana,rchv, and we quite believe the 
following, for he was later concelrned in worse. The 

H ~ ~ g e l ' s  Tr:lvels i n  IC;t.shmir, etc.. pnpeq 328-22. 
t Life of Henry T,nwrence, Vol~lme I, page 230. 
J Punjnh Records. Book No. 41, letter No. 65. 
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events leading up to what is now described will be found 
in the appendix on the Punjab Anarchyx :- 

" By the 8th October things had reached such a pitch 
that the murder of the whole Dogra family was decided 
upon, and Chait Singh was rash enough to sap in Dllrhar 
to Dhian Singh : ' See what will become of you in t ~ ~ ~ c n t y -  
four hours.' Dhian Singh, who was a man of an in- 
flexible resolutior~ and impcrturable serenity of demeanour 
smiled politely and said : ' Very well, sir. we shall see .' 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .L)hian S111gh gave illstructions to the army, 
which was cornpletcly a t  his orders, to r e m a i ~  perfectly 
quiet a21 r,ixht. I rewived orders that the il'oadect guns 
were to be placed a t  nightfd~l a t  all the gates of the palace, 
and that whatever occurred, whatever thunders there were 
at the gates, evervone was to feign sleep. Raja Dhian 
Sinqh aslred rile if I would lilie to accoml~any him, and 
of  cnur.ce I said : ' Yes. ' 

" The part17 consisted of about fifteen.. . . . . . . .the ladies 
of the zenana lyad; promised to give us free entrance to the 
buildling in which the Maharajah and his minister slept. 
I t  was nea,r midnight when we entered the palace, and no 
sooner had we left the gate through which we had bl-n 
admitted, than a voice accosted us : ' Who is i t ?  ' nhinzl 
Singh replied : ' The Rllaharajah qoes to bathe to-morrow 
a t  Amritsa~a, and me are to make'the necessary arrange- 
ments.' This \vas the concerted' reply. We reached an- 
other and inner gate which opened noiselessly, on a 
wh ispcred order from Dhian Sin5h. Without uttering a 
sol~nd we stealthilv crept our wav in the darli up a flight of 
stairs, up a place called the   ads ha hi Taliht, and thence 
up to the immediate vicinitv cf the royal apartment. Here 
Glllnh Sinqh and Dhian Singh held whi5pe,red1 conversa- 
tion, the pilrpoi-t df which 1 collld not catch. At this 
moment a man started up  a t  seeinq 115, nntl tried to run 
off. Snchet Finch shot him dead, ind was nlniost instant- 
Iv l<nocked down bv a tremendous cuff on the ear bv Glilab 
Sinchh. who clirsed' him rlnder his hrcath for his' impnl- 
dence. 

t r  On looltinq over the parapet we sawr two companies 
nf t h e  14:lharaiah's bodvguarcl. nhian Sinyh quickly \vent: 
down the staircase to the place where they were stationed 
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and was accosted by the subedar in  command, who said : 
' Why did you fire?' I had followed Dhian Singli and 
stnod immediately behind him H e  simply shon-tbd his 
right hand, upon which he had two thumbs, and put his 
finger to his lips. 0a seeing this well known peculiarity, 
the subedar whispered: ' Lie down,' and the wholle of 
the two companies lay down and pretended sleep. The 
subedar then pointed to  the door of the doomed man, which 
had been left a jar ,  with a mute gesture. Dhian Singh 
entered, folllrrwed Ev the whole crowd. To! There on 
the bed sat ~ a h a r a i a h  Kharalc Singh, washing his teeth. 
The adjoining bed, which belonged to Chet Singh, was 
empty. When asked where his minister was, Kharak 
Singh simply replied that he had gone out on hearing a 
shot fired. 

" Perceiving a fierce sort of half smile on thc faces of 
the Dogra brothers, he begged that Chet Singh's life might 
be spared, and ~vould have proved very restive, if his own 
son and four or five Sikhs had not held him down, whilsi; 
vr7e proceeded in search of the fugitive. Then two torches 
were lit and on entering the room in which we expected to  
find the minister, i t  appeared to be empty; it was velv long 
and narrow. La1 Singh, however. calle'd out that hr saw 
the glitter of n sword in one corner, and there cc~wered the 
wretched man, his hand upon his sword. We were armed 
with daggers 

" The eyes of Dhian Singh seemed to shoot firc at  u s  
as  his gaze alighted and fixed itself on his deadly foe. 
Gnlab Singh was for irlte~posing to do the deed himelf ,  
fearing fof his brother, who was a short man, in the 
desperate defence he couilted upon; but Dhian Singh slinok 
him off ronqhly, and dagger in hand. slowlv advnncillg 
towards hisenemy, said : ' The twentv-four hours yo11 were 
conrteou~ enough to mention to me have not yet e laped, '  
Then, with the spring of a tiger, the surcessful connter- 
plotter dashed a t  his enemy 2nd plunqeedl his rlilo~er into 
his heart. saying : ' Tnl;r this in rnernorv of Rnn-iit Sinqh.' 
T l h i ~ n  S j n ~ h  then t~lrned round to his pnrtv, his face 
radiant with triumph, and courteor~sly th;lnlied u s  for our 
2i(l." 

C:omment on the mentalitv of a. Ei?ropenn \vhn so rnlmly 
r~rjnf~snes hnving hrrn concerned in such an atlrocious deed 
is, we imn;!i~le, sllperflllons. 
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Gardiner claims to have been present a t  most of the 
murders and atrocities connected with the Anarchy, and 
we irnagiile with a fair  amount of truth. ~ c c o r d i n ~  to 
his account, he was prominent in the defence of the Hazuri 
Gate of Port Lahore during the siege of Jannary, 1841, 
and here fol.l.ows his version* :- 

" I sidled down from the archway to look through the 
chink of the Hazuri Bagh Gate, which I had1 bloclied up 
with carts, and saw 14 guns brcught up. planted within 
20 yards, and aimed straight a t  the gate. The Dogras on 
the'walls began tolboli over and were jeered bv Sher Singh's 
troops. G ulah Singh lllade c~n te rn~ tuo~is"  replies, and 
roared down to Sher Singh, demanding that he should 
surrender. There was a Grief, but breathless space, and I 
had not tirue to warm my artillerymen, ~vhen down came 
the gate over our party, torn to pieces by the simultnneous 
discharge of all the fourteen guns Seventeen of my party 
were blown to bits, parts of the bodies flying over me. 

" When I had wiped the blood and1 brains from my 
face, and could recover a minute, I saw only one trembling 
1ih:l'nni. T hnrriedl~r asked him for a portfire, having lost 
mine in the fall of the ruins. He had just handed it too 
me, when with a wild yell 300 -4kalis swept up the Hazuri 
nayh and crowded into the yntewar. They were packed 
R S  close as fish, and could hardly inove over the rubbish 
with which the gate was bloclied' Just  as tlic crowd was 
rushing upon me with swords high in the air ,  I managed to 
fire the ten Tuns, and h'lew them into the air . .  . . . . .  . .Tn the 
pause which ensued I loaded the guns with the aid of my 
three artillcrvmen who h2 d sl! r v i ~ ~ e d  the discharge, and 
swept. away the hostile artillerymen outside the gatc. 9 9 

Gardiner nndoubtedly conchlcted the defence of the 
?ate, for. Revnell 'I'avlor, writin? in 1847, remarlcs that 
G~llnh sing( desired' to have Gardiner returned to him, 
irientioning t h s t t  " Gnlab Singh has a high opinion of 
Gardiner. fie says that Gardiner defended the Hazuri 
Rnwh Cnte and wanted to blow up the Radshahi Ilosque 
with red hot shot,. but Gnli~h Sinch dissuaded him. as  the 

Life of Alexander Gardiner, pages 234-35. 
t Political Diaries, Vollime VI, page 62. 
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passagzs leading to the fort from the mosque were full uf 
powder, and would have blown up both besiegers and 
besieged. ' ' 

But, the official report of this episode, which is, w-e 
believe, the correct one, gives a different, and more probable 
version : 

*" 20t h January. 184 I .-The besiegers suffered heavily 
o n  the first clay by a stratagem of the defenders of the 
Akbari Gate. ~ h e v  brought up  guns into the Hazuri 
Ragh, and commended to fire a t  the doors, with the inten- 
tion of battering them down. They had hardlv fired a few 
rounds when the gate was opened, and beliking this to 
be a sign of surrender, the Akaiiis and the soldiers swarmed 
in, and were met with a heavy fire olf grape shalt from the 
guns a t  the gate. Over 300 men were killed in the attack, 
which tohen ceased. The garrison then reclosed and 
secured the gate. J J  

After the evacuation of Fort Lahore, Gardiner ac- 
con~panied Gulab Singh in an expedition into Kashli:ir, t,o 
quell the. mutiny of the Sikh garrison, who not having 
received the increase of pay given to the troops who had 
participated in gaining the throne for Sher Singh, and 
believing the Governor of Kashmir responsible, mutinied 
and burnt him alive. But, as this person had murdered 
not only his own mother, but his eldest son, we can feel 
hut little svmpathy for him However, Gnlab Singh's 
met,hods with the mutineers were sumIllarv, folr after sub- 
duing them. he annihilated the two battalions. 

After this, Gl~lab Singh. in conlpliance with orders 
from the durbar, proceeded tc  Peshawar to assist the 
British troops under the conditions of the tri-partite treaty, 
but heinq 1 ) ~  nature n trimmer, deliberately delaved his 
march in order that matters should take a definite course 
before he arrived, and i t  was on this occasion that 1 ,an~ence 
made use of Gardiner. After the conclusion of this 
mmpaign, Ga.rdiner's batterv, with two battalions of 
nogras, were made over to nhian  Singh, then Wazir a t  

Punjab Recordu, Boolc No. 15, letter No. 18. 
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Lahore, who urgently needed troops he could depend upon, 
for the Silths cordially detested the Dogra brothers one 
and all, and with these Gardiner took part in the second 
storming of the fort, and the subsequent slaughter. 

He claims to have been the man who placed the head 
-of Dhian Singh's murderer a t  the feet of the widow await - 
ing i t  on the funeral pyre, and, judging from his record, 
with truth. I n  December 184'2 he commanded this force 
sent on an expedition to  Sialkot to compel the evacuation 
of the fort bv ICashmir and Peshora Singh, and though 
losing 200 men in the attack, was successful. 

I n  October 1844, all the Eilropeans were dismissed hy 
Pundit Julla, and Gardiner, fearing the revenge of the 
relatives of the men shot down in the attack on the IJaxuri 
B a ~ h  Gate, took s h e l t ~ r  with the ,4lia,lis; ~ n d ,  hc says, 
became one of them. As such, he was, he claims, entrust- 
ed with the honour of carrving the head of the Pund'it 
through the bazaars of Lahore: before it was thrown to lhe 
dogs. 

But all the :r.trocities in ~vhich he claims to have hcen 
concerned pale before that of which there is absolute proof. 
The person concerned was Jodha Ram, who had succedecl 
t.o the command of Avitabile's brigade, and1 in this 
capacity had struck and asbused Jawahir Singh, when 
visiting his canlp. The whirligig of time having thrown 
;Tawahi,r Singh into, suprenle power, he used it thus :-- 

*" Jodha Ram was seized, and being hrouqht into the 
Wa zir's presence, was reviled and subjected to 'indiqnities, 
and sentenced to lose his right thumb, nose and ears. 
Reing a Brahmin, no Hindu of anv grade ~vould undel.tal<e 
the execution of the sentence, nor ~vould the I<ot~val of 
Labore, a, Milss~llmnn. He too refused ; and we hllish to 
record that the only man in Lahore who colild he fo~intl 
to  execute the barbarous decree mas a European. h!r. 
Gardiner, or Gordona, in the Sikh artillery, tool< a razor, 
a 11d with his own hands in cold Mood, without personal 
enmitv of anv sort, inflicted the pilnishnient which Silihs, 
-- - - - -- - - - - - - -- 

C a l c ~ ~ t t a  Review, 1847. pngc 249. 
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Hindus, and Mussulmans had shrunk from with disgust. 
But then he was made a Colonel; and as  Walpole observed : 
' Every man has his price. The only thing is to find i t  
out!  ' " 

Naturally enough, Gardiner does not mention this 
incident which was the true reason of his beingpltimately 
deported from Lahore, but alleges that i t  was due to the 
intrigues of Teja Singh. Of this hereafter. 

Gardiner remained it1 favour -vvitll Jowahir Singh, 
whose own popularity continued to wane, though he hung 
on pre~n~riously until September 1845, when matters came 
to a climax, and he followed his predecessors in the 
Wazirat by the same violent means. He still held the 
fort,  but with troops quite unreliable, soma of which were 
under the command of Gardiner. The. Punjab Records 
give us the concluding scene of Jow-ahir Singh's career, 
and as Gardine!r is herein mentioned, and his mut.i.lation 
of Jodha Ram confirmed, we give the following extract :- 

*" 23rd February, 1845.-Sirdar Jowahir Singh shows 
mistrust of everyone, and is quite unable to act for him- 
self. I n  one case he has done so, and this in ordering the 
mutilation of a Rrahniin officer who had offended him. 
The troops on guard a t  the palace immediately left, and 
those a t  ~arnm; have declared their intention tc' avengr the 
outrage. The sirdizr has latelv cmploved several persons, 
one of whom is a Mr ~ a r d i n e r ,  a deserter from some 
European regiment, to raise three regiments. and those 
amount to about 900 men. There are also 2,000 hillmen 
and artillery, formerly in Hi ra  Singh's service, all en- 
camped neir  the fort,  and liherzlly supplied wit11 arms 
and ammunition. But they can do nothing for his protec- 
tion against ,- the army. 

" A t  Lahoret Sirdar Jowahir Singh has for some 
days  prepared to defend the fort, and told his new levies 
thev were his onlv hope, a t  the same time ?iring each man 
a present. The 'instrument of this man is the European 
Oardiner, now created a Colonel, mentioned in an earlier 

P~in iah  Records, Rook No. 165, letter No. 1. 
t Plinjah Recorda, File No. 166-66, 1845. 
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letter. I learn to-day that this man is believed in the 
Yunjab to  be a deserter from a rnan-0'-war in Bond~ay. 
I also find that a report that I did not mention before is 
authentic. It is that with his own hands he cut off the 
fingers, nose, andl ears of Jodha Ram, 'lately mutilated by 
order of the sirdar. 

" On the 22nd the Rani gave Dina Nath jewels to the 
alnount of Rs. 10,000 to advise her as to means of flight. 
The result was that she was advised not to rely on 
Gardiner's levies, but to go with the sirdar and bring the 
young Maharajah illto the camp of the brigade lately he- 
longing to Ventura. They departed towards Shalimar, 
but the troops immediately sent parties to watch the roads 
leading evervwhere but back to the city, for the panches 
had decided'to put the sirdar to death, and cut off the 
Maharani's nose as a woman of loose morals. Both 
returned to the fort." 

After the 1st Silth War  Gardiner r e t ~ ~ r n e d  to the 
service of Gnlab Singh, having escaped active participa- 
tion in the campaign, during which he alleges that he was 
emploved as commander of the bodvgnard sf Rani Jjndan, 
the regent, and was d e  faeto  overn nor of Lahore. The 
latter statement is certainly incorrect, for we find no 
mention of it in the Ztecord's, in  which such an important 
event would have been noted, and probably the former is 
as untrue. 

With the taking over of the administration by the 
British complaints as to former outrages and abuses IT-ere 
vociferous, and that concerning Galediner and Jodha Ram 
and the former's punishment is supplied by the followil~g 
quotations :- 

*" Februaq! 13th~ 1846.-Pundit Jodha R ~ r n  came 
hefore me (Henrv T,awrence) and complained that M r .  
Gardiner had cut off his nose. ears, and r iql~t  thnnll~ 11-itl; :I 
razor, bv order of Jowahir Singh. He is'awnrded Rs. 500 
a n d  his'forfeited jaghirs restored." 

t" 17th Febmc.crrry, 18.46.-The Eli~vpcan Gardiner. 
who obtained the ra(n1z of Colonel for m1; t ilat in. ;lo(lhn 

* Politici niaries, Vo l~ lmc  IT, pnge 29. 
t Politicnl Dinries, Volnme IT, pnge 92. 
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Ram by order of the late Jowahir Singh is dismissed from 
the Kl~alsa service, his jaghir being forfeited and himself 
ordered to leave Lahore. " 

Having been deported to Ludhiana, Gard'iner re- 
mained there for some time, during which he was enlployed 
by Major Carmichael Smyth, then engaged on his History 
of the Reigning Panlily of Lahore, to furnish the ground 
work of most of the accounts of the Punjab, from 1841 
downwards, and though Gardinel ' s voracity is :isually 
suspect, his statements in this are corroborated by 
Lawrence, Cunningham, and McGregor. Smyth, like so 
manv others, seems to have been impressed by Gardiner, 
for he remarksX--- 

" My information has been derived from Rlr. 
~ a r d i n e i - ,  an offic~r of the Sikh artillery, one of the few 
who have not grown rich in that servide. For the last 
thirteen vears, he has, I believe, held the rank of C,olonel, 
but as his pay has been much reduced of late. and he has 
now only chakge of six y n s ,  I have merely given him the 
rank of Captain. H e  long foresaw in the political 
hemisphere of Lahore the storm that has tal:en place, and 
:4 fter the death of ZIirn Sin&, when Cdonel Cortla,ndt was 
anuini~s to return and Co! Mouton nctuallv did re t i~rn  to  
the  Cilth service [:oloner1 Gardiner  was most anxiolls to 
lenve i t ,  a n d  Mqior Lqwrence kindly cndea~~oured to pro- 
pure f i i ~ 3 1  an anpointment, , . hilt hp  did not s~~cceed."  

W h a t  became of Gard'iner during the next few vears 
we nre ~lnahle  to ascertain, and our next trace of hiin is 
:qt 'ITiilt~n. where he had apparently set up in business, 
crnd had  even bccn allowed to purchase a number of un- 
serviceable c2nnon hplls from the ml~nitions csntured bv 
the Rritish d i~r iny  the  last Sikh War The lettcr we now 
quote puts another nail in the coffin of the mysterious 
birthdace on the " shores of Lake Superior ", for having 
been c ~ l l e d  upon to declare his nationality, none hilt Rritish 
s~lhjer ts  being t,hen allowed to trade in India, Gardiner 
sent in the following letter :-- 

' Reigning Fnmily of TJahnre, page XV. 



" Multan, 5th October, 1850.-I most respectfully beg 
to state that being a native of Philadelphia, the capital of 
Pennsylvania, in the U. S. of America, I must consequent- 
ly consider myself an American citizen. I have paid out 
large sums of money in erecting saltpetre works, and 

tuna- purpose leaving here in 30 days to establish myselt p i  
nently at  Bombay. 

(Sd.) A. GARDINER, 
Indus Commercial Establishment. " 

We do not know the exact date when .Gardiner re- 
entered Gulab Singh's service, but it was probably in 
1851, nor do we know his exact position in the Kashmir 
army. According to his own account, as stated by 
Pearse, he was in command of the Kashmir artillery and 
a battalion of infantry, receiving a salary of some 12s. 500 
per month, as well as the income of several jaghirs. It is 
said that he assisted Gulab Singh in the subjugation of 
Kashmir, and that these emoluments were a reward for his 
services. 

A copy of the entry in the burial1 register of Sialkot 
concerning Gardiner has been very kindly supplied to us 
by Father Baldwin, the Roman Catholic Chaplain of that 
station. According to this. Alexander Gardiner, a Colonel 
in the Kashmir army, died at Jammu on the 22nd of 
Jani~ary 1877, and was buried in Sialkot cemetery three 
days later. 

The age, at  first entered at  98, has been scratched out 
and that of 76, .which was his actual one, entered, and 
initialled. 

As a copy of this certificate must have been supplied 
to Major Pearse, i t  is curious that he did not notice the 
correction, which is of equal age, nnd in the sor?~e writing 
as the first entry. Had he done so the dates and age would 
have proved the falsity of Oardiner's R,ollgen~onti(, n n m t -  
tive 
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CHAPTER XIV 
HAMISH MCGREGOR MCPHERSON - FRANCIS JOHN KANAR.% - 

RAMSAY - VIESKENAWITCH - HENRY CHARLES VAN 

CORTLANDT - LESLIE OR RATTRAY - ROBERT DICK - 
DOTTENWEISS OR DOTTERWICH - STEPHEN LANE -- 
FRANCIS. 

Hamish McGregor JIcPherson. 

The nationality of this person with the exceedingly 
Scotch name is yet indeterminate. The Punjab Records, 
iinder date 18th October 1828, mention that an East 
Indian named MilcPherson had sought service with Ranjit 
Singh, hut failing to obtain it had gone on to Rahawalpnr. 

We were informed manv years ago that McPherson 
had been an officer in some ~cot t i sh  regiment, from which 
he had been either cashiered or reduced, a statement which 
is probably correct, for von Orlich, who mentions him as 
Commander of the Bahawalpur Infantry, remarks that 
McPherson was a fugitive who had "sought refuge 
there *." His being mistaken for a Eurasian is excusable, 
for a person long wandering will bs deeply sun-tanned. 
However, as the inscription on his grave at  Ahmedpore de- 
scribes him as " of Scotland,'' we may assume that 
McPherson was a native of that country. 

Herbert Edwardes, who tolerated no euphemisms, 
mentions McPherson as a Europeant, so that we niay 
assume him to have been such. Rahawalpur being one of 
the principal entries to the Punjab, was frequently visited 
by European travellers, and officers, some of whom 
mention the Bahawalpur troops, thoi~gh differing greatly 
in their estimation of them. For instance, Burnes and 
Wood record that in 1836 the Rahawalpur troops under 
Mopherson comprised some 1,300 men, " tolerablv wdl _ - _ _ _  - - 

Travels in India, Volume 1, pa e 146. 1 t Herbert Edwardee: A Year on t e Punjab Frontier, Volume 11, page 386. 
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equipped, and having a band and colours." What the 
lor11ld must have been like is easier to imagine than to have 
had to listen to ! 

Havelock, who passed through in 1839-1840, re- 
marked that the Daudputra Regiments trained by 
McPherson were just about as good as the Sikhs, in which 
opi~lion he diff'ers from Dr. Atkinson, who saw them a pear 
later, and records that* :- 

" The Bahawalpur troops consist of three regiments 
of  bout 3,000 nien. The first, numbering 1,000 is com- 
manded by a European named McPherson, who gets Rs. 5 
per day. l 'he specimen of the Khan's solld'iers me saw was 
a poor one. He was on guard, black belted and muslieted. 
$uch a niusltet ! The brass plate of the cross belt had 
upon it  the number 24, surrounded by an oval wraea th, the 
plate being two inches wider than 'the leather. I t  (the 
plnte) had been copied from one brouqht to the Khan by a 
deserter from the 24th Native Tnfantrv, and' the numbers 
vrcre evidentlv considered part of the design. The 
soldier's habiliments, except a nondescript cap, were t!?ose 
17-nrn hv n pallri hearer inA1ndin, and his hut did d u t y  as 
;1 ~ - ' ~ n t r y  ~ O Y .  

9 Y 

Apparentlv this was one of the battalions other than 
that of McPharson, for Lieut. Trevelva,n writes of the 
latter tha t t  :- 

" The sepovs were dlressed in vhi te  uniform with 
Mnrlt belts, aria quite well disciplined. Thpv had a, hand 
of drums and fifes, to which they marched in verv good 
time A Mr. tfcPherson. who has been some a t  the 
Court, is employed to dliscipline the regulars. The re- 
mainder wore a colo~ired uniform, and were armed with 
112a tchloclcs. " 

Whether disciplined or not, the l3nndpntra contiwent 
acqllitted themselves quite we111 at Mnltnn, nrhere they 
servd  with Herbert Edmardes and  tJhe TZh~?sa continvent 
11nclel van Cortland't. The description given bv Fdmard~s .  
o+' their leader. is worth clnotinqt :- 

*Expedition to Afghanistan, Vol~lnle I, page 74. 
t Calcnt,tn Jol~rnal. 1836, pnge 39.5. 
3 A Yenr on the Punjab Frontier. Volume TI, page 985. 
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" Kaneri, June 18th, 1 8 4 8 . ~ 1  heard tha,t the Daud- 
putra army was in a state of mutiny and galloping up, 
arrived amongst a lot of wild looking warriors, with red 
beards and hair. Suddenly a European stepped out of the 
orowd, and advanced to me in a hurried manner, wiping 
his forehead, and exclaiming : ' Oh ! sir, our army is dis- 
organised.' A pleasing salutation to meet one with, on 
arriving a t  the field of battle. He then told me that his 
name was RIcPherson, that he commanded one of the two 
regular regiments belonging to the Nawab. I asl;ed hini 
where his General was. He laughed and pointed to a 
large peepul tree, round which a number of men were 
gatheredl. 

" I galloped up, and looking over the shoulders of the 
people, saw a little old man in dirty clothes, and with 
nothing but a skull cap on his head; sitting under a tree 
with a rosary in his hand, the beads of which he was 
ra.pidlv telling, and1 muttering in a peevish1 y helpless 
manner : ' God be praised ! God bc praised ! etc.' ap - 
parently quite abstracted from the scene, and utterly un- 
cor~scious of the fact that six pounder cannon balls were 
gonig through the branches, and that officers were implor- 
lng him for orders. and that eight or nine tholisand rebels 
were waiting to d'estrov the army d which he was the 
Chief General. He had to be shaken by his people hefore 
he could comprehend that I had arrived, and as he rose and 
tottered forward, looking vacantly forward into mv face, 
T saw that I might as well talk to a post. so toolz 'charge 
personally. " 

Under Edwardes' command, the Ra.h~.walpl~r cont in- 
vent acquitted themselves unite well. assistin? to c:tnture 
<- 

t h ~  enevv's stores, ammunition, and eight runs as well a s  
inflirtinp heavy lows upon them, their own casllaltins 
numberin? 100' of the 250 in the combined Khalsa contin- 
pent and Rahawalpur force. 

The next battle was that of Sa,ddusam, on the 1st ,Tulv, 
1S49. 11ncfer the command of McPherson, where tbe\7 took 
the  r i ~ h t  nf the line, and in storminp; the villaqe of 
Saddl~sam, he was killed. His tomb at  the village of 
Ahmed~)ore is said to have heen el-nrtsd bv his R/l~~ssulnlan 
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wife, Begum Murad Rulchsh, who lies beside him, and i t  
bears the fcllowing inscription :- 

Hamish McGregor McPherson of Scotland, 
lcilled in battle at the head of his regiment, 
while fighting against the Dewan Mocl 
Raj ,  at Siddhoosam, near Multan, on,the 
1st July, 1848. 

Francis John Ka~ec~ra. 

I t  was remarked1 of Charles I that nothing in his life 
became him so well as the manner of his leaving i t .  a 
remark which may fittingly apply to Kanara. 

As with the greater nu~nber of the adventureys, he 
moved on to the stage unobtrusivelv, and dwelt for a long 
time amongst the crowd of supers before stepping forward 
to pllay his brief part,  and die a hero's death When and 
whence he came is not definitely traced. but circi~znst,ai~tial 
evidence and deductions render i t  fairly certain tihat he 
was an Irishman, a deserter from the British forccs. and 
the person who accompanied Ga.rdiner when he caine to 
Lahore. 

The lists of Europeans in the service of the Kh:~ l s ;~  do 
not include Kanara, but thev do a person sometimes called 
Kennv, and a t  other times Kennedy. 171110 came to Lahore 
in the same year as G ~ r d i n e r .  The name is also given as 
Khora, the various corruptions being due to mispronnn- 
ciations, or perhaps intentional misspelling. James 
Abhott, under whom Kanara served in 1848, remarks that* 
" strange suspicions of infll~ence from the v~1ie-y of roses 
(Gulab Singh in Kashmir) haunt the Colonel's mind, 
acquired probably from his perusal of Major Smyth's 
vohime, the informa tion in which II~;IS gleaned from Colonel 
Ga.rdiner, his friend and r ~ w n t ? ~ y m n n .  > > 

This seems to show that Kanara was an Irishman, and 
a.s he is very probably the saine person nientionrd by 
Lieutenant Maclagan . the fact seems proved. Lien t. 

' Po:iticnl Diaries, Volume IV, page 1M). 
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Maclagan, whose diary has not yet been pnbbished, 
writes :- 

" 12th April, 1846.-Met Colonel Kinaila of the Sikh 
service, and had a long talk with him. He savs that he 
has been three years in the Egyptian service, andu18 in that 
of the Sikhs. He speaks with a strong Irish accent. His 
parents h8d migrated to America in 1797, and he was 
horn in Northumberland Town, Philadelpllia, St. John's 
street, odd side, in 1799. He greatly bewails the dete- 
riorations of the Sikh service, and says it is not worth 
remaining in. He docs not seem a <err superior sort of 

9 '  man. 

I t  is curious to note that Baron Hugnl, when speak- 
ing of Gardiner, makes use of exactly the same conc,lud- 
ing sentenct?, and that both men claimed to have been 
Americans from Philadelphia ! I n  some accoilnts, Kanara 
has been &scribed as a Viennese American of noble 
extraction, and heir to a great fortune, for some time 
this complex nati~na~lity rather puzzled us, until suspect- 
ing the influence of Gardiner, we looked through the 
numerous papers relating to Kanara, and found our 
suspicions were verified, for the document containing this 
statenlent mentions the information was derived from 
Cclonel Gartliner " a life long friend of our father's." 

Not content with endowing his friend and countryman 
with a mythical ancestry, Gardiner also best.owcd unon 
him a coat of arms, thus described by Kanara's eld'est 
son :- 

" Our esc~t~cheon is composed of two military fhgs  
c~.ossed with supporters, two daggers having crowing Fame 
cocks poised o n  their points, and a crest of a large game 
cock crowing between the crossed flags. There was a 
motto, hut it is now illegible. Our father was born in 
Vienna, and has relations in Vienna andl London and 
America, where he is heir to a large estate." 

Amongst the vernncnlar papers in the Pilnjab 
J?ecords is a summary of Kanara's career in the Kl~nlsa 
9ervice. which was compiled in support of his f:cmily's - 

vlaim to a pension, and t~crorrling to this. he silocessivelg 
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served with Tej Singh, Gulab Singh, Hira  Singh, and 
nhian  Singh, before being posted to the main line of the 
Khalsa army, on the dkath of Hira Singh. His name first 
appears in the Khalsa Records of 1842, as commander of a 
battery under General! Mehtab Singh, and drawing a 
salary of Rs. 215 per month, later increased to Rs. 350. 
The pet.ition sent in by the family details much other war 
service which, hotwever, we need not enumerate. 

Like Garcliner 2nd the others, he was dismissed by 
Pundit Julla, and re-engaged by Jowahir Singh on an 
increased salary. His battery forming part  of the forces 
usuallv stationed at Hazara, escaped participation in the 
first ~ i l c h  War.  and after its conclusion. ICanara, together 
with Holmes and van Cortlandt, was permitted to remain 
in service, their forces being emploved as escorts to the 
British officers detailed to survey, and settle the Punjnb, 
and tlishand the troops superflnons to the treaty. 

Kanara's battery was attached to the force accom- 
panying Captain Abbott in Kazara, and u n d e ~  this oficer's 
political ccntrol, 119 remained until his  mnrder. The 
positions of the Europeans in the Punjab. both in the 
British and Khalsa service. were difficnlt , not to say, very 
precarious, for the struggle just concluded had bv no 
means been unequal. and having been accompanied by 
duhions proceedings on the part of the Sikh lenders. h:,d 
led the soldierv to 1,eliere t l ~ s t  they had not been fairlv 
beaten, and to cherish an ever growing hope that a second 
attempt nliqht reverse the conditions. 

This I ) i  tterness, and sinouldering discontent was 
further accentuated bv the drastic reductions in pi13~ and 
nli~nlwrs. perhgps r i ~ h t l v  insisted upon by the British. 
for the revenues olf the countrv were qnite unable to support 
the incuhns o f  n huge army. The numerolls d'ismissals 
were especinllr odious to men who hati hitherto considered 
the militan? life to be the most honourable of all, and 
themselves to he the ~ n l e r s  o f  the nation. and arbiters of 
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its d ~ t i n y .  The numerous privileges, high pay, and rich 
rewards, resultant upon the anarchy, and frequent changes 
of rule hitherto prevailing, were all swept away, and the 
a,rmy reduced to a shadow of its former numbers and 
importance. 

As soon as the news of the murders of Anderson and 
Vans Agnew at Multan filtered into Hazara, the troops 
broke out into overt acts of mntiny, and Kanara's posi- 
tion between loya.lty to the orders of the durbar, as intcr- 
preted by Captain Abbott, and obedience to those of 
Chattar Singh, under whom the troops actuall~r v7ere, 
placed him in a very difficult position. As he took a very 
firm hand with his men, and rigorouslv snppressed the 
mutinies or attempts a.t them, he soon became most 
unpopular. 

By threats, promises of promotion, and monetary 
re'ward, every possible endeavour was made to bririg him 
over to Chattar Singh's views. But wit.hout effect; for 
Kanara was incorruptible, and firmly declined to pe,rmit 
his guns to he rernoved without, direct ordkrs from Captain 
~ b b o t t ,  whom he regarded as the autharised representa- 
tive of the durbar of Lahore. haturally, such resistance 
enraged Chattar Singh and Kanara's own soldiers, so the 
end cmle on the 6th August, 1848. Capta'in Abbott's 
official report narrates tha,t :- 

*" 8th A ~ g u s t ,  1848.-Hazara. This morning on my 
return from my walk, I received a note from Colonel 
Kanara, saving that the Sirdar had ordered him to move 
his guns, and encamp outside the city; that he had remons- 
trated, saying that such a move at such a time would 
subject them to the charge of rebellion, i t  being without 
my sanction. That the Sirdar had sent his confi8entlal 
servant to win him over, but without avail ; that he thought 
there would be a struggle for his guns that night, and 
begged my instructions how to act. If he was to resist, he 
begged support. I had hardlv read his  not^ before his 
murd'er was annminced to me. 
- . - - - - - - - - -- -- - - 

Political Diariee, Volume TV, page# 224-25. 
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" The Sirdar had, i t  seems, sent two companies to 
seize the guns by force. Colonel Kanara loaded them with 
grape, and ordered his golan4auz (gunners) to fire. They 
shrank from him, saying that they were servants of the 
Sirdar. His havildar still refusing to apply the match, 
Kanara cut him down and applied it with his ow11 hand. 
It burnt priming (missed fire) and he was immediat,elg 
shot down by two sepoye. Tt is said that he rose to cot 
down another assailant, when his neck was severed. Thus 
died a rrlan, who whatever the defect of education and 
infirmities of nature, claqed his career with ;in act of 
gallantry and loyalty unsurpassed by anything J have ever 
read in history. I sincerely trust that the family of this 
brave and loval man will be provided for. Thev live in 
TAahore, and I earnestly trust that measures of retribution 
upon the brutal and wanton murderers will be speedily 
adopted." 

Abbott erected a monnment at his own expense at 
Haripur, near Abbottabad, which consists of 8 ronghly 
built stone obelisk, bearing a small marble tablet. with the 
following inscription :- 

" To the memory of Colonel Kanara. who 
fell nobly in the performance of his dutv, 
being summoned by the rebel Sikh army to 
surrender his guns, and being basely 
deserted by his men, he seized a linstock 
and fell singlv combating a host, Ju ly  6 th .  
1848." 

After many pressil~g spi,enls by Abbott. on behalf of 
Kana.ra's farnilv. the Government, mnch against the v-ill 
of Sir ~rederick Currie, the Resident. who remarked that 
Kanara's fate served him perfectlv right. as he was rmllv 
under the orders of Chattar Singh, ?ranted a. small 
pension of Rs. 10 per head to the wife and fa~nilv of the 
murdered man.  One of his sons, born a few months 
before his death, even now sllrvives in Lahore 

Ramsay. 
We may sa.fely assume this man to he the t,hircl of 

those mentioned1 in the account, of Crrtrdiner's arrivnl at  
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Lahore, as having deserted with him and Khora (Kanara) 
from Bombay. Certainly the report of the arrival of the 
two latter mentions that one had died at Peshawar, but 
this we believe to be incorrect, and that Ramsap had 
remained on a t  Peshawar after the others left, and later 
gone an into Central ,4sia, with the kafila, which the 
three accompanied either from Bombay or Karachi. If 
these men were actually naval dbserters it is most probably 
from Karachi that  they deserted, for they would scarcely 
have avoided detection or even notice during the long 
tramp u p  from Bombay. 

The report of Ramsay's death may have been a 
friendly action on the par t  of the others, to  prevent any 
search for him, should they themselves have been made 
over to  the British. What happened1 to Ramsay between 
1830 and 1848 we may only conjecture. but his wanderings 
mav have been very q ide  and his adventures as weird. 
Here then, again, may be one of the sources from which 
Gardiner had drawn some of the material he so unscrupul- 
ously utilised, for Ramsav did travel through Hazara, 
central  Asia, and1 in the" Himalayas, and probably met 
Gsrdiner when that person was engaged with Gulab 
Singh's troops in Hazara. and to him related some of his 
experiences. 

Ramsav's character, as given by Major Abbott, may 
be taken as f a i ~ l v  representative of the lower class of 
adventurers who took service with native chiefs. Abbott 
records under date 18th August, li34Bx :-- 

" Hearing that an Irishman named Ramsag, who had 
been many years in the artillerv of Arsala Khan of Ziada, 
was at fiazan Abd111. I sent for him. He had1 difficulty 
in expressing himsdf in English. from long disuse of tha t  
tongue, hut spenks Pnshtu fluently He declares he has 
never been in British service, but 1 clo~~ht him. His 
account is that he worked his way to Romhav as a sailor. 
1 R venru nyo. r l~ser t ,~d  his  ship '  nncl joined a kafila of 

Political Diaries. Vnlnme TV. page 382. 



Mahomedans, whom he acconipanied to Swat and through 
Central Asia. Iie declares that he dotes not lznow what 
route he came up from Bombay by. I will keep him here 
and see what I can make of him. , > 

*" Seyte~nber ,  1848.-I was obliged to send the Euro- 
pean Ramsay off the field (at  a mela) as he was drunl;, and 
riding the people down. I had him up this morning. 
having confined him last evening. Later I 1,ardoned 
him, as he seemed very penitent, and said that I might 

7 1 blow him frolu i t  yun l f  I ever caught h im drunk again. 

As a ~nat ter  of fact, Ramsay \vas very useful to 
Abbott, for he kept him constantlv informed of the move- 
ments and intentions of both the inhabitants and the 
semi-mutinous troops. He haci already warned Abbott of 
more than one plot to sedhce the troops from their al,legi- 
ance, but a t  length his outrageous conduct,, and extremely 
bad example as a European outmmre his usefulness so 
much that Abbott was compelled to get rid of him. Here 
follows the dosing scene in Ramsay's career, so far  as me 
are concerned, but it is more than probable that he, like 
so many others of the same class, ended liis days In some 
hovel or ditch in Lahore. 

t " December, 1848.-Tor Major Lawrence : I have been 
obliged to send the artilleryman Ramsay down to Lahore 
with an escort. I had hihi pronloted from adjutant to 
jemadar in the hope thajt. I might reform him. But i t  
was of no use. He got drunk and created' n disturbance 
in a house of ill fame in the citv, cutting down a \I-on~an 
who had offended him. I have'lrept h i s  two wives. who 
did not wish to accompany hiill, and his infant child 
behind. " 

This person we take to be the one who appears in 
Carmichael Smpth's list as Vouchen, and though little is 
forthcoming about him, even that is valuable, as showing 
the varied careers of some of these men. their antecedents, 

- -  ----- 
Political Diaries, Volllme IV, page 508. 

t Politic~l Dinries. Volrime 1'7. pnge 510. 
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and the im~nense distances they traversed in search of mili- 
tary ernr~lopent .  He is also a link with. Gardiner's narra- 
tive, for quite probably it was from Vieskenawitch that 
Gardiner obtained the material for those Central Asian 
adventures he wove into his Rougemontic narratives. The 
resemblance is too remarkable t,o be coincidence when me 
note that b0t.h men served Gulab Singh, and that Vieskena- 
witch was also demanded from the Governor of ~esha~ivar  
when Ranjit Singh heard of his skill as an artilleryman. 

The account written by the news-writer at Lahore* 
states that Vieskenawitch was a Russian Georgian, who 
when about 18 years of age had left home. Finding no 
employment he joined a. band of wandering robbers who 
infested Central Asia and remained with them for three 
years, or so. At  the end1 of this period the band was cut 
to pieces in a battle with a rival band of Turkomans, and 
Vieslrenawitch, who escaped, then drifted into Persia 
where he obtained ~nilitary employment with Abbas Riirza, 
and in this service eventually attained the rank of 
C 01 onel. 

IIe left this service for the same reason as Court and 
Oms, and again passing through Central Asia, experienc- 
ing many curious adventures, more or less faithfully set 
down by Gardiner, he arrived at  Peshawar in January, 
1529. Here he was employed by Pir  Mahomed Khan to 
train his artillery, and did so well in this capacity that 
wllen Ranjit Singh heard of him. he demanded him from 
P i r  Mahomed Khan. Vieskenawitch arrived at  Lahore 
in March, 1830, a date n-hich should be compared with that 
of Gardiner's arrival. Though he had been claimed as an 
artilleryman, he was not entertained as such, possibly 
because his reported acquirements were not equal to 
expectations. 

ITe was given a ba,ttalion in the service of Gulab 
Singh, by whom he was employed in Hazara and K~shmi r  
- ---- .- 

Punish Recordn, Rook No. 97, Lett<er No. El. 
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for the next four or five years. Getting tired of continual 
service in the hills, he applied to Ranjit Singh for a 
battalion, and on this being rejected, resigned the service 
in April, 1835, and passed on to Gwalior. 

Henry Charles Van Cortlandt . 

This person was the son of Colonel Van Cortlandt , of 
the 19th Dragoons, by an Indian woman. and was born a t  
R4eenit in the year 1814. 

Contrary to the usual custom of British officers having 
like connect ions, who usually allowed their off spring to  
shift for the~nsalves, Major Van Cortlandt had his son 
educated in England, and when in 1832 the young nnn  
returned to Ind'ia, activcly interested himself in obtaining 
for him employment with Ranjit Singh. There still exists 
a letter administering a severe rebuke from the Govern- 
ment of India to Colonel Van Cortlandt, then of the 31st 
Foot, for having " presented himself a t  a native court 
with the object of advancing his son's interests. 1 9  

Van Cortlandt, when engaged in June, 1832, was 
given con2mztnd of a Muss~llman battalion, on a sa,lary of 
Rs. 250 per month, which was later cnmmuted for a jaghir 
nominally worth Rs. 6,000 per annum, but reallv consider- 
ablv more. We are not able to trace his war service with 
the  Khalsa army,  and the first we hear of him a.fter the 
initial m~mtion is as commander of the escort which con- 
cl'ucted Sher Singh into the fort after the talring of Fort 
Lahore. Though he was present in Lahore during this 
siege he does not appear to have taken anv part in the 
operations 

Soon after this, his command was increa~ed to two 
battalions. and later this force was auqnented hv a 
battalion of iesai'chis and two com~anieq of srlppers and 
miners,  with whom he served in the Ha73rn district in 
1 R43. -4fter the assqssination of Sher Sinyh, his batts- 
lions retmrned to Lahore without orders. prohn hly with 
the intention of securing their share of the slanqhter ~lnd 
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plunder, then so liberally forthcoming in Lahore. Van 
Cortlandt accompanied them, but was in no way molested 
by his troops. Henry Lawrence assigns the following 
reason for this forbearance :-- 

*" Ja l~unry ,  1843.-Mr. Cortlandt never had any 
influence with his men, and was only suffered to remain 
in command when better nien were driven from the lines, 
because he was ~vsak  and submissive. H e  is not likely to 
create a disturbance, but still less likely to quelk one , 

This scathing summary was, as Van Cortlandt's later 
career will show, totally undeserved, and can only be 
explained by assuming that llBc so many others o i  the 
adventurer class, Van Cortlandt had incurred the  dis- 
like of Lawrence, who though so religious and philanthro- 
pic a man, was, as is not uncommon with such, vindictive 
to  those whom he disliked I t  is very difficult to see what 
otherwise Van Cortlandt could have done. He TI-as a 
family man, and as such could not afford to lose either his 
life: or his employment, and to take active measures in 
opposing his men would have simply resulted in the useless 
sacrifice of his life. 

Up to 1844 Van Cortlandt was employed in the Hazara 
district, and early in that year took leave to Mussoorie, 
where he remained until January, 1845. I n  that month he 
arrived a t  Ferozepur and requested permission from 
Major Broadfoot the Political officer there to pass over 
into the l'unjab. This \\-as refused, for Broadfoot was 
fully aware of the impending danger from the unruly 
Khalsa army, and declined to permit either Van Cortlandt, 
or any other European to  resume duty with the Khalsa. 
His  estimate of Van Cortlandt differs considerahlv from 
that of Lawrence, for he describes him as a n  extremely 
ahle man, and " an intriguer whose presence would be 
most undesirable in Lahore a t  that time." 

The position was certainly critical, for i t  was onlv a 
matter of a short time before the Sikhs would break out, 

Punjah  record^, Book No. 98, Letter No. 136. 
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and already their emissaries were active in the British 
militarv stations on the Punjab Frontier, seducing or 
endeavouring to seduce the sepoys from their allegiance 
by promises of high pay or rank in the Khalsa arnly, and 
according to the Pnnjab Records, a number of cavalrymen 
did desert. Gardiner aileges that these were of the 
Governor-General's bodyguard, but that is incorrect, tor 
they belonged to the 2nd Cavalrv, later the initiators of the 
great Mutiny. 

TTan Cortlandt was detained a t  E'erozepul- until 
Decembar , 1845, when having convinced the Political Agent 
of the honesty of his intentions, he was emplolyed as a poli- 
tical assistant and in this campacity was present a t  the 
battles of Ferozeshah and Sobraon, folr which he W ~ S  later 
awarded ~r,ed;tls, but he was not given the si.; ~1011th~'  
extra pay permitted to officers who toolr part in the 
Punjab War.  

On the 10th March, 1846, he was reinstated in  the 
Khalsa army with the rank of colonel and the command 
of a brigade equalling his for~lier. Having always been a 
favonite with the Sikh sird'ars, the Tlrazir a t  their 
request proposed to increase Van Cortlandt's pay and 
importance by increasing his command to that of a general, 
and awarding him that rank. Both of these proposa.ls were 
vetoed by Henry Lawrence, the one as unnecessary, and the 
other as not desirable. IIolwevelr, in compensation, the 
Wazir circumvented .Lawrence by settling a personal 
jaghir of Its. 1,000 per annum on Mrs. Van Cortlandt, 
and making his infant son a jemadar of artillery, with a 
pay of RS. 50 per month. 

The Wxzir also prcpowd to employ the eld'cr Van 
Cortlandt, but this again was vetoed bv Henry Lawrcnce, 
who remarked that " the elder Van Cortlandt was phvsi- 
cally and intellectually feeble "-an estimate possibly 
quite true, for tho old man had joined the 27th Light 
Dragoons in 1795. John Lawrence, who succeeded his 
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brother, when the latter was removed for reasons best 
known to the Government, always treated Van Cortlandt 
with a consideration his services and merits deserved, 
reporting that his brigade " was a very serviceable and 
well-trained body of men. ' ' This brigade, consisting of 
four battalions, three batteries, 1,000 horse, and some 
sappers and miners, was quite a formidable force, and 
its efficiency is shown by the fact that Herbert Edwardes, 
who never gave credit unless i t  was very richly deserved, 
frequently commended both Van Cortlandt and his men, 
and in this John Lawrence concurred. 

When the rebellion at, Multan brolte out, the Resident 
a t  Lahore decided that it was too hot for British troops 
to move, but as i t  was absolutlv necessary that some action 
should be talien Edwardes was  directed lo attack Mu1 Kaj  
together with a contingent from Bahawalpur. How well 
C'qrtlandt- and his trcops behaved is record'ed not only in 
the despatches sent in by Edwardes but in his book " A 
Year on the Punjab Frontier."\ The enemy was de- 
featecl in several actions, ancl these successes were f ollomed 
up bv equally good hehaviour before Multan itself. 

Yet though the Government of India permitted Van 
Cortlandt to receive the medal for the siege of hiultan 
thev declined to give or obtain for him the six months' pay 
awarded as field batta on the ground that he was stil! in 
the durbar service. Technically they were right, but, as 
the refusal placecl Van Cortlandt in ;t, less satisfactory 
position as regards reward than many who had done much 
less, he was natnrallv rather sore about i t .  

He  took part in some of the 11a.ttles of the Second 
Silih W a r  and afte>r the annexation of the Pilnjah his 
s ~ r ~ ~ i v e s  received1 a 1~111 deserved reward by his heing 
2ppointe(l to the Provincial Civil Service and made 
ncpll t,v Cnrnmissioner of thc Montgo-mervX District. In  
th is  srrvicc he yrr7d11aJlv rose until in 1857 he was Corn- 

.- - -- - - - - - -- - 

Then known ns Cnjnirn. 
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missioner of the Ferozepur District. Mindful of his past, 
military record and wnnection with the Sikhs, the Go- 
vernment of India called upon Van Cortlandt to raise 
troaps from the disbanded Sikh soldiers of the Khalsa and 
other sources, and finally gave him command of a field 
force with which he did good service in clearing the 
Ferozepur and adjoining districts of the rebels, and keep- 
ing order amongst the restless population. 

So well were his services appreciated that when he 
retired i t  was on the full pay and allowances of a Colonel 
of British Infantry in the enjoyment of which he died in 
London in the year 1888. 

Leslie or Rattray. 

As with so many of Ranjit Singh's officers Rntt,ray 
(which was the real name of this person) suddenly appears 
on the st,age as Comma~ldlant of a battalion of Ichalsa 
Infant,ry in the year 1834, his salarv being Rs. 150 per 
month. 

Thongh this starting pav indicates that he had not 
previously served as an officer in a European army, 
Rattrag was undoubtedly a man of superior education for 
both his natural and acquired abilities enabled him to 
cheat t,he Frenchman Argoud ont of a battalion in the 
service of Dost Mahomed. 

It is possible that he may have been a discreditable 
member of that Rattray family which figures so freqnentlv 
in the Company's services ~n~t this time, some as sea captnins 
and others 3s civil servants and lawyers. ,4s he was 
apparently a trained soldier on the other hand', he may 
have h e n  one of those well educated scamps who took 
refliye in the Com,pany's army either to escape the Inw or 
from a spirit of pure adventure. Whv he left Ran j i t  
Singh's service a fter ahont two vears is nowhere stated, 
bnt as he is shown as having deserted there mnst hare heen 

u2 
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something fishy to  cause such an  abrupt, and secret depar- 
ture into Afghan territory. 

H e  obtained the command of a battalion, if the mob 
of ill armed and disorderly rascals he commanded a t  i\li 
Masjid can be called one, in the manner described in our 
article on Argoudl, and with i t  was present at the battle 
of Jumrood, where according to the following, his pre- 
sence of mind and military prescience turned the scale in 
favour of the Afghans :-- 

*" The Silchs thinking the battle won, dispersed to 
plunder when a reserve under an  Englishman named 
lxattrav, seizing the critical rnome~t rnslled on the dis- 
ordered Sikhs, and drove them back to thei r  entrenclirnents 
where they held them for some davs nntil the a r ~ j v a l  of 
Ckneral Allsrd with reinforcenlents enabled them to 
again push form7ard. " 

I t  was soon after this that Rattray encountered 
Burnes and Wood then on their wa,v to Kabul artd frmorn 
the latter's book takes the following m u s i n g  account of 
Rattray and his tacticst :- 

" A short distance from the entrance to the pass we 
saw some Sikh scalps lightly covered with earth in the 
middle of the road. W e  wdund up  the pass to the Fort 
of Ali Masjid where we were received bv its Command'ant 
an  ill-crcditicned, slipshdd, turbaned 'Englishman, dis- 
sipated looking and clad in a kind o l  Afghsn des2:ahillo. 
His  abode was a cave in the mountains from which he a,nd 
his hungry follomers issued forth to levp blackmail on 
the nassina kafilas. The Sikh Fortress of Jurnrood was 
a t  this p ~ r i n d  dependent f o r  water on a stream that ran 
t h r o u ~ h  the Khvber, and the chief occupation of the 
J , ie~i t , . -Colnn~l ,  for so he stvled himself, was to  stop this 
snpplv and let it run again after h i n q  bribed to do so. 

" T,iei~t.-Cnlonel R,attrav received 11s a t  the head of 
h i s  colnmn vhich hein? drawn lip for the occa,sioa had 
s o m ~ t h i ~ ~ q  r?f a mil i t2nr  look, biit no  sooner did the Com- 
rn2nrlqnt, nftcmpt to manmiivre than a most ludicrous 

- - - -- -- 

A .Journey t o  the Bonrceg of the Oxus, pages 159-61. 
t Ibid.  
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scene ensued: I n  utter hopele~ssness of restoring his 
scattered legion to order, he disbanded it forthwith, and 
then comnlenced whacking his men with a cudgel. But 
he was soon overwhelmed by force of numblers, and forced 
to desist. I n  the evening he came to enquire with all 
military formalities what were the orders for to-morrow's 
march, and then took occasion to  point out to Captain 
Burnes an error in his narrative, assuring him that though 
forty bottles of wine might formerly have been procurable 
for a rupee in Kabul nothing like that number was now 
obtainable. The Lieut. -Colonel spoke feelingly. 

" Before retiring to rest he requeded with a degree of 
ql~iet  impudence, which was quite meritorious. a loan of 
Rs. 500 to defray the expenses of tJhe march, for  which he 
gravelv tendered a psv order on his rc~irnental pavinaster 
a t  ICabul. Failing in this expedient he hit upon ' that  of 
qwtrtering his men upon the mission ant1 to accomplish 
this issued an order, which as a specimen of bombast, was 
q i~i te  a curiousity. A Captain's Guard was ordered to one 
place, a ~uhalt6rn's  to another till the whole lea11 crew 
were dispo~ed of. The result was that the provisions 
Dost Mahorned h2dl intended for 11s were mad? over to these 
11un:rv soldiers. 

" When Mr. Rattrav became acquainted with our 
different pursuits, he made the round of the camp, a n d  
waited upon us individ'nallv proffering for a consideration 
to  put us each in possessio~l of the informattion he had 
nmasced during a lonq sojourn in those countries. To 
Dr. T,ordl he promised an ncconnt of the rivers in T(hor8- 
san, and the site of a11 the valuable ores between the 
Tndus 2nd K~lnnl. To T,ient. Leach the militarv re-  
sources of kinqdoms and' states from T,ahorc to Meshed, 
2nd from Sindh tc! Knshmir; to me a m a p  of half the Con- 
tinent of Asia, in which ~ho~ilr l  be ddinmted every r iver  
and r r~o~~nta in  chain, and everv town and route. 

" TTe borrowed from Captain Rurnes the vollimes of his 
tr:tvels nntl thosc of Forste~ rind Elphinstone. rintF frmom 
these and hi., ovn i~nnqinat~ion he nrould. had \rTc enconray- 
ed him\, have filrnislled 11s wit11 a fill1 and particiilar 
nccni~nt of co~intries he had nwer seer;. nor hen14 of .  and  
trihes t?le verl. cuist~nce of which lie was till then nvn\v;ire 
of Some tinlc nfter n+?n we wcre in T<nhiil this nlnn 
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k a m e  a Mahornedan, much against the will of Dost 
Yahomedl, who thought him a disgrace to  any creed, and 
expressed his strong contempt for men who to improve 
their condition would change their religion." 

The IChyber commandant was altoget.her a singular 
character, clever and well infomed but totally devoid of 
a11 moral principle. His autobiography written nt the 
request of Captain Burnes affords another proof of how 
often the real events of life exceed the wildest conceptions 
of fiction 

I t  was undolibteddy this account which inspired 
Gardiner to  concoct his Rougemontic narrative. The in- 
cident of the diary which was made over. to Captain Burnes 
was certainly pirated from this account. Rut as with 
Gardiner's narrative we wonder how much of Rattray's 
mere actual experiences, and how much the fruits of that 
lively imagination with which he is creldited. 

However, Rattray did not stay much longer in t,hc 
service of Dost 'I\/lalmmed folr under date 31st December, 
1838, the La.hore newswriter recordsx : - 

" Mr. Rattray who was in command of the -41i .Masjid 
Fort, has deserted from the service of Dost Mahomed and 
gone to Bajour " A later report from Captain Wadk 
states that- 

" A person named Rattray who was formerly in the 
wrvice of Ranjit Singh from which he deserted has now 
found his way to Bajour, and,  I understand, gives himself 
out as an cniissary of the British Government,. 1 have 
written to the ~ j j o u r  Chief, contradicting this assertion 
and have returned, unanswered, several letters which 
Mr. Rattrav h a s  addressed to me wit.h a view to giving 
colonr to his assertions. He will in all likelihood address 
1~011 (assistant a t  Karnal) next So that it is as well that 
yo11 sholild he aware of his repntat.ion and character." 

We hear no more of Rattray either in the records or 
~Isc~vhere .  hlit mnv  here mention that d u r i n ~  the Chitral 

- - - - .- - -. -. - . - . 

P ~ ~ n j n h  Records, nook No. 111, Letter No. 5. 
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Campaign of 1895, there was a rumour that Umra Khan 
,-of Bajo~lr who gave us so much trouble was the son of an  
Englishman. None of us fully believed i t  but stranger 
things might have happened. But  it is more probable that  
when the Hajour Khan found out how he had been be- 
fooled he put i t  out o,f the power of Rattray to deceive 
anyone else bv the method well known to such folks. 

Robert Dick. 

A brief report fro'm the Punjab newswriter concern- 
ing Dick states that he was the illegitimate son OF Major- 
General Sir Robert Dick, of the 42ndl Highlanders, a dis- 
tinguished officer, who had served in the Peninsula, a t  
Waterloo, and was killed a t  the Battle of Sobraon. His 
mother was an Indian woman. 

Whether by his own efforts, or by those of his father, 
young Dick obtained a commission in the Gwalior forces, 
and later a local lieiltenancv in Skinner's horse, the 
European element amongst the officers of which were 
mostly of the same liind. For some reason not clearly 
stated, but hinted a t ,  Dicli either quitted, or was dis- 
missed from, Skinner's I~orse, in 1831, and the next we 
hear of him is as in company with Campbell employc~l by 
Shn,h Shujah, to r a i ~ e  and train a bodv of Hindustanis for 
the a.bortive attempt to regain the throne of Kabul. 

Diclr soon fell out with the Shah, and taking with him 
some 300 Hind'llqtanis belonging to the forces, set out to 
peek other pervice. and was wccessful in finding i t  with 
the Amir of Sinclh, fnr  we find the nelrswritcr's rcpcrt of 
rTllne 5th, 1834, that*-- 

( <  Mr. T)irl< has heen placed in charge of five guns 
and ]ins r ~ r c i ~ w i  Rs 900 on accolint of his salary. tvgard- 
i v y  which no final i~rr~nngements h a w  hcen made. He 
179s qlco h ~ m  hono~lr-ed 1,r heinq 1,resentcrl with n ~ d d  
r~nf i ' nn t  nl id  two silk f l a p ,  llirrhlr ornnil~ented with gold 

- -- -. - - -- - - -- 

* Pun jnh  Records. Roolr S o .  101, Tlrttcr S o .  27. 
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and silver embroidery. On receiving these compliments 
he made a great feast to  all the Arnir's khidmatgars, and 
fired salvos of guns. Mr. Dick is not to  be given up to 
any of the powers, should they demand his surrender. No 
one is to be a.ppointed over him, and neither the Amir nor 
his officers are to h allowedl to interfere with him. IIe is 
to  be allowed to visit his country whenever he chooses, and 
t,o appoint anybody he chooses to command his troops 
during his absence. " 

Evidently, Mr. Dick was providing for contingencies, 
for to judge from othcr references, he had not only talten 
three hundred of the Shah's troops with him, but perlmps, 
absent-mindedly, the pay of the other half of the battalion. 
His  pay was eventually fixed a t  Rs. 500 per month, his 
duties including the training of the guiners, and matters 
proceeded peacefully for a few weeks, until a subedar of 
L)iclc7s battalion, who had served with him, arrived a t  
Kotri with some motre of the battalion, and demanded n 
share of the rnonev Dick h.ad walked off wi.trh 

The demand was contemptno~~sly refused, Dick making 
a countercharge against the Subedar of having made away 
with a lot of property left with him when nick himself 
had hastily departed, and so a very prettv little quarrel 
arose, the result being that under date, Julv 26th, 1834, 
the newswriter mentions that :- 

*The Subedar, Behari Lal, and Mr. Dick, are con- 
i;inually fighting and abusing each other, and in conse- 
quence' Mr. Dick has been given orders to  reside a t  Kotri, 
on the opposite banlc of the river. He and the Suhednr 
continually ahuse each other, even in durbar, and some- 
times fire guns across the river. 9 9 

Apparently they were thoroughly enjoying thenlselves. - - 

Tn any case, there is no report of anvone having been 
killed, hut whether they eventuallv made peace or not, is 
not stated. Prohablv thley did not, for when Mr. I>iclc, 
whoqr nnpet~tc  for strong liquors was fnr &q-reat.rr t h n x  
his ahilit,v to w~thstand their e f fe~t~sf .  died from t h a t  

Pnniah R~rnrdq. Roolr No. 105. Tlrtter No. 56. 
t Piininh Recorcls, Roolc No. 105, Tletters Nos. 101 and 113. 
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cause, combined with fever, in 1835, the newswriter reports 
that the Hindustani troops having refused to serve under 
the Subed'ar, had disbanded themselves and gone back to 
Hindustall. 

Poor Mr. Dick ! His career and fate are typical of 
those of the ma,jority of the more obscure adventurers in 
Indian serviws most of whom lived as hectic a life and 
died as unknown and unhonoured as Dick, save by the men 
they had coiomantled. 

Dottenweiss 

This najme, which was borrowed by Garrli~lcr to affix 
to one of his imaginary travelling companiotls, was 
actually that of a German, who arrived st Lahore in 1835. 
There is nothing concerning him in the Records, except 
the mere mention that he had arrived a t  Lahore and fail- 
ing to find employment, had passed on. Major McGregor, 
to whom we are indebted for some details concerning the 
lesser known adventurers, remarks of Dotterwich, though 
omitting his nameX :- 

" A German adventurer made his appearance a t  the 
court in 1835. Representing himself as well versed in 
millitarv tactics, he applied for employment His own 
assertions did not satisfy the Maharajah, who required 
somethinq more, and to put him to the test, ordered out a 
few companies of infantry This test was more than the 
man bargained for, and a complete failure was the result. 
After remaining a few weeks a t  Amritsar, he was given 
leave to depart and a present of Rs.  100 and some sha~*i'ils. 
On being asked by Ranjit Singh ~vhetller he intended to 
nroceed tlo Knb~il  'and join Dost Ma homed1, he replied that 
hp  d'id : whereupon Ranjit remarked that notahin? pleased 
him betker than to see slich men in the militnrv service of 
his enernv." 

-. 

* M~CTrerl[nr's his in^..^ of t l ~ e  Siltlis. Volniiie T ,  page 2.59. 
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What became of Dotterwich during the next few - 
years is explained in  the account of his adventures giren 
to Dr. Mitford by him in  1840. The Doctor was making 
his way overland through Central Asia to  Ceylon, and 
being taken ill with fever a t  Meshe,d, was visited by 
Dotterwich. The account runs: :- 

'' While I was recoveriog from the fever, 1 was lying 
on my bed one morning, when a visitor was annourked, 
and a short, stout built man, of fair, but coarse com- 
plexion and hair, entered the room and took his seat on 
the cushions ; he was dressed in the hybrid dress of the 
Persian officers, frock coat and belt. and the hlacli 
lambskin cap; he addressed me in good English, and told 
me the Govern01 had informed him of my arrival, and 
sent him to offer ine any assistance as a fellow coiintry- 
man, which he supposed all Europeans must be. Delight- 
ed to hear Iny native tongue, although with i-~ German 
accent. I ~ ~ a r i n l y  greeted illy new acquaintance, who 
uave me an account of himsel'f and his adventures, both P 
interesting and pleasing. 

" ' I speak English, Mynheer, but I am a German, 
and m r  naine is ~ o i t e r ~ v i c h :  It is some time ago that I 
came th India to seek illy fortune; my first speculation was 
in indigo planting a t  ~ a l c u t t a ,  but the business did not 
suit me and I was unsuccessful; having some Iino\vledge 
of mining, I was afterwards employed by the East India 
Company, exploring for minerals h the Himalayas near 
Simla, but this employnlent did1 not last long, and I again 
found myself without occupation. I wished to enter the 
service of some of the native princes in India;  but as they 
were all cnntrcllcd by the English Government. I found i t  
cliffirlilt for a, stranger to gain an entrance ; so I made mv 
way to Afghanistan and offered my services to the Shah of 
Herat.  

" ' Kamaran Shah tool< me into his service, and I d i s .  
ciplinedl his troops in the European stvle and drank 
st:hnnpps with himself; the old Shah is found of srhnapos. 
2nd rnany a jolly drinking bout we had together: and I 
.soon heca'rnc. his r'hicf favourite. J thoi~qht T had forlnd 

. -- - - - . - - - -- -- 

* Mitfortl's Tiand ,Jo~il.nev, et c . . .  t o  Ceylon. pages 38-41. 
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a resting place, and that I had nothing more to do but 
settle here and banish care; but I reckoned1 without my 
host, for the old villain of a vizier, Yar Mahomed, hati 
his eye upon me ; you will see him a t  Herat, and a greater 
villain you will never have seen before ; but I will tell you 
more another time; but to return to my own affairs. 

" ' The Shah's love for me was so great that  he 
made me a grant of a large village with all its lands and 
revenues, and I set to work to improve illy estate, whose 
climate was as beautiful as in our Fatherland. I planted 
fruit  trees and settledl labourers, to whom I advanced 
money and seed grain, and brought i t  illto beaotifnl order 
and cultivation. T knew all this time that the vizier was 
my enemy, his jealousy being excited by the favour shown 
me by the Shah; but trnsting to my bwn influence with 
Kamran (in which I afterwards found I had acted like a 
fool), 1 set Yar Mahomed at defiance, and on one occa- 
sion that he offered me strong provocation, I went so 
far  as openly to apply to  hiin terms not the most compli- 
mentary in ihe Persian language, but the words I do not 
rememljer . 

" ' The vizier put his harld on his mouth, but his eyes 
blazed as though they would have scorched me; his revenge 
was slow but sure; he had been long concentrating all 
power into his own hands, and, as soon as he felt himself 
strong enoiiyh to defy the Shah, from his rival I becaille 
his victim. I am no ionper a. politician. Mynheer ; I am s 
soldier : but everv man in these countries should 1x an 
intriguer, or he ik never safe. 

" ' How could' I suppose that the Shah would so soon 
be powerless? for he was able, but the schnapps had 
ruined him, and the vizier encouraged him in drinking 
for his own purposes, and soon reduced him to little better 
than a prisoner in his house. For ml-self. 1 had no 
slispicion of what was going on, but reposed in secnrity. 
calculntiny how !OPT it  J T ~ O I ! ~ ~  t~1;e me to renlise snfficient, 
to enable me to return to my own country, when one 
morninq mv  house was ~11r~ol111ded hv ;I 1 ) i l l . t ~  of S O \ Y ~ I ~ S :  

I was seized, hilrried out and fastened to a horse.; and the 
pwtv  having mounted. set off a t  a rapid pare ncross the 
plains in the direction of Meshed. 



" ' At first I had expected to be put to death a t  once, 
but finding we were speeding over the country, I began 
to have some hopes, for if they wished to take my life, 
such a journey was quite unnecessary. On, on we rode, 
leaving the cultivated country behind us; we left Ghorian 
sonth of us, and kept on over the Turkoman deserts, but 
it was not long before I succeeded in ascertaining the 
intent.ions of my captors concerning me. We could not 
have ridden less than fifty or sixty miles, when they 
halted; nothing was visible all around but broad, grassy 
plains. with distant mountains in the northern horizon ; 
the party here dismounted and I was unbound. 

" ' Well Frangi,' said the leader. ' You thought 
yourself better than the Douranee, and now what ashes 
have fallen on your head ! You would compete with 
viziers, and now you will be a slave of the T~lrliomans ! 
Know that we expected to find the Turkomans on these 
plains; they have had notice of our coming, but they hove 
failed in their appointment; we will therefore leave you 
and return.' 

" ' The horrors of the fact prepared for me by Yar 
Mahomecl now burst upon me ; I was sold a slavo to the 
Tnrkomans. and their non-appearance only left me in the 
alternative of dying cf starvation and exhaustion on these 
interminable plains, on which the smallest object could be 
discerned from afar  by the wandering hordes. 

'' ' He then informed me that the party of horse 
galloped off, leaving him alone on this boi~ndless waste, 
with threats of death if he ever returned! to Berat, of 
which there was little probability; for, if he escaped 
being discovered and tsken by the Turlcomnns. he must 
die of starvation. the nearest safe place heing Meshed, 
from which he mas one hundred and sixty miles T doubt 
whether he enjoyed the solitarv rand 'e~ i r  of his position; 
hilt he was not doomed to perish. for, after wandering 
a h ~ n t ,  not knowing which direction to take, he was fo~lnd 
euhansted hy another partv of horse helonqing to the 
Go~rrrnor of ?,Te~hed. who &ere on the look-ont for these 
Tiirltornan plunderers. 

" ' He woilld have wel~nmed them hqd thev been the 
l:)t,tc,r, t,o t , a I ~  him into l i f e l c r7~  qlaverv in Rolchara. hilt 
WR8 fortilnatc i n  find'inp; frierlds He told his storg to the. 
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Chief, who was a son of the Governor Ausuf-ud-nowla, 
who took him to Meshed, and took him into his service, 
and he now was enlployed drilling his troops, and was 
settled i11 the country, although he had not changed his 
religion, like many other adventure~rs. 

" ' He bitterly lamented the loss of his lands, and his 
follv in quarrelling with Yar Wahomed, and1 innurged some 
holies of being able to return. He told me the Persian pay 
was nominally very goo'd, but very difficnlt to be got ; he 
was eight. hundred tomans in arrears, for which he was 
continually apply i r ~ g  to Mirza Ali, who, however, was not 
to be moved without a bribe of a t  least one-third of that 
amount ; thic: 1)otterwich consented' to give ; bnt not satis- 
fied with this, the Mirza would not subtract it from the 
sum due, but reclnired ready monev in advance, before he 
took any steps in the affair. Even had he possessed money, 
Dotterwich knew the Persians too well to throw good 
money after bad in this gratuitous style.' " 

Stepken Lane. 

The narne of this person does not appear in the Khalsa 
pay-rolls, and the only details concerning him we have 
been able to collect are from the Punjnb Records, the first 
of which mentions that in September. 1834, a person 
named Lane, supposed to be an Englishman, and a deserter 
from the Company's I-Iorse Artillery, has arr imd a t  
Lahore in search of employment. This description is 
cormted by the second report, which statesx :-- 

" 2 3 ~ d  December, 1834.-Mr. Lane is an Armenian, 
who served some years in Rcindia's brigades and rose to 
the ranli of ~ieut 'enant.  He has been admitted to Ra,~l  jit 
S i n ~ h ' s  service, and entrusted with the command of' a 
battalion He is in great favour, for this is a distinction 
which the Mahnra,jah does not us;lally confer on an adven- 
tiirer of this d a s s .  , , 

However, eighteen months later Lane was dismissed 
from service, a n d  deported to Lndhiana, from whence he 

- --- -- 
Punjnh Records, Roolc No. 94, Letter No. 27. 
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sent up several complaints to the Go~ernment of India, 
asking for pressure to  he put on Ranjit  Singh for the 
arrears of pay due him. Whether he got them or not 
we know not. I t  may here be mentioned that a letter con- 
cerning Lane places no prohibition on the passage of 
Greeks or Arnrenians into the Punjab, and apparently 
they were not consid'ered very forinidable as instructors or 
fighting men. 

This is another of the men who! flit hurriedly through 
the Records. our onlv record being a fugitive notice or two. 
Concerning Francis, the newswriter, on July 25th, 1834, 
writesx :- 

'' A Frenchman of the name o:f Francis, who says he 
was formerly in the service of the King of Persia, and has 
lately been employed by Ranjit  Singh, has arrived at  
Hvderabad (Sind). Thk Amirs offered to entertain him, 

he would serve under Mr. Dick; which proposal 
he declined as well as one to become Nilsir Khan's personal 
servant on Its. 6 per day. He has I ~ O W  gone to seek service 
with the Icing a t  ~ s n d a h a r . "  

Punjab Records, Book No. 105, Letter No. 56. 
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CHAPTER XV 
JACOB THOMAS - FOULKES - HENRY STEINBACH - MATTHEW 

WILLIAM FORD - BENOIT ARGOUD - DE COURCY - 

DUBUIGNCK - BIANCHI - E'RriKCOlS HENRI MOUTON - 
HURBONS - LA FONT (1) - LA FONT (2) - HENRI DE LA 

ROCHE - DR. BENET - DX. HARVEY. 

Jacob Thomas. 

Jacob Thomas, who was the fourth son of the 18th 
century adventurer, George Thomas, presents a very 
different presonality to that of his father, and was a fair  
example of that degeneration which takes place when 
children of mixed blood1 are brought up  in an  Indian 
environment. 

Previous to joining the KhaJsa, Thomas had serlled 
for some years with Begun1 Sumru, but when, consequent 
upon her death, the Sardhana forces were broken up,  he, 
like others, sought and obtained service with Ranjit  
Singh. He entered the Khalsa service in March, 1838, as 
Commandant of a battalion of Mussulmans. on a salary 
of 13s. 300 per month. We find nothing concerning him 
in the Ichalsa pay-rolls, and but little in the Pilnjah 
Record's, so that i t  is fortnnate from our point of view 
that some contemporary writers have left a feu- brief 
mentions of him, which are also especially interesting as 
showing the condition of the Ichalsa a.rmy before and 
after the death of Ranjit Singh, and how little control 
any of the officers had over the men. We quote from 
Barr* :-- 

" Pesh n?c:n~, Mnrch, 1838.-Colonel Jacob Thomas, a 
half caste, command's the na jib regiment, and is a son of 
the celebrated General Thomas of so much notoriety in 
Tndia a t  the close of the last centary. He is, I under- 

* Rnrr's Journal. pages 222-23. 
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stand: a dull heavy man, and the efficiency of his regi- 
ment, as w d  as his own authority 1nay be judged from 
the circumst.ances that when his regiment was ordered the 
other day to move their camp, he came to complain lo  
Colonel Wade that though he had issued the necessary 
orders for them to do so, not a single individual attended 
to  them .... . .... 

*" On the 14th inst. a mutiny occurred in the najih 
regiment which hot too plainly showed how slid nht L V L ~ S  the 
discipline that existed amongst the Silths (the najibs 
we13e Pnnjnbi h~u~sulrnzns) and very forcibly exhibited to 
us the qualities of the allies who are co-operating with us 
when required. 1 hare aareadv alluded to the little niltho- 
rity possessed by Colsnel ~ a c b b  Thon~as over his Inen. 
 hey had no\\- become altogether diss2tisfied i h  h im,  
and: taking the law into their own hands, had tllrged him 
and his adjutant out of their canlp, levelled t h ~ i r  tents to 
the ground, and1 declared that t h y  ~~~-oulcl not have ally- 
thing more to ,lo T.L it h either of them. 

6 c As a marl; of respdct for their Colonel, they inverted 
his chair on the spct where he usually sat, and then, 
having shotted their guns, quietly awaited the results of 
their misconduct. Dislike to the officers they had thus 
summarily got rid of, want of pay, and the unfair manner 
in which they had been sent to ~ e s h a w a r  (their present 
appearance in this province being the third within a short 
peiiorl) were amongst the alleged cansrs of grievnn(1e; but 

show that they had no ill-will towards us, they planted 
their sentries as usual a t  sunset; and when diir[st~d to 
parade by Colonel UTade, did so at once. He. however, 
told them they could no longer form n part of his camp, 
and in a few hays they removed their gronnd, T believe, to 
the Sikh cantonments." 

However, Jacob Thomas and his mob of mutineers 
were later pard'oned, for it was impossible to wnd them 
to Lahore, as the relieving troops might have been worse. 
Thev took part in the forcing of the Khvher Pass, in 
which onlv Khalsa troops were emploved, and as the 
rondi~rt of the whole lvas very fa.vourablv commented upon 
by the politiml officers, we mnv assume that the na.jihs did 

Rarr'a Journal, pages 222-23. 
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their fair share of good V;OI-k. I n  accordance with the 

conttitions of the Tripartite Treaty, which stipi~lated that 
orllv Musrulma n troops should accompany Shah Shuj all, 
or the British, to Kabul, the same battalion went on t o  
Kabul, and! after the enthronement of the Shah, returned 
to India early in 1841. 

Being stationed in the Hazara, not a t  Peshawar, 
during the troubles of the anarchy Thomas escaped parti- 
cipation, or being involved in them, but was dismissed by 
Pandit  Julla when he got rid of most of the remaining 
Europeans, and then returned to Sardhana from whence he 
repeatedly appealed to the Resident a t  Lahore and thc 
Durbar Government for compensation for loss of employ- 
ment, and past good services. 

Everltuallv his pertinacity was rewarded by a grant 
of Rs. 2,000 which was made over to the Catholic Rishop 
of Sardhana for payment to Thomas for apparently (like 
his father) he could neither read nor write English. 

Though Barr writes scathingly concernins the in- 
ability of Jacob Thomas to maintain order amonyst his 
men he does not appear to have been much worse than 
some of the pure Europeans, such as  Steinlnach. Even if 
he had been, an inferiority coinplex soon develops in 
persons, on whom their inferioritv of race or class is 
pressed'. Only the very strongest can rise above their 
environment. 

- 

Foulkes. 
Judging by the following quotation which wss written 

just a t  that time Foullzes entered the Khalsa service, we 
may doubt if the name under which he usually passed was 
his real one. 

*Calcutta Journal ,  1836.-" Run jeet contemplated 
sending a Mr. Farquharson whose military abilities are 
highly spoken of, with Nan Nehal Sinqh to effect the 
conql;est of Shikarpore when the rains have hrolcen." 

Punjab Records, Book No. 192, Letter No. 199. 

Y 
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According to the Khalsa Records Foulkes, if that was 
his  real name, entered the Khalsa service in February, 1836, 
a s  Commandant of the Narsingh Regiment (sic) his stsrt- 
ing  salary being Rs. 600 per month. On indicating that 
he had formerly served as  an  officer in a European Army, 
and to  judge by the fact that  Foulkes was known to and 
accepted as an  equal by the Royal and Company's oflkers 
n-ho passed through Lahore a t  different times, he must 
have served in one of these*. In  fact one of them (Barr) 
mentions that Foulkes was a schoolmate of his, which 
may have been a t  some English school. 

But i f  Pnu;kes had served in the Company's Army it 
must have been before 38.33 for from that date to 1836 we 
have carefully scarched the G m e r ~ 1  0rd'er.s for any Gazette 
Notification that he had either resigned, or been dismissed. 
Most probably hi. military service must have been in the 
Royal Army, and, indeed we have some vague recoliec- 
tion of having once been told that he had served with the 

\nown 33 st  Foot. Very curiauslv, none of those who had 1- 
him before his eiltrv into the Kllalsa service and speak of 
him, omit any inention nf what he had been previously, 
and this, coupled with the fact that his wife wa,s in 
England during the whole of his service with the Khalsa, 
having probably been sent there when he left the .Army, 
in which he had gained his military knowledge, seems 
t o  indicate something auspicious 

If so he must have been unfortunate for. by all accounts 
he was a gentleman of high character. To judge hy the 
fact that  a heavy wiile bi:l was paid by his executor, his 
failing may have been drink. Of him Major McGregor 
writes :-- 

t" Mr. Foulkes, an Englishman proceeded to the 
Funjab in 183.5 and ever since that date has been actively 
employed with the Sikh Armv. He is a gentleman of 

manners. and being determined to sllrmol~nt any 
- 

Cnl,.uttn J n r ~ r n n l .  1838, page 548. 
t History of the Sikhs, Volume I, page 257. 
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difficulty, will ultimately sucoeed to  a n  important appoint- 
mellt though the delays and disappointments he has 
already experienced would be suficient t,o daunt the 
prospeks of a less zealous soldi'er " (written in 1839). 

But unfortunatelv for Foulkes his nationality was 
against him for, though outwardly friendly 'nd willing to 
co-operate, Ranjit Singh greatly distrusted the English, 
and on this account woulcl never have permitted a n  
Englishman t,o attain anv high  command^ in his service. 
Foullies usually acted as a,ide-de-camp to TTentl1ram, and 
when the latter went on the expedition to  the Mandi and 
Kulu hills, accompanied him where according to the follow- 
ing mention by De Vigne, he distinguished himself. De 
Vigne writesx :- 

" My poor friend, Colonel Foulkes, had distingnished 
himself during the Siege of Ambota, a virgin fortress 
which he took with his own troops. He was left a t  Mandi 
w h ~ n  Ventura, dcparted for Lahore, and when later the 
men mutinied, hi:  as adkised by them to depart a t  once, 
and not to interfere. This, however, he gallantly refused 
to do. I n  the night he was a,~valcened bv the cries of his 
orderly, who called upon him lo escaG, bllt before he 
co11ldl do so he was cut down by the soldiers who rushed 
int'o his tent A funeral pile was heaped up, and he was 
thrown upon it  bv his ruffianly Silths and the flume applicd 
while life was vht in him. 

" I saw a good dcal of him vlhen on the West of the 
Sntlej, and had often pitied him under circumstnnces of 
great irritation, anxiety and suspnse,  occasiorled by that 
aggraxating delay of decisicn which Ranjit Singh was 
~.rsiierally remarkable, when any one whom he conl(l bully 3 

x little with ilopunity came to him swking service. I a m  
happy to be ahle to  record from my own kno\vledge public 
and honourable mention of a vonna Englishman who 
sought his fortune in those countries. 111s contlrict and 
feelin? seem to me to be alwavs that of 2n officer and gent.le- 
mnn, and a ma,n who was tck self-respecting to be servile. 
and too high-minded' to intrigue." 

- 
DeVigne's Travels in Knshmir, Volume I, p:ige 130. 

y2 



Lawrence, writing in tbe Calcutta Review, adds inore- 
details : - 

" J u s t  before his murder, 1 .  Poulkes had been 
warned to escape, but had too high a sense of duty to do 
so when his battalion was on active service:. It is a 
curious coincidbnce that in  the year 1838, when we asked 
him what be would do in  the case of a mutiny, he laughed 
and said : ' Make a bolt for it . '  But when the time came 
he acted otherwise. ,4t the interview alluded to, an  officer 
present, who had been a schoolfellow of Foulkes (Barr) 
mentioned that when they had met before, Foulkes was 
thrashing the Major. The Major in the Sikh service was 
the Sergeant-major, and striking such an officer, or indeed 
anyone below one's own rank,  is not unconimon in the Sikh 
4rmv. This anecdote may give the impression that 
~ou l i t e s  was a violent man and disliked by his men. IIe 
was neither one nor the other, any more than General 
(lourt, and had hoth been like Avitabile, they would have 
fared better. ' 

Though on the strong representations of the Gorern- 
rnent of India,  Sher Singh promised to have the offenders 
arrested and executed, and sent orders to Kulu to  that 
effect, they were neither apprehended nor punished, for a 
reply was returned by the Sikh General who had succeeded 
Ventura that they had either absconded, or were not trace- 
able. This was quite illcorrect, for the ringleader an 
Adjutant named tTrbai1 Singh was well known, and con- 
tinned in the service until 1848 when he was in Slazara, 
and the principd agent in  bringing about the death of 
Kanara. 

The last mention of Foulkes in the records or. else- 
where is bv a letter from M .  Mouton transmitted by the 
Political Assistant at. Ludhiana to a firm of lawyers in 
Calcutta forwarding a, sum of Rs. 6,070-0-0 arrears due to  
the  estate of the late Colonel Foulkes and t o  he paid to his 
widow in England to whivh is appended her acknowledg- 
ment and thanlts to  hoth the ' lhrbar  and M. Mouton.* 
-- -- - 

P u n j ~ h  Record~, Book No. 87, Letter No. 137. 
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Foulkes was one cf the many English es-officers who 
:entered the Sikh services at different times with high 
hopes, none of which were fulfilled for their nationality 
was always against them. 

Henry Steinbach. 

This individual was a Prussian who entered the 
Jchalsa service in 1836 as a battalion commander on a 
starting salary of Rs. 600 increased to Rs. 800 by 1641. 
Curiously enough, though a. German, Steinbsch must have 
had some experience of English methods for he was engag- 
.ed to " instruct a battalion on the English system." HOW- 
ever, i t  may have been that, as in after years, the English 
system was copied from the German. 

Steinbach who was an  educated man of literary tastes 
event~a~lly published a iittle book on the Punjab and its 
History, which as usual with such publications met with 
disapproval from Lawrence who was always very severe 
on writers on the Punjab, or the Silrhs. We are unable to  
trace up the war services of Steinbach except that he was 
a t  Peshawar in 1838 and 1841 and in the latter year the 
battalion he commanded signadisedl itself as the most dis- 
,order1 y amongst an army rather dist,inguished in that 
way to judge by tlie follo~ving report from Lawrence'* :- 

10th June, 1841.-The Icashmira Ba,t,talion command- 
ed by Colonel Steinbach called out their colonel and direct- 
ed hirn to proceed1 to Lahore, and represent their demands 
to  Maharajah Sher Singh. Before he left on the 5th 
instant they warned him that if he did not obtain all they 
wanted from the Maharajah the 117hole battalion ~vould on 
his returnt. .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . .. . . . . .. . . . . .. . .. . . 

Not relishing his threatened fate Steinbacl-1 departed 
as  speedily as possible lea,ving his command to he 
deodt with by Avitabile who did so very faithfullv and 

* Pnnjah R.ecords, Boolc No. 40! Letter No. 120. 
t Those who desire fuller details are referred to Gullirer's Trnvels, nnd 

.the method by which he extinguishecl t,he fire in the Lilliput. pnlnce. 
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according to  their deserts as  will be found in his memoir. 
When Steinbach did return to  Peshawar his battalion, or- 
rather the survivo~*s having been broken up, he was given- 
tha t  vacant by the death of Matthew Ford, and with i t  re- 
turned to  Lahore in  1843, when it left Peshawar without 
orders in  order to share in  the good things going a t  Lahore. 

As soon as  he arrived he obtained a year's leave t a  
Europe from which he returned in May, 1 8 k ,  to find that 
the Durbar was not desirous of retaining his services. 
Failing to  get reinstated he applied to Gulab Singh who 
gave him command of a couple of battalions and some 
guns. IIe saw considerable service in Kashmir for the 
U P X ~  four years, and in 1848 was detailed to join the forces 
under Herbert Edwardes before Multan. did not do, 
for the wily Raja  did not desire to commit himsclf activelv, 
so Steinbach's troops were by his orders so long on the road 
that  not only this, but the Second Punjab War  was over 
before they joined the British. 

Re remained with Gulab Singh until 1851 talting part  
in the subjugation of Kashmir and the surrounding 
co~intries, which had bee11 included in the cession. I n  
1851 he resigned the service in a fit of pique a t  bring 
superseded whilst on active service in Chilas, bv an Indian 
command'er, and appealed to the British to induce Gulab 
Singh to restore him to his original appointment. The 
appeal is still in the Punjab archives, as is the endorse- 
men t  hv the Governor-Geneml, that Gnlab Singh being an 
independent prince. thev had neither power nor inclina- 
tion to interfere with his militarv arranqements. Per- 
h nns unneressaril y , the Governor-General concliidcd by 
rprnarkinq that i t  was quite possible that the Tndian was 
t,hc hctter man of the two, whereupon Steinbach, who was 
then ~t Simln. evpressed his resentment in person, and 
p~ t r l rn~r l  to Enrope The onlv other point of intereqt is 
that the troops whose commnnd he vacated were later 
mndc over to Gnrdiner. 
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nlatthezu William P'ord. 

Matthew Ford entered t,he British service as an 
ensign in a West India Regiment in 1804, and served 
successivelv in the 7th Foot, the 70th Foot, the 1st Royal 
Scot,s, and the 2 n d  Light Dragoons, and heing still a 
captain, was, in 1823, appoinlied paymaster to the 16th 
Foot, then serving in J ndia. 

The position of paymast.er was usually sought after 
by poor men, who could not purchase further steps, for it 
carried with i t  much increased emoluments, and the 
holder was exempt from retirement on account of age 81' 
minor ailments. Ford served in  the 16th Foot until 
1837, when apparently having got his accounts into an 
inextricable mess, and being short of Rs. 43,000 he desert- 
ed from Karnal, and crossed the Sut,lej. A s~zbsequent 
enqnirp disclosed the fact of this sum being missing, so 
Ford was tried by court-martial and in default sentenced 
to be cashiered from the army, and to suffer a term of 
imprisonment. 

It was a sad ending to a long and, quite probably other- 
wise honourable, career, for to the disgrace was added 
exile, loss of pension, prospects, country, and kin, and 
lastly an ignominious death by violence. Being an 
absconding criminal, the Government of India,  on ascpr- 
taining his whereabouts, addressed Ranjit Singh with a 
view t~ his surrender, but without effect. so h a  to 
content themselves with recovering a sum of Rs. 5,000 from 
a Civil servant named Cracroft, who had stood surety for 
Ford. 

Though perfectly aware of Ford's antecedents, of 
which he had not oily been informed by the British Go- 
vernment, but accordinq to Sohan Lal, 'by De La  Roche, 
who informed Rnnjit Singh that Ford was an absconding 
criminal, who had made awav with a large sum of morley 
belonging to the Rritish Government, the Mnhnra j ah 
employed him as a battalion commander on a salary of 
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Rs. 800 per month. This was later commuted for a jaghir 
of three villages, near Rawalpindi, of which Mackinnon 
remarked* :" Colonel Ford makes the best. However, 
this is the usual practice, but the people are now beginning 
to resent it "--a remark from which we may infer much. 

Ford's battalion belonged to Avivitabile's brigacle, the 
whole of which a t  this period had European battalion 
commanders, in the persons of Ford, Steinbach, Foulkes 
and La Font. It may have been that the fact of this 
brigade's having all- European battalion commanders 
added to the personditity of the General, which accounts for 
the steadliness and efficiency of the brigadk, which put up 
the stoutest resistance of any in the first Sikh War. I t s  
distinguishing facings were green, and even to this day a 
few of the tattered red coats, once worn by Avitabile's 
soldiers, hang on the walls of the old1 Sikh armoury at  
Lahore. 

That Ford obtained favour with the Maharajah is 
shown by the following quotationt :- 

" 11th February, 1858, Amritsar.-A report has just 
been read to the Maharajah, giving an account of Mr. 
Ford's hasty disposition and little ebullitions of temper 
when instructing his troops in their drill. This seems to 
afford His Ilighness great amusement. Hr asked my 
opinion (Lieut. Mackeson, then passing through) of Mr. 
Ford's merits as compared with his other officers, and told 
me with great glee that Mr. Ford was eager to engage in 
single combat with M. Court; a trial of personal prowess, 
which I presume, amused His Highness bv the fact that 
both parties are remarkable for their extreme corpnlence. 
and are therefore well matchedl. His Highness has shown 
more consideration to Mr. Ford than to anv other st,ranger 
latelv engaged, and has formed a highwopinion of his 
merits and  experience, probably from his rnatllre age. He 
has orrlerecl him to form a briiade to be called the Endish 
F , r . i p d ~ ,  and to he composed from his own hattalicn, 
that of Cortlandt, and another to be collected." 

_ _ . - - - _  -_--- 

' Mackinnon'n Military Hervicen, page 275. 
t Punjnh Records, Book No .  110, Letter No. 46. 
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Apparently the intention of giving Ford a separate 
brigade mas never carried out, for in 1841 Fo11d was still 
serving with Avitabik's brigade, and engaged in opera- 
tions in Hazara. As with the Kangra district, where 
Foulkes suflered , the coiltagion soon spread to Hazara, and 
Ford, who was not popular with his men was one of the 
first to suffer, the others being some native officers, who 
had incurred the rancour r ~ f  the troops. His fate is 
told by the following extract :- 

+" 8th April, 1841.-Major Ford, la,te of Her 
Majesty's 16th Foot, has been attacked by the battalion he 
commanded in the Hazara country. I-Ie was rescued by 
some Gurkhas led by Colonel Steinbach, who was in the 
vicinity, but his injuries were very severe and he died the 
next day." 

tWe  find several applications from the Government 
of India to the Durbar for the sum of Rs. 35,000 dne by 
Major Folrd on account of the defalcations. Howevcr, 
they got nothing, for curiously enough, Ford appears to 
have been paid up in full before his death, and the few 
personal effec.ts and money with him, are reported to 
have been plundered by the sepoys who murdered hiin. 

Benoit Argoud joined the Khalsa army in November, 
1836, as infantry instructor on a salarv of Rs. 400 per 
month. We find nothing concerning his antecedents, 
except a mention or two in tlre ~vo~rlis of Burnes and Wood, 
which says that he had' been an officer in the French army, 
and after that a smuggler in the Pyrenees, a Russian spy, 
and an officer in the Turltish army. 

Whether s~ich a person as Argoud, wllose habits were 
peculiar, and behaviour s c m e ~ r h z t  C Y ~  raordi~lar!- 3 t t,in?es, 
c011ld ever have been a spy. or even a smuggler. seems 
- 

Punjab Records, Boolc No. 161, Letter No. 42-A. 
t Zhid, Letter No. 123. 
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dubious, though appearances are deceptive, and he may 
have concealed powers of observation and secrecy behin8. 
a n  apparently open and eccentric manner. 

McGregor affords a few details concerning -4rgoud, 
which we quote :- 

" M. Argoud continued a t  this work for some months, 
when he demanded his pay; and a day was fixed1 on which 
the Maharajah promised to  inspect the recruits and pay 
the wages. On the day appointed, both Mr. Foullies and 
M. Argoud att1ended the Durbar with their respective 
d ~ t ~ a c h n ~ e n t s  of recri~its. Runjeet expressed himself 
satistied with their performances, and to M. Argoud be 
proffered a few hundred rupees in the shape of a present. 
But to this Argoud objected, remarking that he wanted no 
presents, but his arrears of pay, or as he emphaticallv ex- 
pressed i t  : ' H u m  talib mangta; koochh bakhsheesh 
nahin ' (I want mv pav and none of vour presents). Ranjit 
Singh was not in a hukoor to inake'further disbursements, 
ancl M. Argoud, thonqh he accepted the inonev, returned 
i t  to the prime minister on leaving the presence. This was 
equivalent to an insult: gnd the Maharajah was rather 
puzzled how to act for he did not wish to part with M. 
Argoud, whose services he justly appreciated. On the 
other hand, he would fain have retained him on the 
cheapest. terms, which was n l i t t k  in hand, and more at 
some future date. If. Argoud was resolute and 
agree to nothing s h ~ r t  of his f ~ ~ l l  ~ r r e a r s .  These he a t  
length obtained together with leave to depart. He  has 
since, I believe, gone to Kabul, and joined Dost Mahomed. 
His loss is a serions one to  the Mahara jah .  2s he w n s  an 
ad'm i rahle drill inyt,r~ trtor, a ncl would have been of infinite 
service. now that M. Ventura is away." 

Argo~ldl, determined to rnalre his way to Kabul nid 
Shikarpur and Kandahar, a t  R~hawalpur  met Captain 
13iirnes, from whose " Journev to llabul " we take the 
following nmnsing account* :- 

" 12th M n y ,  18S7.-At Rahawalpur we heard of a 
Ellropean hein? in thje S ~ r a i ,  and sent for him. I le  
prover1 to he Cnpitt~ine Renoit J3'Ar~oiicl, Capita ine de 
- - - - - -- - -- 

a Burnes' Cahul. 
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I'Infanterie, who had just arrived from Lahore. He wtm 
a red hot liepublican, who after we had risen froin the. 
table, the good things of which had perhaps overtaken 
him, coutinued half the night, shouting Li barty, 
Equality, and St.  Slmonianism! Early next morning he 
broke into my apartment, shouting that it was seven 
o'clock, and that I must instantly ariss, for the Battle of 
Wagram had been fought, and his father killed before 
that hour, 

" To crown it all, M. Argoud announced that he was 
en route to Kabul to join Dost Mahomed, and constrain 
him to rise the green flag and annihilate those ' canaille ' 
of Sikhs. We concluded Monsieur to be mad, but there 
was a good deal of method in his madness, for he matie. 
his way safely to Kabul, by the Bolan Pass and ICandallar, 
which was not an easy thing to do, and afterwards I had 
the honour of meeting him, when he told' me that  1le had 
saved himself from death by repeating the Muhammadan 
Kulma, or confession of faith, with the sword held over 
his head." 

Wood, who was with Ihrnes,  gives some more 
details* :-- 

" We were a t  dinner when the Frenchman arrived, 
but no sooner was a European announced when :13urnes 
ran out to bring him in, and! before manv minutes iM. 
Argoud had taken wine with evervone a t  table. The poor 
man's failing was soon apparent, 'for he proceeded to beat 
the tattoo with his elbows on the table, and as a tenor 
accompani~n~nt.  mad,e a lcnife vibrate between its under 
surface and his thumb. It was really verv clever, and the 
performance being highly applauded. the cnrn;,l:> isznt 
Frenchman knew -not when to desist Fatigne, s l ~ e p ,  
and wine soon got the ascenda.nt. and we SRW him safely to  
bed. 

< c Nest morninq, a t  a n  earlv honr. our quest \V;IS astir, 
mnning up and down the coilrtvard till he chanced to 
strimhle on n r  Lord, enga-d in dissertinq and stllffing 
I)ivls. Wn t c h i n ~  him for a time. he e~clnimed : ' Qlielle 
p n t i r n c ~ !  ' a n d  with n sh r i~c  of Fin shorlldrrs disappea~-etl - - - - - - --- - - - - 

Wood'.. ,Tol~l.liey to the  O X I I ~ ,  pnqcs 69- 71. 
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into Capt .  Burnes' room. That  officsr was not yet 
dressed, on which M. Argoud caLled out : ' Why sare, the 
Battle of Wagram was fought before this hour, and you 
are still in  deshabille ? Will you take wine with me?' 

" ' No,' said Captain Burnes, ' I never take wine 
before breakfast . ' 

" ' Then sare,' said Argoudl, ' YOLI insult me, and I 
demand satisfaction.' 

" He ran out and soon reappeareid with his small 
sword and asked Burnes to send for his rapier. Hut the 
latter, thinlting he had l~umoured the fielv little French- 
man quite. enough, politely requested him 'to continue his 
joorney, which he accoidingly did that evening. A t  
Kabul we fell in with him a second time, so that his j o u r ~ ~ e y  
must have taken fully five months. Imnlediatelp on his 
arrival being linown kc, us, Rurnes sent him a kind note, 
asking if he could be of any service to him, but the good- 
hearted Frenchman was so ashamed of his concillct at 
Rahawalpur, and so oppressed by -this unexpected return, 
that  he could not be induced to'cal~ll upon us, and on his 
failing to obtain einployment from Dost Mahorned, set off 
for Peshawar without onr having met him,. 

" We, however, learnt that on the day previous to his 
departure he had been employed in mo'ulding leaden bullets, 
and sworn to be avenged on the Mahomedans for the ill-. 
treatment on his journey up. The cause of his fnililre to 
obtain employment was his ignorance of the language 
(Persian) for. ncs t  Mahomed was partial to him. and, 
though regretting his attachment to  the bottle, affered him 
s regiment. U n f o ~  tnnately for the Frenchman, the intcr- 
~weter  took advantage of his ignorance of the lan~ilage,  
2nd in  replv as to Argoud's qualifications for  cornhand, 
reported as  his answer that, if the Amir wanted a drummer. 
he c'olild not suit himself better. The Frenchman required 
but little pressing to beat a tattoo, and the result was that 
he got his discharge that  evening, whilst the interpreter. a 
brother advrntiirer (Rattrap?) got the regiment." 

After failing a t  Kal~rll, Argoud ret~irned to  India, 
and drifted Lo Calcutta, where he arrived penniless and 
drstitute. His application for- repatriation mas mfiised 
hv the French Consul, so having made up his mind to  
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return to Lahore, he was provided with the necessalby 
funds bv some charitable French merchants of CalcutLa 
Instead of going tn Lahore, he passed on to Knndahar, 
endaavourillg to obtain eir~ployment with Shah Shnjah, 
but on arrival a t  Kabul, found that English officers having 
been supplied to Shah Shujah's levies, there was no need 
for others. 

He then returned to Peshawal., obtaining employment 
in Court's brigade, with which; he remained until 1843, 
when, after the murder of Sher dingh, he quitted the 
service and returned to France. 

Thi:; indiviclual appears only in the first list of Euro- 
peans in Forei:n employ sent to the Government of India 
from Ludhiana in 1842. H,e is then shown as having 
joined the Khalsa in 1835, as an artilleryman, to have 
been formerly employed a t  Jarnrnu, and a t  the present time 
to be commander of the artillery of Sudh Singh, a feudatory 
chief on a salary of Rs. 350 per nilonth. Against his name 
itre the remnrlcs : " Fled from some ship and' changed his 

9 9 name. Formerlv in tTamn~n, so taking all things into 
consideration. we are inclined to identify this ariatocra- 
tically named gentleman with the my~ter ioi~s person men- 
tioned by Baron HugelX :- 

c <  1835.-Later in the evening I received a letter very 
welll~ written from an Englishman in the emplov of Gulab 
Sinqh, desiring to speak to me; to which I ikmediatdy 
accecled, and presently a fine voung man, richly dressed, 
made his appearance in my tent. As soon as  the servants 
were out of hearing, he flung himself a t  my feet without 
uttering a word, and burst into a passionate 'flood of tears ! 
I n  vain I remonstrated with him. I requested him to be 
seated and to feel sure that I would do all I could to 
alleviate the distress from which he was suffering. For a 
long time I could no1 draw anv explanation of thls strange 
conduct, for tlie sight of a European after so long an 

Hugel's Travels in Kashmir, etc., pages 7 2 3 .  
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interval, and his evident sorrow, filled me with the deepest 
int'erest and pity, t,o say nothing of the cuiiositv I felt to 
know the cause ;~:hich had brought a man of his appearance 
into such a position. 

" He could hardly be an  adventurer, and' his emotion 
did not seem the rcsdt of any disappointment. Brsirles, 
he wanted some aid from me, and this. to jlldqe by his 
arms, dress, and jewels, could not be gold. ~ o i h i n ~  but 
the consciousness of guilt could prostrate one marl so 
abjectly before another. This, however, was no time or 
place tb reproach a suppliant with what might be neither 
crime nor error on his part.  nesirolis of hearing some 
esp:anation of his visit, I again addressed' him, say- 
ing :- 

" ' Spexk whatever you have to say. I promise you 
mv hest assistsnce and pity. How long have you been in 
~ ~ n i r n n ?  ' 

" ' Many years I '  he wplisd. 

" ' Are you poor ? '  

" ' No, my cil-cumstances are  good ! ' 

" ' Then what brought you to this lonely land?'  

" ' Pity me,' he exclaimed, seizing mv hand con- 
uulsively. ' I am gniltv. I need forgiveness. T nrQ 
miserable. ' 

" ' I must insist on your speaking out more pla.inly.' 
I said impatiently. ' How otherwise can. '1 guess what 
you stand in need of; or assist you in any way, an I have 
said I will, should i t  be in my power ? ' 

" Wringing his clasped hands with an evident es- 
pression of tcrror, he suddenlv cast a h i ~ r r i ~ d  dance before 
him, and exclaimed mournfully :- 

" ' T cannot explain,' and rushed out of the tent." 

Whoever this ext raordi tiarv person was, or whether 
the Baron embroidered the incident a t.riflt1, we are 1in:lble 
to state, hut to us it seems incredible that any adventurcr 
co~ild he g o  unhingedl, unless indeed, he was in, or 
approaching, delirium trernens. 
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Robo?,t Walter Di~bzlignon de Talbot. 

Though Dnhuignon is shown in Gardiner's list as 
havlng served Ranjit Singh in a milititry capacity, the 
statement is incorrect, for though both he 2nd Ventura 
used their united efforts to obtain such, they did not 
succeed, and Dohuig~lon set up in business in Lahore as a 
private merchant - 

We have ascertained that he was born in France in  
1809, and came to India .cia" Mauritius in the year 1830. 
He joined tile service of Begum Somm and was given a 
battalion, and command of her personal bodyguard. In 
1834 Ventura was on leave in India, and stayed for a 
time a t  Sardhana, where he  m;et Dubuignon, who had 
married the sister of Anna Moses, Ventura's Ar'il~enian 
wife. 

Resigning the Regum's employment, Dubuignon re- 
turned to Lahore with Ventura, who had pron~ised to 
obtain him service undcr Ranj i t  Singh: but this failed, f o r  
Ranjit Singh's suspicions did not permit him to employ 
men so closely related. Dubuignon remained in Lahore 
until after the death of Sher Singh, carrying on his avoca- 
tion of shawl merchant, and exporter of Kashinir goods, 
during the whole of this time, with the exception of a 
s l l ~ r t  pericd in 1839, when he was ernpi.oyed bv the newly 
established Indus Flotilla Company. ~ f t ' e r  leaving 
Lahore in 1843, he went to Calcutta, bat eventually 
returned to IA~idhinna, where he aqain set up in business 
iintil 1868, when he died and was buried in the cemetery 
a t  Ludhiana, where the monument set up over him gives 
his name as that a t  the heacl of our article. 

Bignchi. 

Rianchi was one of the few men employed by Ranjit  
Singh in n p~l~nely civil capacity. According to t.he 
I'un jab Records. he had been some years in lndia before 
visiting Lahore, chiefly in Assam and Ilihnr, where he 



had been employed as an engineer on indigo and tea 
plantations. 

He came to Lahore with Ventura and Dubuignon in 
1835. and we find by the Khalsa pay-rolls that he was 
employed as an engineer on a salary of RF. 9 per day iu 
April. 1835. There is nothing more concerning him in 
the Records, but fortunately, Major McGregor has in- 
cluded Bianchi amongst those meiltioned by him* :--- 

" Signor Rianchi visited Lahore in search of employ- 
ment, and was requesteci to construct a road froin 
Ventura's house to the fort; which he did. So highly was 
the Matarzjah pleased with the result of his labours that 
he told him'to makc out an estimate for one which would 
extend around the city ; ~ n d  fort of Lahore. a distance of 
several miles. On presenting his estimate, to the  poor 
Italian's amazement, instead of Rs 25.000, the Maharajah 
offered him Rs. 3.000. Here the affair dropped, and 
Signor Bianchi, like the rest of them, embraced the first 
opportunity of quitting t h e  Punjab, which he did with- 
out taking formal leave of t'he Maharajah." 

Colonel Francois Henr i  Mo~,rton. 

Born in the year 1804, Mouton joined the French 
army as a volunteer in 1822, and served as such until 
1826, when he was appointed sub-lieutenant in the Royal 
bodyguard. He served with this until 1830, when he was 
~~romoterl lieutenant in the Ypahis, or native cavalry of 
the African army of France. In  1835 hc was promoted 
captain, 2nd in 1838 transferred to the unemployed ha.18- 
pay list. 

There heing no prospect of further active employment 
in the French army at  the moment, he applied to Ventura, 
then on leave in France, who promised to exercise his in- 
fluence in procuring Mot~ton an appointment in the Khalsa 
army, i E he accompilnied him to the Punjab. The n~ornent 
of Mouton's arrival was opportune, for the cavalry under 

McGlregor'e Hietory of the Sikhs, Volume 11, page 261. 
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Allard was in process of recon~t~ruction, and Moilton was 
appointed to the co~nmand of the Cuirassiers on a salary 
of Rs. 800 per month. 

In  1.839 he returned to Lahore with his brigade, and 
later accompanied Ventura to the operaions in the Malicli 
and Kulu hills, though what cavalry were able to do in 
such a district does not seem very clear, unless they were 
acting as dismounted troops. In any case, Ventura'a 
troops were left behind when the General went to Lahore in 
January, 1841, and by February the disaffection had 
spread to Mandi, its first victim being Foulkes. After 
tile atrocious n~urder of that unfortunate officer, the partid 
cipators invaded Mouto,n's camp, and demanded his 
surrender. Some of the men were willing to give him up, 
but others, inspired by the entreaties of Mouton's wife, 
who was with him, rallied to her aid, dkove off the invaders, 
2nd rescued their commander. 

We have not been able to ascertain whether this 
heroic ladyX was a Frenchwoman or not, but as there is 
no mention in the report of Mouton's arrival of his wife's 
being with him, we miay assume that like so many of the 
female connections af the adventurers she was a Kashmiri 
Mussulman. In any case, she managed to persuade the 
regiment to escort her husband and herself to Lahore, 
though probably the most forcible reason for their con- 
senting was the desire to escape froin the uncongenial 
climate in the hills, and to share in the plunder and in- 
creased pay obtainable at Lahore. Having arrived sal'ely 
the men received a substantial reward for their fidelity, 
but in order to keep them out of mischief, were sent on to 
Peshawar where they remained until the assassination of 
Sher Singh. 

As with the others, Mouton either resigned or went 
on leave, directly after the Maha,rajah's murder, return- 
ing t o  India in 1844, accompanied by two other French- 
men, Chevalier Bartoluni and M. Serize, aspirants for 

-- 

* She wns French, and ha.d come out wi th  hinr in 1338. 

z 



service with the Khalsa army. On arrival at  Ferozepur, 
through which, instead of Ludhiana, all visitors to the 
Punjab were now required to pass, the three men were 
refused employment. The other t ~ 7 o  returned to France, 
but Mouton, who was determined to pass into the Punjab, 
only went as far  as Bahawalpur, from whence he managed 
to reach Lahore. 

He  remained there without employment until Septem- 
ber, 1845, when he was re-engaged by Raja Tej Singh as 
a military adviser in general, and in that capacity was 
present a t  the opening battles of the second Sikh war. 
B e  and the Spaniard, Hurbons were jointly lvsponsible for 
the entrenchments a.t Ferozepur, about which contemporary 
opinions differed considerably, for whilst some authorities 
spoke of them as excellent and formidable, others cha rm 
terised them as beneath contempt. However, the opinion 
of the Commander-in-Chief is wolrth recording : - 

" Notwithstanding the formidabile calibre of our guns, 
mortars, howitzers, etc., and the admirable way in which 
they were served, i t  would have been visionary to expect 
thkt they would have silenced the fire of 70 pieces behind 
well constructed batteries of earth, planks, and fascines, 
or dislodge troops covered by redoubts and1 epaulements 
within a double line of trenches. 9 9 

Flowever, no Commander-in-Chief \\-ould be lil<elv to 
rninin~ise the obstacles the troops under his command had 
had to deal with, and we are inclined to believe that the 
fortifications at Ferozepur were not quite so formidable as 
he ~epresents, especially as Major MoGregor remarks con- 
cerning Sobra.on" :- 

'' Tej Singh, hy all accounts, maintained his con- 
fidence in the strength of his posit ion when thus attacked ; 
and his French officer, M. Mouton, is said to have assured 
? . ; t , ~  tIr;it it was utterly impossible for the British to make 
an entrance. Compared with E'erozeshah, the works at  
Sohraon were fortifications, in the construction of which no 
1nho11r had been spared; the utmost ingenuitv of the Sil, hs 

- 

' M c . ( J r e ~ o r ' ~  H i ~ t o r ~  of the Sikhs pane 159. Volume I T .  
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and their European advisers were exerted to render this 
their last stronghold impregnable, and so the Frenchmen 
believed it to be." 

The strength of the entrenchments is apparent from 
the fact that the storming cast 1,100 casualties, and that 
the battie of Sobraon was ranked as one of the stiffest 
amongst the mrlny stiff battles of the Punjab wars. 
hlouton managed to escape unharmed, and made his way 
to Lahore, where he was found! when the British occupied 
the city, and was by them deported to France in  Jol;. , 
! 846. 

Curiouslv enough, he had been on leave (luring the 
whole of his employment with the Khalsa armv. and on 
return to France was reinstated in the French active list 
with the rank sf Colonel, and the command of a regiment 
of Algerian cava~lry. The Legion of Hoaonr was also 
beston-ed upon him, probably as a reward for his services 
with the Khalsa, for the French were very proud of their 
officers in that service. Later, Mouton served as ;I staff 
officer in the Crimean War ,  and retiring in the ?rear 7865, 
died a t  Algiers in 1876. 

Hurbons was said to have previolislv sewed in the 
Spanish army, and to have been attracted to the Punjab 
by the reports c~zrrent in Europe of the hich - pav and great 
prospects for military a dventnrers ~ r i t h  tlhe ~ i l n l p : I  :,rnly. 
In any case, on his arrival in 1842. he did not seci::.e any 
higher appointment than that of a Cornpan-\- of Beldars, 
or so-called sappers and miners. whose dl&- was to dig 
trenches in time of war. for the fighting soldier ronsidelwl 
i t  beneath his dignitv to handle spade or piclraxe. 

Rlirborls was present a t  the second s i e ~ e  of [,allore 
Fort, and is said t,o have been a, brave man. and the first 
over the walls a t  the escalade. H e  served with the Khalsa 
armv until 2fter thc 1st Sikh war. less the few- rtionths 
(lnrins which Flindit tTllllil hncl dispensed with the 

22 
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services of the Europeans. When the Sikh army crossed 
the Sutlej, Hurbons accompanied them as assistant to 
Mouton and together they designed and carried out the 
execution of the entrenchments at Ferozeshah and Sobraon, 
previously mentioned. * 

We know personally nothing of Hurbons, except the 
solitary mention by Sir Harry Smith, who speaks of hirn 
as " a Spanish engineer by name Hurbons, a low-bred man, 
but clever, acute and persevering." Hurbons was deport- 
ed to Europe with hIouton. 

La Font (1). 
There are two different persons bearing this name who 

figure alternately as captains or ~olonel~s, but judging by 
their pay they were practically capta'ins or majors, though 
commanding battalions. 

The circumstances attending the entry of the person 
now under review show how jealously the British watched 
the entrance of any capable officer into the Khalsa service. 
La Font: who had previouslv served with the French 
Army, interviewed Allard when the General was on 
leave in France, and was assured by him that service in 
Lahore was obtainable. Undbr the assumption that in- 
gress to the Punjab was unrestricted, he came out to 
Bombay, and presented himself at Delhi in December. 
1837, having meanwhile found that British permission to 
cross the Sutlej was absolutelv necessary. 

I-Ie was kept hanging about at  Delhi for some t#ime. 
no answer being returned to his first applicaticm, bnt 
~ventually he was directed t,o state his intentions aud 
pishes writing, for information of the Governor- 
General in Jndia. This he declined to do, alleging that as 
Ranjit Sir~gh was  an  independent prince, and himself not 
a Rri tish subject, the matter concerned themselves only, 
and then rnakins his way to Bahawalpur, he passed into 
the P n n j a h ,  and secured employment from Ranjit Singh 

Cunningham'e History of the Sikhs (Garrett), pages 310-11. 
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on quite favourable terms. Lieut. Mackeson, of the 
Political Department, was then in  Lahore, and having 
reported La  Font's arrival and entertainment to  the Go- 
vernment of India, a considerable outcry was the result 
from the outraged dignitaries a t  Simla. 

Mackeson was directed to  use his utmost influence to  
have the appointment cancelled, and a long letter, full of 
complaints in verbose language was sent to Ranjit  Singh, 
informing him that the British Government viewed with 
the utmost ~uspicion the resort and entertainment of such 
persons to, and at ,  his Court, and denland'ed that La Font 
be instantlv dlismissed. A similar letter. equally objec- 
tionable in contents, IT-as sent to General Sl lard,  reproach- 
ing him for what the Government was pleased to cnll his 
disingenuous cond~ict in inviting such persons to Lahore, 
and securing militarv service for them. 

Quite rightfully, neither Ranjit S i n ~ h  nor Allard 
replied to  these pere~~lptorj- epistles. bnt Macl;eson per- 
suaded La Font to return t o  Delhi and seek forn,al per- 
mission, which was granted. When the Khalsa contin- 
went arrived a t  Peshawar, La Font was attached to the 3 

personal cltaff of Callonel Wade, Political Officer with the 
contingent, and in that capacitv was present a t  the forcing 
of the Khvher, and specially commended for excellent 
service and ~ a l l a n t  cona'uct He remained a t  Peshawar in 
command of one of Avitabile's battalions. during 1841 
and 3842, escaping the indiqnities and ontrages inflicted 
upon some or the other officers, both European and Indian. 
Possiblv, like Van Cortlandk and some of the other 
French officers, he saw the flltilitv of interference, and 
by so doing. saved, if not his dignity. a t  least his life 

Presenhly, the batt,alion returned to Lahore, without 
orders. being eager to share in the good t.hings qoing. 
taking their lender with them. How they behaven there 
is best shown by the following extract from Dr. 
,4 tkinson :- 
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" A U ~ Z ~ S ~ ,  1843.-Regiulent La Font does just what 
it likes. They were paraded in front of t,he barracks just 
near Ventura's house, preparatory to being marched off 
to the citadel (about two miles away) for parade and the 
Maharajah's inspection. As soon as ordered to march, 
thev all broke loose, each taking his own course, running 
or walking. as he pleased, and dragging or carryinq his 
musket in like manner. At night each came back in the 
same manner. On inquiring why such conduct was tole- 
rated. I was informed that at the present time and crisis, 
temporising was the only method of averting an outbreak." 

I n  September, 1843. La Font went to Erance on leave, 
returning to Lahore the following year. when failing to 
secure reinstatement, he returned to France. 

La Font (2) .  
Accordling to the Khalsa R'ecords, this officer joined 

in .4pril, 1838, as a battalion colnmander on n pav of 
%. 270 a month, eventually increased to Rs. 800. and the 
command of two battalions. For a time he commanded 
one of Avitabiie's battalions, but later was transferred to 
Ventura's division, served in  the Kulu and Mandi hills, 
and returned to Lahore with the General in January . 1 841. 
He then returned to Avitahile's brigade, and served until 
Avitabile's departure from Peshawar , when, according 
to the list of Europeans of 1843, La Font resigned1 and 
returned to France with the General. It should he under- 
stood that these were two distinct persons. For a time 
we e r e  under the impression that they were identical. 
but an examination of the Records of pav 2nd service 
showed that though both were emploved at the same time. 
thev were different persons. 

H e n r i  Francois Stlnnislnu.~ De Lrr Roche De R o l l ~ ~ c t  

.Jndging bv an inquirv made bv a brother in  
Mn~~r i t ins  in 18k2, this person appears to have been horn 
in that island. Yet, according to the MS. Remrds, 
T)e La Roche, before joining the Khalsa service. was a clerk 
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in the British Customs office at Panipat. But he muat 
have had previous military service, for he was engaged in 
the year 1838, which seems to have been a flush year for 
adventurers, as a Colonel of Cavalry, on a salary of Rs. 500 
per month. 

I t  seems quite possible that he had been an officer with 
the forces of Begum Sumru; t h r ~ v n  out of emplcymrnt 
when, after her death, the Sardharla forces were disbanded 
and dispersed by the British. 

I n  ;znv case, the list of 1841 shows De La Roche as 
commanding the Sher Cavalry regiment, and Quarter- 
master-General of the Army. which latter post would seem 
to have k e n  a, self-conferred one, for  we ha've not been 
able to trace anvthing like a regular stati with the Khalsa 
army a t  any period. Sohan La,l mentions that De La 
Roche was occasionally emp.ioved to settle boundarv dis- 
putes, a duty for which the better class European officers 
were occasionally selected, they being considbred j n st and 
impartial. 

He was also present i ~ t  the siege of Lahore F ~ r t  in 
184 1, and according to Lawrence, had prepared a mine to 
blow u p  the Fol t when it  was discovered that secret 
passazes connecting the Fort vit l l  the Badshahi Mosque 
magazine were also full of powder, so the project was 
~ i ) ~ ? ~ t l ~ l l e d .  Miles Irving records thatx- 

" ne La Roche, when intoxicated with liqnor, died 
from the effects of a fall from his horse a t  night. in Decem- 
ber. 1842, and was buried bv his faithful &fuss:~mmat 
Fateh Rnksh, nea7r t,hc Tower of Mauj narva 3t Idahore." 

The grave has now cli~a~ppeared. 

D r .  Benet 

Besides Honigkrger. Ran j i t  Singh eniployed two 
other silrgeons, or physicia.ns, one a Frenchman, the 

* Mon~imental Inscriptions in the Punjab, page 2. 
NOTE.-De LR Roche W K ~  often employed on engineerinrr dntiw. 
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subject of the present notice, and the other an Englishman, 
whom we shall notice lster. Benet arrived at  Lahore in 
1838, the moment being propitious, for Ranjit Singh has 
j us t  failed to secure the services of the surgeon to 13egnm 
Sumru, which he particularly desired, his reason being 
that as tohe Doctor had kept 'the old lady alive for many 
years beyond the allotted span, he would be able t.o perform 
the same service for Ranjit Singh. 

The negotiations fell through, and Benet being on the 
spot was engaged as personal physician to the Maharajah, 
and Surgeon-General to the Khalsa army. As the duties 
of this post were extremely light in an armv which pos- 
sessed neither hospital nor medical equipment, and left 
the wour~ded to shift for themselves, Benet may be con- 
sidered as Court physician only. His pay was Rs. 1,000 
per month, and he must have made considerable amounts 
by private practice. \Ve find nothing concerning him in 
the Khalsa Records, until after he had left Lahore, and 
are indebted to Barr for a casual mention, which shows 
that Benet enjoyed high favour with Ranjit Singh, a,nd 
attended him in his last illness This latter, however, 
we do not thinlc is correct. 

After Ranjit Singh's d'eath Benet settled a t  Ludhiana 
as a private practitioner, and from the Records we may 
judge him to have been as fiery tempered a person as his 
countryman, Argoud. A summons had been served upon 
him by the chuprassi at Ludhiana Court, and on asoertain- 
ing what it really was, Benet proceeded to assault the man 
with the butt end of a loaded pistol. Naturally, the pistol 
exploded, and the bullet passing under the Doctor's a m ,  
killed an unfortunate dhobi, who was standing behind him. 

The Resident placed the Doctor in confinement, but 
being puzzled how to act in the case of a French subject, 
referred the matter to the Government a t  Delhi. For some 
three months the Doctor remained in jail, whilst the refer- 
ences travelled hackn.ards and forwards, but finally on his 
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offering to recompense the family of the dhobi, and settle a 
small annuity up011 them, he was released. 

Belng still a t  Ludhiana when the British advanced into 
the Punjab, Benet accepted temporary emploven t  as a 
surgeon, and unfortunately for himself, was taken 
prisoner at the action a t  Baddowal. I n  company with 
several others, he was sent to Lahore, and placed under 
charge of Potter and Honigberger, the latter of whom, 
though aentioning Benet, does not refer to the fact of his 
having been previously in the Khalsa service. After the 
battle of Sobraon, the prisoners were released, and Rerlet 
returned to his practice a t  Ludhiana. We have not been 
able to  trace anything further concerning him, but as he 
is not buried at  Ludhiana. we ma>7 presiime that he return- 
ed to France. 

Dr. Hnrz7e.y 

Harvey entered the Khnlsa service n year before Ranjit  
Sinqh9s death as a medical officer to the army on a salary 
of Rs. 900 a month. As with Renet. his army duties must 
h a v e  heen verv light, as also were his dnties with Ranj i t  
Singh, For tholqh liking to have European doctors about 
him. the Maharajah nro~:lcl not take anv of their medicines, 
or follow their idvice. We have not been able to ascer- 
ta in  when Harvey left the service, but he must have done 
so 3hnrtly after the IIahnra-jah's death. 
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CHAPTER XVI: 
CERRON - ST. AMAND - FITZROY - JEAN ALEXIS DE PAClEU 

- HENRI JOSEPH DE FACIEU - GHIT GILLOT OR QUILETTE 

- GERVAIS - -  MARTINDALE - LAWRENCE GOMEZ .\LLARD 

OR GOMES LAWRENCE - ALLARD ALVARINE OR AMORAN 

- LAIRDEE BARLOIV - 130T1,E - DE L'UST OR DEPUIS 
- HENRY STIIFFORD - .JOHN HOWELL - ALEXANDER 

alias MAHOMED SIDIQ - m r r w  - STORMER OR STORR 

- HEST -- WEIR - SHERIFF - - F..ZRRIS - EATTICE OR 

BATES - I'ENDRID - - GUTHRIE -- GILLi\lORE - .JOHN 

GOULD - ANTONE, AI.lHER, R.\?\ISA'I' :iSD BAKER. 

Csrron. 
-4 mention of this individiial iri the Punja,b Records 

shows that he arrived at  Lahore in 1838, through Rlnltan. 
with the intention of seeking elnployment with 'Ranlit 
Singh. 

Not succeeding in obtaining emplovlnent. a l t l lou~h he 
bung about the Courts of Lahore for some months, Cerron, 
like so many others in like case. clecidecl to go to Kabul 
for the same purpose. but whilst on the journey up to that 
place, encountered Sir Alexander Durnes , then returning 
with Masson from his unsuccessful missioii to Kabul. It  
so happened that the moment  as auspicious, for a man 
being needed to take up the appointment just vacated hg 
Masson. i t  was offered to Cerron, who accepting. was en- 
gaged on a monthly salarv of Rs. 250 with an irnmerliate 
adbance of Rs. 1,000. Wood, who ;cccompg nied Bl~rnes, 
thus de~cribes their encounter with Cerron. and his 
opinion of that gentleman* :- 

" From Kabul we marched on to Jalalahad. Thiring 
the few davs of our stav a t  the former place. we had 
made the acquaintance of a poung Frenchman of pleapins 
manners and qentlemanly address. R e  gave out that he 

Wood'e Journey to the Oxue, pages 423-24. 
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had travelled anlongst the Kaffirs of tlle Hindu Kush, and 
was anxious to  make another journey through their 
country. I had long felt a desire to  vis'it these people, 
and agreed to accompany him, providbd I had Captain 
Rurnes' permission. 

" For this I applied, and arranged with the French- 
man that I would remain at Jalalabad till an answer 
arrived, where, if favourable, he was to join me. I n  the 
interim I ordered presents for the journey to the value of 
about El0  ; these consisting. of looking-glasses, bends, 
needles, thread, etc. At  parting I requested a sight of my 
new accluaintance's journal, but to this he demurred, and 
in lieu of i t  presented me with what he called extracts. 

" This was not so satisfactory a document; however, 
the strange adventures he professed to have met with 
a m o n ~ s t  the Iiaflirs were so piansiblv told th.. 7 t  I had no 
suspicion of his falsehood, until the da.v we entered ,Tala.l- 
abad, when Gulab Hosain aslied me whether I believed 
the F ~ n c h m a n ' s  story. 

" ' Yes, certainly,' was my reply. 

" On which the Munshi exclaimed : 
" ' Tuman dulqrogh ! (Tt's all a lie) ', and brought 

forward the discharged servant of the Frenchman, who 
satisfactorily proved that his master had never been nearer 
Kafiristan than Jalalabad, nolr h ~ d  he ever experienced 
the strange stories he was in the habit of relating as his 
omTn adventures. 

" This man had introduced hinlself to rile as  a sailor. 
and amongst other stories of the sea. related at qrmeat 
length, the incidents of a cruise in the Pacific. in a French 
vessel commanded hy an Englishman. Some time after- 
wards I discovered that for all he knew of nautical matters 
he was indebted to Mr. Masson, from whom he had bor- 
rowed a work entitled. ' A Whaling Vovage in the 
Pacific. ' " 

Sir Richard Temple mentions Cerron as  n person wllo 
had experienced manv weird ndventnres, but the nholve 
quotation wild show that, like those of another person wllo 
successfnlly imposed upon Sir Richn rd, Cerron's adven- 
t,ures existed in his own imagination or were pirated fmm 
those of others. 
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Cerron proceeded to Kabul, and there is considerable 
correspondence concerning his proceedings a t  that place, 
for his honesty seems to have been on a par with his 
veracity. There exists considerable acrimonious corre- 
spondence between Celrron and Dr.  Lord, concerning money 
matters, for i t  appears that he was in the hahit of taking 
large advances from the native bankers at Kabul, who 
knowing his connection with the British Government, 
advanced him whatever money he required. Thus we find 
Dr. Lord dishonouring a draft for Rs. 6,000 which 
Cerron alleged he had spent in obtaining information by 
bribing such persons as were in a position to afford i t .  
However, the money was later paid by the Government 
of India. 

His position at  Kabul became risky, for had Dost 
M~homed suspected him to have been a spy- of the British, 
hi5 shrift would have been exceedinqlv short, and the fact 
that he managed to evade suspicion is attrib~ited to the 
3hilitv and cunning with which Dr. Lord credited him. 
'I,ord characterised Cerron as not onlv able andl cunning, 
but a very zealous person, though he qualifies this tribute 
bv endorsing his letters to the effect that information 
aiven by Ccrron could not alwavs be depended upon. .7 

Thwe are quite a number of letters from Cerron, still 
s~lrviving, all written in French on odd scraps of paper, 
and the writer excuses the scrappv nature o'f the corre- 
spondence by the fact that his letters had to be written at 
odd times and under conditions of great secrecy. 

After the occupation of Kabul, Cerron was deputed 
on a mission to the Nawab of Bajour, and a report, dated 
nwemher, 1839, mentions that he had just died of cholera 
at  Rajour. 

S t .  A mand. 

This person. who gave himself out as a portrait 
painter, gave considerable trouble to both the British and 
t h ~  Sikh Dnrbar Government during the vears 1848-41). 
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and was eventually deported from the Punjab after the 
conclu~ion of the 1st Sikh War. I n  January, 1915, he 
arrived at Ferozepur, in company with Van Coatlandt, 
and requested permission to proceed to Lahore. Natural- 
ly, in view of the dlisturbed condition of the country, and 
the fact that St. Amand's object was military service, this 
was refused. 

St. Amand then proceeded to Ludbiana, from whence 
he managed to cross the Sutlej, disguised as an Afghan 
horse dealer, and succeeded in getting to Lahore. He was 
refused militarv employment, and then passed on to 
ICashmir, where he represented himself to Gulab Singh as 
an Agent of the British Government. He was at  first 
accepted as such, and managed to bleed1 Gulab Singh pretty 
considerably, until prese~ltly , some unguarded remark 
caused suspicion, and Gulab Singh referred to the Durbar, 
who passed on his suspicions to the English. The Poli- 
tical Agent, Major Broadfoot, was very angrv abont the 
matter, and requested Gulab Singh to send St' Arnnnd to 
Lahore under an armed escort. Rut, by skilfillly utilis- 
ing the existing ill-feeling between the Durbar and Golab 
Singh, St.  Amancl managed1 to remain in Kashmir until 
after the 1st Sikh War, when he was returned to Lahore, 
and from thence deported. 

This man appears in Gardiner's list of the Europeans 
who served Ranjit Singh, but a11 we know of him is the 
following : - 

" 5th April, 1835.-John Fitzroy, an East Indian, 
who was formerly in the East India Company's military 
service, has been employed by Ranjit Singh." 

Whence he came. and when he departed, me know not, 
nor as he does not appear to haw been of anv importance, 
rlws it  matter much. 

.Jean A Zezis de Facieu. 
Vicomte Alexis de Facieu was the son of Francis 

,Joseph de Facieu de Pepegron, and the d'escendant of an 



old French family. He was originally a Colonel in the 
French service, and came to India about 1840. He was eu- 
ployed as a Colonel of Cuirassiers in the Khalsa army, and 
from the Khalsa Records, we find that in 1842 his salary 
was Rs. 800 per month, which, curiously enough, was 
divided with his son, who drew Rs. 300 for commanding 
another Regiment of Dragoons. 

He does not appear to have seen any active service 
with the Khalsa army, which he left after the murder of 
Sher Singh, and proceeded to Ferozepnr with Court. EIe 
died a t  Fernzepur in December, 1843, and being an office1 
of rank in the French armv and the Khalsa, was accorded 
a full military funeraill by the British anthorities at that 
station. 

Henri Joseph dc! Facieu. 

The acqoittance rolls of October, 1843. shcx this 
individual as the son of the former, and commanding the 
Sher Regiment of Dragoons, in Ventura's brigade. He 
left the Punjab immediatelv after Sher Singh's death. and 
after the death of his o m  father, went on to Allahzlmd 
and there set up in business. The Mutinv of 1857 ruined 
his business, so he went to Burma, and obtained military 
employment with Mindoon Min, the King of Burma 
A Fter the latter's death, he served King Theebaw, and was 
a General of Cavalry, or its equivalent, in the Burma army 
when the British conquered and annexed the country in 
the year 1888. 

He then retired to Rangoon, and lived there as a 
pensioner of the 13ritish Government until 1893, dying, the 
verv last of the long line of European adventurers of 
\I-h\-hom we have records from the early 17th century. 

These names all applv to the same man, whose real 
name is the last one, as we find from a mention 1,; .  Von 
Orlich, who met the French officers in Ranjit Singh's 



service in 1843. The remark against his name in the list 
of Europeans states that :- 

" M. Gillot (Quiiette) was formerly in the French 
navy, and is now an instructor of artillery." 

Gervais. 

This naine appears in Gardiner's list, but we have 
not been able to discover anything concerning him, unless 
he is identical ~ ~ - i t h  one or other of the unnamed French- 
men who occasiona.lly appear in the Records. 

Also appears in Gardiner's list, as serving Ranjit  
Singh, but as a inatter of fact he never did so. He was 
the son of General Martindale, a.n officer who figured pro- 
minently in the Gurklia War of 1814. his mother being an  
Indian ~vomarl. He served for many " . .  years with Skinner's 
I-Torse. and on being pensioned off, settled in Lahore, ap- 
parently with the idea of obtaining employinent with the 
Khalsa army, an ambition which, however, was never 
realised. 

or 
Gomez Ln ?orence. 

There appears to ha.ve been three separate persons 
owning, or having assumed. the name of Allard. First, 
the General himself, secondly, the person above named, 
who ~vould, from his name, appear to have been a 
Portuguese, 01. Goanese, and a third. also k n o ~ ~ n  a s  
Amoran or Alverine. Gnniez Allard appears in the list 
of Europeans of 1842 :inilel- the name of G e o r ~ e  Lawrence, 
ant1 is shown :3s having entered the service in 1821. F'rom 
the sa.lary pnid to him, which never reached more than 
11s. 90. we nssllrne him to h:lre hren n person of mixed 

-. 
I~lnod . 
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He served the Khalsa until 1844, when with the other 
Europeans he was dismissed for a period, to be taken hack 
later into the Khalsa service, as Adjutant of one of John 
Holmes' batallions. After the Punjab Was, he was talien 
into the British service as Adjutant of one of the Police 
battalions formed from Sikhs disbanded from the Ichalsa 
service, and served with that until 1862, when he was 
pensioned and given a grant. of land by the Government 
of the Punjab amounting to 200 acres. He appears tq 
have been of very small account. 

A llard, Alvarine, or  A moran. 

These three names appear eithex in Gardiner's list or 
in that of Fakir Qamr-ud-Din. Rut we are of opinion 
that they are all variations of the one name, all incorrect, 
for his real name appears to have been Halloran, an obscure 
Irishman of whom we find absolutely no mention except in 
a list kindly sent us by Sir Edward Maclagan, which iden- 
tifies Alvarine with Halloran. Fahr Qamr-ud-Din states 
that a person named Alvarine was killed in Hazara at  the 
same time, as Kanara, but of this we have no corroboration. 
Had there been another European killed there Captain 
Abbott would certainly have mentioned it. As the Syud 
wrote fifty years later he must have confused his memories. 

This man was one of the few Europeans in the Khalsa 
service who was known to have fought against 11s in the 
Sikh Wars. Our first mention of him is in the Records 
which mention that such a person has been discovered in 
Kashmir serving Gulab Singh. Subsequent enquiries re- 
sulted in the followingX :- 

" 15th January, 1845.--It has been ascertained that 
this man's name is Lairdee, and that he deserted1 from 
Major Delafosse's battery in 1842. The Durbar have 
sent him to Lahore, and are apparently reserving him there 

' Punjah Records, Rook NO. 136, Letter No. 7.  
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in anticipation of his being demanded. But in the present 
state of variable affairs and weakness in the Government 
at  Lahore anv demand for him might arrive a t  a moment 
when the ~ u r b a r  might be unwilling or afraid to comply 
with it,  and a refusal would be a slight, (for, though 
deserters have been recovered, i t  is not a matter of right, 
or a favour we could reciprocate. I have therefore sent 
the descriptive roll of the man without any demand for 
him." 

Major MeGregor closes the known career of Lairdee 
* - in the f oillo~ving : 

" Potter was not the only European solldier in the Sikh 
force. A man named Lairdie, under the assumed name 
of Sultan Mahorned, and who had deserted from Captain 
Delafosse's troop of artillery in 1842 or 1843, was 
amongst the Sikhs, and a m a n  named Bovle, a deserter 
from t'he First European Light ~ n f a n t r y  ," likewise. The 
artillerjmen must have been of infinite servicbe in training 
the Sikhs as gunners, and the conduct of the latter showed 
that their instructors had not bestowed their labour in 
vain. 9 9 

According to an ancient Sergeant-major of the 
Bengal Artillery from whom in the early nineties me 
crathered much concerning the deserter class in the Khalsa b 

army (much, un.f ortunately forgotten), 1,airdee escaped 
until Sobraon where he was taken and killed by the troops 
before any effort by the Political Officer to save him ~ u l d  
be made, if indeed-he would have desired to  do so. 

Though this man's name appears in Gardiner's list 
there is nothing concerning him elsewhere. But the in- 
formant above mentioned to whom we showed Gardiner's 
book, when i t  was published in 1895, identified him with 
the person below mentioned by Major Mackinnont . 

" Another Englishman in the Si!th ranlzs at Feroee- 
shah fell during the storm of the worlcs by the British 

- * McQregor's History of the Sikhs, Volume 11. page 141. 
t Maclrinnon's Military Adventures. Volume 11, page IN. 

A.4 
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Infantry crying aloud : ' Spare me lads, I am an English- 
man and belonged to the old 44th '. He was bayoneted at 
once. , ' 

Another account of the same incident by an old 
Sepoy runs :- 

*" I was take11 prisoner in the retrea.t from Kabul, 
and being taken back there was sold as a slave for Rs. 250. 
There were also a number of Europeans for sale; they were 
intended as instructors to the Afghan army and being 
supplied with some skins of Shiraz wine appeared not to 
lament their f a  tie. Some belonged to the Bengal Artil- 
lery, and some to the 44th Foot." 

The Subedar was later ransomed but none of the 
Europeans was ever recovered. &lost of them probably 
died, and the fate of the others is mentioned elsewhere. 
Our informant previously quoted told us that Barlow 
who was one of them managed to escape, and get safe to 
Jnmroad fro111 whence he entered the Sikh service. Of this 
the Subedar thus wrotet :- 

" At &he Battle of Ferolzeshah I saw a European 
abcut to bayonet a wounded Sikh. The Sikhs usually 
kept very quiet when wounded but to my surprise this 
man begged for water, and also called out in English. 
The co!dier then pulled off his turban, a,nd kicked him 
several times, and'then ran him through the body vi th his 
bayonet. Several other soldiers then kicked the body and 
ran him through with their havonets." 

We may mention that the European soldiers mention- 
ed by the Subedar were distinct from those taken hv 
~ k h h a r  Khan, being private booty. The former were 
later ransomed. 

This man is mentioned in the account of Lairdee. 
VTh? t became of him we cannot sa.y. Probably like the 
others he was killed by the British troops either knowing- 
ly or not. 

- -- - -- . . - . - - 
Bepoy to Subedar. 

t Ib id ,  page 126. 
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L)e L' Ust or Depuis. 

This man appears in the list of Europeans as Uepuis. 
He first figures in the list of Europeans employed by the 
Kbalsa in the gear 1842 first as an artillery inutnmtor 
and later as commandant of a battalion. -4fter being 
dismissed from the Khalsa service he set up as a dancing 
master and teacher of French in Simla. Apparently he 
h2d been invited to India by General Ventura, for there 
are several letters from him to the Government of India 
invoking their aid to procure his arrears of pnv e i t h e ~  
from the General or the Durbar Government. Whether 
they were ever paid we cannot say, but we doubt i t  very 
much, having in mind the chaotic conditions prevaining 
in the B u n i ~ b  a t  the time. 

---- 
Henry  Staifford. 

This man joined Snchet Singh in 1838 as a battalion 
commander on a salary of Rs. 150, which was later raised 
to Rs. 350 per month. Re is variously shown in the lists 
a's a n  American, or an Englishman, who had deserted from 
the  Fritish service. We know nothing; more of him. 

Captain. John Holuell 

Whence and from where John Howell rame, prio~. to 
his appearance a,t the Battle of Metlanee, we h:~vc not hren 
able tn :iscertain. According to his own nclmission he 
formerly belongeld to the R A. ,  but this is. we think, a 
mistake, or a, misststement, for the Rritish Roval A rtil- 
lerv was not stationed in Indiq durinq the 19th cent~lrv 
11ntil nftter thp Tndian Stlitinv He could not have heell n 
deserter from t,he R e n ~ a l  Horse Artillerv, and ;I.: Dr. 
Anderson speslcs of him ns " gentslemanly, and well educat- 
ed." we mav assnme that, he was an officer in the Rritish 
services who had f o ~ ~ n d  his way to Tndin. Our first 
anthentic r e ~ o r t  of him is in a.n extract a s  under :- 

" At the Rnttle of Meeanee, in Felnruarv, 1843. a n  
Englishman 17-ho Fnd heen fiqhtiny in  t,lie ranks o f  thc fl>r. c- 

X.42 
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of the Amir of Sindh as cornrna.ndant of their artillery, was 
taken prisoner. 

" H e  was brought before the A. Q. M. G.,  L.ient. 
AlacMurdo, and, on being asked from where and whence he 
came, he replied : ' Mv name is John Howell; I am a, 
Welshman, and formerh served in the Royal Artillerv, and 
am now in  command df the artillery of the Amirs of 
Sindh.' On being told that he would be shot as a traitor 
to  his conntry, he sa id :  ' That  is not so; I have not fired 
upon my countrymen, and you must admit that  our shots 
went over pour heads (which was quite true)' ". 

1,ieut. MacMurdo reported the case to Sir Charles 
Napier, who regretfully said : " Well, he must be shot, " but 
after some time he yielded to the representations of Lieut. 
MacMurdo, who told him that Howell ha,d been in danger 
of his life for refusing to  fight against the British, saying : 
" Very well then. let him get awav quietly.'' Howell was 
permitted to escape. 

Some pears afterwa,rds Lieut. MacMurdo was Q. M. G. 
of the forces of the army under Sir Charles Napier's 
command, which was sent to assist in the first Punjab War, 
but arrived too late. On passing through Bahawalpur, 
he called on the Wazir of Bahawalpur, and to his great 
surprise found him to be John Howell in native dress. 

,4fter his release by t,he British. or rather their con- 
nivance a t  his escape, Howell entered the service of the 
Nawab of Rahawalpur. Whatever his real position may 
have heen with the Nawab, he was employed as supply 
officer to the Rahawalpur contingent sent to assist 
Herbert Eclwardes against the rebels under Dewan Mu1 
R a j  a t  Multan. 

He was now known as Captain Howell, and was 
spoken of by several persons wKo met him as soldierly and 
efficient. But with all this there must have been some- 
thing " fishy " about him, for his application to  the 
British Government for a medal for services a,t Multan was 
endorset1 hv ,John Lawrence as not to be forwarded until 
Mr. Howell had explained his conduct whilst in the Raha- 
walpur service. 
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Apparently he returned to Bahawalpur and died there 
in 1865. 

A lexander 

This man does not appear in the Khalsa pay-rolls or 
Puniab Records, but does in the list of Europeans furnish- 
ed from 1841 to 1844, which shows his as a battalion 
commander with John Holmes, on a salarv of Rs. 150 
per month. The relaark placed against his name which 
runs thus, is sigrlificant :- 

" Mr. Alexander was for~nerlv elnploved in the service 
of Shah Shnja,  by whom he was kade  a '~ahnmetlml.  7 9 

Metu i .  
Our only record of this person is from Syed Qam,r-ucl- 

Din'., letter to Sir Edward bfaclagan, in r e ~ l v  to a request 
for informqtion concerning the Europems in Ran j i t  
Sinqh's service. The Sved, ~ v h o  died' in 1904. aras a con- 
temporc?ry and Sir Edward Maclagan suqgeste that the 
namle was reallv Minchin. which is quite possible, f ~ r .  tllere 
were a nvmber of European deserters reported as missing 
betifyeen 1836 and 1839 of whom no record has been traced. 
The Sved remarks :- 

" Captain Metrli was a captain in some regiment. 
He had a bungalow ~ o n s t r u c t e ~  in Ghatiwali lane. insidk 
Rhati Gate, Lahore. He had a woman of Kashmir by 
whom he had a daughter. The captain and his daughter 
both died at Lahore. It is not kno\v\.n n here they were 
buried. Perhaps one of the graves in the Go1 Uaqh is 
his." 

Storm PT 

or 
Stor?'. 

Stormer is shown in the lists of Eu~vpenns as n 
d'eserter from t'he British, who commanded n hattalion 
belongin? to Suchrt $ingli. f rnn i  a n  earl!- period The 
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Syed also states that Storr or Storm1er was taken into the 
British service after the second Sikh War, but " left for 
home after serving the British Government for a short 
period. ' ' He married one of John Holmes ' daughters. 
and in mentioning the fact, the Syed gives John Holmes 
a.n allowance of four wives. 

The Syed remarks that. " Hest was a colonel in some 
regiment. 1 t is not known where he fell or was buried. " 

Hest appears in Gardiner's list as having been killed 
in the streets of :Lahore, but this is incorrect, for 11ad 
such an occurrence as the murder of a European taken 
place in Lahore hefore the anarchy, it would have been 
reported by the newswriter. A chance mention in the 
Records has enabled us to identifv Hest with the person 
mentionedl by Dr. Kennedyx. 

" My friend, Major B, drank a bottle of beer, and 
another of Madeira with a Greek, the Commandant of the 
Hyderabad Artillery ; and ascertained that his liquor was 
better than his ordnance, and that, had they been fired, the 
result would have been disastrous, added to which the re- 
doubtable cannoneer admitted:, as his heart warmed with 
liquor and love of the English, and joy at the honour of 
drinking with an English field officer. that he eked out 
his stipend of Rs. 75 per month by inserting some 200 
paper men upm his muster-roll, and that, through the 
goodness of God, he was sole muster-master. " 

As the pay of an artilleryman was Rs. 6 per month, 
Hest's roguery added the not inconsiderable snni of 
Rs. 1,200 to his monthly income. What eventually he- 
came of him we have not been able to trace, and there is no 
mention of him as with the Bahawalpur contingent which 
served with Edwardes and Cortlandt. 

FV eir . 

According to Syed Qamr-ud-Din " Mr. Weir occupied 
a snhordir~ate position i n  the army. He had a woman of 

- - -- - -. -- -- - 
Kennedy'~ Army of the Indue. 
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Kashmir with him, and resided near the Rhati Gate. H e  
and his wife died a t  Lahore; their burial ground is not 
known." There are descendants of this man still living 
in Lahore. 

SherifJ. 
Of this man we have only a mention by Syed Qamr-ud- 

Din, who noted that he " was an Engineer, and met his 
death by a fall from a horse. I t  is not known where he was 
buried. ' ' 

Farris. 
This man and those following are mentioned by Syed 

Qamr-ud-Din, and this is all that is forthcoming concern- 
ing them. 

" Mr. Farris was employed in the gunpowder factory. 
Died a t  Lahore, and i t  is not known where he was buried." 

Battice or Bates. 
Was employed in manufacturing gunpowder and 

saltpetre. Died at Lahore, and! it is not known where he 
was buried." 

Fendrid. 
" Se,rved for some time and then left the country. . > 

Guthrie. 
" Served for some time and then left the country." 

-- 

Gillmore. 
" Mr. Gillmore was a Colonel in solile reginletit. and 

was m a r r i ~ d  to  a Kashmiri woinan, by cvhom he had 
children. Both he and his wife died a i  1,nhore. and one ' 
of the two graves of Europeans in the Go1 Ragh near the 
Rutchery, at Lahore, may he his." 

John  Gozlrd. 
John Gould was brother-in-law to  Colonel Van Cort- 

landt, and commanded a battalion in the Ichalsa service 
from 1834 to 1832, in which year he died and was blu-ied 
at Ferozepur. 
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Antone, Maher, John Ransay and George Baker. 

Them men were all Eurasian musicians. The firat 
served as bandmaster to  Ranjit  Singh, and entered his 
service after the death of Begum Sumru; the others were 
drum-majors or musicians to the different battalions. 

So fa r  as we have been able to  ascertain, this com- 
pletes the list of the adventurers who served with Ranjit - 
Singh and others during the periods our researches 
embrace. There may have been many more, of whom we 
can find no trace? and the difficulty of obtaining more 
details concerning those we know of, as well as the  un- 
known ones. is accounted for by the fact that they were 
either borne on the pav-rolls of the feudntorv nobles, or 
served with their battalions. Of these battalions, there 
were twenty-five divided as under :- 

Mian Jowahir Singh 
Raja Gulab Singh 
Ra ja  Hira  Singh 
Ra ja  Suchet Singh 
~a a Dhian Singh 
~ i a n  Labh Singh 
Rai Kesri Singh 
Lehna Singh. Ma j ithia 
Ahluwalia 

. . .  2 battalions. 

. . 8 7 9 

. . .  4 , 7 

. . .  2 9 i 

. . .  2 , )  

... 2 7 7 

. . . 1 bathlion. 

. . . 2 hattalions. 
... 2 > , 

To Syerl Qamr-rld-Din we are indebted folr the follow- 
ing details concerning the adventurers. Writing to Sir  
Edward Maclagan in 1904, he relates :- 

" Sir ,  

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .There is no one of the Durbaris of 
Maharajah Ranjit Sinqh a t  present alive in Lahore who 
could throw any light 'on the subject. I, therefore. give 
a n  accoilnt of the European gentlemen in the service of 
Vahar:lja Ranjit Singh so far  as my memory goes. Mp 
father and iinrle held very high positions in the time of 
Maharajah Rnnj it Singh ' and  almost all the Dllrbaris, 
~vhpther E ~ l r o p ~ a n  or native, used to pap visits to them 
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on business. Besides, the officers of the regiments trans- 
ferred to Lahore on relief used to come to the house of my: 
brother, Fakir Syed Chiragh-ud-Din, in the summer 
season to take a, bath in  the nun (spring) in the house, 
which contained icy cold water, and which kept the ad- 
joining houses cool. These officers used to visit the house 
generally at 11 o'clock, after the Durbar was over. I. 
therefore, had a personal knowledge of these gentlemen, 
and knew their names. 

" The costlime of the high European officers in those 
davs consisted of as under : A cap of Persian velvet of 
red or green, having lacel on its border, the crown of which 
was puckered up in the centre, on which was fixed a tassel 
of gold threads, which hung over i t ,  and looked beautiful. 
A cloak of Kashmir shawl in the winter season and of 
white clofh in the summ.er. TTnder the cloak thev wore 
waistcoat and shirt, and their pantaloons were loose, so 
as to enable them to sit on the carpet with ease. General 
Avitabile, when Governor of Peshawar. used to wear a cap 
made of ?olden thread. and a tnrhan of Kashmir shawl. . . . . 
There l~eincr no carriages ( b l ~ ( r g i s )  in those days. these 
gentleinen used to go out in a tam-jam (a sort of vehicle 
having seats facing each other. and carried bv e i ~ h t  
cool i~s ) .  ' ' 

Reqardin.? the graves of the m,nnv ~vho  are l<no~~-n to 
have di,ed in the ~ h a l s n  service, there :Ire 11ut few no\\- 
Itnown. that of Oms, which was situated just outside the 
Shahda ra m~ausoleum enclosure, has alnlost, entirely dis- 
appeared. There are two others in the Go1 Ri~qli. one a 
humble Inrick tornb, and the other 3 niore pretentious one 
in the h/J~i~s~tl~man fashion. There are no inscril)tions on 
either, hut we are fairly certain that one torill-, is that of 
Gillmcre, and the other of Weir or Rates. 

4llard lies bl~ried somewhere nenr his daughter. and 
the grave of T)e La Roche has long ~ i n c e  disappe:lred, it 
having been built over Gardiner is hnried at Sinlkot. and 
John Holmes in  Rannu; but where the others lic no one 
knows or has forgotten. 



APPENDIX 1. 

RANJIT SINGH AND THE RISE OF THE SIKH NATIOK. 

Through, and with, Ranj i t  Singh, did the S i k h ~  become a 
powerful and rul ing nation. After his controlling genius had  been 
removed by death, the Sikhs fell back into chaos and anarchy, and 
were ultimately absorbed, inevitably and unavoidably, into the 
British Indian Empire. 

Before his rise to power, the Sikhs were a tunlnlt~lous. tnr- 
bulent, and loosely connected theocracy of semi-independent c lam 
(misls) who, though they might  combine for defence or aggression, 
or a religious object, were otherwise usually engaged in  internecine 
strife, with their compatriots or the Mussalman states or tribes 
interspersed with, or neighbouring thein. 

From these heterogeneous, eternally striving and jealous ele- 
ments, Ranj i t  Singh, by his shees personality and genius, built u p  
a state, and buttressecl it by an  arillp created from these discordant 
and disorderly  element,^, which he  disciplined on a military sye- 
iem hitherto entirely foreign to  their traditional warlilte nlethods. 

Ranj i t  Singh was born about the year 1780, his father being 
Maha Singh, Chief of the Sukerchakin Misl, one of the bmallest 
into which the Sikh theocracy had finallly been rebolred. Maha 
Singh died when his son was about eight years old. and until  he 
had attained the age of 17, the Ilegency was canrried out by Mai 

*, 

Malwaine, his mother, and Sada Kour, his mother-in-law, to 
whose daughter Ranj i t  h.ad been married at the age of eight. 

Ranj i t  Singh's own mother had been killed 1,- Ilis father,  on 
account of an intrigue in  which she llnd been detected. and a t  the 
age of 17, the so11 follon-etl the esample 1)y slaying with his own 
hand,  his mother, whose c.haracter hat1 long been cll~estionable, 
when he detected her with the Hindu den-nn. After  her death, 
Ran j i t  Singh was not yet free fro111 fe~rlinine influence, for S : \ h  
Kour nlas n masterful n-omnn n-110 nns not only s~ lob ,  hut an  able 
and wise counsellor, and occn~ionally 311 :~c.tire :\ssistant in the 
bstt,le-field. Their first conquest n-ere the Ch;~ttns. n tribe of 
Ai~lssnlmans whose chief Rnnjit  Sinpli slew with 11is own 11nn Is, 
snbnecluently absorbing his  estates and followers. 

The nest exploit wns the taltirlg of T,nhore Fort  n ~ l d  city 
in 1798, which was done by n inistnre of boldness, s t ra ten- .  nnd 
cunning, qualities in which he exc~ellecl. This success nroused the  



enmity of the other clans, who combined against him, but were 
defeated a t  Batala, some forty miles from Lahore, where Ranjit 
Singh ably seconded by Snda Kour, surprised and almost anni- 
hilated them. He next inraded the hill district of Jammu, and 
h a ~ i n g  conquered this, restored i t  on payment of a ransom, the 
aclinon-ledgment of suzerainty, and the payment of an annual 
tribute. He nest annexed the districts of Sialkot and Dilawagarh, 
n-hich were restored to their owners on similar terms. 

H e  then proceeded to proclaim himself Jlaharaj3 of the Punj- 
ab,  and to strike coin bearing his supers:.ription : steps, nhilah 
though they inight seen1 arrogant, were hut n prescience of coming 
events. Bit hy bit he extended his possessions, Altalgarh and Nur- 
pur fell to him in 1801, and Daska, Chiniot, the Jullundur Doab, 
ancl Kasur a year later. Kasur was restored to its Pathan owners, 
011 the usual terms. but the other states were acldecl to his personal 
clominion. He next tool; the city of Amritsar, from the control of 
the Bhanpi misl, after a stiff fight, ancl addecl this most important 
con~l~terc.ial city and religions capital of the Punjab to his domi- 
nion. 

The next corlquest was Jhang,  and in 1806 he besieged 
Multan, from which he was bought off with a ransom of Rs. 75.000. 
I 1  J he same year Ranjit  Singh, for the first time, came into contact 
with the Bi'itish, of whose military power he had, till then, >pard 
onl? from men r h o  had nnce served in  its ranks or fled before the 
arulq of the British. 

The JIahainntta nrmF, under Jaswnnt Rao, Holkar, flying 
before Lord Lake. had crn~sed into the Punjab, and penetrated as 
far :IS Amritsar, followed hard by Lord Lake, who, crossing the 
B P ~ . ,  enrarnpecl a t  .Tnllundur some thirty miles below Amritsar, 
to await events, before advancing, for it was quite possible that 
Ranjit  Singh might be induced to ally himself with the Maha- 
rattab. The troops belonging to Jaswant Rao numbered about 
1.5.000. nlo\tly the hattallions, or remnants of them, who hacl heen 
trained h y  the European n,rlventurers, then so numerous v i th  111- 
clinn princ.e~. 

Having received military aid from some of the Sikh chiefs 
of' t h ~  Ci5-Slitlei States, Holltar had come to believe that he might 
rewile t h ~  same from Ranji t  Singh, to whom he had previously 
sent me,qeJlgerf.i with an appeal for aid, ancl substantial presentc;. 
But R:tnjit woulcl not, mmmit himself to any hut the vaguest of 
p~-omiwr, until quite certain how the land lay, so he visited Hal, 
ksr ,  ant1 after. a minute innpection of hi8 troop9 paased on to Lord 



Lake's camp in disguise, and spent some days in secretly ex- 
amining the British battalions, and the artillery, both Enropcl-lns 
and sepoys. 

This visit convinced him of the futility of opposing such 
troops as he snnr at  Jullundur, so on his return to Amritsar, he 
su~nmonecl the confederacy, of which he was now the acknow- 
ledged head, and with their consent, advised Holkar to accept the 
British terms and, whether he did so or not, to depart a t  once from 
the Pnnjab. The visit to Lake's camp, and the sight of the 
British army, convinced him that  here mas a type of so1,dier far  
more ehct ive  than the great mob of disorderly horsemen he liad 
hitherto led ; so he set about raising two battalions, on a siw;iiclr 
model, manning them with deserters from the British, or tlie 
disbanded soldiers of the Maharatta armies, and officering them 
from the same sources. 

Year by year he extended his army, until at  the end he 
possessed 34 battalions of infantry, nine regiments of so-called 
regular cavalry, and about 370 guns of various sorts, independent 
of rthe 300 camel guns attached to the Ghorchasra force. l i l e , i ~  
battalions were his own, and independent of the 25 or so belonging 
to the feudatory princes. 

As with his military force, he added year by year to his 
donlinions. I n  1806 Ludhiana, Dibalpore, Pathankot, and Jesrota 
-j-ielclecl either to force or arms, cunning; strategy, or faithlessness, 
all of which he practised with equal success at various times. In 
1807 he built Fort Gobinclgarh on the European principle a t  Amrit- 
sar, the intention being to overawe that city, then, as i t  is still, 
the headquarters of the Alcnlis, or warrior priests, the most tur- 
bulent of all the Silihs. The l'ort \\-as also his nmin treasury. 

I n  1809, becoming overconfident with his increasing strength, 
he crossed the Sntlej, and invaded the Cis-Sutlej States, though 
he had been previously warned that they were under British pro- 
tection, and that serious consequences would certainly follow any 
such aggression. Thinliing the latter only idle words, he con- 
tinued his plundering career, and it was not until a large British 
force was assembled and orders given to Colonel Ochterlony to 
drive him hack into the Punjal) that Rnnjit Singh retrrl~trtl to  
his own territoiy. 

Not satisfied with the evacuntio11 of the British-protected 
states, Colonel Orhterl~ony forced Ranjit Singh to sign a treaty, 
in which he promised to  confi~le hiinself henceforth to the right 
bank of the Sutlej, and ceded Lucihinna, which now became the 



headquarters of the British force kept there to guard againat future 
aggressions. For the purpose of concluding and signing this 
treaty Mr. Theophilus Metcalfe, a Civil Serva,rit, was deputed to 
meet Ranji t  Singh i n  Amritsar, and i n  addition, to endeavour to 
engage him in  a defensive alliance against the French, then sup- 
posed to be threatening India through Central Asia. He  wm 
accompanied by an escort of Mussalman soldiers, and the visit 
coinciding with the  time of the  Mohurram, the religiolls cere- 
monies carried out by the escort aroused the ire of the Akalis. 

They assembled near the camp, and whilst the procession was 
paracling through i t ,  made a sudden attack upon the unarmed and 
unsuspecting sepoys, and even penetrated to the tent of the 
European officer i n  charge, who was slightly wounded, but though 
taken aback for a moment, he and the sepoys promptly rallied, 
and drove out the Akalis with many casualties, themselves suffer- 
ing none. It has been stated that t h i ~  incident was the cause of 
Ranji t  Singh forming regular battalions, as he mas so impressed 
with the rallying and steadiness of the sepoys, but this is incor- 
rect, fo r  he even then possessed several battalions, whom Mr. Met- 
calfe saw, though he was not favourably impressed with them. 

But  i t  did cause Ranji t  Singh to tighten up his system and 
improve the drill and discipline of his men, fo r  which purpose he 
not only engaged all the ex-British sepogs who offered themselves, 
but enticed over s number of native officers and havildars, by 
promises of hiqh pay and rank. A few Europeans were also 
tempted, bud of these we (.an o111y find faint t ~ a c e s  of two. 

Still continuing to extend his dominions, he added the Kangrrr 
 alley. Wazirabad, Attock, Kotla, nncl several other districts to 
them, and in 1819 took Multan. I n  1820 he invaded Kashmir, but 
with small results, and the same year added the Derajat, Rawal- 
pindi and a few more frontier states to his dominions. He  took 
Pe-sha-srar, hut restorer1 i t  to the Raralczai sirclars, on conditions of 
~ilxernintp and tribute, which tenure existed till 1534, when he 
r ~ ~ u m e r l  i t  in full. 

In 1831 a meeting hetween Tlord Rerltinck and Ranjit  Singh 
took place a t  nupar, and another between himseIf and the British 
Commander-in-Chief, in  March, 1837, when Sir Harry Fane 
a t t ~ n r l ~ r l  the m ~ r l r l i n ~  of Nan Nihnl Singh, the heir-apparent, at 
A i n a l n ,  nPar T,ahore. Both these functions were attended hy review8 
of t h ~  troopq on both sirles, and ~pectaclea of extreme magnificence. 

JT:iving rlecided to restore Shah Shuj:jh to  the throne of Af- 
ghnni~tan,  the R r i t i ~ h  Government aought the aid of Ranjit  Singh. 
: ~ r ~ t l  r*:,r.lv in 1838 Sir  William MacNnghten, accompanie'd by an 



impoeing retinue, both civi! and military, interviewed Ranji t  8ingh 
nt Adinanagar, and finally arranged the tri-partite treaty, hrfore 
referred to, by which the tm parties bound themselves to assist 
Shah Shlzjah, Ranjit  S1ingh receiving some substantial induce- 
ments. 

The last meeting between the Maharajah and the British took 
place at  Ferozepore in November, 1838, when the Maharajah was 
invited to meet Lord Anckland, the Governor-General of India, and 
to review the army assembkd for the invasion of Afghanistan. 
Here occurred an incident which was loolded upon by the Sikhs as 
an " unpropitious omen," for when invited to inspect some can- 
non intended as a present for him, Ranji t  Singh stumbled over a 
pile of shot and fell flat on his face befo~ie the mouths of the 
Hribish cannon. 

'l'his was almost 111s last public function, for many years of 
the most revolting debauchery and excessive drinking of trebly 
distilled spirit had undermined his constitution. He had pre- 
viously been warned by several attacks of partial paralvsis, hut 
having recovered from these, had become careless. He  now 
became almost completely paralysed and speechless, and on the 
29th June, 1839, passed away, after having distributed a million 
poi~nds in charity and religious donations, and bequeathed the 
Roh-i-Yoor to n temple at Renares. However, the latter injunc- 
tion was not carried out. 

To the last he t001i a keen interest in all that. was passing, 
:111rl 11ia11ngerl to 1nn1;e r le ;~r ,  by signs and facial contortions, tha t  
he was still monarch and ruler, untii a few hours before his death. 
He  could neither read nor write, and his character is thus (omit- 
ting the description of his vices) summed up by hfajol SIarCrre~or, 
who knew him very well : - 

" I n  debate R,anjit Singh appears a t  once to grasp the whole 
~ubject ,  and his reasoning powers are of the highest order. Be 
the nhsolnte 11.lonnrch of many states forlnerlv owning separate 
rnlers, and a11 reduced hy his own efforts, the manner in which 
IXP retains these conquests cntire, displays his endless resources 
n n r l  energy, wen more than 1 1 1 ~  c o n q ~ ~ e s t ~  in battle. I n  appear- 
:trice he i s  . ; n~n l l  in s t n t ~ ~ r e ,  and disfignred with s n ~ ~ l l p o x ,  from 
which he has lost an eye. I n  his youth he n-na nn escellent horse- 
man, and well skilled in all n11litar-y feats ; first in the field, and 
ever the last to retreat. Innred to hnrdsbipa, even now he prefer8 
a tent to his ~ a l a c e ,  and is the  lein nest dressed man in all his 
coilrt ." 



With his faults discounted by his surroundings and upbring- 
ing,  Ranji t  Singh emerges a great man. His vices were but 
those of the n?hfole of northern India and Afghanistan, and by 
the natives accepted as neither disgusting nor disgraceful. 
1)~unlienness was a vice more common to Xuropeans than to In- 
dians, and in this he was no worse than many of the Englishmen 
with whom he came in contact. His cunning ancl suspicilon were 
in great measure due to illiteracy, for able Inen who can neither 
read nor write are intensely suspicious of education in others, 
which they fear will be used to overreach them. 

His greatness is shown by the fact that almost unaided he 
rose to be the chief of n nation he himself had formed from a 
congeries of discordant clans. Though this fell to pieces when 
his cementing influence was removed, its creation was a great tri- 
bute to  his genius, ambition, e n e r p ,  and ability. But it may 
be that  he died at the crucial moment, for the signs were evident 
that  his influence was waning, and his liingclom moving tlowards 
dislnteg~ation. 
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APPENDIX I1 

A BRIEF NARR.4TIVE O F  THE ANARCHY IN THE PUNJAB 

1839-1845 

To enable the reader to understand the ramifications of plot, 
counterldot, treachery and intrigue before and during this  
anarchy, i t  will be necessary to give a brief account of the princi- 
l'al persons taking part  therein, their claims to hold, or  share i n  
the rule, or the advantages they would derive from connection, or 
sympalhy with the principal persoriapes. 

The succession to the throne of Ranj i t  Singh was complicated 
b y  the sons born to, or attributed to, and acknowledged tacitly or 
otherwise by him, who were numerous. The  morality of the  
Sikh sect mas astonishingly lax, with high as with low, a surpris- 
ing  feature being tha t  the ownership of sons was considered more 
important than their legitimacy. Gardiner, in  his notes appended 
to Smyth's " Reigning Family of the Punjab,"  gives several in- 
stances of ~on.9 ho13r~ 10 a m:ui's wife, dul-iiig the prolonged ahsence 
of the husband being accepted by him on his return, even though 
they could not possibly have been his, if not without question, at 
least with complaisance, and even satisfaction. 

He  gives one case of a Sikh soldier, absent for a period of 
eight years, who on his return found himself presented with four 
sons, the erdest of whom was but  six years old. On asking from 
whence they came, the wife calmly informed him tha t  they were 
his, to which he replied tha t  though they were a welcome addition 
to the family, she had better not attempt to convince others of his 
parentage. Another case is tha t  of a man absent for four years, 
who found two sons on his return, the eldest of whom was lese 
than three years old. H e  not only accepted them, but  gave the  
real father Rs. 40 to renounce his claim to the family. 

Henry Lawrence in  a n  official report remarks tha t  the  Sikh 
princes, nobles, and sirdars spent their time in  the brothels of the 
city, leaving their wives to console themselves with the servants, 
or chance lovers. Such being the custom, i t  is not a t  all  surpria- 
ing  to find the ruler accepting as his sons babes whom he  knew 
perfectly well had not a shadow of claim to tha t  relationship. 
'raking these sons in detail. 

BR 



'l'he first and only legitimat'e one was Kharak Singh, born 
in 1802, to Ra j  Eour, the second wife. Kharak Singh nras married 
to Cham1 R o w  in the year 1812, and of th'is marriage was issue 
Nnu Nihnl Slngh, born in February, 1821, who in turn married 
the daughter of thle Ahlnwalia chief in 1837. Nau Nihal Sillgh 
left  no issue, but n posthumous son n-as still-born, terminating the 
leg~timate line. Nest  claiming descrent from Ranjit  Singh were 
Sher Singh and Tara Singh, alleged twin sons of Mehtab Koiir, 
danghter of Sada Kour. Having long been childless, Mehtab 
Hour hat1 been neglected by her h u b a n d ,  and in consequence the 
in~s te r fu l  mother-in-law's ~nfluence was declining. 

Being a person of decision and thoroughness, the oltl latly 
took steps to remecly the defect, by producing a couple of boys 
whom she alleged had been fathered by Ranjit  Singh, advantage 
being tnlien of the Maharajah's absence on the frontier to have 
the children born ; but, one of these, Slier Singh, had been bought 
from a dhobi, and tlie other, Tara Singh, fnom the wife of a Sikh 
carpenter. Though under no ~Llusions as to the parentage, Ranjit 
Singh's vanity was tickled at  being the fatlder of twins, eo he ac- 
cepted them us his oxn.  Sher Singh ultimately became Maha- 
rajah, but of 'I'ara Singh me hear nothing more. 

Seven years later the substitution trivk was again played by 
Dava Kour and Rattan Kour, other wives, who put forward 
Kashmirn Singh and Peshora Singh as twins, and Multana Singh. 
To add to these complications, another reputed son was brought 
forward in  1841, a set-off to the power of Sher Singh, this 
1)eing Dulip Singh, born in  February, 1837, to Rani $inclan, a 
girl whom Ranjit Singh n-as supposed to have married i n  1835. 
Though horn some years before Ranjit Singh's death, he was never 
tacitly, o r  othcrwirse: acknowledged by the ?/lalinraj:th, who knew 
that the real father was a water-carrier attached to the zenana, 
for from a very early age Rani Jindan was notorious, even slmongst 
Sikh women. W e  have therefore as claimants to royal honours:--( 

Kharak Singh, legitimate; Nau Nihal Singh, his son, and 
the alleged still-born son of the latter. 

Sher Singh and Tara Singh, Kashmira Singh, Peshora Singh 
and Multana Singh, all spurious. 

Lasitl-y, comes Dulip Singh, who ultimately became tho last 
Maharajah of the Punjab. 

Then we add to this multitude of claimants the Dogra 
brothers, Gulab Singh, Suchet Singh, and Dhian Singh, and the 
son of the latter, Hira Singh, al l  intriguing to obtain or retain 



place, and power, and to do so, to destroy all of Ranjit S ~ L I L ~ L ' ~  
descendants, real or reputed, in order to clear the way for R i r a  
Singh. 

Again add the two Ranis, Chand Kour and Jindan Kour, both 
as ambitious as immoral, th~eir numerous relatives and lovers, the 
aspirants to the Wazirat, and the heads of the important Sikh 
misls, dl of whom aspired to supreme power, and we have the 
most l)el-fect ingred;erits for a true witches' caulrlron. 

The centre of the tragic events commencing soon after the 
death of Ranjlt Singh was the old fort of Tlahore, built in Moghul 
times. It is a queer old place, from whose far-flung ramparts 
rise line upon line of lofty buildings, some embosoming superlative 
gems of architecture; side hy side with, or overplanted hy, ille 
grotesque creations, or dauhs, of the rude and iconoclnstic Sikh. 
Then now the panelled walls of the ouher palace show remains of 
the delicate and artistic ~rnn~rnentations, created hv professors of 
an art long vnn~shed, side by side with the grotesque paintings of 
the  Hindu mythology, sufficient of the former surviving to enahle 
us to ljictnre the splendour with which these ancient walls ?lowed 
beneath the summer sun. 

Here, after Ranjit Singh's death, Eharak Singh, a man of 
feeble ~ntellect,  callsled by excessive indulgenre in drink, drugs, 
and immoral vices, toolr up  his abode with Chait S inrh ,  who soon 
gained such an ascendancv over the feeble-minded Rajah as to 
render him the merest of puppets. As described in Gardiner's 
memoir, Chait Singh was murdered on the 8th October, 1839. 
KharaI< Singh was deposed, and 'it is said, poisoned hv his son a 
pear later, ml~ilst Nau Nihal Sinph himself was killed on the 
5th November, 1840, i t  is said, accidentally, when returning from 
his father's pvre. 

Deposition, death, accident, or intent havina within 18 
months eliminatetl two  maharajah^, Chand Konr was, h-y the as- 
cendant Sindhanwalla faction, installed as Regent, on hehnlf of 
the experted posthnmons son of Nan Nihal Sinyh. Dhian Sinrh', 
then Wazir, stood out for the claim of Sher Sinqh, offirming that 
the Sikh sect of warriors would never accept a female Regent'. 
Bowever, he wna voted down. and appnrentlv acquiescinlr i n  the 
resolution, withdrew to Jammu, to wait his opportnnitv. whilst 
on his aclvice, Sher Singh retired to his jaghir st R a t ~ l n ,  nhont 
70 miles from Lahore. 

To the ordinary observer, the policy of the Dopas  ronlil 
appear to have heen ~ar r i c ida l ,  as  well aa fratricidal, for Cfulnb 

B B ~  



Siugh championed Chand Eour, and was supported in this by Hird 
Singh. But i t  was only apparently so, for though on opposite 
sides, the Dogras were not of them, but only adhered the better to 
bend them to  their interest, or betray if occasion served, and ~ p -  
portunity required, for in  all  their tortuous intrigues the com- 
mon Uogra interest was undeviatingly pursued. 

Dhian Singh left agents provided with ample funds, who 
were charged to insinuate themselves into, and gxiu the support 
of the troops for Sher Singh, whilst the latter, who was esteemed 
by the principal European officers, managed to persuade them to 
abstain from active participation in the incoming strife, a promise 
which all were willing to give, as relieving them from the fear 
of reprisals. This accounts for what has puzzled some historians, 
who hare commented on the absence of the principal European 
officers from the siege of Lahore Fort. Ventura, returning to 
report his success in the Mandi and Eu lu  hills, arrived at  Batala 
early in January, and had a long interview with Sber Singh. 

R e  then passed on to Lahore, where he was asked by the Rani 
to assume command in the event of operations against Sher Singh 
--a request to which he evaded a direct reply. On the morning 
of the 13th January, Sher Singh wlth three hundred horsemen un- 
expectedly arrived at  Avitabile's house on the Budh-ka-Awa, and 
took possession of it. The situation was ideal, for the mound com- 
manded the adjacent cantonnlents ancl the road from Amritsar. 
Henceforth, this house became the hatching-place of all the sub- 
versire and murderous plots of the anarchy, and the headquartere 
of the pnncbes, or army councils who ruled the soldiers and dic- 
tated their policy. It has now been demolished (1917). 

To the west was situated the cantonment of Naulakha, to the 
east that  of Begumpura (Moghulpura), and to the south-east 
that of Mian Mir. Court's brigade, which took the most prominent 
part In the subsequent operations, was stationed at  Begumpura, 
and this bocly, together with the others who subsequently joined 
it, made up a .strength of about 25,000 infantry and cavalry, with 
one hundred guns. 

Immediately after his  arrival, the leading European officers 
present tenderer1 their respects to Sher Singh, and the adherence 
of the Sikh o5cers was secured by the natural method. But for 
Rome reawn, probahly an intentional one, the arch-conspirator, 
Ilhian S ingh ,  did not appear, and as his function was to act aa 
security for, or provide the funds, for bribery, his absence was 
ominous, and appeared to be calamitous. However, Jawala Singh, 
a n  aspirant for the Wazirat, came forward and persuaded Sher 



Siugh to let him supply Dhian Singh's place, assuring him that  
the absence was intentional, the Wazir having either betrayed the 
cause or withdrawn his support. 

The offer was gladly accepted, for time was short, and money 
all important. Immediately Jawala Singh interviewed the prin- 
cipals, and by the distribution of two lalrhs in ready cash, and 
the promise of an increase of pay from lis. 8 to Rs. 12 per month 
secured the enthusiastic support of the troops, who signified their 
adhellence by firing 100 guns, the booming of which announced to 
the :~larmetl cit~zens of Ilahore that tragic events were impending. 

Meanwhile, Gulab Singh, seconded by Hira Singh, also took 
action. His first step was to parade his personal tmops, compris- 
ing some battallions of hillmen, and ten guns, the latter under 
Gardiner, and move out to attack Sher Singh, whom he wished to 
keep out of Lahore until the arrival of Dhian Singh, for i t  was 
important to the Dogra interests that they should appear to be 
the leading spirits on both sides. If Sher Singh succeeded with- 
out Dhisri Singh's aid, he might afterwards disdain it, whilst 
Jawala Singh, who had been marked by the brothers as danger- 
ous, i i ~ g h t  also succeed to the Wazirat, thus kereping out the most 
able of the Dagrn brothers from a very important post. 

ITon-ever, he had barely nioved off when the salute announcing 
the adhesion of the troops to Sher Singh was heard, so he fietired 
into the fort, and  garrilsoning it with his own men, closed the 
gates, placing guns behind each. He then assembled the troope 
already in the fort, and selecting such as he thought tn~stwortliy, 
disarmed the remainder, comprising some 1,200 Silrhs of the regll- 
lar army, who were imprisoned in the vaults, under the citadel, 
and o~-erav-erl ?IT guns placed at the only two doorways leading 
therefrom. 

He then visited the Badshahi Mosque, at  the further end of 
the Hazuri Ragh Garden, which was ut,ilized as the main magazine 
of the troop8 at  Ifihore, and guarded by two battalions of Sikhe 
of the regular army. Amongst these he distributed money and 
promises, and then passed around the city walls, acting in like 
manner with the guards at every gate and bastion, obtaining from 
all an oath of fidelity OIA the appropriate synlhol of their religion 
(mnny were Mnssalnians). I t  is said that  he distributed about 
t1i1-ee lnlihs of rupees. ]\one of which, however. wag his own money, 
Tt h:i \- l i ig h e n  talcen f ron~  the state trensure stored in the Moti 
M ~ R J I ~ .  



Finally, on returning to the fort, he assembled the garrisod 
and presented each man with a douceur of four months' pay, and 
a further promise of an equal amount,, should the defence prove 
sucoessf ul. 

As Gulab Singh quitted the city by the northern gate, Sher 
Singh entered it by the western, and passing round to each post 
in his turn, suborned the garrisons of these and the Badshahi 
Mosque by still heavier bribes. It is said tha t  he expended some 
four lakhs <of rupees, so as the troops had received about 270,000 
amongst them, they may well have been said to have done very 
well. 

Sher Singh having no use for mounted troops in  the attack 
on the fort, sent them into the city, with the double purpose of 
finding them occupation and ensuring the fidelity of the garrison, 
who would just as easily have sold Sher Singh back to Gulab Singh 
as  they had betrayed Gulab Singh to him. No sooner had they 
entered the city than they commenced to loot, and being joined 
by the garrison of the malls, the city became during the night a 
saturnalia of murder, ~ l u n d e r ,  fire and outrage. The principal 
bazars were plundered, the shops of the merchants and traders 
mere hoken open and such as objected, or resisted, were thrown 
into the flames of their burning houses. 

A few hours before dawn the tumult ceased, and until dawn 
the city bay quiet, whilst the satiated soldiery snatchetl n 
brief repose. Meanwhile, over the grey old walls of the fort 
brooded the still and ominous silence, which precedes an expected 
attack a t  dawn. Jus t  as the faint streaks showed i n  the eastern 
skies, the watchers on the mall caught a faint hum from the east, 
which soon resolved itself into the rumble of artillery and the 
tramp of innumerable feet, as Sher Singh's army, suppleme1lted 
tjy Aka l~s  and the corrlbined rascality of the city poured along the 
road from the Uudh-ka-Awa. 

Dimly through the dust and faint light of the dawn showed 
the glare of innumerable torches, reflected from the bared bayo- 
nets and swords of the Khalaa soldiery. Presently the leading file 
of the oncoming host caught the loom of the walls of the fort, and 
hurat ou t  into deafening cries of "Wah Gur-uji ki Fateh ! " which 
were answeretl by the host converging on the fort from the oppo- 
~ i t e  sitleq of the city and the Anarkali cantonment. No sound 
came from the fort,, nor was shot fired, even whilst the vocifer- 
011s ho5t debouched on to the glacis, and open spaces surrounding 
the fort, nor even while they arranged their artillery, now 
nwollen to 160 guns, on all  ides of it. 
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Only the occasional gleam of matchlock, or port-fire through' 
the loop-holes, or embrasures betrayed the existence of armed men 
within. But though not apparent, all  was prepared, and each 
loop-hole was manned by three soldiers, one of whom was to fire, 
vhilst the others passed on loaded muskets. The gates on the 
eastern and western sides had been barricaded by overturned 
bullock carts without, and within by guns loaded to the muzzle 
with musket bullets and slugs. 

Still, silence reigned over the fort. So puzzled a t  this con- 
temptuous indifference Sher Singh directed his guns to fire a round 
of blank. Still no answer ; wh,ereupon the drums beat a parley, 
in  response to which Gulab Singh appeared on the  ramparts above 
the Hazuri Gate, and inquired the terms. I n  response to the 
demand for unconditlonal surrender, he returned the answer that 
Rajput honour forbade a bloodless one, and stepped down to avoid 
the volley whioh replied. 

Then, the besieging artillery opened fire a t  the ramparts and 
the foot of the walls, allswered very effectually by the match- 
locks of the garrison, and as the gunners were in the open, less 
than s hundred yards away, they fell fast. Within a couple of 
houls the guns stood silent, the gunners and cattle, who by 8 

criminal carelessness or indiiference had not been withdrawn, piled 
dead in heaps beside and around them. The last battery to be 
abandoned was one lof heavy guns, which delayed its inevitable 
fate by a despicable ruse, for gathering some 200 women from 
within the city, they disposed them around the guns. 

For a time the defenders forbore to fire on the women, till 
presently finding that the walls were crumbling under the fire of 
these sixty-pounders, they opened fire, but were so sltilful in 
marlcsmanship that only a few women were killed, whilst the 
whole of the gunners met the fate they richly deserved. 

By noon the bonlbard~ncnt had ceased. Around the fort stood 
the circle of silent guns, around which i t  is said that no less than 
2,000 dead men lay, accompanied by some thousand cattle. So 
they stootl till nightfall, when the besiegers stole forward and 
removed the guns, though losing more men in so doing. The 
guns were then formed into 1)atteries within the city edge. a i d  
for two more days the a t t ~ ~ l i  contjnued, though on two sides only. 
But with no more success, for though prnrticn1,le breaches vere 
made, and pal tie* sent forward to stornl, a l l  ilieltetl nw;:y hefore 
the withering fire of ilie hesiegctl. 

For t,wo (lays longer the siege continued, until on the 17th 
Januarjr Sher Singh directed t.he cessation of attack, whilst 
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escorted by Ventura, van Cortlandt, and eome other European 
officers, he entered the city in state, and was proclaimed ruler of 
the Punjab a t  the Mosque of Wazir Khan. The day after, Dhian 
Singh arrived from Jammu, and the intention of delaying the 
surrender of the fort until his arrival having been accomplished, 
Gulab Singh opened negotiations, and finally surrendered on 
honourable terms. 

That  evening the garrison stole out. Each of 500 sowars car- 
ried a bag of 200 gold mohurs, and the tumbrils and ammunition 
carts, 16 in  number, were loaded up  with treasure. It waa said 
that  even the guns were crammed full of it. A great number of 
valuable Kashmir shawls and a quantity of the Court jewels xere 
also taken. 

By non- the Ehalsa troops had found out the depletion of the 
treasury, and made up their mind to attack, but on finding tha t  
Gulab Singh had been reinforced by 6,000 men from Jammu, 
they decided not to do so. Hos~ever, a few days later, taking no 
chances he departed with his troops to Jammu. 

Meanwhile, the stench from the bodies lying exposed around 
the fort was so great that a pestilence being feared, orders were 
given to burn the dead, and both an~mals  and men were cast on 
to the funeral pyres made from wood torn down from the housee 
in the city. Even the wounded who had lived through these 
dreadful days, were thrmrn alive on to the pile by their barbaroue 
comrades, who first r o b h d  and stripped them. Then the troope 
turned their attention to the city, and all those whose hands be- 
trayed kridence of a clerkly calling were ruthlessly murdered in 
revenge for the peculations made from the pay of the troops by 
themselves for their relations. 

The spirit of ferment, revolt, and murder spread throughout, 
even to Kashmir, Mandi and Eulu,  and from henceforth the 
soldiery ruled absolute. After a tim~e they settled down to a 
chronic state of in~l jsc i~l ine ,  tempered by sporadic mutinies, until 
the establishment of the panches, or soldiers' councils, snbstitatcd 
bargaining with the abler few to that with the multitude. 

'l'he license of the army ~prend throughout the domillion ; 
hanrlq of armed robbers, and the ever turbulent Akalis robbed and 
roamer1 everywhere. T~ocal feurls mere reiived, and settled by 
armed atrife, each sitle hiring :IS many robbers as it could afford. 
T h e  army, who in ordinary tinles acted as police and enforced the 
collection of *venue, declinerl to do either, or anything but take  



part in any enterprise or strife promising immediate profit. Rob-. 
bery, assassination, and murder existed everywhere, and the will 
of th~e strongest became the law. 

At the Court the Maharajah and his satellites abandoned 
themselves to license and debauchery, until presently Sher Singh 
awoke to the necessity of guarding what he had won, and then a 
series of plots, intrigues, and assassinations were commenced. 
Behind all these lurked the sinister figures of the Dogra brothers, 
human spiders who spun an erer-increasing web of triplle and even 
quadruple treachery, the tangled meshes of mhich ultimately in- 
volvetl and destroyed three of them. 

'l'he first to h~ sent to the unknown bourn mas Jawala Singh, 
whose activities had marked him out' as dangerous to thk Dogras. 
The safest of all measnres was death, and to compass this Dhian 
Singh instilled suspicion and distrust into Sher Singh's mind, 
and this becoining evident, dawala Singh left the fort. He  was 
summoned to return, but refusied to do so, whereupon an over- 
whelming force was sent against him, and himself captured. On 
account of his influence and importance, open murder was not ex- 
pedient, so he was confined in a dungeon at  Sheikhupura, and 
there beaten and starved to death. 

The next to be remo~ed  was Chand Eour, the d d o w  of Kharak 
Singh, whose wealth and influence had rendered her dangerouq tc 
the reigning prince, while she had also been engaged in intrigues 
with the British, to whom she had deputed Ajit Singh with an 
offe~. of n sis-nnnn share in the revenues of the Punjab, and an  
aclrnon-ledgment, of suzerainty in return for her k i n g  placed on 
Ihe throne by a Hritish force. 

But the clisastrous result of interference in Afghanistan had 
left the Go~ernment of India poor both in money and reputation, 
though rlch in an experience mhich made then1 very chary of 
similar enterprises. The negotiations leaked out, and also wrnth- 
fnl a t  her scornful rejection of his ofl'er of marriage, Sher Singh 
bribed two of her female attenclants to kill her, mhich they did by 
clropplng a stone on her head ns she l ay  in her sunlien bath. But 
the punishment of the women was not delayed, for being arrested 
hy n sentry as they were 1e:r~ing the house, 0x1 account of their 
snsp~ciona dernennonr, their tongues were cut out, and hands and 
ea1-s (,lit off. The!- w w r  illen put across the Ravi, where t h y  
speethly (lied. 

Though perfecbtly an-nre that the Sitld11;111\\-allns had heen the 
instruii~ents of Chnnd Konr's intriglies, Sher Singh, n t  D h i i ~ ~  
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Singh's intercession, forgave them, and took them into favour. 
Of course, Dhian Slngh's motives were ulterior, the brothers being 
only placed there to remove Sher Singh a t  a favourable oppor- 
tunitv. But they were just as cunning as the Dogra Rajah, anil 
realised that once they had ceased to  be useful to him, their own 
end mould be swift. Accordingly, they decided to remove both. 

Firstly, Sher Singh was induced to give sanction to the 
murder of Dhian Singh, by re~lresenting that  Dhinn SinKh bad 
promised the Sindhanwallas a jaghir of sixty lakhs, for his re- 
moval, and other inducements, such as the Regency and Wazirat. 
They produced documents, whether forged or not we cannot say, 
bearing llhian Singh's signature, and incensed st this, Sher 
Singh signed another document authorising the murder of Dhinn 
Singh. Armed wlth this, they presented themselves to Dhian 
Singh, and obtained his sanction to  the murder of Sher Singh, 
and a promise of personal immunity from anything they might 
do. 

The next step was to bribe the fort garrison, who were mostly 
Dhian S i n g h ' ~  own men, and to introduce amlongst them a number 
of their own adherents. All being ready, they now applied to Sher 
Singh for him to make the annual inspection of their jaghirdari 
troops, a t  which Dhlan Singh, in his capacity as Wazir, was also 
to be present to take the muster. This obtained, on the morning 
of the 15th September, 1842, the Sindhanwallas arrived at  the 
Shah Bilawal, the Garden Rouse of Sher Singh, a few miles ou t  
from Lahore. 

They brought with them i50 horsemen and 300 footmen, of 
whom the former were disposed to surround the enclosure, whilst. 
the latter were marched inside to the house, having previously 
been instructed as to their duties. Ajit  Singh, carrying a double- 
barrelled gun, loaded with dugs, then entered the room, in which 
Bher Singh sat, and offered the gun for inspection. But, as the 
Maharajah put out his hand to receive it, both barrels were Sred 
into his chest, whilst the soldiers fired through the doors and 
windows, and kllled the remainder. 

Meanwhile Tlehna Slngh had slaughtered Partab Singh, the 
tu-elve-year old son of the Maharajah, and then setting b d h  
heads on spears, the brothers and their escort slet out for Lmahore 
Fort,. About half-way they met Dhian Singh, with only n few 
attendants, and showing him the heads as token that the work had 
heen well (lone, they recluested him to return to the fort, and con- 
cert f l~r ther  measuree, to which, having no alternative in the face 
of 3 ~uper ior  force, he consented. 



As they entered the fort, all but one of Dhian Singh'e a& 
tendants was excluded by the guard, and surrounded by Ajit  
Singh's followers, Dhian Singh, side by sidle with Ajit  Singh, 
trooped up on to the fort parade-ground. Here they halted, 
whilst Ajit  Singh took Dhian Singh's hand, and asked him a ques- 
tion as to the Regency, not receiving a favourable answer, he 
crooked his finger as a signal to the man behind the Wazir, 
whereupon a blunderbuss, also charged with slugs was discharged 
into his back, killing him instantly. The sole follower, who 
attempted to make a resistance, was also cut down, and both 
a-ere thrown into the rubbish heap at  the fort gun-foundry. 

Ajit Singh's action was precipitate, for i t  had been his 
brother's intention to make Dhian Singh t~ piisoner and under some 
pretext inveigle Hira Singh and Suchet Singh into the fort and 
dispose of all three together. However, making the best of the 
matter, he sent out a messenger with an escort of 600 men, to 
request them to come in for a conference. But, before the mes- 
senger arrived, the news of the triple murder had reached the Bndh- 
ka-Awa, and taking immediate action, Suchet Singh had sent out 
to summon the troops from the adjacent cantonments. 

The messenger turned hack,  i ~ n t l  OII reaching tlle fort, pre- 
parations were made for defence. Meanwhile, the panches had 
assembled at  Avitabile's house, and were addressed by Hira Singh. 
Casting his sword and turban before them, he called ~ p o n . t h e m  as 
representatives of the soldiers to avenge the murders. He de- 
nounced the intrigues of the Sindhanwallas, whom he asserted 
were ready to hand over the Punjab to the British, and reduce the 
Hhalsa soldier to a mere labourer for the benefit ~f the " white 
faces." He asserted that their religion would be prohibited, their 
privileges cuF'tailed, and other arguments to a like eft'ect. 

To all of this the panches listened unmoved, until seeing that 
other inducements were necessary, he changed his tactics ; he iIp- 
pealed to them cuyiditp. Each man was promised a pair of gold 
bracelets, a bonus of a month's pay, and an increase of pay with 
the plunder of the fort, 2nd the Sindhanwall;~s thronn i n .  

This was sufficient ; and only waiting to h a ~ e .  the promise 
confirmed on the Granth, the panches sped down to carry the glad 
news. Inlmediately the diui11s bent to nlhnls, and such was the 
haste of the soldiers that they scorned the suggestion of waitirlg 
till  the morn, or even for the evening meal, then preparing-. 
Cooking pots were overturned, fires estinguished, and the haste 
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of the lak?gards stimulated su by musket butts and sword flatats 
tha t  within an  hour 40,000 men were on their way to the fort. 

aeanwhile, the Sindhanwallas had made every effort to bribe 
the garrison of the city and the Hazuri Bagh, but though these 
took the money and promised support, they intended to do 
nothing, 50 tha t  thle Sindhanwallas could depend only on their 
own adherents in  the fort. Jus t  after sunset, Hira Singh's force, 
with about 100 guns, mostly of small calibre, arrived a t  Lahore, 
occupied the city, and commenced the siege of the fort. Through- 
out the night the continuous throbbing of the clmms, the booming 
of the .cannon, and the rattle of musketry kept pace with the 
tumult in  the city, where as Zefore the troops robbed, burnt, and 
outraged unrestrained. 

By nes t  morning, little effect was visible on the fort walls, 
nor was much more made until Hira, S n g h  offered substantial re- 
wards to the gunners, who, redoubling their efforts by nine of the 
next day effected a practicable breach, through which the fort 
was storn~ed, and the whole of the garrison put to the 3n7ol'd. 
The heads of Lahna Singh and Ajit  Singh, being cut off, were 
taken to the funeral pyre, whereon sat the women. The head of 
S j i t  Singh rras placecl in  the lap of the principal widow, who h i d  
waited two (lays for it ,  and then promising t o  convey the wishes 
of Hirn Fingh to his clecensed Father, she gave the s ignal  for the 
pile to be lit .  

  he' whole of the fort build~nps and the Royal tluarters xere 
looted of everything removable, a~ i t l  having clone so, the troops 
turned their attention once more to the city, wherein the;i ~ l u n -  
dered for t ~ o  further days; when satiated, they retired to their 
cantonments, loaded with plunder. The infant,  Dalip Sinffh, WaJ 

now proclaimed Maharajah, with Hira Singh as Wazir. 
W e  now enter upon a new act, with fresh principals. Hira 

Singh, though \ jV:rxi i - ,  x a s  only ~romlnally so, his every action 
being supervised and directed hy n Pundit named ~ u l l a ,  wb'o 
Rharerl with Sllchet Singh the n-:\I-ering affections of the Rani 
.Tinclan, who, however, favoured Suchet Singh, and only utilisea 
Yuntlit .Julln to further her project of displacing Hira Singh in 
favour of his uncle. I n  this plot she ~vas  aided by her hrother, 
.Jowah~r Singh, whose own aim was to calear away both, and him- 
~ c l f  occupy the Wazirnt. 

1'1lnrlit .Tnlla very rjoon fathomed the intention, and warning 
Hira Singh, rhanjyd hiq affection for his uncle to a rancoroue 
hatred. T)irc.or~l.ing the changed attitude, Suchet Singh, through 
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-Jowahir Singh, appealed to the trcops to depose H i r a  Singh on the  
ground of his ill-treatment of the Maharajah and his mother, and 
elevate himself to ihe post. Jomahir Singh took advantage of a 
great review of the troops outside the fort to do so, bu t  having no  
substantial inducements to offer a t  the moment, was not only un- 
successful, but abused by Jodha Rain, formerly the dewan of 
Avitsbile, who had now succeeded to  the conimand of Avitabile's 
brigade. Not content with abuse, Jodha Ram committed the un- 
pardonable offence of striking Jowahir Singh in  the facle with a 
shoe, an  indiscretion he atoned for in  the encl by the loss of his 
nose, ears, and thumb, a t  the bands of Gardinier. 

Jomahir Singh was banished to Amritsar, and Suchet Singh 
directed to quit Lahore, taking with him his personal troops. We 
now leave Lahore for a time to  relate what was happening 
elsewhere. Peshora Singh and Kashmira Singh having mustered 
a force of their own in retellion, were too dangerous to be left a t  
liberty. They were first apprehended and fined Rs. 20,000, bu t  a 
fresh pretext belng given by their murder of a servant, who had 
given information to the Durbar,  Gulab Singh was directed to 
bring them in  to Lahore as prisoners. 

They had taken refuge iln their fort  a t  Sialliot, upon which 
two attempts failed. A third by Gardiner being more succes~fui,  
the princes were induced to surrender the fort, and mere theu 
brought prisoners to Lahore, where they were stripped of every- 
thing and turned adrift  to join a band of wandering Akalis, with 
whom we may leave them for a time. 

Meanwhile, the troops were squeezing H i r a  Singh to  the 
ntmost, and seized the prztext of his ill-treatment of Ranj i t  
Singh's reputed sons to extract a fine of Rs. 10,000 from him. A 
further reason for their dislike was tha t  Pundit  Ju l la ,  realising 
that  the Sikhs were a t  the bottom of all  the trouble, had a'iebanded 
several regiments, and replaced them by more docile Poorbeaha 
and hill-men. E e  had also in  the interests of economy dismissed 
all the European officers, with the exception of Holmes and 
Ranara,  who being in  Hazara, were left alone. 

At  his wits' end for Inorhey with which to pay the troops, and 
meet the expenses of the Court, Hirn Singh and his adviser in- 
curred further nnpopularity by collecting heavy arrears of ret-e- 
nne, generally tightening up  the svstjem, which as i t  pressed most 
heavily on the nobles and sirdars, embittered them also. They 
conspired to approach the army, with a view of installing Suchet 
Slngh, and for  t,bis purpose the panches extracted a substnntid 



adrance. They then approaached Hira Singh, and sold the plot 
to him for a larger bribe, the result being that  when Suchet Singh, 
thinking dl was well, came into Lahore, he wag first turned out 
of their vsnton~aents hv thc troops, and later, at  Hira Singh's 
request, attarketl by the troops and murdered. 

Once more the two princes, Kashmira Singh and Peshora 
Singh, appear on the scene, together with the last of the Sindhan- 

walla ?IT-others, Attar Singh, also an aspirant to the Wazirat. He 
rol'erted a fairly large force, and attaching it to another under - 
Bawa Rir Singh, n wandering guru, who held control of s well- 
armed forre of 1,500 Alrnlis and several guns, which, by the acces- 
sion of Attar Singh and other followers, was brought up to 5,000. 

Prompted by Attar Singh, the Bawa gave out that  the succea- 
sion to the throne, and the appointment of ministers, was the pr+ 
rogative of the gurus, and in pursuan-e of this yoliry, proscribed 
the Llogra rajahs and their adherents as traitors, whom no means 
should be spared to destroy. Naturally, the news prompted Hira 
Singh to fresh efforts, so once more t h ' ~  panches were summoned 
ant1 their support secured by the custoruary means. The army 
u-as then marched against the Bawa, whose forces were engaged 
near Ferozepore, the result being the defeat of the rebels with the 
loss of Attar Slngh, Kashmira Singh, the Bawa himself, 500 sol- 
diers, ancl 200 women and children, who were drowned in 
attempting to escape. 

The rich plunder of the Bawa's camp satisfied the troops for 
it t i ~ n e ,  and they remained quiescent. Meanwhile, anarchy antl 
confusion reigned elsewhere. Though a certain amount of revenue 
was collected, very little of it reached the treasury, most being 
absorbecl by the troops and the officials engaged in the collection. 
Law, or the administration of justice, ~ract ica l ly  ceased, for the 
oficials not receiving any pay, ceased to attend to their duties. 
The police duties were also dormant, for most of them had been 
done by the army, who declined to leave Lahore for fear of losing 
opportunities. 

This scarclty of money seriously damaged Hira Singh's popu- 
larity with the troops and the Court officials, and it became necea- 
sary to obtain more in order to keep the former pacified. Once 

more an effort wa8 made to recover the arrears due from the sir- 
dars, antl thege measures, ooupled with Hira Singh's own Rrro- 
gance, soon made both him and hie family, thoroughly unpopu- 
lar ,  and accelerated their inevitable fate. 



A new lover in the person of La1 Sillpli, the l31.ahinan trea- 
surer, had been taken up by Rani Jindan, and though this  
person owed his elevation to Dhian Singh, he clisliked the D o g r : ~ ~ ,  
and was only too willing to aid in the dowilfall of Hira Singh, 
eren though lie had exchanged turbans with him (a mark of 
thorough trust). Meanwhile Jlowahir Singh had managed to gain 
the supl~ort of a portion of the troops, and especially that  of the 
Alralis, the most turbulent section of the populace. 

Matters were thus balanced when Pundit Ju l la  made the 
nlistalre (of publicly insulting and abusing the Maharajah, the 
Rani, and Jownhir Singh on the occasion of a public religious 
function. This angered the troops and dltalis considerably, and 
when the next day, a ueview was arranged, Jowahir Singh and 
Hira Bingh's faction almost came to blows. However, the un- 
convincing result of the quarael and the sullen attitude of many 
of his own supporters convinG.ed Hira Singh and the Pundit that  
they had outstayed their welcome, and should seek safety in 
speedy flight. 

Accordingly, ton the afternoon of the 22nd NOT-(ember, 1844, 
they secretly left Lahore for Jammu, with five relephants loaded 
with treasure, mostly gold illohurs and rupees. That their de- 
parture mas timely was notified by the fact that  as they left the 
western gate, the guns of the fort 1)oomeci out a salute in honour 
of the elevation of Jowahir Singh to the Wazirat. The guard at 
the gate having notified their exit, a great body of horse followed 
in hot pursuit, and overtoolr them some miles from Lahore on the 
o t h e ~  s~cle of the river Ravi. 

I n  rain did R i r s  Singh cut open his money bags, and scatter 
c z s l i r ~ a f i s  along the road, but the soldiers disdained to stay for these, 
and sped all the faster to the source of the treasure. The fleeing 
cavalcade was lovertalten and for six miles a running fight con- 
tinued, m~hicli ended in the death of Hira Singh, Julla, and SUCK 
of the escort as stayed to fight. The heads of the principals mere 
cut off, and set on spear heads, and their bodies piled on to a 
bulloclr cart, In which they nTene conveyed to Lahore and there 
cast to the dogs and jackals, at the Taxnli Gate. 

The head of Pundit Jul la  was paraded through the bazaar, 
as a peep-show, and a pice (farthing) extracted from every passeIc 
by. Finally, when tired, the bearers threw the head to the 
jaclrals. Those of Hira Singh and his principal adherent9 were 
made over by the Rani  to one of the sirdars, who burned them on 
the spot where Suchet Singh had been cremated. 
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The principal tragedians now appearing were Jowahir Singh, 
Rani  Jinclan, and her lover, La1 Singh, with Gulab Singh in  the 
back-ground, ever ready to appear when his interest prompted. 

For  their services on this occasion, the troops received a gold 
bangle each, and the panches a gold nlecklace, the treasury being 
ransacked to provide the material. The soldiery were now com- 
~ a r a t i v e l y  wealthy for the anarchy hacl  reva ailed during four 
years, and drained the resources of the country, to  their advantage, 
as whatever faation came into power, owed it to their support 
and paid liberally for i t .  

After a time no new trouble transpiring, the troops became 
restless, so to pacify and employ them, an expedition mas under- 
taken against Gulab Singh, who for some offence had been 
fined three lakhs of rupees. H e  had not only evaded payment, hut 
the summons to Lahore, folr he knew perfectly well the risk oE 
R U C ~  a proceeding, so that  the need feor money being urgent, the 
troops were sent to collect it. But first a sirdar expressed h ~ s  
willingness to go on in  advance, and was permitted to do so o r  
the  understanding that  i f  Gulab Singh made over the fine to  him, 
no further proceedings would be taken. 

The sirdar mas well received, the money was duly paid over 
t o  him, and he was despatched to Lahore with a small escort. 
But ,  a few m ~ l e s  out from Jammu, he was ambushed, and to- 
gether with all his men, killed by Gulab Singh's myrmiclons, who 
regained the treasure, with interest in  the shape of the sirdar's 
personal property and the plunder of his men. The news reach- 
ing  the army, they mere infuriated, but Gulab Singh sent a 
messenger who bought them ofl for a sum of Rs. 25 per head, in 
return for which, and promises of more, they promised to oust 
Jowahir Singh ant1 install the Dogra. 

However, on arrival a t  Lahore this promise was evaded, fo r  
neanmhlle Jowahir Singh hacl also paid lip, so the result mas s 
stalemate. But,  the Rani took advantage of his presen:e to fine 
him thie sum of Rs. 68 lakhs, this being the value of the property 
belonging to Hira  Singh, Suchet Singh, and Dhian Singh, all of 
which wlth the exception of some lakhs left a t  Ferozepur by 
Suchet Singh, was considered escheated to the state. He  was 
then permitted to depart ; needless to say the money was never 
paid i n .  

'l'o add to p~ l i t i ca l  troubles, in .4pril and May, 1845, an out- 
break of cholera carried oil 20,000 of the :ivil population of 
Jlahore and Amrjtsap. 'J'he numher of solrliere was nleo great, 
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for the news-writer records tha t  on May 2fith, 1845, 5,000 owncr- 
less muskets were sent into the fort, :tnd with them 320 pou~ltls 
weight of gold bangles, recovered from the dead bodies. How 
many more were not recovered nlay be imagined. 

There was now but  one of Ranj i t  Singh's reputed sons fitill 
Jeft, l'eshora S ~ n g h ,  who was induced by Gulab Singh to go to 
Lahore ancl endeavour to stir  11p the troops against Jownhir Singh. 
H e  was permitted to enter the camps, but  on being reqlzestail to  
put  clom-n the mcney, had to confess tha t  i t  was not with him, so 
the troops contemptnously drove him out with the order tha t  he 
was not to return without a substantial amount as earnest money. 
T'esliorn Singh returned to Siallrot, where he obtained two ball.- 
lions from Cinlalo Singh, who, however, clederted him on finding 
tha t  there nras no money fcrthcoming. 

I'eshors Singh had better luck a t  St tock,  where he incluced s 
number of Yathans to join him, with their aicl managing to intar- 
cept 11s. G Iakhs of treasure being sent u p  as payment for the 
troops a t  Peshawar, and then to talre Attock Fort.  On this Lc- 
c~or~l ing  I<nown, a force was sent out from Lahore, but  on arrival, 
f i nd ing  the fort too strong to take h j .  fair means, they resorted 10 
foul, and by means of fcrged doruments I-,romising immunity and 
safe conduct, induced J'eshora Singh to surrender. H e  had no 
soouer done so than they took him prisoner, and confined him in 
irons in a dungeon I~encath the river-level, in  n-hich lle nTas 
strangled by a man sent up  from Lahore by ,Jowahir 8:ngh. 

Once more free from dnng-er, the Rani ,  her paraulour, and 
Ihe Court ahailcloned themselves to the utmost license. Drunken- 
ness, debauchery in  general. and i r n i n o ~ a l i t ~  reached heights 
hardly touched by even Ranji t  Singh. 'The scum of the bazars, 
the barracks and stables were the favourites of the moment. De- 
.cent> 1 ~ ~ 1 s  ignored or l o ~ ~ : . n t t ( ~ n .  Tile excesses of n Coin~no~lns or  
a Messalina were repeated with eastern embroidery, and matters 
became so bad that  all  decent people avoided the Court as they 
would a pestilence. 

The murder of Peshora Singh afforded the army a pretext for 
extrapt i l~g more inoney from Jowahir Singh, or i f  he could not 
pay up, replacing him by one who could. The panches were us- 
senltlletI a t  Lsoore, and Jo~vah i r  Singh was arraigned on several 
charges, of misgovernment and embezzlement or wastefulness of 
public money, the true reason for the latter charge being tlint 
the alailiy thougat it  niight better have beer1 speut upon them- 
selves. Ho\vever, i t  was decided thnt Jowahir Singh should have 
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an opport.unity of defending h'imself, but as he failed to respond 
to the summlons to appear before the panches, these condemned 
him to death in  default. 

Having possession of the fort, he shut himself up in t h i ~ ,  
relying upon the support of the two battalions which had beeu 
raised by Gardiner for him. His  reliance was misplaced, for 
these two, including their commander, had submittecl to the orclers 
of the panches, and were now not his guards, but his jailors. He 
a1q)ealed to Gardiner, but was assured that  there was absolutely 
no hope of escape, and exhorted to meet his inlevitable death lilre 
n man. Frantic with fright he tried gate after gate of the fort, 
offering everything i n  his power i f  the guards would permit him 
to escape, but though they toolr the Rs. 50,000 he offered, they 
refused to permit him to go. 

So matters went on for a couple of days. On the 21st of 
September, 1845, the army, tirecl of waiting, assenlbled on thc 
plain at  Mian Mir, about six miles fro111 Lahore, and  deputed an 
esrort of four battalions to bring Jowahir Singh to their preseuce. 
Having been warned, Jowahir Slngh diecided to meet the trouble 
half-way, and escorted by his own two battalions, or perhaps, 
gunrdecl by them, set out to Mian Mir. The procession consisted 
of four elepl~ants, the leading one carrying Jowahir Singh slid the 
Maharajah, and the others, some of his adherents and the Ram's 
slaves and companions. Half-way they were met by the brigade 
from JIian Mir, and theae, turning around, proceeded towards the 
place where tne army, numbering over 30 battalions of infantry, 
stood an-alting them. 

A, t$hey calr~e to the right of the lline, the first two batta- 
lions presented arms, and encouraged by this demonstration of seem- 
ing  friendliness, Jourahir Singh and the Rani moved on with more 
confidence. But this was misplaced, for as ibey reached the 
centre of the line, the drums beat and the centre battalion ~noved 
forward ancl separated into two parts, one of which surrounded 
Jowahir Singh's elephant, and the other those of the Rani. 
Hefore they dame close enough, Jowahir Singh gave the order to 
the Mahout to nkcelerate his speed, but as he did so a sdldier called 
upon him to halt. The Mahout did not obey, whereupon the 
fioldler put a bullet through bis shoulder, at  which rude re- 
minder he halted his e1el)hant and commancled it to kneel. 

'llhis eolclier, a man selected for his herculean phyeique and 
truculence, then climbed into the howdah, took the Maharajah 
from Jowahir Singh, and passed him down to his comrades, who 



made him over to  the Rani ,  and hurried her and her companions 
away behind the line, to where tents stood ready for them 
Meanwhile, announcing tha t  he was but carrying out th!e justlce 
of the Khalsa, the soldier drove his bayonet several times into 
Jowahir Singh's body, and then cast him over the sidie of the  
elephant, to the soldiers beneath, who speedily reduced the body 
to  a nlass of mutilated flesh. 

Several of the  sirdars were similarly treated, and the  whole 
of the bodies were thrown down outside the tent i n  which the 
Maharani and h,er women were eonfined. The next morning she 
was permitted to return to the fort ,  taking with her the dead 
body, which on the mlorning of the 22nd September was cremated, 
f o u r  of njs wives being burnt with i t .  The scene was attended 
by brutality and callousness unexampled even a t  this period, for 
to such a pitch had the rapacity of the soldiers attained, t h a t  the 
suttees, who befone were loolced upon as of peculiar sanetitfly, were 
now molested, insulted, and robbed as  they passed along to the 
funeral plile. 

I t  was the dustom tha t  the women should distribute their 
personal belongings and jewels amongst the poor, hu t  on this occ.2- 
sion no such voluntary act was permitted, for the soldiers robbed 
the trays of jewels and clothing and even tore away the ear and 
nose-rinys of the suttees. One man even tore away the waist-band 
of one of the women's pyjamas, which was richly embroidered. 
This womzn stlood apon the pile, calling down curses and destrue- 
tion on the Khalsn, and prophesying their speedy dissolution. 
Her  ravings nrere speedily stopped, for one of the men came to the 
sidle and s t r u c ~  her down with the but t  of his musket. 

There being no aspirants for the Waeirat,  the  troops put  i t  
u p  to auction, and yet, dangerous as such a post was, there were 
bidders for i t .  Amongst thlese was Ra ja  La1 Singh, the Rani'e 
paramour, wh-o offered Rs. 15 per head to the soldiers, b u t  as there 
were others who bid higher, it was determined to  cast lots. Nven 
then i t  fell upon La1 Singh, but he and the others being unable 
to pay u p  the post fell in abeyance, except so fa r  as  the duties 
which the Rani  performed. 

The arrogance of the troops had now passed al l  bounds. 
Neither the Rani,  nor anyone else, could satisfy their demands, 
and i t  became a case of either destroying the army, or being 
destroyed by them. Preferring the former alternative, the Rani  
set u p  a campaign of mendacity against the Rritish, to whom she 
attributed the  intention of conquering the  Punjab,  and especially 
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disbanding the Khalsa army. Rumours were also spread tha t  the 
Hindustani soldiers of the  Cnmpany s e r e  disaffected, and only 
awaited tne opportunity of the Khalsa soldiery crossing the Sutlej 
to  cmmbine with them to  drive the European soldiers into the sea, 
and  share out the  plunder of Hindustan and the lower provinces. 

Tne  idea r a s  enthusiastically received by the soldiers, but 
not by the panches, who being wiser men. knew the real power of 
the  English, and the fate t ha t  tne Ehalsa army would ~nevitnhly 
meet. F o r  a t ime they held out, and it was not until the Rani  
reviled them as cowards and cast her petticoats st them tha t  they 
decided to  advance. Accordingly, on the 8 th  December, 1815, 
they crcssed the Sutlej  near Ferozepur, and within a few days the 
first of the battles which ended with the subjugation of the Punjab  
and  its passing to the English was fought a t  Moodkee. 

I n  conclusion, le t  us describe what  these p n c h e s  actually 
were. The panchayat, or village council, is a n  old institution in 
India,  and when Sher  Singh, wearied of the iinportunities of i l ~ e  
mob, announced tha t  he -A-oulrl only deal with deputations, the 
model of the panchayat was adapted to the army. Two men froin 
each company or battery were selected to form t,he regimental 
panch and  from these again another council was selected, who 
possessed extreme power, and carried out  a l l  negotiations. 

Bu t ,  though the panches superseded the officers in tbe regi- 
mental control, they did not do so in  dril l  and malmuvre, for the 
yarades, esercises, and t raining were carried out as regul:\rly a3 

ever, and though no deference was paid t,o the officers off pnrni!~ 
or field service, they were supreme on these occasions. It mas 
this  system tha t  took the British generals by surprise, for they 
anicipated a n  easy and blooclless victory over disorganised and 
unruly troops. 

How matters fell out,  history tells, for no army ever put  up 
a braver and better fight against the English in India  than did 
Chat of the Ehalsn regulars of Ranj i t  Singh, who owed lheir 
t ra ining to the European adventurers. 



APPENDIX 111 

ITINERARY OF A JOURNEY FROM PERSIA TO KABUI, N.4TlE 

IN THE YEAR 1826 3~ C L ~ U D E  AUGUSTE COURT 

The total distance from Yezd to Herat  is 200 parasangs (4 
miles to a parasang). Fro111 Yezd the road runs north-east to  
Toun, and from thence north to Herat.  Camel caravans, which 
are  the main users of this route, can make the journey in 35 to 40 
days. Horsemen can do i t  quite comfortably in  12 to 15 days, 
and even more co~nfortably by usirlg wheeled carriages, as the  
track runs acr'oss open and level plains. 

A t  each stage there are caravanserais, which were built by 
pious persons for the convenience of travellers and pilgrim3 to  
the  shrine of Imam Reza a t  Meshed, the capital of Khorasan. 
'l'here are also cisterns or wells a t  intermediate places, bu t  owing 
to  neglect of the plwvincial governors, they are, with few excep- 
tions, dry or fallen in. 

The plains are dry and arid, and so impregna,ted with sxlt- 
pet,re as to  appear from a distance a sea of salt. The plains of 
Aliabad, Shah Abbas, Shiras, and Tar i j  are immense tracts, the  
sole vegetation on which are n few plants which thrive in  saline 
soil. There are several rasges of low mountains, with easy slopes, 
the first being the sandy hills called the Rigks-Chatourans, which 
are about 50 parasangs from Herat. 

North-east from Yezd we cross the great desert of Kabis or 
Eermani,  to whose left extends another great salt desert. 'l'he 
desert of Kabis is skirted by the cities of Kachnn, Kom, Semnon, 
Torchis, Toun and Titbas, and according to  the inhabitants, is 
about 80 parasangs square. Near i ts middle are  the Biabonek 
mountains, the slopes of which have many villages, surroullded 
by cultivated land, whose fertility strikingly contrasts with the 
dreary aridity surrounding the  mountains. After leaving the 
Riglts-Chatournns, we cross the southern part  of Khorasnn, when 
making for Herat,  passing by Tnbas, which I believe to  be the 
Tabiana of the Greeks. 

I sunuise tha t  the country between this and Toun is their 
Pnrthanasia, artd the many reinnrlrable tombs to be met with na 
those of the Parthian kings. W e  nest  enter the Bs in  country, 



which extends up to the Guesik chain, and then comes more desert, 
extending almost up to Herat for a distance of about 40 parasangs. 
There are several mountain chains, mostly low and isolated on 
this  route. They are called the Hhegner Koh, the Kohda Koh, and 
the  Guesik mountains. A11 are of fair altitude, but extremely arid 
and barren, a characteristic which in  my opinion is a proof of rich- 
ness in  metals. 

It would pay to send a mineralogist to prospect this country, 
and I think he would make some useful discoveries. There is a 
lead mine near the village of Makhalon, about six parasangs north 
of Yezd. The Derind mountains show many traces of plumbago. 
The Posht Badam hills afford small quantities of gold dust, and 
near the town of Toun there is another lead mine. A copper mine 
is still worked on the reverse slope of the Khegner Koh, and there 
is a silver mine a t  a place called Shia Nogre. These mines are 
now abandoned on account of the excessive exactions of the Go- 
vernment, but would amply repay reopening. 

Between Bucherisk and Toun many large and beautiful 
agates may be found lying exposed on the surface, especially in 
the Shia Jerez district. Near the Castle of Fourk i~ a copper 
mine, which supplied the nietal for the clannon used in the fortjfi- 
cations of Birjan. The Guesik mountains afford plenty of sul- 
phur, and on the west side, near the shrine of Imam Reza, is a 
warm spring of mineral water, which is used as a place of medi- 
cinal pilgrimage. Here we saw multitudes of very poisonous 
snakes. 

On the hills extending from Rabat to Herat, a small thorny 
bush, from which is obtained the gum called "Taranjabln," much 
used in Persian medicine, was very plentiful. The main crop, 
however, is asafetida, which grows wild and abundant cn the 
hills extending across the western part of the province of Herat. 
This plant is about two or three feet high, its roots extending to 
an enormous distance. The gum is extracted by rnalring a cross 
incision in  the stem of the plant, from which the gum exucles, 
and congeals into tears, which are removed every evening. No care 
is taken of the plant, other than to cover it during the extreme heat .  
The smell is so detestable that we named it " The Devil's Dung." 
The greater part of i t  is exported to India, where it is greatly prized 
for culinary purposes. 

The uvild animals are wolves, a urnall kind of antelope, pigs, 
hares, and partridgee. At the Kaboude ~ a l t  springs we ki!led two 
enormourr wilt1 honrs, ~ n d  after pawing these, encountered herde 



,of the wild assles so plentiful in Seistan. This animal is much 
larger than the domestic ass, which it  resembles in everything else 
except that the c1'oss on the back is brown, instead of black. It 
is extremely swift, and can travel for a (long distance a t  great 
speed. Nor will it permit one to approach within gunshot. It 
is hunted by the Afghans, who esteem its flesh very highly. 

Very few fruit  trees grow round the hamlets in the Gask and 
Birjan districts, the principal being the "zel-isk," which yields a 
small acid fruit  used by the Persians to flavour their " pulaos." 
The juniper and jujube trees are also to be found, though not very 
plentiful. 

From May to October the country between Yezd and Heiat 
is subjected to very strong winds, the heat from which is stifling, 
though i t  does not seem to have any ill effect upon tlie inhabitants. 
The agricultural produce of the country is barely sufficient to feed 
even its few inhabitants, for with the exception of an  occasional 
spring of brackish water, t h e ~ e  are no means of irrigation. The 
water from these springs, which is most unpalatable, except to 
those long used to it, is collected in reservoirs and distributed with 
the utmost economy to the sad and miserable hamlets, which are 
barely discernible amidst the frightful aridity which surrounds 
them. 

The people are not generally nomadic. The nomads consist 
of the Shudrais, the Kazeems, the Heni-Iiazails, tlie Beni-Assad, 
and the Beni-Kefed, in the Toun and 'l'abas d:stricts, and the 
Falahies, ihe Sahbies, the l3anouns, the Taliubis, and the 131- 
Abudeids of the Eain country. All these nomads are of Arab 
origin, being mostly descendants of the colonies planted by Shah 
Abbns, or by Tamurlane. They have no Arab habits, except that  
of living in black tents, nor can they even speak or understand 
Arabic. They own large floclts and herds, which they pasture In 
the valleys and ravines of the mountains, and in general enjoy :rn 
easier existenre than the people of the 1-illages, who are atlwn>.s 
on the verge of starvation. 

The normal condition of the country is famine, t.o which tlie 
ravages of the Baluchis and Turkomans contribute. Wha t  little 
cultivation there is, produce8 wheat, bitter radishes, beetroots, 
and sesame oil, which o111y scantily feeds those who cultivate it ,  
and this scnrcitzy of food, forage, and water nlnkes it nl~uost im- 
possible for large bodies of troope to pass by this route unlese 
they c:irry theil. own supplies. The first alemy Iznonn to caros?r 
these deserts is that of Shah Abbas, who returned bv this route 
fro111 his conquest of Rantlahar. 



This benevolent king was so appalled a t  the aridity of tEe, 
country, and the danger of the continually shifting sands obliter- 
ating the track, that  he sank wells and also built conical pyramid8 
at stated places, as landmarks. These shifting sands are very 
'dangerous, and are caused by desert whirlwinds, which hlow from 
north-east to south-west during half the year, and in  the reverse 
direction during the other half. The sand blown over in  one 
direction is cast back by the reverse wind. It took us nearly five 
hours to cross the most dangerous part of these shifting sands, 
which we did by a pass named the Kabis, which was also that 
used by Mir Mahomed in  1722, when he  marched an  Afghan 
army to the conquest of Shah Sultan Hussain of Persia. 

Since 1812 the crossing of these dunes has been rendered still 
more dangerous by the bands of Baluchi robbers who infest the 
route to ambush the caravans and slaughter the travellers. Their 
depredations since that  date must have been something enormous. 
They have a regular system of reliefs, by which one band stays 
for a certain time, and then retires to make room for another. 
Each band is composed ,of thirty to 100 men, and these travel 
very rapidly when crossing the sands, doing, i t  is said, as much 
as lC, to 20 parasangs in a day. 

Nost of them are retainers of J a n  Khan, chief of the trihes 
who inhabit the fastnesses of Sheikh Nasus on the Seistan fron- 
tier. This place is their rendezvous from whence they stet out on 
their raids, and return to, in order to surrender a tribute of one- 
third of the booty. They are a most ferocious looking people, 
clothed only in a long cotton shirt, bound with s belt of camel 
hair, and a ragged turban. Their moustaches are shaven in  the 
centre, leaving long drooping ends, and they allso wear long hair, 
n7hic.h hangti over the shoulders. 

After crossing the dunes, they meet at Shia Balrhtiari, w\-h.ure 
there is a good sprina, and they are in league with the ir~hahit- 
ants. At this they leave their camels, 2nd dirirlinc: i n t o  
bands, dispose themselves along the road. They may attack :~ny- 
where, hut their favourite slaughter-house is the narrow defile of 
Godar Hamar, on the north, where they conceal themselves below 
the reverse slopes. They are careflll not to show themselves nntil 
the caravan ie well within the pass, when they swoop down up011 
i t  and daughter everyone who shows the least resistance. 

Their ruthless cruelty has inspired such terror that  a band 
of thirty men ha8 heen known to plunder and murder a kafila o f  
200 travellers. The massacres are numberless, the most terrible 
being that  of 1823, when they cut the throats of over 200 pilgrims, 
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travelling from Yezd to Meshed. The burial-place of these un- 

fortunate people is marked by a great cairn, near the third die- 
tance post. 

W e  p s s e d  the bodies of five travellers, who had just been 
murdered, and found the murderers still a t  Shia Balrhtiari, where, 
however, they did not molest us, our party being too strong. Our 
advance guard came into conflict with a party of robbers returning 
from a raid, and these nlen we surrounded, and with the exception 
of t vo ,  pllt to the sword. The two sur-iivors, r h o  mere wounded, 
we took on to Rabat ,  where me tied them to trees and riddled 
them with bullets. 

Dnring the execution, the rillagers gathered round, and their 
scowling attitude convinced us tha t  they were in  league with the 
Bnluchis, whom, i t  was said. they pl.ovided with water, provinions 
and shelter, receiving in  return a share of the plunder. The 
Baluchis have other confederates in  the villayes of Sapnh and 
Posht Badam, who are well linown to the authorities. The  Go- 
vernor of the province takes no active steps to stop these outrageq, 
which he could easily do, and occasionally sends out a cavalry 
patrol, who return without effecting anything. It is surprising 
to find that  the Prince )of Yezd permits this kind of robbery with 
impunity. Hc has officers a t  Rharone, Sagah, and other placee, 
who, though they have a t  their disposal quite sufficient force to 
keep the roads safe, content themselves with warning caravans not 
to proceed, when the Baluchis are known to  be out. 

The nntires keep men postecl on tlie hills, who signal by fires 
whenever the raiders are in the vicinity, and on this the natives 
retire into their fortified villages, or towers, until  the coast. is 
clear. The result of this lnsnes;; is tha t  travellers only enlcr ul?oll 
this journey when compelled, and then with fear and trembling. 
Besir'es the tlanger from the Baluchis, there is tha t  from T~l.1i0- 
mans, which is really worse, for whereas the Baluchi only 
plunders, or kills, the Turkoman plunders and carries man. 
woman, or child into slavery. 

These man-stealers Zelong to  the I ~ n a k  tribe, whose head- 
quarters are a t  Mehnlaneh, about 8 days9 journey from Herat,  and 
from tirne immemorial haye ravaged Khorasan and the Herat  
country with impunity. Their raids are rapid, and both plunder 
ant1 slaves are d:sl)osed of a t  Boli1~1r:l. There is also n ~.cli,rrious 
motive Lehind these slave raids, for the Turkonlans are Suunih, 
who hate the I'ersinn Shiahs with an inveterate ferocity. We 
ascertained that  the Turl;onian danger colnnlenc-etl a t  Toun, and  
continued right up  to ITernt, 80 ns the most dangerous plnce wns 
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between the villages of Kain and Kawf, we persuaded our caravan 
leader to qult the main route for a more southerly one, passing 
near the town of Birjan. 

However, this precaution nearly defeated itself, for when 1 ~ 1 t  
t.hrke days' journey from Herat,  we were suddenly attached by a 
band of Baluchi robbers, who were only beaten off after a stubborn 
running fight, lasting for several miles. The unfortunate inhabit- 
ants have neither security nor repose, for whilst continually striv- 
ing to wring a livelihood from the reluctant earth, they are also 
kept incessantly on the alert against the Turkomans. I n  the out- 
lying fields they have built small towers, the entrance to which is 
reached by a ladder, and into these they retire when the raiders 
are about. 

There is not a single family in  these 'districts which has not 
a member enslaved by the Turlton~ans, and yet, i t  id most surpris- 
ing to learn that these captives prefer captivity t,o freedom in 
their own inhospitable country. They often write to their 
parents or relations, expressing their pleasure a t  having found a 
happy condition of life, and assure them that i t  would be folly 
to make any sacrifice to obtain money for their redemption: sonlo 
of them even acconlpsny the Turkomans as guides, and give active 
assistallce in the slavery of their compatriots. 

The ravages of the Turkomans and Baluchis are so great and 
themselves so numerous that  even Herat was occasionally harried, 
forcing Prince Enmran to enter into alliance with the Prince of 
Khorasan for mutual defence against this incessant brigandage. 
This danger induced me to leave the caravan a t  Sideh, and repalr 
to 13irja11, in orcler to obtain a n  escort from the Govei'nor of illat 
place, whom I had known at  the Court of Teheran. I learnt from 
him that  M. Oms: n.ho ha3 lelt the l'ersian se r~ ice  In 1824, to 
seek military servlce in India, had been captured and imprisoned 
in thfe Castle of Fourk, from which he had only just managed to 
escape. The contrast between the treatment of Senor Oms, and 
my own reception, caused me t o  appreciate the usefulness of an 
old acquaintance. 

I managed to secure an escort, and dividing this into two 
parts, sent one to my friend Avitabile wit,h instructions to take the 
route by Oisk and Nohkap, and meet me at  Avez. As for nydelf. 
I took the route via Fourk, in which I was accompanied by the 
Ooverr~or's own son, who escorted me as  far  as Avaz. W e  found 
the province of Hernt involved in a civil war between Prince 
I(a11rran and his father, Mahtnud Shah. The latter had been 
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-expelled from the  throne, and having formed an alliance with Buri t  
Khan,  Chief of the Azeres, the two returned and besieged Herut 

in  the month of June ,  1826. 

However, the desertions from their ranks were so numerous 
tha t  Mahmud Shah and his ally were clompelled tia raise the  
siege and retire to Parrah.  Meanwhile, Pr ince Eamran  manag68 
to  secure the alliance of the Prince of Khorasan, who was much 
gratified by the submission of a ruler, 11-ho till then, had declined 
to acltnowledge his vassalage. Appreciating the aclvantages of 
the  allianae, he  sent his son, ,4gha Mirza, with 10,000 Inen and 
four cannlon, to join Kamran, ant1 this fol-ce we found encarnl-.eci 
on the banks of the Morghab river. 111 order to ol)poqe the rc~i11- 
forcements sent by the Khan of hlehmaneh, Mahmud Shah. 

I shall now describe the  city of Herat ,  and its environs. 'l'lle 
city of IIerat is tha t  c.allec1 Aria by the Qreelts, and is said l o  
have been founded hy  Alexander the Great. Tradition says that  
the valley in  which the city lies was once filled by a lake, formed 
by the water of the Heri  river heing pent u p  in  the Lengherjan 
hills, and tha t  Alexander, after having pierced the hills and 
drained the valley, was so struck by the beauty of the sight t h a t  
he commanded a city to he built upon it .  This is i~ioorrect, for 
it is quite certain tha t  Aubee, about ten parasangs east of Herat, 
nras :he actual city founded by Alexander. 

The present city of Herat ia small, and surrouncled by a hit:h 
mud wall flanked by towers of the same ~nater ial .  It is further 
defended by a wide and deep moat, which is always kept full  of 
water. It contains 10,000 houses, twenty serais, thirty public 
h f h s ,  four markets, six csolleges, and tlir C a t l e  of the Print e. 
The population is about 40,000, two-thirds of whom are Persi:lns, 
and the rest mostly Afghans. The only relliarltable thing within 
the city is the great rescrroir of Ibrahim Jamshed Khan, which 
is fed by subterranean streams flowing from the mountains. 'l'11i~q 
reservoir supplies most of the n ater requinen~ents of the city. 

The ~ r i n c i p a l  nlannfactures are silken and woollen goods, and 
the trade n~ost ly  with Bokhara, Kandahar, Meshed, and Yezd, the 
merchants from which frequent the city i n  considerable nuln1)era. 
The city was ~aclced hv  Jenghiz Khan in A.D. 619, nnd still I a t ~ r  
by Tamurlane, whose descendants still hold it .  The surround- 
ings are not particularly nt:~ac.ti \e or pleasant. The most re- 
xnarltable places are the mnnsion of Take Safar Gazergah, the 
Mosque of Musa Allah, and the garden of Shnh Xnda Malik 
Kasum. 
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The mosque is a building of a kind rather uncommon in Per- 
sia, and is now almost in ruins. Tbere remains still intact ten 
minarets and a small nladrassah, and from these and the rest of 
the ruins we are able to distinguish the general architectural 
style, which was simple, elegant, and admirably suited to the 
climate. The walls were decorated with mosaics of glazed tiles, 
in  delicate shades and combinations of colours, the effects of which 
were very pleasing. 

The minarets are tall  and beautifully proportioned, one of 
the111 leaning tovnrds the Tomb of Imam Reza a t  Meshed, an 
accidental in:lin~tion which the Persians hail as a miracle. This 
once magnificent building is supposed to have beeu erected at 
a stupendous cost by the favourite slave and vazir of Guhar Shah. 
Rut i t  is also attributed to Ghazi-ucl-Din, a Sultan of the Ghcri 
dynasty. The buildings were mo.jtly destroyed by the T a r ~ a r s  
under Jellghiz Khan. 

Not far  from Gazargarh there still exists a ruby mine, which, 
however, has been abandoned, because the stones were perforated 
with xlinutc holes. On the eastern side of the same nlountaina 
there is a lead mine, still worked by Prince Kamran. The moun- 
tains are well wooded, and extend far  to the north. Besides 
timber of many species, they yield medicinall herbs, seeds and 
roots, from some of which dye-stuffs far superior to any European 
products are extracted. 

The valley of Herat is one of the most fertile and beautiful 
we have yet seen. When approaching i t ,  the rich beauty of the 
plantations, and the villages surronnrled by picturesque gardens 
are very grateful to the eye of the traveller long tired by nothing 
but  dreary and arid deserts and mountains. The valley ia about 
four parasangs from north to south, and thirty from east to west, 
and no less than 12,000 pairs of bullocks are employed in  culti- 
vating it .  Grain and fruits are plentiful. Of the latter there 
are no less than thirty-two varieties of grapes. 

The grape vines are carefully cultivated and t l r ~  whole of 
t he  \alley is intersected by canals, supplied from the Herat river, 
which alm,ost entirely absorb its waters. The largest canal is the 
Enjil ,  which waters the Royal garden, ancl supplies the city moat. 
The Herat river rises in the eastern mountains, and running 
from east to west, finally tlisappears into the sands of the desert 
north nf Khorasan. The road to Kanclahar crosses the river by 
a hritlge a t  nilalan, and that  froirl Meshed crosses the river aeveral 
times, for its COUI-SF! i a  extrerriely tortuous. 
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Since the death of Nadir Shah,  the Afghans and Persians 
have continually battled for possession of Herat ,  the victory now 
7einain:n~; with the former. I n  the year 181'3 the Persians took 
advantage of the Afghans being enpagetl i n  another war t o  win 
n battle a t  Rala ,  bu t  being, by reason of very severe losses, an- 
able to follow u p  the victory, they derived no advantage from it .  
.At present they cannot talie any  further action, being fully occll- 
pied with i~lsurrections in  Kborasaa. After the Baralizais had 
dethronecl Mahmnd Shah, he took refuge in  Herat ,  Eut was dis- 
possessed by his son, Kamran, who still rnles i t .  

This prince is ahout fifty years of age, grave, strong-willed, 
and able and energetic. 11;s greatest ansiety just now is t o  re- 
ta in the city, for  he has few men mld little money, and cannot 
do any more than remain on the defensive. H e  would be very 
pleased to e;ther come to an  arrnngen~ent  with the Barakzais for 
complete independenc:e, or to ally h i m ~ e l f  with his father against 
their common enemy. If the latter co~~ lc l  be compassed, there 
would be much chance of overthrowing the Barakzai rule, which 
is so frightfully cruel and oppi~essive tha t  tbe tribes would gladly 
join ally leader having a chance of victory. 

The city could be \veil fortified, .and its possession woulcl be 
most desirable for any Russian army advancing to invade Intlin. 
A strong force occlipying Rera t  mould not only hold the forced 
of Bolthara, Dalkh, and Kandahar in  checl;, or ensure their 
alliance, but  would also assure the safety of the lines of cominu- 
nication, thus relieving the commander of an  advancing army of 
any anxiety co~icerning thenl. 

There is a choice of two routes f o r  this journey, one b e i q  by 
the Azeres mountains, talcing eight to ten days, and the other, ,ci,i 
Xandahcr, whi:h is much longer. Being desirous of completing 
our  journey as soon as possible, we first decided to take the  mount- 
ain road, Zut on consultation with those who had travelled 110th 
ways, we decided to take the longer one, for the roads over the 
~iiountain were reported very difficult, and besides, trave1lol.s by  
ih:t~ route are liable to much inore oppression than ordinary from 
persons of authority. 

To Ilandahar the road runs along the western borders of the 
Fcroz Koh mountains, which estend u p  to Kandahar, and separate 
Seistnn from the province of Gaur. The distance is about 125 
pnrasangs. The greater part  of the road is through fairl-y open 
country, crossed in  several places by low mountains, which, how- 



aver, are quite practicable for artillery and wheeled transport. 
The greatest d i5cul ty  for the passage of an  army would be suppliea 
of water, for the country is sparsely populated, little cultivate'd, 
and greatly deficient i n  water supplies. 

At  some of the halting-places no water whatever is procurable, 
end theee stages should either be doubled, 'or water carried on 
from the camping-ground before. The only places a t  which pro- 
visions in any quantity are procurable are Gerishk and Far1.a.h. 
Kafilas using this route are uslnllly composed either entirely of 
horses, or camels. Mules are very unoommon. The charge for 
the full journey for each camel is from 100 to 120 ba~timubs and 
for e a ~ h  horse from tz~entg  to thirty. There is also a joining fee 
of three sequins for a camel, and six sequins for a horse. 

The camel caravans take twenty-five days to complete the 
jo~irney, but the horse caravans, who travel almost night and clay, 
just halting l'ong enough for food and the mininium of rest, cio 
tbe journey in eight, or at  the most, ten. The Zaads of roving 
thieves who infest this 1:oute clo not usually attack inoving I\afilaa, 
ancl as the horse caravans are much smaller than the camel lrafilils, 
they avoid, or minimise, danger by halting a t  uncertain places, 
changing them on each journey. 

A march usually commences at  noon, and continues until about 
midnight, \\-hen the cararan is halted for rest, food, ant1 water. 
About 4 A.M. they set out again, and continue until eight or nine 
o'clock, when another halt until noon is made. This system of 
hurried, hrolten, and continual travelling is extremely trying to 
those not inured to i t ,  for which reason only the hardiest travellers 
move with howe 1;afilns. 

We left Herat on the first of Oct.ober, 1826. Before quitting 
i t ,  we exchanged our Persian costumes for those of the ,2fghans 
and also had our beards and m~oustaches trimmed in the Afghan 
manner. V p  till then we had passed as Shiah Mussalmans, using 
their peculiar ceremonial, but as the Afghans are fanatical Sunnis, 
we charaped over to their observances. The hatred of the one ~ e c t  
for the other is extreme, and this precaution was absdlutely india- 
pensable for the safety of life and property. 

Our first ~ t a g e  was to Shahabad, which is situated a t  the older 
end of ihe llanrlaud defile. During the passage, I and my friend 
Avitabile, who had moved on ahead, narrowly escaped Leing cut ofP 
and murdered by the Nurzais, who infest the defile. 9 band of 
them sucldenly swooped down from the slope, and we )only escaped 
by the exertions of our fine Arab horses, which were tried to the 
utmoet. 
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After  passing the defile, we skirted along the  Feroz Roh 
mountains, the highest peak of which gives the name to the  range. 
From this, which is not very lofiy, there are visible two other 
ranges, called the  Kauk and Kassarman, which extend far  to  the 
westward. W i t h  the exception of a few ravines and valleys, which 
are inhabited and sparsely cultivated by pastoral tribes, the Feroz 
Koh is arid and desolate. These nomads live in  black tents, and 
lieel) t o  lhe banks of the mountain streams, along which are milny 
camping-grounds, connected by paths practicable for  ponies. 

Alter  leaving Shahabad, we diverged from the main road, as OUT 

Icafila 1)aa:ha had heard thnt the troops of Mahmud Shah, who were 
en~~;lrnped along this road, plundered all travellers indiscriminately. 
The hilly country we now traversed was crossed by two small 
rivers, called the Ghaz and the Adiriska, both of which run  from 
north-east to south-west, and clischarge into the Far rah  river. At 
thal season they were nearly dry, bu t  when lthe snows melt, they 
become greatly swollen, and caravans are sometimes d e l a ~ s d  f,or 
inany days before the flood subsides. 

The prevailing tree is the wild pistachio, \+-hirh flo~uishes in  
the most arid places, and in  addition to fruit ,  yields a useful gum 
for medicinal purposes. Rhubarb and gooqeberries also grow wild 
on th  c ~nolui~tain-sidcs. W e  emer ,~ed  from the Knrik mountaina, 
which tnolr two days to cross, into the plain of Daulatabad, descend- 
ing  t4cv i t  by a rather difficult pass. There is an  easier one towards 
the west, which emerges on t o  the main road to Far rah ,  bu t  we weie 
not able, for reasoils already stated, to talre that  ronte. 

Far rah  is the birthplace of Rnstnnl I<han, the Hercules of 
the East,  of whom so rnuch is written in  the Shah-Namn of 
Firdansi. Except for the environs of the city, the plain of Far rah  
is uncultivated, though crossed from east to west hy  an unnamed 
river, n-hivh ~sises in  the F t m z  Koh, crosses part  of Seistnn, and 
finally discharges into the Zeri lalie. This river is protnbly the 
Ar Pa'lus of the Greeks, and I assume tha t  Far rah  itself is the city 
they named Phi-a,  and t,he li'arrah river their Pharnacotis. 

When nre crossed the Far rah  river, it was low, but me wcre 
told tha t  in  the spring it is greatly swdlen,  and impossible to 
ford. The current is swift, and runs over a pehbly 'Led, whilst. 
the hanks are covered by the blaclr tents of the Nureais. After 
crossing the Farrah plain, we again quitted the main road, to 
avoid the troops, and took the 11rnnch leading to the Pelljdeh pnas, 
which we found very difficult for pnck animals, and indeed, bad 
eno~igh  for foot travellers. This pass is remarkable for its eastern 
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e x i t ,  which is a n  immense natural  doorway fo~rrer l  by two per- 
pendicular rocks, crossed by a third.  A small river whirh runs 
through the gateway adds to the wild picturesqueness of the 
scene. 

I T  . I h ~ r e  is a main route which runs t .h rou~h.  the Iiassnl-man pass, 
and i s  not so difficult, though it is six parasangs longer. Lear- 
i n g  the  I'enjdeh Pass, we clebouched on to a great ~-i'll.in, mhich 
extended out of sight to the south. This  is crossed by a srunl'l 
stream called the Ibrahim, which irrigates the land surrouud.l~lg n 
village oasis called Bak,oba. \JTild asses, antelope, and hare are 
plentiful,  and  in thc  centre of the piain is an isolatecl mountain 
named Koh-i-Douz. 

As we passed the  northern flank of this mountain, we were 
suddenly atta,:ked by a band ,of Baluchi robbers, some c)n camel:, 
and others on horses. This attack was so sudden tha t ,  a t  the first 
surprise, the robber3 lnnnagerl to cut off and get away with s:x 
anima.1~. Whi ls t  they were etlgnged in so doing, me closecl into 
a hollow square, s ~ ~ r r o u n d i n g  the animals, and from this, by o m  
continual fire, repelled the 13aluchis on all sides with consider;~ble 
doss, so tha t  they eventually drew off and left  11.9 to oontinue our 
march. However, we (lid not recover the captured animals. 

Alter this  contretemps, we travelled vary naref ully; momen t- 
mily expecting to encounter more Baluchis, but  were fo r t i~u~ l t e  
enough not to do so. W e  halted a t  the  village of Voucheli, \.th;.::h 
contains about 100 houses, enclosed within a high mud wall. Jqi~p.11 

amongst Afghans, mho are most efficient thieves, the inhabi.tauts 
of Vouchek are  singlllarly expert. They d,o not steal openiy, but  
crowd around the caravan, and await any  opportunity to nlake 
off with animals or  plunder. They are the most rascally scoundrels 
and petty thieves I have ever encountered. 

The  country to the north-east of this  village is not cultivated. 
The  river Kachroud, whlch runs through i t ,  i s  said to I,a ~isua l ly  
a s trong torrent, bu t  we found i t  nearly dry. After leaviny 
Voucheli, we crossed some hilly and savage country, from which 
we descended into the  plain of Lars,  the country of the S e t ~ a ~ a i ~ .  
We then skirted the Dahor mountains, which are inhabited l,y the 
Alizai. This  country is probably the Uahoe of Alexander, .vhic:h 
h e  invaded and conquered immediately after defeating the SSrinnu. 

As we neared Oerishk, the country grarlually changed t,o 
scenery much more agreeable, for the district is  irrigated by tho 
Helmuud river, and well cultivated. I believe this river, which 
~ i s e s  in  the Gour mountains, and a t  first runs from north-eilst to 
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south-west, anc! then vhanzing its COUTSe, crosqes Seistan to Ihe 
eastward, to be the Etymai~der of the Greeks. It discharges into 
the Zeri lake. 

The river marked Sambarra on the maps does llot pass Glelishli 
dosely, but flows between it and the village of Kala Sadad B a n ,  
about four parasangs west lof Gerishk. The river Helmund runs 
over a gravelly bottom, and thougb the current is extremely swift, 
the water is very clear. It frequently overflows, and in the year 
1825, an abnormal flood overwhelmed nearly 10,000 black tente 
scattered along the banks, causing an immense loss of life. The 
river is fordable in the dry season at several places, the best be- 
ing  that  near Gerishk, which is marked by a row of poplar trees, 
on the opposite bank. 

Some distance beyond Gerishk, the river divides into two 
branches, of which the eastern is the greatest. Both branches are 
fordable for horsemen, and light guns might also be passed over, 
though i t  would be impossibtle to take over ammunition wagons. 
Ferry boats do not exist, such vehicles being unknown to the 
Afghans, which is strange, for the neighbouring mountains furnish 
plenty of suitable timber. 

Gerishk is a large village, some distance from the Hel~nund,  
which once ran beneath its walls, the old river-bed being now 
utilised as rice-fields. It is defended by a citadel situated on s 
high mound which, however, is of little use, being merely of mud 
crumbling to pieces. The side facing eastward is precipitous, 
but on the other three the country is cut up by ravines, through 
which the citadel could be approached quite unobserved, and under- 
mined. The city and citadel were built by Burdil Khan, at one 
time Governor of Eandahar, and is the stronghold of the Barakeai 
tribe. 

The Darakzais are the d o ~ ~ i n a n t  power in Afghanistan. They 
have divided tho dominions of Mah~liud Khan amongst themselves, 
and each chief rules most despotically and cruelly. They are 
eternally a t  feud, and frequent and bloody fights occur between the 
brothern, of whom there are many. 

.4t Gerishk we were subjected to the mc,st r i g o ~ ~ u s  search hy 
the c~ustoms officers, who actually stlipped us quite naked, and 
used every possible artifice to induce to discover anything in the 
way of money or goods that hnd not been declare(!. Of n-hilteyer 
is declared they take 5 per cent. and also n tax of f i ~ e  sequiuu for 
every pack animal. If any goods which have not bee11 declared 
are discovered, the whole is confiscated, and the owners :leverel? 
ill-treatel Naturally, we were extremely yl:~d to quit the place. 

DD 



From Gerishk to Kandahar is about twenty parasangs, through 
a hot and arid country, enclosed within the Feroz Eoh and Nahsnd 
ranges. The latter mountains divide into two smaller ranges, 
within whic:h is enclosed the district of Maiwand, a pilace renomed 
for its frui t ,  especially pomegrailates (and many yea,rs later, 
for a severe British defeat). 

We next arrived a t  Kosb Nakout, on the western side of 
Kandahar. The Arghandab river crosses the Kandahar plain, and 
flows into the Helmund about Pour parasangs beyond Gerishk. To 
the southward of this plain are shifting sands, which extend for 
forty parasangs up to the Nushki and Xehran districts of Baluch- 
istan. The rivers of this province are the Arghandab, Tarlok, 
Arltasan, and Dori, all  of which flow westward into the Helmund 
river. I believe that  the Arghandab is the A~achotis  of the 
Greelts. It rises in the Go1 Koh mountains of the Navod district. 

After crossing the Arghandab, we ascended into the mountain0 
some distance from the river bank, and from thence entered the 
plain of Kandahar by the Shil Zini pass. which is thus named from 
forty steps leading u p  to a cave near the mountain top, formerly 
inhabited by a descendant of Tamurlane, who turned hermit. On 
the highest point of the pass are the ruins of a small fort, and from 
this we obtained a magnificent view of the country beneath. To 
one side extended the great plain of Kanclahar, and on the other 
a magnificent valley covered with fields and highly cultivated 
orchards. 

W e  noticecl t h a t  the plain of Kandahar is ,:overed by a net-nork 
of ca~lalu, which should render its crossing by a large army very 
difficult. Nature has been prodigal of its benefits to this distriot 
by bestowing upon i t  the Eandahar river, from which the canals 
are cut. The principal of these are the Nausajan and Partab. 
The latter passes through the village of Shil Doktor, and then 
turns towarcls Kandahar. 

The city of Kandahar was founded Zy Ahmad Shah. I t s  
buildings are mean, there being few of any architectural preten- 
sions. The two p e a t  streets which cross the city at  right anqles 
from east to west and north to south meet in the cenltre, and the 
6rluare formed by their intersection is called the Char Soulc. The 
only remarkable building is the tomb of Ahmad Shah, which hae 
a beautiful octagonal dome. It was a t  one time surrounded by 
beautiful gardens, but these are now desolate. 

The pnp~llation, nnmber'ing about 25,(100. comprises :If g h ~ n n ,  
Persiann, B;~luchin, and Hindus, t,he different races beillg 
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dietinguished by their distinctive head-dress. The Persians are the 
most numerous. The women of Kandahar are more rigororlsly 
secluded than in Persia, the few that  one does see belonging 
to the Koli tribe, who aclt as surgeons and blood-letters. In the 
streets may be seen some most extraordinary people called Rulaide 
(saints) who go about entirely naked. They are supposed to be 
mentally afflicted, and, as such, are tolerated by the Afchans, who 
believe that such persons are under the especial protection of the 
Almighty. 

Not only are these persons respected during life, Zut reverenced 
after death, the peculiarly shaped tombs in which they are buried 
upright beooming shrines. There are many of these around K.m- 
dahar, chiefly at  Shah Mahsud, about ten parasangs north sf the 
oity, and there are also others at, 13ahi Wala and Asredji. 

From the Mahsud mountains are obtained the amber-lilre 
beads universally used for rosaries by the Afghans. They are 
found in white, yellow, black, and grey co!lours, but the yellow 
ones are the only ones used for rosaries. The others are pounded 
up and used as a medicine, or an  a.phrodisiac. 

The defences of Kandahns consist of a wall flanked by bas- 
tions, and a wide and deep moat, which is always full of water, 
drawn from the Partab canal, which could easily be diverted, and 
thus not only drain the moat, but cut off the main supply of water 
f'or the city, there being only a few wells within the wa!la. The 
walls would not stand the bombardment of siege guns for any 
lengthened period. 

There are three older cities of Eandahnr, all equally in ruins. 
Those of the first, which was destroyed by Nadir Shah, are s ~ i l l  
visible on the western slopes of the Mahsud mountains, and the 
remains lof the batteries from which i t  was bombarded nre stiU 
visible. Tradition relates that for a long time he was unable to 
reduce the city, the defences of which were exceedingly strong, 
for in addition to the walls surrounding the city i tsdf ,  others 
radiated in all directions down the slope. The city was betrnved 
to him by the daughter of its defender, Shah Hussein, hut l e r  
reward, instead of t,he marriage she espehted, wns death. 

This city may have been that which Alesnrlder is snici to hare 
built on the Arachosis, but I think that Esliargnengi, which qtcod 
about four parasnngs north of Knndahar, was more likely to hnre 
been Alexander's city. The third of these ruined cities is nt 
Shersoulc, south of Eandnhar, and was founded hy Nndir Shnh 
after his destruction of the originnl city of Rnndahnr. 

nn2 
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The Kandahar district is e x t r e m ~ l ~  fertile. The crops ale 
wheat, barley, totacco, cotton, rice. maize, millet, peas, hei~ne, 

sesame, and other food-grains comnlon to Asiatic, countries. Fruit 
is extremely plentiful-grapes, :ipl)les, pears, c.herr~e+, n ~ ~ l l ~ e i r i e s ,  
and pomegranates being the principal. The cultivation of the grape 
is very weld understood, and there are numerous varieties to he 
found in the vineyards and orchards which line the borders of 
the Arghandab r i w r  for many miles. 

The climate is healthy, except for fevers and cholera, the 
latter of which is ~ r e r a l e n t  in  the autumn, and undoubted~ly clue 
to excessive indulgence in the melons, pumpkins, and cucunlhers 
which at  tha t  season are so ~ l e n t i f u l .  The spring and autumn are 
mild, the sumnier very hot, whilst the winter is short and dry. 
Snow falls only about once i n  seren years. 

The principal tribes are the Bnralrzais, the A~lizais, and the 
P'opulzais, the two latter of whom are nomadic, and very wealthy 
in  camel, sheep, and cattle. The personality of the gfghan is 
best represented at  Kaadahar, for though they axe met with in num- 
bers a t  Herat ,  the mixture of other races in thiit city .;erves to tone 
them dlown. Their manners are far more gross and Zrutal ch:m 
those of the Persians, hut they lack the pride and bad faith so 
characteristic of the latter. They do not attempt to imitate the 
Persians in  facetiousness or vapid compliments, but are grave, 
polite, and frank with strangers. 

The European travelling in Afghanistan is i~nprehsed by the 
familiar intercourse and apparent equality which exists between 
all classes. Yet the eclnality is only apparent, for they are subject 
to that kind of semi-slavery inheparable From a tlespotic government. 
Yet they pride themselves on their national liberty, which really 
means that they will broc~l; no  foreign or  alien ruler. They are 
brave to a fault, and I \110111cl calitss therti aniongnt the nloat fea7,less 
soldiers in  the world. But this is their only military qualification, 
for they cannot understand tactic~s 01. ~ t ra tegy .  

Their military defects are shown by the exa~~iples  tc, be col- 
lected from the armies nrhirh from lime to time invaded India. 
the most strilcing- being that of the army under Ahmad Shah. 
Thcv love rlisorder for the opportunities for plunder it :ift'ord.. 
They are fanatics in religion, and though tcderating the Christians, 
c.ordially detent the Persian Shiahs, to whom they are moet cruel 
and merciles~ when opportunity affords. They are firm believers 
in astrologF and talismal~s, but are, in general, illiterate, the only 
exceptione h i n g  a few of the chiefs, who can read and write a 
little l'ei8eian, and the Akhnnd~ .  nrho are n t~ i f le  Inore p~ofic*ient. 
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The education of the Afghan is practically purdy  military, 
consisting in learning the use of arms, riding, and horse-mastership, 
and with them, luxury consists in fine horses, their trappings, and 
highly ornamented shields and arms. Their houses are very 
similar to those 'of the Persians, but much more simpily furnished, 
and their dress is somewhat similar, with the exception of the tur- 
ban, which replaces the sheep-skin cap generally worn by the Per- 
sian. Thib turban conaists oE a gieat blue and gold, 01 variously 
colonred, mass of nluslin, wound around a skull cap, and its shape 
varies with the tribe or locality. As the weight ot  the ~ u r h a n  and 
its shape makes the heac! very hot, they shave their heads. Their 
beards are trimmed to a spnde-shaped point, and moustaches, though 
shaved dleaiu in  the middle, alilowed to grow very long and drooping. 

The usual diet of the Afghan is meat, rice, wheat, and other 
grains, and krout, a, preparation of curdled milk, to which they 
are very partial. Though in general sober, a few of the Afghans 
indulge ia wine and other fermented liquorb, o c ~ ~ ~ s ~ o n a l l y  t o  ex~aess. 
But  the principal intoxidant is a preparation called charas, pro- 
duced from hemp seeds, which, when moderately indulged in, 
produces a dreamy kind of stupor, but if prolonged or taken in 
excess, ends mikh niaclness or imbecility. 

Since 1518, Kandahar has been governed by five brothers, 
P i r  Dil Khan, Sher Kil Khan, Khan Kil Khan, Ram Dil Khan, 
and Mir Dil Khan. The army consists of 6,000 horse and 6,000 
foot, but could easily be trebled at  very short notice. The Kan- 
dahnris rely principally upon " arme Zlanche," and are very 
indift'erent musketeers. The footmen are armed with a heavy 
matchlock of short range, and a ponderous knife, which even with 
them, is chiefly relied upon. They have about twenty guns, the 
majority of which are in bad cond~tion, or wi thout  gunnel.; 'ihis 
branch of their service is commanded 1)y an English half-caste 
(" XTi'lliam Leigh 'I). 

The government is despotic, and will commit any (,rime or 
outrage to obtain money. For n subject to be rich, or to be even 
suspected of being so, is n crime, punishable with confiscation of 
goods and money, the culprit being fortunate to e>cape with his 
life. The local currency is nominally hilver, but what is in cir- 
culation consists mostly of oopper, for the silver coinage has been 
so debased that people are very chary of accepting it .  Forei::~ 
traders must have all their coin stamped by the local gorernunent. 
who charge them 60 per cent. for the operation. An;\- foreign 
money not so stamped is confiscated. 



Any artificer, merchant, manufacturer, or trader who wishes 
to do businesa must have his wares inspected Zy a government 
official. This person fixes the price, and any evasion of the ic- 
spection, or increase in the price fixed, ensures a merciless con- 
fiscation and a term of imprisonment. Owing to this, trade which at 
one time flourished exceedingly now either languishes or, in some 
cases, has become non-existent. Kandahar is the main exchange 
dep6t where merchandise imported from India, or Persia, meets. 
'L'he lndian goods come by way of Shikarpore, though shawls from 
Kashmir are imported by way of Kabul. The only local manu- 
factures are  ilk and cotton goods, and these, owing to the decline 
i n  produce, caused by the conditions before related, are barely 
sufEcient for local consumption. There is an export trade in fruit, 
tobacco, and charas, which is conveyed to 'India by way of 
Fhikarpore. 

The road to Shikar~ore is di5cult) intricate, and about 260 
miles long. Its only use is by the traders during spring, for i n  
the summer months there is no water available along the 
route, and if i t  should become absolutely necessary to march 
troops into India by that route, the only way would be 
to establish water and grain dep8ts in advance, supplied from 
either, or both, ends. On this account, the traders usually take the 
northern route, which passes Kelat Nazi1 Khan, and crosses the 
Dahui country, ending a t  Dera Ghazi Khan. This rloail from 
Kandahar to  Kabul is quite easy and good during the summer 
months, but impassaBle in the winter on account of snow. The 
grades are fairly easy, and artillery or transport wagons could use 
this route. 

After leaving Kandahar, the road clontinues into a fertile 
valley, contained between two ranges running nearly north-east 
and parallel to Kabul. The more northerly range is the Paro- 
pamismus of the Greeks, and is the highest. The southerly one is 
barren, and appears to abound in metals. The whole valley is very 
fertile, and near Mokkhor is crossed by a tributary of the 
Arghantlab river, called the Ternah. The climate is very salubrious, 
which is probably the reason why an ancient and ruined city d i c h  
lies between Jeldak and Jauti was called Sher-i-Ssfeh, OT the 
City of Health. The mountains to the north, and the moving sanda 
to the south, constitute Kandahar a " tete du ~ o n t , "  whose posses- 
,91071 1~ ub .w lv t e l y  nece8saTy to  an a r m y  invad ing  Ind ia ,  f o ~  to  
h,old zt .means to  secure the ir  line of c o m ~ m u ? ~ i c a t i o ~ ~ s .  

There being no caravans leaving for Kabul at the moment, 
we were compelled to remain at Kandahar for some time, and did 



not obtain a place in one until the 26th December. After 'leaving 
Kandahar, we passed on to Mokkhor, a distance of forty kos, which 
took us four days, the intermediate stages being Pout and Jeldak 
Taxi. There are very few villages, but there are numerous campe 
af black tents, tenanted by Saddozais, Ali-Kozais, and 
Ghilzais, all of whom are nomladic. The 'dress of the womeb ie  
-peculiar. It somewhat resembles the European bodice and skirt, 
but the former is gathered at  the breast into an infinity of small 
pleats, which cover the whole of the body to the top of the neck. 
Their hair is parted on the forehead, in two great plaits 
which fall over the shoulders. The unmarried ones, who are 
secluded, dress their hair differently, forming i t  into a ch~gnon a+ 
the back, whilst the front locks are drawn over and partly obscure 
the face. Both married and single women, though supposed to go 
constantly veiled, very seldom do so. 

At Tazi we were stopped by the Ghilzai chief who owns the 
town, and levies local taxes on a11 comers This tax practically 
amounts t o  robbery, for there is no fixed tariff, and the amount 
is only limited by what he can extraci. H e  was most unmerciful 
with us, even appropriating such of our arms as pleased him, and 
seemed quite surprised when we protested, though of course, mith- 
out any effect. 

A traveller in this country, just before winter has set in, 
will be struck by the number of wooden racks in  each village, or 
enca.mpment, to which are suspended sides of smoked and salted 
mutton, which after being dried, are exported to Afghanistan. 
Here they are further preserved by being frozen, and form t.he 
principal part of the meat eaten by the Afghans, who are said to 
have acquired this taste from the Tartars. Rrea.r Mokkhor, which 
is situated on the southern sbope of the Gul Koh mountain, is the 
Tarnek river, which affords a h  abundance of excellent fish. The 
most striking peculiarity of the natives of Mokkhor is their readi- 
ness to afford lodgings to t.ravellers, an evidence of hospitality we 
found nowhere else on our journey. 

Six kos beyond the eastern side of the mountain there is a salt 
lake (Zourmat), which at night gives off phosphorescel~t gleams, 
such as those that may be seen a t  night in the Mediterranean and 
other open seas. After leaving Zourmat, we crossed the plains of 
Karabagh and Nani, which extend right up to Ohuznee, and m e  
w e r e d  with villages, each surrounded with a high mud wall, 
having bastions a t  each corner. These fortified villages are render- 
ed necessary 1)y the continual kibnl and fncltion w~~.Fnre, nnd 



such villages as are not immediately concerned shat themselves. 
up, and hold aloof, other~vise they would be preyed upon by either, 
or perhaps both, sides. 

Jus t  before rewhing Ghuznee, our kafila leider was informed 
that  it would be very dangerous to enter the city, so he decided 
to  avoid it, and leaving the main road, halted for the night in a 
village some six miles to the right of Ghuznee. The decision 
having been taken very suddenly, there was no time to reca,ll: 
M. Avitabile, who had the evening Zefore gone ton with some 
merchants at,tached to the caravan and spent the night in Ghuznee. 

For  ourselves, a t  daybreak next morning, we were aroused 
by the tumultuous arrival of a number of horsemen, whose sinister 
air a n d  omission of tlle usual ceremonious greeting boded no good. 
Shortly after came a crowd of others, who surrounded the village 
and then swamped the streets. W e  were made prisoners, our goods 
taken into the possession of the horsemen, and ours~lues bound on 
camels and taken prisoners to Ghuznee. 

On arrival, we were confined in the serais, each in a sepamte 
room, and subjected to the most rigorous search. I in particular 
was $tripped to the skin, and so roughly treated that they .tlrnosC 
skinned me. I trembled for the safety of the numerous notes 1 
had taken during the journey, Zut luckily these had been sown in 
the bosom of my eastern dress, and escaped detention. As for 
money, they fairly hurled themselves upon the few sequins I had 
upon me, and searched my garments and my person again nlld 
again for more. 

It was verj iuclry for us that, under the advice of our fri-ends 
a t  Herat, we had obtained letters of credit on Kabul for all but 
necessary expenses attendant upon the journey to Kandahar. But 
for this precautioll, we should not  only have been robbed of all 
me possehsed, but probably rn111-dered. The next day the Governor 
qent fnr me and rigorously interrc~gat~ed me. He enqulred who T 
was, whence I came, and what was the object of my travels, to 
which I replied that  I was a Russian Georgian, proceeding to Illdia 
to rejoin my parente, who were in the service of Maharajah Ra~ l j i t  
Singh. 

He received my statements with a most sarcastic smile, and 
bluntly told me that I was lying, for he was convinced that I was 
a European. Before him, on the table, were displayed my watcb, 
mathematical instrun~ents, and papers of notes which h a d  now been 
ditir:overed, all of which seemed greafly to puzzle him. He  sslted 
me what was the use of the mathematical instruments, a question 
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which put me in  a difficulty, for had I acknowledged they were 
used for surveying, the consequences would have been very serious. 
However, I got out of the diEcnlty by affirming that I Itnew 
nothing whatever of their use, for they had Leen entrusted to me 11g 
an Englishman at  Tehe~an ,  lor conveyance to a friend iu India. 

He  then enquired what I had done with my money, for it 
was impossible that the small sum found on my person could be 
all  I owned, and when I reprlied that I had no more, he savagely 
told me I lied, and enquired where I had hidden i t .  To this I re- 
marked, how was it possible that I could hide anything when I 
had teen stripped to the &in, and the whole of m y  belongings 
and (.lothing .earthed to the u i n ~ o \ t ?  12ventuall~, finding that 
threats could elicit nothing from me, he ordered me back to the 
serai, where to my delight I found M. Avitabile, who had aJso 
heen surprised, imprisoned, nncl searched. 

Luckily, we had foreseen such a contingency before departure 
from Ispahan, and concerted a tale, in which we had so well 
tutored our serr;lnts, so that though all were interrogated separate- 
ly, our replies were similar. Reailising our dangerous predic.3- 
ment, we held counsel as to horn- we *hould escape, or obtain aid, 
and a t  last decided to despatch to Kabul, it1 secret, the -ervnnt 
whlom our friends in  India (Allard and Vestura) had sent to meet 
us a t  Herat, and escort us to India. 

Calling him in, we instructed him to seek out Jubbar Khan, 
brother of the Governor of Ghuznee, who being a great friend of 
M. Ventura, would certainly help us. Even of his fidelity we 
were somewhat doubtful, so decided that M .  Avitabile should ac- 
company him. The messenger had charge of our horses, and was 
permitted to take them out to water every morning. And the plan 
was that he should pass as close as possibUe to the wall of the 
serai. As he did, M. Avitabile dropped fro111 the ~-:111, and 
leaving the other horaeb behind, the  twn galloped oft, n u d  were out 
of reach before the alarm was given. 

Some days after their departure, I was greatly surprised a t  
the change of attitude of the Governor, who u p  till then had cnly 
reviled me daily. :3n t h ~  aivth morning his attitude completely 
changed. He covered me with kindness, made 811 ltinds of apologies 
for this treatment up till then, which he affirmed was entirely due to 
myself for not having informed him that I was a friend of the 
friend of his brother, Jubbax Khan. At first I thought he wee 
trying to entrap me, and was very wary, until he handed me 8 

letter from M. Aritabile, which informed me that my friend had 
reached Kebu\l and been very well received. 



I remained as an honoured guest until my efiects were 
collected and restored to me, and then having been given an 
escort, set off for Kabul, where I arrived on the 13th November. 
1826. I proceeded to the house of tbe Nawab Jubbar Khan, where 
I met my friend M. Avitabile, and with him enjoyed the hospital- 
ity of the Nawab, whose courtesy and frienaliness quickly obliter- 
zeb. from my memory the very difierent treatment of his brother. 

There are four stages in  the! journej from Ghuznee to liabnl, 
these being Chezgu, Sheokabad, and Maidan. At Chezgu we 
crossed a small river of very clear water, which rising near the 
Azeres mountains, passes through the Logurd district and en~pties 
into the Ka2ul river, which we crossed near Maidan, the only 
place where i t  is fordable. 
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